

Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment

M.B. Stein T. Steckler *Editors*



Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences

Series Editors: Mark Geyer, La Jolla, CA, USA Bart Ellenbroek, Hamburg, Germany Charles Marsden, Nottingham, UK

About this series

Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences provides critical and comprehensive discussions of the most significant areas of behavioral neuroscience research, written by leading international authorities. Each volume offers an informative and contemporary account of its subject, making it an unrivalled reference source. Titles in this series are available in both print and electronic formats.

With the development of new methodologies for brain imaging, genetic and genomic analyses, molecular engineering of mutant animals, novel routes for drug delivery, and sophisticated cross-species behavioral assessments, it is now possible to study behavior relevant to psychiatric and neurological diseases and disorders on the physiological level. The *Behavioral Neurosciences* series focuses on "translational medicine" and cutting-edge technologies. Preclinical and clinical trials for the development of new diagnostics and therapeutics as well as prevention efforts are covered whenever possible.

Murray B. Stein • Thomas Steckler Editors

Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment



Editors Dr. Murray B. Stein Departments of Psychiatry and Family & Preventive Medicine University of California San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive (0855) La Jolla, CA 92093-0855 mstein@ucsd.edu

Dr. Thomas Steckler Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceuticals Research & Development CNS Drug Discovery 2340 Beerse Belgium tsteckle@prdbe.jnj.com

ISSN 1866-3370 e-ISSN 1866-3389 ISBN 978-3-642-02911-0 e-ISBN 978-3-642-02912-7 DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-02912-7 Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

Library of Congress Control Number: 2010929746

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2010

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Product liability: The publishers cannot guarantee the accuracy of any information about dosage and application contained in this book. In every individual case the user must check such information by consulting the relevant literature.

Cover illustration: Artistic representation of oscillatory synchrony and timing of neurons in networks by Gyorgy Buzsaki

Cover design: WMXDesign GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

The book is part of a series on Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences, which has as its focus anxiety and its treatment. We have brought together a distinguished cadre of authors with the aim of covering a broad array of topics related to anxiety disorders, ranging from clinical diagnosis, epidemiology, preclinical neuroscience, and animal models to established and innovative therapeutic approaches. The book aims at bridging these disciplines to provide an update of literature relevant to understanding anxiety, its consequences, and its management. Following is a brief overview of the chapters and their content, meant to serve as a guide to navigating the book.

The first section covers clinical aspects of anxiety disorders. Joe Bienvenu and colleagues provide an incisive overview of diagnostic considerations in the anxiety disorders in which they emphasize the strengths and shortcomings of our current nosologic systems. This is followed by a review and update of the epidemiology of anxiety disorders by Ron Kessler and colleagues, which provides an authoritative survey of anxiety disorder incidence, prevalence, and risk factors. This is complemented by a comprehensive review of the literature on disorders that co-occur with anxiety disorders by Kathleen Merikangas and Sonja Alsemgeest Swanson. Their review highlights the tremendous comorbidity that occurs not only within the anxiety disorders, but also with other mental and physical health conditions.

The second section is devoted to clinical neuroscience topics that are germane to anxiety disorders. Katharina Domschke and Jürgen Deckert provide a summary of genetic findings in the anxiety disorders. Newton Sabino Canteras and colleagues describe neuroanatomical structures and circuits relevant to anxiety and anxiety disorders. This section is concluded by José Miguel Pêgo and colleagues with a critical overview of the neuroendocrinology of anxiety and stress, tying this together with findings in anxiety and stress disorders.

The third section focuses on animal models. Dallas Treit and colleagues provide an overview on preclinical tests of anxiety-related behavior and discuss the validity of these tests and their sensitivity to pharmacological intervention. This is followed by a review by Laura Jacobson and John Cryan on genetic animal models of anxiety, a discussion of the strengths and weaknesses of such models, and their contribution to our understanding of the neurobiological and genetic basis of anxiety disorders.

The fourth section is devoted to translational science that can inform our understanding of anxiety disorders. Victoria Risbrough discusses behavioral correlates of anxiety disorders with a special emphasis on work that has used emotion-(usually fear-) potentiated startle to test the integrity of particular anxiety-relevant circuits in humans. Marlies van Duinen and colleagues provide a review of the socalled challenge studies in anxiety, in which subjects are exposed to substances (e.g., pharmacological agents) intended to evoke anxiety as a test of their specific properties. Their particular emphasis in this chapter is on challenges to and responses of the respiratory system which, arguably, have been best studied in the anxiety disorders, particularly panic disorder. Amit Etkin subsequently provides a comprehensive review of the functional neuroimaging literature in anxiety disorders. He examines the similarities and differences across anxiety disorders that have emerged from this literature, much of it using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Finally, in a tour de force of the merits of translational research, Dennis Choi and colleagues provide a rationale for the pharmacological enhancement of behavior therapy for anxiety disorders.

The fifth section covers the preclinical pharmacology of systems that are relevant to anxiety, as well as some of the molecular targets for potential anxiolytics with novel mechanism of action. Claire Durant and colleagues set the scene with a review of the clinical neurochemistry of anxiety disorders, emphasizing the different neurochemical systems that are targeted by currently used and newly developed anxiolytic drugs. This is followed by an authoritative overview by John Atack on GABAergic approaches, delineating the potential of GABA-A subunit-specific compounds to treat anxiety disorders. Anton Bespalov and colleagues then discuss the importance of antidepressant drugs in the treatment of anxiety disorders, especially the conundrum that preclinical animal models often fail to detect anxiolyticlike effects of antidepressants despite their clinical utility. Their interesting proposal is to also consider cognitive components of anxiety-related behavior and to expand the armamentarium of preclinical models relevant to anxiety to more readily detect the efficacy of antidepressant drugs. Will Spooren and colleagues subsequently review the emerging field of compounds acting at the different metabotropic glutamate receptors as an innovative avenue for the development of novel anxiolytic drugs, followed by a summary by Thomas Steckler on the status of neuropeptidergic approaches to the treatment of anxiety disorders, especially focusing on clinical proof-of-concept studies with small-molecule, nonpeptidergic antagonists of the CRF1, NK1 and 3, and CCK2 receptors, but also on the atrial natriuretic and oxytocin systems. This section concludes with a state-of-the-art overview by Fabricio Moreira and Carsten Wotjak on cannabinoids and anxiety, and modulation of the endogenous cannabinoid system as yet another promising therapeutic approach in the quest for novel, more efficacious and better tolerated anxiolytic drugs.

The sixth and final section of the book reviews the clinical pharmacology of anxiety disorders. This section is organized such that each chapter provides an authoritative review of the literature on the pharmacological management of the most common anxiety disorders. David Baldwin and colleagues review the pharmacotherapy of generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) and then Jeffrey Lightfoot and colleagues do the same for panic disorder. Keith Ganasen and Dan Stein summarize the evidence base for the pharmacotherapy of social phobia (also known as social anxiety disorder), highlighting areas where knowledge is strong and where it is especially sparse. Lakshmi Ravindran and Murray Stein review the evidence for pharmacological treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), a topic that has been especially controversial and in the news of late, given recent military conflicts around the world and the increased awareness of their impact on health of combatants and civilians alike. Blair Simpson closes this section with a summary of the pharmacotherapy of obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD), a particularly chronic and difficult-to-treat anxiety disorder for which new treatments are sorely needed, but have been slow in coming.

These chapters, individually and in their aggregate, provide a broad summary and synthesis of behavioral neuroscience findings in anxiety and a detailed update on its treatment. As we look forward to the future – as many of the authors have done in their chapters – we are particularly excited about recent advances in the translational neuroscience of anxiety which promise to lead to the development of more potent therapies for the patients who need them.

Murray B. Stein La Jolla, CA, USA Thomas Steckler Beerse, Belgium

Contents

Part I Anxiety Disorders - Clinical

Animal Models of Anxiety and Anxiolytic Drug Action 12	21
Part III Animal Models	
Stress and the Neuroendocrinology of Anxiety Disorders) 7
Neuroanatomy of Anxiety	'7
Genetics	53
Part II Anxiety Disorders - Clinical Neuroscience	
Comorbidity in Anxiety Disorders	\$7
Epidemiology of Anxiety Disorders	21
Anxiety Disorders Diagnosis: Some History and Controversies O. Joseph Bienvenu, Lisa A. Wuyek, and Murray B. Stein	3

Dallas Treit, Elif Engin, and Kris McEown

Genetic Approaches to Modeling Anxiety in Animals Laura H. Jacobson and John F. Cryan	161
Part IV Translational Science	
Behavioral Correlates of Anxiety Victoria Risbrough	205
Challenging Anxiety: A Focus on the Specificity of Respiratory Symptoms M.A. Van Duinen, V. Niccolai, and E.J.L. Griez	229
Functional Neuroanatomy of Anxiety: A Neural Circuit Perspective Amit Etkin	251
Pharmacological Enhancement of Behavioral Therapy: Focus on Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Dennis C. Choi, Barbara O. Rothbaum, Maryrose Gerardi, and Kerry J. Ressler	279
Part V Preclinical and Clinical Psychopharmacology Pharmacological Systems	
The Pharmacology of Anxiety C. Durant, D. Christmas, and D. Nutt	303
GABA _A Receptor α2/α3 Subtype-Selective Modulators as Potential Nonsedating Anxiolytics John R. Atack	331
Antidepressant Treatment in Anxiety Disorders Anton Y. Bespalov, Marcel M. van Gaalen, and Gerhard Gross	361
Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors: Their Therapeutic Potential in Anxiety Will Spooren, Anne Lesage, Hilde Lavreysen, Fabrizio Gasparini, and Thomas Steckler	391
Developing Small Molecule Nonpeptidergic Drugs for the Treatment of Anxiety Disorders: Is the Challenge Still Ahead? Thomas Steckler	415
Cannabinoids and Anxiety Fabrício A. Moreira and Carsten T. Wotjak	429

Contents

Pharmacological Therapy

Pharmacological Treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder	453
David S. Baldwin, Khalil I. Ajel, and Matthew Garner	
Pharmacologic Treatment of Panic Disorder Jeffrey D. Lightfoot, Elizabeth Hay, and Andrew W. Goddard	469
Pharmacotherapy of Social Anxiety Disorder	487
Pharmacotherapy of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Lakshmi N. Ravindran and Murray B. Stein	505
Pharmacological Treatment of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder Helen Blair Simpson	527
Index	545

Contributors

OFX Almeida

Max-Planck Institute of Psychiatry, D-80804 Munich, Germany

John R. Atack

Department of Neuroscience, Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical Research and Development, Building 020, Room 1A6, Turnhoutseweg 30, 2340 Beerse, Belgium, JAtack1@its.jnj.com; JAtack1@prdus.jnj.com

David Baldwin

University Department of Mental Health, Royal South Hants Hospital, Brintons Terrace, Southampton SO14 0YG, UK, dsb1@soton.ac.uk

Anton Y. Bespalov

Neuroscience Research, GPRD Abbott, P.O. Box 21 08 05, 67008 Ludwigshafen, Germany, anton.bespalov@abbott.com

Joseph O. Bienvenu

John Hopkins University, 600 N. Wolfe St. -Meyer 115, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA, jbienven@mail.jhm.edu

John F. Cryan

Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, School of Pharmacy, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland and Alimentary Pharmabiotic Centre, Cavanagh Pharmacy Building, University College Cork, College Rd., Cork, Ireland, j.cryan @ucc.ie

Jürgen Deckert

Department of Psychiatry, University of Würzburg, Füchsleinstrasse 15, 97080 Würzburg, Germany, Deckert_J@klinik.uni-wuerzburg.de

C.F. Durant

Psychopharmacology Unit, University of Bristol, Dorothy Hodgkin Building, Whitson Street, Bristol, BS1 3NY, UK, Claire.Durant@bristol.ac.uk

Amit Etkin

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Stanford University School of Medicine, 401 Quarry Road, Stanford, CA 94305, USA, amitetkin@stanford.edu

Keith A. Ganasen

Department of Psychiatry and Mental Health, University of Cape Town, J-Block, Groote Schuur Hospital, Anzio Rd, Observatory, 7925 Cape Town, South Africa, keithganasen@gmail.com

Jerry Garcia

Department of Health Care Policy, Harvard Medical School, 180 Longwood Avenue, Boston, MA 02115, USA, garcia@hcp.med.harvard.edu

Francisco Silveira Guimarães

Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine of Ribeirão Preto, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil, fsguimar@fmrp.usp.br

Ronald C. Kessler

Department of Health Care Policy, Harvard Medical School, 180 Longwood Avenue, Boston, MA 02115, USA, Kessler@hcp.med.harvard.edu

Kathleen R. Merikangas

Senior Investigator, Intramural Research Program, National Institute of Mental Health, 35 Convent Drive, MSC#3720, Bethesda, MD 20892-3720, USA, meri-kank@mail.nih.gov

David J. Nutt

Psychopharmacology Unit, University of Bristol, Dorothy Hodgkin Building, Whitson Street, Bristol, BS1 3NY, UK, David.J.Nutt@bristol.ac.uk

José Miguel Pêgo

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal, jmpego@ecsaude.uminho.pt

Kerry Ressler

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences Center for Behavorial Neuroscience, Yerkes Research Center, Emory University, 954 Gatewood Dr, Atlanta, GA 30329, USA, kressle@emory.edu

Victoria B. Risbrough

Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Diego, 9500 Gilman Dr., MC0804, La Jolla, CA 92093-0804, USA, vrisbrough@ucsd.edu

Helen Blair Simpson

OCD Research Program, Anxiety Disorders Clinic, Columbia University, New York, NY 10032, USA and Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University, New York, NY 10032, USA and New York State Psychiatric Institute, 1051 Riverside Drive, Unit 69, New York, NY 10032, USA, simpson@nyspi.cpmc. columbia.edu

João Carlos Sousa

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal

Nuno Jorge Carvalho Sousa

Neurosciences Research Domain, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal, njcsousa@ecsaude.uminho.pt

Sousa N

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal

Marlies A. van Duinen

School of Mental Health and Neurosciences, Maastricht University, 6200 AB Maastricht, The Netherlands, marlies.vanduinen@PN.unimaas.nl

Carsten Wotjak

Research Group Neuronal Plasticity/Mouse Behaviour, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Kraepelinstr., 2-10, 80804 Munich, Germany, wotjak@mpipsykl. mpg.de

Part I Anxiety Disorders - Clinical

Anxiety Disorders Diagnosis: Some History and Controversies

O. Joseph Bienvenu, Lisa A. Wuyek, and Murray B. Stein

Contents

1	Intro	duction	4
2	A Bı	ief History of Anxiety Disorders Classification	4
3	Cont	roversy in Classification of Individual Anxiety Disorders	7
	3.1	Agoraphobia Past and Present, in the United States and Elsewhere	7
	3.2	Posttraumatic Phenomena	11
	3.3	Generalized Anxiety Disorder	
	3.4	OCD and Putatively Related Conditions	
4	Sum	mary	14
Re	ferenc	es	15

Abstract Treatment of and research on anxiety disorders depends on the adequate conceptualization and measurement of these conditions. We review the history of the nosology of anxiety disorders and note that divisions of "neurosis" have inadvertently taken attention away from what is shared among conditions now classified separately. We note the changes in the definition of agoraphobia over time and the striking differences between DSM-IV and ICD-10 definitions. We mention ongoing controversies in the diagnoses of posttraumatic stress disorder, acute stress disorder, and generalized anxiety disorder. Finally, we discuss

L.A. Wuyek

M.B. Stein

O.J. Bienvenu (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, 600 N. Wolfe St. - Meyer 115, Baltimore, MD 21287 e-mail: jbienven@jhmi.edu

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, 600 N. Wolfe St. - Meyer 123, Baltimore, MD 21287 e-mail: lwuyek@jhmi.edu

Departments of Psychiatry and Family & Preventive Medicine, University of California San Diego, 8939 Villa La Jolla Drive, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037 e-mail: mstein@ucsd.edu

controversies surrounding the proper placement of obsessive-compulsive disorder and putatively related conditions in future diagnostic classifications. We hope that reviewing controversial aspects of diagnosis is useful to clinicians and researchers interested in the neurobiology of anxiety disorders.

Keywords Anxiety disorder · Nosology · Classification · Agoraphobia · Posttraumatic stress disorder · Acute stress disorder · Generalized anxiety disorder · Obsessive-compulsive disorder

1 Introduction

In this chapter, we intend to familiarize readers with some of the historical origins of the anxiety disorders section of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), fourth edition (APA 1994), noting some differences between this and the similar section in the International Classification of Diseases (ICD), tenth edition (WHO 1992, 1993). We will use these foundations to discuss some ongoing nosologic controversies. We submit that an understanding of the limitations of classification is vital to clinicians and researchers interested in the neurobiology of anxiety disorders. Though we mentioned some of these issues in a previous chapter (Stein and Bienvenu, 2008), our emphasis is different here in that we focus more on individual diagnostic constructs and less on higher-order constructs and dimensions.

Before we begin, it is important to emphasize that we are all affected by our conceptualizations of psychopathology, and these conceptualizations *matter* in clinical practice and research. For example, in a group of studies conducted in the 1960s (the US/UK diagnostic project), researchers found that American psychiatrists had a relatively broad concept of schizophrenia compared with British psychiatrists, who more frequently diagnosed mood, "neurotic," and personality disorders (Cooper et al. 1969; Gurland et al. 1969; Kendell et al. 1971; Kramer 1969; Zubin 1969). Making note of such differences was important not just to clarify why so many Americans were diagnosed with schizophrenia, compared to Brits. That is, the illustration of these differences was important because reliable diagnoses are *essential* for studies of etiology, prognosis, and treatment effectiveness that inform clinical practice. Studies like these gave impetus to the development of explicit diagnostic criteria (Feigner et al. 1972; Spitzer et al. 1978) that prepared the way for DSM-III (APA 1980).

2 A Brief History of Anxiety Disorders Classification

Though anxiety itself has been discussed for millennia (McReynolds 1975), its appearance as a syndrome in the medical literature is a relatively recent phenomenon (Stone 2002). In the eighteenth century, physicians such as Boissier de Sauvages (1752), Battie (1758), Whytt (1765), and Cullen (1807) wrote of

"panophobia" (fear of everything), "praeternatural anxiety" (anxiety outside the normal range), "nervous disorders," and "neurosis," respectively (Stone 2002). Notably, by "neuroses" (nerve conditions) Cullen meant "those affections...which do not depend on topical affection of organs but upon general affection of the nervous system" (Knoff 1970); thus, the neuroses originally included a number of neurologic and psychiatric conditions, not just what we now call anxiety, depressive, somatoform, and dissociative disorders. Over time, the term "neurosis" has endured, though the group of phenomena it describes has narrowed, and the term has carried varying etiologic connotations (Stone 2002).

It is worth mentioning, in passing, that in the mid–late nineteenth century Beard coined the term "neurasthenia" (weakness of the nerves) (Beard 1880). This popular label was subsequently applied to what we now recognize as a broad range of anxiety and other syndromes (Stone 2002), though "neurosis" outlasted "neurasthenia" as a broad psychopathologic descriptive term [note that a much narrower definition of neurasthenia remains in ICD-10 (WHO 1992)]. Meanwhile, a number of other categories within neurosis were more or less delineated (Tyrer 1985), including agoraphobia (Westphal 1872), anxiety neurosis (Freud 1895/1962), specific and social phobias (Hartenberg 1901; Marks 1970; Ribot 1896), obsessive-compulsive neurosis (Janet 1908), milder depressive states (Lewis 1938), and panic disorder (Klein 1964). We say "more or less delineated" since most of the listed authors described relatively broad, overlapping syndromes. "Neurosis" was a broad diagnostic category in DSM until the third edition (APA 1980), and it remains a broad diagnostic category in ICD-10 (WHO 1992).

Table 1 summarizes the classification of neurotic and anxiety disorders from DSM-I through DSM-IV (APA 1952, 1968, 1980, 1987, 1994). Note that the authors of DSM-III moved somatoform and dissociative disorders to separate categories, eliminated "depressive neurosis," grouped the remaining former "neurotic" disorders as "anxiety disorders," and added posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) to this new category. By DSM-III, the term "neurosis" had long taken on psychoanalytic etiologic implications. DSM-III and its descendants were meant to provide atheoretical descriptions of mental disorders; this is why the term "neurosis" was phased out, despite its value and history as a descriptive term (Fava et al. 2008; Frances et al. 1993; Tyrer 1985). Table 2 summarizes the "Neurotic, stress-related, and somatoform disorders" in ICD-10 (WHO 1992).

By far, the most marked change in classification of the anxiety disorders occurred with DSM-III. All psychiatric diagnoses were defined more explicitly than before, with diagnostic criteria that facilitated clearer communication for clinical practice and research. In addition, the anxiety disorders were given substantially more attention (Frances et al. 1993), with the delineation of panic disorder and generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) from "anxiety neurosis" and the categorization of different kinds of phobias, including agoraphobia, social phobia, and simple (specific) phobia.

Notably, there are reasons to question the utility of carving neurosis into separate categories (Tyrer 1985). Long before explicit diagnostic criteria were developed, change over time and cross-sectional comorbidity among the various neurotic conditions was recognized as common (Slater and Slater 1944). This is no less

Table 1 Classification of neurotic,	anxiety disorders in the A	merican Psychiatric Associati	on's Diagnostic and Statistical M	Manuals of Mental Disorders
DSM-I psychoneurotic disorders (1952)	DSM-II neuroses (1968)	DSM-III anxiety disorders (1980)	DSM-III-R anxiety disorders (1987)	DSM-IV anxiety disorders (1994)
Phobic reaction	Phobic neurosis	Agoraphobia with panic attacks Agoraphobia without panic attacks Social phobia Simple phobia	Agoraphobia without history of panic disorder Social phobia Simple phobia	Agoraphobia without history of panic disorder Social phobia Simple phobia
Anxiety reaction	Anxiety neurosis	Panic disorder Generalized anxiety disorder	Panic disorder with agoraphobia Panic disorder without agoraphobia Generalized anxiety disorder	Panic disorder with agoraphobia Panic disorder without agoraphobia Generalized anxiety disorder
Obsessive compulsive reaction	Obsessive compulsive neurosis	Obsessive-compulsive disorder Posttraumatic stress disorder	Obsessive-compulsive disorder Posttraumatic stress disorder	Obsessive-compulsive disorder Posttraumatic stress disorder Acute stress disorder
Depressive reaction Conversion reaction Dissociative reaction	Depressive neurosis Hysterical neurosis Neurasthenic neurosis Hypochondriacal neurosis Depersonalization neurosis			

Tuble 2 Hearone, sitess felated, and somatoform	
Phobic anxiety disorders	Dissociative [conversion] disorders
– Agoraphobia	 Dissociative amnesia
 Social phobias 	 Dissociative fugue
 Specific (isolated) phobias 	 Dissociative stupor
	 Trance and possession disorders
Other anxiety disorders	 Dissociative motor disorders
 Panic disorder 	 Dissociative convulsions
 Generalized anxiety disorder 	- Dissociative anesthesia and sensory loss
 Mixed anxiety and depressive disorder 	
	Somatoform disorders
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	 Somatization disorder
	 Hypochondriacal disorder
Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders	- Somatoform autonomic dysfunction
 Acute stress reaction 	 Persistent somatoform pain disorder
 Posttraumatic stress disorder 	-
 Adjustment disorders 	Other neurotic disorders
	– Neurasthenia
	- Depersonalization-derealization syndrome

 Table 2 Neurotic, stress-related, and somatoform disorders in ICD-10 (1992)

true since the introduction of explicit diagnostic criteria with DSM-III and its descendants (Andrews et al. 1990, 2002; Brown et al. 2001; Boyd et al. 1984; Creed and Barsky 2004; Freyberger and Spitzer 2005; Kessler 1995; Lieb et al. 2007; Merikangas et al. 1996). The extent of comorbidity among conditions formerly classified as neuroses has rightly turned attention toward what these conditions share, including personality correlates (Bienvenu et al. 2001; Kahn et al. 2005; Krueger et al. 2001). Factor analytic studies are consistent in finding that anxiety and depressive disorders are highly comorbid, though phobic, panic, and obsessive-compulsive disorders are particularly highly comorbid (forming a "fear factor"), and depressive, generalized anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorders are also particularly highly comorbid (forming a "distress" or "anxious misery" factor) (Cox et al. 2002; Kendler et al. 2003; Kessler et al. 2005b; Krueger 1999; Krueger et al. 1998, 2003; Miller et al. 2008; Slade and Watson 2006; Vollebergh et al. 2001). There is also substantial evidence that anxiety and depressive disorders share a genetic basis that presumably underlies the phenotypic comorbidity patterns (Hettema 2008a; Kendler et al. 2003).

3 Controversy in Classification of Individual Anxiety Disorders

3.1 Agoraphobia Past and Present, in the United States and Elsewhere

Of all the anxiety disorders, agoraphobia's nosologic status is probably the most controversial. Westphal 1872 coined the term "agoraphobia" (fear of the

marketplace – open city squares) to describe a syndrome he encountered in his neurological/psychiatric practice. His patients had great difficulty crossing squares without extreme anxiety, though they also had difficulty in other situations - e.g., being alone on empty streets; using public transportation; being in situations like the theatre, concerts, or crowded rooms; or being in lectures and large meetings (Kuch and Swinson 1992). Westphal noted that the condition was somewhat inexplicable, though he recognized it as a condition of abnormal anxiety in particular situations with associated avoidance and resultant problems in everyday life (i.e., what we have, for many years, conceptualized as a phobia). The name "agoraphobia" has never been entirely satisfactory, as the feared situations clearly extend beyond "the marketplace"; Le Grand du Saulle 1878 preferred the term "fear of spaces" (Stone 2002). As noted by Marks 1970, the syndrome has had many other labels, including "phobic-anxiety-depersonalization syndrome," "phobic anxiety state," "locomotor anxiety," "topophobia" (fear of particular places), "kenophobia" (fear of empty spaces), and "platzangst" (place anxiety), though none of these have outlasted "agoraphobia."

As mentioned previously, categories of phobia (including agoraphobia) were not specified in the DSM until DSM-III (see Table 1). Interest in phobias appears to have increased, at least in part, due to interest in the use of behavioral therapy (Marks 1970). Also, with the delineation of panic disorder, the DSM gradually began to construe agoraphobia as strongly related to panic, even as a consequence of panic. That is, though panic and autonomic anxiety symptoms, including "fear of fear" (fear of incapacitating anxiety in certain situations), had long been noted in patients with agoraphobia (Freud 1895/1962; Westphal 1872), panic gradually became the predominant organizing symptom in the DSM (Frances et al. 1993), based largely on Klein's cogent argument that agoraphobia often developed after (and presumably as a result of) spontaneous panic attacks (Klein 1980). This influence was present in DSM-III and has increased since then (Frances et al. 1993); that is, a theory of the cause of agoraphobia has been built into the DSM definition of agoraphobia, despite the intention of DSM-III to produce an atheoretical descriptive document, and despite even Klein's observation that situational phobias (e.g., claustrophobia) often precede a first panic attack (Klein 1980). Thus, DSM-III included "agoraphobia with panic attacks" and "agoraphobia without panic attacks" (simple/specific and social phobias have never included such panic presence/absence specifiers) and stated that an agoraphobic "has marked fear of and thus avoids being alone or in public places from which escape might be difficult or help not available in case of sudden incapacitation." Restated, agoraphobia was not just fear and avoidance of specific typical situations; fear of incapacitation was built in to the definition. DSM-III-R went further, including "panic disorder with (or without) agoraphobia," as well as "agoraphobia without history of panic disorder." In "panic disorder with agoraphobia," agoraphobia was defined as "fear of being in public places or situations from which escape might be difficult (or embarrassing) or in which help might not be available in the event of a panic attack"; practioners were instructed to include "cases in which persistent avoidance behavior originated during an active phase of Panic Disorder, even if the person does not attribute the avoidance behavior to fear of having a panic attack." Even the definition of "agoraphobia without a history of panic disorder" implied that what was feared was not the situation itself but "suddenly developing a symptom(s) that could be incapacitating or extremely embarrassing." DSM-IV went further still in the theme of agoraphobia as "fear of fear," stating that agoraphobia is "anxiety about being in places or situations in which escape might be difficult (or embarrassing) or in which help may not be available in the event of having an unexpected or situationally predisposed panic attack or panic-like symptoms." For these reasons, many modern psychiatric texts have no chapter on agoraphobia – agoraphobia is almost always discussed in chapters on panic disorder.

The DSM definition of agoraphobia stands in stark contrast to that of ICD-10. The ICD-10 definition embodies what is often referred to as the "European position," which considers agoraphobia a particularly severe phobia (Marks 1987, Fava et al. 2008), defined as a "fairly well-defined cluster of phobias embracing fears of leaving home, entering shops, crowds and public places, or travelling alone in trains, buses or planes" (WHO 1992). Thus, the focus in ICD-10 is on the fear and avoidance of the situations themselves, not on the fear of anxiety/panic in those situations. ICD-10 acknowledges the frequent accompaniment of panic, depressive, and obsessional symptoms but does not imply primacy of panic the way DSM does. ICD-10 was undoubtedly influenced by Marks 1987 and others arguments that agoraphobia should be a stand-alone diagnosis, often related to but not inextricably bound to panic. In support of this position, typical agoraphobic (situational) fears have long been noted to cluster together within individuals, separate from other types of fears (Arrindell et al. 2003, Marks 1987), and panic itself does not appear necessary for this natural clustering (Cox et al. 2003).

So, one may wonder, which definition, that in DSM or that in ICD-10, is "correct"? We submit that neither is correct in any absolute sense, since our diagnoses reflect concepts and conventions, not necessarily nature (though approximating nature as much as possible is presumably ideal). Nevertheless, it is reasonable to ask what evidence suggests panic is *causally* related to agoraphobia, as implied in DSM. In reviewing this evidence, it is important to note that definitional issues such as those outlined previously are crucial to understand and usually confusing, in part because these definitions have been a moving target. With this caveat in mind, we note several facts thoughtfully reviewed by Craske 1996 for the Consideration of the DSM-IV anxiety disorders committee. [Note that, though the DSM-IV anxiety disorders to have given some consideration to the European position, they do not appear to have seriously called into question the DSM-III assumption that fear of incapacitation should define agoraphobia. We add additional context to the points reviewed by Craske]:

 Most DSM-III agoraphobics who presented to anxiety disorders clinics in 1980s American research studies did endorse panic attacks or other symptoms that could be incapacitating or embarrassing in those situations. [Since DSM-III *defined* agoraphobia as fear of incapacitation, this should not be particularly surprising.]

- Early post-DSM-III epidemiologic studies, which used to measure more of an imperfect ICD-10 (fear/avoidance of situations) than DSM construct of agora-phobia, found that, though most persons with agoraphobia did not meet DSM-III panic disorder criteria, some of these respondents may have had fear of fear. [Note that this was not measured directly i.e., the fact that respondents had autonomic anxiety symptoms, including panic attacks, in the phobic situation does not mean that respondents feared these symptoms themselves; such symptoms also occur in patients with other phobias when confronted with relevant stimuli. Also, the clinical reappraisal study by Horwath et al. 1993, which suggested epidemiologic "agoraphobia without panic" often reflected misclassification, used the DSM-III definition of agoraphobia.]
- In studies of patients with DSM panic and agoraphobia, patients often reported (retrospectively) that panic attacks preceded or began simultaneously with DSM agoraphobia. [Notably, such patients sometimes retrospectively report that agoraphobic symptoms preceded their first panic attack (e.g., Argyle and Roth 1989; Fava et al. 1988; Fava et al. 1992; Lelliott et al. 1989, Perugi et al. 1998). In addition, it is interesting that many patients with panic and agoraphobia had their first panic attack in a typical agoraphobic situation (Faravelli et al. 1992; Lelliott et al. 1989; Perugi et al. 1998)]. Craske noted that prospective longitudinal studies were nonexistent at the time of her review.
- In patients with DSM agoraphobia (usually panic disorder and agoraphobia), expectation of panic in particular situations (though not frequency, severity, or expected/cued nature of panic) predicted the degree of avoidance. Craske noted that this finding does not prove that panic is causally related to avoidance.

The authors of DSM-IV decided to continue with the "fear of fear" concept in defining agoraphobia, despite concerns raised by Craske and the definitional concerns we raise here, and despite the fact that this would conflict with the ICD-10 definition (Frances et al. 1993). Nevertheless, the authors of DSM-IV noted that the boundary between agoraphobia and situational (specific) phobia is indistinct (Craske et al. 1996). The specific feared situations overlap, and the age of onset is similar in these two putatively distinct groups.

More recent studies in community samples add credence to the notion that agoraphobia should not be defined as fear of panic (Fava et al. 2008; Hayward and Wilson 2008):

- Wittchen et al. (1998) found that many young Germans had agoraphobic syndromes (with multiple situational fears) but no history of fearful spells. These participants would meet the ICD-10 criteria for agoraphobia, though some would presumably not meet DSM criteria (e.g., persons who avoided traveling for fear of getting lost).
- Hayward et al. (2003) found that only 20% of adolescents with agoraphobic fears and avoidance had ever experienced a panic attack.

• Bienvenu et al. (2006) found that persons who had agoraphobic symptoms but no history of spontaneous fearful spells were at increased risk for a later onset of panic disorder during a 13-year follow-up period; i.e., in these persons, the DSM-implied one-way causal direction between panic and agoraphobia was backwards.

Though it is not clear how agoraphobia "should" be defined, we recognize that the DSM-IV definition has certain advantages. Specifically, compared to the definition in DSM-IV, the ICD-10 definition is relatively vague, even though it appears empirically valid. That is, in the DSM-IV definition, what is meant to be feared in typical agoraphobic situations is clear (i.e., embarrassing or incapacitating symptoms). Nevertheless, researchers, in particular, should be aware of this unresolved controversy and the lack of a clear demarcation between situational (specific) phobias and agoraphobia. In addition, researchers, in particular, should not assume that they "know" what persons with agoraphobic syndromes fear; conceptualizations do not obviate the need for a clear phenomenologic understanding.

3.2 Posttraumatic Phenomena

Though the diagnosis PTSD first appeared in DSM-III (see Table 1), the diagnosis "traumatic neurosis" (a.k.a. "shell shock," "combat fatigue," and "war neurosis") had been used for many years. Interestingly, DSM-I included a vaguely similar construct, "gross stress reaction," though this diagnosis was not carried forward into DSM-II (Andreasen 2004).

In DSM-III, PTSD was defined as a syndrome that occurred following a psychologically traumatic event that "would evoke significant symptoms of distress in almost everyone." The text noted that such events were "generally outside the range of human experience" (to differentiate this construct from common stressful experiences like simple bereavement, chronic illness, business losses, or marital conflict). In fact, this language was added to criterion A in DSM-III-R, along with examples of potential traumatic stressors (serious threats of death and injury, etc.). However, the field soon realized that many deleterious traumatic events were not outside the range of usual human experience – perhaps especially in the United States (Breslau et al. 1991; Wittchen et al. 2009), so that concept was dropped in DSM-IV. DSM-IV also expanded the definition of a potential PTSD-related trauma, including, for example, being diagnosed with a life-threatening illness. In addition, it was no longer necessary to experience the event first-hand. Thus, what was initially conceptualized as a relatively violent, immediate kind of stressor gradually changed to something substantially less well delineated. This "criterion creep" has been particularly controversial (Andreasen 2004; Breslau and Kessler 2001; McHugh and Treisman 2007; Rosen et al. 2008; Wittchen et al. 2009). Another controversial aspect of this diagnosis is that many within, and, particularly, outside the field have understood PTSD as being caused by the stressor in too simplistic a fashion; i.e., without consideration of additional risk factors such as personality traits and family or personal history of psychopathology (McHugh and Treisman 2007; Rosen et al. 2008).

As noted above, the PTSD construct may be too broad and overinclusive. However, it is also arguable that the diagnostic criteria are under inclusive. For example, some studies have noted that the use of a strict PTSD definition fails to identify many persons with PTSD symptoms who have clinically significant distress and/or impairment (Marshall et al. 2001; Stein et al. 1997), though not all studies agree on the extent of impairment in subthreshold cases (Breslau et al. 2004). Notably, the DSM requirement that PTSD symptoms be spread across the three diagnostic clusters has little empirical support (Stein and Bienvenu 2008). Thus, it makes sense to consider alternate and, perhaps, easier-to-remember definitions that consider external construct validators like functional impairment (Norman et al. 2007).

The DSM-III definition of PTSD did not include a duration criterion, so patients could be diagnosed with the condition immediately after the trauma. However, depending on the nature of the trauma, many persons would be expected to have substantial symptoms immediately afterward. Thus, in DSM-III-R, a criterion was added specifying that the symptoms had to be present for at least 1 month. However, this left patients with substantial immediate PTSD symptoms and related distress and/or impairment without a diagnosis. In DSM-IV, a new diagnosis, acute stress disorder (ASD) was introduced. ASD, by definition, can only occur within 4 weeks of the trauma and can only last 4 weeks. This diagnosis emphasizes dissociative symptoms much more than PTSD does. The rationale for this emphasis was that several studies found that peritraumatic dissociative symptoms predicted later PTSD symptoms more than reexperiencing, avoidance/numbing, and hyperarousal symptoms did (Classen et al. 1998; Ehlers et al. 1998; Murray et al. 2002). Other studies, however, have not found that dissociative symptoms have unique prognostic significance (Brewin et al. 1999, 2003; Bryant et al. 2008; Harvey and Bryant 1999). In addition, many persons with PTSD apparently never met criteria for ASD, and it seems reasonable to argue that the presence of acute dissociative symptoms is simply one of several risk factors for PTSD (Marshall et al. 1999). Thus, it is unclear whether the addition of the ASD diagnosis has been particularly useful.

3.3 Generalized Anxiety Disorder

Chronic free-floating anxiety was noted by Freud 1895/1962 in his description of anxiety neurosis, and it was clear, by DSM-III, that not all patients from that category were well-characterized by the new diagnosis panic disorder. Since the introduction of GAD in DSM-III, nosologists have attempted to reliably and validly define it. Over time, the GAD construct has narrowed and may be more reliable, though many researchers have cast doubt on the validity of the narrower definitions. As noted by Hoehn-Saric et al. 2007, GAD does not appear to exist in nature as the sharply delineated condition implied in successive versions of the DSM.

In DSM-III, the duration criterion for GAD was 1 month. Similarly, in ICD-10, generalized anxiety must be present "most days for at least several weeks at a time." However, DSM-III-R (and DSM-IV) lengthened the duration requirement to 6 months, with little empirical basis (Breslau and Davis 1985). A number of community studies have used internal and external construct validators to examine whether or not the DSM duration criteria identify a unique group of individuals. These validators have included sociodemographic factors, age of onset, course, impairment, distress, severity, comorbidity, family history, and treatment for anxiety. In summary, there is little evidence that the 6-month criterion is valid in terms of describing a unique group of generalized anxiety sufferers (Angst et al. 2006; Bienvenu et al. 1998; Breslau and Davis 1985; Kessler et al. 2005a; Lee et al. 2008); shorter-duration syndromes (e.g., 1 month) appear quite similar. Importantly, generalized anxiety syndromes lasting 1 month appear as heritable as those lasting 6 months; this is inconsistent with the idea that shorter-duration generalized anxiety syndromes are purely environmentally-mediated transient stress reactions (Kendler et al. 1992a).

Since DSM-III-R, "excessive" worry "about two or more life circumstances" has been required for a GAD diagnosis, though this criterion was not present in DSM-III and is absent in ICD-10. As with the duration criterion, the nature-of-worry criteria have been examined using internal and external construct validators. Bienvenu et al. 1998 found that the DSM-III-R nature of worry criteria did not identify generally anxious persons with a particular demographic or comorbidity profile. Ruscio et al. 2005 examined the "excessive worry" criterion with regard to a broader range of construct validators and in a larger sample. The "excessiveness" criterion did identify persons with earlier-onset, more severe, and more comorbid generalized anxiety syndromes, though persons with substantial non"excessive" worry also had relatively high impairment, treatment-seeking, and comorbidity compared to persons without substantial generalized anxiety. To our knowledge, the other DSM-IV nature-of-worry criterion, "difficult to control," has not been examined using these methods.

Another DSM-IV decision is worthy of consideration here. In DSM-III and DSM-III-R, autonomic anxiety symptoms were counted as associated symptoms of GAD, and they remain so in ICD-10. However, in DSM-IV, autonomic symptoms were eliminated as associated symptoms of GAD. The rationale for excluding autonomic symptoms was that these were less frequent than hyperarousal symptoms in GAD patients in anxiety disorder specialty clinics (reviewed and examined in Marten et al. 1993). To our knowledge, this decision did not take into account the possibility that generally anxious patients presenting in primary care settings may have predominant physical symptoms, including autonomic symptoms (Rickels and Rynn 2001). To our knowledge, this issue remains unexplored.

A final controversy concerns whether GAD should be grouped with depressive disorders instead of the anxiety disorders, based on the comorbidity patterns mentioned previously (note that PTSD is also particularly highly comorbid with this group), as well as apparently overlapping genetic causes (e.g., Kendler 1996; Kendler et al. 1992b, 2006; Roy et al. 1995). Hettema (2008b) recently reviewed

the relevant literature focusing on multiple external validators of a GAD-major depression relationship, including genetics, childhood environment, demographics, personality traits and disorders, life events, biology, comorbidity, and pharmacology. He concluded that the evidence supported a close relationship between these conditions, but that this relationship was not particularly specific (i.e., other anxiety disorders are also strongly related to major depression).

3.4 OCD and Putatively Related Conditions

The most controversial issue in the nosology of OCD seems to be whether or not OCD should remain classified as an anxiety disorder, and whether putative OCDrelated conditions should be classified as such in DSM-V (Hollander et al. 2008; Regier 2007). Notably, ICD-10 includes OCD in the "neurotic, stress-related, and somatoform disorders" but does not list OCD as an "anxiety disorder" (the same is true for PTSD, which is listed in the "reaction to severe stress and adjustment disorders" subsection). Additional arguments for removing OCD and grouping it with putatively related conditions include relatively distinctive phenomenology and neurocircuitry, though none of the arguments are free from controversy (Mataix-Cols et al. 2007; Stein 2008; Storch et al. 2008), and it is not clear that the remaining conditions classified as anxiety disorders are themselves homogenous in most respects. Notably, though some putative OCD-related conditions (e.g., body dysmorphic disorder) are highly comorbid in persons with OCD and appear to run in families of patients with OCD (e.g., Bienvenu et al. 2000), anxiety disorders like GAD are also common in persons with OCD and their family members (Nestadt et al. 2001).

Another controversial issue is whether compulsive hoarding (CH) should be classified within or outside of OCD. Though it has been common practice to refer to CH as an OCD symptom, some have argued that CH is a relatively discrete entity that occurs often, but not always, in the context of other OCD symptoms (Frost and Gross 1993; Steketee and Frost 2003; Wu and Watson 2005). In addition, neuro-psychological and neuroimaging findings suggest some differences between those with CH and those with only other OCD symptoms (Saxena 2008). This area of research deserves further attention.

4 Summary

Anxiety disorders treatment and research depends on the adequate conceptualization and measurement of these conditions. We reviewed the history of the nosology of anxiety disorders and noted that divisions of "neurosis" have inadvertently taken attention away from what is shared among conditions now classified separately. We noted the changes in the definition of agoraphobia over time and the striking differences between DSM-IV and ICD-10 definitions. We mentioned ongoing controversies in the diagnoses PTSD, ASD, and GAD. Finally, we discussed controversies surrounding the proper placement of OCD and putatively related conditions in future diagnostic classifications. We hope reviewing controversial aspects of diagnosis is useful to clinicians and researchers interested in the neurobiology of anxiety disorders.

References

- American Psychiatric Association (1980) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 3rd edn. APA, Washington, DC
- American Psychiatric Association (1987) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 3rd edn. APA, Washington, DC
- American Psychiatric Association (1994) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 4th edn. APA, Washington, DC
- American Psychiatric Association, Committee on Nomenclature and Statistics (1952) Diagnostic and statistical manual: mental disorders. APA Mental Hospital Service, Washington, DC
- American Psychiatric Association, Committee on Nomenclature and Statistics (1968) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 2nd edn. APA, Washington, DC
- Andreasen NC (2004) Acute and delayed posttraumatic stress disorder: a history and some issues. Am J Psychiatry 161:1321–1323
- Andrews G, Stewart G, Morris-Yates A et al (1990) Evidence for a general neurotic syndrome. Br J Psychiatry 157:6–12
- Andrews G, Slade T, Issakidis C (2002) Deconstructing current comorbidity: data from the Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Well-being. Br J Psychiatry 181:306–314
- Angst J, Gamma A, Bienvenu OJ et al (2006) Varying temporal criteria for generalized anxiety disorder: prevalence and clinical characteristics in a young age cohort. Psychol Med 36:1283–1292
- Argyle N, Roth M (1989) The phenomenological study of 90 patients with panic disorder, part II. Psychiatr Dev 7:187–209
- Arrindell WA, Eisemann M, Richter J et al (2003) Phobic anxiety in 11 nations. part 1: dimensional constancy of the five-factor model. Behav Res Ther 41:469–479
- Battie W (1758) A treatise on madness. J Whiston & B White, London
- Beard GM (1880) A practical treatise on nervous exhaustion (neurasthenia). W Wood, New York
- Bienvenu OJ, Nestadt G, Eaton WW (1998) Characterizing generalized anxiety: temporal and symptomatic thresholds. J Nerv Ment Dis 186:51–56
- Bienvenu OJ, Samuels JF, Riddle MA et al (2000) The relationship of obsessive-compulsive disorder to possible spectrum disorders: results from a family study. Biol Psychiatry 48:287–293
- Bienvenu OJ, Brown C, Samuels JF et al (2001) Normal personality traits and comorbidity among phobic, panic and major depressive disorders. Psychiatry Res 10:73–85
- Bienvenu OJ, Onyike CU, Stein MB et al (2006) Agoraphobia in adults: incidence and longitudinal relationship with panic. Br J Psychiatry 188:432–438
- Boissier de Sauvages F (1752) Pathologica Methodica. De Tournes, Amsterdam
- Boyd JH, Burke JD, Gruenberg E et al (1984) Exclusion criteria of DSM-III: a study of co-occurrence of hierarchy-free syndromes. Arch Gen Psychiatry 41:983–989
- Breslau N, Davis GC (1985) DSM-III generalized anxiety disorder: an empirical investigation of more stringent criteria. Psychiatry Res 14:231–238
- Breslau N, Kessler RC (2001) The stressor criterion in DSM-IV posttraumatic stress disorder: an empirical investigation. Biol Psychiatry 50:699–704
- Breslau N, Davis GC, Andreski P et al (1991) Traumatic events and posttraumatic stress disorder in an urban population of young adults. Arch Gen Psychiatry 48:216–222

- Breslau N, Lucia VC, Davis GC (2004) Partial PTSD versus full PTSD: an empirical examination of associated impairment. Psychol Med 34:1205–1214
- Brewin CR, Andrews B, Rose S et al (1999) Acute stress disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder in victims of violent crime. Am J Psychiatry 156:360–366
- Brewin CR, Andrews B, Rose S (2003) Diagnostic overlap between acute stress disorder and PTSD in victims of violent crime. Am J Psychiatry 160:783–785
- Brown TA, Campbell LA, Lehman CL et al (2001) Current and lifetime comorbidity of the DSM-IV anxiety and mood disorders in a large clinical sample. J Abnorm Psychol 110:585–599
- Bryant RA, Creamer M, O'Donnell ML et al (2008) A multisite study of the capacity of acute stress disorder diagnosis to predict posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 69:923–929
- Classen C, Koopman C, Hales R et al (1998) Acute stress disorder as a predictor of posttraumatic stress symptoms. Am J Psychiatry 155:620–624
- Cooper JE, Kendell RE, Gurland BJ et al (1969) Cross-national study of diagnosis of the mental disorders: some results from the first comparative investigation. Am J Psychiatry 125(Suppl 10):21–29
- Cox BJ, Clara IP, Enns MW (2002) Posttraumatic stress disorder and the structure of common mental disorders. Depress Anxiety 15:168–171
- Cox BJ, McWilliams LA, Clara IP et al (2003) The structure of feared situations in a nationally representative sample. J Anxiety Disord 17:89–101
- Craske MG (1996) Is agoraphobic avoidance secondary to panic attacks? In: Widiger TA, Frances AJ, Pincus HA et al (eds) DSM-IV sourcebook. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC
- Craske MG, Barlow DH, Clark DM et al (1996) Specific (simple) phobias. In: Widiger TA, Frances AJ, Pincus HA et al (eds) DSM-IV sourcebook. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC
- Creed F, Barsky A (2004) A systematic review of the epidemiology of somatization disorder and hypochondriasis. J Psychosom Res 56:391–408
- Cullen W (1807) First lines on the practice of physic. E Merriam, Brookfield, MA
- Ehlers A, Mayou RA, Bryant B (1998) Psychological predictors of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder after motor vehicle accidents. J Abnorm Psychol 107:508–519
- Faravelli C, Pallanti S, Biondi F et al (1992) Onset of panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 149:827-828
- Fava GA, Grandi S, Canestrari R (1988) Prodromal symptoms in panic disorder with agoraphobia. Am J Psychiatry 145:1564–1567
- Fava GA, Grandi S, Rafanelli C et al (1992) Prodromal symptoms in panic disorder with agoraphobia: a replication study. J Affect Disord 26:85–88
- Fava GA, Rafanelli C, Tossani E et al (2008) Agoraphobia is a disease: a tribute to Sir Martin Roth. Psychother Psychosom 77:133–138
- Feigner JP, Robins E, Guze SB et al (1972) Diagnostic criteria for use in psychiatric research. Arch Gen Psychiatry 26:57–63
- Frances A, Miele GM, Widiger TA et al (1993) The classification of panic disorders: from Freud to DSM-IV. J Psychiatr Res 27(Suppl 1):3–10
- Freud S (1895/1962) On the grounds for detaching a particular syndrome from neurasthenia under the description 'anxiety neurosis'. In: Strachey J (ed) Standard edition of the complete psychological works of Sigmund Freud, vol 3. Hogarth Press, London
- Freyberger HJ, Spitzer C (2005) Dissociative disorders. Nervenarzt 76:893-899
- Frost RO, Gross RC (1993) The hoarding of possessions. Behav Res Ther 31:367-381
- Gurland BJ, Fleiss JL, Cooper JE et al (1969) Cross-national study of diagnosis of the mental disorders: some comparisons of diagnostic criteria from the first investigation. Am J Psychiatry 125(Suppl 10):30–39
- Hartenberg P (1901) Les timides et la timidite. Alcan, Paris
- Harvey AG, Bryant RA (1999) The relationship between acute stress disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder: a 2-year prospective evaluation. J Consult Clin Psychol 67:985–988

- Hayward C, Wilson KA (2008) Anxiety sensitivity: a missing piece to the agoraphobia-withoutpanic puzzle. Behav Modif 31:162–173
- Hayward C, Killen JD, Taylor CB (2003) The relationship between agoraphobic symptoms and panic disorder in a nonclinical sample of adolescents. Psychol Med 33:733–738
- Hettema JM (2008a) What is the genetic relationship between anxiety and depression? Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet 148C:140–146
- Hettema JM (2008b) The nosologic relationship between generalized anxiety disorder and major depression. Depress Anxiety 25:300–316
- Hoehn-Saric R, Borkovec TD, Belzer K (2007) Generalized anxiety disorder. In: Gabbard GO (ed) Treatments of DSM-IV-TR psychiatric disorders. American Psychiatric Press, Washington, DC
- Hollander E, Braun A, Simeon D (2008) Should OCD leave the anxiety disorders in DSM-V? The case for obsessive compulsive-related disorders. Depress Anxiety 25:317–329
- Horwath E, Lish JD, Johnson J et al (1993) Agoraphobia without panic: clinical reappraisal of an epidemiologic finding. Am J Psychiatry 150:1496–1501
- Janet P (1908) Obsessions and psychasthenia. Alcan, Paris
- Kahn AA, Jacobson KC, Gardner CO et al (2005) Personality and comorbidity of common psychiatric disorders. Br J Psychiatry 186:190–196
- Kendell RF, Cooper JE, Gourlay AJ et al (1971) Diagnostic criteria of American and British psychiatrists. Arch Gen Psychiatry 25:123–130
- Kendler KS (1996) Major depression and generalised anxiety disorder, (partly) different environments – revisited. Br J Psychiatry 168:68–75
- Kendler KS, Neale MC, Kessler RC et al (1992a) Generalized anxiety disorder in women: a population-based twin study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49:267–272
- Kendler KS, Neale MC, Kessler RC et al (1992b) Major depression and generalized anxiety disorder: same genes, (partly) different environments? Arch Gen Psychiatry 49:716–722
- Kendler KS, Prescott CA, Myers J et al (2003) The structure of genetic and environmental risk factors for common psychiatric and substance use disorders in men and women. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:929–937
- Kendler KS, Gardner CO, Gatz M et al (2006) The sources of co-morbidity between major depression and generalized anxiety disorder in a Swedish national twin sample. Psychol Med 37:453–462
- Kessler RC (1995) Epidemiology of psychiatric comorbidity. In: Tsuang MT, Tohen M, Zahner GEP (eds) Textbook in psychiatric epidemiology. Wiley, New York
- Kessler RC, Brandenburg N, Lane M et al (2005a) Rethinking the duration requirement for generalized anxiety disorder: evidence from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Psychol Med 35:1073–1082
- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O et al (2005b) Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:617–627
- Klein DF (1964) Delineation of two drug-responsive anxiety syndromes. Psychopharmacologia 5:397–408
- Klein DF (1980) Anxiety reconceptualized. Compr Psychiatry 21:411-427
- Knoff WF (1970) A history of the concept of neurosis, with a memoir of William Cullen. Am J Psychiatry 127:120–124
- Kramer M (1969) Cross-national study of diagnosis of the mental disorders: origin of the problem. Am J Psychiatry 125(Suppl 10):1–11
- Krueger RF (1999) The structure of common mental disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 56:921-926
- Krueger RF, Caspi A, Moffitt TE et al (1998) The structure and stability of common mental disorders (DSM-III-R): a longitudinal-epidemiological study. J Abnorm Psychol 107:216–227
- Krueger RF, McGrue M, Iacono WG (2001) The higher order structure of common DSM mental disorders: internalization, externalization, and their connections to personality. Pers Individ Dif 30:1245–1259

- Krueger RF, Chentsova-Dutton YE, Markon KE et al (2003) A cross-cultural study of the structure of comorbidity among common psychopathological syndromes in the general health care setting. J Abnorm Psychol 107:216–227
- Kuch K, Swinson RP (1992) Agoraphobia: what Westphal really said. Can J Psychiatry 37:133-136
- Le Grand du Saulle H (1878) Etude clinique sur la peur des espaces (agoraphobie, des Allemandes). V Adrien Delahaye, Paris
- Lee S, Tsang A, Ruscio AM et al (2008) Implications of modifying the duration requirement of generalized anxiety disorder in developed and developing countries. Psychol Med . doi:10.1017/S0033291708004807
- Lelliott P, Marks I, McNamee G et al (1989) Onset of panic disorder with agoraphobia: toward an integrated model. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:1000–1004
- Lewis AJ (1938) States of depression: clinical and aetiological differentiation. BMJ 11:875-878
- Lieb R, Mienlschmidt G, Araya R (2007) Epidemiology of the association between somatoform disorders and anxiety and depressive disorders: an update. Psychosom Med 69:860–863
- Marks IM (1970) A classification of phobic disorders. Br J Psychiatry 116:377-386
- Marks IM (1987) Fears, phobias and rituals: panic, anxiety, and their disorders. Oxford University Press, New York
- Marshall RD, Spitzer RL, Liebowitz MR (1999) Review and critique of the new DSM-IV diagnosis of acute stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry 156:1677–1685
- Marshall RD, Olfson M, Hellman F et al (2001) Comorbidity, impairment, and suicidality in subthreshold PTSD. Am J Psychiatry 158:1467–1473
- Marten PA, Brown TA, Barlow DH et al (1993) Evaluation of the ratings comprising the associated symptom criterion of DSM-III-R generalized anxiety disorder. J Nerv Ment Dis 181:676–682
- Mataix-Cols D, Pertusa A, Leckman JF (2007) Issues for DSM-V: how should obsessive-compulsive and related disorders be classified? Am J Psychiatry 164:1313–1314
- McHugh PR, Treisman G (2007) PTSD: a problematic diagnostic construct. J Anxiety Disord 21:211–222
- McReynolds P (1975) Changing conceptions of anxiety: a historical review and a proposed integration. In: Sarason IG, Spielberger CD (eds) Stress and anxiety, vol 2. Hemisphere, Washington, DC
- Merikangas KR, Angst J, Eaton WW et al (1996) Comorbidity and boundaries with anxiety disorders and substance misuse: results of an international task force. Br J Psychiatry 168:58–67
- Miller MW, Fogler JM, Wolf EJ et al (2008) The internalizing and externalizing structure of psychiatric comorbidity in combat veterans. J Trauma Stress 21:58–65
- Murray J, Ehlers A, Mayou RA (2002) Dissociation and post-traumatic stress disorder: two prospective studies of road traffic accident survivors. Br J Psychiatry 180:363–368
- Nestadt G, Samuels J, Riddle MA et al (2001) The relationship between obsessive-compulsive disorder and anxiety and affective disorders: results from the Johns Hopkins OCD Family Study. Psychol Med 31:481–487
- Norman SB, Stein MB, Davidson JR (2007) Profiling posttraumatic functional impairment. J Nerv Ment Dis 195:48–53
- Perugi G, Toni C, Benedetti A et al (1998) Delineating a putative phobic-anxious temperament in 126 panic-agoraphobic patients: towards a rapprochement of European and US views. J Affect Disord 47:11–23
- Regier DA (2007) Obsessive-compulsive behavior spectrum: refining the research agenda for the DSM-V. CNS Spectr 12:343–344
- Ribot T (1896) The psychology of emotions. Walter Scott, London
- Rickels K, Rynn MA (2001) What is generalized anxiety disorder? J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 11):4–12
- Rosen GM, Spitzer RL, McHugh PR (2008) Problems with the post-traumatic stress disorder diagnosis and its future in DSM-V. Br J Psychiatry 192:3–4

- Roy MA, Neale MC, Pedersen NL et al (1995) A twin study of generalized anxiety disorder and major depression. Psychol Med 25:1037–1049
- Ruscio AM, Lane M, Roy-Byrne P et al (2005) Should excessive worry be required for a diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder? Results from the US National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Psychol Med 35:1761–1772
- Saxena S (2008) Neurobiology and treatment of compulsive hoarding. CNS Spectr 13(9 Suppl 14):29–36
- Slade T, Watson D (2006) The structure of common DSM-IV and ICD-10 mental disorder in the Australian general population. Psychol Med 36:1593–1600
- Slater E, Slater P (1944) A heuristic theory of neurosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 7:49–55
- Spitzer RL, Endicott J, Robins E (1978) Research diagnostic criteria: rationale and reliability. Arch Gen Psychiatry 35:773–782
- Stein DJ (2008) Is disorder x in category or spectrum y? General considerations and application to the relationship between obsessive-compulsive disorder and anxiety disorders. Depress Anxiety 25:330–335
- Stein MB, Bienvenu OJ (2008) Diagnostic classification of anxiety disorders: DSM-V and beyond. In: Charney DS, Nestler EJ (eds) Neurobiology of mental illness. Oxford University Press, New York
- Stein MB, Walker JR, Hazen AL et al (1997) Full and partial posttraumatic stress disorder: findings from a community survey. Am J Psychiatry 154:1114–1119
- Steketee G, Frost R (2003) Compulsive hoarding: current status of the research. Clin Psychol Rev 23:905–927
- Stone MH (2002) History of anxiety disorders. In: Stein DJ, Hollander E (eds) Textbook of anxiety disorders. American Psychiatric Publishing, Washington, DC
- Storch EA, Abramowitz J, Goodman WK (2008) Where does obsessive-compulsive disorder belong in DSM-V? Depress Anxiety 25:336–347
- Tyrer P (1985) Neurosis divisible? Lancet 1:685-688
- VolleberghWA IJ, Bijl RV et al (2001) The structure and stability of common mental disorders: the NEMESIS study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:597–603
- Westphal C (1872) Die agoraphobie: eine neuropatische erscheinung. Archiv fur Psychiatrie und Nervenkrankheiten 3:138–161
- Whytt R (1765) Observations on the nature, causes, and cure of those disorders which have commonly been called nervous, hypochondriac or hysteric, to which are prefixed some remarks on the sympathy of the nerves. Becket & du Hondt, Edinburgh, Scotland
- Wittchen H-U, Reed V, Kessler RC (1998) The relationship of agoraphobia and panic in a community sample of adolescents and young adults. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55:1017–1024
- Wittchen H-U, Gloster A, Beesdo K et al (2009) Posttraumatic stress disorder: diagnostic and epidemiological perspectives. CNS Spectr 14(1 Suppl 1):5–12
- World Health Organization (1992) International classification of disease and related disorders (ICD-10). WHO, Geneva
- World Health Organization (1993) The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: diagnostic criteria for research. WHO, Geneva
- Wu KD, Watson D (2005) Hoarding and its relation to obsessive-compulsive disorder. Behav Res Ther 43:897–921
- Zubin J (1969) Cross-national study of diagnosis of the mental disorders: methodology and planning. Am J Psychiatry 125(Suppl 10):12–20

Epidemiology of Anxiety Disorders

Ronald C. Kessler, Ayelet Meron Ruscio, Katherine Shear, and Hans-Ulrich Wittchen

Contents

1	Introduction	22
2	Lifetime Prevalence and Course	23
	2.1 Prevalence	
	2.2 Age-of-onset	
	2.3 Persistence	
3	Special Issues Concerning Particular Anxiety Disorders	
	3.1 Agoraphobia Without a History of Panic Disorder	
	3.2 Generalized Anxiety Disorder	
	3.3 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder	
	3.4 Separation Anxiety Disorder	
4	Comorbidity Among the Anxiety Disorders	28
5	The Societal Costs of Anxiety Disorders	30
6	Conclusion	30
Re	ferences	

R.C. Kessler (🖂)

e-mail: Kessler@hcp.med.harvard.edu

A.M. Ruscio

University of Pennsylvania, Department of Psychology, 3720 Walnut Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA

e-mail: ruscio@psych.upenn.edu

K. Shear,

Columbia University School of Social Work, 1255 Amsterdam Avenue, Room 835, New York, NY 10027, USA

e-mail: ks2394@columbia.edu

H.-U. Wittchen

Institute of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Technische Universitaet Dresden, Chemnitzerstrasse 46, Dresden, Germany

e-mail: wittchen@psychologie.tu-dresden.de

M.B. Stein and T. Steckler (eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment*, 21
Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 2, DOI 10.1007/7854_2009_9,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 3 September 2009

Department of Health Care Policy, Harvard Medical School, 180 Longwood Avenue, Boston, MA 02115, USA
Abstract This chapter presents an overview of the descriptive epidemiology of anxiety disorders based on recently completed surveys of the general population. The overall prevalence of anxiety disorders is shown to be quite high, but with considerable variation from the most prevalent (specific phobias) to the least prevalent (agoraphobia without a history of panic disorder) disorders. Age-of-onset (AOO) of anxiety disorders is typically in childhood or adolescence and the course is often chronic-recurrent. Anxiety disorders are highly comorbid with each other and with other mental disorders. Because of their early AOO, they are often the temporally primary disorders in comorbid profiles, raising the question whether early interventions to treat anxiety disorders might have a positive effect on the onset, persistence, or severity of secondary disorders such as mood and substance use disorders. This possibility has not yet been extensively explored but warrants further study given the high societal costs of anxiety disorders.

Keywords Epidemiology · Anxiety disorders · Agoraphobia · Generalized anxiety disorder · Obsessive-compulsive disorder · Separation anxiety disorder · Comorbidity · Societal costs

1 Introduction

This chapter presents an overview of the descriptive epidemiology of anxiety disorders. We focus largely on evidence from general population epidemiological surveys about the prevalence, age-of-onset, course, comorbidity, and severity of mental disorders, although some findings are also reported from clinical epidemiological studies. In light of the fact that DSM criteria have been used much more widely than ICD criteria in epidemiological studies, most results involve disorders described according to the definitions and criteria of the DSM system, although a few important differences with ICD disorders are also highlighted.

The majority of contemporary epidemiological studies on the prevalence and correlates of mental disorders are based on a single diagnostic instrument, the World Health Organization (WHO) Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI) (Robins et al. 1988). The CIDI is a fully structured interview; that is, it is based on questions that for the most part have yes/no responses, making it possible for a trained lay interviewer to administer the interview. The initial version of the CIDI, which was developed in 1989, was based on extensive field trials carried out in close to two dozen countries throughout the world (Wittchen 1994). Results of CIDI surveys carried out over the next decade led to the expansion and refinement of the CIDI and to the creation of the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) Survey Initiative, an ongoing program aimed at carrying out and comparing the results of parallel CIDI surveys in many countries throughout the world (www.hcp.med. harvard.edu/wmh). Much of the research reviewed in this chapter comes from the WMH surveys (Kessler and Üstün 2008).

As the CIDI can be administered by lay interviewers, it is noteworthy that clinical reappraisal studies have been carried out to compare diagnoses based on the CIDI with diagnoses made in clinician-administered follow-up interviews. Although the results of the clinical reappraisal studies of the original CIDI were mixed (Brugha et al. 2001; Wittchen et al. 1995), concordance of CIDI-based diagnoses with diagnostic decisions based on independent clinician-administered interviews is generally quite good for the more recent version of the CIDI developed for the WMH surveys (Haro et al. 2006). However, no rigorous clinical reappraisal studies have yet been carried out in developing countries, where prevalence estimates in CIDI surveys have sometimes been implausibly low (Gureje et al. 2006). As a result, data on the epidemiology of anxiety disorders in less developed countries need to be interpreted with caution.

Another important consideration of data quality concerns analysis of lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions in CIDI surveys. The term lifetime prevalence in the context of cross-sectional studies refers to the frequency at which respondents acknowledged having met the full criteria for a given disorder at some point in their life. In general population samples with a large age span that means that the period of risk to have or have had the disorder varies from one person to the other, depending on current age at the time of examination. In the case of early onset disorders, such as for many anxiety disorders, considerable recall bias may occur and the precision of the retrospective age of onset of information might lack precision. Most community epidemiological surveys find that lifetime anxiety disorder prevalence estimates are lower among older than among younger respondents (Kessler et al. 2007b). This pattern could be due to forgetting a disorder that was a problem long ago, earlier mortality of people with anxiety disorders than others in the population (Bruce et al. 1994), a genuine increase in the prevalence of anxiety disorders in recent cohorts, methodological factors of the diagnostic assessment instrument or a combination of both methodological and substantive processes. Although no definitive data exist to distinguish among these possibilities, it is noteworthy that they all imply that the lifetime prevalence estimates of anxiety disorders in community surveys in higher age ranges should be considered lower bounds on the true prevalence in recent cohorts.

2 Lifetime Prevalence and Course

2.1 Prevalence

A number of recent literature reviews have presented detailed summary tables of prevalence estimates for individual anxiety disorders across many epidemiological surveys (Fehm et al. 2005; Goodwin et al. 2005; Lépine 2002; Lieb 2005; Lieb et al. 2005; Wittchen and Jacobi 2005). We discuss the main patterns found in these reviews in this section of the chapter. Interested readers are referred to the reviews for more detailed estimates.

A clear pattern in the lifetime prevalence data is that anxiety disorders as a group are always found to be the most commonly occurring class of mental disorders. Specific phobia is consistently estimated to be the most common lifetime anxiety disorder, with prevalence estimates usually in the 6-12% range. In the interpretation of anxiety disorders overall and specific phobia in particular one should always consider what types of specific phobias have been covered in the survey. Social phobia is typically found to be the next most common anxiety disorder, with lifetime prevalence sometimes as high as 10%. There is considerable cross-national variation, though, with a higher prevalence of social phobia in North America than in Western Europe and a high prevalence accompanied by a distinctive symptom profile (fear of embarrassing other people rather than of embarrassing oneself) in Asia, (so-called taijin kyofusho, a culture-bound syndrome of social phobia). PTSD is the third commonly occurring anxiety disorder, although here again prevalence estimates vary quite widely across countries. This is due to the wide variation in exposure to traumatic events, especially events involving interpersonal violence (more common in the US than Western Europe, and more common yet in countries that have experienced sectarian violence), but also events involving accidental death or injury (more common in developed countries where automobile accidents are common). Because of these differences in exposure, lifetime prevalence of PTSD is estimated to be only 1-2% in Western Europe, 6-9% in North America, and over 10% in countries that have been exposed to long-term sectarian violence. The other anxiety disorders have much lower prevalence. Agoraphobia without a history of panic disorder is usually estimated to be about 2%, similar to obsessivecompulsive disorder (OCD; 2-3%) and childhood separation anxiety disorder (SAD; 2-3%). More variability exists for panic disorder (2-5%), and generalized anxiety disorder (GAD; 3-5%). As discussed below, some of these prevalence estimates could change as a result of changes in diagnostic conventions in future classificatory systems.

2.2 Age-of-onset

Although fewer published data exist on retrospectively reported AOO distributions than on prevalence of anxiety disorders, a review of this literature shows several noteworthy AOO patterns (Kessler et al. 2007a). First, anxiety disorders typically begin much earlier than other commonly occurring classes of mental disorders, including mood disorders, disruptive behavior disorders, nonaffective psychoses, and substance use disorders. Tic disorders and most specific phobia are always found to have a modal AOO in childhood, with the vast majority of lifetime cases having onsets by the age of 18. Social phobia and OCD are always found to have a modal AOO in adolescence or early adulthood, with the vast majority of cases beginning by their twenties. Panic disorder, agoraphobia, and GAD are always found to have later modal and more widely dispersed AOO distributions, with median AOO in the early-mid twenties and an interquartile range of up to two decades. PTSD, finally, is generally found to have the latest and most variable AOO distribution, presumably reflecting the fact that trauma exposure can occur at any time in the course of life. Somewhat earlier AOO estimates are generally found in studies of younger age cohorts and prospective-longitudinal studies than in cross-sectional studies where AOO is assessed retrospectively (Wittchen et al. 1999; Beesdo et al. 2007; Schreier et al. 2008). Yet it is noteworthy that the overall pattern of the earlier versus the later onset of anxiety disorders is not different.

This early onset, coupled with the fact that significant associations exist between early-onset anxiety disorders and subsequently the first onset of other mental (Beesdo et al. 2007) and substance use disorders (e.g., Zimmermann et al. 2003), has led some commentators to suggest that aggressive treatment of child-adolescent anxiety disorders might be effective in preventing the onset of the secondary disorders that are found in the vast majority of people with serious mental illness (Wittchen et al. 2000a, b; Kendall and Kessler 2002). It is noteworthy in this regard that despite their generally early AOO, first treatment of anxiety disorders usually does not occur until adulthood, often more than a decade after the onset of the disorder (Christiana et al. 2000).

Reasons for the delay of treatment may be quite diverse and remain understudied. They range from system barriers, such as financial constraints and uncertainty over where to go for help (Olfson et al. 2000), to nonrecognition in primary care as the most frequent gatekeeper for treatment Wittchen et al. (2000a, b), to illness related factors, such as in the case of social phobia, where feelings of being ashamed or embarrassed because of their mental disorder were found to play a role (Patel et al. 2002).

2.3 Persistence

Progression of illness has received far less attention in epidemiological studies of anxiety disorders than either prevalence or AOO. However, estimates of recent prevalence (variously reported for the year, 6 months, or 1 month before interview) are often reported in parallel with estimates of lifetime prevalence, and indirect information about the persistence of the disorder can be obtained by computing recent-to-lifetime prevalence ratios. The 12-month to lifetime prevalence ratios for anxiety disorders are typically in the range 4–6, with the highest ratios usually found for specific phobia and the lowest for GAD (e.g., Kringlen et al. 2001). Ratios as high as these strongly imply that anxiety disorders are quite persistent throughout the life course. More detailed analyses of these ratios could be carried out by breaking them down separately for subsamples defined by age at the interview or by the time since the first onset, but we are unaware of any published research that has reported such analyses. Our own preliminary analyses of this sort in the WMH data suggest, as one might expect, that the 12-month to lifetime prevalence ratios decline with increasing age. The more striking result, though, is that this decline is fairly modest, suggesting that anxiety disorders are often persistent throughout the entire life course. The few long-term longitudinal studies that exist in representative samples of people with anxiety disorders show that this persistence is usually due to a recurrent-intermittent course that often features waxing and waning of episodes of different comorbid anxiety disorders (Wittchen et al. 2000a, b; Bruce et al. 2005).

3 Special Issues Concerning Particular Anxiety Disorders

Uncertainties exist about diagnostic boundaries for a number of the anxiety disorders. Because of this, prevalence estimates could change considerably with future versions of the DSM or ICD systems depending on the revisions made to diagnostic criteria. This section of the chapter presents a brief overview of several anxiety disorders that are the focus of questions about appropriate diagnostic criteria: GAD, OCD, and SAD.

3.1 Agoraphobia Without a History of Panic Disorder

Agoraphobia is considered by many experts (especially in the US) to be a response to panic (Klein and Gorman 1987), which means that agoraphobia without panic disorder would only occur when the agoraphobia was caused by a fear of recurrence of panic-like symptoms rather than by a fear of recurrence of panic attacks. DSM-III-R was revised to embody this perspective, requiring fear of either panic attacks or panic-like symptoms as the precipitating factor for a diagnosis of agoraphobia. The ICD system, in contrast and in line with the traditional perspective that views agoraphobia as one of the core phobic disorders, along with social and specific phobias (Wittchen et al. 2008), allows for the possibility that agoraphobic fears and avoidance is caused by a broader range of fears, such as of open spaces, public transportation or about being trapped or about being safe when outside the home. Many experts outside the US subscribe to this broader view of agoraphobia. Consistent with the ICD perspective, community epidemiological surveys consistently find that agoraphobia without a history of prior panic attacks or panic-like symptoms is as common as, if not more common than, agoraphobia with a history of prior panic (Andrews and Slade 2002; Wittchen et al. 1998b).

Critics of this broader view argue that the people classified as having agoraphobia without a history of panic actually have a specific phobia or SAD rather than agoraphobia. However, investigation of this issue using a version of the CIDI designed to probe this diagnosis in depth found that the number of respondents who genuinely had agoraphobia without a history of panic was quite large (3.5% of the sample) even after clinical review of cases (Wittchen et al. 1998b). This estimate stands in sharp contrast to the 0.2% lifetime prevalence of agoraphobia without panic disorder reported in a very large, recent national survey of the US that operationalized the DSM-IV criteria rigorously (Grant et al. 2006). Whether the high prevalence of agoraphobia in the absence of prior panic-like symptoms holds up in future epidemiological investigations is a matter of considerable importance, given the apparent severity of the syndrome in surveys where it has been rigorously evaluated (Andrews and Slade 2002; Wittchen et al. 1998b), but the number of such surveys are far too few to draw firm conclusions. This is a topic that is planned for analysis in the WMH surveys, which contained a special series of questions developed specifically to examine this issue.

3.2 Generalized Anxiety Disorder

Prevalence estimates of GAD have varied widely in community epidemiological surveys over the years due to the fact that the criteria for a diagnosis of GAD have changed dramatically in the various editions of the DSM: Most notable changes were the requirement that the anxious worrying as the core symptom had to persist for only 1 month or longer in the DSM-III but 6 months or longer in the DSM-III-R and DSM-IV and the considerable change of the mandatory associated psychic and somatic GAD symptoms. In an attempt to reduce the artificial overlap with other anxiety disorders, the latter were confined to a few "hypervigilance" items in DSM-IV instead of a longer list of fairly broad anxiety symptoms in DSM-III. Further complications have arisen from the fact that ICD-10 retained the longer list of symptoms of DSM-III and does not require the worry to be "excessive" to qualify for a diagnosis as DSM-IV does. Because of such variations in definition, lifetime prevalence estimates of GAD in recent epidemiological surveys have varied widely, from as low as 1% to as high as 66% (Kessler et al. 2005a) when the criteria are even further relaxed. Several large CIDI studies have examined whether episodes of GAD with durations less than 6 months might be less impairing than episodes lasting 6 months or longer (Ruscio et al. 2007). Shorter episodes (i.e., 1–5 months) were found to be nearly as impairing as longer episodes and quite similar in other characteristics such as comorbidity, course of the illness, and family history. Other CIDI research investigated the excessiveness requirement and found that, although GAD with excessive worry begins earlier in life and has a more severe and persistent course than GAD without excessive worry, the latter nonetheless is associated with substantial persistence and impairment compared to respondents without GAD (Ruscio et al. 2005). These results seem to argue for broadening the diagnostic criteria of GAD. If this broad definition is adopted, GAD will be one of the most common anxiety disorders.

3.3 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

As noted above, epidemiological surveys consistently find that OCD is one of the least prevalent anxiety disorders, with lifetime prevalence estimates consistently less than 3% (Ruscio et al. 2008). There is considerable interest, though, in the possibility

trum is based on similarities across the different disorders in a subjective sense of compulsion, in difficulty inhibiting repetitive behaviors, in the age of the onset and the course of illness, in patterns of comorbidity, in family history, and in specificity of the response to the treatment (Neziroglu et al. 2006). Although some controversy exists about the notion of an OCD spectrum and the range of conditions that fall within this spectrum (Bienvenu et al. 2000; Richter et al. 2003), some experts have proposed that spectrum disorders should be reclassified in the ICD and DSM systems as subtypes of OCD (Yaryura-Tobias et al. 2000). Needless to say, if this happens, the estimated prevalence of OCD could increase substantially. As far as we know, no large-scale community epidemiological research yet exists on the prevalence of OCD spectrum disorders. Even if such data existed, they would not resolve the question whether OCD would still be appropriately grouped within the anxiety disorders.

3.4 Separation Anxiety Disorder

SAD is described in DSM-IV as a childhood disorder that seldom persists into adulthood. However, empirical studies in clinical samples suggest that adult SAD is more common than suggested by DSM-IV and that a substantial subset of those with the disorder have their first onsets in adulthood (Diener and Kim 2004). The WMH surveys are the only community epidemiological surveys of which we are aware that assessed adult SAD. Only US data have been reported so far (Shear et al. 2006). Lifetime prevalence estimates of childhood and adult SAD in this survey were 4.1% and 6.6%, respectively. Approximately one-third (36.1%) of respondents classified as childhood cases were found to persist into adulthood, while the majority (77.5%) of adult respondents with SAD at the time of interview reported first onsets in adulthood. In interpreting these results, it needs to be noted that adult SAD was found to be highly comorbid with other mental disorders, underscoring the need for further exploration of the boundaries between syndromal SAD, separation anxiety as an adjustment reaction, and normal response to the loss of an attachment figure in order to arrive at a clear and principled set of criteria for adult SAD in future editions of DSM and ICD.

4 Comorbidity Among the Anxiety Disorders

Comorbidity among anxiety disorders is quite common, with up to half of the people with a lifetime anxiety disorder in some surveys meeting criteria for two or more such disorders (Kessler 1995). Furthermore, there is some evidence that anxiety disorders are more highly comorbid than other mental disorders both with

each other and with other mental and physical disorders (Toft et al. 2005). Factor analytic studies of common mental disorders consistently document separate internalizing and externalizing factors in which anxiety and mood disorders have high factor loadings on the internalizing dimension while most disruptive behavior disorders and substance use disorders have high factor loadings on the externalizing dimension (Kendler et al. 2003). In some studies, the internalizing disorders divide further into secondary dimensions that distinguish between fear disorders (panic, phobia) and distress disorders (depression, dysthymia, GAD) (Watson 2005) The locations of OCD and PTSD in this two-dimensional space are less clear because of not being studied as extensively as the other disorders, with the former appearing to be more related to the fear dimension (Watson 2005) and the latter more related to the distress dimension (Cox et al. 2002), although neither is strongly indicated by either of these dimensions. Social phobia additionally appears to be somewhat more strongly related to the distress dimension than are the other phobias. SAD has not been included in these factor analytic studies to date.

These results have recently been used by Watson (2005) to call into question the codification of anxiety disorders as a distinct class of disorders in the DSM and ICD systems and to suggest that a more useful organizing scheme in the upcoming DSM-V and ICD-11 revisions would be one that distinguished between fear disorders and distress disorders, with the latter including not only GAD and possibly PTSD but also unipolar depression and dysthymia. The argument for a class of fear disorders has the stronger support of the two in neurobiological research based on extensive investigation of fear brain circuitry (Knight et al. 2005). The possibility also exists that future research might lead to OCD being classified apart from both fear and distress disorders as part of a spectrum of impulse-control disorders based on evidence of differential comorbidity and differences in brain circuitry (Whiteside et al. 2004).

Studies of multivariate disorder profiles confirm the complexity of the comorbidity that exists among anxiety disorders. The most comprehensive of these analyses was carried out in the US National Comorbidity Survey Replication (Kessler and Merikangas 2004) by examining the multivariate profiles among 19 separate DSM-IV disorders (Kessler et al. 2005b). Of the 524,288 (2¹⁹) logically possible multivariate disorder profiles among these disorders, 433 were observed. Nearly 80% of these 433 involved highly comorbid cases (three or more disorders), accounting for 27.0% of all respondents with a disorder and 55.9% of all instances of these disorders.

Importantly, the distribution of comorbidity in this analysis was found to be significantly different from the distribution one would expect to find if the multivariate structure among the disorders was due entirely to the two-way associations that are the focus of factor analysis, suggesting that the more typical factor analytic studies of comorbidity fail to detect an important structure. Based on this result, latent class analysis (LCA) was used to study nonadditive comorbid profiles. A seven-class LCA model provided the best fit to the data, with four classes featuring anxiety disorders prominently.

5 The Societal Costs of Anxiety Disorders

We noted earlier in the chapter, but did not emphasize, that early-onset anxiety disorders are powerful predictors of the subsequent onset and persistence of other mental and substance use disorders. It is important to note that these predictive associations are part of a larger pattern of associations that have been documented between anxiety disorders and a much wider array of adverse life course outcomes that might be conceptualized as societal costs of these disorders, including reduced educational attainment, early marriage, marital instability, and low occupational and financial status (Lépine 2002). A considerable amount of research has been carried out to quantify the magnitude of the short-term societal costs of anxiety disorders in terms of healthcare expenditures, impaired functioning, and reduced longevity (Marciniak et al. 2004). The magnitude of the cost estimates in these studies is staggering. For example, Greenberg et al. (1999) estimated that the annual total societal costs of active anxiety disorders in the US over the decade of the 1990s exceeded \$42 billion. This estimate excludes the indirect costs of early-onset anxiety disorders through adverse life course outcomes (e.g., the documented effects of child-adolescent anxiety disorders in predicting low educational attainment and consequent long-term effects on lower income) and through increased risk of other disorders (e.g., anxiety disorders predicting the subsequent onset of cardiovascular disorder). Similar evidence have recently become available from Europe (Andlin-Sobocki et al. 2005; Andlin-Sobocki and Wittchen 2005)

Based on results such as these, there is growing interest in evaluating the possibility that early and aggressive outreach and best-practices treatment of early-onset anxiety disorders might be cost-effective from a societal perspective in reducing a wide range of other adverse outcomes in the domains of health and social functioning (Kendall and Kessler 2002). There is also interest in the possibility that screening in the workplace and treatment of some anxiety disorders might have a positive return on investment (ROI) for employers by virtue of both increasing performance in the workplace and reducing healthcare costs associated with other disorders that are either partially caused or exacerbated by anxiety disorders. Large-scale workplace experiments have been carried out that document a substantially positive ROI of screening for, detecting, and providing best-practices treatment to depressed workers (Wang et al. 2007, 2008). Parallel workplace experiments are needed for anxiety disorders.

6 Conclusion

The results summarized here document that anxiety disorders commonly occur in the general population, often have an early age-of-onset, and are characterized by frequent comorbidity with each other as well as with other mental disorders. We reviewed evidence to suggest that the current DSM and ICD definitions of anxiety disorders might substantially underestimate the proportion of the population with a clinically significant anxiety condition. It is noteworthy that research on comorbidity among anxiety disorders generally ignores the existence of anxiety spectrum conditions, a failing that should be rectified in future research.

Based on these results, along with results regarding the societal costs of anxiety disorders, we can safely conclude that anxiety disorders are common and consequential problems that are deeply interwoven with a wide range of other physical, mental, and broader personal difficulties in the general population. As early-onset conditions, anxiety disorders typically begin prior to the vast majority of the other problems with which they are subsequently associated. Yet, as noted earlier in the chapter, young people with early-onset anxiety disorders seldom receive treatment. This situation needs to be examined to determine if early intervention would help address the enormous public health burden created by anxiety disorders throughout the world. To do this will require a level of political will that has heretofore been lacking in even the most progressive countries in the world. One can but hope that future research focused on the long-term costs of illness and the impact of early effective treatment will correct this situation by documenting the cost-effectiveness of intervening as early as possible to detect and treat people suffering from these highly prevalent and impairing disorders.

Acknowledgments The National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R) is supported by NIMH (U01-MH60220) with supplemental support from the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF; Grant 044780), and the John W. Alden Trust. Preparation of this chapter was also supported by NIHM Career Development Award K01-MH076162 to A. M. Rusico. Collaborating NCS-R investigators include Ronald C. Kessler (Principal Investigator, Harvard Medical School), Kathleen Merikangas (Co-Principal Investigator, NIMH), James Anthony (Michigan State University), William Eaton (The Johns Hopkins University), Meyer Glantz (NIDA), Doreen Koretz (Harvard University), Jane McLeod (Indiana University), Mark Olfson (New York State Psychiatric Institute, College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University), Harold Pincus (University of Pittsburgh), Greg Simon (Group Health Cooperative), Michael Von Korff (Group Health Cooperative), Philip Wang (Harvard Medical School), Kenneth Wells (UCLA), Elaine Wethington (Cornell University), and Hans-Ulrich Wittchen (Institute for Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Technische Universitaet Dresden). The views and opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors and should not be construed to represent the views of any of the sponsoring organizations, agencies, or U.S. Government. A complete list of NCS publications and the full text of all NCS-R instruments can be found at http://www.hcp.med. harvard.edu/ncs. Send correspondence to ncs@hcp.med.harvard.edu.

The NCS-R is carried out in conjunction with the WHO WMH Survey Initiative. We thank the staff of the WMH Data Collection and Data Analysis Coordination Centers for assistance with instrumentation, fieldwork, and consultation on data analysis. These activities were supported by the National Institute of Mental Health (R01 MH070884), the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, the Pfizer Foundation, the US Public Health Service (U13-MH066849, R01-MH069864, and R01 DA016558), the Fogarty International Center (FIRCA R03-TW006481), the Pan American Health Organization, Eli Lilly and Company, Ortho-McNeil Pharmaceutical, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Shire. A complete list of WMH publications can be found at http://www.hcp.med.harvard.edu/wmh/.

References

- Andlin-Sobocki P, Jönsson B, Wittchen H-U, Olesen J (2005) Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe. Eur J Neurol 12(Suppl 1):1–27
- Andlin-Sobocki P, Wittchen H-U (2005) Cost of anxiety disorders in Europe. Eur Neurol 12 (Suppl 1):39–44
- Andrews G, Slade T (2002) Agoraphobia without a history of panic disorder may be part of the panic disorder syndrome. J Nerv Ment Dis 190:624–630
- Beesdo K, Bittner A, Pine DS, Stein MB, Höfler M, Lieb R, Wittchen H-U (2007) Incidence of social anxiety disorder and the consistent risk for secondary depression in the first three decades of life. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64:903–912
- Bienvenu OJ, Samuels JF, Riddle MA, Hoehn-Saric R, Liang KY, Cullen BA, Grados MA, Nestadt G (2000) The relationship of obsessive-compulsive disorder to possible spectrum disorders: results from a family study. Biol Psychiatry 48:287–293
- Bruce ML, Leaf PJ, Rozal GP, Florio L, Hoff RA (1994) Psychiatric status and 9-year mortality data in the New Haven Epidemiologic Catchment Area Study. Am J Psychiatry 151:716–721
- Bruce SE, Yonkers KA, Otto MW, Eisen JL, Weisberg RB, Pagano M, Shea MT, Keller MB (2005) Influence of psychiatric comorbidity on recovery and recurrence in generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, and panic disorder: a 12-year prospective study. Am J Psychiatry 162:1179–1187
- Brugha TS, Jenkins R, Taub N, Meltzer H, Bebbington PE (2001) A general population comparison of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI) and the Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry (SCAN). Psychol Med 31:1001–1013
- Christiana JM, Gilman SE, Guardino M, Mickelson K, Morselli PL, Olfson M, Kessler RC (2000) Duration between onset and time of obtaining initial treatment among people with anxiety and mood disorders: an international survey of members of mental health patient advocate groups. Psychol Med 30:693–703
- Cox BJ, Clara IP, Enns MW (2002) Posttraumatic stress disorder and the structure of common mental disorders. Depress Anxiety 15:168–171
- Diener ML, Kim D-Y (2004) Maternal and child predictors of preschool children's social competence. J Appl Dev Psychol 25:3–24
- Fehm L, Pelissolo A, Furmark T, Wittchen HU (2005) Size and burden of social phobia in Europe. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:453–462
- Goldsmith T, Shapiro MA, Phillips KA, McElroy SL (1998) Conceptual foundations of obsessivecompulsive spectrum disorders. In: Swinson RP, Anthony MM, Rachman S, Richter MA (eds) Obsessive-compulsive disorder: theory, research, and treatment. Guilford, New York, pp 397–425
- Goodwin RD, Faravelli C, Rosi S, Cosci F, Truglia E, de Graaf R, Wittchen HU (2005) The epidemiology of panic disorder and agoraphobia in Europe. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:435–443
- Grant BF, Hasin DS, Stinson FS, Dawson DA, Goldstein RB, Smith S, Huang B, Saha TD (2006) The epidemiology of DSM-IV panic disorder and agoraphobia in the United States: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. J Clin Psychiatry 67:363–374
- Greenberg PE, Sisitsky T, Kessler RC, Finkelstein SN, Berndt ER, Davidson JR, Ballenger JC, Fyer AJ (1999) The economic burden of anxiety disorders in the 1990s. J Clin Psychiatry 60:427–435
- Gureje O, Lasebikan VO, Kola L, Makanjuola VA (2006) Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of mental disorders in the Nigerian Survey of Mental Health and Well-Being. Br J Psychiatry 188:465–471
- Haro JM, Arbabzadeh-Bouchez S, Brugha TS, de Girolamo G, Guyer ME, Jin R, Lépine JP, Mazzi F, Reneses B, Vilagut G, Sampson NA, Kessler RC (2006) Concordance of the Composite

International Diagnostic Interview Version 3.0 (CIDI 3.0) with standardized clinical assessments in the WHO World Mental Health surveys. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 15:167–180

- Kendall PC, Kessler RC (2002) The impact of childhood psychopathology interventions on subsequent substance abuse: policy implications, comments, and recommendations. J Consult Clin Psychol 70:1303–1306
- Kendler KS, Prescott CA, Myers J, Neale MC (2003) The structure of genetic and environmental risk factors for common psychiatric and substance use disorders in men and women. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:929–937
- Kessler RC (1995) Epidemiology of psychiatric comorbidity. In: Tsuang MT, Tohen M, Zahner GEP (eds) Textbook in Psychiatric Epidemiology. Wiley, New York, pp 179–197
- Kessler RC, Amminger GP, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Lee S, Üstün TB (2007a) Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. Curr Opin Psychiatry 20:359–364
- Kessler RC, Angermeyer M, Anthony JC, DEG R, Demyttenaere K, Gasquet I, DEG G, Gluzman S, Gureje O, Haro JM, Kawakami N, Karam A, Levinson D, Medina Mora ME, Oakley Browne MA, Posada-Villa J, Stein DJ, Adley Tsang CH, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Lee S, Heeringa S, Pennell BE, Berglund P, Gruber MJ, Petukhova M, Chatterji S, Üstün TB (2007b) Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of mental disorders in the World Health Organization's World Mental Health Survey Initiative. World Psychiatry 6:168–176
- Kessler RC, Brandenburg N, Lane M, Roy-Byrne P, Stang PD, Stein DJ, Wittchen HU (2005a) Rethinking the duration requirement for generalized anxiety disorder: evidence from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Psychol Med 35:1073–1082
- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005b) Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:617–627
- Kessler RC, Merikangas KR (2004) The National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R): background and aims. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 13:60–68
- Kessler RC, Üstün TB (2008) The WHO World Mental Health Surveys: Global Perspectives on the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Klein DF, Gorman JM (1987) A model of panic and agoraphobic development. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 335:87–95
- Knight DC, Nguyen HT, Bandettini PA (2005) The role of the human amygdala in the production of conditioned fear responses. Neuroimage 26:1193–1200
- Kringlen E, Torgersen S, Cramer V (2001) A Norwegian psychiatric epidemiological study. Am J Psychiatry 158:1091–1098
- Lépine JP (2002) The epidemiology of anxiety disorders: prevalence and societal costs. J Clin Psychiatry 63(Suppl 14):4–8
- Lieb R (2005) Anxiety disorders: clinical presentation and epidemiology. Handb Exp Pharmacol 169:405–432
- Lieb R, Becker E, Altamura C (2005) The epidemiology of generalized anxiety disorder in Europe. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:445–452
- Marciniak M, Lage MJ, Landbloom RP, Dunayevich E, Bowman L (2004) Medical and productivity costs of anxiety disorders: case control study. Depress Anxiety 19:112–120
- Neziroglu F, Henricksen J, Yaryura-Tobias JA (2006) Psychotherapy of obsessive-compulsive disorder and spectrum: established facts and advances, 1995–2005. Psychiatr Clin North Am 29:585–604
- Olfson M, Guardino M, Struening E, Schneier FR, Hellman F, Klein DF (2000) Barriers to the treatment of social anxiety. Am J Psychiatry 157:521–527
- Patel A, Knapp M, Henderson J, Baldwin D (2002) The economic consequences of social phobia. J Affect Disord 68:221–233
- Richter MA, Summerfeldt LJ, Antony MM, Swinson RP (2003) Obsessive-compulsive spectrum conditions in obsessive-compulsive disorder and other anxiety disorders. Depress Anxiety 18:118–127

- Robins LN, Wing J, Wittchen HU, Helzer JE, Babor TF, Burke J, Farmer A, Jablenski A, Pickens R, Regier DA (1988) The composite international diagnostic interview. An epidemiologic Instrument suitable for use in conjunction with different diagnostic systems and in different cultures. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45:1069–1077
- Ruscio AM, Chiu WT, Roy-Byrne P, Stang PE, Stein DJ, Wittchen HU, Kessler RC (2007) Broadening the definition of generalized anxiety disorder: effects on prevalence and associations with other disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. J Anxiety Disord 21:662–676
- Ruscio AM, Lane M, Roy-Byrne P, Stang PE, Stein DJ, Wittchen HU, Kessler RC (2005) Should excessive worry be required for a diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder? Results from the US National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Psychol Med 35:1761–1772
- Ruscio AM, Stein DJ, Chiu WT, Kessler RC (2008) The epidemiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Mol Psychiatry [Epub ahead of print]
- Schreier A, Wittchen H-U, Höfler M, Lieb R (2008) Anxiety disorders in mother and their children: Results from a prospective-longitudinal community study. Br J Psychiatry 192:308–309
- Shear K, Jin R, Ruscio AM, Walters EE, Kessler RC (2006) Prevalence and correlates of estimated DSM-IV child and adult separation anxiety disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Am J Psychiatry 163:1074–1083
- Toft T, Fink P, Oernboel E, Christensen K, Frostholm L, Olesen F (2005) Mental disorders in primary care: prevalence and co-morbidity among disorders. results from the functional illness in primary care (FIP) study. Psychol Med 35:1175–1184
- Wang PS, Simon GE, Avorn J, Azocar F, Ludman EJ, McCulloch J, Petukhova MZ, Kessler RC (2007) Telephone screening, outreach, and care management for depressed workers and impact on clinical and work productivity outcomes: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 298:1401–1411
- Wang PS, Simon GE, Kessler RC (2008) Making the business case for enhanced depression care: the National Institute of Mental Health-harvard Work Outcomes Research and Cost-effectiveness Study. J Occup Environ Med 50:468–475
- Watson D (2005) Rethinking the mood and anxiety disorders: a quantitative hierarchical model for DSM-V. J Abnorm Psychol 114:522–536
- Whiteside SP, Port JD, Abramowitz JS (2004) A meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatry Res 132:69–79
- Wittchen HU (1994) Reliability and validity studies of the WHO Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI): a critical review. J Psychiatr Res 28:57–84
- Wittchen HU, Jacobi F (2005) Size and burden of mental disorders in Europe a critical review and appraisal of 27 studies. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:357–376
- Wittchen H-U, Kessler RC, Pfister H, Höfler M, Lieb R (2000a) Why do people with anxiety disorders become depressed? A prospective-longitudinal community study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 102(Suppl 406):14–23
- Wittchen H-U, Lieb R, Pfister H, Schuster P (2000b) The waxing and waning of mental disorders: Evaluating the stability of syndromes of mental disorders in the population. Compr Psychiatry 41(Suppl 1):122–132
- Wittchen HU, Kessler RC, Zhao S, Abelson J (1995) Reliability and clinical validity of UM-CIDI DSM-III-R generalized anxiety disorder. J Psychiatr Res 29:95–110
- Wittchen HU, Lieb R, Schuster P, Oldehinkel AJ (1999) When is onset? investigations into early developmental stages of anxiety and depressive disorders. In: Rapoport JL (ed) Childhood onset of adult psychopathology: clinical and research advances. American Psychiatric Press, Washington, DC, pp 259–302
- Wittchen HU, Nocon A, Beesdo K, Pine DS, Hofler M, Lieb R, Gloster AT (2008) Agoraphobia and panic. Prospective-longitudinal relations suggest a rethinking of diagnostic concepts. Psychother Psychosom 77:147–157
- Wittchen HU, Reed V, Kessler RC (1998b) The relationship of agoraphobia and panic in a community sample of adolescents and young adults. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55:1017–1024

- Yaryura-Tobias JA, Grunes MS, Todaro J, McKay D, Neziroglu FA, Stockman R (2000) Nosological insertion of axis I disorders in the etiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Anxiety Disord 14:19–30
- Zimmermann P, Wittchen HU, Hofler M, Pfister H, Kessler RC, Lieb R (2003) Primary anxiety disorders and the development of subsequent alcohol use disorders: a 4-year community study of adolescents and young adults. Psychol Med 33:1211–1222

Comorbidity in Anxiety Disorders

Kathleen Ries Merikangas and Sonja Alsemgeest Swanson

Contents

1	Intro	duction	
2	Psyc	hiatric Disorders Comorbidity in Population-Based Studies of Adults	39
	2.1	Concomitant Comorbidity with Mood Disorders	
	2.2	Lifetime Comorbidity with Mood Disorders	
	2.3	Concomitant Comorbidity with Substance Use Disorders	
	2.4	Lifetime Comorbidity with Substance Use Disorders	
	2.5	Comorbidity with Other Psychiatric Disorders	
	2.6	Findings from Prospective Studies	
3	Psyc	hiatric Disorders Comorbidity in Population-Based	
	Stud	ies of Children and Adolescents	46
	3.1	Lifetime Comorbidity of Childhood and Adult Anxiety Disorders	
	3.2	Comorbidity with Mood Disorders	47
	3.3	Comorbidity with Substance Use Disorders	47
	3.4	Comorbidity with Other Psychiatric Disorders	
4	Gen	etic Epidemiologic Approaches to Comorbidity	
5	Com	norbidity with Physical Disorders	49
	5.1	Respiratory Conditions	
	5.2	Gastrointestinal Conditions	
	5.3	Allergies and Atopic Disorders	51
	5.4	Head Injury	51
	5.5	Cardiovascular Conditions	51
	5.6	Migraine	
	5.7	Conclusion	
6	Futu	re Directions and Conclusions	53
Re	ferend	ces	53

K.R. Merikangas (🖂) and S.A. Swanson

Genetic Epidemiology Research Branch, Mood and Anxiety Disorders Program, Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Mental Health, National Institutes of Health, 35 Convent Drive, MSC#3720, Bethesda, MD 20892, USA

e-mail: Kathleen.Merikangas@nih.gov

Abstract Ever since Feinstein coined the term "comorbidity", referring to the presence of any additional coexisting ailment in a patient with a particular index disease (J Chronic Dis 23:455–468, 1970), aspects of the phenomenon have been extensively studied. The aims of this chapter are: (1) to summarize the evidence of psychiatric comorbidity in anxiety disorders from adult population-based studies; (2) to present findings from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R); (3) to summarize evidence of psychiatric comorbidity in anxiety disorders from child and adolescent population-based samples; (4) to provide a summary of evidence on comorbidity from family and genetic studies; and (5) to examine patterns of comorbidity between anxiety disorders and medical conditions. Throughout each of these aims, implications of the comorbidity are explored, including whether these patterns reflect a need for redefining the disorders or rather an etiologic or even causal path.

Keywords Comorbidity \cdot Anxiety disorders \cdot NCS-R \cdot Epidemiology \cdot Family studies \cdot Medical conditions

Abbreviations

NCS-R	National Comorbidity Survey Replication
NCS	National Comorbidity Survey
ESEMeD	European Study of Epidemiology of Mental Disorders
NESARC	National Epidemiologic Survey of Alcohol Related Conditions
NEMESIS	Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study
OHS	Ontario Health Survey
ECA	Epidemiological Catchment Area
ZCS	Zurich Cohort Study
WMHI	World Mental Health Initiative
PTSD	Post-traumatic stress disorder
GAD	Generalized anxiety disorder
OCD	Obsessive compulsive disorder
ADHD	Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder
TBI	Traumatic brain injury

1 Introduction

Ever since Feinstein coined the term "comorbidity", referring to the presence of any additional coexisting ailment in a patient with a particular index disease (Feinstein 1970), aspects of the phenomenon have been extensively studied. A high magnitude of comorbidity between psychiatric disorders has been reported in large-scale

community surveys, prompting further research on the explanations and implications. Generally, failure to classify and analyze comorbid diseases can create misleading medical statistics and may cause spurious comparisons during the planning and evaluation of treatment for patients. Comorbidity can alter the clinical course of patients with the same diagnosis by affecting the time of detection, prognostic anticipations, therapeutic selection, and post-therapeutic outcome of an index diagnosis (Kaplan and Feinstein 1974). In addition, it can also affect the length of hospital stay, response to somatic treatment, and mortality (Buist-Bouwman et al. 2005).

Investigation of patterns of comorbidity is important for several reasons. First, identification of differential patterns of comorbidity may lead to the identification of subtypes of a particular index disorder for which the comorbid condition may indicate a different form or subtype, thereby enhancing the validity of their distinction in the classification system. Second, differential associations between particular pairs of diseases may yield clues regarding the pathogenesis of the index disease. If two conditions emanate from the same underlying etiologic factors, investigations of their etiology should focus on risk factors that are common to both conditions. Third, if the comorbid disorder is a consequence of the index disease, interventions can be developed to prevent the development of the secondary condition. Fourth, if comorbidity results in part from the lack of valid boundaries between discrete categories of disorders or the imposition of arbitrary thresholds on the components of disorders that are dimensional, future versions of the diagnostic nomenclature should consider reformulating these categories. In addition to these explanations, however, nonrandom co-occurrence of two conditions can be a methodological artifact in clinical settings, a bias commonly referred to as Berkson's Paradox (Berkson 1946); to avoid such biases, this chapter will focus primarily on population-based studies.

The aims of this chapter are: (1) to summarize the evidence of psychiatric comorbidity in anxiety disorders from adult population-based studies; (2) to present findings from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R; n = 9,282); (3) to summarize evidence of psychiatric comorbidity in anxiety disorders from child and adolescent population-based samples; (4) to provide a summary of evidence on comorbidity from family and genetic studies; and (5) to examine patterns of comorbidity between anxiety disorders and medical conditions.

2 Psychiatric Disorders Comorbidity in Population-Based Studies of Adults

Evidence from community samples reveals that anxiety disorders often co-occur with other psychiatric disorders, with the vast majority of anxiety disorder cases having at least one comorbid psychiatric disorder either concomitantly or across the lifetime (Kessler et al. 2005). This section will summarize evidence from recent population surveys on concomitant and lifetime comorbidity between anxiety disorder and two major classes of disorders, mood and substance use. Because of the lack of consistency in the presentation of findings across surveys, we will provide summaries from recent research that addresses this issue. We will then present new data on patterns of comorbidity of anxiety disorders from the NCS-R (n = 9,282) in each section.

2.1 Concomitant Comorbidity with Mood Disorders

The concomitant association between anxiety and mood disorder has been documented extensively in numerous international population surveys (Wittchen et al. 1994; Kessler et al. 1996; Chen and Dilsaver 1995; Boyd et al. 1984). While the magnitude of the relationship varies between different samples, such trends are found across a multitude of studies. One of the most recent summaries of anxiety and mood disorder comorbidity presents data from the European Study of Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD; n = 21,425). Alonso et al. (2004) reported a strong degree of concurrence between major depression and specific anxiety disorders, with odds ratios (OR) ranging from 6.2 to 33.7 for agoraphobia, specific phobia, social phobia, generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), panic disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). The National Epidemiologic Survey of Alcohol Related Conditions (NESARC; n = 43,093) was one of the few studies that investigated different subtypes of bipolar disorders. When examining bipolar I and bipolar II separately, bipolar I had a stronger relationship with GAD while bipolar II had a stronger relationship with specific phobia (Stinson et al. 2007; Grant et al. 2005b).

As seen in Table 1, results from the NCS-R confirm a relationship between 12-month major depression, dysthymia, bipolar disorder, and any mood disorder with all of the anxiety disorders including panic disorder, agoraphobia, specific phobia, social phobia, GAD, and PTSD. The OR range from 2.29 to 12.29 when adjusting for age, sex, race/ethnicity, education, marital status, and region. The strongest association between mood and anxiety disorders occurs for panic disorder, but the associations with social phobia and PTSD were consistently significantly elevated as well. Dysthymia was the mood disorder subtype that was most strongly comorbid with 12-month anxiety disorders.

2.2 Lifetime Comorbidity with Mood Disorders

Lifetime comorbidity between anxiety and mood disorders is even greater than that between the 12-month prevalence rates. Both the NESARC (Stinson et al. 2007) and the Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS; n = 7,076) (Depla et al. 2008) show a strong association between specific phobias and mood disorders (OR range 1.5–9.2), with an even stronger association between GAD and mood disorders (OR range 5.0–14.1) (Grant et al. 2005b).

	Depression	Dysthymia	Bipolar	Any Mood Disorder
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Panic	7.98 (5.63–11.32)	10.19 (6.75–15.38)	9.78 (6.65–14.40)	8.26 (5.85-11.67)
Disorder				
Agoraphobia	4.67 (2.62-8.31)	4.90 (1.98-12.14)	4.93 (2.23–10.90)	5.45 (2.91-10.20)
Specific	4.23 (3.35-5.35)	5.87 (4.01-8.59)	5.02 (3.77-6.68)	4.26 (3.44-5.27)
Phobia				
Social Phobia	5.89 (4.84-7.17)	8.22 (5.90-11.43)	6.26 (4.58-8.56)	5.88 (4.91-7.03)
Generalized Anxiety	5.74 (3.99-8.25)	2.29 (1.37–3.82)	5.29 (3.16-8.86)	6.26 (4.38-8.94)
Disorder				
Post-	6.54 (4.78-8.95)	8.12 (5.85-11.27)	6.28 (4.09-9.65)	6.28 (4.62-8.53)
Traumatic				
Stress				
Disorder				
Any Phobia	5.19 (4.35-6.19)	7.98 (5.66-11.25)	5.18 (3.92-6.84)	5.03 (4.23-5.99)
Any Anxiety	7.63 (6.48-8.98)	12.29 (8.92–16.93)	7.64 (5.54–10.52)	7.28 (6.23-8.52)
Disorder				
OP - odds ration	8			

 Table 1
 12-Month Comorbidity between Anxiety and Mood Disorders in the NCS-R

JR = odds ratio

CI = confidence interval

Controlling for age, sex, race/ethnicity, education, marital status, and region

With respect to specific mood disorder subtypes, major depression is more strongly associated with anxiety disorders than dysthymia. For example, in a review of the comorbidity of social phobia in population-based studies, Merikangas and Angst (1995) reported OR ranging from 2.2 to 18.1 for major depression, (Wittchen and Essau 1989; Schneier et al. 1992; Canino et al. 1987; Angst 1993; Davidson et al. 1993; Wacker et al. 1992) while dysthymia and social phobia had significant but smaller in magnitude OR ranging from 1.1 to 4.9 (Wittchen and Essau 1989; Schneier et al. 1992; Canino et al. 1987; Angst 1993; Wacker et al. 1992). In the first National Comorbidity Survey (NCS; n = 8,098), Kessler et al. (1999) showed the magnitude of these associations increased with the number of social fears.

Table 2 includes the adjusted OR between mood and anxiety disorders for lifetime occurrence in the NCS-R. The magnitudes of the associations are slightly lower than those for 12-month disorders, but nearly all were significantly elevated. Similar to the 12-month disorders, dysthymia was the mood disorder subtype with the greatest overall magnitude of comorbidity with anxiety disorders.

2.3 Concomitant Comorbidity with Substance Use Disorders

As with mood disorders, there is evidence that substance use disorders are highly comorbid with anxiety disorders. Further, there is a trend for dependence to have somewhat higher magnitudes of comorbidity than abuse, although not all studies

	Depression	Dysthymia	Bipolar	Any Mood Disorder
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Panic Disorder	4.00 (3.14-5.10)	5.95 (4.39-8.08)	5.59 (4.18-7.47)	4.28 (3.37-5.43)
Agoraphobia	4.14 (2.60-6.58)	3.82 (2.04-7.13)	4.76 (2.68-8.47)	4.99 (3.03-8.24)
Specific Phobia	3.30 (2.92-3.74)	4.35 (3.44-5.50)	4.01 (3.15-5.10)	3.45 (2.95-4.05)
Social Phobia	4.55 (3.90-5.32)	6.01 (4.90-7.36)	4.54 (3.53–5.83)	4.78 (4.09-5.58)
Generalized Anxiety Disorder	5.08 (3.87–6.66)	3.34 (1.96–5.70)	3.95 (2.82–5.53)	5.83 (4.60–7.38)
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder	5.14 (3.86–6.83)	6.37 (4.57–8.87)	4.79 (3.36–6.82)	5.46 (4.00–7.45)
Any Phobia	4.11 (3.63-4.67)	5.86 (4.52-7.60)	4.25 (3.30-5.47)	4.23 (3.69-4.85)
Any Anxiety Disorder	6.19 (5.34–7.17)	9.86 (7.27–13.39)	6.35 (4.60-8.76)	5.94 (5.03-7.00)

Table 2 Lifetime Comorbidity between Anxiety and Mood Disorders in the NCS-R

OR = odds ratio

CI = confidence interval

Controlling for age, sex, race/ethnicity, education, marital status, and region

find significant comorbidity for abuse. The trend that severity of the substance use is a mitigating factor in co-occurrence is seen in the NESARC, where specific phobia, social phobia, GAD, and panic disorder are all significantly related to alcohol dependence, but not alcohol abuse (Grant et al. 2004). Other studies have reported a significant relationship between alcohol abuse and specific disorders, including the ESEMeD which found agoraphobia, specific phobia, social phobia, GAD, and panic disorder to all be related to alcohol abuse; however, this sample again reveals an even stronger relationship between these disorders and alcohol dependence (Alonso et al. 2004). In the NESARC, both drug abuse and dependence were associated with specific phobia, social phobia, and GAD, with higher OR seen for dependence (Grant et al. 2004). There is some evidence that women with substance use disorders have different patterns of comorbidity than men, with some population-based studies reporting more comorbid alcohol dependence for women with PTSD, panic disorder, or phobias than men (Helzer et al. 1991).

Table 3 shows the OR for 12-month co-occurrence of specific anxiety and substance use disorders in data from the NCS-R. Similar to the findings of prior studies, the magnitude of comorbidity between substance dependence was far greater than that of substance abuse. Alcohol abuse was associated only with panic and PTSD, and none of the anxiety disorders except GAD were significantly associated with drug abuse. Interesting differences emerged for patterns of comorbidity with anxiety disorder subtypes with alcohol compared to drug dependence. Whereas alcohol dependence was strongly associated with all of the anxiety disorders except GAD, drug dependence comorbidity was most pronounced for phobic states, particularly social and specific phobias. By contrast, panic, agoraphobia, and GAD were not significantly associated with drug dependence.

Table 3 12-Mont	h Comorbidity betv	veen Anxiety and Subst-	ance Use Disorder.	s in the NCS-R			
	Alcohol Abuse	Alcohol Dependence	Any Alcohol	Drug Abuse	Drug Dependence	Any Drug	Any Substance
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Use Disorder	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	Use Disorder	Use Disorder
			OR (95% CI)			OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Panic Disorder	3.56 (1.61–7.91)	4.03 (1.93-8.42)	4.09 (2.18–7.66)	1.20 (0.25-5.82)	4.12 (0.80-21.10)	2.34 (0.64-8.55)	3.31 (1.77-6.19)
Agoraphobia	NA	3.98(1.41 - 11.24)	1.51 (0.54-4.23)	NA	3.47 (0.72–16.81)	1.12 (0.25-5.04)	1.23 (0.44-3.44)
Specific Phobia	1.30 (0.73–2.33)	2.96 (1.52–5.77)	2.08 (1.35-3.21)	0.88 (0.27–2.90)	4.82 (1.85–12.53)	2.05 (1.04-4.03)	1.97 (1.30-2.97)
Social Phobia	1.64 (0.94–2.86)	4.09 (2.23–7.50)	2.79 (1.82-4.27)	1.28 (0.48-3.42)	8.56 (3.99–18.38)	3.16 (1.60-6.28)	2.95 (1.99-4.37)
Generalized	1.77 (0.62–5.04)	2.81(0.99 - 8.01)	2.33 (1.08-5.06)	3.45 (1.12-10.68)	3.12 (0.85-11.43)	3.45 (1.40-8.46)	2.78 (1.39-5.53)
Anxiety							
Disorder Post-Traumatic	3 28 (1 48-7 26)	5 68 (3 30-0 53)	4 71 (3 12-7 14)	1 04 (0 27-4 01)	4 74 (1 85–12 15)	2 43 (1 20 4 01)	4 20 <i>C</i> 78 4 36)
Stress							
Disorder							
Any Phobia	1.32 (0.82-2.10)	4.06 (2.49–6.63)	2.44 (1.73-3.43)	1.10 (0.46-2.59)	6.94 (3.57–13.47)	2.45 (1.39-4.29)	2.53 (1.82-3.50)
Any Anxiety	1.75 (1.19–2.58)	5.31 (3.22–8.75)	3.11 (2.37-4.09)	1.77(0.81 - 3.86)	9.51 (4.49–20.13)	3.29 (1.98–5.46)	3.15 (2.39-4.15)
Disorder							
OR = odds ratio							
CI = confidence ii	nterval						
Controlling for ag	e, sex, race/ethnicit	ty, education, marital sta	atus, and region				

\sim
7
2
ž
5
the
ш.
rders
Diso
Use
ubstance
5
and
Anxiety
between
dity
orbi
Com
onth
Ă
5
17

2.4 Lifetime Comorbidity with Substance Use Disorders

Patterns of lifetime comorbidity between substance use and anxiety disorders have also been studied in multiple population surveys (Grant et al. 2005b; Merikangas et al. 1998; Swendsen et al. 1998). There are important differences in patterns of comorbidity between specific subtypes of anxiety and substance use disorders. Analyzing data from both the NCS and the Ontario Health Survey (OHS: n = 8.116), Sareen et al. (2006) found that even illicit drug use (not necessarily abuse or dependence) was associated with anxiety disorders, with the strongest association being between panic disorder and hallucinogen use. In a review of four geographically-diverse population studies, Swendsen et al. (1998) found that alcohol use disorders were associated with "any phobia" and "any anxiety disorder" with at least two of the samples providing evidence for comorbidity between alcohol use disorders and agoraphobia, specific phobia, social phobia, and panic disorder alone. In another review of six population-based surveys, Merikangas et al. (1998) found anxiety disorders to be significantly comorbid with alcohol dependence in five of the populations, including two American, one German, one Dutch, and one Canadian sample but not in the Mexican sample; all six samples yield significant relationships between drug dependence and anxiety disorders.

Table 4 depicts the lifetime association between anxiety and substance use disorders in the NCS-R. In general, the lifetime associations were somewhat lower than those for concomitant comorbidity. Substance dependence was more strongly associated with anxiety disorders than was substance abuse, confirming the results of previous studies.

2.5 Comorbidity with Other Psychiatric Disorders

When focusing only on community-based samples, there is mixed evidence on comorbidity between anxiety disorders and disorders not in the mood or substance use classes. For example, the 12-month comorbidity OR of impulse disorders with anxiety disorders in the NCS-R is 4.59 (95% CI: 3.81–5.53). In a review of the relationship between anxiety and eating disorders, Swinbourne and Touyz (2007) cite several clinical and epidemiological studies supporting a relationship, but the findings are "strikingly inconsistent" in terms of the details. There is some evidence of personality and anxiety disorders overlapping in the NCS (Goodwin and Hamilton 2003) and NESARC (Grant et al. 2005a), but the large epidemiologic surveys conducted in the United States have tended to only include antisocial personality disorder and thus most studies in this area of research tend to have either clinical or small samples. Generally, the most robust relationships are those detailed earlier with mood and substance use disorders.

Table 4 Lifetime Come	orbidity between A	inxiety and Substan	ice Use Disorders i	n the NCS-R			
	Alcohol	Alcohol	Any Alcohol	Drug	Drug	Any Drug	Any Substance
	Abuse	Dependence	Use Disorder	Abuse	Dependence	Use Disorder	Use Disorder
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Panic Disorder	1.87 (1.35–2.59)	3.66 (2.34-5.72)	3.03 (2.14-4.29)	2.04 (1.29-3.21)	3.21 (2.04-5.05)	2.77 (1.89-4.07)	2.80 (1.98-3.95)
Agoraphobia	1.46 (0.88-2.42)	3.17 (1.50-6.72)	2.41 (1.25-4.66)	1.50 (0.65-3.47)	3.29 (1.75-6.20)	2.37 (1.35-4.17)	2.63 (1.44-4.79)
Specific Phobia	1.67 (1.28–2.17)	3.15 (2.39-4.15)	2.52 (2.04-3.12)	1.39 (0.99-1.93)	3.42 (2.41–4.87)	2.25 (1.69-2.99)	2.47 (1.95–3.11)
Social Phobia	1.63 (1.34–1.98)	3.51 (2.80-4.41)	2.66 (2.24-3.16)	1.72 (1.29–2.31)	4.44 (3.27-6.03)	2.91 (2.37-3.57)	2.68 (2.28-3.16)
Generalized	1.72 (1.25–2.35)	2.32 (1.59-3.38)	2.19 (1.72-2.79)	2.19 (1.56-3.06)	1.87 (1.09–3.21)	2.21 (1.57-3.12)	2.18 (1.73–2.75)
Anxiety Disorder							
Post-Traumatic	1.96 (1.34–2.85)	4.67 (3.40-6.42)	3.53 (2.76-4.53)	1.68 (1.14–2.50)	6.86 (4.40–10.71)	3.85 (2.96-5.01)	3.61 (2.92-4.47)
Stress Disorder							
Any Phobia	1.66 (1.41–1.94)	3.97 (3.20-4.93)	2.78 (2.39-3.24)	1.59 (1.18–2.15)	4.75 (3.63-6.22)	2.73 (2.18-3.43)	2.78 (2.37–3.28)
Any Anxiety Disorder	1.91 (1.50-2.44)	4.86 (3.72-6.36)	3.24 (2.65–3.95)	2.02 (1.53-2.67)	5.42 (3.99–7.36)	3.20 (2.59–3.95)	3.28 (2.69-4.00)
OR = odds ratio							
CI = confidence interva	_						
Controlling for age, sex	, race/ethnicity, ed	ucation, marital sta	tus, and region				

2.6 Findings from Prospective Studies

To better understand patterns of comorbidity, it is important to study people prospectively. Studies of adolescents and young adults are ideal for investigating the order of onset because this age range captures the typical onset of these psychiatric disorders; however, a few large adult studies have provided some evidence to this front as well. In research published from the Epidemiological Catchment Area (ECA), alcohol and drug abuse were found to be strong predictors of the onset of panic disorder and agoraphobia 12 months later, suggesting an etiologic or possibly causal path (Eaton and Keyl 1990; Keyl and Eaton 1990). However, a forthcoming paper utilizing the 10-year follow-up to a subsample of the NCS suggests the opposite direction of prediction, with PTSD, separation anxiety, and specific and social phobia all being predictive of the development of at least one form of substance dependence 10 years later (Swendsen et al. 2009). Assuming a causal model and not a shared etiologic path, it is estimated from this study that upwards of 4.5, 10.3, and 3.2% of nicotine, alcohol, and illicit drug dependence, respectively, may be reduced by early treatment or prevention of anxiety disorders. Looking instead at depression and anxiety patterns over time, in the Zurich Cohort Study (ZCS; n = 591), analyses of five assessment points over a 15-year period showed that individuals with anxiety states tended to develop either depression alone or a comorbid depression with their anxiety disorder, while subjects beginning with depression tended to have a more stable diagnosis (Merikangas et al. 2003a).

3 Psychiatric Disorders Comorbidity in Population-Based Studies of Children and Adolescents

As with adults, for children and adolescents "comorbidity is the rule rather than the exception" (Gotlib and Hammen 1992). In general, parallel patterns can be found between comorbidity in earlier life and comorbidity in adulthood. In fact, there is some suggestion that the comorbidity seen between anxiety disorders and other classes of disorders is more common in adolescents than in adults (Rohde et al. 1996; Lewinsohn et al. 1993).

3.1 Lifetime Comorbidity of Childhood and Adult Anxiety Disorders

Although most adults with a major anxiety disorder have a history of one of the childhood anxiety disorders, including separation anxiety, overanxious disorder, or phobic disorder, there does not seem to be much specificity in the extent to which

childhood anxiety disorders predict the development of specific anxiety disorders in adulthood. In an epidemiologic sample followed for 9 years bridging adolescence to young adulthood, Pine et al. (1998) found some specificity for specific and social phobia predicting adulthood disorders but less specificity for other anxiety disorders. Aschenbrand et al. (2003) found that separation anxiety in childhood was not specifically associated with agoraphobia.

3.2 Comorbidity with Mood Disorders

Parallel to the adult studies, mood disorders comprise the class of psychiatric disorders that are most frequently associated with anxiety disorders in youth. In a review of eight American community samples of children and adolescents, Angold and Costello (1993) reported approximately 30–75% of youth with depression had a concomitant anxiety disorder. Most major subtypes of anxiety disorder seem to be related to major depression, including panic, separation anxiety, overanxious disorders, social phobia, and specific phobia but not obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) (Lewinsohn et al. 1997). There may also be a link between bipolar disorders and anxiety, with Geller and colleagues reporting rates of anxiety in clinical samples of youth with bipolar disorders at approximately 12–33% (Geller et al. 1995).

Importantly, studying comorbidity in prospective studies of children and adolescents provides information on order of onset since retrospective data collected in adults may be less accurate and onset has typically occurred by young adulthood. A handful of longitudinal studies found that anxiety tends to precede the onset of depression, with the majority of persons with concomitant expression of depression and anxiety developing depression after the onset of anxiety (Pine et al. 1998; Rohde et al. 1991; Reinherz et al. 1989; Orvaschel et al. 1995). Onset of specific phobia, separation anxiety, overanxious disorder, and social phobia all more frequently precede that of major depression (Wittchen et al. 1999). In a review of such comorbidity, Brady and Kendall (1992) suggested that anxiety and depression may be part of a developmental sequence in which anxiety is expressed earlier in life. On the other hand, Hayward et al. (2000) proposed there may be more of a bilateral temporal association, at least between panic attacks and depression.

3.3 Comorbidity with Substance Use Disorders

Anxiety disorders are associated with an increase in the risk of development of substance use and disorders, although the converse may be true as well. The potential mechanisms through which anxiety may be associated with smoking in adolescents were examined by Patton et al. (1998) who found that anxiety and

48

depression were associated with smoking initiation through increased susceptibility to peer influences. In a 4-year prospective community survey of adolescents and young adults, Zimmermann et al. (2003) found that baseline social phobia and panic attacks predicted subsequent hazardous use of alcohol while panic attacks also predicted onset of alcohol abuse; further, baseline panic attacks and panic disorder were strongly associated with the persistence of an alcohol use disorder (respective OR 18.7 and 13.2). Conversely, some research suggests that substance use may trigger anxiety disorders in susceptible youth. In one prospective study of a community sample, PTSD seemed to be triggered by substance abuse in approximately half of the cases (Giaconia et al. 2000). Similarly, Johnson et al. (2000) found that adolescent smoking predicted adult onset of panic attacks, panic disorder, and agoraphobia. Combined with the results mentioned previously from adult prospective samples (Eaton and Keyl 1990; Keyl and Eaton 1990; Swendsen et al. 2009), there is some suggestion of these comorbid patterns being bi-causal. The association between substance use and anxiety disorders may have preventive implications although further research will need to focus on the mechanisms for links between specific disorders.

3.4 Comorbidity with Other Psychiatric Disorders

As with adults, the most robust associations between anxiety disorders and another class of psychiatric disorders in minors are for mood and substance use; still, there is some evidence of other disorders being comorbid as well. In a review of comorbidity seen with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), Biederman et al. (1991) report upwards of 25% of children with ADHD having a comorbid anxiety disorder. A more recent review done by Spencer (2006) supports this claim. These reviews include primarily clinical samples with only two community-based studies cited finding this relationship (Bird et al. 1988; Anderson et al. 1987). Comorbidity between conduct and anxiety disorders in youth has also been found in some studies, including a large population-based survey of British youth that found 23, 24, 16, and 16% of children with GAD, separation anxiety, specific phobia, and social phobia, respectively, to have a conduct disorder; most of this overlap was with oppositional defiant disorder (Green et al. 2005).

4 Genetic Epidemiologic Approaches to Comorbidity

While the population-based studies are the optimal approach for measuring comorbidity, these studies cannot directly address the reason for the co-occurrence beyond gaining support against chance and sampling bias: do the disorders stem from a shared biological or environmental etiological path, is the comorbid state a third and independent disorder, are these different phases or alternative expressions of the same disorder or is one disorder a risk factor for the other? Such questions can be approached through family and twin studies by examining patterns of coaggregation and discriminating between causal and shared etiologic models.

A recent review of family and twin studies that investigated the familial relationship of anxiety and depression evaluated mechanisms of comorbidity based on predictions that discriminate between common etiologic versus independent explanations for comorbidity (Middeldorp et al. 2005). They conclude that anxiety and depression are distinct disorders but that their comorbidity results from partially shared genetic risk factors. The conclusions from the twin data differ from those from the family study data that were included in their review. Whereas the twin data suggest shared genetic factors underlying anxiety and depression, the family study data support independent familial etiology of these conditions.

With respect to specific subtypes of anxiety disorders, family study data supports the independence of anxiety and depression in general as well as of many of the specific subtypes thereof (Merikangas and Angst 1995; Low et al. 2008; Coelho et al. 2007; Merikangas 1990). When taken together, the results suggest that there is greater specificity of familial transmission of anxiety disorders than of major depression, and that the phobic states are transmitted independently from panic and GAD despite the high magnitude of comorbidity between them. There was also an increase in the combined GAD and a generalized subtype of social phobia among relatives of comorbid GAD/generalized subtype of social phobia probands, as well as increases in either disorder alone. Finally, family studies also show that OCD is highly familial after controlling for comorbid mood and anxiety disorders (Nestadt et al. 2003). In terms of common risk factors, there is some evidence that suggests that GAD, panic and major depression have some shared familial risk as well as independent risk factors that influence their expression (Merikangas and Angst 1995; Merikangas et al. 1998; Klein et al. 2003; Maier et al. 1995).

Despite the pervasive comorbidity between mood and anxiety disorders with substance use disorders, family study data converge in demonstrating that substance use disorders are transmitted independently in families and do not result from the same familial risk factors as mood or anxiety disorders (Merikangas et al. 1998; Maier et al. 1994).

5 Comorbidity with Physical Disorders

Beyond comorbidity with other mental disorders, several studies have suggested an association between anxiety disorders and physical disorders. These findings are especially relevant for two reasons: (1) such comorbidity affects our understanding of impairment and role disability previously attributed solely to the physical conditions (Merikangas et al. 2007b) and (2) such comorbidity may be indicative of an underlying biological cause for both anxiety and the comorbid disorder. Broadly, anxiety disorders are comorbid with having any physical disorder. In the NCS, Sareen et al. (2005) found a significantly elevated rate of having one or more of the physical disorders measured in this survey for subjects who had anxiety disorders compared to those who did not (OR = 1.88). This replicates earlier findings of overall higher prevalence of medical illness in patients with anxiety disorders (Wise and Taylor 1990; Rogers et al. 1994). Katon and Roy-Byrne (1989) found that panic disorder specifically was more often seen in the medically ill. As the following paragraphs detail, some classes of physical disorders are more comorbid with either anxiety disorders generally or specific anxiety disorder diagnoses.

5.1 Respiratory Conditions

Respiratory diseases may be associated with particular anxiety disorders. At least two studies have found an association between specific phobia and respiratory diseases (Sareen et al. 2005; Goodwin et al. 2003b). Meanwhile, many studies find respiratory diseases to be comorbid with panic attacks (Goodwin et al. 2003a; Goodwin and Eaton 2003; Goodwin and Pine 2002; Ortega et al. 2004), although this association was not found by Sareen et al. (2005). An association between PTSD and respiratory diseases was found in a large Canadian community sample (n = 36,984; Sareen et al. 2007). Asthma specifically was associated with GAD, panic disorder, social phobia, specific phobia, and PTSD but not agoraphobia in the NCS (Kessler et al. 2003); several other adult and child community samples find asthma to be associated with anxiety disorders (Goodwin et al. 2003b; Goodwin and Eaton 2003; Goodwin and Pine 2002; Hasler et al. 2005; Ortega et al. 2002). Looking longitudinally rather than concomitantly, respiratory ill health at age three was a predictor of panic disorder and agoraphobia more than 15 years later in a cohort study in New Zealand (Craske et al. 2001).

5.2 Gastrointestinal Conditions

Gastrointestinal conditions seem to be associated with anxiety. Some studies looking at anxiety broadly have seen significant comorbidity with gastrointestinal diseases (Sareen et al. 2005; Harter et al. 2003). More specifically, the study by Harter et al. (2003) showed a strong association between panic/GAD and gastrointestinal conditions (OR = 3.1). GAD has been linked to specific gastrointestinal conditions as well, including peptic ulcer disease (Goodwin and Stein 2002) and irritable bowel syndrome (Lydiard 2001). PTSD has also been linked to gastrointestinal illnesses (Sareen et al. 2007). In the NCS, Kessler et al. (2003) found ulcers to be associated with GAD, panic disorder, agoraphobia, social phobia, specific phobia, and PTSD.

5.3 Allergies and Atopic Disorders

The link between childhood allergies and eczema and behavioral inhibition was discussed by Kagan (1997), who proposed that the high levels of cortisol associated with anxiety may lead to immunologic sensitivity to environmental stimuli. Children with separation anxiety have increased rates of atopic disorders (Slattery et al. 2002). Kovalenko et al. (2001) found that the strongest association between allergy and psychiatric disorders was between allergy and panic disorder.

5.4 Head Injury

There is some evidence that anxiety symptom and anxiety disorder onset increases following a head injury. Luis and Mittenberg (2002) found increased rates of new onset anxiety disorders following brain injuries. Vasa et al. (2002) noted increases in anxiety symptoms following head injuries, with the most frequent symptoms being for OCD, separation anxiety, and specific phobia. More recently, comorbidity between PTSD and traumatic brain injury (TBI) has been noted in U.S. military personnel after serving in Iraq or Afghanistan (Stein and McAllister 2009). For example, one study of 2,200 veterans found that combat-incurred mild TBI doubled the risk of developing PTSD (Schneiderman et al. 2008). Since most of the recent research focuses on military samples it is less understood how this generalizes to other populations; one study of road traffic accident survivors found no significant difference in PTSD rates when comparing those with or without TBI 3 months after the accident (Jones et al. 2005). The circularity and paradoxes inherent in the diagnoses of TBI and PTSD further make it difficult to disentangle the causality and mechanisms of a measured association (Stein and McAllister 2009; Harvey et al. 2003; Bryant 2001; Sumpter and McMillan 2006).

5.5 Cardiovascular Conditions

There is substantial evidence supporting an association between cardiovascular diseases and anxiety disorders (Harter et al. 2003; Bonnet et al. 2005; Ballenger et al. 2001; Hansen 2003; Kubzansky et al. 2006). Cardiovascular disease is associated with anxiety symptoms (Kawachi et al. 1994; Coryell et al. 1986; Smoller et al. 2007), GAD (Goodwin et al. 2009; Barger and Sydeman 2005), panic disorder (Goodwin et al. 2009), PTSD (Sareen et al. 2007), and specific phobias (Goodwin et al. 2009). In terms of specific cardiovascular diseases, Haines et al. (2001) found an association between phobic anxiety and ischemic heart disease (particularly fatal ischemic events), Bovasso and Eaton (1999) found respiratory panic attacks were associated with subsequent risk of myocardial infarction, and Kubzansky et al. (2007) found coronary heart disease incidence

was associated with increased scores on a combat-related PTSD scale administered to a community sample of military men. In a prospective study of 3,369 postmenopausal women, Smoller et al. (2007) found that a history of panic attacks was an independent risk factor for both cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.

5.6 Migraine

One of the most robust associations between anxiety disorders and a physical disorder is with migraine (Ratcliffe et al. 2009; Merikangas et al. 1990; Breslau et al. 1991). In their study looking at comorbidity between various medical illnesses and anxiety, Harter et al. (2003) found migraine to have the strongest association overall. In a 26-year longitudinal study, Waldie and Poulton (2002) found migraine to be related to anxiety symptoms in childhood as well as anxiety disorders during adolescence. Although studies vary on whether they look at migraine specifically or a broader class of headache, associations have been found with GAD (Harter et al. 2003; Merikangas et al. 1990; Breslau et al. 1991; Kalaydjian and Merikangas 2008; Saunders et al. 2008), panic attacks or disorder (Ratcliffe et al. 2009; Merikangas et al. 1990; Breslau et al. 1991; Kalaydjian and Merikangas 2008; Saunders et al. 2008; Stewart et al. 1989; Swartz et al. 2000), PTSD (Saunders et al. 2008; Peterlin et al. 2008), any phobia (Merikangas et al. 1990; Breslau et al. 1990; Breslau et al. 2008), and specific phobia (Ratcliffe et al. 2009), social phobia (Saunders et al. 2008), and specific phobia (Ratcliffe et al. 2009; Saunders et al. 2008).

5.7 Conclusion

It is well known that depression is highly comorbid with physical disorders (Moldin et al. 1993) and as detailed previously depression and anxiety are highly comorbid as well. Because of these known associations, it may be speculated that the relationship between anxiety and physical disorders is only through their joint relationships with depression. However, studies that specifically control for other mental disorders (depression or otherwise) tend to still find significant results. Even when controlling for depression, dysthymia, substance abuse, and substance dependence, Harter et al. (2003) found significant associations between anxiety disorders and cardiac disorders, hypertension, gastrointestinal problems, genitourinary disorders, and migraine. Utilizing compelling data from 17 countries in the World Mental Health Initiative (WMHI; n = 42,249), Scott et al. (2007) showed that depression alone, anxiety alone, and comorbid depression-anxiety all had significant comorbidity with many physical disorders. Specifically, anxiety without depression had significant OR for obesity, diabetes, asthma, hypertension, arthritis, ulcer, heart disease, back/neck problems, chronic headache, and multiple pains.

6 Future Directions and Conclusions

The adult and child epidemiologic studies reviewed in this chapter, along with the original results presented from the NCS-R, have highlighted the overlap between anxiety and other psychiatric disorders. While there is variation in the magnitude of the relationships estimated in each study, significant comorbidity with anxiety is consistently found with mood and substance use disorders. In addition, family and twin studies have shown that comorbidity between anxiety and mood disorders can be attributed in part to common underlying risk factors, whereas anxiety disorders and substance use disorders are transmitted independently in families, despite the high magnitude of comorbidity between them. Further, the observed comorbidity between anxiety disorders and various physical conditions provides leads for the underlying biological mechanisms and pathways that contribute to anxiety.

Comorbidity is certainly more than just the co-occurrence of disorders; it alters the clinical course of the anxiety disorder as well. For example, adolescents with both depression and anxiety have more severe anxiety symptoms (Strauss et al. 1988), more severe depressive symptoms (Kashani and Orvaschel 1990), more suicide attempts (Rohde et al. 1991), and impaired role function (Lewinsohn et al. 1998). Health economists would be interested in the societal costs: in the Health 2000 Study in Finland, 58% of individuals with comorbid depression and anxiety reported using health services versus only 28% with either disorder alone (Hamalainen et al. 2008). While the evidence presented in this chapter indicates notable psychiatric comorbidity with anxiety disorders, the family studies and medical comorbidity only begin to tease apart the mechanisms for these relationships.

This review of comorbidity of anxiety disorders with mood and substance use disorders suggests that there is now abundant evidence from cross-sectional population-based studies, and that future studies should focus more on identifying potential mechanisms for comorbidity through prospective research on specific subtypes of anxiety and other disorders. The growing evidence on comorbidity of physical disorders with anxiety disorders is a promising area for future research, particularly devoted to identifying common underlying biologic pathways. Finally, there is also a need for longer term prospective studies of comorbidity in children to identify common developmental factors that may influence the direction of disorders as they emerge in adulthood. Combining genetic epidemiologic approaches with population-based research will be particularly informative.

References

Alonso J, Angermeyer MC, Bernert S et al (2004) 12-Month comorbidity patterns and associated factors in Europe: results from the European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD) project. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 420:28–37

Anderson JC, Williams S, McGee R, Silva PA (1987) DSM-III disorders in preadolescent children. Prevalence in a large sample from the general population. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44(1):69–76

- Angold A, Costello EJ (1993) Depressive comorbidity in children and adolescents: empirical, theoretical, and methodological issues. Am J Psychiatry 150(12):1779–1791
- Angst J (1993) Comorbidity of anxiety, phobia, compulsion and depression. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 8(Suppl 1):21–25
- Aschenbrand SG, Kendall PC, Webb A, Safford SM, Flannery-Schroeder E (2003) Is childhood separation anxiety disorder a predictor of adult panic disorder and agoraphobia? A seven-year longitudinal study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 42(12):1478–1485
- Ballenger JC, Davidson JR, Lecrubier Y, Nutt DJ, Roose SP, Sheps DS (2001) Consensus statement on depression, anxiety, and cardiovascular disease. J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 8):24–27
- Barger SD, Sydeman SJ (2005) Does generalized anxiety disorder predict coronary heart disease risk factors independently of major depressive disorder? J Affect Disord 88(1):87–91
- Berkson J (1946) Limitation of the application of the 4-fold table analysis to hospital data. Biometrics 2:47–53
- Biederman J, Newcorn J, Sprich S (1991) Comorbidity of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder with conduct, depressive, anxiety, and other disorders. Am J Psychiatry 148(5):564–577
- Bird HR, Canino G, Rubio-Stipec M et al (1988) Estimates of the prevalence of childhood maladjustment in a community survey in Puerto Rico. The use of combined measures. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45(12):1120–1126
- Bonnet F, Irving K, Terra JL, Nony P, Berthezene F, Moulin P (2005) Anxiety and depression are associated with unhealthy lifestyle in patients at risk of cardiovascular disease. Atherosclerosis 178(2):339–344
- Bovasso G, Eaton W (1999) Types of panic attacks and their association with psychiatric disorder and physical illness. Compr Psychiatry 40(6):469–477
- Boyd JH, Burke JD Jr, Gruenberg E et al (1984) Exclusion criteria of DSM-III. A study of cooccurrence of hierarchy-free syndromes. Arch Gen Psychiatry 41(10):983–989
- Brady EU, Kendall PC (1992) Comorbidity of anxiety and depression in children and adolescents. Psychol Bull 111(2):244–255
- Breslau N, Davis GC, Andreski P (1991) Migraine, psychiatric disorders, and suicide attempts: an epidemiologic study of young adults. Psychiatry Res 37(1):11–23
- Bryant RA (2001) Posttraumatic stress disorder and traumatic brain injury: can they co-exist? Clin Psychol Rev 21(6):931–948
- Buist-Bouwman MA, de Graaf R, Vollebergh WA, Ormel J (2005) Comorbidity of physical and mental disorders and the effect on work-loss days. Acta Psychiatr Scand 111(6):436–443
- Canino GJ, Bird HR, Shrout PE et al (1987) The prevalence of specific psychiatric disorders in Puerto Rico. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44(8):727–735
- Chen YW, Dilsaver SC (1995) Comorbidity of panic disorder in bipolar illness: evidence from the Epidemiologic Catchment Area Survey. Am J Psychiatry 152(2):280–282
- Coelho HF, Cooper PJ, Murray L (2007) A family study of co-morbidity between generalized social phobia and generalized anxiety disorder in a non-clinic sample. J Affect Disord 100 (1–3):103–113
- Coryell W, Noyes R Jr, House JD (1986) Mortality among outpatients with anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatry 143(4):508–510
- Craske MG, Poulton R, Tsao JC, Plotkin D (2001) Paths to panic disorder/agoraphobia: an exploratory analysis from age 3 to 21 in an unselected birth cohort. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 40(5):556–563
- Davidson JR, Hughes DL, George LK, Blazer DG (1993) The epidemiology of social phobia: findings from the Duke Epidemiological Catchment Area Study. Psychol Med 23(3):709–718
- Depla MF, ten Have ML, van Balkom AJ, de Graaf R (2008) Specific fears and phobias in the general population: results from the Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS). Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 43(3):200–208
- Eaton WW, Keyl PM (1990) Risk factors for the onset of Diagnostic Interview Schedule/ DSM-III agoraphobia in a prospective, population-based study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47 (9):819–824

- Feinstein AR (1970) The pre-therapeutic classification of co-morbidity in chronic disease. J Chronic Dis 23:455–468
- Geller B, Sun K, Zimerman B, Luby J, Frazier J, Williams M (1995) Complex and rapid-cycling in bipolar children and adolescents: a preliminary study. J Affect Disord 34(4):259–268
- Giaconia RM, Reinherz HZ, Hauf AC, Paradis AD, Wasserman MS, Langhammer DM (2000) Comorbidity of substance use and post-traumatic stress disorders in a community sample of adolescents. Am J Orthopsychiatry 70(2):253–262
- Goodwin RD, Eaton WW (2003) Asthma and the risk of panic attacks among adults in the community. Psychol Med 33(5):879–885
- Goodwin RD, Hamilton SP (2003) Lifetime comorbidity of antisocial personality disorder and anxiety disorders among adults in the community. Psychiatry Res 117(2):159–166
- Goodwin RD, Pine DS (2002) Respiratory disease and panic attacks among adults in the United States. Chest 122(2):645–650
- Goodwin RD, Stein MB (2002) Generalized anxiety disorder and peptic ulcer disease among adults in the United States. Psychosom Med 64(6):862–866
- Goodwin RD, Pine DS, Hoven CW (2003a) Asthma and panic attacks among youth in the community. J Asthma 40(2):139–145
- Goodwin RD, Jacobi F, Thefeld W (2003b) Mental disorders and asthma in the community. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60(11):1125–1130
- Goodwin RD, Davidson KW, Keyes K (2009) Mental disorders and cardiovascular disease among adults in the United States. J Psychiatr Res 43(3):239–246
- Gotlib IH, Hammen CL (1992) Psychological aspects of depression: toward a cognitive-interpersonal integration. Wiley, New York
- Grant BF, Stinson FS, Dawson DA et al (2004) Prevalence and co-occurrence of substance use disorders and independent mood and anxiety disorders: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61 (8):807–816
- Grant BF, Hasin DS, Stinson FS et al (2005a) Co-occurrence of 12-month mood and anxiety disorders and personality disorders in the US: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. J Psychiatr Res 39(1):1–9
- Grant BF, Hasin DS, Stinson FS et al (2005b) Prevalence, correlates, co-morbidity, and comparative disability of DSM-IV generalized anxiety disorder in the USA: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. Psychol Med 35(12): 1747–1759
- Green H, McGinnity A, Meltzer H, Ford T, Goodman R (eds) (2005) Mental health of children and young people in Great Britain, 2004. Palgrave MacMillan, London
- Haines A, Cooper J, Meade TW (2001) Psychological characteristics and fatal ischaemic heart disease. Heart 85(4):385–389
- Hamalainen J, Isometsa E, Sihvo S, Pirkola S, Kiviruusu O (2008) Use of health services for major depressive and anxiety disorders in Finland. Depress Anxiety 25(1):27–37
- Hansen S (2003) Mental health issues associated with cardiovascular disease in women. Psychiatr Clin North Am 26(3):693–712
- Harter MC, Conway KP, Merikangas KR (2003) Associations between anxiety disorders and physical illness. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 253(6):313–320
- Harvey AG, Brewin CR, Jones C, Kopelman MD (2003) Coexistence of posttraumatic stress disorder and traumatic brain injury: towards a resolution of the paradox. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 9(4):663–676
- Hasler G, Gergen PJ, Kleinbaum DG et al (2005) Asthma and panic in young adults: a 20-year prospective community study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171(11):1224–1230
- Hayward C, Killen JD, Kraemer HC, Taylor CB (2000) Predictors of panic attacks in adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 39(2):207–214
- Helzer J, Burnam A, McEvoy L (1991) Alcohol abuse and dependence. In: Robins L, Regier D (eds) Psychiatric disorders in America. Free Press, New York

- Johnson JG, Cohen P, Pine DS, Klein DF, Kasen S, Brook JS (2000) Association between cigarette smoking and anxiety disorders during adolescence and early adulthood. JAMA 284(18): 2348–2351
- Jones C, Harvey AG, Brewin CR (2005) Traumatic brain injury, dissociation, and posttraumatic stress disorder in road traffic accident survivors. J Trauma Stress 18(3):181–191
- Kagan J (1997) Galen's prophecy: temperament in human nature. Westview, USA
- Kalaydjian A, Merikangas K (2008) Physical and mental comorbidity of headache in a nationally representative sample of US adults. Psychosom Med 70(7):773–780
- Kaplan MH, Feinstein AR (1974) The importance of classifying initial co-morbidity in evaluatin the outcome of diabetes mellitus. J Chronic Dis 27(7–8):387–404
- Kashani JH, Orvaschel H (1990) A community study of anxiety in children and adolescents. Am J Psychiatry 147(3):313–318
- Katon W, Roy-Byrne PP (1989) Panic disorder in the medically ill. J Clin Psychiatry 50(8):299-302
- Kawachi I, Sparrow D, Vokonas PS, Weiss ST (1994) Symptoms of anxiety and risk of coronary heart disease. The normative aging study. Circulation 90(5):2225–2229
- Kessler RC, Nelson CB, McGonagle KA, Liu J, Swartz M, Blazer DG (1996) Comorbidity of DSM-III-R major depressive disorder in the general population: results from the US National Comorbidity Survey. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 30:17–30
- Kessler RC, Stang P, Wittchen HU, Stein M, Walters EE (1999) Lifetime co-morbidities between social phobia and mood disorders in the US National Comorbidity Survey. Psychol Med 29(3):555–567
- Kessler RC, Ormel J, Demler O, Stang PE (2003) Comorbid mental disorders account for the role impairment of commonly occurring chronic physical disorders: results from the National Comorbidity Survey. J Occup Environ Med 45(12):1257–1266
- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005) Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62(6):617–627
- Keyl PM, Eaton WW (1990) Risk factors for the onset of panic disorder and other panic attacks in a prospective, population-based study. Am J Epidemiol 131(2):301–311
- Klein DN, Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR, Shankman SA (2003) Family study of co-morbidity between major depressive disorder and anxiety disorders. Psychol Med 33(4):703–714
- Kovalenko PA, Hoven CW, Wu P, Wicks J, Mandell DJ, Tiet Q (2001) Association between allergy and anxiety disorders in youth. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 35(6):815–821
- Kubzansky LD, Cole SR, Kawachi I, Vokonas P, Sparrow D (2006) Shared and unique contributions of anger, anxiety, and depression to coronary heart disease: a prospective study in the normative aging study. Ann Behav Med 31(1):21–29
- Kubzansky LD, Koenen KC, Spiro A III, Vokonas PS, Sparrow D (2007) Prospective study of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms and coronary heart disease in the Normative Aging Study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64(1):109–116
- Lewinsohn PM, Hops H, Roberts RE, Seeley JR, Andrews JA (1993) Adolescent psychopathology: I. Prevalence and incidence of depression and other DSM-III-R disorders in high school students. J Abnorm Psychol 102(1):133–144
- Lewinsohn PM, Zinbarg R, Seeley JR, Lewinsohn M, Sack WH (1997) Lifetime comorbidity among anxiety disorders and between anxiety disorders and other mental disorders in adolescents. J Anxiety Disord 11(4):377–394
- Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR (1998) Major depressive disorder in older adolescents: prevalence, risk factors, and clinical implications. Clin Psychol Rev 18(7):765–794
- Low NC, Cui L, Merikangas KR (2008) Specificity of familial transmission of anxiety and comorbid disorders. J Psychiatr Res 42(7):596–604
- Luis CA, Mittenberg W (2002) Mood and anxiety disorders following pediatric traumatic brain injury: a prospective study. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 24(3):270–279
- Lydiard RB (2001) Irritable bowel syndrome, anxiety, and depression: what are the links? J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 8):38–45; discussion 46–37

- Maier W, Lichtermann D, Minges J (1994) The relationship between alcoholism and unipolar depression a controlled family study. J Psychiatr Res 28(3):303–317
- Maier W, Minges J, Lichtermann D (1995) The familial relationship between panic disorder and unipolar depression. J Psychiatr Res 29(5):375–388
- Merikangas K (1990) Comorbidity of anxiety and depression: review of family and genetic studies. In: Maser JD, Cloninger CR (eds) Comorbidity of mood and anxiety disorders. American Psychiatric Press, Washington, DC
- Merikangas KR, Angst J (1995) Comorbidity and social phobia: evidence from clinical, epidemiologic, and genetic studies. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 244(6):297–303
- Merikangas KR, Angst J, Isler H (1990) Migraine and psychopathology. Results of the Zurich cohort study of young adults. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47(9):849–853
- Merikangas KR, Mehta RL, Molnar BE et al (1998) Comorbidity of substance use disorders with mood and anxiety disorders: results of the International Consortium in Psychiatric Epidemiology. Addict Behav 23(6):893–907
- Merikangas KR, Zhang H, Avenevoli S, Acharyya S, Neuenschwander M, Angst J (2003) Longitudinal trajectories of depression and anxiety in a prospective community study: the Zurich Cohort Study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60(10):993–1000
- Merikangas KR, Ames M, Cui L et al (2007) The impact of comorbidity of mental and physical conditions on role disability in the US adult household population. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64(10):1180–1188
- Middeldorp CM, Cath DC, Van Dyck R, Boomsma DI (2005) The co-morbidity of anxiety and depression in the perspective of genetic epidemiology. A review of twin and family studies. Psychol Med 35(5):611–624
- Moldin SO, Scheftner WA, Rice JP, Nelson E, Knesevish MA, Akiskal H (1993) Association between major depressive disorder and physical illness. Psychol Med 23(3):755–761
- Nestadt G, Addington A, Samuels J et al (2003) The identification of OCD-related subgroups based on comorbidity. Biol Psychiatry 53(10):914–920
- Ortega AN, Huertas SE, Canino G, Ramirez R, Rubio-Stipec M (2002) Childhood asthma, chronic illness, and psychiatric disorders. J Nerv Ment Dis 190(5):275–281
- Ortega AN, McQuaid EL, Canino G, Goodwin RD, Fritz GK (2004) Comorbidity of asthma and anxiety and depression in Puerto Rican children. Psychosomatics 45(2):93–99
- Orvaschel H, Lewinsohn PM, Seeley JR (1995) Continuity of psychopathology in a community sample of adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 34(11):1525–1535
- Patton GC, Carlin JB, Coffey C, Wolfe R, Hibbert M, Bowes G (1998) Depression, anxiety, and smoking initiation: a prospective study over 3 years. Am J Public Health 88(10):1518–1522
- Peterlin BL, Tietjen G, Meng S, Lidicker J, Bigal M (2008) Post-traumatic stress disorder in episodic and chronic migraine. Headache 48(4):517–522
- Pine DS, Cohen P, Gurley D, Brook J, Ma Y (1998) The risk for early-adulthood anxiety and depressive disorders in adolescents with anxiety and depressive disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55(1):56–64
- Ratcliffe GE, Enns MW, Jacobi F, Belik SL, Sareen J (2009) The relationship between migraine and mental disorders in a population-based sample. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 31(1):14–19
- Reinherz HZ, Stewart-Berghauer G, Pakiz B, Frost AK, Moeykens BA, Holmes WM (1989) The relationship of early risk and current mediators to depressive symptomatology in adolescence. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 28(6):942–947
- Rogers MP, White K, Warshaw MG et al (1994) Prevalence of medical illness in patients with anxiety disorders. Int J Psychiatry Med 24(1):83–96
- Rohde P, Lewinsohn PM, Seeley JR (1991) Comorbidity of unipolar depression: II. Comorbidity with other mental disorders in adolescents and adults. J Abnorm Psychol 100(2):214–222
- Rohde P, Lewinsohn PM, Seeley JR (1996) Psychiatric comorbidity with problematic alcohol use in high school students. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 35(1):101–109
- Sareen J, Cox BJ, Clara I, Asmundson GJ (2005) The relationship between anxiety disorders and physical disorders in the U.S. National Comorbidity Survey. Depress Anxiety 21(4):193–202

- Sareen J, Chartier M, Paulus MP, Stein MB (2006) Illicit drug use and anxiety disorders: findings from two community surveys. Psychiatry Res 142(1):11–17
- Sareen J, Cox BJ, Stein MB, Afifi TO, Fleet C, Asmundson GJ (2007) Physical and mental comorbidity, disability, and suicidal behavior associated with posttraumatic stress disorder in a large community sample. Psychosom Med 69(3):242–248
- Saunders K, Merikangas K, Low NC, Von Korff M, Kessler RC (2008) Impact of comorbidity on headache-related disability. Neurology 70(7):538–547
- Schneiderman AI, Braver ER, Kang HK (2008) Understanding sequelae of injury mechanisms and mild traumatic brain injury incurred during the conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan: persistent postconcussive symptoms and posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Epidemiol 167(12):1446–1452
- Schneier FR, Johnson J, Hornig CD, Liebowitz MR, Weissman MM (1992) Social phobia. Comorbidity and morbidity in an epidemiologic sample. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49(4):282–288
- Scott KM, Bruffaerts R, Tsang A et al (2007) Depression-anxiety relationships with chronic physical conditions: results from the World Mental Health Surveys. J Affect Disord 103(1–3):113–120
- Slattery MJ, Klein DF, Mannuzza S, Moulton JL 3rd, Pine DS, Klein RG (2002) Relationship between separation anxiety disorder, parental panic disorder, and atopic disorders in children: a controlled high-risk study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 41(8):947–954
- Smoller JW, Pollack MH, Wassertheil-Smoller S et al (2007) Panic attacks and risk of incident cardiovascular events among postmenopausal women in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64(10):1153–1160
- Spencer TJ (2006) ADHD and comorbidity in childhood. J Clin Psychiatry 67(Suppl 8):27-31
- Stein MB, McAllister TW (2009) Exploring the convergence of posttraumatic stress disorder and mild traumatic brain injury. Am J Psychiatry 166:768–776
- Stewart WF, Linet MS, Celentano DD (1989) Migraine headaches and panic attacks. Psychosom Med 51(5):559–569
- Stinson FS, Dawson DA, Patricia Chou S et al (2007) The epidemiology of DSM-IV specific phobia in the USA: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. Psychol Med 37(7):1047–1059
- Strauss CC, Last CG, Hersen M, Kazdin AE (1988) Association between anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with anxiety disorders. J Abnorm Child Psychol 16(1):57–68
- Sumpter RE, McMillan TM (2006) Errors in self-report of post-traumatic stress disorder after severe traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj 20(1):93–99
- Swartz KL, Pratt LA, Armenian HK, Lee LC, Eaton WW (2000) Mental disorders and the incidence of migraine headaches in a community sample: results from the Baltimore Epidemiologic Catchment area follow-up study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57(10):945–950
- Swendsen JD, Merikangas KR, Canino GJ, Kessler RC, Rubio-Stipec M, Angst J (1998) The comorbidity of alcoholism with anxiety and depressive disorders in four geographic communities. Compr Psychiatry 39(4):176–184
- Swendsen J, Conway KP, Degenhardt L, et al (2009) Mental disorders as risk factors for substance use, abuse, and dependence: results from the 10-year follow-up of the National Comorbidity Survey
- Swinbourne JM, Touyz SW (2007) The co-morbidity of eating disorders and anxiety disorders: a review. Eur Eat Disord Rev 15(4):253–274
- Vasa RA, Gerring JP, Grados M et al (2002) Anxiety after severe pediatric closed head injury. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 41(2):148–156
- Wacker HR, Mullejans R, Klein KH, Battegay R (1992) Identification of cases of anxiety disorders and affective disorders in the community according to the ICD-10 and DSM-III-R by using the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI). Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2:91–100
- Waldie KE, Poulton R (2002) Physical and psychological correlates of primary headache in young adulthood: a 26 year longitudinal study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 72(1):86–92
- Wise MG, Taylor SE (1990) Anxiety and mood disorders in medically ill patients. J Clin Psychiatry 51(Suppl):27–32
- Wittchen HU, Essau CA (1989) Comorbidity of anxiety disorders and depression: does it affect course and outcome. Psychiatry Psychobiol 4:315–323
- Wittchen HU, Zhao S, Kessler RC, Eaton WW (1994) DSM-III-R generalized anxiety disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51(5):355–364
- Wittchen HU, Lieb R, Schuster P, Oldehinkel AJ (1999) When is onset? Investigations into early developmental stages of anxiety and depressive disorders. In: Rapoport JL (ed) Childhood onset of "adult" psychopathology: Clinical and research advances. American Psychopathological Association, Washington, DC, pp 259–302
- Zimmermann P, Wittchen HU, Hofler M, Pfister H, Kessler RC, Lieb R (2003) Primary anxiety disorders and the development of subsequent alcohol use disorders: a 4-year community study of adolescents and young adults. Psychol Med 33(7):1211–1222

Part II Anxiety Disorders - Clinical Neuroscience

Genetics

Katharina Domschke and Jürgen Deckert

Contents

1	Clin	ical Genetics	64	
2	Molecular Genetics		65	
	2.1	Linkage Studies	65	
	2.2	Cytogenetic Studies	66	
	2.3	Association Studies/Interaction Analyses/Meta-Analyses	66	
	2.4	Gene-Environment Interaction Analyses	68	
3	Ana	lysis of Intermediate Phenotypes	68	
4	Pharmacogenetics			
5	Discussion and Perspectives			
Re	References			

Abstract The present state of knowledge on the genetics of anxiety disorders, in particular panic disorder, comprising clinical and molecular genetic studies, interaction analyses, as well as meta-analyses of single association studies will be presented in detail. A particular focus will be on the most robust findings in panic disorder to date in the serotonergic, noradrenergic, and dopaminergic system, such as the catechol-*O*-methyltransferase (COMT) gene. Additionally, findings on the adenosine receptor 2A (A2A) gene, which has been reported to be associated with panic disorder and also with anxiety levels after caffeine administration in a gene–environment interactional model, will be discussed. Furthermore, the first imaging genetic findings in panic disorder, social phobia, and anxiety-related traits using fMRI and PET techniques in combination with molecular genetic association

K. Domschke (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry, University of Münster, Albert-Schweitzer-Strasse 11, 48149, Münster, Germany

e-mail: katharina.domschke@ukmuenster.de

J. Deckert

Department of Psychiatry, University of Würzburg, Füchsleinstrasse 15, 97080, Würzburg, Germany

e-mail: Deckert_J@Klinik.uni-wuerzburg.de

M.B. Stein and T. Steckler (eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment*, 63 Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 2, DOI 10.1007/7854_2009_6,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 17 September 2009

analyses are reviewed, taking into account the present intermediate phenotype discussion in the investigation of complex genetic disorders. Finally, the first exemplary pharmacogenetic studies in panic disorder and generalized social phobia will be presented.

The pathomechanism of anxiety disorders and in particular panic disorder is considered to be multifactorial with converging evidence for a pivotal role of genetic factors in particular, which will be presented in detail in this chapter.

Keywords Clinical genetics · Molecular genetics · Linkage · Association · COMT · A2A · Imaging genetics endophenotype

1 Clinical Genetics

Clinical genetic methods comprise family studies, twin studies, adoption studies, and segregation studies and allow for an estimation of the contribution of genetic factors to the etiology of a particular disorder.

Family studies estimate the so-called "familiality" of a disease, which indicates the contribution of both genetic factors and environmental factors shared by a family. This is calculated from the prevalence of a particular disorder in first degree relatives of patients as compared to the prevalence in first degree relatives of a nonaffected control group. If the prevalence of the disease is higher in first degree relatives of patients, the disease is considered to be "familial." Panic disorder has been found to be highly familial with up to a 3-fold increased prevalence of the disorder in first degree relatives of patients with panic disorder (Maier et al. 1993). Also, generalized anxiety disorder and specific phobias were reported to have significant familial aggregation (Hettema et al. 2001).

Twin studies allow for an estimate of the actual contribution of genetic factors to the pathogenesis of the disorder ("heritability") by analyzing the concordance rate of a particular disorder in monozygotic versus dizygotic twins. In panic disorder, up to three times higher concordance rates were observed in monozygotic as compared to dizygotic twins. According to a comprehensive meta-analysis, the contribution of genetic factors has been calculated to be as high as up to 48%, with the remaining 52% being attributable to individual environmental factors. Generalized anxiety disorder has been estimated to have a heritability of about 32%, while the common heritability of phobias was reported to be about 30%, with highest estimates for agoraphobia (67%), blood-injection-phobia (59%), and social phobia (51%). The heritability of posttraumatic stress disorder was reported to be about 20–30% (Kendler et al. 1999; Hettema et al. 2001; Segman and Shalev 2003; see Table 1).

However, segregation analyses failed to identify a mode of inheritance according to Mendelian patterns, which points to a complex genetic inheritance with an interaction of multiple predisposing genes, each with only a minor individual influence, and environmental influences (Vieland et al. 1996).

Diagnosis	Heritability (%)
Agoraphobia	61 (CI 24–63)
Blood-injection-phobia	59 (CI 43–78)
Social phobia	51 (CI 39-64)
Panic disorder	48 (CI 41–54)
Generalized anxiety disorder	32 (CI 24–39)
Posttraumatic stress disorder	30 (CI 28–32)

Table 1 Heritability estimates for anxiety disorders

According to Kendler et al. (1999) and Hettema et al. (2001)

2 Molecular Genetics

Molecular genetic methods are helpful in dissecting complex genetic traits such as anxiety disorders, by allowing for the identification of particular single risk genes contributing to the overall genetic risk of the disease.

2.1 Linkage Studies

In linkage studies, coinheritance of particular genetic markers with the disease of interest is analyzed in affected families. If a marker significantly cosegregates with the disease, it is assumed that the region around this marker ("locus") contains genes conferring a disease risk. Linkage analysis methods can be applied to both monogenetic disorders (parametric linkage) and polygenic disorders such as panic disorder (model-free or nonparametric linkage). Evidence for linkage is most commonly expressed as a logarithm of the odds (LOD) score, which is a statistical measure based on the number of estimates of recombination frequency. A LOD score >3 meaning that the odds are a thousand to one in favor of genetic linkage is being considered "significant"; a LOD score >1.9, "suggestive" (Lander and Schork 1994). The advantage of linkage studies is that there is no need for an a priori hypothesis. However, detection sensitivity is rather low, particularly for genes with small effects in complex genetic disorders such as anxiety disorders.

In panic disorder, linkage studies have yielded a variety of potential risk loci on chromosomes 1p, 4q, 7p, 9q, 11p, 15q, and 20p, while in subgroups of patients with panic disorder comorbid with bipolar disorder or kidney/bladder dysfunction, respectively, risk loci on chromosomes 18 or 13 and 22, respectively, have been described (Crowe et al. 1987; Knowles et al. 1998; MacKinnon et al. 1998; Gelernter et al. 2001; Hamilton et al. 2003; Thorgeirsson et al. 2003; Fyer et al. 2006; Kaabi et al. 2006). In social or specific phobia, there was no evidence from linkage studies for a major influence of serotonin 2A (5-HT2A) receptor and serotonin transporter (5-HTT) loci, with however, potential risk loci on chromosomes 16q and 14p (Stein et al. 1998; Gelernter et al. 2003; Gelernter et al. 2004; and reviews by Arnold et al. 2004; Smoller et al. 2008a, b) (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Results of linkage studies of panic and phobic anxiety disorders. Linkage findings are indicated to the right of the respective chromosome: *asterisk* panic disorder/panic attacks/panic disorder syndrome; *plus* agoraphobia; *section symbol* simple phobia; *hash symbol* social phobia; *dollar* neuroticism; *percent* harm avoidance (based on review by Smoller et al. 2008a, b)

2.2 Cytogenetic Studies

In a subgroup of patients with panic disorder and joint laxity as well as mitral valve prolapse, a duplicated 17-Mb region on chromosome 15q24-26 (DUP25) containing about 60 genes has been reported to be highly significantly linked to the described phenotype (Gratacòs et al. 2001). The NTRK3 gene coding for the high-affinity receptor for neurotrophin 3 (NT-3) is located in this duplicated chromosomal region and has thus been considered as a candidate to participate in the pathophysiology of PD. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of the NTRK3 gene was found to be significantly associated with panic disorder (Armengol et al. 2002), which was interpreted as further support for a potential impact of DUP25 on the pathogenesis of panic disorder. However, no subsequent study so far was able to replicate the initial duplication finding in independent samples (Henrichsen et al. 2004; Zhu et al. 2004; Schumacher et al. 2003).

2.3 Association Studies/Interaction Analyses/Meta-Analyses

Association studies investigate the allelic frequency of a particular polymorphism in an a priori candidate gene in a patient sample as compared to a sample of healthy controls. If the allelic distribution of this polymorphism significantly differs between patients and controls, association of it or another closely located polymorphism ("linkage disequilibrium") can be assumed. The advantage of association studies is their high sensitivity to detect genetic variations with small overall effects, which, however, renders association studies relatively prone to false positive results requiring replication in independent samples.

Most studies have investigated polymorphisms in classical candidate genes for panic disorder as suggested by animal models (e.g., knock-out mice), challenge experiments (e.g., cholecystokinin (CCK) challenge, caffeine challenge), or pharmacological observations (e.g., clinical efficacy of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibitors). Association findings in at least two independent samples have been reported, e.g., for the cholezystokinin B (CCK-B) receptor gene (Kennedy et al. 1999; Hösing et al. 2004); the MAO-A gene, particularly in female patients (Deckert et al. 1999); the catechol-*O*-methyltransferase (COMT) gene, again particularly in female patients (Hamilton et al. 2002; Domschke et al. 2004); the serotonin receptor 1A (5-HT1A) gene (Rothe et al. 2004; Huang et al. 2004); the adenosine 2A receptor (A2A) gene (Deckert et al. 1998; Hamilton et al. 2004); and the RGS2 gene (Leygraf et al. 2006; Smoller et al. 2008a, b).

Interestingly, high risk genotypes of the serotonin receptor 1A and the COMT polymorphisms seem to interact in the modification of the risk for panic disorder conditional on the presence of the respective low-risk genotype of the second polymorphism. This might point to a ceiling effect at the molecular level; i.e., if one element of monoaminergic transmission is dysfunctional, dysfunction of other elements does not further increase the risk for panic disorder (Freitag et al. 2006).

In social phobia and generalized anxiety disorder, variants in the dopamine transporter (DAT1) have been proposed to contribute to the disease risk (Rowe et al. 1998), while dopamine D2 receptor (DRD2) variants have been reported to play a role in the pathogenesis of posttraumatic stress disorder (Segman and Shalev 2003; Kennedy et al. 2001). Also, the beta-1 adrenergic receptor has been found to explain some of the population variance in extraversion and related personality traits, which might be a relevant finding with respect to the study of disorders marked by low extraversion, namely social phobia and other phobic disorders (Stein et al. 2004).

However, since most positive association studies either did not withstand replication in independent samples or still warrant replication or even in case of positive replications also were followed by negative replications, these results have to be considered preliminary (see Domschke and Deckert 2007). Reasons for this relatively high inconsistency of association findings across different studies (nonreplications, "flip-flop phenomenon," where a previously reported disease-marker association is replicated but with the risk allele reversed from the previous report, which can occur when the investigated variant is correlated, through interactive effects or linkage disequilibrium, with a causal variant at another locus (Lin et al. 2007), etc.) might comprise low power of the individual studies to detect a small effect, linkage disequilibrium with a causal polymorphism at another locus, interactions with other relevant polymorphisms, etiological heterogeneity, or random error in the absence of a true effect. Besides replication studies in independent samples and interaction analyses, meta-analyses of genetic association studies have been performed in order to clarify the influence of gene variation on the pathogenesis of anxiety disorders and panic disorder in particular. Two meta-analyses using

original genotype data from six available case–control studies (see above) with respect to the role of the COMT val158met polymorphism in panic disorder provided tentative support for the COMT val158met polymorphism as a possible risk factor for panic disorder, with differential effects in Caucasian and Asian populations, and suggest a female-specific effect (Domschke et al. 2007; Zintzaras and Sakelaridis 2007). Another meta-analysis of genetic association studies in panic disorder published so far focuses on the functional serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism 5-HTTLPR. Analyzing 10 individual studies, no statistically significant association between 5-HTTLPR and panic disorder was found (Blaya et al. 2007), although a recent study reported association with another polymorphism in the gene (Strug et al. 2008). The latter study stressing the importance of haplotype studies may point to a solution of the paradox that the functional serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism 5-HTTLPR has repeatedly been found as predisposing to the anxiety-related personality dimension neuroticism (Lesch et al. 1996, for meta-analysis see Munafò et al. 2005).

2.4 Gene–Environment Interaction Analyses

As suggested by segregation studies, the etiology of anxiety disorders is to be considered to be complex with an interaction of multiple risk genes and environmental influences (Vieland et al. 1996). Thus, a further crucial step in the dissection of the etiology of anxiety disorders is the investigation of the interplay of genetic factors with environmental factors. In this respect, an A2A gene polymorphism, which has previously been found to be associated with panic disorder as a categorical diagnosis, was additionally reported to significantly influence anxiety levels after caffeine administration (Alsene et al. 2003). This initial report was supported by another study showing a significant association between caffeine-induced anxiety and the A2A polymorphism as well as DRD2 polymorphism (Childs et al. 2008). This finding was interpreted as a genetic interactive effect on anxiety paralleling the well known colocalization and functional interaction of adenosine and dopamine receptors on the cellular level. Interestingly, the A2A polymorphism mediated the effects of caffeine only at medium, but not at low or high caffeine doses (Childs et al. 2008) highlighting the context-dependency of minor genetic effects.

3 Analysis of Intermediate Phenotypes

To date, most association studies of particular genetic variants have been performed in samples of patients with the categorical diagnosis of anxiety disorders according to the diagnostic criteria of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) or Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV), respectively. However, disease entities as described in these diagnostic manuals are composed of a variety of clinical characteristics regarding onset, severity, and duration of the illness with diverse and overlapping neuropsychological and probably also neurobiological features yielding a rather heterogenous nosological picture. As risk genes probably influence neurobiological or neuropsychological traits rather than categorical clinical phenotypes, association or linkage studies investigating the overall categorical disease phenotype in variable composition of the individual neurobiological or neuropsychological features might not have the power to detect single genetic risk markers. In order to target this major limitation of association studies, the concept of "endophenotypes" or "intermediate phenotypes" has been proposed. Endophenotypes comprise neurobiological or neuropsychological traits that are linked to the disease of interest and that are heritable, and however, that are dimensional, thus more precisely defined and considered to be closer to the underlying genotype than the overall disease phenotype (Gottesman and Gould 2003).

Smoller and Tsuang (1998) suggested behavioral inhibition (BI) to the unfamiliar, a heritable temperamental profile involving an avoidant response to novel situations, to serve as a promising endophenotype of anxiety and anxiety disorders. Association findings between variants in the corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) gene and BI in children as well as among offsprings of parents with panic disorder (Smoller et al. 2003, 2005) provide support for an important role of abnormalities of the CRH system in the pathogenesis of intermediate traits predisposing to anxiety and panic disorder, in particular.

As another interesting endophenotype of mental disorders, neuronal activation correlates of emotional processing as captured by functional imaging techniques such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) have been proposed (Hariri et al. 2002).

In panic disorder, two recent studies investigated neuronal activation patterns in response to emotional stimuli dependent on COMT and 5-HT1A polymorphisms in 20 panic patients. Particular attention was paid to amygdala activation, since amygdala activation is considered to be crucial for emotional perception and processing in the brain fear circuit (e.g., Sakai et al. 2005; Javanmard et al. 1999; Pfleiderer et al. 2007). In response to fearful faces versus background, increased activation of the right amygdala and the right gyrus fusiformis was observed in patients with panic disorder carrying at least one COMT 158val allele (Domschke et al. 2008). These pilot data suggest that the functional COMT val158met polymorphism might influence neuronal processing of anxiety-related emotional stimuli in patients with panic disorder, which is in line with previous association studies in Caucasian populations with the categorical diagnosis of panic disorder (Hamilton et al. 2002; Domschke et al. 2004; Rothe et al. 2006). Thus, the COMT val158met variant might increase the vulnerability to panic disorder by modulating the dopaminergic or noradrenergic tonus in anxiety-relevant brain regions, particularly the amygdala, and thereby altering neuronal processing of anxiety-relevant stimuli. With respect to the 5-HT1A-1019C/G SNP, panic disorder patients homozygous for the 5-HT1A-1019G risk allele showed a significantly decreased activation of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, the orbitofrontal cortex, and the anterior cingulum in response to fearful faces versus neutral faces, without, however, any effect on the amygdala. This finding might be interpreted as indicative of a functional deficit in the prefrontal cortex in patients with the 5-HT1A-1019G risk allele reducing its inhibitory effect on the amygdala and thus causing excessive amygdala activation to emotional stimuli (Domschke et al. 2006).

Despite no support from linkage studies for a major influence of the serotonin transporter (5-HTT) locus in social phobia (see Sect. 2.1), a functional polymorphism in the promoter region of the human serotonin transporter (5-HTT) gene was studied with respect to amygdala activation during social anxiety provocation in relation to affective ratings using [H2(15)O] positron emission tomography in social phobics, since there is converging evidence for a pivotal role of 5-HTT variants in the modulation of amygdala reactivity to emotional stimuli (e.g., Hariri et al. 2002). The less active, shorter allele of this 5-HTT genetic variation was found to be associated with symptom severity and amygdala excitability in social phobia (Furmark et al. 2004) suggesting 5-HTT driven amygdala activation to constitute a potential intermediate phenotype of social phobia.

Markers spanning RGS2 reported to be associated with childhood BI, a temperamental precursor of social anxiety disorder, and introversion as a core personality trait in social anxiety disorder were also found to influence limbic activation (insular cortex and amygdala) during emotion processing (brain phenotypes correlated with social anxiety, Smoller et al. 2008a, b).

In summary, these first imaging genetics findings in panic disorder, social phobia, and anxiety-related traits may indicate that – depending on variants of the *COMT*, serotonin transporter, serotonin receptor 1A, and RGS2 genes – patients with anxiety disorders are prone to impaired cerebral processing of anxiety-related stimuli in cortical regions known to play a crucial role in the evaluation of emotional stimuli and determination of salient events (Bishop et al. 2004; Northoff et al. 2004).

4 Pharmacogenetics

Recently, advances in molecular genetic techniques have allowed for the detailed dissection of the genetically influenced heterogeneity of psychotropic drug response. This study of genetically controlled variation in drug response is commonly termed "pharmacogenetics." While there is converging support for a considerable genetic influence on the individual antidepressant treatment response via pharmacokinetic as well as pharmacodynamic processes in major depression, only few studies have looked at pharmacogenetic variation in the serotonin transporter gene to predict response to treatment with SSRIs in panic disorder and generalized social anxiety disorder (Perna et al. 2005; Stein et al. 2006).

5 Discussion and Perspectives

There is converging evidence that anxiety disorders and panic disorder in particular are complex genetic disorders with an etiological influence of biological as well as environmental or psychological factors, respectively. The contribution of genetic factors has been proposed to be considerable with estimated heritabilities of up to 67%, with multiple genes each of a small individual effect interacting with environmental factors. In panic disorder, several chromosomal risk loci and risk variants in candidate genes have been identified by linkage and association studies with suggestive evidence for a role of variants in genes coding for the COMT, the MAO-A, the serotonin receptor 1A (5-HT1A), the CCK-B receptor and the adenosine A2A receptor (A2A), with a potential interactional effect of the 5-HT1A and COMT polymorphisms. Since the effects of genetic variation in the COMT and the MAO-A gene seem to be restricted to the female subgroup, gender-specific genetic mechanisms may be acting in panic disorder. Gene-environment analyses revealed a significant impact of A2A receptor gene variation on anxiety levels after caffeine consumption, while COMT, 5-HTT, 5-HT1A, and RGS2 variants appear to increase the vulnerability to panic disorder, social phobia, and anxiety-related traits by alteration of neuronal processing of anxiety-related emotional cues as shown using an imaging genetics approach. First pharmacogenetic studies in panic disorder and generalized social phobia provided evidence for a significant influence of 5-HTT variants on treatment with SSRIs.

Despite this converging evidence for a genetically conferred risk of anxiety disorders, it remains to be elucidated how exactly these genes exert their effect on a functional level and how they interact with each other or with nongenetic risk factors, respectively, to increase the disease risk. Investigating endophenotypes of anxiety disorders will, therefore, have to be intensified with the search for novel anxiety-related neurophysiological, biochemical, endocrinological, neuroanatomical, cognitive, or neuropsychological endophenotypes and their analysis with respect to their genetic basis.

So far, most probably only a small number of the assumed number of risk genes (>50) contributing to the development of anxiety disorders has been identified. Therefore, the identified genetic risk factors are of no diagnostic or predictive value. However, the identification of genetic risk factors tremendously helps in better understanding the pathophysiology of anxiety disorders pointing to among others serotonergic, noradrenergic, dopaminergic, cholocystokinergic and adenosinergic pathways being involved. They may thus contribute to the development of innovative psychopharmacotherapeutic substances in the treatment of anxiety disorders, preferably in an individually, genotype-based tailored manner on the basis of pharmacogenetic studies.

Future research will have to aim at unraveling the complex genetic mechanisms of anxiety disorders in a more detailed way including more intensive, systematic study of linkage candidate regions and most importantly genome-wide association (GWA) studies and thus providing predisposing genes beyond the classical neurotransmitter systems. Another promising future approach will be to perform large-scale studies of gene–environment interactions as reviewed by Poulton et al. (2008). An exemplary gene–environment study with respect to anxiety traits has recently been published by Stein et al. (2008), who observed a significant interaction between levels of childhood emotional (or physical) maltreatment and a serotonin transporter variant on anxiety sensitivity. Similarly, in posttraumatic stress disorder, a disorder with a marked environmental impact, FKBP5 polymorphisms and childhood abuse have been proposed to interact to increase the disease risk in adulthood (Binder et al. 2008).

Studies like these will enhance the integration of psychopharmacological and psychotherapeutic approaches to anxiety on the way to multidimensional therapies of these multidimensional disorders.

References

- Alsene K, Deckert J, Sand P, de Wit H (2003) Association between A2a receptor gene polymorphisms and caffeine-induced anxiety. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:1694–1702
- Armengol L, Gratacòs M, Pujana MA, Ribasés M, Martín-Santos R, Estivill X (2002) 5' UTRregion SNP in the NTRK3 gene is associated with panic disorder. Mol Psychiatry 7:928–930
- Arnold PD, Zai G, Richter MA (2004) Genetics of anxiety disorders. Curr Psychiatry Rep 6:243–254
- Binder EB, Bradley RG, Liu W, Epstein MP, Deveau TC, Mercer KB, Tang Y, Gillespie CF, Heim CM, Nemeroff CB, Schwartz AC, Cubells JF, Ressler KJ (2008) Association of FKBP5 polymorphisms and childhood abuse with risk of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in adults. JAMA 299:1291–1305
- Bishop S, Duncan J, Brett M, Lawrence AD (2004) Prefrontal cortical function and anxiety: controlling attention to threat-related stimuli. Nat Neurosci 7:184–188
- Blaya C, Salum GA, Lima MS, Leistner-Segal S, Manfro GG (2007) Lack of association between the Serotonin Transporter Promoter Polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and Panic Disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Behav Brain Funct 3:41
- Childs E, Hohoff C, Deckert J, Xu K, Badner J, de Wit H (2008) Association between ADORA2A and DRD2 polymorphisms and caffeine-induced anxiety. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:2791–2800
- Crowe RR, Noyes R Jr, Wilson AF, Elston RC, Ward LJ (1987) A linkage study of panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44:933–937
- Deckert J, Nöthen MM, Franke P, Delmo C, Fritze J, Knapp M, Maier W, Beckmann H, Propping P (1998) Systematic mutation screening and association study of the A1 and A2a adenosine receptor genes in panic disorder suggest a contribution of the A2a gene to the development of disease. Mol Psychiatry 3:81–85
- Deckert J, Catalano M, Syagailo YV, Bosi M, Okladnova O, Di Bella D, Nöthen MM, Maffei P, Franke P, Fritze J, Maier W, Propping P, Beckmann H, Bellodi L, Lesch KP (1999) Excess of high activity monoamine oxidase A gene promoter alleles in female patients with panic disorder. Hum Mol Genet 8:621–624
- Domschke K, Deckert J (2007) Genetics of anxiety disorders. Current clinical and molecular research. Nervenarzt 78:825–833
- Domschke K, Freitag CM, Kuhlenbäumer G, Schirmacher A, Sand P, Nyhuis P, Jacob C, Fritze J, Franke P, Rietschel M, Garritsen HS, Fimmers R, Nöthen MM, Lesch KP, Stögbauer F, Deckert J (2004) Association of the functional V158M catechol-O-methyltransferase polymorphism with panic disorder in women. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 7:183–188
- Domschke K, Braun M, Ohrmann P, Suslow T, Kugel H, Bauer J, Hohoff C, Kersting A, Engelien A, Arolt V, Heindel W, Deckert J (2006) Association of the functional -1019C/G 5-HT1A polymorphism with prefrontal cortex and amygdala activation measured with 3 T fMRI in panic disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 9:349–355

- Domschke K, Deckert J, O'donovan MC, Glatt SJ (2007) Meta-analysis of COMT val158met in panic disorder: ethnic heterogeneity and gender specificity. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 144:667–673
- Domschke K, Ohrmann P, Braun M, Suslow T, Bauer J, Hohoff C, Kersting A, Engelien A, Arolt V, Heindel W, Deckert J, Kugel H (2008) Influence of the catechol-O-methyltransferase val158met genotype on amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex emotional processing in panic disorder. Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging 163:13–20
- Freitag CM, Domschke K, Rothe C, Lee YJ, Hohoff C, Gutknecht L, Sand P, Fimmers R, Lesch KP, Deckert J (2006) Interaction of serotonergic and noradrenergic gene variants in panic disorder. Psychiatr Genet 16:59–65
- Furmark T, Tillfors M, Garpenstrand H, Marteinsdottir I, Långström B, Oreland L, Fredrikson M (2004) Serotonin transporter polymorphism related to amygdala excitability and symptom severity in patients with social phobia. Neurosci Lett 362:189–192
- Fyer AJ, Hamilton SP, Durner M, Haghighi F, Heiman GA, Costa R, Evgrafov O, Adams P, de Leon AB, Taveras N, Klein DF, Hodge SE, Weissman MM, Knowles JA (2006) A third-pass genome scan in panic disorder: evidence for multiple susceptibility loci. Biol Psychiatry 60:388–401
- Gelernter J, Bonvicini K, Page G, Woods SW, Goddard AW, Kruger S, Pauls DL, Goodson S (2001) Linkage genome scan for loci predisposing to panic disorder or agoraphobia. Am J Med Genet 105:548–557
- Gelernter J, Page GP, Bonvicini K, Woods SW, Pauls DL, Kruger S (2003) A chromosome 14 risk locus for simple phobia: results from a genomewide linkage scan. Mol Psychiatry 8:71–82
- Gelernter J, Page GP, Stein MB, Woods SW (2004) Genome-wide linkage scan for loci predisposing to social phobia: evidence for a chromosome 16 risk locus. Am J Psychiatry 161:59–66
- Gottesman II, Gould TD (2003) The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions. Am J Psychiatry 160:636–645
- Gratacòs M, Nadal M, Martín-Santos R, Pujana MA, Gago J, Peral B, Armengol L, Ponsa I, Miró R, Bulbena A, Estivill X (2001) A polymorphic genomic duplication on human chromosome 15 is a susceptibility factor for panic and phobic disorders. Cell 106:367–379
- Hamilton SP, Slager SL, Heiman GA, Deng Z, Haghighi F, Klein DF, Hodge SE, Weissman MM, Fyer AJ, Knowles JA (2002) Evidence for a susceptibility locus for panic disorder near the catechol-O-methyltransferase gene on chromosome 22. Biol Psychiatry 51:591–601
- Hamilton SP, Fyer AJ, Durner M, Heiman GA, Baisre de Leon A, Hodge SE, Knowles JA, Weissman MM (2003) Further genetic evidence for a panic disorder syndrome mapping to chromosome 13q. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:2550–2555
- Hamilton SP, Slager SL, De Leon AB, Heiman GA, Klein DF, Hodge SE, Weissman MM, Fyer AJ, Knowles JA (2004) Evidence for genetic linkage between a polymorphism in the adenosine 2A receptor and panic disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:558–565
- Hariri AR, Mattay VS, Tessitore A, Kolachana B, Fera F, Goldman D, Egan MF, Weinberger DR (2002) Serotonin transporter genetic variation and the response of the human amygdala. Science 297:400–403
- Henrichsen CN, Delorme R, Boucherie M, Marelli D, Baud P, Bellivier F, Courtet P, Chabane N, Henry C, Leboyer M, Malafosse A, Antonarakis SE, Dahoun S (2004) No association between DUP25 and anxiety disorders. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 128:80–83
- Hettema JM, Neale MC, Kendler KS (2001) A review and meta-analysis of the genetic epidemiology of anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatry 158:1568–1578
- Hösing VG, Schirmacher A, Kuhlenbäumer G, Freitag C, Sand P, Schlesiger C, Jacob C, Fritze J, Franke P, Rietschel M, Garritsen H, Nöthen MM, Fimmers R, Stögbauer F, Deckert J (2004) Cholecystokinin- and cholecystokinin-B-receptor gene polymorphisms in panic disorder. J Neural Transm Suppl 68:147–156
- Huang YY, Battistuzzi C, Oquendo MA, Harkavy-Friedman J, Greenhill L, Zalsman G, Brodsky B, Arango V, Brent DA, Mann JJ (2004) Human 5-HT1A receptor C(-1019)G polymorphism and psychopathology. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 7:441–451

- Javanmard M, Shlik J, Kennedy SH, Vaccarino FJ, Houle S, Bradwejn J (1999) Neuroanatomic correlates of CCK-4-induced panic attacks in healthy humans: a comparison of two time points. Biol Psychiatry 45:872–882
- Kaabi B, Gelernter J, Woods SW, Goddard A, Page GP, Elston RC (2006) Genome scan for loci predisposing to anxiety disorders using a novel multivariate approach: strong evidence for a chromosome 4 risk locus. Am J Hum Genet 78:543–553
- Kendler KS, Karkowski LM, Prescott CA (1999) Fears and phobias: reliability and heritability. Psychol Med 29:539–553
- Kennedy JL, Bradwejn J, Koszycki D, King N, Crowe R, Vincent J, Fourie O (1999) Investigation of cholecystokinin system genes in panic disorder. Mol Psychiatry 4:284–285
- Kennedy JL, Neves-Pereira M, King N, Lizak MV, Basile VS, Chartier MJ (2001) Stein MB (2001) Dopamine system genes not linked to social phobia. Psychiatr Genet 11:213–217
- Knowles JA, Fyer AJ, Vieland VJ, Weissman MM, Hodge SE, Heiman GA, Haghighi F, de Jesus GM, Rassnick H, Preud'homme-Rivelli X, Austin T, Cunjak J, Mick S, Fine LD, Woodley KA, Das K, Maier W, Adams PB, Freimer NB, Klein DF, Gilliam TC (1998) Results of a genome-wide genetic screen for panic disorder. Am J Med Genet 81:139–147
- Lander ES, Schork NJ (1994) Genetic dissection of complex traits. Science 265:2037-2048
- Lesch K, Bengel D, Heils A, Sabol S, Greenberg B, Petri S, Benjamin J, Muller C, Hamer D, Murphy D (1996) Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. Science 274:1527–1531
- Leygraf A, Hohoff C, Freitag C, Willis-Owen SA, Krakowitzky P, Fritze J, Franke P, Bandelow B, Fimmers R, Flint J, Deckert J (2006) Rgs 2 gene polymorphisms as modulators of anxiety in humans? J Neural Transm 113:1921–1925
- Lin PI, Vance JM, Pericak-Vance MA, Martin ER (2007) No gene is an island: the flip-flop phenomenon. Am J Hum Genet 80:531–538
- MacKinnon DF, Xu J, McMahon FJ, Simpson SG, Stine OC, McInnis MG, DePaulo JR (1998) Bipolar disorder and panic disorder in families: an analysis of chromosome 18 data. Am J Psychiatry 155:829–831
- Maier W, Lichtermann D, Minges J, Oehrlein A, Franke P (1993) A controlled family study in panic disorder. J Psychiatr Res 27:79–87
- Munafò MR, Clark T, Flint J (2005) Does measurement instrument moderate the association between the serotonin transporter gene and anxiety-related personality traits? A meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry 10:415–419
- Northoff G, Heinzel A, Bermpohl F, Niese R, Pfennig A, Pascual-Leone A, Schlaug G (2004) Reciprocal modulation and attenuation in the prefrontal cortex: an fMRI study on emotionalcognitive interaction. Hum Brain Mapp 21:202–212
- Perna G, Favaron E, Di Bella D, Bussi R, Bellodi L (2005) Antipanic efficacy of paroxetine and polymorphism within the promoter of the serotonin transporter gene. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:2230–2235
- Pfleiderer B, Zinkirciran S, Arolt V, Heindel W, Deckert J, Domschke K (2007) fMRI amygdala activation during a spontaneous panic attack in a patient with panic disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 8:269–272
- Poulton R, Andrews G, Millichamp J (2008) Gene–environment interaction and the anxiety disorders. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 258:65–68
- Rothe C, Gutknecht L, Freitag C, Tauber R, Mössner R, Franke P, Fritze J, Wagner G, Peikert G, Wenda B, Sand P, Jacob C, Rietschel M, Nöthen MM, Garritsen H, Fimmers R, Deckert J, Lesch KP (2004) Association of a functional 1019C>G 5-HT1A receptor gene polymorphism with panic disorder with agoraphobia. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 7:189–192
- Rothe C, Koszycki D, Bradwejn J, King N, Deluca V, Tharmalingam S, Macciardi F, Deckert J, Kennedy JL (2006) Association of the Val158Met catechol O-methyltransferase genetic polymorphism with panic disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:2237–2242

- Rowe DC, Stever C, Gard JM, Cleveland HH, Saunders ML, Abramowitz A, Kozol ST, Mohr JH, Sherman SL, Waldman ID (1998) The relation of the dopamine transporter gene (DAT1) to symptoms of internalizing disorders in children. Behav Genet 28:215–225
- Sakai Y, Kumano H, Nishikawa M, Sakano Y, Kaiya H, Imabayashi E, Ohnishi T, Matsuda H, Yasuda A, Sato A, Diksic M, Kuboki T (2005) Cerebral glucose metabolism associated with a fear network in panic disorder. Neuroreport 16:927–931
- Schumacher J, Otte AC, Becker T, Sun Y, Wienker TF, Wirth B, Franke P, Abou Jamra R, Propping P, Deckert J, Nöthen MM, Cichon S (2003) No evidence for DUP25 in patients with panic disorder using a quantitative real-time PCR approach. Hum Genet 114:115–117
- Segman RH, Shalev AY (2003) Genetics of posttraumatic stress disorder. CNS Spectr 8:693-698
- Smoller JW, Tsuang MT (1998) Panic and phobic anxiety: defining phenotypes for genetic studies. Am J Psychiatry 155:1152–1162
- Smoller JW, Rosenbaum JF, Biederman J, Kennedy J, Dai D, Racette S, Laird N, Kagan J, Snidman NC, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Tsuang MT, Sklar PB, Slaugenhaupt SA (2003) Association of a genetic marker at the corticotropin releasing hormone locus with behavioral inhibition. Biol Psychiatry 54:1376–1381
- Smoller JW, Yamaki LH, Fagerness JA, Biederman J, Racette S, Laird NM, Kagan J, Snidman N, Faraone SV, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Tsuang MT, Slaugenhaupt SA, Rosenbaum JF, Sklar P (2005) The corticotropin releasing hormone gene and behavioral inhibition in children at risk for panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 57:1485–1492
- Smoller JW, Paulus MP, Fagerness JA, Purcell S, Yamaki LH, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Biederman J, Rosenbaum JF, Gelernter J, Stein MB (2008a) Influence of RGS2 on anxiety-related temperament, personality, and brain function. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:298–308
- Smoller JW, Gardner-Schuster E, Covino J (2008b) The genetic basis of panic and phobic anxiety disorders. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 148:118–126
- Stein MB, Chartier MJ, Kozak MV, King N, Kennedy JL (1998) Genetic linkage to the serotonin transporter protein and 5HT2A receptor genes excluded in generalized social phobia. Psychiatry Res 81:283–291
- Stein MB, Schork NJ, Gelernter J (2004) A polymorphism of the beta1-adrenergic receptor is associated with low extraversion. Biol Psychiatry 56:217–224
- Stein MB, Seedat S, Gelernter J (2006) Serotonin transporter gene promoter polymorphism predicts SSRI response in generalized social anxiety disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 187:68–72
- Stein MB, Schork NJ, Gelernter J (2008) Gene-by-environment (serotonin transporter and childhood maltreatment) interaction for anxiety sensitivity, an intermediate phenotype for anxiety disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:312–331
- Strug LJ, Suresh R, Fyer AJ, Talati A, Adams PB, Li W, Hodge SE, Gilliam TC, Weissman MM (2008) Panic disorder is associated with the serotonin transporter gene (SLC6A4) but not the promoter region (5-HTTLPR). Mol Psychiatry (in press)
- Tabiner M, Youings S, Dennis N, Baldwin D, Buis C, Mayers A, Jacobs PA, Crolla JA (2003) Failure to find DUP25 in patients with anxiety disorders, in control individuals, or in previously reported positive control cell lines. Am J Hum Genet 72:535–538
- Thorgeirsson TE, Oskarsson H, Desnica N, Kostic JP, Stefansson JG, Kolbeinsson H, Lindal E, Gagunashvili N, Frigge ML, Kong A, Stefansson K, Gulcher JR (2003) Anxiety with panic disorder linked to chromosome 9q in Iceland. Am J Hum Genet 72:1221–1230
- Vieland VJ, Goodman DW, Chapman T, Fyer AJ (1996) New segregation analysis of panic disorder. Am J Med Genet 67:147–153
- Zhu G, Bartsch O, Skrypnyk C, Rotondo A, Akhtar LA, Harris C, Virkkunen M, Cassano G, Goldman D (2004) Failure to detect DUP25 in lymphoblastoid cells derived from patients with panic disorder and control individuals representing European and American populations. Eur J Hum Genet 12:505–508
- Zintzaras E, Sakelaridis N (2007) Is 472G/A catechol-O-methyl-transferase gene polymorphism related to panic disorder? Psychiatr Genet 17:267–273

Neuroanatomy of Anxiety

Newton Sabino Canteras, Leonardo Barbosa Resstel, Leandro José Bertoglio, Antonio de Pádua Carobrez, and Francisco Silveira Guimarães

Contents

1	Introduction	79		
2	Pavlovian Fear Conditioning Studies			
3	Antipredatory Defensive Systems	82		
	3.1 Amygdalar Systems Involved in Predator Detection	82		
	3.2 The Hipoccampal Formation and the Contextual Analysis			
	for Predatory Environment	83		
	3.3 The Medial Hypothalamic Defensive System	83		
	3.4 The Periaqueductal Gray and the Integration of Antipredatory Responses	84		
4	The Septum-Hippocampus and the Behavioral Inhibition System	84		
5	The Prefrontal Cortex			
	5.1 mPFC and Conditioned Fear	88		
	5.2 mPFC and Innate Fear	89		
	5.3 mPFC and Visceral Reactions to Threat	89		
	5.4 PFC Responses to Stress	90		
6	Clinical Findings and Anxiety Disorders	90		
7	Conclusions	92		
Ret	eferences			

Abstract The evolutionary approach to human anxiety is based on the defensive responses that nonhuman animals show to fear-provoking stimuli. Studies performed mostly on rodents have related areas such as the medial prefrontal cortex, amygdaloid

N.S. Canteras

L.J. Bertoglio, Antonio de Pádua Carobrez

e-mail: fsguimar@fmrp.usp.br

Department of Anatomy, Institute of Biomedical Sciences, , University of São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil

Department of Pharmacology, Biological Sciences Center, , Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, SC, Brazil

L.B. Resstel, F.S. Guimarães (🖂)

Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine of Ribeirão Preto, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil

M.B. Stein and T. Steckler (eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment*, 77 Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 2, DOI 10.1007/7854_2009_7,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 17 September 2009

and hypothalamic nuclei, hipoccampal formation, and midbrain central gray to these responses. It is clear, however, that animals show different and sometimes opposite responses according to the threatening stimulus. These responses include immediate reactions such as freezing or flight, behavioral inhibition or avoidance, which are organized by at least partially distinct brain systems. As discussed in this chapter, several pieces of evidence indicate that these brain systems are similar in rodents and primates. In addition, recent neuroimaging studies also suggest dysfunctions in these systems are probably related to anxiety disorders in humans.

Keywords Amygdala · Dorsal premammilary nucleus · Generalized anxiety disorder · Hippocampus · Hypothalamus · Medial prefrontal cortex · Obsessive-compulsive disorder · Panic disorder · Periaqueductal gray · Post-traumatic stress disorder

Abbreviations

ACg	Anterior cingulate
AID	Dorsal agranular insular cortex
AIV	Ventral agranular insular cortex
BLA	Basolateral amygdala
BNST	Bed nucleus of the stria terminalis
CA1	Ammon's horn 1
CeA	Central nucleus of the amygdala
DLPFC	Lateral/dorsolateral prefrontal cortex
DMH	Dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus
HAP	Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal
IL	Infralimbic cortex
LH	Lateral hypothalamus
MO	Medial orbital cortex
mPFC	Medial prefrontal cortex
OCD	Obsessive-compulsive disorder
OMPFC	Orbito-medial prefrontal cortex
PAG	Periaqueductal gray
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PL	Prelimbic cortex
PTSD	Post-traumatic stress disorder
PVN	Paraventricular nucleus
SSDR	Species-specific defensive reaction
VLO	Ventral lateral orbital cortex
vmPFC	Ventromedial prefrontal cortex
VO	Ventral orbital cortex

1 Introduction

A significant work in the study of emotion was Charles Darwin's book *The expression of the emotions in man and animals* (1872). From there came the key concept that the biological origin of human anxiety is based on the defensive responses that nonhumans show to threatening stimuli. These responses, therefore, can be seen as normal emotional states with adaptive function aimed at promoting survival across species (Rauch et al. 2006). Anxiety disorders, on the other hand, can be characterized as extreme manifestations of aspects of normal anxiety (Gray and McNaughton 2000).

For obvious technical and ethical issues, the study of the neural basis of anxiety has been made to a great extent in nonhumans. Therefore, in this chapter we will discuss data originated mostly from studies carried out in rodents. It is written, however, on grounds that a translational approach that correlates these data with the neural substrate responsible for anxiety in humans is possible. As will be briefly discussed at the end of the chapter, this conviction has received great support from recent neuroimaging studies in humans. Together they confirm that human anxiety is accompanied by changes in neural systems that coordinate distinct defensive responses to threats. They include areas such as the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), amygdaloid and hypothalamic nuclei, hipoccampal formation, and midbrain central gray.

It is generally accepted that animals have a set of several, genetically determined, prepackaged behaviors to solve certain functional problems. This idea has been used in the species-specific defensive reaction (SSDR) theory, suggesting that the same innately determined defensive behavior (such as freezing and flight) should occur during the response to either a natural predator or an artificial harmful stimulus (Bolles 1970). This seemingly limited way of reacting to a dangerous stimulus has led to a misleading assumption that animals process predators' cues in the same way they do an artificial threat. However, animals are naturally selected to protect themselves from dangers associated with predators differently from how they do in relation to an artificial harm, in a way that the predator presence alone can evoke a sensation of fear and associated behavioral responses.

With this caveat in mind, we shall discuss two main experimental approaches that have been used to investigate the question of the brain systems underlying fear and anxiety (i.e., Pavlovian fear conditioning to a context or to a neutral stimulus, and exposure to a real predator or its odor).

2 Pavlovian Fear Conditioning Studies

Pavlovian conditioning is by far the most commonly used approach. The phenomenon of Pavlovian fear conditioning is highly reproducible and generates clearly measurable responses. Moreover, the main responses measured in this



Fig. 1 Upper part. Neural substrate proposed to be involved in Pavlovian conditioned fear. Associative learning between the conditioned and unconditioned stimuli is likely to occur in the lateral nucleus of the amygdala (LA), which, in turn, projects to the central nucleus (CeA) both directly and indirectly via projections to the basolateral nucleus (BLA). The central nucleus, via projections to the hypothalamus and brainstem, is critical for the expression of fear conditioning.

context – freezing and startle – are both seen in the repertory of animals confronting unconditioned threats, and have been thought to provide a good validation to both sets of models (Fanselow 1994). Studies on the neural basis of Pavlovian conditioned fear indicate the amygdala as a major player in learning, storage, and expression of fear conditioning. Among the amygdalar regions, three nuclei have been particularly focused on the fear conditioning research, namely, the lateral nucleus, the central nucleus, and the basolateral nucleus (LeDoux 2000). As shown in Fig. 1, associative learning between the conditioned and unconditioned stimuli is likely to occur in the lateral nucleus. In fact, both acquisition and retention of fear conditioning occur in the lateral nucleus, where electrolytic and excitotoxic lesions, as well as pharmacological blockade, prevent acquisition and expression of fear conditioning (Campeau and Davis 1995; Muller et al. 1997; LeDoux 2000; Gale et al. 2004). The lateral nucleus presents clear synapse plasticity during fear conditioning, and changes the way a conditioned stimulus is processed after the shock pairing. The lateral nucleus, in turn, projects to the central nucleus both directly and indirectly via projections to the basolateral nucleus (Pitkänen et al. 1997; Pare and Smith 1998). The central nucleus, via projections to the hypothalamus and brainstem (Fig. 1), is critical for the expression of fear conditioning. In fact, lesions of the central nucleus disrupt freezing, along with the autonomic reactions observed during fear conditioning (LeDoux 2000). More recent studies, however, have also suggested a role for the central nucleus in learning and storage of fear conditioning (Wilensky et al. 2006). The role of the basolateral nucleus in fear conditioning is controversial, and only post-training, but not pre-training, lesions appear to interfere with the expression of conditioned fear (Anglada-Figueroa and Quirk 2005).

This well-developed neural circuitry model for the processing of fear conditioning provides an excellent framework for comparison to the neural processing for innate fear responses, such as those that occur during exposure to a predator. Some differences are immediately apparent, as lesions of the central nucleus, a key region for the expression of fear conditioning, produce only marginal deficits, at best, on defensive responses to a predator (De Oca and Fanselow 2004) or its odor (Li et al. 2004).

Fig. 1 (continued) *Lower part*. Neural substrate involved in odor-elicited antipredator defensive responses. Predator odors seem to be processed in the accessory olfactory bulb, which projects principally to the medial amygdala. The amygdalar sites related to predator detection project either directly or indirectly, via the transverse nucleus of the BST, mostly to the dorsomedial part of the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus (VMHdm). Together with the anterior and the dorsal premammillary hypothalamic nuclei, the VMHdm is part of a medial hypothalamic defensive system. The main brainstem target of this system is the periaqueductal gray (PAG). The septo-hipoccampal system, via its direct connections to the medial hypothalamic defensive system, is in a position to control antipredatory defensive responses by providing contextual analysis. *AHN* anterior hypothalamic nucleus; *BMAp* posterior basomedial amygdala; *BSTif* transverse nucleus of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis; *dl*PAG dorsolateral periaqueductal gray; *LH* lateral hypothalamus; *MEApv* posteroventral medial amygdala; *PMd* dorsal premammillary hypothalamic nucleus of the hypothalamus; *SLN* lateral septal nucleus (Drawings based on Paxinos and Watson 2005)

Also, latent Toxoplasma infection resulting in entry of parasites into rodent brains that presumably affect the circuits involved in response to predator threats, inducing loss of innate defensive responses towards cat odor, has recently been reported to have no effect on fear responses to a conditioned stimulus previously paired to a shock (Berdoy et al. 1995; Vyas et al. 2007). Taken together, the evidence suggests that, at least in rats, innate defensive behavior to a predator or its odor is likely to be processed by neural circuits, somewhat different from those for fear conditioning.

3 Antipredatory Defensive Systems

3.1 Amygdalar Systems Involved in Predator Detection

Over the last years, a great deal has been learned about the neural system involved in processing innate defensive behaviors to a predator or its odor. As discussed in the case of fear conditioning, the amygdala also occupies a central role in integrating the sensory clues related to the predator. A recent finding is that predator odors may in fact be processed by prey species in the accessory olfactory bulb, rather than the main olfactory bulb (McGregor et al. 2004). This suggests that cat odor is processed by rats as a pheromone rather than a conventional odor, and the authors suggested that cat odor may be an example of a "kairomone" - a semiochemical released by one species that has a favorable adaptive effect on a different "receiving" species (McGregor et al. 2004). The accessory olfactory bulb projects principally to the medial amygdala, and rats exposed to cat odor also show substantial activation in this nucleus, particularly in its posteroventral part (Dielenberg et al. 2001; McGregor et al. 2004). In line with this view, rats with cytotoxic lesions in the medial nucleus, but not in the central nucleus, exhibited a significant reduction in unconditioned fear responses to cat odor (Li et al. 2004). During exposure to a live predator, in addition to activation of the posteroventral part of the medial amygdalar nucleus, we have observed a distinct Fos increase in two other amygdalar sites, namely, the posterior basomedial amygdalar nucleus and caudal levels of the lateral amygdalar nucleus (Canteras et al. 2001). Importantly, these amygdalar nuclei receive inputs from visual and auditory association areas, and are likely to integrate predator-derived sensory clues, other than olfactory ones (McDonald 1988). As shown in Fig. 1, the amygdalar sites related to predator detection project either directly or indirectly, via the transverse nucleus of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BST), to the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus, where its dorsomedial part receives most of the direct projections from the amygdala and is particularly mobilized during exposure to a live predator or its odor. Therefore, studies using rats exposed to a live cat or its fur odor suggest an amygdalar-BST-hypothalamic path to detect a live predator or its cues (Canteras et al. 2001). Recent work testing mice exposed to rats substantiate the idea of this particular amygdalar-hypothalamic path for predator detection in other prey species (Martinez et al. 2008).

3.2 The Hipoccampal Formation and the Contextual Analysis for Predatory Environment

Apart from the well-known hipoccampal functions related to mnemonic processing, spatial learning, and navigation, the hippocampus also works as a context analyzer. In this regard, it is relevant to point out that the hipoccampal formation receives inputs from the amygdalar sites involved in detecting predator-related cues and, therefore, are likely to be involved in associating predator threats to a given environment (Petrovich et al. 2001).

The septo-hipoccampal system is directly related to the medial hypothalamic defensive system, and, therefore, is in a position to control antipredatory defensive responses. In fact, recent findings suggest that the ventral hippocampus is related to anxiety functions (Bannerman et al. 2004; Bertoglio et al. 2006; Pentkowski et al. 2006; Nascimento Häckl and Carobrez 2007). This match was first pointed out by Gray (1970), based on data confined mainly to barbiturates, and later proven to be valid for other classical (benzodiazepines) and novel (buspirone) clinically effective, centrally acting, anxiolytic drugs. In line with this view, the ventral half of field CA1 and subiculum targets distinct septal regions that project to the anterior hypothalamic nucleus, which is part of the medial hypothalamic defensive system (Risold and Swanson 1996, 1997).

3.3 The Medial Hypothalamic Defensive System

Exposure to a predator or its odor induces in the medial hypothalamic zone a distinct Fos up-regulation in the anterior hypothalamic nucleus, the dorsomedial part of the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, and the dorsal premammillary nucleus (Canteras et al. 1997; Dielenberg et al. 2001; Martinez et al. 2008).

Both the anterior hypothalamic nucleus and the dorsomedial part of the ventromedial nucleus project to the dorsal premammillary nucleus, which, by far, represents the most sensitive brain region responding to a predator or its clues, and where lesions have been most effective in reducing antipredator defensive responses (Canteras et al. 1997; Blanchard et al. 2003). In fact, the anterior hypothalamic nucleus, the dorsomedial part of the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, and the dorsal premammillary nucleus are particularly interconnected, forming a partially segregated circuit in the medial zone of the hypothalamus, the so-called medial hypothalamic defensive circuit (Canteras 2002). Notably, the dorsal premammilary nucleus appears to work as an amplifier for the neural processing in the medial hypothalamic defensive circuit. This would explain why this region is so responsive to predator threats, and why lesions therein are able to reduce defensive responses so drastically (Canteras et al. 1997; Blanchard et al. 2003, 2005; Markham et al. 2004).

The hypothalamic systems are well known for integrating a number of behaviors critical for the survival of the individual or the species (Swanson 1987), and it

comes as no surprise that the hypothalamus, and not the amygdala (as previously suggested by fear conditioning studies), should occupy this central role in integrating antipredator defensive responses. In fact, fear responses to predators are comparable to other forms of goal-oriented behavior, such as drinking, feeding, and mating, in a way that they are engaged by strong motivational factors leading to behavioral actions critical for the maintenance of the species. The hypothalamus is classically known to have a central role in the organization of a number of goaloriented behaviors (Swanson 1987).

3.4 The Periaqueductal Gray and the Integration of Antipredatory Responses

The periaqueductal gray (PAG) represents the main brainstem targets of the medial hypothalamic defensive system, and is critical for the expression of defensive responses. Of special relevance, the pattern of projection from the medial hypothalamic defensive system to the PAG largely overlaps the pattern of PAG activation in animals exposed to a predator or its odor, where Fos expression was mostly seen in the rostral two thirds of the PAG in the dorsomedial and dorsolateral regions, whereas in the caudal PAG, a less intense, but more widespread, activation was observed (Canteras and Goto 1999; Dielenberg et al. 2001). A similar pattern of PAG activation was also described after administration of drugs known to induce panic in humans (Singewald and Sharp 2000). In fact, the dorsolateral PAG particularly appears to play a critical role in integrating forebrain limbic information related to "psychological stressors" such as the presence of a natural predator (Canteras and Goto 1999; Dielenberg et al. 2001). Fear conditioning-induced freezing is also known to depend on the PAG. However, in contrast to what was found in animals exposed to a predator or its odor, the ventrolateral PAG, but not the dorsolateral PAG, is mostly mobilized during fear conditioning to a context previously associated with footshocks (Carrive et al. 1997).

4 The Septum–Hippocampus and the Behavioral Inhibition System

In addition to its role in context analysis in threatening situations, the septohipoccampal system is also proposed to play a larger role in anxiety. This suggestion was originally based on the observation that the behavioral effects of anxiolytics parallel those of either permanent or temporary lesions to the septum and/or the hippocampus (Gray and McNaughton 2000; Degroot and Treit 2004). According to this view, the septo-hippocampus system generates anxiety in response to conflict situations by interrupting ongoing behavior, and increasing the level of arousal and attention to enhance gathering information (Fig. 2). These conflict situations occur



Fig. 2 Outline of the septo-hipoccampal circuitry subserving the behavioral inhibition, risk analysis, and attentional outputs triggered by conflict. The arousal output of the behavioral inhibition system is held to be mediated independently by the amygdala and has been omitted. Gray and McNaughton (2000) see these modules as mainly concerned with the organization of goal-directed action. The hipoccampal formation comprises the entorhinal cortex, the dentate gyrus, the subicular area, and the posterior cingulate cortex (Drawings based on Paxinos and Watson 2005)

when the animal has to choose between competing available goals. For instance, novelty is a stimulus that can elicit approach and avoidance tendencies, creating conflict. In turn, this conflict will generate an immediate inhibition of motor programs (apparently at the level of its planning) that are in the course of execution (Gray and McNaughton 2000). A reduction in the capacity of behavioral inhibition of pre-threat behaviors after either septal or hipoccampal damage is consistent with this proposition. In fact, as noted above, the hippocampus, working as a context analyzer, can modulate adaptive motor activity in response to particular sensory events in the environment (Oddie and Bland 1998). Animals with hipoccampal or fimbria-fornix lesions, but not with entorhinal cortex lesions, present increased motor activity, which can be blocked by lesions of the nucleus accumbens. This suggests that a subiculo-accumbal pathway is particularly important for hipoccampal formation control of locomotor behavior (Oddie and Bland 1998; Coutureau et al. 2000). Actually, it has been shown that hyperpolarization of subicular neurons is associated with an increase in accumbal dopamine transmission (Mitchell et al. 2000).

It is noteworthy that the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus is thought to represent a key target for the neural processing in the accumbal circuit, and known to play a critical role in modulating locomotor activity (Swanson and Kalivas 2000). Lesions of the mediodorsal nucleus blunt psychomotor stimulant drug-induced behavioral activity (Kalivas et al. 1999), and microinjections of drugs mimicking GABAergic neurotransmission into the mediodorsal nucleus produce dose-dependent increases in locomotion (Churchill et al. 1996). Notably, the mediodorsal nucleus is known to project to the prefrontal cortex (PFC), which at the top of the perception–action cycle, plays a critical role in mediation of contingencies of action across time, thus influencing the temporal organization of behavior (Fuster 2000a, b).

5 The Prefrontal Cortex

The PFC comprises the anterior pole of the mammalian brain which predominantly receives projections from the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus (Rose and Woolsey 1948). A major problem in studying the functional role of the PFC is the controversy regarding the equivalence between regions in different species (Dalley et al. 2004). In primates the PFC consists of three major divisions: orbital, medial, and lateral parts (Vertes 2006). The lateral/dorsolateral PFC (DLPFC) receives information from cortical sensory processing and sends projections to somatomotor structures of the cortex, striatum, and brainstem. The DLPFC has been related to executive functions, defined as a set of cognitive control processes necessary for optimal scheduling of complex sequences of behavior (Dalley et al. 2004). It receives few direct inputs from limbic structures such as the amygdala and hippocampus but has access to emotional information through significant connections with the orbito-medial prefrontal cortex (OMPFC). These inputs are probably important for an integrated response to environmental events (see Vertes 2006 for review). The OMPFC includes the orbital and medial networks. The orbital network consists of most of the areas on the orbital surface while the medial network includes areas on the medial wall and two areas in the posterolateral orbital cortex. Some areas are represented in both networks. The orbital network receives sensorial inputs from different modalities and connects with multisensorial areas in the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and perirhinal cortex. The medial network is reciprocally connected to limbic structures and it also connects to a cortical circuit that includes the rostral part of the superior temporal gyrus and dorsal bank of the superior temporal sulcus, the cingulate and retrosplenial cortex, the enthorhinal and posterior parahippocampal cortex, and the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (Price 2007).

The rat PFC has been divided into three distinct regions, medial (mPFC), lateral and ventral, based on functional and hodological criteria. The mPFC constitutes the major portion of the medial wall of the hemisphere anterior and dorsal to the genu of the corpus callosum (Leonard 1972; Groenewegen 1988). This area can be further divided into a dorsal region that includes the precentral area, anterior cingulate (ACg) and dorsal part of the prelimbic (PL) area, and a ventral region (vmPFC) comprised of the ventral part of the PL, infralimbic (IL) and medial orbital (MO)



Fig. 3 Basic circuits describing a proposed interplay between the mPFC, amygdala and hippocampus in fear conditioning extinction. IL glutamatergic neurons project to GABAergic intercalated cells that inhibit CeA output neurons to promote extinction of aversively conditioned responses. On the other hand, PL neurons project to the BLA which, in turn, exerts excitatory effects on the CeA to enhance fear. The hippocampus, meanwhile, is thought to provide contextual modulation of the process. *Cg* cingulate cortex; *PL* prelimbic cortex; *IL* infralimbic cortex; *VO* ventral orbital cortex; *LO* lateral orbital cortex; *AIV* ventral agranular insular cortex; *AID* dorsal agranular insular cortex; *DI* dysgranular insular cortex; *CeA* central amygdaloid nuclei; *BLA* basolateral amygdala; *It* intercalated nucleus (Dalley et al. 2004; Quirk and Mueller 2008; Bishop 2007; Drawings based on Paxinos and Watson 2005)

cortices (Heidbreder and Groenewegen 2003). The lateral region includes the dorsal and ventral agranular insular (AID, AIV, respectively) and lateral orbital (LO) cortices. In addition, there is also a ventral region that includes the ventral orbital (VO) and ventral lateral orbital (VLO) cortices (Fig. 3, Dalley et al. 2004).

Although the PFC is much smaller in rodents and there are considerable variations across species, it is becoming clear, based on similarities of position and connections, that the caudal OMPFC is relatively comparable across species (Price 2007). For example, the IL, PL, and ACg areas of the rat PFC seem to correspond to areas 25, 32, and 24 of primates, respectively (Price 2007). As in primates, a growing body of evidence indicates the presence of a functional heterogeneity in different regions of the rat PFC (Heidbreder and Groenewegen 2003). Several findings indicate that the OMPFC, particularly its medial part (mPFC), is involved in the coordination of the behavioral responses related to fear and anxiety (Bishop 2007). For example, exposure to different stimuli such as a predator, elevated plus-maze, novel environment, or swim and immobilization stress increases c-fos expression in the PL (Sewards and Sewards 2003). Activation of the mPFC in normal volunteers is changed during exposure to fearful stimuli, and abnormal mPFC activity has been associated with a number of anxiety disorders. Corroborating these findings, the mPFC has direct connections with subcortical, diencephalic, and brainstem structures closely related to anxiety, such as the amygdala, hypothalamus, solitary nucleus, PAG, dorsal raphe, and ventral tegmental area (Gabbott et al. 2005; Vertes 2006).

5.1 mPFC and Conditioned Fear

As discussed above, a large body of evidence from rodent studies indicates that the amygdala plays a critical role in the acquisition and expression of conditioned fear.

The mPFC, on the other hand, has been particularly related to extinction, an important form of emotional regulation characterized by a decrease in conditioned response to a stimulus when the reinforcer is omitted (for review, see Quirk and Mueller 2008). The vmPFC is proposed to have a dual role in fear extinction, retaining information that fearful events are no longer fearful (retention of fear extinction), and acting on visceral structures to reduce fear (expression of fear extinction). Several pieces of evidence indicate that projections from the mPFC to the amygdala facilitate extinction of conditioned fear responses (Milad et al. 2006), for example, lesions of the vmPFC that have no effect on acquisition impaired extinction of freezing responses to an aversively conditioned stimulus (Milad et al. 2006). This observation was reminiscent of the perseverative behavior seen in monkeys with prefrontal lesions and was described as "emotional perseveration." Paralleling these lesion findings, single neurons in the IL exhibited no response to tones during the conditioning or extinction phases of training, but showed robust response to tones the following day, when rats were recalling the extinction process. These findings support the hypothesis of extinction as new learning and are consistent with recent observations that extinction involves protein synthesis and gene expression in the mPFC.

The mechanism of PFC interference on extinction seems to involve projections form the vmPFC to the amygdala. Neurons from the IL project strongly to the capsular division of the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA), which contains GABAergic intercalated cells that inhibit CeA output neurons (Fig. 3). IL stimulation, therefore, will prevent CeA neurons from being activated by inputs from the basolateral amygdala (BLA). The IL can also modulate the expression of conditioned fear via direct projections to the hypothalamus, PAG, and other brain stem regions critical for generating conditioned responses (see Fig. 1). In addition to the IL, the medial, dorsomedial, and DLPFC areas have also been recently implicated in extinction. Finally, there is also evidence that the IL and PL play a distinct role in fear conditioning by producing opposing effects in the amygdala. While conditioned stimuli (tones) paired with IL stimulation decrease fear (strengthened fear extinction), those paired with PL stimulation increased fear (impaired fear extinction). These opposite effects can be mediated by distinct neural pathways. Instead of projecting to GABAergic intercalated neurons in the amygdala, as does the IL (see above), the PL projects to the BLA which, in turn, exerts excitatory effects on the CeA to enhance fear (Fig. 3).

5.2 mPFC and Innate Fear

Although several studies indicate that lesions or inactivation of the mPFC affect anxiety responses in animals submitted to animal models based on innate fear, the results are still controversial, with reports of increased, decreased, or unchanged anxiety (Burns et al. 1996; Maaswinkel et al. 1996; Jinks and McGregor 1997; Lacroix et al. 1998; Heidbreder and Groenewegen 2003; Shah and Treit 2003; Wall et al. 2004). As discussed above, functional heterogeneity between subregions of the PFC could be partially responsible for these contradictory results (Jinks and McGregor 1997).

5.3 mPFC and Visceral Reactions to Threat

Stimulation of the vmPFC induces changes in physiological correlates of anxiety, such as respiration, heart rate, piloerection, and blood pressure. The vmPFC controls the increases in mean arterial pressure and heart rate associated with fear conditioning (Resstel and Corrêa 2006; Resstel et al. 2006) and stimulation of this region inhibits cardiovascular responses evoked by electrical stimulation of the hypothalamus or CeA. Although these effects were originally thought to be mediated by indirect projections (Verberne and Owens 1998), recent results indicate that the vmPFC influences these autonomic responses by means of its extensive connections with hypothalamic areas such as the region immediately ventral to the paraventricular nucleus (sub-PVN), the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus (DMH), and the lateral hypothalamus (LH) (Van Eden and Buijs 2000). The mPFC can also participate in endocrine responses to aversive stimuli, modulating hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) activity through its connections to the bed nucleus of the amygdala, stria terminalis (BNST), or the peri-PVN region. Finally, in the midbrain, the mPFC projects to the PAG in a topological manner where it can modulate the behavioral and autonomic responses to emotional inputs integrated by this structure (Van Eden and Buijs 2000).

5.4 PFC Responses to Stress

Stress exposure has been related to the development of several anxiety disorders, particularly post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Recent evidence indicates that the mPFC could be involved in this effect. Brief exposure to uncontrollable stress impairs fear extinction and induces retraction of terminal branches of apical dendrites of IL neurons (Izquierdo et al. 2006). Similarly, chronic restraint stress for 20 days decreases dendritic branching in the PFC (PL region) and hippocampus. However, it increases dendritic branching in the BLA (see Quirck and Mueller 2008, for review).

6 Clinical Findings and Anxiety Disorders

Although methodological problems still persist, difficulties of disclosing the human neural network involved in anxiety responses have been partially overcome with the use of recent neuroimaging techniques. These studies have implicated most of the neural substrates unveiled by animal studies. For example, there is increased activity in the amygdala of healthy volunteers during acquisition and extinction of the conditioned stimulus. As predicted by animal studies, during the latter process there is also enhanced activation of the mPFC and hippocampus (for review see Bishop 2007). In addition, success in interpreting negative stimuli as less threatening correlates with an increase in PFC and a decrease in amygdala activity (Bishop 2007, see Fig. 3). It seems, therefore, that the prefrontal-amygdala circuitry mediates basic mechanisms involved in human anxiety such as selective attention to threat, interpretation of stimuli, and acquisition and extinction of conditioned fear. An increased and decreased activity in the amygdala and PFC, respectively, would lead to increased representation of negative stimuli and failure to activate alternate nonthreatening related representations (Bishop 2007).

The role of these structures, however, is probably very complex. For example, stimulation of area 32 of the OMPFC (suggested to be analogous to the PL cortex of rodents) or the rostral cingulum below the ACg cortex in humans caused reports of fear and anxiety (for review see Sewards and Sewards 2003). In addition, a recent study by Butler et al. (2007) found increased activity of the amygdala only at the earlier portion of an experimentally induced state of conscious fear. Interestingly, regions usually associated with motor behavior show robust responses in the same paradigm, with increased activation of the dorsal basal ganglia and deactivation of the primary motor cortex. Other regions with sustained activity were the insula, thalamus, and brain stem. The amygdala, therefore, was proposed to work as a threat and novelty detector whose initial, brief, and phasic activity is accompanied by sustained tonic activity of other brain regions responsible for maintaining the behavioral, anatomic, and metabolic responses for danger stimuli (Butler et al. 2007).

In a recent neuroimaging study Mobbs et al. (2007) showed that subjects faced with an active avoidance paradigm where they are pursued through a maze by a virtual predator presented changes in brain activity according to the proximity of the threat stimulus. When the predator was remote there was increased activity in the vmPFC and lateral amygdala. As the virtual predator grew closer there was a shift in activity from these areas to the PAG and central amygdala. Moreover, PAG activation was directly correlated with the degree of dread and inversely correlated with confidence to escape (Mobbs et al. 2007). These results suggest that vmPFC and lateral amygdala and PAG coordinate behavioral responses when threat is imminent (Maren 2007). They also agree with the proposal that activation of forebrain areas such as the PFC and amygdala by distal or potential threats upholds anxiety whereas activation of the PAG by proximal aversive stimuli promotes panic (Deakin and Graeff 1991; Maren 2007).

These neural mechanisms, involved in human normal anxiety, are probably more akin to the defensive responses in rodents discussed so far. The study of the neuroanatomical basis of pathological anxiety in animals, on the other hand, is complicated by the well documented cognitive bias towards cues signaling danger shown by patients with anxiety disorders. This difficult to mimic the capacity to worry excessively about the future, a key feature in most anxiety disorders, is a limitation of animal models (Bishop 2007). Since this capacity has been linked to the greater development of the PFC in primates, this brain region has been proposed to play a more important role in human anxiety (Berkowitz et al. 2007). A hypoactive OMPFC has been related to a failure to inhibit inappropriate fear or anxiety responses whereas conditions such as obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) would involve hyperactivity of the lateral orbital PFC (Milad and Rauch 2007). In agreement with this possibility, several neuroimaging studies have shown abnormalities in the PFC in patients with anxiety disorders, with decreased neuronal activity in disorders characterized by intense fear, such as panic disorder (PD), PTSD, and phobias, and increased activity in disorders involving worry and rumination (PTSD and OCD) (Milad and Rauch 2007). OCD is proposed to arise from dysfunctions in a cortico-striato-thalamo-cortical circuitry, in a way that changes in the striatum lead to ineffective gating in the thalamus (Milad and Rauch 2007) and hyperactivity of the orbital PFC and ACg cortex. Successful pharmacological or behavior therapy has been able to decrease activity in these areas (see Milad and Rauch 2007, for review).

PTSD, on the other hand, has also been related to changes in a circuit that involves the OMPFC plus the hippocampus and amygdala. Patients with PTSD have smaller vmPFC and hippocampal volumes, and increased activity in the amygdala (Quirk and Mueller 2008). These changes would translate in a failure to consolidate and retrieve extinction of aversive events (see Fig. 3).

Another human brain structure that shows hyperactivity in anxiety disorders such as PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobias, is the insular cortex. It is activated by negative emotions and regulates the autonomic nervous system activity. The insula has been proposed, together with the amygdala, hypothalamus, periaquedutal gray, parabrachial nucleus and nucleus tractus solitarius, to be part of an internal regulation system that controls the visceromotor, neuroendocrine, and pulmonary system as well as pain sensations (Nagai et al. 2007, for review see Etkin and Wager 2007). It has been implicated in the recognition and experience of disgust, sadness, and fear (for review see Morris 2002).

With regard to PD, neuroimaging studies in patients or volunteers submitted to panic symptoms-inducing drugs have shown increased activation of parahippocampal gyrus, the superior temporal lobe, the ACg, cerebellar vermis, insula, temporal poles and the hypothalamus, and PAG (Javanmard et al. 1999; Boshuisen et al. 2002). Both before and after a drug-induced panic attack, however, PD patients showed hypoactivity in the precentral gyrus, OMPFC, the right amygdala, and the anterior insula (Boshuisen et al. 2002). PD patients who improve after cognitive-behavior therapy showed decreased activation of the right hippocampus, left ACg, left cerebellum and pons, and increased activity in the OMPFC. Further strengthening the proposal of PAG involvement, a significant correlation between activity in the midbrain and the number of panic attacks has been described (Sakai et al. 2006).

7 Conclusions

Similar to other complex functions, anxiety does not appear to depend on specific areas performing unique functions but should be rather seen as an emerging property of interacting brain regions (Morgane et al. 2005). Even so, it is clear that animals show different and sometimes opposite behavioral responses to specific stimuli such as distal or proximal threats and that these responses are organized by at least partially distinct brain systems (Deakin and Graeff 1991; McNaughton and Corr 2004; Maren 2007).

The several pieces of evidence reviewed here indicate that these brain systems are similar in rodents and humans. They would include a defense system, aimed at making immediate responses to threatening stimuli, and a behavioral inhibition system, responsible for the suppression of behaviors that could enhance danger. Other partially distinct networks could be responsible for responses such as avoid-ance. These systems would work in concert and engage distinct hierarchic circuits depending on increasing demand for cognitive processing (McNaughton and Corr 2004; Sandford et al. 2000). Dysfunctions in these circuits are likely to generate chronic anxiety disorders (Maren 2007). In addition, these circuits are under modulatory influence of several other neural systems such as serotonergic, noradrenergic, and dopaminergic inputs from the raphe nuclei, locus coeruleus, and ventral tegmental area, respectively. A complete review of these modulatory circuits would be beyond the aims of this chapter. They are however, particularly important for the anxiolytic effects of drugs such as antidepressants and benzodiazepines and will be reviewed elsewhere in this book.

Acknowledgments We thank the financial support from the Brazilian agencies Capes, FAPESP, CNPq and FAPESC.

References

- Anglada-Figueroa D, Quirk GJ (2005) Lesions of the basal amygdala block expression of conditioned fear but not extinction. J Neurosci 25:9680–9685
- Bannerman DM, Rawlins JN, McHugh SB, Deacon RM, Yee BK, Bast T, Zhang WN, Pothuizen HH, Feldon J (2004) Regional dissociations within the hippocampus–memory and anxiety. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28:273–283
- Berdoy M, Webster JP, Macdonald DW (1995) Parasite-altered behaviour: is the effect of Toxoplasma gondii on Rattus norvegicus specific? Parasitology 111:403–409
- Berkowitz RL, Coplan JD, Reddy DP, Gorman JM (2007) The human dimension: how the prefrontal cortex modulates the subcortical fear response. Rev Neurosci 18:191–207
- Bertoglio LJ, Joca SR, Guimarães FS (2006) Further evidence that anxiety and memory are regionally dissociated within the hippocampus. Behav Brain Res 175:183–188
- Bishop SL (2007) Neurocognitive mechanisms of anxiety: an integrative account. Trends Cogn Sci 11:307–316
- Blanchard DC, Li CI, Hubbard D, Markham CM, Yang M, Takahashi LK, Blanchard RJ (2003) Dorsal premammillary nucleus differentially modulates defensive behaviors induced different threat stimuli in rats. Neurosci Lett 345:145–148
- Blanchard DC, Canteras NS, Markham CM, Pentkowski NS, Blanchard RJ (2005) Lesions of structures showing FOS expression to cat presentation: effects on responsivity to a Cat, Cat odor, and nonpredator threat. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29:1243–1253
- Bolles RC (1970) Species-specific defense reactions and avoidance learning. Psychol Rev 77:32-48
- Boshuisen ML, Ter Horst GJ, Paans AM, Reinders AA, den Boer JA (2002) rCBF differences between panic disorder patients and control subjects during anticipatory anxiety and rest. Biol Psychiatry 52:126–135
- Burns LH, Annett L, Kelley AE, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW (1996) Effects of lesions to amygdala, ventral subiculum, medial prefrontal cortex, and nucleus accumbens on the reaction to novelty: implication for limbic-striatalinteractions. Behav Neurosci 110:60–73
- Butler T, Pan H, Tuescher O, Engelien A, Goldstein M, Epstein J, Weisholtz D, Root JC, Protopopescu X, Cunningham-Bussel AC, Chang L, Xie X-H, Chen Q, Phelps EA, Ledouz JE, Stern E, Silbersweig DA (2007) Human fear-related motor circuitry. Neuroscience 150:1–7
- Campeau S, Davis M (1995) Involvement of the central nucleus and basolateral complex of the amygdala in fear conditioning measured with fear potentiated startle in rats trained concurrently with auditory and visual conditioned stimuli. J Neurosci 15:2301–2311
- Canteras NS (2002) The medial hypothalamic defensive system: hodological organization and functional implications. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 71:481–491
- Canteras NS, Goto M (1999) Fos-like immunoreactivity in the periaqueductal gray of rats exposed to a natural predator. Neuroreport 10:413–418
- Canteras NS, Chiavegatto S, Valle LE Ribeiro do, Swanson LW (1997) Severe reduction of defensive behavior to a predator by discrete hypothalamic chemical lesions. Brain Res Bull 44:297–305
- Canteras NS, Ribeiro-Barbosa ER, Comoli E (2001) Tracing from the dorsal premammillary nucleus prosencephalic systems involved in the organization of innate fear responses. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 25:661–668
- Carrive P, Leung P, Harris J, Paxinos G (1997) Conditioned fear to context is associated with increased Fos expression in the caudal ventrolateral region of the midbrain periaqueductal gray. Neuroscience 78:165–177

- Churchill L, Zahm DS, Duffy P, Kalivas PW (1996) The mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus in rats–II. Behavioral and neurochemical effects of GABA agonists. Neuroscience 70:103–112
- Coutureau E, Galani R, Jarrard LE, Cassel JC (2000) Selective lesions of the entorhinal cortex, the hippocampus, or the fimbria-fornix in rats: a comparison of effects on spontaneous and amphetamine-induced locomotion. Exp Brain Res 131:381–392
- Dalley JW, Cardinal RN, Robbins TW (2004) Prefrontal executive and cognitive functions in rodents: neural and neurochemical substrates. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28:771–784
- Darwin C (1872) The expression of the emotions in man and animals. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1965 reprint from the 1872 original
- De Oca BM, Fanselow MS (2004) Amygdala and periaqueductal gray lesions partially attenuate unconditional defensive responses in rats exposed to a cat. Integr Physiol Behav Sci 39:318–333
- Deakin JWF, Graeff FG (1991) 5-HT and mechanisms of defence. J Psychopharmacol 5:305-315
- Degroot A, Treit D (2004) Anxiety is functionally segregated within the septo-hippocampal system. Brain Res 1001:60–71
- Dielenberg RA, Hunt GE, McGregor IS (2001) "When a rat smells a cat": the distribution of c-fos expression in rat brain following exposure to a predator odor. Neuroscience 104:1085–1097
- Etkin A, Wager TD (2007) Functional neuroimaging of anxiety: a meta-analysis of emotional processing in PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobia. Am J Psychiatry 164:1476–1488
- Fanselow MS (1994) Neural organization of the defensive behavior system responsible for fear. Psychonomic Bull Rev 1:429–438
- Fuster JM (2000a) Executive frontal functions. Exp Brain Res 133(66-70):2000a
- Fuster JM (2000b) The prefrontal cortex-an update: time is of the essence. Neuron 30:319-333
- Gabbott PL, Warner TA, Jays PR, Salway P, Busby SJ (2005) Prefrontal cortex in the rat: projections to subcortical autonomic, motor, and limbic centers. J Comp Neurol 492:145–177
- Gale GD, Anagnostaras SG, Godsil BP, Mitchell S, Nozawa T, Sage JR, Wiltgen B, Fanselow MS (2004) Role of the basolateral amygdala in the storage of fear memories across the adult lifetime of rats. J Neurosci 24:3810–3815
- Gray JA (1970) Sodium amobarbital, the hippocampal theta rhythm, and the partial reinforcement extinction effect. Psychol Rev 77:465–480
- Gray JA, McNaughton N (2000) The neuropsychology of anxiety, 2nd edn. Oxford Medical Publications, Oxford
- Groenewegen HJ (1988) Organization of the afferent connections of the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus in the rat, related to the mediodorsal-prefrontal topography. Neuroscience 24:379–431
- Heidbreder CA, Groenewegen HJ (2003) The medial prefrontal cortex in the rat: evidence for a dorso-ventral distinction based upon functional and anatomical characteristics. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 27:555–579
- Izquierdo A, Wellmann CL, Holmes A (2006) Brief uncontrollable stress causes dendritic retraction in infralimbic cortex and resistance to fear extinction in mice. J Neurosci 26:5733–5738
- Javanmard M, Shlik J, Kennedy SH, Vaccarino FJ, Houle S, Bradwejn J (1999) Neuroanatomic correlates of CCK-4-induced panic attacks in healthy humans: a comparison of two time points. Biol Psychiatry 45:872–882
- Jinks AL, McGregor IS (1997) Modulation of anxiety-related behaviours following lesions of the prelimbic or infralimbic cortex in the rat. Brain Res 772:181–190
- Kalivas PW, Churchill L, Romanides A (1999) Involvement of the pallidal-thalamocortical circuit in adaptive behavior. Ann NY Acad Sci 877:64–70
- Lacroix L, Broersen LM, Weiner I, Feldon J (1998) The effects of excitotoxic lesion of the medial prefrontal cortex on latent inhibition, prepulse inhibition, food hoarding, elevated plus maze, active avoidance and locomotor activity in the rat. Neuroscience 84:431–442
- LeDoux JE (2000) Emotion circuits in the brain. Annu Rev Neurosci 23:155-184
- Leonard CM (1972) The connections of the dorsomedial nuclei. Brain Behav Evol 6:524-541

- Li CI, Maglinao TL, Takahashi LK (2004) Medial amygdala modulation of predator odor induced unconditioned fear in the rat. Behav Neurosci 118:324–332
- Maaswinkel H, Gispen WH, Spruijt BM (1996) Effects of an electrolytic lesion of the prelimbic area on anxiety-related and cognitive tasks in the rat. Behav Brain Res 79:51–59
- Maren S (2007) The threatened brain. Science 317:1043-1044
- Markham CM, Blanchard DC, Canteras NS, Cuyno CD, Blanchard RJ (2004) Modulation of predatory odor processing following lesions to the dorsal premammillary nucleus. Neurosci Lett 372:22–26
- Martinez RCR, Carvalho-Netto EF, Amaral VCS, Nunes-de-Souza RL, Canteras NS, Martinez RCR, Carvalho-Netto EF, Amaral VCS, Nunes-de-Souza RL, Canteras NS (2008) Investigation of the hypothalamic defensive system in the mouse. Behav Brain Res 192:185–190
- McDonald AJ (1988) Cortical pathways to mammalian amygdala. Prog Neurobiol 55:257-332
- McGregor IS, Hargreaves GA, Apfelbach R, Hunt GE (2004) Neural correlates of cat odorinduced anxiety in rats: region-specific effects of the benzodiazepine midazolam. J Neurosci 24:4134–4144
- McNaughton N, Corr PJ (2004) A two-dimensional neuropsychology of defense: fear/anxiety and defensive distance. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28:285–305
- Milad MR, Rauch SL (2007) The role of the orbitofrontal cortex in anxiety disorders. Ann NY Acad Sci 1121:546–561
- Milad MR, Rauch SL, Pitman RK, Quirk GJ (2006) Fear extinction in rats: implications for human brain imaging and anxiety disorders. Biol Psychol 73:61–71
- Mitchell SN, Sharrott A, Cooper J, Greenslade RG (2000) Ventral subiculum administration of the somatostatin receptor agonist MK-678 increases dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens. Eur J Pharmacol 395:43–46
- Mobbs D, Petrovic P, Marchant JL, Hassabis D, Weiskopf N, Seymour B, Dolan RJ, Frith CD (2007) When fear is near: threat imminence elicits prefrontal-periaqueductal gray shifts in humans. Science 317:1079–1083
- Morgane PJ, Galler JR, Mokler DJ (2005) A review of systems and networks of the limbic forebrain/limbic midbrain. Prog Neurobiol 75:143–160
- Morris JS (2002) How do you feel. Trends Cogn Sci 6:317-319
- Muller J, Corodimas KP, Fridel Z, LeDoux JE (1997) Functional inactivation of the lateral and basal nuclei of the amygdala by muscimol infusion prevents fear conditioning to an explicit conditioned stimulus and to contextual stimuli. Behav Neurosci 111:683–691
- Nagai M, Kishi K, Kato S (2007) Insular cortex and neuropsychiatric disorders: a review of recent literature. Eur Psychiatry 22:387–394
- Nascimento Häckl LP, Carobrez AP (2007) Distinct ventral and dorsal hippocampus AP5 anxiolytic effects revealed in the elevated plus-maze task in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 88:177–185
- Oddie SD, Bland BH (1998) Hippocampal formation theta activity and movement selection. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 22:221–231
- Pare D, Smith Y (1998) Intrinsic circuitry of the amygdaloid complex: common principles of organization in rats and cats. Trends Neurosci 21:240–241
- Paxinos G, Watson C (2005) The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates, 5th edn. Elsevier, New York
- Pentkowski NS, Blanchard DC, Lever C, Litvin Y, Blanchard RJ (2006) Effects of lesions to the dorsal and ventral hippocampus on defensive behaviors in rats. Eur J Neurosci 23:2185–2196
- Petrovich GD, Canteras NS, Swanson LW (2001) Combinatorial amygdalar inputs to hippocampal domains and hypothalamic behavior systems. Brain Res Rev 38:247–289
- Pitkänen A, Savander V, LeDoux JE (1997) Organization of intra-amygdaloid circuitries in the rat: an emerging framework for understanding functions of the amygdala. Trends Neurosci 20:517–523
- Price JL (2007) Definition of the orbital cortex in relation to specific connections with limbic and visceral structures and other cortical regions. Ann NY Acad Sci 1121:54–71

- Quirk GJ, Mueller D (2008) Neural mechanisms of extinction learning and retrieval. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:56–72
- Rauch SL, Shin LM, Phelps EA (2006) Neurocircuitry models of posttraumatic stress disorder and extinction: human Neuroimaging research past, present, and future. Biol Psychiatry 60:376–382
- Resstel LB, Corrêa FM (2006) Involvement of the medial prefrontal cortex in central cardiovascular modulation in the rat. Auton Neurosci 126–127:130–138
- Resstel LB, Joca SR, Guimarães FG, Corrêa FM (2006) Involvement of medial prefrontal cortex neurons in behavioral and cardiovascular responses to contextual fear conditioning. Neuroscience 143:377–385
- Risold PY, Swanson LW (1996) Structural evidence for functional domains in the rat hippocampus. Science 272:1484–1486
- Risold PY, Swanson LW (1997) Connections of the rat lateral septal complex. Brain Res Rev 24:115–195
- Rose JE, Woolsey CN (1948) The orbitofrontal cortex and its connections with the mediodorsal nucleus in rabbit, sheep and cat. Res Publ Assoc Nerv Ment Dis 27:210–232
- Sakai Y, Kumano H, Nishikawa M, Sakano Y, Kaiya H, Imabayashi E, Ohnishi T, Matsuda H, Yasuda A, Sato A, Diksic M, Kuboki T (2006) Changes in cerebral glucose utilization in patients with panic disorder treated with cognitive-behavioral therapy. Neuroimage 33:218–226
- Sandford JJ, Argyropoulos SV, Nutt DJ (2000) The psychobiology of anxiolytic drugs. Part IÇ basic neurobiology. Pharmacol Ther 88:197–212
- Sewards TV, Sewards MA (2003) Representations of motivational drives in mesial cortex, medial thalamus, hypothalamus and midbrain. Brain Res Bull 61:25–49
- Shah AA, Treit D (2003) Excitotoxic lesions of the medial prefrontal cortex attenuate fear responses in the elevated-plus maze, social interaction and shock probe burying tests. Brain Res 969:183–194
- Singewald N, Sharp T (2000) Neuroanatomical targets of anxiogenic drugs in the hindbrain as revealed by Fos immunocytochemistry. Neuroscience 98:759–770
- Swanson LW (1987) The hypothalamus. In: Hökfelt T, Björklund A, Swanson LW (eds) Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy. Integrated systems, vol 5. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 1–124
- Swanson CJ, Kalivas PW (2000) Regulation of locomotor activity by metabotropic glutamate receptors in the nucleus accumbens and ventral tegmental area. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292:406–414
- Van Eden CG, Buijs RM (2000) Functional neuroanatomy of the prefrontal cortex: autonomic interactions. Prog Brain Res 126:49–62
- Verberne AJ, Owens NC (1998) Cortical modulation of the cardiovascular system. Prog Neurobiol 54:149–168
- Vertes RP (2006) Interactions among the medial prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and midline thalamus in emotional and cognitive processing in the rat. Neuroscience 142:1–20
- Vyas A, Kim SK, Giacomini N, Boothroyd JC, Sapolsky RM (2007) Behavioral changes induced by Toxoplasma infection of rodents are highly specific to aversion of cat odors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:6442–6447
- Wall PM, Blanchard RJ, Yang M, Blanchard DC (2004) Differential effects of infralimbic vs. ventromedial orbital PFC lidocaine infusions in CD-1 mice on defensive responding in the mouse defense test battery and rat exposure test. Brain Res 1020:73–85
- Wilensky AE, Schafe GE, Kristensen MP, LeDoux JE (2006) Rethinking the fear circuit: the central nucleus of the amygdala is required for the acquisition, consolidation, and expression of Pavlovian fear conditioning. J Neurosci 26:12387–12396

Stress and the Neuroendocrinology of Anxiety Disorders

Pêgo J.M, Sousa J.C, Almeida OFX, and Sousa N

Contents

98
99
101
103
106
107
108
109
110
110

Abstract Stress is a risk factor for depressive and anxiety disorders. Changes in lifestyle patterns that are associated with increased stress therefore place a greater burden on mental health. Stress challenges the organism's homeostatic mechanisms, triggering a cascade of events that should, normally, maintain or allow a return to equilibrium. Stressful events are perceived by sensory systems in the brain, facilitating evaluation and comparison of the existing and previous stimuli as well as the activation of hormones responsible for energy mobilization. The limbic system coordinates the release of corticosteroids, the primary stress hormones, by modulating activation of the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN). The amygdala, a limbic structure related to emotional behavior, has a putative role in the evaluation of emotional events and formation of fearful memories; it is also a

J.M. Pêgo (🖂), J.C. Sousa, and N. Sousa

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal

e-mail: jmpego@ecsaude.uminho.pt

OFX. Almeida

Max-Planck Institute of Psychiatry, D-80804 Munich, Germany

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 3 September 2009
target of the neurochemical and hormonal mediators of stress. Clinical and experimental data have correlated changes in the structure/function of the amygdala with emotional disorders such as anxiety. In this chapter we review the neuroendocrinology of the stress response, focusing on the role of the limbic system in its establishment and supplementing that information with new experimental data that demonstrates the relationship between stress and anxiety disorders; we also discuss the structural changes that occur in the amygdala after stress.

Keywords Anxiety · Bed Nucleus of the Stria Terminalis · Rat · Stress · Animal Models · Amygdala · Corticosteroids

1 Stress and Emotional Behavior

Stress is implicated in the etiology of several emotional disorders, including depression (McEwen 2004; Hammen 2005), phobia (Risbrough and Stein 2006) and anxiety (Charney et al. 1993). Stress-related disorders affect a substantial portion of the work force and therefore represent an important burden on health providers, caregivers and society at large. World Health Organization statistics indicate emotional/mood disorders as a leading cause of disability worldwide and predict that by 2020 these disorders will be the second leading global burden of illness, only surpassed by cardiovascular disease.

Stress may be defined as a challenge to homeostasis, imposed by physical or psychological events. Exposure to stress triggers a cascade of hormonal and behavioral changes that, under normal conditions, facilitate the organism's adjustment to, and control over, the threatening events. Adaptation to stress involves activation of neural, neuroendocrine and neuroimmune mechanisms. Effective coping implies that a stress response is triggered when needed and terminated thereafter. However, if the stress response is exaggerated or protracted, a series of pathophysiological changes occur in the brain and immune system (and viscera) that may ultimately result in disease (Mayer and Fanselow 2003; Musselman and Nemeroff 2000; Sorrells and Sapolsky 2007).

The hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis plays a central role in the stress response. It is activated early after the arrival of stressful stimuli, resulting in the secretion of the adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) secretagogues, corticotrophin-releasing factor (CRF) and arginine-vasopressin (AVP), by neurosecretory neurons in the parvocellular component of the PVN; in turn ACTH stimulates the synthesis and secretion of corticosteroids by the adrenal glands. Therefore, by integrating the output of different stress-sensitive brain circuitries (Herman and Cullinan 1997), the PVN plays a key role in regulating the HPA stress response (Whitnall 1993).

The PVN is subject to differential activation by distinct neuronal pathways, depending on the quality and/or immediacy of the demand for an appropriate

response (Herman et al. 1997, 2003): stressors such as hemorrhage, respiratory distress or systemic inflammation, which represent an immediate threat to homeostasis, directly activate the PVN, bypassing cortical and limbic areas, by activation of somatic, visceral or circumventricular sensory pathways (Chan et al. 1993; Cole and Sawchenko 2002). More precisely, excitatory ascending pathways originating in the brainstem nuclei that convey noradrenergic inputs from the nucleus of tractus solitarius (Abercrombie and Jacobs 1987; Cullinan et al. 1995; Gann et al. 1977; Smith et al. 1991), serotonergic inputs from the raphe nuclei (Feldman et al. 1987; Sawchenko et al. 1983) or inputs from adjacent hypothalamic nuclei (Herman et al. 2003) are well positioned to receive visceral and autonomic inputs so as to evoke rapid neuroendocrine responses. Other stressors result in the central generation of responses, allowing mobilization of energy and immune reserves in anticipation of homeostatic disruption. The activation of these complex pathways seems to occur by contextual, conditioned (memory) or species-specific cues that predict adversity. The mnemonic aspects of this response are important determinants of the magnitude of the HPA response as, per definition, stimuli are only stressful by comparison with previous experience(s). The limbic system plays a central role in the coordination of this "anticipatory" stress response (Herman et al. 2005) and characterizes stress-induced anxiety behavior, as will be addressed later.

1.1 Mediators of the Stress Response

Circulating corticosteroids play a central role in the adaptative response to stress, primarily by influencing energy metabolism and dampening the immune and inflammatory responses; thus, corticosteroids act in the short term to prevent overshooting of the innate response (de Kloet et al. 2005; Sapolsky et al. 2000). However, prolonged exposure to elevated levels of corticosteroids leads to immune dysfunction (Sapolsky 2000; Sorrells and Sapolsky 2007), endocrine dysregulation (Sapolsky 2000; Sousa et al. 2008) and, ultimately, to behavioral and neuropathology (Cerqueira et al. 2008; Sapolsky 1999; Sousa and Almeida 2002; Sousa et al. 2007).

Corticosteroids actions are mediated by two biochemically distinct receptors which bind the same ligand (cortisol in humans, corticosterone in rodents), albeit with differing affinities. While glucocorticoid (GR) receptors are ubiquitously distributed, mineralocorticoid receptors (MR) are more discretely distributed; however, both receptors are expressed at particularly high levels in limbic areas that are responsible for the modulation of the stress response (Reul and de Kloet 1986). As compared to GR, MR have a higher affinity for cortisol/corticosterone and are, therefore, highly occupied even under basal (stress-free) conditions (Reul and de Kloet 1985). In contrast, GR become increasingly occupied as circulating cortico-steroid levels rise, e.g., during stress. MR have been implicated in the appraisal process and onset of the stress response, while GR have been ascribed a role in the mobilization of energy substrates and most stress-induced changes in behavior. The latter includes anxious-like behavior and facilitated learning and memory (in particular, consolidation of memories). On the other hand, long-term GR activation is associated with deleterious effects on several cognitive functions (Cerqueira et al. 2005a, 2007a, b; McEwen 2005; Sapolsky et al. 1986; Sousa et al. 2000, 2007). Interestingly, these effects have been correlated with neuroarch-itectural changes in several brain regions, including the hippocampal formation, prefrontal cortex (PFC) and amygdala (McEwen 2007; Sousa et al. 2007). It is worth noting here that the hippocampal formation and PFC are involved in mediating corticosteroid negative feedback on the HPA axis and in curtailing the endocrine response to stress (Mizoguchi et al. 2003. Not surprisingly, these areas also undergo structural and functional remodeling by stress. These changes, thought to have a putative role in the perpetuation of the hypercortisolism state that characterizes chronic stress, are thought to make a pivotal contribution to the maladaptation by some individuals to stress (Cerqueira et al. 2008; Sousa et al. 2007).

While elevated corticosteroid levels characterize stress, it is important to note that high levels of corticosteroids do not mimic stress, but rather only one aspect of it. A plethora of other processes are altered by stressors, among them, the previously mentioned hypothalamic neuropeptide CRF (Lau et al. 1983) and the related peptides: Urocortin (Ucn), UcnII and UcnIII. The Unc family of peptides act through the G-protein-coupled CRF receptors, CRFR1 and CRFR2. While CRF and Ucn bind both CRFR₁ and CRFR₂ the more recently discovered UcnII and UcnIII show high selectivity for CRFR₂. In the brain, there is a variable expression and distribution of CRF related peptides (Dautzenberg and Hauger 2002; Reul and Holsboer 2002). CRF is expressed in neurons of the PVN, cerebral cortex, cerebellum, amygdala and hippocampus; Ucn expression is limited to the Edinger-Westphal, lateral olivary and supraoptic nuclei; UcnII has a distinct subcortical expression in regions related to stress response, such as the PVN, locus coeruleus, hypothalamic supraoptic and arcuate nuclei, and several motor nuclei of the brainstem and spinal cord; UcnIII is expressed in the rostral perifornical area, posterior part of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), medial nucleus of the amygdala and lateral septum.

Each of the CRF receptors displays a different expression pattern and has distinct physiological functions (Chalmers et al. 1995; Chen et al. 1993; Dautzenberg and Hauger 2002; Lovenberg et al. 1995; Reul and Holsboer 2002; Steckler and Holsboer 1999). The CRFR₁, which is mainly expressed in the anterior pituitary, cerebral cortex, cerebellum, amygdala, hippocampus and olfactory bulbs (Dautzenberg and Hauger 2002; Reul and Holsboer 2002), has been consistently implicated in stress-related behavior (Heinrichs and Koob 2004; Heinrichs et al. 1997; Liebsch et al. 1995, 1999; Skutella et al. 1998), and in particular the mediation of anxiety-like responses in various test paradigms such as the elevated-plus maze (File et al. 1988), social interaction test (Dunn and File 1987) and acoustic startle response test (Swerdlow et al. 1986). Additionally this receptor plays a role in hormonal (Dunn 1987) and autonomic activation (Nakamori et al. 1993) by stress. While the CRFR₁ appears to be crucial to the initiation of the stress response, it does not seem to be responsible for baseline drive of the HPA axis (Reul Holsboes 2002). CRFR₂ are mainly expressed in subcortical areas, including the PVN, lateral septum, amygdala, hippocampus and BNST. A specific role has still to be ascribed to CRFR₂: while some studies implicate it in anxiogenesis (Radulovic et al. 1999), others suggest that it may mediate anxiolytic effects (Valdez et al. 2003; Zhao et al. 2007); these opposing reports may reflect differences in regional activation of the receptor or treatment paradigms (e.g., duration and intensity of stress). Importantly however, there is consensus that CRFR₂ are critical for the extinction of HPA activation (Bale et al. 2000; Coste et al. 2000).

2 Anxiety Disorders and Stress

Anxiety and fear are two closely related aspects of emotional behavior. However, although they have "similar" phenotypic expressions, each is governed by specific brain circuitries that are activated by distinct types of stimuli These differences will be given special consideration in order to clarify the characteristics that typify anxiety.

Anxiety disorders are highly prevalent (Alonso and Lepine 2007; Kessler et al. 2007b; Merikangas and Kalaydjian 2007; Moussavi et al. 2007) and represent a heterogeneous group of disorders that range from phobias to generalized anxiety disorders (American Psychiatric Association 1994). Anxiety is characterized by a number of mental and physical symptoms with no apparent explanation. Mental symptoms include a general sensation of discomfort and apprehension in response to unconditioned diffuse cues (Koch 1999). Healthy individuals commonly experience anxiety upon experience of unspecific frightening cues which, nevertheless, do not have clear threatening outcomes (e.g., loud noises, fast approaching objects, etc.). One might assume that the state of anxiety/fear has a biological advantage insofar that it helps the individual prepare a defense against potentially harmful encounters; however, apart from keeping the individual attentive for recurrences of the adverse situation, persistence of anxiety/fear after the "flight or fight" response has achieved its goals is likely to be disadvantageous. The symptomatic response to anxiogenic stimuli includes increased heart rate, muscle tension, dizziness, light headedness, nausea, and chest/abdominal pain, eventually focusing the individual's attention to determine the source of threat, which translates into persistent activation of the autonomic nervous system. Frequently, the latter outlasts exposure to the anxiogenic stimulus, indicating long-term activation of the neural substrates and processes that regulate anxiety (Lee and Davis 1997a, b; Lee et al. 1994).

As already noted, anxiety disorders develop when symptoms occur without any recognizable stimulus or when the stimulus does not warrant such a reaction. In contrast, fear involves the conditional learning that a specific cue, or a more complex context, predicts imminent adversity (Brown et al. 1951; Davis 1986, 1992). Fear is also found in lower organisms (Davies et al. 2002; Eisenberg and Dudai 2004; Portavella et al. 2004), suggesting that it may have advantages related to the survival of the individual and continuity of the species. By learning which

situations are threatening, the organism can actively avoid those specific objects or contexts in the future. The fear response is characterized by a set of symptoms relayed by neuroendocrine and autonomic centers that comprise largely the same pathways activated in the anxiety response (Walker et al. 2003). However, these common pathways are activated in a particular set of conditions that result in the activation of distinct initiating centers. Fear responses are elicited by explicit, adversity-predicting, short-lasting cues, in which the period of danger is finite. In general, fear responses are self-limiting in time and magnitude, the symptoms resulting from its activation being abolished upon termination of the adverse stimulus. In summary, the closely related states of fear and anxiety are mediated by common pathways that are activated, however, over distinctly different time-frames and in response to particular conditioning stimuli.

Animal (Anisman and Matheson 2005; Arborelius et al. 1999; File 1996; Pêgo et al. 2008; Vyas et al. 2002) and clinical (Chrousos and Kino 2007; Dranovsky and Hen 2006; Greaves-Lord et al. 2007) studies have consistently shown a correlation between chronic stress and altered emotional behavior. Most importantly, anxiety disorders have been correlated with abnormalities in the HPA axis although the nature of these changes are different from those observed in mood disorders such as depression (Mathew et al. 2008; Risbrough and Stein 2006). For example, while many depressed patients display signs of a hyperactive HPA axis (Shelton 2007), patients with anxiety disorders show a wide spectrum of patterns of HPA activity, possibly because such disorders represent a very heterogeneous group of pathologies. Although particular subgroups of anxiety disorders (Mathew et al. 2008; Risbrough and Stein 2006), best exemplified by patients suffering from posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), show signs of increased CRF production (Baker et al. 1999; Bremner et al. 1997), they are characterized by abnormalities of the HPA which are more subtle and less consistent than those found in depression. In fact, PTSD patients tend to display an exaggerated inhibition of cortisol secretion after the administration of exogenous glucocorticoids such as dexamethasone (Shekhar et al. 2001). This suggests that the HPA axis of PTSD patients is sensitized, rather than blunted (as in depression); these findings in humans have been reproduced in rodent models of PTSD (Liberzon et al. 1999).

Independently of the triggering mechanisms, the impact of the hormonal mediators of stress mediators on anxiety behavior is notable (Arborelius et al. 1999). Glucocorticoids have been shown to enhance the excitability of amygdalar neurons and to influence the acquisition of fear behavior (Duvarci and Pare 2007; Skorzewska et al. 2006; Yang et al. 2007) and stress has been repeatedly shown to induce anxiety-like behavior (McEwen 2003, 2004; Pêgo et al. 2008; Vyas and Chattarji 2004; Vyas et al. 2002) while a role for GR in the modulation of anxietyassociated behavior has also been demonstrated (Boyle et al. 2006). The amygdala and extended amygdala (including the BNST), both of which are richly populated with corticosteroid and CRF receptors that are activated during stress (Cullinan et al. 1995; Figueiredo et al. 2003; Ju et al. 1989b; Mathew et al. 2008), have a putative role in the integration of polysensory information that culminates in the expression of emotional behavior. Therefore, these brain areas have been targets of recent research in the field of stress-related anxiety behavior.

3 Animal Models of Stress and Anxiety

Animal models of emotional disorders attempt to reproduce various characteristics of human psychiatric disorders, from behavioral and physiological changes associated with a particular emotional state (face validity) to the etiology (construct validity) and responses to therapeutic interventions (predictive validity). These models have become invaluable tools in the analysis of various causes – genetic, environmental (e.g., stress) or pharmacological – of these disorders. Additionally, they have served as screening tools for identifying potential anxiolytic drugs as well as the neuroanatomical circuits responsible for mediating these behaviors. Despite evident flaws in the reproduction of certain aspects of human behavior, these models have been an essential first step towards understanding the neurobiology of psychiatric diseases (Bourin et al. 2007; Fuchs and Fliugge 2006; Shekhar et al. 2001).

Several animal models of anxiety have been used since the 1960s. Most of these models were validated using behavioral tests that involved challenging the animal with a stressful/painful stimulus before assessment of the changes in response to by benzodiazepines (BZD) – at that time, the only approved class of drug with anxiolytic properties (Shekhar et al. 2001). However, results showing that new non-BZD anxiolytics were inactive in the classical laboratory tests of anxiety, led to the realization that anxiety disorders represent a heterogeneous group of disorders in which a variety of neurochemical systems may be involved and which have distinct etiological origins (Bourin et al. 2007). Those findings also highlighted the importance of using more than one test to examine the different aspects of anxiety behavior (Sousa et al. 2006).

It should also be mentioned that it is inappropriate to assume that a single animal model will necessarily display all aspects of a behavior as complex as anxiety. It is now consensual that animal models may represent "normal" or "state" anxiety on the one hand, and "pathological" or "trait" anxiety on the other hand (see Lister 1990). In fact, most experimental procedures involve exposure to external (e.g., pain, a predator) or internal (e.g., drugs) stimuli that induce anxiety. Behavioral responses in these paradigms may correlate to the level of stress induced by the stimuli (and method of presentation) but, nevertheless, only represent a normal response – "state" anxiety. In contrast, "trait" anxiety does not vary between occasions and is considered to be an enduring feature of an individual and to have a distinct neurobiological basis (Lister 1990).

Anxiety tests in rodents are usually based on the assessment of fear/anxiety behavior by creating a conflict between the animal's innate exploratory activity and an aversive condition. In most instances, animals are submitted to an acute stressful or traumatic event and their response to these experiences is expressed as an index of exploratory/avoidance behavior. Although these approaches are very useful to test behavioral responses in acute settings and how they are modulated by pharmacological agents they do not necessarily reflect the etiological aspects of anxiety disorders. Anxiety like many other psychiatric disorders is thought to result from the interaction between constitutive factors and exposure to disruptive environmental events, often in a chronic fashion. Human studies (Hettema et al. 2001, 2005) assessing the role of the family inheritance in the genesis of anxiety disorders have shown a strong influence of the genetic background. Both specific phobias and unspecific anxiety disorders showed a strong familial aggregation which clustered into families. Although a strong genetic contribution was identified part of the variability could be explained by family and nonshared environmental factors. These observations highlight the relevance of recognizing predisposing factors for anxiety disorders and understand their interaction with individual constitution in order to identify potential therapeutic targets. Recently, an effort has been made to develop models which emulate predisposing/causative environmental events and which take genetic background, gender and age into account (Shekhar et al. 2001).

Genetic models have used either knock-out mice that exhibit phenotypic behaviors considered to be suggestive of anxiety with the aim of identifying the involvement of specific genes in such behavior, or the selective breeding of rodent lines that exhibit high and low levels of emotionality. Mutant mice have shown involvement of the serotoninergic system in the genesis of anxiety behavior (Sibille et al. 2000), consistent with the therapeutic efficiency of antidepressants and non-BZD anxiolytics (e.g., budpirone) that interact with serotonin receptors in the treatment of specific types of anxiety. In fact, serotonin receptor (1A) receptor was shown to be important to the anxiolytic effect of BZD and that the lack of 5-HT_{1A} receptor elicits the down regulation of BZD-sensitive GABA_A receptors predominantly in the amygdala and to a lesser extent in the hippocampus and cortex. The authors postulate that the expression of certain GABA_A subunits are under serotoninergic control exerted by $5-HT_{1A}$ receptors in areas of the brain that are relevant to the expression of anxious-like behavior. Strains of rats (Liebsch et al. 1998b) and mice (Kessler et al. 2007a) exhibiting high-anxiety related behavior (HAB) have pointed to the contribution of genetic background and associated disruption of the HPA axis to anxiety-like behaviors (Liebsch et al. 1998a; Wigger et al. 2001; Neumann et al. 1998). Actually, cross-fostering did not influence the expression of behavioral phenotype after establishment of the behavioral trait of the strain (Wigger et al. 2001), reinforcing the major contribution of the genetic background. Moreover, although on basal conditions HAB rats show little differences in the activation of the HPA axis, there is increased secretion of either ACTH or corticosterone in response to anxiogenic stimuli and during pregnancy (Liebsch et al. 1998a; Wigger et al. 2001; Neumann et al. 1998). This latter finding raises the concern that the inheritance of anxious-like behavior may reflect a hormonal imprinting of the HPA axis during prenatal/early life development. Additionally, other studies (Hermann et al. 2000; Keck et al. 2005; Lancel et al. 2002) have also shown that these behavioral traits can be reversed with traditional anxiolytic drugs, much like the observations in humans disorders.

Early life events are thought to constitute a developmental risk factor for the expression of anxiety/fear behavior in adulthood; i.e., adverse events occurring early in life seem to program behavior in adulthood. This relationship is particularly well established in anxiety disorders both in humans and animal studies. Longitudinal studies have shown that anxiety disorders associated to adverse events occurring during early childhood (Carpenter et al. 2007; Espejo et al. 2007; Moffitt et al. 2007) are correlated with changes in function of the HPA axis. On the other hand, animal models have shown that early life-stress, like *prenatal stress* (Weinstock 2001) or the *maternal separation stress* (Mesquita et al. 2007) paradigm result in profound dysregulation of the HPA axis in tandem with an increased incidence of anxiety-like behavior. Importantly, these changes appear to be established during restricted windows of susceptibility at a time when the HPA axis seems to be particularly vulnerable to stress. Such observations accord with clinical studies showing that children exposed to traumatic events or emotional stressors are at a greater risk of developing psychopathologies (Shekhar et al. 2001).

Surprisingly, few animal studies have addressed gender and age as constitutionally relevant risk factors (Bessa et al. 2005; Imhof et al. 1993; Pego et al. 2006; Shekhar et al. 2001). This observation contrasts with clinical experience showing that women have a greater incidence of anxiety disorders, as compared to men (Bekker and van Mens-Verhulst 2007) and that anxiety disorders are highly prevalent among aged human subjects (Gum and Cheavens 2008). When compared to men women show an almost 2 times higher incidence of anxiety disorders (Vesga-López et al. 2008) and had significantly higher rates of co morbid mood disorders (except bipolar disorder) and anxiety disorders (except social anxiety disorder). Most importantly, copying strategies were different among genders, men showing lower rates for treatment seeking. Interestingly, animal studies report sex differences in exploratory and defensive responses to threatening stimuli (e.g., Shekhar et al. 2001), reflecting different copying strategies between males and females. These findings are apparently the result of exposure to sex-specific gonadal steroids that also exert an important influence on anxiety levels (Mitev et al. 2003). Anxiety disorders are highly prevalent in elderly persons, and they are associated with functional impairment, poorer quality of life, and adverse longterm consequences such as cognitive decline (Lenze and Wetherell 2009). Although these observations emphasize the importance of daily-life stressors in the shaping of anxiety disorders little is known about specific aspects of unhealthy ageing. This fact is paralleled by the paucity of morphological changes in animal models of aging that display an anxious phenotype (Pêgo et al. 2006).

Stress models have been widely used for studying anxiety and testing the efficacy of potential anxiolytic substances. The various models used differ in two important respects, namely duration of exposure to stress (acute vs. chronic) and the nature (quality) of stress imposed. The pitfall of the many anxiety tests in which acute stressors have been applied to induce an anxiety "state" is that the deleterious effects of stress on anxiety-related behavior are only really expressed when stress is applied chronically. Moreover, the suitability of such models has been questioned since testing anxiety responses in otherwise "normal" animals does not reproduce

the indolent course of the onset, or the nature of, anxiety disorders. In fact, the inadequate response to stressful challenges that characterizes chronic stress is the end-result of the exhaustion of several immediate stress-responsive systems and is time-dependent (Cerqueira et al. 2007a; McLaughlin et al. 2007). Our experimental observations (Cerqueira et al. 2005b; Pego et al. 2008) have shown that most biological markers associated with chronic stress (e.g., poor coat quality, occurrence of gastric ulcers, impaired weight gain, etc.) only develop overtly after 2–3 weeks of exposure to stress; a similar time-lag is observed with respect to the manifestation of the stress-induced anxious phenotype. Thus, other authors (e.g., Vyas et al. 2002) who used stress paradigms similar to those used by us (Cerqueira et al. 2005b; Pego et al. 2008), albeit over shorter periods, failed to observe behavioral traits. Interestingly, clinical cases of anxiety disorders do not appear until well after the presumed causal stressor, being dependent on a prolonged period of sensitization (e.g., generalized anxiety disorder) (American Psychiatric Association 1994). Also, PTSD and several specific phobias often have a particularly late onset (American Psychiatric Association 1994).

With respect to the nature of the stressor(s) applied, one should keep in mind that stressors can be physical (e.g., exposure to cold or hot temperatures, food deprivation, etc.) or psychological (e.g., restraint, overcrowding, social dominance, etc.), and certain paradigms may combine elements of both; further, the stressors may be given in a predictable (order of multiple stressors, time of day) or unpredictable fashion. Psychological stressors, in particular social stressors, recapitulate "real life" situations and are thought to more closely mimic the situation in clinical cases. The (un)predictable presentation of stressful insults is considered a useful amplification factor, i.e., reinforces disruption of stress-coping mechanisms; it is known that predictable events, even if unavoidable and inescapable are more aversive both, in terms of behavior and incidence of gastric ulcers (Gliner 1972). The anticipation of the arrival of random and unpredictable stimuli induces a state of permanent alertness and preparedness to mount a prompt and appropriate behavioral and physiological response. The latter responses are perpetuated by the persistently active HPA axis which, as mentioned before, results in deleterious effects on the physical and behavioral well-being of the individual. To once again draw parallels with the clinical setting: in PTSD and obsessive-compulsive disorders, where anxiety prevails as an underlying condition, patients report feelings of anxiety in response to ordinary daily life events, suggesting a diminished threshold of alertness.

4 The Neurocircuitry of Stress – Implications for Anxiety

Stimuli such as stress and fear conditioning that require the assembly and integration of information from multiple sensory input-modalities are processed by limbic centers that regulate emotional behavior (amygdala and extended amygdala related to fear and anxiety) (LeDoux 2000, 2007), memory and learning (hippocampus) and executive and cognitive functions (PFC) (Maier et al. 2006). Acting in a coordinated way, the intricate neuronal circuitries that characterize these networks establish a temporal and contextual framework of interpretation that determines the aversive/rewarding value of the particular stimulus. Characteristically, the modulatory action that limbic structures exert on the HPA is not conveyed by direct excitatory pathways; rather, information from the different limbic inputs are integrated through the modulatory action of neurons located in the hypothalamus or in the BNST (Herman et al. 1994, 2003); the latter, in turn, convey signals to the neurosecretory neurons of the PVN. More specifically, GABAergic neurons projecting from the BNST exert an inhibitory tone over the PVN, under the control of excitatory glutamatergic input originating in the PFC and hippocampus (Cullinan et al. 1993) and of an inhibitory GABAergic/CRF input from the central and medial nuclei of the amygdala (Herman et al. 2005; Prewitt and Herman 1998).

4.1 Structural and Functional Organization of the Amygdala

The amygdala (Mandelkern or almond-shaped nucleus; Burdach 1819–1822), a deep temporal structure with rich interconnections with the hippocampus and PFC, has long been known to be involved in emotional behavior (Goddard 1964; Robinson 1963; Weiskrantz 1956). Lesions in the amygdala induce disturbances in emotional and social behavior, attention, and memory consolidation/extinction (Bucy and Kluver 1955; Weiskrantz 1956). The lesions in the original studies were later recognized to include the BNST, and recent work using more selective lesion and pharmacological approaches have pointed to the differential role of the amygdala and BNST in the control of emotional behavior (Davis 1992, 1998, 2006; Davis et al. 1997; Lee and Davis 2007a).

The early view that the amygdala is a relatively homogeneous structure has been challenged by more recent studies (De Olmos et al. 2004; Swanson and Petrovich 1998), that have proposed a new subdivision that takes into consideration connectional, neurochemical and detailed anatomical data. Briefly, the following subdivisions can be recognized (Swanson and Petrovich 1998): (1) the caudal olfactory system (nucleus of the lateral olfactory tract, cortical nucleus and postpiriform and piriform-amygdalar areas), which displays the typical laminar arrangement of cortical areas and forms the caudal part of the piriform lobe and receive projections that originate in the main and accessory olfactory lobes (Alheid and Heimer 1988); (2) the frontotemporal system (lateral, basal and posterior nuclei), a ventral extension of the claustrum that forms part of the deepest cortical layers of the temporal, endopiriform and frontal lobes (Swanson and Petrovich 1998), that receives privileged information from several sensory modalities (somato-sensorial, auditory, visual) (LeDoux 2007), and is intricately connected to the hippocampus and the PFC (Akirav and Maroun 2007; Canteras and Swanson 1992; Petrovich et al. 2001) establishing a reciprocal modulatory influence over executive and mnesic (Bishop 2007; McEwen 2007) functions and emotional behavior (Akirav and Maroun 2007; Phillips and LeDoux 1992); iii) a specialized ventromedial expansion of the striatum (central [CeA) and medial [MeA] amygdaloid nuclei, and anterior amygdaloid area) that exerts an inhibitory output modulating basal activity of several brainstem and basal forebrain nuclei through the CeA nucleus, the main output of the amygdala, relaying processed information from the amygdaloid nuclei.

4.2 Structural and Functional Organization of the BNST

Johnston (1923) initially described the BNST as a ventral extension of the pallidum, that forms a continuum extending from the olfactory tubercule and nucleus accumbens anteriorly and the amygdala posteriorly. It receives massive projections from adjacent areas including the amygdala through a bundle of fibers that forms the stria terminalis. In fact, the lateral and medial parts of the BNST form two corridors of sublenticular neurons that are contiguous with the CeA and MeA and have, therefore, led to their being designated as the central and medial extended amygdala (Alheid 2003). Extensive studies by Swanson and collaborators (Dong et al. 2001; Ju and Swanson, 1989a; Ju et al. 1989b; Swanson 1998) have resulted in different proposals about the anatomical organization of the BNST which is still under debate. The BNST are parceled into the major anterior and posterior divisions (relative to stria terminalis main fiber bundles); the former can be further parceled into medial and lateral groups. The medial division, which includes the anterodorsal and anteroventral areas (Dong and Swanson 2006a, b, c), is characterized by dense projections to hypothalamic regions that are implicated in neuroendocrine regulation; the lateral group of the anterior division (which includes the anterolateral area) is characterized by projections to hypothalamic areas concerned with autonomic and energy homeostasis as well as feeding behavior (Dong and Swanson, 2004).

The importance of the BNST in the activation of the HPA axis (Choi et al. 2007; Herman et al. 2003) may be appreciated when its anatomical connections with the neuroendocrine hypothalamus (Dong and Swanson 2006a; Dunn 1987) as well as with other brain regions such as the brainstem and ventral striatopallidal – all areas that regulate defensive, sexual, ingestive, and exploratory behaviors – are considered. Additionally, the BNST, along with the nucleus of tractus solitarius, preoptic area and dorsal hypothalamus, is one of the relay stations where inputs from stress-sensitive areas of the cortex and limbic systems are conveyed and integrated to elicit adequate activation of the HPA axis (Herman et al. 1994, 2003, 2005; Herman et al., 1997).

The role of the BNST in emotional behavior has been extensively explored by Davis and collaborators (Davis 1986, 1992, 1998; Davis et al. 1997; Lee and Davis 2007a). Although the phenotypic expressions of BNST and amygdala activities resemble each other closely, differences that confer distinct roles to each of these structures in the control of emotional behavior can be recognized. Involvement of the BNST is evident in paradigms in which behavior is influenced by long-duration

stimuli (e.g., CRF- or light-enhanced startle) and in paradigms that assess the persistent behavioral effects of even a brief unconditioned stressor (e.g., long-term shock-dependent increases in baseline startle, conditioned defeat, the effects of inescapable shock in the learned helplessness model or on subsequent eye blink conditioning) (Davis et al. 1997; Walker et al. 2003). Despite behavioral outcomes that are often similar in form (i.e., increased startle), the BNST does not appear to mediate behaviors elicited by specific short-lasting threats in which the period of endangerment is finite (i.e., fear-potentiated startle or freezing to a discrete conditioned fear stimulus) (Walker et al. 2003). These characteristics of BNST-dependent behavior suggest its special role in anxiety, as opposed to fear, insofar that anxiety, unlike fear, is typically viewed as a sustained state of apprehension that is unrelated to immediate environmental threats (Walker et al. 2003).

In summary, whereas the amygdala is transiently activated in fear conditioning (an emotional state elicited by explicit neutral clues), anxiety (a similar emotional state thought to be elicited by diffuse contextual clues) seems to result from persistent activation of the BNST (Davis et al. 1997).

4.3 Structural Remodeling of the Amygdala and BNST – Implications for Anxiety and the Stress Response

Mounting evidence indicates that the amygdala and BNST are sensitive to the chemical/humoral mediators of stress (Pego et al. 2008; Rubinow et al. 2007; Vvas et al. 2002, 2003). Different models of stress which increase the level of anxiety have been found to induce structural reorganization of neurons in the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala and in the anteromedial division of the BNST (Pego et al. 2008; Vyas et al. 2002, 2003). One of the most surprising observations in our own studies was the relatively good preservation of the morphology of the amygdala after exposure to chronic unpredictable stress, contrasting with a significant level of plasticity in the BNST. The absence of structural changes in the amygdala after chronic stress is consistent with our observation that chronic stress does not produce changes in fear-acquisition (Pego et al. 2008). Although such observations may seem to be at odds with previous reports (Vyas et al. 2002), they highlight the stimulus-dependent specificity of the neuronal circuitry responsible for generating anxiety (Dagnino-Subiabre et al. 2005; Gewirtz et al. 1998; Miracle et al. 2006; Rosen et al. 1998). The inescapability associated with the chronic immobilization stress paradigm used by Vyas et al. (2002) may trigger an emotional phenotype that results in the expression of fear responses rather than anxiety, explaining the stress-induced morphological changes in the amygdala observed by those authors; in fact, the same laboratory failed to observe anxiety when a chronic unpredictable stress paradigm was applied (Mitra et al. 2005; Vyas et al. 2002).

In fact, by playing a key role in the learning and long-term storage of fearful memories, the amygdala appears to be essential for the establishment of strong associations between overtly threatening cues (or contexts) and an aversive condition that must be avoided. This process represents a specific form of learning that provides biological advantage, inasmuch as it diminishes the probability of encounters with harmful/threatening events. Importantly, however, if this process were to be triggered by unspecific stressors experienced in daily life (the so-called "allostatic load" – see McEwen, 2003), survival would be jeopardized by an overactive "all-or-nothing" system. Thus, the refractoriness of the amygdala to certain stressful situations makes evolutionary sense. The BNST, on the other hand, is known to be involved in specific aspects of anxiety behavior (Walker et al. 2003). Consequently, the structural changes in the BNST observed after chronic stress correlate with the behavioral responses to stress.

5 Final Remarks

We have reviewed the organization and structure of areas of the brain involved in the coordination of the endocrine response to stress. Stressful events are perceived by limbic structures which generate a contextual image and integrate polysensory information. The amygdala and BNST play important roles in the assessment of emotional values and in the formation of fearful memories. Supporting this, recent data suggest that the structural changes that occur in these areas after exposure to stress hormones are probably correlated with anxiety behavior. Future research should focus on identifying the molecular processes and mechanisms that occur in amygdala and BNST, therefore extending our understanding of the neurobiological basis of anxiety and improving the therapeutic options for anxiety disorders.

References

- Abercrombie ED, Jacobs BL (1987) Single-unit response of noradrenergic neurons in the locus coeruleus of freely moving cats. I. Acutely presented stressful and nonstressful stimuli. J Neurosci 7(9):2837–2843
- Akirav I, Maroun M (2007) The role of the medial prefrontal cortex-amygdala circuit in stress effects on the extinction of fear. Neural Plast 30873
- Alheid GF (2003) Extended amygdala and basal forebrain. Ann N Y Acad Sci 985:185-205
- Alheid GF, Heimer L (1988) New perspectives in basal forebrain organization of special relevance for neuropsychiatric disorders: the striatopallidal, amygdaloid, and corticopetal components of substantia innominata. Neuroscience 27(1):1–39
- Alonso J, Lepine JP (2007) Overview of key data from the European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD). J Clin Psychiatry 68(Suppl 2):3–9
- American Psychiatric Association (1994) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-IV), 4th edn. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC

- Anisman H, Matheson K (2005) Stress, depression, and anhedonia: caveats concerning animal models. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29(4–5):525–546
- Arborelius L, Owens MJ, Plotsky PM, Nemeroff CB (1999) The role of corticotropin-releasing factor in depression and anxiety disorders. J Endocrinol 160(1):1–12
- Baker DG, West SA, Nicholson WE, Ekhator NN, Kasckow JW, Hill KK, Bruce AB, Orth DN, Geracioti TD Jr (1999) Serial CSF corticotropin-releasing hormone levels and adrenocortical activity in combat veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. Am.J.Psychiatry 156:585–588
- Bale TL, Contarino A, Smith GW, Chan R, Gold LH, Sawchenko PE et al (2000) Mice deficient for corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-2 display anxiety-like behaviour and are hypersensitive to stress. Nat Genet 24(4):410–414
- Bekker MH, van Mens-Verhulst J (2007) Anxiety disorders: sex differences in prevalence, degree, and background, but gender-neutral treatment. Gend Med 4(Suppl B):S178–S193
- Bessa JM, Oliveira M, Cerqueira JJ, Almeida OF, Sousa N (2005) Age-related qualitative shift in emotional behaviour: paradoxical findings after re-exposure of rats in the elevated-plus maze. Behav Brain Res 162(1):135–142
- Bishop SJ (2007) Neurocognitive mechanisms of anxiety: an integrative account. Trends Cogn Sci 11(7):307–316
- Bourin M, Petit-Demouliere B, Dhonnchadha BN, Hascoet M (2007) Animal models of anxiety in mice. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 21(6):567–574
- Boyle MP, Kolber BJ, Vogt SK, Wozniak DF, Muglia LJ (2006) Forebrain glucocorticoid receptors modulate anxiety-associated locomotor activation and adrenal responsiveness. J Neurosci 26(7):1971–1978
- Bremner JD, Licinio J, Darnell A, Krystal JH, Owens MJ, Southwick SM, Nemeroff CB, Charney DS (1997) Elevated CSF corticotropin-releasing factor concentrations in posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry 154:624–629
- Brown JS, Kalish HI, Farber IE (1951) Conditioned fear as revealed by magnitude of startle response to an auditory stimulus. J Exp Psychol 41(5):317–328
- Bucy PC, Kluver H (1955) An anatomical investigation of the temporal lobe in the monkey (Macaca mulatta). J Comp Neurol 103(2):151–251
- Burdach K (1819-1822) Vom baue und leben des gehirns und röckenmarks, Dyk, Leipzig
- Canteras NS, Swanson LW (1992) Projections of the ventral subiculum to the amygdala, septum, and hypothalamus: a PHAL anterograde tract-tracing study in the rat. J Comp Neurol 324 (2):180–194
- Carpenter LL, Carvalho JP, Tyrka AR, Wier LM, Mello AF, Mello MF, Anderson GM, Wilkinson CW, Price LH (2007) Decreased adrenocorticotropic hormone and cortisol responses to stress in healthy adults reporting significant childhood maltreatment. Biol Psychiatry 62(10):1080–1087
- Cerqueira JJ, Catania C, Sotiropoulos I, Schubert M, Kalisch R, Almeida OF et al (2005a) Corticosteroid status influences the volume of the rat cingulate cortex - a magnetic resonance imaging study. J Psychiatr Res 39(5):451–460
- Cerqueira JJ, Pego JM, Taipa R, Bessa JM, Almeida OF, Sousa N (2005b) Morphological correlates of corticosteroid-induced changes in prefrontal cortex-dependent behaviors. J Neurosci 25(34):7792–7800
- Cerqueira JJ, Mailliet F, Almeida OF, Jay TM, Sousa N (2007a) The prefrontal cortex as a key target of the maladaptive response to stress. J Neurosci 27(11):2781–2787
- Cerqueira JJ, Taipa R, Uylings HB, Almeida OF, Sousa N (2007b) Specific configuration of dendritic degeneration in pyramidal neurons of the medial prefrontal cortex induced by differing corticosteroid regimens. Cereb Cortex 17(9):1998–2006
- Cerqueira JJ, Almeida OF, Sousa N (2008) The stressed prefrontal cortex. Left? Right!. Brain Behav Immun 22(5):630–638
- Chalmers DT, Lovenberg TW, De Souza EB (1995) Localization of novel corticotropin-releasing factor receptor (CRF2) mRNA expression to specific subcortical nuclei in rat brain: comparison with CRF1 receptor mRNA expression. J Neurosci 15(10):6340–6350

- Chan RK, Brown ER, Ericsson A, Kovacs KJ, Sawchenko PE (1993) A comparison of two immediate-early genes, c-fos and NGFI-B, as markers for functional activation in stress-related neuroendocrine circuitry. J Neurosci 13(12):5126–5138
- Charney DS, Deutch AY, Krystal JH, Southwick SW, Davis M (1993) Psychobiologic mechanisms of posttraumatic stress disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50(4):295–305
- Chen R, Lewis KA, Perrin MH, Vale WW (1993) Expression cloning of a human corticotropinreleasing-factor receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90(19):8967–8971
- Choi DC, Furay AR, Evanson NK, Ostrander MM, Ulrich-Lai YM, Herman JP (2007) Bed nucleus of the stria terminalis subregions differentially regulate hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity: implications for the integration of limbic inputs. J Neurosci 27(8):2025–2034
- Chrousos GP, Kino T (2007) Glucocorticoid action networks and complex psychiatric and/or somatic disorders. Stress 10(2):213–219
- Cole RL, Sawchenko PE (2002) Neurotransmitter regulation of cellular activation and neuropeptide gene expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. J Neurosci 22(3):959–969
- Coste SC, Kesterson RA, Heldwein KA, Stevens SL, Heard AD, Hollis JH et al (2000) Abnormal adaptations to stress and impaired cardiovascular function in mice lacking corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor-2. Nat Genet 24(4):403–409
- Cullinan WE, Herman JP, Watson SJ (1993) Ventral subicular interaction with the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus: evidence for a relay in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. J Comp Neurol 332(1):1–20
- Cullinan WE, Herman JP, Battaglia DF, Akil H, Watson SJ (1995) Pattern and time course of immediate early gene expression in rat brain following acute stress. Neuroscience 64(2):477–505
- Dagnino-Subiabre A, Terreros G, Carmona-Fontaine C, Zepeda R, Orellana JA, Diaz-Veliz G et al (2005) Chronic stress impairs acoustic conditioning more than visual conditioning in rats: morphological and behavioural evidence. Neuroscience 135(4):1067–1074
- Dautzenberg FM, Hauger RL (2002) The CRF peptide family and their receptors: yet more partners discovered. Trends Pharmacol Sci 23(2):71–77
- Davies DC, Martinez-Garcia F, Lanuza E, Novejarque A (2002) Striato-amygdaloid transition area lesions reduce the duration of tonic immobility in the lizard Podarcis hispanica. Brain Res Bull 57(3–4):537–541
- Davis M (1986) Pharmacological and anatomical analysis of fear conditioning using the fearpotentiated startle paradigm. Behav Neurosci 100(6):814–824
- Davis M (1992) The role of the amygdala in fear and anxiety. Annu Rev Neurosci 15:353-375
- Davis M (1998) Are different parts of the extended amygdala involved in fear versus anxiety? Biol Psychiatry 44(12):1239–1247
- Davis M (2006) Neural systems involved in fear and anxiety measured with fear-potentiated startle. Am Psychol 61(8):741–756
- Davis M, Walker DL, Lee Y (1997) Amygdala and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis: differential roles in fear and anxiety measured with the acoustic startle reflex. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 352(1362):1675–1687
- de Kloet ER, Joels M, Holsboer F (2005) Stress and the brain: from adaptation to disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 6(6):463–475
- De Olmos JS, Beltramino CA, Alheid G (2004) Amygdala and extended amygdala of the rat: a cytoarchitectonical, fibroarchitectonical and chemoarchitectonical survey. In: Paxinos G (ed) The rat nervous system, 3rd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Dong HW, Swanson LW (2004) Organization of axonal projections from the anterolateral area of the bed nuclei of the stria terminalis. J Comp Neurol 468(2):277–298
- Dong HW, Swanson LW (2006a) Projections from bed nuclei of the stria terminalis, anteromedial area: cerebral hemisphere integration of neuroendocrine, autonomic, and behavioral aspects of energy balance. J Comp Neurol 494(1):142–178

- Dong HW, Swanson LW (2006b) Projections from bed nuclei of the stria terminalis, dorsomedial nucleus: implications for cerebral hemisphere integration of neuroendocrine, autonomic, and drinking responses. J Comp Neurol 494(1):75–107
- Dong HW, Swanson LW (2006c) Projections from bed nuclei of the stria terminalis, magnocellular nucleus: implications for cerebral hemisphere regulation of micturition, defecation, and penile erection. J Comp Neurol 494(1):108–141
- Dong HW, Petrovich GD, Swanson LW (2001) Topography of projections from amygdala to bed nuclei of the stria terminalis. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 38(1–2):192–246
- Dranovsky A, Hen R (2006) Hippocampal neurogenesis: regulation by stress and antidepressants. Biol Psychiatry 59(12):1136–1143
- Dunn JD (1987) Plasma corticosterone responses to electrical stimulation of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. Brain Res 407(2):327–331
- Dunn AJ, File SE (1987) Corticotropin-releasing factor has an anxiogenic action in the social interaction test. Horm Behav 21(2):193–202
- Duvarci S, Pare D (2007) Glucocorticoids enhance the excitability of principal basolateral amygdala neurons. J Neurosci 27(16):4482–4491
- Eisenberg M, Dudai Y (2004) Reconsolidation of fresh, remote, and extinguished fear memory in Medaka: old fears don't die. Eur J Neurosci 20(12):3397–3403
- Espejo EP, Hammen CL, Connolly NP, Brennan PA, Najman JM, Bor W (2007) Stress sensitization and adolescent depressive severity as a function of childhood adversity: a link to anxiety disorders. J Abnorm Child Psychol 35(2):287–299
- Feldman S, Conforti N, Melamed E (1987) Paraventricular nucleus serotonin mediates neurally stimulated adrenocortical secretion. Brain Res Bull 18(2):165–168
- Figueiredo HF, Bodie BL, Tauchi M, Dolgas CM, Herman JP (2003) Stress integration after acute and chronic predator stress: differential activation of central stress circuitry and sensitization of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Endocrinology 144(12):5249–5258
- File SE (1996) Recent developments in anxiety, stress, and depression. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 54(1):3–12
- File SE, Johnston AL, Baldwin HA (1988) Anxiolytic and anxiogenic drugs: changes in behaviour and endocrine responses. Stress Med 4(4):221–230
- Fuchs E, Fliugge G (2006) Experimental animal models for the simulation of depression and anxiety. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 8(3):323–333
- Gann DS, Ward DG, Baertschi AJ, Carlson DE, Maran JW (1977) Neural control of ACTH release in response to hemorrhage. Ann N Y Acad Sci 297:477–497
- Gewirtz JC, McNish KA, Davis M (1998) Lesions of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis block sensitization of the acoustic startle reflex produced by repeated stress, but not fear-potentiated startle. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 22(4):625–648
- Gliner JA (1972) Predictable vs. unpredictable shock: preference behavior and stomach ulceration. Physiol Behav 9(5):693–698
- Goddard GV (1964) Functions of the amygdala. Psychol Bull 62:89-109
- Greaves-Lord K, Ferdinand RF, Oldehinkel AJ, Sondeijker FE, Ormel J, Verhulst FC (2007) Higher cortisol awakening response in young adolescents with persistent anxiety problems. Acta Psychiatr Scand 116(2):137–144
- Gum AM, Cheavens JS (2008) Psychiatric comorbidity and depression in older adults. Curr Psychiatry Rep 10(1):23–29
- Heinrichs SC, Koob GF (2004) Corticotropin-releasing factor in brain: a role in activation, arousal, and affect regulation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 311(2):427–440
- Heinrichs SC, Lapsansky J, Lovenberg TW, De Souza EB, Chalmers DT (1997) Corticotropinreleasing factor CRF1, but not CRF2, receptors mediate anxiogenic-like behavior. Regul Pept 71(1):15–21
- Hammen C (2005) Stress and Depression. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 1:293-319

- Herman JP, Cullinan WE, Watson SJ (1994) Involvement of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis in tonic regulation of paraventricular hypothalamic CRH and AVP mRNA expression. J Neuroendocrinol 6(4):433–442
- Herman JP, Cullinan WE (1997) Neurocircuitry of stress: central control of the hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical axis. Trends Neurosci 20(2):78–84
- Herman JP, Figueiredo H, Mueller NK, Ulrich-Lai Y, Ostrander MM, Choi DC et al (2003) Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness. Front Neuroendocrinol 24(3):151–180
- Herman JP, Ostrander MM, Mueller NK, Figueiredo H (2005) Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 29(8):1201–1213
- Hermann B, Landgraf R, Keck ME, Wigger A, Morrow AL, Strohle A (2000) Pharmacological characterisation of cortical gamma-aminobutyric acid type A (GABAA) receptors in two Wistar rat lines selectively bred for high and low anxiety-related behaviour. World J Biol Psychiatry 1(3):137–143
- Hettema JM, Neale MC, Kendler KS (2001) A review and meta-analysis of the genetic epidemiology of anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatry 158(10):1568–1578
- Hettema JM, Prescott CA, Myers JM, Neale MC, Kendler KS (2005) The structure of genetic and environmental risk factors for anxiety disorders in men and women. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62(2):182–189
- Imhof JT, Coelho ZM, Schmitt ML, Morato GS, Carobrez AP (1993) Influence of gender and age on performance of rats in the elevated plus maze apparatus. Behav Brain Res 56(2):177–180
- Johnston JB (1923) Further contributions to the study of the evolution of the forebrain. J Comp Neurol 35(5):337–481
- Ju G, Swanson LW (1989) Studies on the cellular architecture of the bed nuclei of the stria terminalis in the rat: I. Cytoarchitecture. J Comp Neurol 280(4):587–602
- Ju G, Swanson LW, Simerly RB (1989) Studies on the cellular architecture of the bed nuclei of the stria terminalis in the rat: II. Chemoarchitecture. J Comp Neurol 280(4):603–621
- Keck ME, Sartori SB, Welt T, Muller MB, Ohl F, Holsboer F et al (2005) Differences in serotonergic neurotransmission between rats displaying high or low anxiety/depression-like behaviour: effects of chronic paroxetine treatment. J Neurochem 92(5):1170–1179
- Kessler MS, Murgatroyd C, Bunck M, Czibere L, Frank E, Jacob W et al (2007a) Diabetes insipidus and, partially, low anxiety-related behaviour are linked to a SNP-associated vasopressin deficit in LAB mice. Eur J Neurosci 26(10):2857–2864
- Kessler RC, Amminger GP, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Lee S, Ustun TB (2007b) Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. Curr Opin Psychiatry 20(4):359–364
- Koch M (1999) The neurobiology of startle. Prog Neurobiol 59(2):107-128
- Lancel M, Muller-Preuss P, Wigger A, Landgraf R, Holsboer F (2002) The CRH1 receptor antagonist R121919 attenuates stress-elicited sleep disturbances in rats, particularly in those with high innate anxiety. J Psychiatr Res 36(4):197–208
- Lau SH, Rivier J, Vale W, Kaiser ET, Kezdy FJ (1983) Surface properties of an amphiphilic peptide hormone and of its analog: corticotropin-releasing factor and sauvagine. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80(23):7070–7074
- LeDoux JE (2000) Emotion circuits in the brain. Annu Rev Neurosci 23:155-184
- LeDoux J (2007) The amygdala. Curr Biol 17(20):R868-R874
- Lee Y, Davis M (1997a) Role of the hippocampus, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, and the amygdala in the excitatory effect of corticotropin-releasing hormone on the acoustic startle reflex. J Neurosci 17(16):6434–6446
- Lee Y, Davis M (1997b) Role of the septum in the excitatory effect of corticotropin-releasing hormone on the acoustic startle reflex. J Neurosci 17(16):6424–6433
- Lee Y, Schulkin J, Davis M (1994) Effect of corticosterone on the enhancement of the acoustic startle reflex by corticotropin releasing factor (CRF). Brain Res 666(1):93–98

- Lenze EJ, Wetherell JL (2009) Bringing the bedside to the bench, and then to the community: a prospectus for intervention research in late-life anxiety disorders. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 24(1):1–14
- Liberzon I, Lopez JF, Flagel SB, Vazquez DM, Young EA (1999) Differential regulation of hippocampal glucocorticoid receptors mRNA and fast feedback: relevance to post-traumatic stress disorder. J Neuroendocrinol 11(1):11–17
- Liebsch G, Landgraf R, Gerstberger R, Probst JC, Wotjak CT, Engelmann M et al (1995) Chronic infusion of a CRH1 receptor antisense oligodeoxynucleotide into the central nucleus of the amygdala reduced anxiety-related behavior in socially defeated rats. Regul Pept 59(2):229–239
- Liebsch G, Linthorst AC, Neumann ID, Reul JM, Holsboer F, Landgraf R (1998a) Behavioral, physiological, and neuroendocrine stress responses and differential sensitivity to diazepam in two Wistar rat lines selectively bred for high- and low-anxiety-related behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 19(5):381–396
- Liebsch G, Montkowski A, Holsboer F, Landgraf R (1998b) Behavioural profiles of two Wistar rat lines selectively bred for high or low anxiety-related behaviour. Behav Brain Res 94(2):301–310
- Liebsch G, Landgraf R, Engelmann M, Lorscher P, Holsboer F (1999) Differential behavioural effects of chronic infusion of CRH 1 and CRH 2 receptor antisense oligonucleotides into the rat brain. J Psychiatr Res 33(2):153–163
- Lister RG (1990) Ethologically-based animal models of anxiety disorders. Pharmacol Ther 46(3):321-340
- Lovenberg TW, Liaw CW, Grigoriadis DE, Clevenger W, Chalmers DT, De Souza EB et al (1995) Cloning and characterization of a functionally distinct corticotropin-releasing factor receptor subtype from rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92(3):836–840
- Maier SF, Amat J, Baratta MV, Paul E, Watkins LR (2006) Behavioral control, the medial prefrontal cortex, and resilience. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 8(4):397–406
- Mathew SJ, Price RB, Charney DS (2008) Recent advances in the neurobiology of anxiety disorders: implications for novel therapeutics. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 148(2):89–98
- Mayer EA, Fanselow MS (2003) Dissecting the components of the central response to stress. Nat Neurosci 6(10):1011–1012
- McEwen BS (2003) Mood disorders and allostatic load. Biol Psychiatry 54(3):200-207
- McEwen BS (2004) Protection and damage from acute and chronic stress: allostasis and allostatic overload and relevance to the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1032:1–7
- McEwen BS (2005) Glucocorticoids, depression, and mood disorders: structural remodeling in the brain. Metabolism 54(5 Suppl 1):20–23
- McEwen BS (2007) Physiology and neurobiology of stress and adaptation: central role of the brain. Physiol Rev 87(3):873–904
- McLaughlin KJ, Gomez JL, Baran SE, Conrad CD (2007) The effects of chronic stress on hippocampal morphology and function: an evaluation of chronic restraint paradigms. Brain Res 1161:56–64
- Merikangas KR, Kalaydjian A (2007) Magnitude and impact of comorbidity of mental disorders from epidemiologic surveys. Curr Opin Psychiatry 20(4):353–358
- Mesquita AR, Pego JM, Summavielle T, Maciel P, Almeida OF, Sousa N (2007) Neurodevelopment milestone abnormalities in rats exposed to stress in early life. Neuroscience 147(4):1022–1033
- Miracle AD, Brace MF, Huyck KD, Singler SA, Wellman CL (2006) Chronic stress impairs recall of extinction of conditioned fear. Neurobiol Learn Mem 85(3):213–218
- Mitev YA, Darwish M, Wolf SS, Holsboer F, Almeida OF, Patchev VK (2003) Gender differences in the regulation of 3 alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in rat brain and sensitivity to neurosteroid-mediated stress protection. Neuroscience 120(2):541–549

- Mitra R, Jadhav S, McEwen BS, Vyas A, Chattarji S (2005) Stress duration modulates the spatiotemporal patterns of spine formation in the basolateral amygdala. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102(26):9371–9376
- Mizoguchi K, Ishige A, Aburada M, Tabira T (2003) Chronic stress attenuates glucocorticoid negative feedback: involvement of the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus. Neuroscience 119(3):887–897
- Moffitt TE, Caspi A, Harrington H, Milne BJ, Melchior M, Goldberg D, Poulton R (2007) Generalized anxiety disorder and depression: childhood risk factors in a birth cohort followed to age 32. Psychol Med 37(3):441–452
- Moussavi S, Chatterji S, Verdes E, Tandon A, Patel V, Ustun B (2007) Depression, chronic diseases, and decrements in health: results from the World Health Surveys. Lancet 370(9590):851–858
- Musselman DL, Nemeroff CB (2000) Depression really does hurt your heart: stress, depression, and cardiovascular disease. Prog Brain Res 122:43–59
- Nakamori T, Morimoto A, Murakami N (1993) Effect of a central CRF antagonist on cardiovascular and thermoregulatory responses induced by stress or IL-1 beta. Am J Physiol 265(4 Pt 2): R834–R839
- Neumann ID, Wigger A, Liebsch G, Holsboer F, Landgraf R (1998) Increased basal activity of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis during pregnancy in rats bred for high anxiety-related behaviour. Psychoneuroendocrinology 23(5):449–463
- Pêgo JM, Morgado P, Pinto LG, Cerqueira JJ, Almeida OF, Sousa N (2008) Dissociation of the morphological correlates of stress-induced anxiety and fear. Eur J Neurosci 27(6):1503–1516
- Pêgo JM, Morgado P, Cerqueira JJ, Almeida OF, Sousa N (2006) Mismatch between anxiety status and morphometric parameters in the amygdala and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. Behav Brain Res 173(2):320–325
- Petrovich GD, Canteras NS, Swanson LW (2001) Combinatorial amygdalar inputs to hippocampal domains and hypothalamic behavior systems. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 38(1–2):247–289
- Phillips RG, LeDoux JE (1992) Differential contribution of amygdala and hippocampus to cued and contextual fear conditioning. Behav Neurosci 106(2):274–285
- Portavella M, Torres B, Salas C, Papini MR (2004) Lesions of the medial pallium, but not of the lateral pallium, disrupt spaced-trial avoidance learning in goldfish (Carassius auratus). Neurosci Lett 362(2):75–78
- Prewitt CM, Herman JP (1998) Anatomical interactions between the central amygdaloid nucleus and the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus of the rat: a dual tract-tracing analysis. J Chem Neuroanat 15(3):173–185
- Radulovic J, Ruhmann A, Liepold T, Spiess J (1999) Modulation of learning and anxiety by corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and stress: differential roles of CRF receptors 1 and 2. J Neurosci 19(12):5016–5025
- Reul JM, de Kloet ER (1985) Two receptor systems for corticosterone in rat brain: microdistribution and differential occupation. Endocrinology 117(6):2505–2511
- Reul JM, de Kloet ER (1986) Anatomical resolution of two types of corticosterone receptor sites in rat brain with in vitro autoradiography and computerized image analysis. J Steroid Biochem 24(1):269–272
- Reul JM, Holsboer F (2002) Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors 1 and 2 in anxiety and depression. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2(1):23–33
- Risbrough VB, Stein MB (2006) Role of corticotropin releasing factor in anxiety disorders: a translational research perspective. Horm Behav 50(4):550–561
- Robinson E (1963) Effect of Amygdalectomy on Fear-Motivated Behavior in Rats. J Comp Physiol Psychol 56:814–820
- Rosen JB, Fanselow MS, Young SL, Sitcoske M, Maren S (1998) Immediate-early gene expression in the amygdala following footshock stress and contextual fear conditioning. Brain Res 796(1–2):132–142

- Rubinow MJ, Drogos LL, Juraska JM (2007) Age-related dendritic hypertrophy and sexual dimorphism in rat basolateral amygdala. Neurobiol Aging 30(1):137–146
- Sapolsky RM (1999) Glucocorticoids, stress, and their adverse neurological effects: relevance to aging. Exp Gerontol 34(6):721–732
- Sapolsky RM (2000) Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57(10):925–935
- Sapolsky RM, Krey LC, McEwen BS (1986) The neuroendocrinology of stress and aging: the glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis. Endocr Rev 7(3):284–301
- Sapolsky RM, Romero LM, Munck AU (2000) How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocr Rev 21(1):55–89
- Sawchenko PE, Swanson LW, Steinbusch HW, Verhofstad AA (1983) The distribution and cells of origin of serotonergic inputs to the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the rat. Brain Res 277(2):355–360
- Shekhar A, McCann UD, Meaney MJ, Blanchard DC, Davis M, Frey KA et al (2001) Summary of a National Institute of Mental Health workshop: developing animal models of anxiety disorders. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 157(4):327–339
- Shelton RC (2007) The molecular neurobiology of depression. Psychiatr Clin North Am $30(1){:}1{-}11$
- Sibille E, Pavlides C, Benke D, Toth M (2000) Genetic inactivation of the Serotonin(1A) receptor in mice results in downregulation of major GABA(A) receptor alpha subunits, reduction of GABA(A) receptor binding, and benzodiazepine-resistant anxiety. J Neurosci 20(8):2758–2765
- Skorzewska A, Bidzinski A, Lehner M, Turzynska D, Wislowska-Stanek A, Sobolewska A et al (2006) The effects of acute and chronic administration of corticosterone on rat behavior in two models of fear responses, plasma corticosterone concentration, and c-Fos expression in the brain structures. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 85(3):522–534
- Skutella T, Probst JC, Renner U, Holsboer F, Behl C (1998) Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor (type I) antisense targeting reduces anxiety. Neuroscience 85(3):795–805
- Smith MA, Brady LS, Glowa J, Gold PW, Herkenham M (1991) Effects of stress and adrenalectomy on tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA levels in the locus ceruleus by in situ hybridization. Brain Res 544(1):26–32
- Sorrells SF, Sapolsky RM (2007) An inflammatory review of glucocorticoid actions in the CNS. Brain Behav Immun 21(3):259–272
- Sousa N, Almeida OF (2002) Corticosteroids: sculptors of the hippocampal formation. Rev Neurosci 13(1):59–84
- Sousa N, Lukoyanov NV, Madeira MD, Almeida OF, Paula-Barbosa MM (2000) Reorganization of the morphology of hippocampal neurites and synapses after stress-induced damage correlates with behavioral improvement. Neuroscience 97(2):253–266
- Sousa N, Almeida OF, Wotjak CT (2006) A hitchhiker's guide to behavioral analysis in laboratory rodents. Genes Brain Behav 5(Suppl 2):5–24
- Sousa N, Cerqueira JJ, Almeida OF (2008) Corticosteroid receptors and neuroplasticity. Brain Res Rev 57(2):561–570
- Steckler T, Holsboer F (1999) Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor subtypes and emotion. Biol Psychiatry 46(11):1480–1508
- Swanson LW (1998) Brain Maps: Structure of the rat brain, 2nd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 267
- Swanson LW, Petrovich GD (1998) What is the amygdala? Trends Neurosci 21(8):323-331
- Swerdlow NR, Geyer MA, Vale WW, Koob GF (1986) Corticotropin-releasing factor potentiates acoustic startle in rats: blockade by chlordiazepoxide. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 88(2):147–152
- Valdez GR, Zorrilla EP, Rivier J, Vale WW, Koob GF (2003) Locomotor suppressive and anxiolytic-like effects of urocortin 3, a highly selective type 2 corticotropin-releasing factor agonist. Brain Res 980(2):206–212

- Vesga-López O, Schneier FR, Wang S, Heimberg RG, Liu SM, Hasin DS, Blanco C (2008) Gender differences in generalized anxiety disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC). J Clin Psychiatry 69:1606–1616
- Vyas A, Chattarji S (2004) Modulation of different states of anxiety-like behavior by chronic stress. Behav Neurosci 118(6):1450–1454
- Vyas A, Mitra R, Shankaranarayana Rao BS, Chattarji S (2002) Chronic stress induces contrasting patterns of dendritic remodeling in hippocampal and amygdaloid neurons. J Neurosci 22 (15):6810–6818
- Vyas A, Bernal S, Chattarji S (2003) Effects of chronic stress on dendritic arborization in the central and extended amygdala. Brain Res 965(1–2):290–294
- Walker DL, Toufexis DJ, Davis M (2003) Role of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis versus the amygdala in fear, stress, and anxiety. Eur J Pharmacol 463(1–3):199–216
- Weinstock M (2001) Alterations induced by gestational stress in brain morphology and behaviour of the offspring. Prog Neurobiol 65(5):427–451
- Weiskrantz L (1956) Behavioral changes associated with ablation of the amygdaloid complex in monkeys. J Comp Physiol Psychol 49(4):381–391
- Whitnall MH (1993) Regulation of the hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing hormone neurosecretory system. Prog Neurobiol 40(5):573–629
- Wigger A, Loerscher P, Weissenbacher P, Holsboer F, Landgraf R (2001) Cross-fostering and cross-breeding of HAB and LAB rats: a genetic rat model of anxiety. Behav Genet 31(4):371–382
- Yang YL, Chao PK, Ro LS, Wo YY, Lu KT (2007) Glutamate NMDA receptors within the amygdala participate in the modulatory effect of glucocorticoids on extinction of conditioned fear in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 32(5):1042–1051
- Zhao Y, Valdez GR, Fekete EM, Rivier JE, Vale WW, Rice KC, Weiss F, Zorrilla EP (2007) Subtype-selective corticotropin-releasing factor receptor agonists exert contrasting, but not opposite, effects on anxiety-related behavior in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 323:846–854

Part III Animal Models

Animal Models of Anxiety and Anxiolytic Drug Action

Dallas Treit, Elif Engin, and Kris McEown

Contents

1	Animal Models of Anxiety and Anxiolytic Drug Action: Introduction				
	1.1	Conflict Tests	126		
	1.2	Fear Potentiated Startle	128		
	1.3	Defensive Burying			
	1.4	Light–Dark Exploration	133		
	1.5	Social Interaction			
	1.6	Elevated Plus-Maze	135		
	1.7	Separation-induced Ultrasonic "Distress" Vocalization			
2	Sum	mary and Conclusions			
Ref	leferences				

Abstract Animal models of anxiety attempt to represent some aspect of the etiology, symptomatology, or treatment of human anxiety disorders, in order to facilitate their scientific study. Within this context, animal models of anxiolytic drug action can be viewed as treatment models relevant to the pharmacological control of human anxiety. A major purpose of these models is to identify novel anxiolytic compounds and to study the mechanisms whereby these compounds produce their anxiolytic effects. After a critical analysis of "face," "construct," and "predictive" validity, the biological context in which animal models of anxiety are to be evaluated is specified. We then review the models in terms of their general pharmacological profiles, with particular attention to their sensitivity to $5-HT_{1A}$ agonists and antidepressant compounds. Although there are important exceptions, most of these models are sensitive to one or perhaps two classes of anxiolytic compounds, limiting their pharmacological generality somewhat, but allowing in depth analysis of individual mechanisms of anxiolytic drug action (e.g., GABA_A

D. Treit (🖂), E. Engin, and K. Mc Eown

Department of Psychology and Division of Neuroscience, University of Alberta, P-449 Biological Sciences Building, Edmonton, AB, Canada T6G 2E9

e-mail: dtreit@ualberta.ca

agonism). We end with a discussion of possible sources of variability between models in response to 5-HT_{1A} agonists and antidepressant drugs.

Keywords Anxiety · Animal models · Face validity · Construct validity · Biological validity · Anxiolytic · Antidepressant · Drug receptors

1 Animal Models of Anxiety and Anxiolytic Drug Action: Introduction

The validation and development of animal models of anxiety (e.g., the elevated plus-maze) has relied mainly on the putative models' sensitivity to well-established anxiolytic drugs, such as the benzodiazepines (e.g., diazepam). It is important to emphasize, however, that the purpose of this work was to establish the predictive validity of the animal model with respect to known anxiolytic compounds, and *not* to establish the clinical utility of indirect GABA_A receptor agonists such as diazepam. A pharmacologically valid model also had to discriminate between "anxiolytic" compounds (e.g., diazepam) and "nonanxiolytic" compounds, such as imipramine, an antidepressant drug. For example, from the late 1960s to the late 1980s, if an antidepressant drug registered the same as diazepam in an animal model of anxiety, it was designated a "false positive." The more "false positives" a putative model accumulated, the less "valid" it became in terms of predictive validity, and the less useful as a potential "screening test" for finding novel anxiolytic compounds (Treit 1985a, b).

Unfortunately, for animal models of anxiety the pharmacological treatment of human anxiety disorders began to change, almost imperceptibly, after an early report of the successful treatment of panic disorder with imipramine (Klein 1964). The treatment of anxiety disorders such as panic with antidepressant drugs steadily increased through the 1990s (e.g., Tyrer and Tyrer 1994), and by the new millennium they had emerged as the frontline pharmacological treatment for all human anxiety disorders (e.g., Hoffman and Mathew 2008; Borsini et al. 2002). Animal models of anxiety had been validated mainly on their differential sensitivity to benzodiazepine anxiolytics, and were, not surprisingly, insensitive to the anxiolytic effects of antidepressant drugs. More often than not, these animal models completely failed to detect antidepressant drugs, or registered them as "anxiogenic" (Treit et al. 2003; Borsini et al. 2002).

This deficiency, and the unpredictable effects in these models of 5-HT_{1A} anxiolytics such as buspirone before it, has raised serious questions about the "validity" of so-called animal models of anxiety (e.g., Treit et al. 2003). Apart from the general failure of researchers to study the chronic effects of these compounds, which are clinically more relevant than their acute effects, we do not believe that the problem is specific to antidepressant drugs, for the following reason. Imagine for a moment that the history of therapeutic drug discovery had been reversed,

because the focus of clinical interest at the time had differed slightly. We know, for example, that clinicians in the early 1950s had noticed that the anti-tuberculosis drug iproniazid had a peculiar side-effect in patients: it elevated the patient's mood, sometimes to the point of euphoria (Pletscher 1991). Imagine now that what impressed these clinicians even more was another "side-effect" that gradually emerged after chronic treatment with iproniazid: patients became progressively less anxious about their condition, and more tractable than patients treated with other anti-tuberculosis drugs. If the second (perhaps fictitious) observation had attracted more clinical attention than "mood elevation," iproniazid and its congeners might have been studied in psychiatric patients suffering from anxiety, and eventually have become the first, clinically effective "anxiolytic" drugs. Other drugs would have been assessed for their "anxiolytic" potential, and some, such as imipramine, would emerge serendipitously. In any case, a clinical precedent would have been set. In addition, the careful study of the effects of these drugs on brain function would lead to the following generalization: compounds that possessed "anxiolytic" effects in patients invariably elevated brain monoamines. After repeated demonstrations of this common effect, the "monoamine hypothesis of anxiety" would emerge and become dominant. As this "monoamine hypothesis" was tested further, at both behavioral and neural levels, the importance of reliable "animal models of anxiety" would be reinforced. Their "predictive validity" would depend on their relative sensitivity to the effects of chronic iproniazid and other "standard" anxiolytic drugs (e.g., imipramine), and their relative insensitivity to "nonanxiolytic" drugs. At some point along this not entirely fanciful path to drug discovery, the predictive validity of these early animal models of anxiety would be challenged by a little known, indirect GABA_A receptor agonist called diazepam, which registered as a "false positive" in the models, but was eventually shown to be anxiolytic in clinical populations.

The point of this modest revision of history, of course, is not to disparage our inability to see into the future, but to illustrate the fundamental weakness of the pharmacological "validation" of animal models of anxiety: it is always constrained by historical accident, and is completely post hoc. If and only if the test drug has been validated clinically can it be used to evaluate the "predictive" validity of a particular animal model of anxiety. A *novel* compound that has anxiolytic-like effects in the model (e.g., diazepam in the above scenario) would initially be viewed as a "false positive" and would detract from the predictive validity of the model – at least, until overwhelming clinical evidence suggested otherwise.

In summary, what counts as a "false positive" for an animal model of anxiety is time-sensitive and subject to clinical revision. "False negatives" are not subject to these historical vagaries, but in their case, attempts must be made to show that the model can, with appropriate tweaking, be made sensitive to the previously unrecognized classes of anxiolytic drug (e.g., antidepressants). In an absolute sense, then, no animal model of "anxiety" can be summarily invalidated simply on the basis of a "false positive" or a "false negative."

As the notion of pharmacological or "predictive" validity becomes more ambiguous, other criteria such as "face" validity and "construct" validity become more attractive. At the very least, these aspects of validity may offer some distraction from the uncomfortable circularity of predictive validity (for original guidelines, definitions, and applications of "face" and "construct" validity in the social sciences, see Cronbach and Meehl 1955; for recent quantitative approaches see Westen and Rosenthal 2003). "Face" validity, however, means only that the test or model *appears* to measure anxiety, not that it actually measures anxiety. Face validity, in this light, is far from an unambiguous substitute for predictive validity. Predictive validity is at least based on the quantifiable behavior of experimental animals under the influence of a chemically defined set of molecules, not just the opinion of a set of observers. It seems curious, then, that "face validity," as used in the experimental literature, often implies something more concrete than a common "understanding" among observers, expert, or otherwise (e.g., Bourin et al. 2007).

If face validity is a weak criterion, "construct validity" is a strong criterion (Cronbach and Meehl 1955), mainly because the latter is central to all other "validity" issues (e.g., Westen and Rosenthal 2003). Construct validity specifically addresses the question: "does the test or model *actually* measure or represent what it was intended to measure or represent?" This question rarely can be answered by experimental data alone, and must be evaluated in the context of a scientific *theory* of the construct in question. For animal models of anxiety, however, this amounts to an almost insurmountable task for three reasons. First, there is no widely accepted or established scientific theory of "anxiety" in humans. Second, there is no unambiguous translation of such a theory – if it existed – to animal models of anxiety.¹ Third, even if a tentative translation of this hypothetical theory existed, our empirical understanding of anxiety does not yet have the precision needed for a scientific theory" is used (e.g., cell theory).

Returning to the issue of "correlational" validity and the sensitivity of animal models of anxiety to one particular subclass of anxiolytic compounds (e.g., benzodiazepines)—pharmacological validity can be bolstered by documenting behavioral correlates such as increased vocalization or thigmotaxis (e.g., Treit and Fundytus 1988), and physiological correlates such as increased serum corticosteroids or brain norepinephrine release (e.g., Pellow et al. 1985; Bondi et al. 2007; De Boer et al. 1990). Furthermore, selective sensitivity to only one class of anxiolytic compounds (e.g., benzodiazepines) may in fact be advantageous for exploring the molecular mechanisms that underlie the anxiolytic effects of a particular drug class. If there are significant variations in drug response within these "one drug-class" animal models, they may reflect the degree to which the model engages particular receptors underlying the drugs' effects. For example, there may be differences in drug response that reflect differences in the expression of particular receptor subunits ($\alpha \beta \gamma \delta$), or differences in the specific subunit combinations of a given receptor

¹From an evolutionary perspective, one could argue that this is putting the cart before the horse: a scientific understanding of anxiety in humans first requires a detailed understanding of its distal and proximal causes in lower animals.

(e.g., Kaufmann et al. 2003). Conversely, receptors and their subunits can be directly manipulated using genetic (e.g., "knock-out" or "knock-in") techniques, and the behavioral effects measured in animal models of anxiety (e.g., Finn et al. 2003; Low et al. 2000; McKernan et al. 2000; Marowsky et al. 2004; Kaufmann et al. 2003; Cryan and Holmes 2005). Working in parallel, biochemists can rapidly synthesize hundreds of structural analogues of known anxiolytic compounds², based on their relative affinity for particular receptor subtypes or receptor subunits (e.g., Caliendo et al. 2005). With these points in mind, our general approach here is to provisionally accept the utility of *pharmacologically* valid animal "screening" tests of anxiolytic drugs (i.e., purely correlational models), whether or not they are sensitive to antidepressant drugs. However, the overall relevance of pharmacologically valid models to "anxiety" must be assessed in the light of three biological imperatives, which together form a heuristic framework for evaluating their specific "validity" as animal models of anxiety.

First, there should be some formal correspondence between the behavioral expressions of fear in the animal model (e.g., avoidance), the physiological correlates of these behaviors (e.g., increased corticosterone), and their expressions in humans (i.e., isomorphism). Second, in the absence of clear isomorphism, there should be some continuity of biological function between behavioral responses in the animal model and fear responses in humans (e.g., defense). Third, and specifically at the neural level, there should be considerable conservation of the underlying brain mechanisms of fear and anxiety across mammalian species (either by homology or analogy), and these should be engaged during specific fear reactions. Together, these biological constraints are dictated by the fundamental role that fears or anxieties normally play in the survival of organisms in their natural habitats. There is no reason to believe that a model that does not conform to any of these biological imperatives has any relationship to anxiety. For example, PTZ-induced convulsions in mice are exquisitely sensitive to suppression by benzodiazepine anxiolytics, but the convulsive response itself has little or no isomorphism with fear or anxiety, is functionally unrelated to defense, and is unlikely to reflect the same brain mechanisms as those evolutionarily conserved for survival. As such, the PTZ test is not a plausible "animal model of anxiety," despite its pharmacological validity as a "test" or predictor of anxiolytic drug action (Treit 1985a, b). At the same time, there is no reason why the PTZ "test" could not serve as a valuable "model" of epileptic convulsions, their neurochemical mechanisms and pharmacological treatments (e.g., Luszczki 2008). In some sense, then, "tests" and "models" can only be distinguished by their use in specific experimental contexts (Kalueff and Murphy 2007).

In summary, it is from this overarching biological perspective that we now review the validity of current animal models of anxiety and anxiolytic drug action.

²For readers interested in investigational drugs, their anxiolytic properties and mechanisms of action, see Chapters Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors (W. Spooren), Neuropeptides (T. Steckler), and Cannabinoids (C. Wotjak) in the present volume.

1.1 Conflict Tests

In the "Geller" and the "Vogel" conflict tests, a food or water deprived rat is punished with electric shock if it makes a response (e.g., bar-pressing, licking) that other wise results in reward (e.g., food, water). Punishment inhibits rewarded responding, and standard anxiolytic drugs such as diazepam selectively disinhibit punished responding. In so far as conflict between opposing drives may be indicated in human anxiety, "conflict" models may also have some degree of isomorphism and homology (Treit 1985a, b).

There are a number of procedural variations that add to the complexity of conflict tests, and thus affect the ease with which anxiolytic compounds can be assessed (Treit 1985a, b). For example, most versions of the standard Geller conflict test take weeks of training before drug testing can begin, whereas the Vogel conflict procedures take little or no pretraining. The advantage of the more complex procedures, however, is that control measures for nonspecific drug effects are embedded into the test (e.g., periods of nonpunished responding). Use of less complex conflict procedures, however, has gradually become more prevalent over the past 20 years. For example, our ISI Web of Science search of research papers published between 1988 and 2008 showed that the Vogel test is cited nearly five times more than the Geller test. This trend has prevailed mainly because the Vogel test (1) is procedurally more practical, (2) produces results that differ little from the Geller test, and (3) allows immediate and rapid testing of target compounds. Since there is little to distinguish the two tests other than experimental expedience, the results from each are combined below.

Anxiolytic drugs, especially the benzodiazepines, increase punished responding, while having little or no effect on other responses (Table 1). So called nonanxiolytic compounds (e.g., neuroleptics, analgesics, stimulants) generally have no effect, or suppress punished responding further. In addition to standard benzodiazepine anxiolytics, alprazolam, which has both anxiolytic and antidepressant properties, produced reliable, dose-dependent anticonflict effects in rats across a wide range of doses (Ellis et al. 1990; Giusti et al. 1991; Hascoet and Bourin 1997). The anticonflict effect of alprazolam was apparent after both acute and chronic administration. Similarly, a number of standard antidepressant drugs such as the TCAs imipramine, desipramine, and amitriptyline all produced significant anticonflict effects after chronic or subchronic administration, but not after acute administration (Commissaris and Hill 1995: Fontana and Commissaris 1988: Fontana et al. 1989). Chronic bupropion, mianserin, and trazodone also produced significant anticonflict effects (Commissaris et al. 1990), as did the MAOIs phenelzine and pargyline (Commissaris et al. 1995; Fontana et al. 1989). These findings suggest that conflict tests may be broadly sensitive to the anxiolytic effects of benzodiazepines given acutely, and antidepressant drugs given chronically, although standard SSRIs such as fluoxetine have yet to be assessed.

In contrast to their reliable sensitivity to the anxiolytic effects of benzodiazepines and antidepressant drugs, the sensitivity of the conflict tests to the anxiolytic

	Benzodiazepines	5-HT1A agonists	SSRIs	Tricyclics	MAOIs
(+)	Ellis et al. (1990), Giusti et al. (1991), Hascoet and Bourin (1997), Kennett et al. (1998), Rudzik et al. (1973), Soderpalm et al. (1989), Kapus et al. (2008), Mathiasen et al. (2008), Gleason and Witkin (2007), Wesolowska and Nikiforuk (2007), Popik et al. (2006), Moreira et al. (2006), Tatarczynska et al. (2004), Ballard et al. (2005), Busse et al. (2004)	Dekeyne et al. (2000), Deren- Wesolek et al. (1998), McCloskey et al. (1987), Meneses and Hong (1993), Pich and Samanin (1986), Sanger (1992), Schefke et al. (1989), Weissman et al. (1984), Yamashita et al. (1984), Yamashita et al. (1995), Young et al. (1987), Stefanski et al. (1992), Stefanski et al. (1992), Bojarski et al. (2006), Vaidya et al. (2005), Jurczyki et al. (2004), Liao	Chaki et al. (2005)	Commissaris and Hill (1995), Fontana and Commissaris (1988), Fontana et al. (1989), Vigliecca et al. (2007)	Fontana et al. (1989), Commissaris et al. (1995)
(-)		Costello et al. (1991)			
(0)		Costello et al. (1991), Gardner (1986), Kennett et al. (1998), Sanger (1990), Witkin and Perez (1990)			

 Table 1
 Summary of findings with Vogel-type and Geller-type conflict tests following peripheral administration of different classes of anxiolytic drugs

(+) anxiolytic; (-) anxiogenic; (0) no effect; *SSRI* selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; *MAOI* monoamine oxidase inhibitor

effects of 5-HT_{1A} drugs such as buspirone has been erratic (Howard and Pollard 1990). Furthermore, when anxiolytic effects of 5-HT_{1A} drugs are detected, they are often small, and occur over a much narrower dose range (e.g., Dekeyne et al. 2000; Deren-Wesolek et al. 1998; Sanger 1992; Schefke et al. 1989). Howard and Pollard (1990) studied the effects of buspirone in the conflict test under a wide variety of experimental conditions and failed to find a robust anxiolytic effect under any condition. Other researchers have reported no significant effects of buspirone in the conflict tests, or even dose-related *decreases* in punished responses (e.g., Brocco et al. 1990; Costello et al. 1991; Gardner 1986; Vaidya et al. 2005; Witkin and Perez 1990; but see Bojarski et al. 2006).

Despite their questionable sensitivity to 5-HT_{1A} compounds, conflict tests have broad utility for detecting the anxiolytic effects of benzodiazepine and antidepressant drugs. The exact conditions under which reliable anxiolytic effects of 5-HT_{1A} compounds can be detected in these tests remain to be determined.

1.2 Fear Potentiated Startle

The magnitude of rats' naturally-occurring startle reflex to an acoustic stimulus is "potentiated" when the acoustic stimulus is presented together with a cue (e.g., light) that has previously been paired with shock (Brown et al. 1951; Chi 1965; Davis 1986a, b; Richardson et al. 1999). The fact that the startle response has a nonzero baseline makes it possible to distinguish the effects of a drug on base-line startle (acoustic stimulus alone) from its effects on "potentiated startle" (acoustic stimulus plus conditioned fear cue). Insofar as human fears and phobias can be acquired through experiences analogous to "fear conditioning" in rats, and insofar as conditioned fear stimuli (e.g., light) can "potentiate" unconditioned responses such as startle, the model appears to have some degree of isomorphism and homology with human anxiety. It should be noted, however, that Seligman (1970) and others have made persuasive arguments that conditioned fears to artificial stimuli such as lights and tones may have little relevance to the etiology of human fears and phobias.

As seen in Table 2, fear-potentiated startle is reliably suppressed by benzodiazepine anxiolytics, and also by 5-HT_{1A} -type anxiolytics such as buspirone. The anxiolytic effects of 5-HT_{1A} -type anxiolytics occur across a wide range of doses, and the magnitude of these effects nearly matches that of benzodiazepine anxiolytics (Davis et al. 1988; Kehne et al. 1988; Mansbach and Geyer 1988; Nevins and Anthony 1994). The behavioral profile of 5-HT_{1A} -type anxiolytics in the fearpotentiated startle test is particularly impressive when compared to their weak and inconsistent profile in the conflict tests (see above). While fear-potentiated startle was unaffected by "nonanxiolytic" compounds such as naloxone, nicotine, *d*-amphetamine, and cinanserin (Hijzen et al. 1995; Casella and Davis 1985; Davis and Casella 1988), "false positives" have been reported to morphine and haloperidol (Davis 1986b; Hijzen et al. 1995; Winslow et al. 2007).

	Benzodiazepines	5-HT1A agonists	SSRIs	Tricyclics	MAOIs
(+)	Berg and Davis (1984), Brodkin et al. (2002), Davis (1979), Hijzen and Slangen (1989), Joordens et al. (1996), Martin et al. (2002), Pietraszek et al. (2005), Risbrough et al. (2003), Santos et al. (2003), Schulz et al. (2001), Serradeil- Le Gal et al. (2005), Tizzano et al. (2002), Winslow et al. (2007)	Davis et al. (1985), Joordens et al. (1998), Mansbach and Geyer (1988), Nevins and Anthony (1994), Paschall and Davis (2002), Risbrough et al. (2003)			
(0)		Brodkin et al. (2002), Winslow et al. (2007)	Joordens et al. (1996)	Casella and Davis (1985), Hijzen et al.	

Table 2 Summary of findings with the fear-potentiated startle test following peripheral administration of different classes of anxiolytic drugs

(+) anxiolytic; (-) anxiogenic; (0) no effect; SSRI selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; MAOI monoamine oxidase inhibitor

Antidepressant compounds such as TCAs and SSRIs, however, have been ineffective in the fear-potentiated startle test (Casella and Davis 1985; Hijzen et al. 1995; Joordens et al. 1996). Of even more concern is the finding that yohimbine and FG-7142, drugs that have been shown to be *anxiogenic* in humans, also suppress "fear" potentiated startle (Risbrough and Geyer 2005). Until this paradoxical result can be resolved, the pharmacological validity of this model is questionable. Nevertheless, fear-potentiated startle, and fear conditioning paradigms in general have been extremely valuable behavioral models for dissecting the role of amygdala in fear and anxiety (e.g., Lang et al. 2000; LeDoux 2000).

On the other hand, the fear-conditioning models have difficulty differentiating drug or lesion effects on learning and memory from specific effects on anxiety responses (see Engin and Treit 2008 for a discussion). A variant of the fear-potentiated startle model called the light-enhanced startle has been developed that appears to overcome this deficiency (Walker and Davis 1997). In this version of the model, rats show a potentiated startle response in a brightly illuminated environment, compared to a dark environment, and this "unconditioned" potentiation is used as a measure of fear. Light-enhanced startle was found to be sensitive to the effects of benzodiazepines and 5-HT_{1A} agonists (de Jongh et al. 2002; Walker and Davis 2002), but SSRIs were ineffective, as in the standard fear-potentiated startle model (de Jongh et al. 2002).

Commissaris et al. (2004) have argued that another problem with the original fear-potentiated startle model is that the testing occurs in the extinction phase (i.e., the light is no longer paired with the shock). It follows that the model is not suitable for repeated testing of a drug, as the fear response itself is diminishing as a function of extinction test trials. Consequently, they have proposed a "startle-potentiated" startle paradigm, where the shock is removed from the classical model and noise-only versus *light+noise* groups are subjected to the test repeated trials led to an increase in the startle amplitude of the light+noise group, supposedly through the anticipation of the noise stimulus. The startle amplitude for the light+noise group in subsequent testing was reduced by buspirone or mixed anxiolytic-antidepressant alprazolam. However, it should be noted that these drugs seemed to influence the baseline (i.e., noise only) startle in this version of the test. Thus, further pharmacological characterization of the "startle-potentiated" startle test is required before it can be employed as a model of anxiolytic drug action.

Overall, the startle models are broadly sensitive to benzodiazepine and 5-HT_{1A} type anxiolytics, and have the advantage of providing a baseline acoustic reflex to which the fear-potentiated reflex can be compared. This simplifies the problem of distinguishing drug effects on anxiety from nonspecific drug effects on the baseline startle reflex itself. However, antidepressants, which have clinically-proven antianxiety effects, fail to register in any version of the model, thus restricting its generality as a test of anxiolytic compounds.

1.3 Defensive Burying

The defensive burying model is based on a species-typical response of rodents confronted with a nociceptive or predator-related stimulus (for reviews see Treit 1985a, b; De Boer and Koolhaas 2003; Treit and Pinel 2005; Lapiz-Bluhm et al. 2008). Rodents spray substrate materials (e.g., sand) toward the threat stimulus (e.g., snake) with rapid, alternating movements of the forepaws, while avoiding direct contact (i.e., "burying behavior"; Pinel and Treit 1978). Burying can be induced in the laboratory with an electrified shock-probe, which protrudes through one of the walls of a Plexiglas chamber. Rats shocked once from the stationary probe stereotypically spray bedding material on the floor of the chamber toward and over the probe, while avoiding further contact with the probe (e.g., Pinel and Treit 1978; Treit 1985a, b; Treit et al. 1994; Echevarria et al. 2005; Bondi et al. 2007; Engin and Treit 2008). The amount of time spent burying the shock probe is taken as the primary index of anxiety, and the number of contacts with the probe is a secondary index (Treit 1990; Treit et al. 1981). A genuine "antianxiety" effect in this model is indicated by decreased burying behavior and/or increased probe contacts, independent of changes in pain sensitivity or general activity levels (Treit et al. 1990).

Plasma levels of corticosteroid and catecholamines are increased during the burying test, and these increases can be suppressed by standard anxiolytic drugs (de Boer et al. 1990). Concomitant changes in these "stress" hormones in response to shock and anxiolytic drugs add to the correlational validity of the model. More recent studies have corroborated these findings, documenting increases in heart rate, blood pressure, catecholamines, prolactin, ACTH, and corticosteroids in response to the shock-probe (Lapiz-Bluhm et al. 2008). Interestingly, burying behavior is also sensitive to the delayed anxiogenic effects of repeated, unpredictable stress, similar to the delayed effects of stress in human anxiety disorders (e.g., post-traumatic stress disorder; Matuszewich et al. 2007). In addition to these stress correlates, burying behavior also seems to have biological validity insofar as it represents an evolved adaptation of rodents to natural threat stimuli (homology). Although it has limited isomorphism with human anxiety responses – or to avoidance responses in general – the burying response may have functional relevance insofar as it can block or neutralize dangerous or threatening stimuli. Finally, many of the defining features of anxiety in humans (sweating, dizziness, tachycardia, trembling) may only emerge full-blown when *approach* is required to a threatening stimulus or situation (McNaughton and Corr 2004).

As seen in Table 3, shock-probe burying is quite sensitive to benzodiazepine anxiolytics, as well as 5-HT_{1A} agonist compounds. 5-HT_{1A} agonists failed to selectively suppress burying behavior only once, at a very high dose of buspirone (64 mg kg⁻¹) that also suppressed activity in general (Craft et al. 1988; Meert and Colpaert 1986). Antidepressants have not been extensively tested in this model, although some tricyclic antidepressants (e.g., desipramine) and a mixed SSRI/ 5-HT_{1A} agonist produced anxiety-reduction in the model (Table 3).

A variant of the defensive burying model – "marble burying" in mice – was developed by Broekkamp et al. (1986) and Njung'e and Handley (1991a, b). In this test, 20 glass marbles are distributed evenly on the bedding material that covers the floor of a plexiglass chamber. The mice are placed individually in the chamber and are taken out 30 min later. The number of marbles "buried" is used as an index of anxiety, although the actual "burying behavior" of mice is not measured in this version of the test. A large number of classical anxiolytics, such as diazepam, chlordiazepoxide, alprazolam, clonazepam, and flunitrazepam, have been shown to reduce marble burying in mice (Broekkamp et al. 1986; Li et al. 2006; Young et al. 2006; Nicolas et al. 2006; Nicolas et al. 2006; Njung'e and Handley 1991a, b), the effect was observed only at high doses that tend to reduce activity levels in general (Li et al. 2006; Nicolas et al. 2006).

Both tricyclics and SSRIs have been shown to reduce marble burying (Broekkamp et al. 1986; Li et al. 2006; Njung'e and Handley 1991a, b; Ichimaru et al. 1995; Nicolas et al. 2006; Harasawa et al. 2006). However, the suppressive effect of tricyclic antidepressants on marble burying is not always robust (e.g., Ichimaru et al. 1995; Nicolas et al. 2006), and in studies where the effect is clear, the reduction in burying is produced at doses that also suppress general locomotor activity (e.g., Broekkamp et al. 1986). Thus, while the SSRIs have a relatively

	Benzodiazepines	5-HT1A agonists	SSRIs	Tricyclics	MAOIs
(+)	Beardslee et al. (1990), Blampied and Kirk (1983), Degroot and Nomikos (2004), Fernandez-Guasti and Martinez- Mota (2003), Fernandez-Guasti et al. (2001), Gomez et al. (2002), Perrine et al. (2006), Picazo et al. (2006), Rohmer et al. (1990), Sikiric et al. (2001), Treit (1985, 1987, 1990), Treit and Fundytus (1988), Treit et al. (1981), Tsuda et al. (1988), Violle et al. (2006), Wilson et al. (2004)	Fernandez-Guasti and Lopez-Rubalcava (1998), Fernandez-Guasti and Picazo (1990, 1997), Fernandez- Guasti et al. (1992), Groenink et al. (1995, 1997), Korte and Bohus (1990), Lopez- Rubalcava (1996), Lopez-Rubalcava et al. (1996, 1999), Picazo et al. (2006), Treit et al. (2001), Treit and Fundytus (1988)	Degroot and Nomikos (2004), Treit et al. (2001)	Bondi et al. (2007), Fernandez- Guasti et al. (1999), Martinez- Mota et al. (2000)	
(-) (0)		Craft et al. (1988)		Beardslee et al. (1990)	

Table 3 Summary of findings with the defensive burying test following peripheral administration of different classes of anxiolytic drugs

(+) anxiolytic; (-) anxiogenic; (0) no effect; *SSRI* selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; *MAOI* monoamine oxidase inhibitor

selective inhibitory effect on marble burying, the effect of tricyclics is less clear. To our knowledge, only one study (Nicolas et al. 2006) reported the effects of MAOIs, and in this case phenelzine reduced marble burying.

Overall, marble burying in mice has been fairly well validated as a correlational model of anxiolytic drug action. However, there are several nonpharmacological issues that detract from its use as an animal model of anxiety. The main problem is that the marbles used in the test may not in fact be anxiogenic. The number of marbles buried is strongly correlated with digging and burrowing behavior, which mice display in the absence of marbles, or any other anxiogenic stimulus; this behavior is nondirected but can coincidentally cover glass marbles. On the basis of these careful observations, Gyertyan (1995) concluded that mice are not "burying" an aversive or threatening stimulus, merely engaging in a species-typical response elicited by a movable substrate. In line with this, Costa et al. (2006) have reported that mice classified into two groups according to their performance in the

marble-burying test (i.e., low-burying, high-burying) did not differ on any measure of anxiety in three other models (i.e., elevated plus-maze, light–dark, hole board).

Njung'e and Handley (1991a, b) suggested that marble burying is a useful screening test for the detection of anxiolytic drugs, even if it did not represent an isomorphic fear response. As a screening test, however, marble burying is less than ideal, since nonanxiolytic and anxiogenic compounds alike can produce "false positives" (Nicolas et al. 2006; Broekkamp et al. 1986). The suggestion that marble burying in mice is more appropriately viewed as a specific model of obsessive-compulsive disorder (Gyertyan 1995; Millan et al. 2002) is interesting, but seems to push the problem of an undefined anxiogenic stimulus beyond the limits of observation, and into the "obsessive thoughts" that presumably drive the mice's "compulsive" digging! This notion is not only fanciful; it cannot be falsified and therefore is not subject to scientific test. Furthermore, more recent research has shown that clomipramine, an "antiobsessional" compound, reduces marble-burying behavior only at doses that also reduce general activity (Nicolas et al. 2006; Li et al. 2006). Thus, the pharmacological evidence for marble burying as a model of obsessive-compulsive disorder is less than compelling.

1.4 Light–Dark Exploration

In the light–dark exploration test, rodents avoid the brightly lit side of a twocompartment chamber, spending most of their time exploring the dimly lit side. Anxiety reduction in this test is indicated by increased transitions between the two compartments and/or increased exploration (i.e., time spent and number of line crossings) in the bright compartment, whereas nonspecific effects are indicated by changes in general locomotor activity (Blumstein and Crawley 1983; for a recent review, see Bourin and Hascoet 2003). The test takes advantage of rodents' natural aversion to brightly illuminated spaces, which itself may represent an adaptive defensive response against daytime predation. Nevertheless, photophobia is not given as an example of a "specific phobia" in the DSM-IV-revised edition, and in humans it is normally related to other medical conditions. As a defensive against predation, however, it may have some homology with other human fears and phobias (e.g., spiders, snakes).

In the hands of most researchers, the light/dark test is sensitive to the effects of benzodiazepines and 5-HT_{1A} agonists, with the exception of Bill et al. (1989), who were unable to show an anxiolytic effect of gepirone (Table 4). Nonanxiolytic agents, such as caffeine, amphetamine, or chlorpromazine did not produce an anxiolytic-like effect (Crawley 1981; Hascoet and Bourin 1998; Shimada et al. 1995). Antidepressants, on the other hand, did not have consistent effects in this model, regardless of the subclass of antidepressant administered (Table 4). It should be noted, however, that the studies reported so far using this test involve acute administration of antidepressant compounds, and until chronic studies are conducted, conclusions about the overall pharmacological validity of the light–dark test may be premature.

	Benzodiazepines	5-HT1A agonists	SSRIs	Tricyclics	MAOIs
(+)	Both et al. (2005), Costall et al. (1987), Costall et al. (1988a, b, 1989), Costanzo et al. (2002), Crawley (1981), Crawley and Goodwin (1980), de Angelis (1992), Kilfoil et al. (1989), Mi et al. (2005), Shimada et al. (1995), Uriguen et al. (2004), Zanoli et al. (2002)	Bill et al. (1989), Costall et al. (1989), Crawley (1981), Hascoet and Bourin (1988), Imaizumi et al. (1994a, b), Lopez- Rubalcava et al. (1992), Onaivi and Martin (1989), Uriguen et al. (2004), Young and Johnson (1991a, b)	Hascoet et al. (2000b)	Bourin et al. (1996), Shimada et al. (1995), Young and Johnson (1991a, b)	Bourin et al. (1996), De Angelis and Furlan (2000)
(-)	of al. (2002)		Griebel et al. (1994)	Costall et al. (1989)	Crawley (1981), De Angelis and Furlan (2000)
(0)		Bill et al. (1989)	Brourin et al. (1996)	Onaivi and Martin (1989)	× · · · /

Table 4 Summary of findings with light–dark exploration test following peripheral administration of different classes of anxiolytic drugs

(+) anxiolytic; (-) anxiogenic; (0) no effect; *SSRI* selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; *MAOI* monoamine oxidase inhibitor

1.5 Social Interaction

In the social interaction test, naïve rats are placed in pairs in an open arena, and the time they spend in active social interaction (e.g., sniffing, grooming) is measured. Social interaction is suppressed when animals are tested under bright lights or in an unfamiliar test environment, relative to low light/familiar conditions. This suppression is the index of anxiety (File and Hyde 1978). Line crossings are counted as a measure of nonspecific changes in locomotor activity. Disinhibition of social interaction is the measure of anxiety-reduction in this test (for a review see File 2003). In so far as anxious humans display "social phobia," the model may have some degree of isomorphism. Avoidance of social conflict is in some way related, and may be under positive selection pressure in many social species, from rats to humans.

Table 4 shows that benzodiazepine and 5-HT_{1A} anxiolytics were generally effective in increasing social interaction, whereas antidepressants had varying
effects. The only exception to this general pattern of drug effects is a study by Rex et al. (2004), where diazepam was anxiolytic in Wistar but not Sprague Dawley rats. Since many other studies have administered benzodiazepines to Sprague Dawley rats and produced anxiolytic effects in the social interaction test (e.g., Kantor et al. 2005), Rex et al.'s failure to do so is suspect. SSRIs have been uniformly ineffective or anxiogenic following acute administration in the social interaction test, but anxiolytic when administered chronically for 21 days before the test. Tricyclic antidepressants did not produce anxiolytic effects in this test, even following chronic administration (e.g., Popik and Vetulani 1993). Nonanxiolytic drugs such as amphetamine, caffeine, yohimbine, or naxolone did not produce anxiolytic-like effects in the social interaction test (File and Hyde 1979; Pellow et al. 1985; File 1980).

In addition to lighting levels and familiarity of the environment, the novelty of the testing partner can act as an anxiety-inducing parameter (Gardner and Guy 1984; Guy and Gardner 1985). Gardner and Guy (1984) reported that the suppression of social interaction when faced with a novel rather than a familiar partner was reversed by benzodiazepines and the mixed anxiolytic–antidepressant drug alprazolam, whereas nonanxiolytic agents did not affect this measure. Another more recent variant, based on the general idea that anxiogenic stimuli reduce social interaction, is the "*stress-induced social avoidance*" test (Haller et al. 2002; Haller et al. 2003). In this test, rats subjected to electric shocks or conspecific aggression avoid social contact for up to 10 days. Initial validation studies indicate that the test may be sensitive to the effects of benzodiazepines, $5-HT_{1A}$ agonists, and SSRIs (Leveleki et al. 2006). These are promising developments and suggest that some variant of the social interaction test may yet be found sensitive to all major classes of anxiolytic drug.

1.6 Elevated Plus-Maze

In the elevated plus-maze, rodents normally avoid the two open arms of the maze, and restrict most of their activity to the two closed arms. Open-arm avoidance appears to be driven by an aversion to open spaces, leading to thigmotaxic behavior (Treit et al. 1993). An antianxiety effect is indicated by an increase in the proportion of activity in the open arms of the maze (i.e., an increase in the percentage of time spent in the open arms and in the percentage of entries into the open arms). Changes in total entries and/or changes in the number of closed arm entries indicate nonspecific drug effects on locomotor activity. (For reviews of procedures and methods see Pellow 1986; Hogg 1996; Treit et al. 2003; Carobrez and Bertoglio 2005.) Other ethologically driven behaviors such as "risk assessment" (i.e., the "stretched attend" posture) have also been measured in the elevated plus-maze to complement the original spatial measures of anxiety (e.g., Rodgers and Dalvi 1997), although their current use is not widespread. Anxious humans can also

display fear of heights and open spaces, and may even display thigmotaxis and risk assessment under these conditions, suggesting some degree of isomorphism or homology. In smaller animals, avoidance of open spaces may have evolved as a defense against larger mammals and/or avian predators (Treit and Fundytus 1988).

Benzodiazepine anxiolytics increase the proportion of activity in the open arms, whereas nonanxiolytic agents (e.g., amphetamine, caffeine) generally do not (Baldwin et al. 1989; Handley and Mithani 1984; Johnston and File 1989; Pellow et al. 1985). Mixed anxiolytic-antidepressant compounds such as alprazolam also have reliable anxiolytic effects in the elevated plus-maze (Griebel et al. 1996; Johnston and File 1988; Jones et al. 1994; Pellow and File 1985). However, the effects of standard antidepressant drugs in the plus-maze have been inconsistent. On the one hand, the tetracyclic antidepressant mianserin produced significant anxiolytic effects after chronic administration (Rocha et al. 1994), and MAOIs such as phenelzine and befloxatone produced anxiolytic effects whether given acutely (Caille et al. 1996; Paslawski et al. 1996) or chronically (Johnston and File 1988). On the other hand, both acute and chronic administration of TCAs (imipramine, amitriptyline) failed to produce anxiolytic profiles in the plus-maze (e.g., Cole and Rodgers 1995; Lister 1987; Luscombe et al. 1990), and SSRIs such as fluoxetine have been reported to be anxiogenic (e.g., Handley and McBlane 1992; Silva and Brandao 2000; Silva et al. 1999), anxiolytic (e.g., Cadogan et al. 1992; Kurt et al. 2000), or ineffective (e.g., Linnoila et al. 1987). The inconsistent effects of SSRIs have been found after both *acute* (e.g., Griebel et al. 1999; Silva and Brandao 2000) and chronic (Kurt et al. 2000; Silva et al. 1999) drug administrations.

The effects 5-HT_{1A}-type compounds in the elevated plus-maze are also mixed. There are reports of clear anxiolytic effects (e.g., Dunn et al. 1989; Griebel et al. 1997; Hallar et al. 2000), or no anxiolytic effects (e.g., Pellow and File 1986; Pellow et al. 1987; Silva and Brandao 2000), even after chronic drug administration (e.g., Moser 1989; Moser et al. 1990). Although chronic regimens with buspirone or ipsapirone did not produce anxiolytic effects in the plus-maze (e.g., Moser 1989), there is some evidence that these negative findings may have been related to dose. Soderpalm et al. (1993) found that 5 weeks of buspirone (10 mg kg⁻¹ b.i.d.) significantly increased open-arm activity whereas the same regimen at lower doses (2.5 or 5.0 mg kg⁻¹) was without effect. A number of other studies support the hypothesis that high doses of 5-HT_{1A} compounds may be necessary for their anxiolytic effects to emerge after chronic treatment in the elevated plus-maze (Cole and Rodgers 1994; Maisonnette et al. 1993; Motta et al. 1991; Silva and Brandao 2000).

In summary, the elevated plus-maze is clearly sensitive to benzodiazepine-type anxiolytics. However, the effects of antidepressant drugs (both chronic and acute) are mixed, as are the effects of $5\text{-}HT_{1A}$ compounds. There is some evidence that high doses of chronically administered $5\text{-}HT_{1A}$ compounds may be necessary to detect their anxiolytic effects in the elevated plus-maze.

A recent modification of the original-plus maze test is the "stress-potentiated plusmaze" test, in which subjects are prestressed before exposure to the standard elevated plus-maze test (Korte and DeBoer 2003). The addition of prestress (e.g., restraint, social defeat, electric shock) seems reminiscent of the fear-potentiated startle paradigm, although its motivation seems to have been to increase the sensitivity of the test to the anxiolytic effects of experimental compounds. For example, demonstrating the putative anxiolytic effects of CRF receptor antagonists in models such as the standard plus-maze has proven difficult (Martins et al. 2000). By adding prestress, it was possible to shown that intra-PAG CRF receptor antagonists can block fear behavior in the elevated plus-maze, whereas this was not possible in the standard test (Martins et al. 2000). Nevertheless, the precise role of "pretest stress" in the anxiolytic effects of CRF antagonists remains to be determined. This is especially true given the fact that the sensitivity (or lack thereof) of the "fear-potentiated" plus-maze test to the anxiolytic effects of standard anxiolytic compounds such as diazepam has not yet been demonstrated. Furthermore, "prestress" effects seem to occur only when baseline levels of open-arm activity (the index of fear) are particularly high, indicating low anxiety (for examples, see Korte and DeBoer 2003). If these problems can be rectified or rationalized, however, the stress-potentiated plus-maze paradigm may see special use in unveiling the anxiolytic effects of neuropeptide antagonists and other experimental compounds.

1.7 Separation-induced Ultrasonic "Distress" Vocalization

Rat pups emit high frequency (30–50 kHz) "distress calls" when separated from mother and littermates, which elicits retrieval behavior from the mother (Noirot 1972). In this model, a reduction in the high-frequency calls in the absence of behavioral sedation is taken as the index of anxiety reduction (Insel et al. 1986; Gardner 1985). The eliciting stimulus (separation), under certain conditions (e.g., dependency) seems capable of producing fear or anxiety in humans, and in this sense the model may be analogous to separation anxiety (for a review see Igor et al. 2001).

As seen in Table 5, benzodiazepines, 5-HT_{1A} agonists and SSRIs all reduce ultrasonic vocalizations in rat or mouse pups, a finding that has recently been replicated in juvenile rhesus monkeys (Winslow et al. 2007). The findings with tricyclic antidepressants, however, are not quite as clear. An early paper showed that desipramine actually *increased* USVs (Winslow and Insel 1990), although this finding was not replicated in subsequent studies (e.g., Kehne et al. 2000; Iijima and Chaki (2005). Iijima and Chaki (2005) have suggested that ultrasonic vocalizations are more sensitive to antidepressants that selectively block the reuptake of serotonin (e.g., fluoxetine) and less sensitive to antidepressants that inhibit norepinephrine reuptake (e.g., desipramine). This is an interesting and testable hypothesis, which may partially resolve the equivocal sensitivity of ultrasonic vocalizations to tricyclic antidepressants, which affect both serotonin and norepinephrine to some degree. However, the hypothesis also needs to account for the fact that tianeptine, which has the opposite effect to SSRIs on serotonin reuptake (i.e., facilitation of reuptake; Olivier et al. 1998b) also suppresses rat pup ultrasonic vocalizations.

	Benzodiazepines	5-HT1A agonists	SSRIs	Tricyclics	MAOIs
(+)	Bhattacharya et al. (2000), Cheeta et al. (2001), Eguchi et al. (2001), File and Hyde (1978, 1979), File et al. (2001), Kantor et al. (2005), Kita and Furukawa (2008), Louis et al. (2008), Millan et al. (2001), Mizowaki et al. (2001), Rex et al. (2004), Salome et al. (2005), Wood et al. (2001)	Cheeta et al. (2001), Costall et al. (1992), Cutler (1991), Dunn et al. (1989), Haller et al. (2000, 2001), Louis et al. (2008), Millan et al. (2001), Picazo et al. (1995), Salome et al. (2006)	Bristow et al. (2000), Dekeyne et al. (2000), Duxon et al. (2000) (chronic), File et al. (1999), Lightowler et al. (1994) (chronic), Starr et al. (2007) (chronic), To and Bagdy (1999), To et al. (1999)	Pellow and File (1987)	
(-)	(2001)		Cheeta et al. (2001), Bagdy et al. (2001)		Johnston and File (1988)
(0)	Rex et al. (2004)		Lightowler et al. (1994), Duxon et al. (2000), Salome et al. (2006), Louis et al. (2008)	Eguchi et al. (2001), File (1985), Popik and Vetulani (1993) (chronic)	

 Table 5
 Summary of findings with the social interaction test following peripheral administration of different classes of anxiolytic drugs

(+) anxiolytic; (-) anxiogenic; (0) no effect; SSRI selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; MAOI monoamine oxidase inhibitor

Additional studies that directly compare the effects of chronic and acute antidepressant treatments on ultrasonic vocalizations would also be useful. Because of the relative fragility of rodent pups, however, as well as pharmacokinetic differences between pups and adults, chronic drug treatments would more advisable using an adult ultrasonic vocalization model (see below).

Blumberg et al. (2000) have proposed that ultrasonic vocalizations in rat pups are not anxiety responses per se, but by-products of the "abdominal compression reaction," which increases venous return to the heart when its return is compromised. Blumberg et al. demonstrate that cold temperatures can elicit ultrasonic

MAOIs	Caille et al. (1996), Paslawski et al. (1996), Johnston and File (1988)	(continued)
Tricyclics	Matsuzawa-Yanagida et al. (2007), Aricioglu and Altunbas (2003)	
SSRIs	Cadogan et al. (1992), Griebel et al. (1994), Griebel et al. (1999), Kunt et al. (2000), Kuan et al. (2008), Matsuzawa-Yanagida et al. (2007), Chaki et al. (2005)	
5-HT1A agonists	Cao and Rodgers (1997), Critchley and Handley (1987a, b), Dunn et al. (1990), Griebel et al. (1997), Hallar et al. (2000), Mendoza et al. (1999), Pokk and Zharkovsky (1998), Soderpalm et al. (1989), Grundmann et al. (2007), Jung et al. (2006), Vaidya et al. (2004), Peng et al. (2003), Escarabajal et al. (2003), Lin et al. (2003)	
Benzodiazepines	 (+) Kapus et al. (2008), Lister (1987), Pellow et al. (1985), Naderi et al. (1985), Naderi et al. (2008), Rocha et al. (2007), Yoon et al. (2007), Albrechet-Souza et al. (2007), Albrechet-Souza et al. (2007), Wei et al. (2007), Wei et al. (2007), Wesolowska and Nikiforuk (2007), Wei et al. (2007), Bradley et al. (2007), Bradley et al. (2007), Bradley et al. (2006), Wiolle et al. (2006), Wrignes et al. (2006), Mora et al. (2006), Atack et al. (2006), Mora et al. (2005), Tokumo et al. (2006), Mora et al. (2005), Tokumo et al. (2006), Mora et al. (2005), Tokumo et al. (2006), Mora et al. (2005), Mora et al. (20	

Table 6 (continued)				
Benzodiazepines	5-HT1A agonists	SSRIs	Tricyclics N	AAOIs
(2004, 2005), Yasui et al. (2005), Park et al. (2005), Rabbani et al. (2005), Mi et al. (2005), Fernandez- Guasti et al. (2004), Savic et al. (2004), Soman et al. (2004), Peng et al. (2004), Rabbani et al. (2004), Wilson et al. (2004), Wilson et al. (2004), Wilson et al. (2004), Kurt et al. (2003), Huen et al. (2003), Rabbani et al (2003), Silva and Brandao (2003), Silva and Brandao (2000)				
Ĵ		Handley and McBlane (1992), Koks et al. (2001), Pollier et al. (2000), Silva and Brandao (2000), Silva et al. (1999), Drapier et al. (2007)		
0)	Collinson and Dawson (1997), Critchley and Handley (1987a, b), Pellow and File (1986), Pellow et al. (1987), Moser (1989), Moser et al. (1990), Rodoers et al. (1990),	Handley and McBlane (1992), Linnoila et al. (1987), Rodgers et al. (1997b), Adamec et al. (2004), Holmes and Rodgers (2003)	Cole and Rodgers (1995), File F and Johnston (1987), Lister (1987), Luscombe et al. (1990), Pellow et al. (1985), Drapier et al. (2007)	folmes and Rodgers (2003)
(1) anviolatio: (1) anviocenio: (0)	no affact: SSBI salactiva sarotonii	montake inhihitor MAOI mon	amina avidasa inhihitar	

(+) anxiolytic; (-) anxiogenic; (0) no effect; SSKI selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; MAUI monoamine oxidase inhibitor

140

vocalizations through an increase in venous pressure, as can clonidine, an $\alpha 2$ adrenoceptor agonist. Whether or not this cardiovascular mechanism can explain the suppression of ultrasonic vocalizations by anxiolytic drugs is questionable. It is just as likely that these cardiovascular perturbations themselves are aversive or anxiogenic, or a by-product of anxiety, in which case these data only reinforce the model's general utility.

Ultrasonic vocalizations in the range of 22 kHz can also be induced in adult rats by subjecting them to a variety of stressors, including inescapable foot shocks (DeVry et al. 1993) As seen in Table 6, shock-induced ultrasonic vocalizations are sensitive to the effects of all major classes of anxiety-reducing compounds. However, it should be noted that the effects of diazepam, as well as fluoxetine, were in some cases observed only at doses that were higher than the anxiety-reducing doses ordinarily used in humans (Bartoszyk et al. 1997; Sanchez and Meier 1997; Sanchez 2003).

USVs induced by stressors other than foot shock, such as air puffs, conspecific intruders, acoustic startle stimuli, or drug withdrawal are also reduced by benzodiazepine anxiolytics and 5-HT_{1A} compounds, although there is considerable variability (Naito et al. 2003; Vivian and Miczek 1993; Kaltwasser 1990, 1991; Knapp et al. 1993, 1998; but see Becker et al. 2001). Cold-induced USVs can be reduced by several SSRIs (Fish et al. 2004). However, it is hard to imagine that stimuli as diverse as cold temperatures, attack by an intruder, air puffs to the head, and withdrawal from cocaine would produce similar distress, either quantitatively or qualitatively. Thus, variability in drug effects may be associated with the specific stimulus used to induce the USVs.

2 Summary and Conclusions

In summary, the models reviewed in this chapter show at least some sensitivity to a variety of agents known to produce anxiolysis in humans (i.e., the benzodiazepines, antidepressants, and 5-HT_{1A} compounds). All of the models show good sensitivity to benzodiazepine anxiolytics. Light/dark exploration, social interaction, elevated plus-maze, shock-probe/marble burying, and the conflict tests have shown some sensitivity to antidepressants and 5-HT_{1A} compounds, but to varying degrees. The conflict and ultrasonic vocalization tests seem to be broadly sensitive to the anxiolytic effects of antidepressants. Ultrasonic vocalization appears to be sensitive to all classes of therapeutically effective anxiolytic compounds. Fear-potentiated startle, although sensitive to both benzodiazepine and 5-HT_{1A} anxiolytics, has thus far failed to detect the anxiolytic effects of traditional antidepressants.

While the majority of these models showed at least some sensitivity to antidepressant and 5-HT_{1A} compounds, the anxiolytic effects of these drugs were often more variable than the effects of benzodiazepine anxiolytics. In addition, there were a number of instances in which antidepressant and 5-HT_{1A} agents produced effects

	Benzodiazepines	5-HT1A agonists	SSRIs	Tricyclics	MAOIs
(+)	Engel et al. (1987), Fish et al. (2000), Gardner (1985a, b), Hodgson et al. (2008), Iijima and Chaki (2005), Kehne et al. (2000), Miczek et al. (1995), Millan et al. (2001), Olivier et al. (1998), Podhorna and Brown (2000), Rowlett et al. (2001)	Benton and Nastiti (1988), Fish et al. (2000), Hodgson et al. (2008), Iijima and Chaki (2005), Kehne et al. (1991, 2000), Millan et al. (2001), Nastiti et al. (1991), Olivier et al. (1998), Siemiatkowski et al. (2001)	Hodgson et al. (2008), Iijima and Chaki (2005), Kehne et al. (2000), Olivier et al. (1998)	Kehne et al. (2000), Podharma and Brown (2000)	
(-) (0)				Winslow and Insel (1990) Iijima and Chaki (2005)	

 Table 7
 Summary of findings with the ultrasonic vocalizations test following peripheral administration of different classes of anxiolytic drugs

(+) anxiolytic; (-) anxiogenic; (0) no effect; *SSRI* selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; *MAOI* monoamine oxidase inhibitor

opposite to those of standard anxiolytics, suggestive of an "anxiogenic" action. There are several possible explanations for these inconsistencies, which have more general implications for animal models of anxiety and anxiolytic drug action.

A drug may have very reliable effects in an animal model of anxiety, but unless that drug also has reliable antianxiety effects in humans, it cannot be used to validate the animal model. Conversely, a drug that has inconsistent or unreliable anxiolytic effects in humans cannot be used to invalidate an animal model of anxiety. In this regard, there is little clinical evidence that 5-HT_{1A} agents, other than buspirone, produce reliable antianxiety effects in humans and even the effects of buspirone appear to be more variable than the effects of benzodiazepine anxiolytics (e.g., Pecknold et al. 1985; Sheehan et al. 1988, 1990; Wheatley 1982). A number of clinical trials (e.g., Olajide and Lader 1984; Sheehan et al. 1990) suggest that the efficacy of buspirone across different human anxiety disorders (see DSM-IV) is not as robust as the benzodiazepines (Hoffman and Mathew 2008). For a summary of comparative clinical findings see; Argyropoulos et al. 2000, Table 1. These clinical data are certainly not definitive but, if anxious humans respond more variably to buspirone than to benzodiazepine anxiolytics, one might expect the effects of 5-HT_{1A} agents in animal models of anxiolytic drug action to be more variable than the effects of benzodiazepines.

The clinical efficacy of antidepressant drugs in the treatment of anxiety disorders is far more convincing, but there is still some variation in efficacy (see Tyrer and Tyrer 1994; Hoffman and Mathew 2008; Borsini et al. 2002). There is also some disagreement about whether specific antidepressants are required for particular anxiety disorders (e.g., agoraphobia, panic), or are superior to benzodiazepine anxiolytics for these disorders. Furthermore, anxiety in humans often overlaps with depression, so that interpretation of a therapeutic drug effect as being either anxiolytic or antidepressant can sometimes be difficult. Perhaps the most important clinical finding in this literature, however, is that unlike classical benzodiazepines, the anxiolytic effects of traditional antidepressants in humans are normally delayed (2–4 weeks), and the initial (acute) response may sometimes be an exacerbation of anxiety (Argyropoulos et al. 2000). Thus, acute antidepressant treatment in an animal model of anxiety is of questionable relevance to its pharmacological validation.

Chronicity may be equally relevant to the effects 5-HT_{1A} compounds in these models. Whereas chronic administration of 5-HT_{1A} or antidepressant drugs often resulted in reliable, anxiolytic effects in a variety of animal models (Commissaris et al. 1990; Duxon et al. 2000; Fontana and Commissaris 1988; Griebel et al. 1994; Rocha et al. 1994; Soderpalm et al. 1993; Yamashita et al. 1995), acute administration resulted in less reliable anxiolytic effects, or even anxiogenesis (e.g., Griebel et al. 1994; Handley and McBlane 1992; Moser 1989).

Another possibility is that different animal models represent qualitatively different types of "anxiety" or fear, only some of which are reliably inhibited by 5-HT_{1A} agents or antidepressants. Thus, one could speculate that the social interaction test primarily reflects a type of social phobia, which is reliably suppressed by 5-HT_{1A} agents and certain antidepressants, whereas the elevated plus-maze test reflects a type of acrophobia, which is not as reliably suppressed by 5-HT_{1A} agents or antidepressants. This would imply that animal fears can be pharmacologically dissected, which in turn would support the pharmacological dissection of human anxiety. Although these speculations seem to be consistent with some of the animal data reviewed in this chapter, at this time there is no convincing clinical evidence that specific anxiety disorders are differentially affected by benzodiazepine, 5-HT_{1A} or antidepressant anxiolytics (Hoffman and Mathew 2008; Argyropoulos et al. 2000; Tyrer and Tyrer 1994).

Thus, a number of factors, including clinical effectiveness, chronicity, and model-type, may alter the correspondence between the effects of benzodiazepines, $5\text{-}HT_{1A}$ agents, and antidepressants in animal models of anxiety. On the whole, however, the data summarized above suggest that there is enough correspondence between drug-effects across these tests that future paradigmatic studies may ultimately establish their validity as general models of antianxiety drug action. While all models may not attain this ideal, it should be remembered that "class-specific" models could serve as a valuable tools for studying the mechanisms by which benzodiazepine, $5\text{-}HT_{1A}$, or antidepressant drugs produce their anxiolytic effects.

References

- Adamec R, Bartoszyk GD, Burton P (2004) Effects of systemic injections of vilazodone, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor and serotonin 1A receptor agonist, on anxiety induced by predator stress in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 504:65–77
- Albrechet-Souza L, Oliveira AR, De Luca MC et al (2005) A comparative study with two types of elevated plus-maze (transparent vs. opaque walls) on the anxiolytic effects of midazolam, one-trial tolerance and fear-induced analgesia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 29(4):571–579
- Albrechet-Souza L, de Carvalho MC, Franci CR, Brandao ML (2007) Increases in plasma corticosterone and stretched-attend postures in rats naive and previously exposed to the elevated plus-maze are sensitive to the anxiolytic-like effects of midazolam. Horm Behav 52:267–273
- American Psychiatric Association (1994) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, (DSM-IVTM), 4th edn. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC
- Anuradha H, Srikumar BN, Rao BSS et al (2008) Euphorbia hirta reverses chronic stress-induced anxiety and mediates its action through the GABA(A) receptor benzodiazepine receptor-clchannel complex. J Neural Transm 115:35–42
- Argyropoulos SV, Sandford JJ, Nutt D (2000) The psychobiology of anxiolytic drugs Part 2: pharmacological treatments of anxiety. PharmacolTher 88:213–227
- Aricioglu F, Altunbas H (2003) Agmatine an endogenous anxiolytic. Agmatine and imidazolines: Their novel receptors and enzymes. 1009:136–140
- Atack JR, Pike A, Marshall G et al (2006) The in vivo properties of pagoclone in rat are most likely mediated by 5'-hydroxy pagoclone. Neuropharmacology 50:677–689
- Baldwin HA, Johnston AL, File SE (1989) Antagonistic effects of caffeine and yohimbine in animal tests of anxiety. Eur J Pharmacol 159:211–215
- Ballard TM, Woolley ML, Prinssen E et al (2005) The effect of the mGlu5 receptor antagonist MPEP in rodent tests of anxiety and cognition: a comparison. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 179:218–229
- Bartoszyk GD, Hegenbart R, Ziegler H (1997) EMD 68843, a serotonin reuptake inhibitor with selective presynaptic 5-HT1A receptor agonistic properties. Eur J Pharmacol 322:147–153
- Beardslee SL, Papadakis E, Fontana DJ et al (1990) Antipanic drug treatments: failure to exert anxiolytics-like effects on defensive burying behavior. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 35:451–455
- Becker C, Thiebot MH, Touitou Y et al (2001) Enhanced cortical extracellular levels of cholecystokinin-like material in a model of anticipation of social defeat in the rat. J Neurosci 21:262–269
- Berg WK, Davis M (1984) Diazepam blocks fear-enhanced startle elicited electrically from the brain-stem. Physiol Behav 32:333–336
- Bhattacharya SK, Bhattacharya A, Sairam K et al (2000) Anxiolytic-antidepressant activity of Withania somnifera glycowithanolides: an experimental study. Phytomedicine 7:463–469
- Bill DJ, Fletcher A, Knight M (1989) Actions of 5HT1A ligands and standard anxiolytics on mouse exploratory behaviour in a two compartment light: dark arena. Br J Pharmacol 98 (Suppl):679
- Blampied NM, Kirk RC (1983) Defensive burying: effects of diazepam and oxprenolol measured in extinction. Life Sci 33:695–699
- Blanchard RJ, Blanchard DC, Agullana R et al (1991) 22 kHz alarm cries to presentation of a predator, by laboratory rats living in visible burrow systems. Physiol Behav 50:967–972
- Blumberg MS, Sokoloff G, Kirby RF et al (2000) Distress vocalizations in infant rats: what's all the fuss about? Psychol Sci 11:78–81
- Bojarski AJ, Paluchowska MH, Duszynska B et al (2006) Structure-intrinsic activity relationship studies in the group of 1-imido/amido substituted 4-(4-arylpiperazin-1-yl) cyclohexane

derivatives; new, potent 5-HT1A receptor agents with anxiolytic-like activity. Bioorg Med Chem 14:1391-1402

- Bondi CO, Barrera G, Lapiz MDS et al (2007) Noradrenergic facilitation of shock-probe defensive burying in lateral septum of rats, and modulation by chronic treatment with desipramine. Prog Neuro-psychopharmacol Biol Psychiat 31:482–495
- Borsini F, Podhorna J, Marazziti D (2002) Do animal models of anxiety predict anxiolytic-like effects of antidepressants? Psychopharmacology 163:121–141
- Both FL, Meneghini L, Kerber VA et al (2005) Psychopharmacological profile of the alkaloid psychollatine as a 5HT2(A. J Nat Prod 68:374–380
- Bourin M, Hascoet M (2003) The mouse light/dark box test. Eur J Pharmacol 463:55-65
- Bourin M, Redrobe JP, Hascoet M et al (1996) A schematic representation of the psychopharmacological profile of antidepressants. Prog Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiat 20:1389–1402
- Bourin M, Petit-Demouliere B, Dhonnchadha BN et al (2007) Animal models of anxiety in mice. Fundam Clin Pharm 21:567–574
- Bradley BF, Starkey NJ, Brown SL et al (2007) The effects of prolonged rose odor inhalation in two animal models of anxiety. Physiol Behav 92:931–938
- Bristow LJ, O'Connor D, Watts R et al (2000) Evidence for accelerated desensitisation of 5-HT2C receptors following combined treatment with fluoxetine and the 5-HT1A receptor antagonist, WAY 100, 635, in the rat. Neuropharmacology 39:1222–1236
- Brocco MJ, Koek W, Degryse AD et al (1990) Comparative studies on the anti-punishment effects of chlordiazepoxide, buspirone and ritanserin in the pigeon, Geller-Seifter and Vogel conflict procedures. Behav Pharmacol 1:403–418
- Brodkin J, Busse C, Sukoff SJ et al (2002) Anxiolytic-like activity of the mGluR5 antagonist MPEP – a comparison with diazepam and buspirone. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 73:359–366
- Broekkamp CL, Rijk HW, Joly-Gelouin D et al (1986) Major tranquilizers can be distinguished from minor tranquilizers on the basis of effects on marble-burying and swim-induced grooming in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 126:223–229
- Brown JS, Kalish HI, Farber IE (1951) Conditioned fear as revealed by magnitude of startle response to an auditory stimulus. J Exp Psychol 41:317–328
- Burgdorf J, Panksepp J (2006) The neurobiology of positive emotions. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 30:173–187
- Busse CS, Brodkin J, Tattersall D et al (2004) The behavioral profile of the potent and selective mGlu5 receptor antagonist 3-[(2-methyl-1, 3-thiazol-4-yl)ethynyl]pyridine (MTEP) in rodent models of anxiety. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:1971–1979
- Byrnes EM, Bridges RS (2006) Reproductive experience reduces the sedative, but not anxiolytic effects of diazepam. Psychoneuroendocrinology 31:988–996
- Cadogan AK, Wright IK, Coombs I et al (1992) Repeated paxroxetine administration in the rat produces an anxiolytic profile in the elevated X-maze and decreased ^[3H]-ketanserin binding. Neurosci Lett 42(Suppl):S8
- Caille D, Bergis OE, Fankhauser C et al (1996) Befloxatone, a new reversible and selective monoamine oxidase-A inhibitor. ll. Pharmacological profile. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 277:265–277
- Caliendo G, Santagada V, Perissutti E et al (2005) Derivatives as 5HT(1A) receptor ligands past and present. Curr Med Chem 12:1721–1753
- Cao BJ, Rodgers RJ (1997) Comparative behavioural profiles of buspirone and its metabolite 1-(2pyrimidinyl)-piperazine (1-PP) in the murine elevated plus-maze. Neuropharmacology 36:1089–1097
- Carden SE, Hofer MA (1990) Independence of benzodiazepine and opiate action in the suppression of isolation distress in rat pups. Behav Neurosci 104:160–166
- Carobrez AP, Bertoglio LJ (2005) Ethological and temporal analyses of anxiety-like behavior: the elevated plus-maze model 20 years on. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29:1193–1205
- Carr MN, Bekku N, Yoshimura H (2006) Identification of anxiolytic ingredients in ginseng root using the elevated plus-maze test in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 531:160–165

- Casella JV, Davis M (1985) Fear enhanced acoustic startle is not attenuated by acute or chronic imipramine treatment in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 87:4
- Cechin EM, Quevedo J, Barichello T et al (2003) Dose-related effects of propericiazine in rats. Braz J Med Biol Res 36(2):227–231
- Cha HY, Park JH, Hong JT et al (2005) Anxiolytic-like effects of ginsenosides on the elevated plus-maze model in mice. Biol Pharm Bull 28:1621–1625
- Chaki S, Oshida Y, Ogawa S et al (2005) MCL0042: a nonpeptidic MC4 receptor antagonist and serotonin reuptake inhibitor with anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like activity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 82:621–626
- Cheeta S, Irvine E, File SE (2001) Social isolation modifies nicotine's effects in animal tests of anxiety. Br J Pharmacol 132:1389–1395
- Chen SW, Mi XJ, Wang R et al (2005) Behavioral effects of sinomenine in murine models of anxiety. Life Sci 78:232–238
- Chen SW, Wang WJ, Li WJ et al (2006) Anxiolytic-like effect of asiaticoside in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 85:339–344
- Chi CC (1965) Effect of amobarbital sodium on conditioned fear as measured by potentiated startle response in rats. Psychopharmacologia 7:115–122
- Clénet F, Hascoët M, Fillion G et al (2004) Anxiolytic profile of HG1, a 5-HT-moduline antagonist, in three mouse models of anxiety. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 14(6):449–456
- Cole JC, Rodgers RJ (1994) Ethological evaluation of the effects of acute and chronic buspirone treatment in the murine elevated plus-maze test: comparison with haloperidol. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 114:288–296
- Cole JC, Rodgers RJ (1995) Ethological comparison of the effects of diazepam and acute/chronic imipramine on the behaviour of mice in the elevated plus-maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 52:473–478
- Collinson N, Dawson GR (1997) On the elevated plus-maze the anxiolytic-like effects of the 5-HT1A agonist, 8-OH-DPAT, but not the anxiogenic-like effects of the 5-HT1A partial agonist, buspirone, are blocked by the 5-HT1A antagonist, WAY 100635. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 132:35–43
- Commissaris RL, Hill RJ (1995) High-dose subchronic imipramine treatment: effects on anxietylike (conflict) behavior in rats. Anxiety 1:109–113
- Commissaris RL, Ellis DM, Hill TJ et al (1990) Chronic antidepressant and clonidine treatment effects on conflict behavior in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 37:167–176
- Commissaris RL, Humrich J, Johns J et al (1995) The effects of monoamine oxidase (MAO) inhibitors on conflict behavior in the rat. Behav Pharmacol 6:195–202
- Commissaris RL, Fomum EA, Leavell BJ (2004) Effects of buspirone and alprazolam treatment on the startle-potentiated startle response. Depress Anxiety 19:146–151
- Costa M, Costa CRA, Gargano AC et al (2006) Differential behaviour in the marble-burying test does not predict behavioural differences in generalized anxiety disorder models. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 16:S474–S475
- Costall B, Hendrie CA, Kelly ME et al (1987) Actions of sulpiride and tiapride in a simple model of anxiety in mice. Neuropharmacology 26:5
- Costall B, Domeney AM, Grrard PA et al (1988a) Zacopride: anxiolytic profile in rodent and primate models of anxiety. J Pharm Pharmacol 40:3
- Costall B, Kelly ME, Naylor RJ et al (1988b) Actions of buspirone in a putative model of anxiety in the mouse. J Pharm Pharmacol 40:6
- Costall B, Jones BJ, Kelly ME et al (1989) Exploration of mice in a black and white test box: validation as a model of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 32:8
- Costall B, Domeney AM, Farre AJ et al (1992) Profile of action of a novel 5-hydroxytriptamine1A receptor ligand E-4424 to inhibit aversive behavior in the mouse, rat and marmoset. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 262:8
- Costanzo A, Guerrini G, Ciciani G et al (2002) Benzodiazepine receptor ligands. 7. Synthesis and pharmacological evaluation of new 3-esters of the 8-chloropyrazolo[5,1-c][1,2,4]benzotriazine

5-oxide. 3-(2-thienylmethoxycarbonyl) derivative: an anxioselective agent in rodents. J Med Chem 45:5710–5720

- Costello NL, Carlson JN, Glick SD (1991) Acute administration of diazepam and buspirone in rats trained on conflict schedules having different degrees of predictability. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 40:787–794
- Craft RM, Howard JL, Pollard GT (1988) Conditioned defensive burying as a model for identifying anxiolytics. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 30:775–780
- Crawley JN (1981) Neuropharmacologic specificity of a simple animal model for the behavioral actions of benzodiazepines. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 15:4
- Crawley JN, Goodwin FK (1980) Preliminary report of a simple animal behavior model for the anxiolytic effects of benzodiazepines. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 13:3
- Critchley MAE, Handley SL (1987a) 5-HT 1A ligand effects in the X-maze anxiety test. Br J Pharmacol 92:660P
- Critchley MAE, Handley SL (1987b) Effects in the X-maze model of agents acting at 5-HT 1 and 5-HT 2 receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 93:502–506
- Cronbach LJ, Meehl PE (1955) Construct validity in psychological tests. Psychol Bull 52:281-302
- Cryan JF, Holmes A (2005) the ascent of mouse: advances in modelling human depression and anxiety. Nat Rev 4:775–790
- Cryan JF, Kelly PH, Chaperon F et al (2004) Behavioral characterization of the novel GABAB receptor-positive modulator GS39783 (N, N'-dicyclopentyl-2-methylsulfanyl-5-nitro-pyrimidine-4, 6-diamine): anxiolytic-like activity without side effects associated with baclofen or benzodiazepines. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 310(3):952–963
- Cui XY, Zhao X, Chu QP et al (2007) Influence of diltiazem on the behavior of zolpidem-treated mice in the elevated-plus maze test. J Neural Transm 114:155–160
- Cutler MG (1991) An ethological study of the effects of buspirone and the 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, BRL 43694 (granisetron) on behavior during social interactions in female and male mice. Neuropharmacology 30:7
- Dal-Cól ML, Pereira LO, Rosa VP et al (2003) Lack of midazolam-induced anxiolysis in the plus-maze Trial 2 is dependent on the length of Trial 1. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 74:395–400
- Davis M (1979) Diazepam and flurazepam: effects on conditioned fear as measured with the potentiated startle paradigm. Psychopharmacology 62:7
- Davis M (1986a) Neural mechanisms of fear conditioning measured with the acoustic startle reflex. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 25:312
- Davis M (1986b) Pharmacological and anatomical analysis of fear conditioning using the fearpotentiated startle paradigm. Behav Neurosci 100:814–824
- Davis M, Kehne JH, Commissaris RL (1985) Antagonism of apomorphine-enhanced startle by alpha-1-adrenergic antagonists. Eur J Pharmacol 108:233–241
- Davis M, Cassella JV, Kehne JH (1988) Serotonin does not mediate anxiolytic effects of buspirone in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm: comparison with 8-OH-DPAT and ipsapirone. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 94:14–20
- De Angelis L (1992) The anxiogenic-like effects of pentylenetetrazole in mice treated chronically with carbamazepine or valproate. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 14:767–771
- De Angelis L, Furlan C (2000) The anxiolytic like properties of two selective MAOIs, moclobemide and selegiline, in a standard and an enhanced light/dark aversion test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 65:649–653
- De Boer SF, Slangen JL, van der Gugten J (1990) Plasma catecholamine and corticosterone levels during active and passive shock-prod avoidance behavior in rats: effects of chlordiazepoxide. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 47:1089–1098
- de Jongh R, Groenink L, van der Gugten J et al (2002) The light-enhanced startle paradigm as a putative animal model for anxiety: effects of chlordiazepoxide, flesinoxan and fluvoxamine. Psychopharmacology 159:176–180

- De Vry J, Schreiber R, Melon C et al (2004) 5-HT1A receptors are differentially involved in the anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects of 8-OH-DPAT and fluoxetine in the rat. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 14:487–495
- Degroot A, Nomikos GG (2004) Genetic deletion and pharmacological blockade of CB1 receptors modulates anxiety in the shock-probe burying test. Eur J Neurosci 20:1059–1064
- Dekeyne A, Brocco M, Adhumeau A et al (2000) The selective serotonin (5-HT)1A receptor ligand, S15535, displays anxiolytic-like effects in the social interaction and Vogel models and suppresses dialysate levels of 5-HT in the dorsal hippocampus of freely-moving rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 152:55–66
- Deren-Wesolek A, Tatarczynska E, Chojnacka-Wojcik E (1998) The novel buspirone analogue, 8-[4-[2-(1, 2, 3, 4-tetrahydroisoquinolinyl)[butyl]-8-azaspiro]decane-7, 9-dione, with anxiolytic-like and antidepressant-like effects in rats. J Psychopharmacology (Berl) 12:380–384
- DeVry J, Benz U, Schreiber R et al (1993) Shock-induced ultrasonic vocalization in young adult rats: a model for testing putative anti-anxiety agents. Eur J Pharmacol 249:331–339
- Drapier D, Bentue-Ferrer D, Laviolle B et al (2007) Effects of acute fluoxetine, paroxetine and desipramine on rats tested on the elevated plus-maze. Behav Brain Res 176:202–209
- Dunn RW, Corbett R, Fielding S (1989) Effects of 5-HT1A receptor agonists and NMDA receptor antagonists in the social interaction test and the elevated plus maze. Eur J Pharmacol 169:10
- Duxon MS, Starr KR, Upton N (2000) Latency to paroxetine-induced anxiolysis in the rat is reduced by co-administration of the 5-HT1A receptor antagonist WAY100635. Br J Pharmacol 130:1713–1719
- Eguchi J, Inomata Y, Saito K (2001) The anxiolytic-like effect of MCI-225, a selective NA reuptake inhibitor with 5-HT3 receptor antagonism. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 68:677–683
- Ellis DM, Fontana DJ, McCloskey C et al (1990) Chronic anxiolytic treatment effects on conflict behavior in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 37:177–186
- Engin E, Treit D (2008) The effects of intra-cerebral drug infusions on animals' untrained fear reactions: a systematic review. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiat 32(6):1399–1419
- Escarabajal MD, Torres C, Flaherty CF (2003) The phenomenon of one-trial tolerance to the anxiolytic effect of chlordiazepoxide in the elevated plus-maze test is abolished by previous administration of chlordiazepoxide or buspirone. Life Sci 73:1063–1074
- Felipe FCB, Sousa JT, Souza LEDO et al (2007) Piplartine, an amide alkaloid from piper tuberculatum, presents anxiolytic and antidepressant effects in mice. Phytomedicine 14: 605–612
- Fernandez-Guasti A, Lopez-Rubalcava C (1998) Modification of the anxiolytic action of 5-HT1A compounds by GABA-benzodiazepine agents in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 60:27–32
- Fernandez-Guasti A, Martinez-Mota L (2003) Orchidectomy sensitizes male rats to the action of diazepam on burying behavior latency: role of testosterone. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 75:473–479
- Fernandez-Guasti A, Picazo O (1990) The actions of diazepam and serotonergic anxiolytics vary according to the gender and the estrous cycle phase. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 37:77–81
- Fernandez-Guasti A, Picazo O (1997) Anxiolytic action of diazepam, but not of buspirone, are influenced by gender and the endocrine stage. Behav Brain Res 88:213–218
- Fernandez-Guasti A, Hong E, Lopez-Rubalcava C (1992) Species differences in the mechanism through which the serotonergic agonists indorenate and ipsapirone produce their anxiolytic action. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 107:61–68
- Fernandez-Guasti A, Martinez-Mota L, Estrada-Camerena E et al (1999) Chronic treatment with desipramine induces an estrous cycle-dependent anxiolytic-like action in the burying behavior, but not in the elevated plus maze test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 63:13–20
- Fernandez-Guasti A, Ferreira A, Picazo O (2001) Diazepam, but not buspirone, induces similar anxiolytic-like actions in lactating and ovariectomized Wistar rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 70:85–93

- Fernández-Guasti A, Reyes R, Martínez-Mota L et al (2005) Influence of inflammatory nociception on the anxiolytic-like effect of diazepam and buspirone in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 180(3):399–407
- File SE (1980) The use of social interaction as a model of detecting anxiolytic activity of chlordiazepoxide-like drugs. J Neurosci Meth 2:219–238
- File SE (1985) Animal models for predicting clinical efficacy of anxiolytic drugs: social behavior. Neuropsychobiology 13:7
- File SE, Hyde JRG (1978) Can social interaction be used to measure anxiety? Br J Pharmacol 62:5 File SE, Hyde JRG (1979) A test of anxiety that distinguishes between the actions of benzodia-
- zepines and those of other minor tranquilisers and stimulants. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 11:4 File SE, Johnston AL (1987) Chronic treatment with imipramine does not reverse the effects of
- 3 anxiogenic compounds in a test of anxiety in the rat. Neuropsychobiology 17:187–192
- File SE, Pellow S (1985) The effects of triazolobenzodiazepines in two animal tests of anxiety and in the holeboard. Br J Pharmacol 86:729–735
- File SE, Ouagazzal AM, Gonzalez LE et al (1999) Chronic fluoxetine in tests of anxiety in rat lines selectively bred for differential 5-HT1A receptor function. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 62:695–701
- File SE, Cheeta S, Akanezi C (2001) Diazepam and nicotine increase social interaction in gerbils: a test for anxiolytic action. Brain Res 888:311–313
- Finn DA, Rutledge-Gorman MT, Crabbe JC (2003) Genetic animal models of anxiety. Neurogenetics 4:109–135
- Fish EW, Sekinda M, Ferrari PF et al (2000) Distress vocalizations in maternally separated mouse pups: modulation via 5-HT1A, 5-HT1B and GABA(A) receptors. Psychopharmacology 149:277–285
- Fish EW, Faccidomo S, Gupta S et al (2004) Anxiolytic-like effects of escitalopram, citalopram, and R-citalopram in maternally separated mouse pups. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 308:474–480
- Fontana DJ, Commissaris RL (1988) Effects of acute and chronic imipramine administration on conflict behavior in the rat: a potential "animal model" for the study of panic disorder? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 95:147–150
- Fontana DJ, Carbary TM, Commissaris RL (1989) Effects of acute and chronic anti-panic drug administration on conflict behavior in the rat. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 98:157–162
- Gardner CR (1986) Recent developments in 5-HT-related pharmacology of animal models of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 24:1479–1485
- Gardner CR, Guy AP (1984) A social interaction model of anxiety sensitive to accutely administered benzodiazepines. Drug Dev Res 4:207–216
- Giusti R, Guidetti G, Costa E et al (1991) The preferential antagonism of pentylenetetrazole proconflict responses differentiates a class of anxiolytic benzodiazepines with potential antipanic action. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257:1062–1068
- Gleason SD, Witkin JM (2007) A parametric analysis of punishment frequency as a determinant of the response to chlordiazepoxide in the Vogel conflict test in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 87:380–385
- Gomez C, Saldivar-Gonzalez A, Delgado G, Rodriguez R (2002) Rapid anxiolytic activity of progesterone and pregnanolone in male rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 72:543–550
- Gonzalez-Pardo H, Conejo NM, Arias JL (2006) Oxidative metabolism of limbic structures after acute administration of diazepam, alprazolam and zolpidem. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:1020–1026
- Gonzalez-Trujano E, Martinez AL, Reyes-Ramirez A et al (2006) Palmitone isolated from annona diversifolia induces an anxiolytic-like effect in mice. Planta Med 72:703–707
- Graeff FG, Audi EA, Almeida SS et al (1990) Behavioral effects of 5-HT receptor ligands in the aversive brain stimulation, elevated plus-maze and learned helplessness tests. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 14:501–506

- Griebel G, Moreau JL, Jenck F et al (1994) Acute and chronic treatment with 5-HT reuptake inhibitors differentially modulate emotional responses in anxiety models in rodents. Psychopharmacology 113:463–470
- Griebel G, Sanger DJ, Perrault G (1996) The use of the rat elevated plus-maze to discriminate between non-selective and BZ-1 (omega) (1) selective, benzodiazepine receptor ligands. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 124:245–254
- Griebel G, Rodgers RJ, Perrault G et al (1997) Risk assessment behaviour: evaluation of utility in the study of 5-HT-related drugs in the rat elevated plus-maze test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 57:817–827
- Griebel G, Cohen C, Perrault G et al (1999) Behavioral effects of acute and chronic fluoxetine in Wistar-Kyoto rats. Physiol Behav 67:315–320
- Groenink L, Van der Gugten J, Verdouw PM et al (1995) The anxiolytic effects of flesinoxan, a 5-HT1A receptor agonist, are not related to its neuroendocrine effects. Eur J Pharmacol 280:185–193
- Groenink L, Van Der Gugten J, Compaan JC et al (1997) Felsinoxan pretreatment differentially affects corticosterone, prolactin and behavioral responses to a flesinoxan challenge. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 131:93–100
- Grundmann O, Nakajima JI, Seo S et al (2007) Anti-anxiety effects of apocynum venetum L. in the elevated plus maze test. J Ethnopharmacol 110:406–411
- Guy AP, Gardner CR (1985) Pharmacological characterisation of a modified social interaction model in rat. Neuropsychobiology 13:194–200
- Gyertyan I (1995) Analysis of the marble burying response: marbles serve to measure digging rather than evoke burying. Behav Pharmacol 6:24–31
- Hagenbuch N, Feldon J, Yee BK (2006) Use of the elevated plus-maze test with opaque or transparent walls in the detection of mouse strain differences and the anxiolytic effects of diazepam. Behav Pharmacol 17:31–41
- Hallar J, Hallasz J, Makara GB (2000) Housing conditions and the anxiolytic effect of buspirone: the relationship between main and side effects. Behav Pharmacol 11:9
- Haller J, Bakos N (2002) Stress-induced social avoidance: a new model of stress-induced anxiety? Physiol Behav 77:327–332
- Haller J, Leveleki C, Halasz J et al (2001) The effect of glucocorticoids on the anxiolytic efficacy of buspirone. Psychopharmacology 157:388–394
- Haller J, Leveleki C, Baranyi J et al (2003) Stress, social avoidance and anxiolytics: a potential model of stress-induced anxiety. Behav Pharmacol 14:439–446
- Handley SL, McBlane JW (1992) Opposite effects of fluoxetine in two animal models of anxiety. Br J Pharmacol 107(Suppl):446P
- Handley SL, Mithani S (1984) Effects of alpha-adrenoreceptor agonists and antagonists in a Xmaze-exploration model of 'fear'-motivated behaviour. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharm 327:1–5
- Harasawa T, Ago Y, Itoh S et al (2006) Role of serotonin type 1A receptors in fluvoxamineinduced inhibition of marble-burying behavior in mice. Behav Pharmacol 17:637–640
- Hascoet M, Bourin M (1997) Anticonflict effect of alpidem as compared with the benzodiazepine alprazolam in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 56:317–324
- Hascoet M, Bourin M (1998) A new approach to the light/dark procedure in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 60:645–653
- Hascoet M, Bourin M, Dhonnchadha A (2000) The influence of buspirone and its metabolite1-PP on the activity of paroxetine in the mouse light dark paradigm and four plates test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 67:45–53
- Hendrie EA, Eilam D, Weiss SM (1997) Effects of diazepam and buspirone on the behaviour of wild voles (microtus socialis) in two models of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 58: 573–576
- Hijzen TH, Slangen JL (1989) Effects of midazolam, DMCM and lindane on potentiated startle in the rat. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 99:3

- Hijzen TH, Houtzager SW, Joordens RJ et al (1995) Predictive validity of the potentiated startle response as a behavioral model for anxiolytic drugs. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 118:150–154
- Hodgson RA, Guthrie DH, Varty GB (2008) Duration of ultrasonic vocalizations in the isolated rat pup as a behavioral measure: sensitivity to anxiolytic and antidepressant drugs. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 88:341–348
- Hoffman EJ, Mathew SJ (2008) Anxiety disorders: a comprehensive review of pharmacotherapies. Mt Sinai J Med 75:248–262
- Hogg S (1996) A review of the validity and variability of the elevated plus-maze as an animal model of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 54:21–30
- Holmes A, Rodgers RJ (2003) Prior exposure to the elevated plus-maze sensitizes mice to the acute behavioral effects of fluoxetine and phenelzine. Eur J Pharmacol 459:221–230
- Howard JL, Pollard GT (1990) Effects of buspirone in the Geller-Seifter conflict test with incremental shock. Drug Dev Res 19:37–47
- Huen MS, Hui KM, Leung JW et al (2003) Naturally occurring 2'-hydroxyl-substituted flavonoids as high-affinity benzodiazepine site ligands. Biochem Pharmacol 66:2397–2407
- Ichimaru Y, Egawa T, Sawa A (1995) 5-HT1A-receptor subtype mediates the effect of fluvoxamine, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, on marble burying behavior in mice. Jpn J Pharmacol 68:65–70
- Igor BA, Santucci D, Alleva E (2001) Ultrasonic vocalizations emitted by infant rodents: a tool for assessment of neurobehavioural development. Behav Brain Res 125:49–56
- Iijima M, Chaki S (2005) Separation-induced ultrasonic vocalization in rat pups: further pharmacological characterization. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 82:652–657
- Imaizumi M, Miyazaki S, Onodera K (1994a) Effects of xanthine derivatives in a light/dark test in mice and contribution of adenosine receptors. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 16:639–644
- Imaizumi M, Suzuki T, Machida H et al (1994b) A fully automated apparatus for a light/dark test measuring anxiolytic or anxiogenic effects of drugs in mice. Jpn J Psychopharmacol 14:83–91
- Insel TR, Hill JL, Mayor RB (1986) Rat pup ultrasonic isolation calls: possible mediation by the benzodiazepine receptor complex. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 24:1262–1267
- Johnston AL, File SE (1988) Profiles of the antipanic compounds, triazolobenzodiazepines and phenelzine, in two animal tests of anxiety. Psychiat Res 25:9
- Johnston AL, File SE (1989) Yohimbine's anxiogenic action; evidence for noradrenergic and dopaminergic sites. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 32:151–156
- Jones GH, Schneider C, Schneider HH et al (1994) Comparison of several benzodiazepine receptor ligands in two models of anxiolytic activity in the mouse: an analysis based on fractional receptor occupancies. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 114:191–199
- Joordens RJ, Hijzen TH, Peeters BW et al (1996) Fear potentiated startle response is remarkably similar in two laboratories. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 126:5
- Joordens RJ, Hijzen TH, Olivier B (1998) The effects of 5-HT1A receptor agonists, 5-HT1A receptor antagonists and their interaction on the fear potentiated startle response. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 139:7
- Jung JW, Ahn NY, Oh HR et al (2006) Anxiolytic effects of the aqueous extract of uncaria rhynchophylla. J Ethnopharmacol 108:193–197
- Jurczyk S, Kołaczkowski M, Maryniak E et al (2004) New arylpiperazine 5-HT(1A) receptor ligands containing the pyrimido[2, 1-f]purine fragment: synthesis, in vitro, and in vivo pharmacological evaluation. J Med Chem 47:2659–2666
- Kaltwasser MT (1990) Acoustic startle induced ultrasonic vocalization in the rat a novel animalmodel of anxiety. Psychopharmacology 101:s28–s28
- Kaltwasser MT (1991) Acoustic startle induced ultrasonic vocalization in the rat a novel animalmodel of anxiety. Behav Brain Res 43:133–137
- Kantor S, Jakus R, Molnar E et al (2005) Despite similar anxiolytic potential, the 5-hydroxytryptamine 2C receptor antagonist SB-242084 [6-chloro-5-methyl-1-[2-(2-methylpyrid-3-yloxy)pyrid-5-yl carbamoyl] indoline] and chlordiazepoxide produced differential effects on electroencephalogram power spectra. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 315:921–930

- Kapus GL, Gacsályi I, Vegh M et al (2008) Antagonism of AMPA receptors produces anxiolyticlike behavior in rodents: effects of GYKI 52466 and its novel analogues. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 198:231–241
- Kaufmann WA, Humpel C, Alheid GF et al (2003) Compartmentation of alpha 1 and alpha 2 GABA(A) receptor subunits within rat extended amygdala: implications for benzodiazepine action. Brain Res 964:91–99
- Kehne JH, Casella JV, Davis M (1988) Anxiolytic effects of buspirone and gepirone in the fear potentiated startle paradigm. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 94:5
- Kehne JH, Coverdale S, McCloskey TC et al (2000) Effects of the CRF, receptor antagonist, CP 154, 526, in the separation-induced vocalization anxiolytic test in rat pups. Neuropharmacology 39:1357–1367
- Kennett GA, Trail B, Bright F (1998) Anxiolytic-like actions of BW 723C86 in the rat Vogel conflict test are 5-HT2B receptor mediated. Neuropharmacology 37:1603–1610
- Kilfoil T, Michel A, Montgomery D et al (1989) Effects of anxiolytic and anxiogenic drugs on exploratory activity in a simple model of anxiety in mice. Neuropharmacology 28:5
- Kim WK, Jung JW, Ahn NY et al (2004) Anxiolytic-like effects of extracts from albizzia julibrissin bark in the elevated plus-maze in rats. Life Sci 75:2787–2795
- Kita A, Furukawa K (2008) Involvement of neurosteroids in the anxiolytic-like effects of AC-5216 in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 89:171–178
- Klein DF (1964) Delineation of two drug-responsive anxiety syndromes. Psychopharmacologia 5:397–408
- Kłodzińska A, Tatarczyńska E, Stachowicz K et al (2004) The anxiolytic-like activity of AIDA (1-aminoindan-1, 5-dicarboxylic acid), an mGLu 1 receptor antagonist. J Physiol Pharmacol 55 (1 Pt 1):113–126
- Knapp DJ, Pohorecky LA (1995) An air-puff stimulus method for elicitation of ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. J Neurosci Methods 62:1–5
- Koks S, Beljajev S, Koovit I et al (2001) 8-OH-DPAT, but not deramciclane, antagonizes the anxiogenic-like action of paroxetine in an elevated plus-maze. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 153:365–372
- Korte SM, Bohus B (1990) The effect of ipsapirone on behavioral and cardiac responses in the shock probe defensive burying test in male rats. Eur J Pharmacol 181:307–310
- Korte SM, De Boer SF (2003) A robust animal model of state anxiety: fear-potentiated behaviour in the elevated plus-maze. Eur J Pharmacol 463:163–175
- Kuan WL, Zhao JW, Barker RA (2008) The role of anxiety in the development of levodopainduced dyskinesias in an animal model of Parkinson's disease, and the effect of chronic treatment with the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor citalopram. Psychopharmacology 197:279–293
- Kumar S, Sharma A (2005) Anti-anxiety activity studies on homoeopathic formulations of turnera aphrodisiaca ward. Evid-Based Complement Alternat Med 2:117–119
- Kurt M, Arik AC, Celik S (2000) The effects of sertraline and fluoxetine on anxiety in the elevated plus-maze test in mice. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol 11:173–180
- Kurt M, Bilge SS, Kukula O, Celik S, Kesim Y (2003) Anxiolytic-like profile of propofol, a general anesthetic, in the plus-maze test in mice. Pol J Pharmacol 55(6):973–977
- Lapiz-Bluhm MD, Bondi CO, Doyen J, Rodriguez GA, Be´dard-Arana T, Morilak DA (2008) Behavioural assays to model cognitive and affective dimensions of depression and anxiety in rats. J Neuroendocrinol 20:1115–1137
- Leveleki C, Sziray N, Levay G et al (2006) Pharmacological evaluation of the stress-induced social avoidance model of anxiety. Brain Res Bull 69:153–160
- Li X, Morrow D, Witkin JM (2006) Decreases in nestlet shredding of mice by serotonin uptake inhibitors: comparison with marble burying. Life Sci 78:1933–1939
- Liao JF, Hung WY, Chen CF (2003) Anxiolytic-like effects of baicalein and baicalin in the Vogel conflict test in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 464:141–146

- Lightowler S, Kennett GA, Williamson I et al (1994) Anxiolytic-like effect of paroxetine in a rat social interaction test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 49:4
- Lin YC, Hsieh MT, Chen CF et al (2003) Anxiolytic effect of ting-chih-wan in mouse behavior models of anxiety. Am J Chin Med 31:47–59
- Linnoila M, Eckardt M, Durcan M et al (1987) Interactions of serotonin with ethanol: clinical and animal studies. Psychopharmacol Bull 23:452–457
- Lister RG (1987) The use of a plus-maze to measure anxiety in the mouse. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 92:180–185
- Lopez-Rubalcava C (1996) Pre- or post-synaptic activity of 5-HT1A compounds in mice depends on the anxiety paradigm. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 54:677–686
- Lopez-Rubalcava C, Saldivar A, Fernandez-Guasti A (1992) Interaction of GABA and serotonin in the anxiolytic action of diazepam and serotonergic anxiolytics. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 43:433–440
- Lopez-Rubalcava C, Fernandez-Guasti A, Urba-Holmgren R (1996) Age dependant differences in the rat conditioned defensive burying behavior: effect of 5-HT1A compounds. Dev Psychobiol 29:157–169
- Lopez-Rubalcava C, Crus SL, Fernandez-Guasti A (1999) Blockade of the anxiolytic like action of ipsapirone and buspirone, but not that of 8-OH-DPAT, by adrenalectomy in male rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology 24:409–422
- Louis C, Stemmelin J, Boulay D et al (2008) Additional evidence for anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like activities of saredutant (SR48968), an antagonist at the neurokinin-2 receptor in various rodent-models. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 89:36–45
- Low K, Crestani F, Keist R et al (2000) Molecular and neuronal substrate for the selective attenuation of anxiety. Science 290:131–134
- Luscombe GP, Mazurkiewicz SE, Buckett WR (1990) Evaluation of tricyclic antidepressants in the elevated plus-maze in rats: anxiolytic effects of dothiepin and doxepine. Br J Pharmacol 100(Suppl):356P
- Luszczki JJ (2008) Interactions of tiagabine with ethosuximide in the mouse pentylenetetrazoleinduced seizure model: an isobolographic analysis for non-parallel dose-response relationship curves. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 378:483–492
- Maisonnette S, Morato S, Brandao ML (1993) Role of resocialization and of 5-HT1A receptor activation on the anxiogenic effects induced by isolation in the elevated plus-maze test. Physiol Behav 54:753–758
- Majercsik E, Haller J, Leveleki C et al (2003) The effect of social factors on the anxiolytic efficacy of buspirone in male rats, male mice, and men. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiat 27:1187–1199
- Mansbach RS, Geyer MA (1988) Blokade of potentiated startle responding in rat by 5-hydroxytriptamine-1A receptor ligands. Eur J Pharmacol 156:8
- Marowsky A, Fritschy JM, Vogt KE (2004) Functional mapping of GABA(A) receptor subtypes in the amygdala. Eur J Neurosci 20:1281–1289
- Martin JR, Ballard TM, Higgins GA (2002) Influence of the 5-HT2C receptor antagonist, S13–242084, in tests of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 71:615–625
- Martinez-Mota L, Estrada-Camarena E, Lopez-Rubalcava C et al (2000) Interaction of desipramine with steroid hormones on experimental anxiety. Psychoneuroendocrinology 25:109–120
- Martins AP, Marras RA, Guimaraes FS (2000) Anxiolytic effect of a CRH receptor antagonist in the dorsal periaqueductal gray. Depress Anxiety 12:99–101
- Mathiasen L, Mirza NR (2005) A comparison of chlordiazepoxide, bretazenil, L838, 417 and zolpidem in a validated mouse Vogel conflict test. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 182:475-484
- Mathiasen LS, Mirza NR, Rodgers RJ (2008) Strain- and model-dependent effects of chlordiazepoxide, L-838,417 and zolpidem on anxiety-like behaviours in laboratory mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav (in press)

- Matsuzawa-Yanagida K, Narita M, Nakajima M et al (2008) Usefulness of antidepressants for improving the neuropathic pain-like state and pain-induced anxiety through actions at different brain sites. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:1952–1965
- Matuszewich L, Karney JJ, Carter SR, Janasik SP, O'Brien JL, Friedman RD (2007) The delayed effects of chronic unpredictable stress on anxiety measures. Physiol Behav 90:674–681
- McCloskey TC, Paul BK, Commissaris RL (1987) Buspirone effects in an animal conflict procedure: comparison with diazepam and phenobarbital. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 27:171–175
- McKernan RM, Rosahl TW, Reynolds DS et al (2000) Sedative but not anxiolytic properties of benzodiazepines are mediated by the GABA(A) receptor alpha(1) subtype. Nat Neurosci 3:587–582
- Meert TF, Colpaert FC (1986) The shock probe conflict procedure. A new assay responsive to benzodiazepines, barbiturates and related compounds. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 88:445–450
- Mendoza DL, Bravo HL, Swanson HH (1999) Antiagressive and anxiolytic effects of gepirone in mice, and their attenuation by WAY 100635. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 62:499–509
- Meneses A, Hong E (1993) Modification of the anxiolytic effects of 5-HT_{1A} agonists by shock intensity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 46:569–573
- Mi XJ, Chen SW, Wang WJ et al (2005) Anxiolytic-like effect of paeonol in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 81:683–687
- Millan MJ, Brocco M, Gobert A et al (2001) Anxiolytic properties of the selective, non-peptidergic CRF1 antagonists, CP154, 526 and DMP695: a comparison to other classes of anxiolytic agent. Neuropsychopharmacology 25:585–600
- Millan MJ, Girardon S, Mullot J et al (2002) Stereospecific blockade of marble-burying behaviour in mice by selective, non-peptidergic neurokinin(1) (NK1) receptor antagonists. Neuropharmacology 42:677–684
- Millan MJ, Brocco M, Gobert A et al (2005) Anxiolytic properties of agomelatine, an antidepressant with melatoninergic and serotonergic properties: role of 5-HT2C receptor blockade. Psychopharmacology 177:U448–U413
- Mizowaki M, Toriizuka K, Hanawa T (2001) Anxiolytic effect of Kami-Shoyo-San (TJ-24) in mice possible mediation of neurosteroid synthesis. Life Sci 69:2167–2177
- Molewijk HE, Vanderpoel AM, Mos J et al (1995) Conditioned ultrasonic distress vocalizations in adult male-rats as a behavioral paradigm for screening anti-panic drugs. Psychopharmacology 117:32–40
- Molina-Hernández M, Tellez-Alcántara NP, García JP et al (2004) Anxiolytic-like actions of leaves of Casimiroa edulis (Rutaceae) in male Wistar rats. J Ethnopharmacol 93:93–98
- Mora S, Diaz-Veliz G, Millan R et al (2005) Anxiolytic and antidepressant-like effects of the hydroalcoholic extract from aloysia polystachya in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 82:373–378
- Mora S, Millan R, Lungenstrass H et al (2006) The hydroalcoholic extract of salvia elegans induces anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects in rats. J Ethnopharmacol 106:76–81
- Moreira FA, Aguiar DC, Guimarães FS (2006) Anxiolytic-like effect of cannabidiol in the rat Vogel conflict test. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiat 30:1466–1471
- Moser PC (1989) An evaluation of the elevated plus-maze test using the novel anxiolytic buspirone. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 99:48–53
- Moser PC, Tricklebank MD, Middlemiss DN (1990) Characterization of MDL 73005EF as a 5-HT 1A selective ligand and its effects in animal models of anxiety: comparison with buspirone, 8-OH-DPAT and diazepam. Br J Pharmacol 99:343–349
- Motta V, Maisonnette S, Morato S (1992) Effects of blockade of 5-HT2 receptors and activation of 5-HT1A receptors on the exploratory activity of rats in the elevated plus-maze. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 107:135–139
- Naderi N, Haghparast A, Saber-Tehrani A et al (2008) Interaction between cannabinoid compounds and diazepam on anxiety-like behaviour of mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 89:64–75

- Naito H, Nakamura A, Inoue M et al (2003) Effect of anxiolytic drugs on air-puff-elicited ultrasonic vocalization in adult rats. Exp Anim 52:409–414
- Nevins ME, Anthony EW (1994) Antagonists at the serotonin-3 receptor can reduce the fear potentiated startle response in the rat: evidence for difference types of anxiolytic activity? J Pharmacol Exp Ther 268:6
- Nicolas LB, Kolb Y, Prinssen EPM (2006) A combined marble burying-locomotor activity test in mice: a practical screening test with sensitivity to different classes of anxiolytics and antidepressants. Eur J Pharmacol 547:106–115
- Nielsen CK, Sanchez C (1995) Effect of chronic diazepam treatment on foot shock-induced ultrasonic vocalization in adult male rats. Pharmacol Toxicol 77:177–181
- Njung'e K, Handley SL (1991a) Evaluation of marble burying as a model of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 38:63–67
- Njung'e K, Handley SL (1991b) Effects of 5-HT uptake inhibitors, agonists and antagonists on the burying of harmless objects by moce; a putative test for anxiolytic agents. Br J Pharmacol 104:105–112
- Noirot E (1972) Ultrasounds and material behavior in small rodents. Dev Psychobiol 5:371-387
- Olajide D, Lader M (1984) A double-blind comparison of buspirone and diazepam in outpatients with chronic anxiety states. Abstract at C.I.N.P. meeting, Florence
- Olivier B, Molewijk E, van Oorschot R et al (1998) Ultrasonic vocalizations in rat pups: effects of serotonergic ligands. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 23:215–227
- Onaivi ES, Martin BR (1989) Neuropharmacological and physiological validation of a computercontrolled two compartment black and white box for the assessment of anxiety. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 13:963–976
- Papp M, Litwa E, Gruca P et al (2006) Anxiolytic-like activity of agomelatine and melatonin in three animal models of anxiety. Behav Pharmacol 17:9–18
- Park JH, Cha HY, Seo JJ et al (2005) Anxiolytic-like effects of ginseng in the elevated plus-maze model: comparison of red ginseng and sun ginseng. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 29:895–900
- Paschall GY, Davis M (2002) Olfactory-mediated fear-potentiated startle. Behav Neurosci 116:4–12
- Paslawski T, Treit D, Baker GB et al (1996) The antidepressant drug phenelzine produces antianxiety effects in the plus-maze and increases in rat brain GABA. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 127:19–24
- Pecknold JC, Familamiri P, Chang H et al (1985) Buspirone: anxiolytic? Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 9:639–642
- Pellow S (1986) Anxiolytic and anxiogenic drug effects in a novel test of anxiety: are exploratory models of anxiety in rodents valid? Meth Find Expt Clin Pharmacol 8:557–565
- Pellow S, File SE (1986) Anxiolytic and anxiogenic drug effects on exploratory activity in an elevated plus-maze: a novel test of anxiety in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 24:525–529
- Pellow S, File SE (1987) Can antipanic drugs antagonise the anxiety produced in the rat by drugs acting at the GABA-benzodiazepine receptor complex? Neuropsychobiology 17:5
- Pellow S, Chopin P, File SE et al (1985) Validation of open:closed arm entries in an elevated plus maze as a measure of anxiety in the rat. J Neurosci Meth 14:149–167
- Pellow S, Johnston AL, File SE (1987) Selective agonists and antagonists for 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor subtypes, and interactions with yohimbine and FG 7142 using the elevated plus-maze test in the rat. J Pharm Pharmacol 39:917–928
- Peng WH, Wu CR, Chen CS et al (2004) Anxiolytic effect of berberine on exploratory activity of the mouse in two experimental anxiety models: interaction with drugs acting at 5-HT receptors. Life Sci 75:2451–2462
- Penner MR, McFadyen MP, Carrey N et al (2001) Effects of chronic and acute methylphenidate hydrochloride (Ritalin) administration on locomotor activity, ultrasonic vocalizations, and neuromotor development in 3-to 11-day-old CD-1 mouse pups. Dev Psychobiol 39:216–228

- Perrine SA, Hoshaw BA, Unterwald EM (2006) Delta opioid receptor ligands modulate anxietylike behaviors in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 147:864–872
- Picazo O, Lopez-Rubalcava C, Fernandez-Guasti A (1995) Anxiolytic effect of the 5-HT1A compounds 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino)tetralin and ipsabirone in the social interaction paradigm: evidence of a presynaptic action. Brain Res Bull 37:6
- Picazo O, Estrada-Camarena E, Hemandez-Aragon A (2006) Influence of the post-ovariectomy time framep on the experimental anxiety and the behavioural actions of some anxiolytic agents. Eur J Pharmacol 530:88–94
- Pich E, Samanin R (1986) Disinhibitory effects of buspirone and low doses of sulpiride and haloperidol in two experimental anxiety models in rats: possible role of dopamine. Psycho-pharmacology (Berl) 89:125–130
- Pietraszek M, Sukhanov I, Maciejak P et al (2005) Anxiolytic-like effects of mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptor antagonists in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 514:25–34
- Pinel JPJ, Treit D (1978) Burying as a defensive response in rats. J Comp Physiol Psychol 92: 708–712
- Pletscher A (1991) The discovery of antidepressants a winding path. Experiencia 47:4-8
- Podhorna J, Brown RE (2000) Flibanserin has anxiolytic effects without locomotor side effects in the infant rat ultrasonic vocalization model of anxiety. Br J Pharmacol 130:739–746
- Pokk P, Zharkovsky A (1998) The effects of buspirone on the behaviour of control and stressed mice. J Physiol Pharmacol 49:175–185
- Pollier F, Sarre S, Aguerre S et al (2000) Serotonin reuptake inhibition by citalopram in rat strains differing for their emotionality. Neuropsychopharmacology 22:64–76
- Popik P, Vetulani J (1993) Similar action of imipramine and arginine-vasopressin in the social interaction test. Pol J Pharmacol 45:2
- Popik P, Kostakis E, Krawczyk M et al (2006) The anxioselective agent 7-(2-chloropyridin-4-yl) pyrazolo-[1, 5-a]-pyrimidin-3-yl](pyridin-2-yl)methanone (DOV 51892) is more efficacious than diazepam at enhancing GABA-gated currents at alpha1 subunit-containing GABAA receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 319:1244–1252
- Rabbani M, Sajjadi SE, Zarei HR (2003) Anxiolytic effects of Stachys lavandulifolia Vahl on the elevated plus-maze model of anxiety in mice. J Ethnopharmacol 89(2–3):271–276
- Rabbani M, Sajjadi SE, Vaseghi G et al (2004) Anxiolytic effects of Echium amoenum on the elevated plus-maze model of anxiety in mice. Fitoterapia 75(5):457–464
- Rabbani M, Sajjadi SE, Jafarian A et al (2005) Anxiolytic effects of Salvia reuterana Boiss. on the elevated plus-maze model of anxiety in mice. J Ethnopharmacol 101:100–103
- Rex A, Voigt JP, Gustedt C et al (2004) Anxiolytic-like profile in Wistar, but not Sprague-Dawley rats in the social interaction test. Psychopharmacology 177:23–34
- Richardson R, Vishney A, Lee J (1999) Conditioned odor potentiation of startle in rats. Behav Neurosci 113:787–794
- Risbrough VB, Geyer MA (2005) Anxiogenic treatments do not increase fear-potentiated startle in mice. Biol Psychiatry 57:33–43
- Risbrough VB, Brodkin JD, Geyer MA (2003) GABA-A and 5-HTIA receptor agonists block expression of fear-potentiated startle in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:654–663
- Rocha B, Rigo M, Di Scala G et al (1994) Chronic mianserin or eltoprazine treatment in rats: effects on the elevated plus-maze test and on limbic 5-HT2C receptor levels. Eur J Pharmacol 262:125–131
- Rocha VM, Calil CM, Ferreira R et al (2007) Influence of anabolic steroid on anxiety levels in sedentary male rats. Stress Int J Biol Stress 10:326–331
- Rodgers RJ, Cutler MG, Jackson JE (1997a) Behavioural effects in mice of subchronic buspirone, ondansetron and tianeptine. II. The elevated plus-maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 56: 295–303
- Rodgers RJ, Cutler MG, Jackson JE (1997b) Behavioural effects in mice of subchronic chlordiazepoxide, maprotiline and fluvoxamine. II. The elevated plus-maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 57:127–136

- Rohmer JG, Di Scala G, Sandner G (1990) Behavioral analysis of the effects of benzodiazepine receptor ligands in the conditioned burying paradigm. Behav Brain Res 38:45–54
- Rowlett JK, Tornatzky W, Cook JM et al (2001) Zolpidem, triazolam, and diazepam decrease distress vocalizations in mouse pups: differential antagonism by flumazenil and beta-carboline-3-carboxylate-t-butyl ester (beta-CCt). J Pharmacol Exp Ther 297:247–253
- Rudzik AD, Hester JB, Tang AH et al (1973) Triazolobenzodiazepines, a new class of central nervous system depressant compounds. In: Mussini E, Randall LO (eds) The Benzodiazepines. Raven Press, New York, pp 285–326
- Sakaue M, Ago Y, Sowa C et al (2003) The 5-HT1A receptor agonist MKC-242 increases the exploratory activity of mice in the elevated plus-maze. Eur J Pharmacol 458:141–144
- Salome N, Stemmelin J, Cohen C et al (2006) Selective blockade of NK2 or NK3 receptors produces anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects in gerbils. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 83:533–539
- Sanchez C (2003) Stress-induced vocalisation in adult animals. A valid model of anxiety? Eur J Pharmacol 463:133–143
- Sanchez C, Meier E (1997) Behavioral profiles of SSRIs in animal models of depression, anxiety and aggression. Are they all alike? Psychopharmacology 129:97–205
- Sanchez C, Arnt J, Moltzen E (1996) Assessment of relative efficacies of 5-HT1A receptor ligands by means of in vivo animal models. Eur J Pharmacol 315:245–254
- Sanger DJ (1990) Effects of buspirone and related compounds on suppressed operant responding in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 254:420–426
- Sanger DJ (1992) Increased rates of responding produced by buspirone-like compounds in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 261:513–517
- Santos JM, Gargaro AC, Oliveira AR et al (2005) Pharmacological dissociation of moderate and high contextual fear as assessed by freezing behavior and fear-potentiated startle. Eur Neuro-psychopharmacol 15:239–246
- Savić MM, Obradović DI, Ugresić ND et al (2004) Bidirectional effects of benzodiazepine binding site ligands in the elevated plus-maze: differential antagonism by flumazenil and beta-CCt. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 79:279–290
- Schefke DM, Fontana DJ, Commissaris RJ (1989) Anti-conflict efficacy of buspirone following acute versus chronic treatment. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 99:427–429
- Schreiber R, Melon C, De Vry J (1998) The role of 5-HT receptor subtypes in the anxiolytic effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in the rat ultrasonic vocalization test. Psychopharma-cology 135:383–391
- Schulz B, Fendt M, Gasparini F et al (2001) The metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) blocks fear conditioning in rats. Neuropharmacology 41:1–7
- Seo JJ, Lee SH, Lee YS et al (2007) Anxiolytic-like effects of obovatol isolated from magnolia obovata: involvement of GABA. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31:1363–1369
- Serradeil-Le Gal C, Wagnon J, Tonnerre B et al (2005) An overview of SSR149415, a selective nonpeptide vasopressin V-1b receptor antagonist for the treatment of stress-related disorders. CNS Drug Rev 11:53–68
- Sheehan DV, Raj AB, Sheehan KH et al (1988) The relative efficacy of buspirone, imipramine and placebo in panic disorder: a preliminary report. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 29:815–817
- Sheehan DV, Raj AB, Sheehan KH et al (1990) Is buspirone effective for panic disorder? J Clin Psychopharmacol 10:3–11
- Shimada T, Matsumoto K, Osanai M et al (1995) The modified light/dark transition test in mice, evaluation of classic and putative anxiolytic and anxiogenic drugs. Gen Pharmacol 26:5
- Si WC, Xiao JM, Rui W et al (2005) Behavioral effects of sinomenine in murine models of anxiety. Life Sci 78:232–238
- Siemiatkowski M, Maciejak P, Sienkiewicz-Jarosz H et al (2001) Opposite effects of olanzapine and haloperidol in rat ultrasonic vocalization test. Pol J Pharmacol 53:669–673

- Sikiric P, Jelovac N, Jelovac-Gjeldum A et al (2001) Anxiolytic effect of BPC-157, a gastric pentadecapeptide: shock probe/burying test and light. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica 22:225–230
- Silva RCB, Brandao ML (2000) Acute and chronic effects of gepirone and fluoxetine in rats tested in the elevated plus-maze: an ethological analysis. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 65:209–216
- Silva MTA, Alves CRR, Santarem EMM (1999) Anxiogenic-like effect of acute and chronic fluoxetine on rats tested on the elevated plus-maze. Braz J Med Biol Res 32:333–339
- Soderpalm B, Hjorth S, Engel JA (1989) Effects of 5-HT1A receptor agonists and L-5-HTP in Montgomery's conflict test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 32:259–265
- Soderpalm B, Lundin B, Hjorth S (1993) Sustained 5-hydroxytryptamine release-inhibitory and anxiolytic-like action of the partial 5-HT1A receptor agonist, buspirone, after prolonged chronic treatment. Eur J Pharmacol 239:69–73
- Soman I, Mengi SA, Kasture SB (2004) Effect of leaves of Butea frondosa on stress, anxiety, and cognition in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 79(1):11–16
- Sommermeyer H, Schreiber R, Greuel JM et al (1993) Anxiolytic effects of the 5-HT1A receptor agonist ipsapirone in the rat: neurobiological correlates. Eur J Pharmacol 240:29–37
- Starr KR, Price GW, Watson JM et al (2007) SB-649915-B, a novel 5-HT1A. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:2163–2172
- Stefanski R, Palejko W, Kotowski W (1992) The comparison of benzodiazepine derivatives and serotonergic agonists and antagonists in two animal models of anxiety. Neuropharmacology (Berl) 31:1252–1258
- Stemmelin J, Cohen C, Terranova JP et al (2008) Stimulation of the beta(3)-adrenoceptor as a novel treatment strategy for anxiety and depressive disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:574–587
- Tatarczyńska E, Kłodzińska A, Stachowicz K et al (2004) Effects of a selective 5-HT1B receptor agonist and antagonists in animal models of anxiety and depression. Behav Pharmacol 15:523–534
- Tizzano JP, Griffey KI, Schoepp DD (2002) The anxiolytic action of mGlu2. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 73:367–374
- Tokumo K, Tamura N, Hirai T et al (2006) Effects of (Z)-3-hexenol, a major component of green odor, on anxiety-related behavior of the mouse in an elevated plus-maze test and biogenic amines and their metabolites in the brain. Behav Brain Res 166:247–252
- Treit D (1985a) Animal models for the study of anti-anxiety agents: a review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 9:203–222
- Treit D (1985b) The inhibitory effect of diazepam on defensive burying: anxiolytic vs analgesic effects. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 22:47–52
- Treit D (1987) Ro 15–1788, CGS8216, picrotoxin, and pentyleneterazol: do they antagonize anxiolytic drug effects through an anxiogenic action? Brain Res Bull 19:401–405
- Treit D (1990) A comparison of anxiolytic and nonanxiolytic agents in the shock probe burying test for anxiolytics. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 36:203–205
- Treit D, Fundytus M (1988) A comparison of buspirone and chlordiazepoxide in the shock probe burying test for anxiolytics. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 30:1071–1075
- Treit D, Pinel JP, Fibiger HC (1981) Conditioned defensive burying: a new paradigm for the study of anxiolytic agents. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 15:619–626
- Treit D, Menard J, Royan C (1993) Anxiogenic stimuli in the elevated plus-maze. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 44:463–469
- Treit D, Menard J, Pesold C (1994) The shock probe burying test. Neurosci Protocols Mod 3:9-17
- Treit D, Degroot A, Kashluba S, Bartoszyk GD (2001) Systemic EMD 68843 injections reduce anxiety in the shock-probe, but not the plus-maze test. Eur J Pharmacol 414:245–248
- Treit D, Degroot A, Shah A (2003) Animal models of anxiety and anxiolytic drug action. In: Kasper S, den Boer JA, Ad Sitsen JM (eds) Handbook of depression and anxiety: a biological approach. New York, Marcel Dekker, pp 681–702
- Tsuda A, Ida Y, Tanaka M (1988) The contrasting effects of diazepam and yohimbine on conditioned defensive burying in rats. Psychobiology 16:213–217

- Tyrer P, Tyrer J (1994) Antidepressive drugs for treatment of anxiety disorders and vice versa. In: den Boer JA, Ad Sitsen JM (eds) Handbook of depression and anxiety: a biological approach. New York, Marcel Dekker, pp 497–514
- Uriguen L, Perez-Rial S, Ledent C, Palomo T, Manzanares J (2004) Impaired action of anxiolytic drugs in mice deficient in cannabinoid CB1 receptors. Neuropharmacology 46:966–973
- Vaidya AH, Rosenthal DI, Lang W et al (2005) Oral buspirone causes a shift in the dose-response curve between the elevated-plus maze and vogel conflict tests in Long-Evans rats: relation of brain levels of buspirone and 1-PP to anxiolytic action. Meth Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 27:245–255
- Vargas KM, Da Cunha C, Andreatini R (2006) Amphetamine and pentylenetetrazole given posttrial 1 enhance one-trial tolerance to the anxiolytic effect of diazepam in the elevated plusmaze in mice. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:1394–1402
- Vigliecca NS, Molina SC, Peñalva MC (2007) A panic experimental model: validation of a complex operant behavioral method in undernourished rats, with desipramine to provide a template effect profile. J Pharmacol Toxicol Method 55:49–57
- Vignes M, Maurice T, Lante F et al (2006) Anxiolytic properties of green tea polyphenol (-)epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG). Brain Res 1110:102–115
- Violle N, Messaoudi M, Lefranc-Millot C et al (2006) Ethological comparison of the effects of a bovine alpha(s1)-casein tryptic hydrolysate and diazepam on the behaviour of rats in two models of anxiety. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 84:517–523
- Vis P, Della Pasqua O, Kruk M et al (2001) Population pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modelling of S 15535, a 5-MT1A receptor agonist, using a behavioural model in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 414:233–243
- Vivian JA, Miczek KA (1993) Diazepam and gepirone selectively attenuate either 20–32 or 32–64 kHz ultrasonic vocalizations during aggressive encounters. Psychopharmacology 112:66–73
- Walker DL, Davis M (1997) Anxiogenic effects of high illumination levels assessed with the acoustic startle response in rats. Biol Psychiat 42:461–471
- Walker DL, Davis M (2002) Light-enhanced startle: further pharmacological and behavioral characterization. Psychopharmacology 159:304–310
- Wei XY, Yang JY, Wang JH et al (2007) Anxiolytic effect of saponins from panax quinquefolium in mice. J Ethnopharmacol 111:613–618
- Weissman BA, Barrett JE, Brady LS et al (1984) Behavioral and neurochemical studies on the anticonflict actions of buspirone. Drug Dev Res 4:83–93
- Wesolowska A, Nikiforuk A (2007) Effects of the brain-penetrant and selective 5-HT6 receptor antagonist SB-399885 in animal models of anxiety and depression. Neuropharmacology 52:1274–1283
- Wesolowska A, Nikiforuk A, Stachowicz K et al (2006) Effect of the selective 5-HT7 receptor antagonist SB 269970 in animal models of anxiety and depression. Neuropharmacology 51:578–586
- Wesołowska A, Paluchowska M, Chojnacka-Wójcik E (2003) Involvement of presynaptic 5-HT (1A) and benzodiazepine receptors in the anticonflict activity of 5-HT(1A) receptor antagonists. Eur J Pharmacol 471:27–34
- Westen D, Rosenthal R (2003) Quantifying construct validity: two simple measures. JPSP 84: 608–618
- Wheatley D (1982) Buspirone: multicenter efficacy study. J Clin Psychiat 43:92-94
- Wilson MA, Burghardt PR, Ford KA et al (2004) Anxiolytic effects of diazepam and ethanol in two behavioral models: comparison of males and females. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 78: 445–458
- Winslow JT, Noble PL, Davis M (2007) Modulation of fear-potentiated startle and vocalizations in juvenile rhesus monkeys by morphine, diazepam, and buspirone. Biol Psychiatry 61:389–395
- Witkin JM, Perez LA (1990) Comparison of anticonflict effects of buspirone and gepirone with benzodiazepines and antagonists of dopamine and serotonergic receptors in rats. Behav Pharmacol 1:247–254

- Wood MD, Reavill C, Trail B et al (2001) SB-243213; a selective 5-HT2C receptor inverse agonist with improved anxiolytic profile: lack of tolerance and withdrawal anxiety. Neuropharmacology 41:186–199
- Xu L, Anwyl R, DeVry J et al (1997) Effect of repeated ipsapirone treatment on hippocampal excitatory synaptic transmission in the freely behaving rat: role of 5-HT1A receptors and relationship to anxiolytic effect. Eur J Pharmacol 323:59–68
- Yamashita S, Oishi R, Gomita Y (1995) Anticonflict effects of acute and chronic treatments with buspirone and gepirone in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 50:477–479
- Yasui M, Kato A, Kanemasa T et al (2005) Pharmacological profiles of benzodiazepinergic hypnotics and correlations with receptor subtypes. Nihon Shinkei Seishin Yakurigaku Zasshi 25(3):143–151
- Yoon BH, Jung JW, Lee JJ et al (2007) Anxiolytic-like effects of sinapic acid in mice. Life Sci 81:234–240
- Young R, Johnson DN (1991a) A fully automated light/dark apparatus useful for comparing anxiolytic agents. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 40:739–743
- Young R, Johnson DN (1991b) Comparison of routes of administration and time course effects of zacopride and buspirone in mice using an automated light/dark test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 40:733–737
- Young R, Urbancic A, Emrey TA et al (1987) Behavioral effects of several anxiolytics and putative anxiolytics. Eur J Pharmacol 143:361–371
- Young R, Batkai S, Dukat M et al (2006) TDIQ (5, 6, 7, 8-tetrahydro-1, 3-dioxolo[4, 5-g] isoquinoline) exhibits anxiolytic-like activity in a marble-burying assay in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 84:62–73
- Zanoli P, Rivasi M, Baraldi M (2002) Pharmacological activity of hyperforin acetate in rats. Behav Pharmacol 13:645–651

Genetic Approaches to Modeling Anxiety in Animals

Laura H. Jacobson and John F. Cryan

Contents

1	Introduction	162	
2	Basic Concepts in Animal Modeling of Anxiety Disorders	163	
3	Measurable Outcomes in Anxiety Disorders and Animal Models	164	
	3.1 Measuring Anxiety in Man and Diagnostic Criteria in Anxiety Disorders	165	
	3.2 Measuring Anxiety in Laboratory Animals	166	
4	Genetics of Clinical Anxiety Disorders: Setting the Scene for Animal Models	168	
	4.1 Gene–Environment Interactions	171	
	4.2 Endophenotypes: Modeling Behavior and Genetics Together?	172	
5	Genetic Approaches in Animal Modeling of Anxiety and Anxiety Disorders	173	
	5.1 Genotype-to-Phenotype: Targeted Manipulation of Candidate Genes	174	
	5.2 Phenotype-to-Genotype	180	
	5.3 Gene Expression Arrays	183	
	5.4 Random Mutagenesis: Radiation and ENU Screens	185	
	5.5 Selective Breeding of Rats and Mice	186	
6	Conclusion	187	
Re	References		

Abstract Anxiety disorders are a growing health problem world-wide. However, the causative factors, etiology, and underlying mechanisms of anxiety disorders, as for most psychiatric disorders, remain relatively poorly understood. The current status of clinical research indicates that anxiety traits and anxiety disorder in man have a genetic component, and therefore genetic modeling in animals is a logical approach to gain a greater insight into their neurobiology. However, it is also clear

L.H. Jacobson

Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research, CH-4002, Basel, Switzerland

J.F. Cryan (🖂)

Alimentary Pharmabiotic Centre, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland e-mail: j.cryan@ucc.ie

Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, School of Pharmacy, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland

that the nature of these genetic contributions is highly complex. Moreover, the success of this approach is largely contingent upon the utility of available behavioral paradigms for modeling anxiety-related behaviors in mice. Animal genetic models provide a unique and comprehensive methodological tool to aid discovery into the etiology, neurobiology, and ultimately, the therapy of human anxiety disorders. The approach, however, is challenged with a number of complexities. In particular, the heterogeneous nature of anxiety disorders in man coupled with the associated multifaceted and descriptive diagnostic criteria, create challenges in both animal modeling and in clinical research. In this article, we describe some of the powerful modern genetic techniques that are uniquely amenable to the laboratory mouse and thus provide a strategy for approaching some of these challenges. Moreover, we focus on recent advances which have highlighted the relative contribution of genetic modeling in animals to the understanding of underlying neurobiology and genetic basis of anxiety disorders.

Keywords Anxiety disorders · Knockout · Translational · Endophenotype · Psychiatric genetics · Animal models

1 Introduction

Anxiety disorders are common, serious, and a growing health problem world-wide, and currently represent the highest prevalence of any of the DSM-IV disorders in Europe and the USA (Kessler et al. 2005b; Alonso and Lepine 2007; Kessler 2007; Nutt et al. 2007). According to the recently completed National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R) conducted in the USA (Kessler and Merikangas 2004), anxiety disorders had the highest lifetime prevalence estimates (28.8%) and the earliest age of onset (11 years) relative to other DSM-IV psychiatric disorders (Kessler et al. 2005a, b). Emerging data also demonstrates that patients with anxiety disorders are at high risk not only for comorbid psychiatric disorders such as depression (Merikangas et al. 2003; Kessler et al. 2005b), but also for medical illness such as chronic pain, asthma, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, migraine, and gastrointestinal disorders (Harter et al. 2003; Roy-Byrne et al. 2008). There is no doubt then, that anxiety disorders represent an enormous global societal and economic burden (Miller 2006; Kessler 2007; Nutt et al. 2007). However, the causative factors, etiology, and underlying mechanisms of anxiety disorders, as for most psychiatric disorders, remain relatively poorly understood (Wong and Licinio 2004; Cryan and Holmes 2005), and it is clear that improvements in understanding these factors and the development of better treatments are imperative (Wong and Licinio 2004; Cryan and Holmes 2005).

Animal genetic models provide a unique and comprehensive methodological tool to aid discovery into the etiology, neurobiology, and ultimately, the therapy of human anxiety disorders. The approach, however, is challenged with a number of specific complexities. In particular, the heterogeneous nature of anxiety disorders in man, and the associated multifaceted and descriptive diagnostic criteria, create challenges in both animal modeling and in clinical research (Gottesman and Gould 2003; Cryan and Holmes 2005; Schulze et al. 2005). Compartmentalization of symptomatology and validated behavioral and translational modeling, in combination with powerful modern genetic techniques that are uniquely amenable to the laboratory mouse, provide a logical and objective strategy for approaching these challenges. Here within, we describe these techniques and postulate on the contribution of genetic modeling in animals to the understanding of underlying neurobiology of anxiety disorders.

2 Basic Concepts in Animal Modeling of Anxiety Disorders

It is widely acknowledged that the full spectrum of a human anxiety disorder, or for that matter other psychiatric disorders, can never be fully recapitulated in any one animal model (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Arguello and Gogos 2006; Crawley 2007). The capacity of humans for processing complex psychological and cognitive concepts, which are evident in the symptomatology of anxiety disorders (e.g., "sense of a foreshortened future" (PTSD), "fear of losing control or going crazy" (Panic Disorder), or fear of acting in a way that will be embarrassing or humiliating (Social Phobia); DSM-IV 1994) are impossible to measure, and therefore to model, in animals. There is, however, substantial genetic, neurochemical, and neuroanatomical evolutionary conservation across mammalian species (Jones 2002; Tecott 2003; Arguello and Gogos 2006). Consequently, as has been well-documented since the scientific endeavors of Charles Darwin (Darwin 1871; Darwin 1872), there are also many fundamental physiological and behavioral responses that are well conserved between the species. By inference, it is therefore theoretically possible to objectively study behavioral responses in animals and the neural circuits and genetic factors subserving them, as a means to understand the basis of human behavior and disease (Geyer and Markou 2002; Cryan and Holmes 2005; Crawley 2007). It is worth reiterating, however, that an animal model of a specific disorder can only be as robust as the clinical measures used to diagnose and monitor the disorders in man. Advances in animal modeling, therefore, require parallel development in clinical measures that facilitate translational comparisons between species. Studies investigating normal humans and animals, in order to improve the understanding of genetic, behavioral, and neurobiological homology across species, are thus a vital component in the validation of animal models of human disorders (Geyer and Markou 2002; Markou et al. 2008).

Specific criteria have been proposed for determining whether or not an experimental paradigm in animals may be considered as a valid model of a human psychiatric disorder (or a component thereof). McKinney and Bunney (1969) were among the first researchers to propose standardized criteria; in this case for the animal modeling of depression although they are equally applicable to anxiety research. They suggested that a valid animal model needed to be "reasonably analogous" to the human disorder in its manifestations or symptomatology, cause a behavioral change that can be monitored objectively, produce behavioral changes that are reversed by the same treatment modalities that are effective in humans, and be reproducible between different investigators (McKinney and Bunney 1969). More recent theoretical constructs encompass the concepts of different types of validity: face (symptomotology appear similar to the clinical condition), construct (similarities in underlying biology), predictive (appropriate responses to clinically efficacious therapeutics or induction of translational symptomatology), etiological validity (similar inducing agents), convergent (where correlation with other construct-based models is observed), and divergent (where measures are phenomenologically different from those measure in other models) (Geyer and Markou 2000). It has been argued, however, that the most important criteria to satisfy are the reliability and predictive validity of the model system (Geyer and Markou 2002).

In preclinical anxiety research, by far the most commonly used species used in animal modeling are laboratory rats and mice. Rats have historically been the animal of choice for psychopharmacological research, mainly due to the superior performance of rats in many cognitive and operant tasks that have formed the basis of modern behavioral pharmacology and for practical reasons related to the size of the animal and ease of surgical interventions. Many of the behavioral paradigm in use in anxiety research were originally developed and validated on the basis of their ability to predict the effects of clinical anxiolytics in rats, and have since been adapted for application in other species, and particularly mice (Cryan and Holmes 2005).

In the past decade, there has been a dramatic increase in the use of mice in neuropsychiatric research, as in many other branches of biomedical research. Mice as experimental animals hold many practical and economic advantages over rats and other laboratory species for animal modeling. They are easy to breed, have a short generation turnover, low maintenance costs in terms of housing, and their small size is sympathetic to researchers and medicinal chemists alike with regard to amounts of compounds required for drug applications. It is their unique amenability to a broad array of new genetic manipulation techniques, however, that has seen the rising popularity of mice in psychiatric research, including the study of anxiety disorders (Joyner and Sedivy 2000; Tarantino and Bucan 2000; Phillips et al. 2002; Tecott 2003; Cryan and Holmes 2005; Jacobson and Cryan 2006; Crawley 2007).

3 Measurable Outcomes in Anxiety Disorders and Animal Models

In order to model the genetic contributions to anxiety-like behavior in animals, it is fundamentally important to utilize relevant experimental endpoints that are either translatable between species, or at least that measure species-specific behaviors that share a common underlying neurobiology and/or neuropharmacology in the anxiety-like state. The measurable outcomes used in clinical and preclinical studies are summarized in brief below for the purposes of this chapter. Interested readers should refer to other chapters in this book for a more detailed critique.

3.1 Measuring Anxiety in Man and Diagnostic Criteria in Anxiety Disorders

Fear and anxiety are common, normal emotions in the majority of animal species, including laboratory animals and man, and transient anxiety responses to a real danger are an appropriate, adaptive response in anxiety disorder patients and nonpatients alike. The transition to an anxiety disorder in man, as described in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV 1994) is "marked, persistent, and excessive or unreasonable fear" that is experienced to such a degree that it significantly interferes with everyday life. The diagnosis of anxiety disorders themselves may be considered as an in-depth behavioral analysis, characterized by a broad range of diverse, overlapping symptom clusters which are classified into categories and subcategories based mainly on the subjective descriptions of symptoms (DSM-IV 1994; Geyer and Markou 2002; Sramek et al. 2002; Merikangas et al. 2003; Lam et al. 2006; Bartz and Hollander, 2006).

The most commonly diagnosed anxiety disorders are generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), panic disorder (with or without agoraphobia), specific phobia, social phobia, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). These disorders are distinguished from one another mainly by the specific nature of the anxiety and by the provoking stimulus if one exists. They also have distinguishing features based on the temporality of symptom manifestation and in the underlying and/or coincident neurobiological and neuroendocrine responses and markers. Clinical psychiatrists have several rating scales to assist in the diagnosis and classification of different anxiety disorders, and these scales are also of use in quantifying the severity of the disorder and to monitor treatment progress and outcomes. Examples of scales used in GAD may include the Hamilton Anxiety Scale Rating, Beck Anxiety Inventory, the Clinical Global Impression Scale, whereas OCD may be evaluated using the Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale, and for PTSD, the Posttraumatic Stress Diagnostic Scale (Sramek et al. 2002; Lam et al. 2006).

Currently, no biochemical or electrophysiological criteria are used in the diagnostic procedure, although such findings may be used in support of diagnoses. A number of experimental models of human anxiety are utilized with readouts based on alterations in body temperature, HPA axis, and startle in addition to self report (Graeff et al. 2003; Grillon 2008; Nordquist et al. 2008; Vinkers et al. 2008), which is advancing the translational aspects of animal models of anxiety. These coupled with continuous progress in neuroimaging, are sure to provide an informative platform for advancing the understanding of the physiological basis and nosology of anxiety disorders (Bremner 2004; Brown and Hariri 2006; Rauch et al. 2006; Etkin and Wager 2007; Damsa et al. 2009).

3.2 Measuring Anxiety in Laboratory Animals

There are a number of different types of tests that have been employed in the animal modeling of anxiety disorders. Small rodents have an innate aversion to exposed, well-lit spaces, presumably because of natural selection pressures against predation. Modeling of pathological anxiety has therefore been considered by some as an extreme state of this continuum, and many animal models have been designed with this in mind (Cryan and Holmes 2005). Furthermore, rats and mice are foraging, exploratory species, and exploration-based anxiety paradigms capitalize on the conflict between natural avoidance and the exploratory drive of rodents, and hence include an ethological foundation in these tasks (Rodgers 1997). Examples of these approach-avoidance conflict tasks include the avoidance of bright, open or elevated areas of the open field test (Prut and Belzung 2003), the light-dark box test (Crawley 2007), the elevated plus maze (Rodgers 1997; Holmes 2001; Crawley 2007), elevated zero maze (Lee and Rodgers 1990; Shepherd et al. 1994), the staircase test (Simiand et al. 1984), and the mirrored arena (Rodgers 1997; Rodgers et al. 1997; Belzung and Griebel 2001; Crawley 2007). "Ethological parameters" are often included as readouts in exploratory tasks, and involve the quantification of species-typical behaviors and postures adapted during exploration. Reductions in the number of stretch-attend postures, rearing and head-dipping over the edges of elevated apparatuses have been interpreted as heightened anxious responses in various apparatuses (Shepherd et al. 1994; Rodgers 1997; Rodgers et al. 1997; Belzung and Griebel 2001). The ethological approach has probably been taken to its greatest extent in the Mouse Defence Test Battery (MDTB), where mice are exposed to a predator and panic, defensive threat/attack and risk assessment behaviors quantified (Blanchard et al. 2003). Ethological parameters are thought to be of particular advantage in animal models due to their basis in risk-assessment behaviors, and thus are thought to model aspects of apprehension and excessive vigilance seen in human anxiety disorders (Rodgers 1997; Blanchard et al. 2003; Cryan and Holmes 2005).

A variation on approach-avoidance tests are punishment-based conflict tests. Examples include the four-plate test, where exploratory drive conflicts with avoidance of foot-shocks delivered though the floor-plates; and the Vogel test, a conflict drinking paradigm where a thirsty animal must overcome the apprehension of a shock delivered through the drinking spout in order to slake its thirst (Vogel et al. 1971). All of the aforementioned tests rely on a passive avoidance strategy to provide an indication of anxiety. The marble-burying and defensive burying (i.e., of a shock probe) tests, in contrast, requires the engagement of active behaviors (burying the offending object with bedding) for the expression of anxious behaviors, and thus are useful inclusions in test batteries (Broekkamp et al. 1986; Sluyter et al. 1996; Sluyter et al. 1999; Spooren et al. 2000; Jacobson et al. 2007). Additional interesting tests include novelty-suppressed feeding, separation-induced ultrasonic vocalizations in pups, and stress-induce hyperthermia (SIH; where body temperature increases in response to acute stressors are quantified). These tests are relatively free of bias that may be introduced by genetic alterations which also affect locomotor activity, which can be an important factor introducing confounds in the interpretation of exploratory-based tests (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Holmes and Cryan 2006; Jacobson and Cryan 2006). The SIH test in particular is an ideal inclusion in an anxiety test battery as it provides an autonomic readout and is a translational response across a variety of strains and species, including man (Bouwknecht et al. 2007; Vinkers et al. 2008).

All of the aforementioned tasks are responsive to the clinically efficacious benzodiazepine anxiolytics, such as diazepam and chlordiazepoxide, and in this regard they meet the predictive validity criterion for a valid animal model (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Crawley 2007). However, perhaps the main criticism of many of these tests is their predictive validity with regard to other classes of anxiolytic compounds. In particular, this arises mainly from the observation that the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRIs) antidepressants, which are clinically efficacious in the treatment of a number of anxiety disorders, show variable effects in many anxiety paradigms, with the possible exception of the MDTB, marble burying and ultrasonic vocalization tests (Rodgers 1997; Borsini et al. 2002; Blanchard et al. 2003; Markou et al. 2008).

Anxiety disorders are characterized by specific cognitive deficits such as misappraisal and overattention to threatening stimuli in panic disorder, GAD and phobias, and persistence of traumatic memories in PTSD (DSM-IV 1994; Lang et al. 2000). Approaches to modeling these aspects has focused on conditioned tests of anxiety, such as Pavlovian fear conditioning (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Ledgerwood et al. 2005; Delgado et al. 2006). Recently, as supported by human imaging evidence of insular cortex dysfunction in anxiety disorders (Paulus and Stein 2006), the insular cortex-dependent task conditioned taste aversion (CTA) has also been growing in popularity (Bermudez-Rattoni 2004; Guitton and Dudai 2004; Mickley et al. 2004; Yasoshima and Yamamoto 2005; Jacobson et al. 2006; Hefner et al. 2008). In conditioned paradigms, associative fear or aversion are induced by exposure to a previously innocuous stimulus (the "conditioned stimulus", e.g., a tone or sucrose drink) that has been paired with an innately aversive stimulus (the "unconditioned stimulus", e.g., foot-shocks, or experimentally induced malaise). Immobility (conditioned freezing), startle (fear potentiated startle, FPS), tachycardia, defensive burying, ultrasonic vocalizations, and sucrose preference (CTA), are the main types of experimental outputs in these tests (Fendt and Fanselow 1999; Cryan and Holmes 2005). However, disturbances in sleep has also been shown to be a sensitive readout of fear conditioning (Sanford et al. 2003a, b), which is relevant to the symptoms of sleep dysfunction that are included as diagnostic criteria for both GAD and PTSD (DSM-IV 1994). Extinction of aversive association tasks, applicable to both fear conditioning and CTA paradigms, has been applied to the modeling of anxiety disorders with persistent aversive memory and associations, such as PTSD and panic disorder (Ressler et al. 2004; Barad 2005; Cryan and Holmes 2005; Ledgerwood et al. 2005; Delgado et al. 2006; Jacobson et al. 2006). This approach has met with some success in predictive validation, as demonstrated by the efficacy of p-cycloserine in facilitation of extinction in both rats in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm and in acrophobic patients (Ressler et al. 2004; Ledgerwood et al. 2005; Davis et al. 2006).

With all the behavioral paradigms heretofore described, interpretation of "anxiety" in animals requires careful attention to the interpretation of data to avoid confounding effects on other aspects of behavior (Bouwknecht and Paylor 2008). The importance of assessing locomotor activity in mutant animals had been mentioned above, and is of particular significance in interpreting data from anxiety paradigms that rely on a locomotion-based readout, such as exploratory-based paradigms and freezing behavior in fear conditioning tests (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Holmes and Cryan 2006; Jacobson and Cryan 2006). Mutations influencing cognition likewise may influence associative learning and exploratory behavior, and thus affect behavior in both conditioned and unconditioned anxiety paradigms (Jacobson and Cryan 2006; Bouwknecht and Paylor 2008). Potential alterations in other sensory-motor modalities must also be taken into account, for example, pain sensitivity in tests where foot-shock-based tests are employed, or impaired taste or olfactory senses in conditioned-tasted aversion or odor-paired fear learning tasks, respectively. The advice of Jacqueline Crawly in her landmark book "What's Wrong With my Mouse?" (Crawley 2007) to "give your mouse a physical" is practical and fundamentally necessary advice for avoiding erroneous interpretations of behavioral data. Previous test history, interactions with early-life environment, and compensatory changes for constitutive genetic mutations may also influence results in anxiety models (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Holmes and Cryan 2006; Jacobson and Cryan 2006). With these factors in mind, a test-battery approach has been advocated for detecting genuine phenotypes in behavioral modeling with mutant mice (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Arguello and Gogos 2006; Bouwknecht and Paylor 2008).

4 Genetics of Clinical Anxiety Disorders: Setting the Scene for Animal Models

In this section, we discuss the basic characteristics of the genetics of clinical anxiety disorders by way of introducing specific genetic techniques used in animal modeling of anxiety traits. It is widely accepted that clinical anxiety disorders have a significant genetic contribution (Finn et al. 2003; Gordon and Hen 2004; Gross and Hen 2004; Leonardo and Hen 2006). Individual and meta-analyses of family and twin studies show significant familial aggregation for most anxiety disorders, and indicate that the major source of familial risk is genetic in origin (Hettema et al. 2001a; Kendler 2001; Gross and Hen 2004). Conservative estimates for the heritability of panic, GAD, phobias, and OCD are in the 30–40% range (Hettema et al. 2001a). Although relatively modest compared to the heritability of other psychiatric and neurological disorders such as schizophrenia or Huntington's Disease (Leonardo and Hen 2006), this significant genetic component indicates that candidate genes which predispose to anxiety disorders do indeed exist, and many

research efforts have been launched to find them or associated loci, using linkage, association and genome-wide screening techniques (Finn et al. 2003).

Overall, however, this endeavor has met with strikingly little success in the identification of singular genetic candidates in the etiology of anxiety disorders (Lesch 2001; Finn et al. 2003; Gordon and Hen 2004; Flint 2006; Leonardo and Hen 2006; Abbott 2008). Examples of research avenues include those motivated by the success of benzodiazepines and SSRIs in the clinic, with investigations into the genetic relationship between anxiety disorders and the GABA_A receptor (particularly the benzodiazepine site), the serotonin transporter (5-HTT; SERT), or serotonin receptors. For the most part, these studies have either failed to detect any significant relationships, or at best results are inconsistent between different investigators (Finn and Smoller 2001; Finn et al. 2003; Gordon and Hen 2004). The robust capacity of the administration of exogenous cholecystokinin (CCK) peptides in the induction of panic attacks in man (Rehfeld 1992) has similarly prompted studies to examine genetic variations in the CCK peptide or in the CCK_A and CCK_B receptor genes and their relation to panic disorder, and has met with some success (Wang et al. 1998; Kennedy et al. 1999; Hattori et al. 2001; Hosing et al. 2004; Maron et al. 2005), although a negative study showing no association also exists (Hamilton et al. 2001). Similarly, variable or negative results have been reported for the relationship between OCD, panic disorder, GAD, and phobia with either monoamine oxidase-A (MAOA) or catechol-O-methyl transferase (COMT) (Finn et al. 2003). An association with a tandem repeat polymorphism in the dopamine transporter (DAT) and PTSD were reported in one study (Segman et al. 2002), although this finding has yet to be reproduced. Despite robust preclinical evidence that decreased expression of BDNF is implicated in enhanced stress responses, reduced hippocampal volume and antidepressant responses (see Duman and Monteggia 2006), variable results have also been reported for a relationship between anxiety traits or disorders and the human loss-of-function val66met single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP; where methionine is substituted for valine in the 5' pro-BDNF domain; Egan et al. 2003). Met-allele carriers have been reported as showing increased harm avoidance and higher prevalence in anxiety disorder or depressed patients (Jiang et al. 2005), decreased personality trait anxiety and neuroticism (Sen et al. 2003; Lang et al. 2005), and no association with life prevalence of major depressive disorder, GAD or anxious or depressed mood (Surtees et al. 2007), OCD (Wendland et al. 2007) or panic disorder (Lam et al. 2004; Shimizu et al. 2005). Mixed, weak, or negative results have also been reported for other candidate gene studies including glutamic acid decarboxylase 65, estrogen receptor α , and dopamine receptors D2, D3, D4 for the major anxiety disorders (see Finn et al. 2003; Smoller et al. 2008a). Several genome-wide scans have been published on anxiety disorders or anxiety-related personality traits (see Hovatta and Barlow 2008 for review). Surprisingly, little overlap exists between loci identified in different studies which may be due to relying on an underpowered design, and it is becoming clear that the number of patients required for such analysis is larger than anticipated (Hovatta and Barlow 2008).

170

It is evident from these aforementioned studies that the genetics underlying the various anxiety disorders is significantly more complex than a "single causative gene" etiological model, and a number of hypotheses for the lack of discovery of single candidate genes or variants have been proposed. In a comprehensive study of 90 different SNPs, Maron et al. (2005) concluded that genetic variants of several candidate genes of different neurotransmitter systems could contribute to the susceptibility to panic disorder, although individually with a relatively minor effect. Studies aimed at detecting smaller effects for any given gene's contribution, therefore, may require many thousand participants in order to detect significant associations (Surtees et al. 2007). In addition to polygenic contributions, pleiotropic, epistasic, epigenetic, and gene–environment interactions have been proposed as potential genetic mechanisms at work in anxiety disorders (Kendler 2001; Lesch 2001; Finn et al. 2003; Gordon and Hen 2004; Flint 2006; Canli and Lesch 2007; Murphy and Lesch 2008).

When examining anxious personality traits in man, rather than anxiety disorders per se, some more encouraging genetic relationships are apparent. First, there is evidence that anxious personality traits may increase the risk for developing an anxiety disorder (Kendler et al. 1995; Finn and Smoller 2001; Finn et al. 2003; Smoller et al. 2003; Smoller et al. 2005). Such studies indicate that the investigation of anxious traits in nonpatient populations may be highly informative in the search for the genetic architectures of anxiety disorders. This is of particular interest when viewed from an animal modeling perspective, as it forms a foundation for the utility of unconditioned tests of anxiety in model animal species. In animal modeling of anxiety traits, the behavioral analysis of inbred mouse strains, and of selectivelybred rats and mice, are well positioned for modeling aspects of trait anxiety and, by use of tools such as quantitative trait loci analyses (OTL), to the discovery of the genetic architecture of anxiety traits (Flint and Mott 2001). Comparable studies in nonpatient human populations will ultimately build an essential bridge to the validation and development of translational models of anxiety-like behavior and hence to anxiety disorders (Geyer and Markou 2002).

A second consequence of the association between anxious traits and anxiety disorders in man is that some specific candidate genes show reproducible findings in linkage and association studies with anxious personality traits in man, for example, CRF and allelic variations in the 5-HTT.

There has been substantial interest in CRF as a prospective genetic causative or predisposing factor in anxiety disorders, given that CRF is centrally involved in stress responsiveness and control of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA), which is highly reactive to stressful stimuli, and therefore implicated in the mechanism of action of both depression and anxiety (Shekhar et al. 2005; Todorovic et al. 2005). Unexpectedly, there are relatively few studies examining the genetic relationship between CRF or its receptors in relation to anxiety disorders, and these few do not indicate a direct genetic etiology (Finn et al. 2003; Tharmalingam et al. 2006). However, Smoller et al. reported an association with a microsatellite marker linked to the CRF gene and behavioral inhibition in children, which was particularly apparent in the children of parents with panic disorder (Smoller et al. 2003;
Smoller et al. 2005). These studies suggest that the CRF gene affects inhibited temperament, and therefore may be a risk factor for trait anxiety predisposing to panic and phobic anxiety disorders (Smoller et al. 2005).

Many studies have investigated the contribution of polymorphisms of the 5-HT transporter (SERT) to the risk for anxiety disorders. The short allele of the 5-HTTLPR variant has been associated with anxiety-related traits and anxiety disorders in many studies (Denys et al. 2006; Grados et al. 2007; Lesch et al. 1996; Melke et al. 2001; You et al. 2005), although many other studies have also reported a lack of association (Billett et al. 1997; Camarena et al. 2001; Hamilton et al. 1999; Lang et al. 2004; Meira-Lima et al. 2004; Samochowiec et al. 2004; Schinka et al. 2004). However, it is important to note that such discrepancies may well be a function of which anxiety traits were measured in a particular study (Schinka et al. 2004). Neuroimaging studies have suggested that S-allele carriers exhibited hyperactivity of the amygdala in response to fearful stimuli (Hariri et al. 2002), thus further supporting a role for the S-allele of the 5-HTTLPR polymorphism in anxiety disorders. The SERTin2 polymorphism has been associated with OCD (Baca-Garcia et al. 2007), anxiety-related personality traits (Vormfelde et al. 2006), but not GAD (You et al. 2005). Moreover, a rare polymorphism in the ninth exon, Ile425Val, has been found in unrelated families with OCD (Ozaki et al. 2003; Wendland et al. 2008). Taken together, genetic association studies suggest an association of SERT gene variants with risk for anxiety disorders in humans.

4.1 Gene–Environment Interactions

As mentioned above, heritability estimates for anxiety disorders are relatively modest. In theory, this indicates that a great deal of familial variation is not explained by genetic factors, and indeed, individual environmental factors are considered as a major contribution in nonfamilial variation. This environmental component, however, also includes variability explained by gene–environment interactions that are not accounted for in the estimates of genetic contributions alone (Hettema et al. 2001b; Gordon and Hen 2004). It has been estimated from twin studies that up to 20% of the genetic influences in psychiatric disorders may be mediated in such a way (Kendler 2001), and that interactions between genes and the environment contribute significantly to the etiology of anxiety disorders and other psychiatric illnesses (Kendler 2001; Gordon and Hen 2004).

Recent studies into gene–environment interactions have been particularly instructive in furthering the understanding of genetic contributions to anxiety disorders. Perhaps the best example of gene–environment interactions in psychiatry is the study of Caspi and colleagues, who demonstrated that carries of the short (s/s) allele of the 5-HTT were more likely to develop depression when challenged with a significant life stress than carriers of the long (l/l) allele (Caspi et al. 2003), a finding that has also been replicated by other investigators (Kendler et al. 2005; Uher and McGuffin 2008).

It is plausible that the complexity introduced by gene–environment interactions may be responsible, at least in part, for the lack of progress in the discovery of genetic origins of anxiety disorders. Moreover there is an increasing realization that epigenetic influences can alter behavior significantly (Francis et al. 2003; Weaver et al. 2006; Tsankova et al. 2007; Abel and Zukin 2008; Carola et al. 2008; Darnaudery and Maccari 2008; Seckl 2008; Skinner et al. 2008). The preclinical laboratory, whereby there is control over the genetic background of animal subjects and the environment in which they are raised, is well positioned for advancing discovery in the field of gene–environment interactions (Carola et al. 2006).

4.2 Endophenotypes: Modeling Behavior and Genetics Together?

The heterogeneous findings of genetic and linkage studies in man may arise at least in part due to the current diagnostic criteria which is complex, descriptive and subjective in nature, particularly when combined with a self-report based approach. This has been considered by many in the field to provide challenges in clinical diagnosis itself, and certainly in the translation to animal models (Wong and Licinio 2001; Gottesman and Gould 2003; Hasler et al. 2004; Cryan and Holmes 2005; Schulze et al. 2005; Canli and Lesch 2007; Murphy and Lesch 2008). As a consequence, there have been growing calls for the diagnosis and treatment of anxiety and other psychiatric disorders to focus on individual behavioral, physiological, or neurochemical endpoints, rather than entire syndromes per se (Geyer and Markou 2002; Gottesman and Gould 2003; Hyman and Fenton 2003; Hasler et al. 2004; Schulze et al. 2005; Markou et al. 2008). This approach aims to identify putative endophenotypes characteristic of diseases and model them independently rather than the whole syndrome (Hasler et al. 2004; Hasler et al. 2006). The term endophenotype, in a psychiatric context, was coined by Gottesman and Shields in the early 1970s (Gottesman and Shields 1973) where they described it as an internal phenotype that emerges from the pathway between genes and the disease state. Fundamental to the concept is the assumption that the genetic basis of variations of the given endophenotypes between patients and control subjects are fewer than those involved in the manifestation of a complex disorder (Gottesman and Gould 2003; Hasler et al. 2004). Thus, employing endophenotypic approaches provides a means for identifying the genetic basis of specific clinical phenotypes, in addition to aiding the analysis of the phenotypic consequences of genes being turned on or off (Gottesman and Gould 2003; Hasler et al. 2004). The endophenotype approach has led to some success in human anxiety disorder studies but is not without some critique (Flint and Munafo 2007).

A consequence of the endophenotype approach is that it is significantly more applicable to animal modeling than holistic approaches (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Holmes and Cryan 2006). When broken down into individual components, many of the symptoms of anxiety disorders are distinctly compatible with current behavioral techniques used in laboratory animals (Cryan and Holmes 2005). Examples of how

Symptom	How might it be modeled in mice
Avoidance of places from which escape may be difficult (<i>Agoraphobia</i>)	Increased avoidance of exposed, well-lit areas
Sudden onset of intense fearfulness, often with respiratory distress and fear of "going crazy" (<i>Panic Attack</i>)	Increased flight from a predator
Anxiety provoked by social situations, leading to avoidance behavior (<i>Social Phobia</i>)	Low social interaction with unfamiliar conspecific
Anxiety provoked by a specific feared object, leading to avoidance behavior (Specific Phobia)	Exaggerated avoidance behavior to specific stimulus
Re-experiencing a traumatic event, leading to increased arousal and avoidance of stimuli associated with the event (<i>Posttraumatic</i> <i>Stress Disorder</i>)	Increased freezing response to fear conditioned cue or context
Anxiety-provoking obsessions, anxiety- reducing compulsions (OCD)	Increased marble burying, excessive grooming
Difficulty concentrating or mind going blank (Generalized Anxiety Disorder)	Impaired sustained attention
Sleep disturbance/insomnia	Abnormal sleep architecture (measured via electroencephalogy)
Autonomic hyperarousal (tachycardia, blushing, sweating, frequent urination)	Radiotelemetric measurement of heart rate dynamics during anxiety-provocation, increased stress-induced hyperthermia
Flashbacks of traumatic events	Impairment in extinction of fear memory
Cognitive bias towards ambiguous or weak threat cues	Increased fear conditioning to partial threat cue
Heightened startle response, particularly in threatening contexts	Increased acoustic startle response, and fear- potentiated startle response
Separation anxiety	Increased ultrasonic vocalizations in pups separated from their mother
Feeling of losing control or going crazy during a panic attack	Cannot be modeled

 Table 1
 Symptoms and characteristic features used in the DSM-IV diagnosis of Anxiety Disorders and how they may be modeled in mice (adapted from (Cryan and Holmes 2005)

specific symptoms of anxiety disorders may be modeled in laboratory species are shown in Table 1.

5 Genetic Approaches in Animal Modeling of Anxiety and Anxiety Disorders

The use of targeted mutation approaches in vertebrate mammals to discern the behavioral function of genes has now become relatively common (Crawley 2007). Genetic techniques utilized in anxiety research, similar to other branches of research, include both "genotype-to-phenotype" and "phenotype-to-genotype" approaches. Genotype-to-phenotype, or reverse genetics, refers to investigations that begin with the targeted mutation of a gene followed by evaluation of the resultant phenotype in the mutant animal. Such approaches include conventional, constitutive mutations of single genes, such as gene deletions (knockouts, also called null mutations), point mutations and insertions (knockins, overexpression and transgenics), which are present from conception and throughout the life of the mutant and exist in all cell types where the gene is expressed (Holmes 2001). Conditional and inducible mutations, as well as viral transfection and siRNA approaches are also included in the reverse genetics category. Reverse genetics techniques are of particular value for the exploration of the role of a single gene (and its genetic interactions) in a particular phenotype.

"Phenotype-to-genotype", or forward techniques, begins with the evaluation of a trait of interest, followed by the subsequent pursuit to determine the genetic architecture of that trait. Such approaches include the study of phenotypically segregating inbred mouse strains in combination with QTL analysis; gene expression profiling with DNA microarray chips to investigate the effects of various experimental conditions on induction or inhibition of gene expression in the brain; phenotypic and genetic analysis of randomly generated mutations *via* radiation or chemical agents; and genetic analysis of animals selectively bred for specific traits of interest. A primary advantage of forward genetic techniques is that they are unbiased with regard to the identity of the underlying genes involved, and indeed to the overall genetic architecture of the trait. This positions the technique particularly well for the elucidation of complex and polygenic traits, an important quality given the nature of the genetic architecture of human anxiety traits and disorders.

5.1 Genotype-to-Phenotype: Targeted Manipulation of Candidate Genes

5.1.1 Constitutive Genetic Manipulations

"Knockouts", in this article, refers to animals with a targeted deletion of a gene for the purpose of removing the protein product encoded by the gene, and are also referred to as a loss of function or null mutations. "Transgenic" animals have an added gene, either extra copies of a gene native to the genome in question, or one from a foreign genome, for example, insertion of human genes into mice or of mouse genes into the rat. "Knockin" is the insertion of a gene or part thereof, while a "point mutation" refers to a relatively small genetic mutation within a gene, such as the insertion of stop codon, or to alter an amino acid in a sequence, for example, to mimic a human genetic mutation (see Papaioannou and Behringer 2005; Crawley 2007 for more information on the generation of mutant mice).

More than 80 mutant strains of mice are described in the literature as presenting an anxiolytic or anxiogenic-like phenotype (Cryan and Holmes 2005). Many of these mutants have been generated from hypotheses based on the mechanisms of action of clinically efficacious anxiolytics, or to reproduce a human genetic mutation thought to be linked to anxiety (e.g., the val66met BDNF variant; Chen et al. 2006), although there are also numerous examples of phenotypes in knockout and transgenic mice that potentially reveal novel mechanisms involved in anxiety (Cryan and Holmes 2005). Examples of mutants generated from hypotheses based on anxiolytic efficacy include the predominantly null and point mutations of the $GABA_A$ receptor subunits and benzodiazepine binding sites, the GABA synthetic enzyme glutamic acid decaroxylase isoform 65 (GAD65); null mutations in the serotonin system including SERT or the 5-HT receptors (5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{1B}, 5-HT_{2C}, and 5-HT_{5A}), and null mutations in the monoamine system such as monoamine oxidase A and B (MAO-A and MAO-B), catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), norepinepherin transporter (NET), vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2), and the receptors α_2 -adrenergic receptor subtype *a*, dopamine D3 and D4 receptors. The involvement of the HPA axis in the stress response has likewise stimulated the generation of mutants implicated in this pathway, such as null mutants of corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF), urocortin knockout, CRFbinding protein, CRF receptors 1 and 2 (individually and together), the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), and transgenic overexpression of both CRF and GR. The anxiety-related phenotype of these mutants has been reviewed elsewhere (Holmes 2001; Finn et al. 2003) and readers are referred to these articles for further details. On the whole, however, genetic manipulations of these aforementioned serotonin, MAO-A, NET, and HPA targets (with the notable exception of the CRF knockout) have yielded reasonably strong evidence for a role for these systems in murine anxiety-like behavior.

More recently, single mutation targeting has expanded considerably from serotonin, monoamines, GABA_A, and the HPA axis. Further work of particular relevance to the GABAergic hypothesis in anxiety includes investigations in our laboratory into the metabotropic GABA receptor, GABA_B. GABA_B receptor agonists/positive modulators have an anxiolytic profile in many preclinical and some clinical settings (see Cryan and Kaupmann 2005). Correspondingly, GABA_{B(1)}^{-/-} and GABA_{B(2)}^{-/-} mice show a highly anxious phenotype in exploratory paradigms (Mombereau et al. 2004a, b; Mombereau et al. 2005), indicating a role in trait anxiety and potential relevance to the modeling of GAD. Additionally, mice with loss of function mutations of the GABA_{B(1)} subunit isoforms (GABA_{B(1a)}^{-/-} and GABA_{B(1b)}^{-/-} mice), generated by point mutation knockin of stop codons to prevents transcription of the respective isoforms (Vigot et al. 2006), show differential impairments in acquisition and extinction in aversive memory tasks (Jacobson et al. 2006; Shaban et al. 2006), which may be more applicable to modeling aspects of PTSD.

Examples of other mutations that have been reported to alter anxiety-related behaviors include neuropeptides and their receptors, cell adhesion molecules, metabotropic glutamate receptors and subunits of glutamate ligand-gated ion channels, point mutations and transgenes related to Alzheimer's Disease, secondmessenger signaling proteins, proteins associated with dopaminergic function, apoptotic signaling proteins, circadian signaling genes, vitamin receptors, lipid binding proteins, steroid hormone receptors, and a variety of other gene products.

Overall, however, the 5-HTT knockout and heterozgyotic mice are perhaps the most well studied of all single-gene constitutive mutants in anxiety research, due not only to their construct validity given by the action with SSRI mechanisms of action, but also because of their face validity as a model of relevance to the clinical findings with 5-HTTLRP *s*-allele carriers (see Murphy and Lesch 2008 for a comprehensive overview of 5-HTT mutants). Like human 5-HTTLRP *s*-allele carriers, 5-HTT mutant mice show a gene-dose dependent reduction in 5-HTT binding sites and reuptake capacity (Lesch et al. 1996; Bengel et al. 1998), and both the 5-HTT knockout and 5-HTTLRP *s*-allele carriers show enhanced trait anxiety (Lesch et al. 1996; Holmes et al. 2003b, c; Sen et al. 2004; Munafo et al. 2006), hypersensitivity to stressful events (Carroll et al. 2007; Adamec et al. 2008; Caspi et al. 2003; Kendler et al. 2005), and impairment of fear extinction recall (Pezawas et al. 2005; Wellman et al. 2007).

It is also worth bearing in mind that both 5-HTTLRP s-allele carriers, like 5-HTT mutant mice, express a constitutive genetic condition, and therefore may share an etiological basis as well. This raises one of the broadly discussed issues in genetic modeling. It is clear that mutant animals that carry their mutation from conception are appropriate for the modeling of naturally occurring constitutive mutations found in the clinic, in terms of the presence of the mutation during development. However, gene deletions represent the greatest extreme of a genetic alteration, and mechanisms such as compensation by other genes are likely to be induced. These compensations can, at worst mask interpretation of the function of the target gene function, while at best they can theoretically unmask important compensatory mechanisms of interest (Holmes 2001; Crawley 2007). Another feature of classical constitutive mutations is that they are ubiquitously expressed, and for the examination of CNS roles of genes, peripheral effects of the mutation may also have consequences on the behavior of the mutant animal that are unrelated to the gene's CNS function. Finally, development-dependent plieotropic actions of genes should also be considered; that is, the role of a gene may differ in specific stages of ontogeny. One example of this from Alzheimer's Disease research includes the actions of beta-secretase, a key enzyme in the production of betaamyloid that is thought to be one of the main causative mechanisms in Alzheimer's Disease (Venugopal et al. 2008). Beta-secretase, however, is also involved in myelination during development (Willem et al. 2006). This complicates the interpretation of the phenotype of constitutive knockout mice with regard to Alzheimer's like behavioral alterations, as the mice also show phenotypes that are characteristic of schizophrenia models that may be related to developmental effects on ErbB4 and neuregulin1 signaling (Savonenko et al. 2008).

Conditional and inducible mutations offer methods for addressing developmental and ubiquitous expression issues. Conditional mutations are restricted to expression in specific brain regions, for example, the CaMKII α promotor in combination with a targeted gene mutation restricts the expression of the mutation to forebrain neurons (Mayford et al. 1996). Inducible mutations, such as the Tet-on and Tet-off systems, are also compatible with tissue-specific promotors, although their greatest advantage is the provision of control over *when* a mutation is transcribed. This allows the study of functions of specific genes at critical developmental periods, and the prospects of reversing a genetically-induced pathological phenotype after its manifestation (Mansuy and Bujard 2000). In the Tet-off system, a gene of interest is linked to the tetracycline-controlled transactivator (tTA), and is transcribed under normal circumstances, but turned off in the presence of the antibiotics tetracycline or doxycycline (Dox) administered, for example, in the drinking water of mice. In contrast, in the Tet-on system, a gene linked to reverse tTA (rtTA) is normally inactive but transcription is turned on in the presence of Dox (see Papaioannou and Behringer 2005, Crawley 2007, and Mansuy and Bujard 2000 for details). Interesting examples of conditional and inducible mutants in anxiety research include a forebrain restricted CRF-R1 knockout mouse (Crhr1^{loxP/loxP-} *Camk2a-cre*), which spares the pituitary and HPA axis. These mice showed an anxiolytic-like phenotype in exploratory paradigms, and exaggerated cortisol release to restrain stress, demonstrating a central role of the CRF-R1 in anxiety, and the feedback control of the HPA system and it's adaptation to stress that is independent of the HPA axis itself (Muller et al. 2003).

In a second highly pertinent example, a conditional and inducible knockout approach was used to probe the functions of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor in anxiety. Constitutive, global knockout of the 5-HT_{1A} receptor enhances anxiety-like behavior in exploratory paradigms and the novelty-induced suppression of feeding paradigm of adult mice (Ramboz et al. 1998; Gross et al. 2000). Gross et al. (2002) used conditional (CamKII α promotor), inducible (Tet-off) 5-HT_{1A} knockout mice to demonstrate that expression of functional 5-HT_{1A} receptors in the forebrain (but not in the serotonergic cell bodies of the dorsal raphé nucleus) are vital in preventing the anxious phenotype of the full 5-HT_{1A} receptor knockout mice. Furthermore, loss of the 5-HT_{1A} postsynaptic receptor during development induced an anxiogenic-like phenotype similar to that of full knockouts, whereas loss of the postsynaptic receptor in the adult was without effect on anxiety-like behavior (Gross et al. 2002). These landmark studies clearly demonstrated the importance of functional postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors during critical development and early postnatal phases for control of anxious behavior in the adult.

5.1.2 Transgenic Rats

Although mice are generally the species of choice for targeted genetic manipulations, the generation of transgenic rats is feasible (Cozzi et al. 2008), and has been utilized as a model species in the study of anxiety. The development of transgenic rats as a research tool has lagged behind their murine counterparts, primarily because of challenges in isolating puripotent rat embryonic stem cells. For the most part, transgenic rats are generated by injection of a transgene construct into the pronucleus of an isolated embryo at the single cell stage, which are then reimplanted into foster dams. Other methods for generating transgenic rats include sperm-mediated transgenesis and viral transfection. There is a very limited number of lines of knockout rats, with loss-of-function mutations in rats more usually approached by dominant negative strategies (where an introduced gene protein product blocks the expression of the target gene), siRNA (see below), and chemical mutagenesis (discussed later; see Cozzi et al. 2008 for a recent review on genetic modification techniques in the rat). The first successfully generated transgenic rat carried the mouse *Ren*-2 renin gene, for the purposes of modeling primary hypertension (Mullins et al. 1990). Recently, a second transgenic rat, TGR(AsrAOGEN) 680, also targeted the renin–angiotensin system but at the level of the renin substrate, angiotensinogen, with an overexpressed antisense RNA against angiotensinogen mRNA. In addition to reduced blood pressure, renin-induced drinking, and brain, but not plasma angiotensinogen levels, these rats also showed enhanced anxiety in primary and ethological readouts in the elevated plus maze, social interaction, and open field test (Voigt et al. 2005).

An example of a transgenic rat model generated primarily for anxiety research includes a fivefold overexpression of the rat NPY gene (Michalkiewicz and Michalkiewicz 2000). These rats show elevated CA1 and CA2 field prepro-NPY mRNA and NPY protein, with concurrent reductions in Y-1 autoradiographic binding throughout the hipocampus (Thorsell et al. 2000). These rats failed to respond to restraint stress with reduced open arm entries in the elevated plus maze, and showed anxiolytic-like behavior in the punished drinking test, although corticosterone responses to restraint stress did not differ from wild-type rats (Thorsell et al. 2000). Morris Water Maze performance was also impaired in the NPY over-expressing rats, and it therefore may be debated as to whether the primary phenotype of these rats was anxiolytic, cognitive (e.g., in an aversive associative learning domain), or a result of interactive impairments in both. However, the anxiogenic-like phenotype of the NPY knockout mouse (Bannon et al. 2000) in combination with the rat study cements an interpretation for the involvement of NPY in anxiety (Voigt et al. 2005).

5.1.3 siRNA and Viral Transfection

Short interfering RNA silencing (siRNA) and viral transfection techniques offer alternative methods for studying the physiological and behavioral roles of gene products in animal models (Tenenbaum et al. 2004; Green and Nestler 2006; Thakker et al. 2006). Viral transfection techniques involve the insertion of a targeted gene construct into the genome of a nonreplicating virus. Examples of viruses used in transfection applications that are appropriate for CNS application are herpes simplex virus (HSV-1), adeno-associated virus (AAV), and lentivirus (Green and Nestler 2006). A marker protein, such as green-fluorescent protein (GFP), is usually included in the expression plasmid to allow subsequent visualization of its anatomical expression. The plasmid is transfected into cell culture where it is packaged into capsids (viral protein coats) and amplified to generate sufficient material. After purification, it is ready for injection into a brain region of interest.

The viral promotor incorporates the target construct into the genome of neurons (and to a certain degree, glia, depending on the type of viral vector, promotor, and delivery capsid; Janson et al. 2001) near the injection site, and expression of the mutated construct ensues (see Janson et al. 2001; Green and Nestler 2006 for reviews).

RNA silencing refers to a naturally occurring post-transcriptional silencing phenomenon whereby double-stranded RNA or hairpin RNA triggers the formation of short interfering RNA (siRNA) or micro-RNA (miRNA), respectively. These form a complex with the nuclear proteins RISC or RITS, which then bind in a sequence-specific manner to a corresponding mRNA sequence. The complex directly blocks translation of the mRNA and causes the cleavage and destruction of the mRNA. In the laboratory, siRNA constructs may be applied directly into the mouse ventricular system with an osmotic minipump, where they have been shown to selectively knock down targeted CNS proteins, resulting in measurable behavioral alterations (Thakker et al. 2006).

Viral transfection and siRNA techniques offer specific advantages as genetic manipulation methods (Janson et al. 2001; Green and Nestler 2006; Jacobson and Cryan 2006; Thakker et al. 2006). The risk of contamination by unwanted genetic material is low in comparison to classical knockout techniques, where contamination from the embryonic stem cell can be present even in a number of subsequent generations (Cook et al. 2002). Viral transfection and siRNA are applicable to both rats and mice (Green and Nestler 2006; Thakker et al. 2006; Cozzi et al. 2008), which, as they may be sourced directly from reputable suppliers on a needs-be basis, removes the requirement to maintain an in-house colony of a mutated strain. Indeed, constructs may indeed be applied to as many different strain as desired, and as such, the most appropriate strains for any given behavioral test can be used. Additionally, since viral and siRNA constructs are applied directly in the adult animal, resulting phenotypes are not influenced by developmental complications that may affect constitutive mutants. This is of particular value for studying genes where knockout techniques result in nonviable offspring, for example, BDNF.

Both viral transfection and siRNA techniques also have method-specific disadvantages. Viral packaging limits the size of possible insertions, and there are potential toxicity risks when dealing with viral vectors, for example, via insertional mutagenesis or viral vector-host immune interactions, which can be difficult to predict (Janson et al. 2001; St George 2003). For both methods, control over the type or amount of cells affected and the extent of overall expression is limited. For viral transfection there is the risk of host-directed inactivation via mechanisms such as promoter silencing or immunological reaction. Both techniques are in essence knockdown methods – abrogation is unlikely to ever be complete. Finally, as is the case for all genetic manipulations, there is always the chance of redundancy in a given system and that a residually expressed protein can compensate for the silenced gene.

siRNA and viral transfection methods have both been employed in anxietyrelated research to good effect. We have used an in vivo siRNA approach to knock down the metabotropic glutamate receptor 7 (mGluR7), a target for which no mRNA expression by about 15–20% in specific brain regions, including the basal and lateral (but not central) parts of the amygdala and the hippocampus. This attenuation was accompanied by profound deficits in the extinction of a CTA. Supporting the specificity of the mechanism, the mGluR7 agonist AMN082 facilitated extinction of CTA in a different group of mice, and in two further separate experiments, impaired the acquisition and the extinction of FPS in rats (Fendt et al. 2008). These studies thereby confirmed a specific role for mGluR7 in the extinction of conditioned aversive memory, using siRNA mediated inactivation and pharmacological activation techniques in two different species and behavioral tasks.

Heldt et al. (2007) used a lentiviral approach to investigate the role of BDNF in extinction of aversive memory. Knockdown of hippocampal BDNF was achieved by injecting a lentivirus expressing Cre into the hippocampus of adult mice that were floxed at the BDNF locus. In these mice, hippocampal infection rate was on average 53%, and comparable levels of knockdown of hippocampal BDNF mRNA were achieved. These mice demonstrated normal acquisition of FPS and conditioned freezing, but showed significantly reduced extinction in both paradigms (Heldt et al. 2007). In a viral transfection study at a separate laboratory (Berton et al. 2006), adult floxed BDNF mice were injected with an AAV vector expressing Cre recombinase into the ventral tegmental area (VTA) in order to selectively ablate BDNF in this structure. These mice showed an antidepressantlike phenotype in a social defeat model of chronic psychosocial stress. Together these studies may help to explain some aspects of the divergent clinical findings on the relationship between BDNF val66met SNP and anxiety traits and disorders, as they clearly demonstrate opposing permissive roles for BDNF in different brain structures, and therefore in different stress-related cognitive and socio-behavioral domains that are affected in anxiety-related disorders.

5.2 Phenotype-to-Genotype

5.2.1 Inbred Mouse Strains, Gene–Environment Interactions and Quantitative Trait Loci

One of the greatest advantages of the laboratory mouse as a genetic discovery tool is the availability of a number of different inbred mouse strains. An inbred mouse strain is generated by mating related mice, brother \times sister, or parent \times offspring, for 20 or more generations. This renders approximately 98.6% of the loci homozygous for each mouse within the strain. Since many of the established inbred strains have a far greater number of generations than this, they can be considered as essentially isogenic and homozygous at all loci (Beck et al. 2000). In theory, the isogenicity of the inbred strain suggests that differences between strain trait means should primarily be a function of genotype (Crabbe et al. 2002). Certainly, many studies have demonstrated phenotypic differences in anxiety-related behaviors and stress responsiveness between inbred strains; for example, the highly anxious and stress-sensitive phenotype of BALB/c mice, has lead some researchers to propose this strain as a suitable model for pathological anxiety per se (Anisman and Zacharko 1992; Griebel et al. 2000; Anisman et al. 2001; Belzung 2001). Inbred strains also show differences in their responses to a number of pharmacological agents, suggesting that genetic-based neurobiological differences underlie the observer behavioral variations (reviewed in Crawley et al. 1997; Jacobson and Cryan 2006; Crawley 2007), and for examples, see (Belknap et al. 1989; Crabbe et al. 1994; Crabbe et al. 1998; Griebel et al. 2000; Lucki et al. 2001; Crabbe et al. 2002; Jacobson and Cryan 2005). As such, the inbred mouse has been recognized as an immensely valuable tool for fundamental genetic research and genetic modeling of human disease states. In response to this recognition, and the growing volume of data generated with different inbred strains, an international consortium, the Mouse Phenome Project, was launched to support mouse genomic discovery research and to provide research tools for complex trait analysis including the Mouse Phenome Database, a shared repository for phenotypic and genotypic data voluntarily contributed by researchers in the field (see http://www.jax.org/phenome and Grubb et al. 2008)

Clearly, one of the advantages to inbred mouse strains in combination with targeted mutation approaches is that they allow the assessment of a specific genetic manipulation against a controlled background genetic variability (Festing 2004). Furthermore, when the same mutation is generated in more than one strain, they can be used to determine the effect of genetic background on the phenotype induced by a single mutation, and by inference, the robustness of the phenotype. It is hoped that the study of single mutations generated in different inbred mouse strains may ultimately assist in the discovery of gene-gene interactions in polygenetic traits (Silva et al. 1997; Fisch 2006). However, the situation is somewhat more complex than this, for example, care must be taken in such approaches to ensure that variations in strain background behavior do not mask phenotypes generated by the mutation. Examples of this phenomenon may be seen with 5-HTT knockout and preproenkephalin-deficient mice (Penk1⁻/⁻) (Holmes et al. 2003a; Bilkei-Gorzo et al. 2004). In 5-HTT knockout mice, the congenic C57Bl/6J background mice showed the expected enhanced anxiety in the light-dark box and elevated plus maze while the 12986 did not, although both strains failed to display hypothermia in response to a challenge with a 5-HT_{1A} receptor agonist, confirming via 5-HT_{1A} receptor loss-of-function that the 5-HTT null mutation was penetrant in both strains (Holmes et al. 2003a). Similarly, Penk $1^{-}/^{-}$ on a C57Bl/6J background showed enhanced anxiety in the light-dark box and startle paradigms, but not in the social interaction test. In contrast, the Penk⁻/⁻ mice on the DBA/2J background showed enhanced anxiety in the elevated zero maze and social interaction tests (Bilkei-Gorzo et al. 2004). Both Holmes et al. (2003a, b) and Bilkei-Gorzo et al. (2004) also noted significant, test-specific differences in baseline anxiety between the background strains, indicating that anxiety-like changes may have been expressed in

both backgrounds in response to the mutations, but that different types of strainspecific tests may be needed in order to detect them. Similar results have been reported with 5-HT_{1A} receptor knockout mice generated on three different background strains (C57Bl/6, Swiss Webster \times 129/Sv and 129/Sv) (reviewed in Groenink et al. 2003). Together these findings have lead to the observation that targeted mutations in general should ideally be introduced into more than one or two strains, and that phenotypic assessment of the phenotype of such mice requires a test battery approach, rather than reliance on a small number of tests (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Arguello and Gogos 2006; Fisch 2006).

Recently, the notion of phenotypic variation of inbred strains as a primary product of genotype has been challenged. This arises primarily from the demonstration that strain-dependent anxiety-related behaviors can be strongly influenced by environmental factors such as strain-clustered maternal rearing styles, as was elegantly illustrated in the cross-fostering studies of Francis and colleagues (Francis et al. 1995; Francis et al. 1999; Francis et al. 2003). With regard to anxiety-related behavior, Francis et al. (2003) cross-fostered C57Bl/6 pups, a strain with reduced innate anxiety relative to the BALB/c strain, under four different maternal strain rearing conditions (prenatal/postnatal dam): (1) C57Bl/6/C57Bl/6, (2) C57Bl/6/ BALB/c, (3) BALB/c BALB/c, and (4) BALB/c/ C57Bl/6. When tested as adults, the C57Bl/6 pups reared in utero and postnatally by BALB/c dams showed enhanced anxiety in the open field and elevated plus maze tests and poor performance in the Morris Water Maze indistinguishable from control BALB/c mice, while all other maternal environments produced behaviors more characteristic of C57B1/6 control mice (Francis et al. 2003). However, C57B1/6 pups reared in utero by a C57Bl/6 dam but postnatally by a BALB/c dam showed a phenotype like that of control C57Bl/6 mice. In a subsequent study, BALB/c dams showed significantly less arched-back nursing, licking, and grooming of pups and spent more time away from the nest than C57Bl/6 dams (Priebe et al. 2005), and the anxious behavior of BALB/c pups as adults in the elevated plus maze was mitigated when they were reared by a C57B1/6 dam. Interestingly, however, the poor maternal care of BALB/c dams did not enhance anxiety in C57Bl/6 pups in the elevated plus maze. Together these results indicated that the pre- and postnatal maternal care can have profound influences on anxiety-related behavior in the adult, but in a way that interacts with genotype in a complex manner. Such studies exemplify the role of epigenetic environmentally-dependent alterations of gene expression which is known to be mediated by DNA methylation and histone modifications independent of the coding sequence (Holmes et al. 2005).

The isogenicity and distinct behavioral clusters that differentiate various inbred strains, and the degree of control available over the pre- and postnatal environment of laboratory animals, in itself provides an otherwise unapproachable facility to study gene–environment interactions (Holmes et al. 2005; Priebe et al. 2005; Kaffman and Meaney 2007).

Perhaps one of the greatest advances provided by inbred mouse strains is their essential contribution to QTL techniques for mapping loci that contribute to behavioral or pharmacological phenotypes (Flint 2003; Festing 2004). QTLs are

chromosomal regions that are associated with traits which are measured as continuous variables. OTL studies in mice are performed with a cross between two phenotypically segregating mouse strains to an F2 generation. The progenitor and F2 generation is assessed for the trait of interest, then genotyped at marker locations. Alternatively, recombinant inbred strains, which arise where progeny of two strains are inbred to 10 or more generations to create a series of substrains, or rats or mice selectively bred for extremes of a behavioral trait, may also be used (Mozhui et al. 2007). Associations between the genetic markers and the different trait phenotypes of the progeny are statistically analyzed using LOD scores (logarithm of the likelihood ratio for linkage) to determine the QTLs (Flint and Mott 2001; Flint 2003). In this respect, QTL is a powerful tool for the assessment of the genetic architecture of a trait, for example, by determining whether a trait is influenced by small contributions from multiple different loci, or by larger contributions from fewer loci. Following the identification of QTLs, further mapping of the linkage sites can be made, with the ultimate aim of identifying candidate genes (Korstanje and Paigen 2002). With regard to anxiety-related behavior, Flint et al. (1995), in one of the earlier searches for anxiety related QTLs, mapped three loci on chromosomes 1, 12, and 15 that influence emotionality in mice, based on correlated activity and defecation in the open field test, activity in a Y-maze and elevated plus maze performance. Since then many other QTL studies have been performed to assess the genetic architecture of murine anxiety-related behavior (Turri et al. 2001a; Turri et al. 2001b; Flint 2003; Henderson et al. 2004; Singer et al. 2005; Ponder et al. 2007; Bailey et al. 2008), although the greatest challenge with QTL analyses in mice remains the fine-mapping of loci, and hence the subsequent identification of quantitative trait genes (see (Hovatta and Barlow 2008) for a review).

One of the recent translational success stories from QTL analysis involves the fine-mapping of a previously determined anxiety-related QTL on chromosome 1, using an outbred mouse strain (MF1) as a fine mosaic to identify the "regulator of G protein signaling 2" gene (Rgs2) as a quantitative trait gene (Yalcin et al. 2004). Based on these results, Smoller et al. (2008b) examined the human ortholog of Rgs2 in a family based group and in unrelated adults. Rgs2 markers were associated with measures of childhood behavioral inhibition, adult self-reported introversion (NEO-Personality Inventory–Revised), and fMRI responses in an emotional faces task (Smoller et al. 2008b). These results give very encouraging evidence that QTL analysis to study the genetic architecture of anxiety traits in mice can ultimately provide a translational platform for anxiety-related genetic discovery in man.

5.3 Gene Expression Arrays

Gene expression arrays, sometimes also called DNA microarrays, allow the identification of genes that are expressed at a certain time in a certain tissue type. The microarray itself is a miniaturized glass or silicone chip with, generally, thousands of short, specific DNA oligonucleotide sequences (e.g., genes, although arrays for SNPs are also available) adhered to the surface, which hybridize with genes or genetic material in the sample. Hybridization is quantified by fluorescence-based detection, the intensity of which indicates the relative abundance of expression in the sample. Microarrays can be used in experiments to compare the gene expression profile between strains or mutant lines of rats and mice, or to evaluate the effects of environmental manipulations (e.g., stress), drug treatments, in whole brains or different microdissected brain regions (Crawley 2007; Hovatta and Barlow 2008). The volume of data generated from microarray experiments can be overwhelming, and appropriate statistical filtering steps and algorithms are important for the management of data and identification of significantly altered gene expression patterns.

A comprehensive example of gene expression profiling relating to anxiety behavior is the study by Letwin et al. (2006). In this study, mirodisssected brain regions from eight mouse strains selected from the A priority group of the Mouse Phenome Project (Bogue and Grubb 2004) were analyzed using a cDNA microarray. These strains exhibit large genetic and behavioral diversity, making them ideal for relating gene expression differences to behavior. Moreover, the advantage of such an approach is exemplified by the access to a large online database of physiological and behavioral measurements available for them (http://www.jax. org/phenome). In the study a total of 35 genes in the periaqueductal grey were associated with total time spent in open quadrants of an elevated zero maze. Moreover, several of these correlated genes could be mapped to surrogate phenotypic QTLs related to anxiety. Examples include the upregulated gene Rims3 and the downregulated gene transcriptional activator Egr-1 in mouse strains exhibiting lower anxiety. Interestingly, increased Egr-1 expression has been reported after fear conditioning in the rat, and the anxiolytic diazepam has been shown to block the fear conditioning increase in Egr-1 as well as to reduce anxiety (Malkani and Rosen 2000).

Gene array studies are also highly complementary with other genetic techniques, as elegantly demonstrated in the recent study by Hovatta et al. (2005). In their study, six inbred mouse strains (129S6/SvEvTac, A/J, C3H/HeJ, C57BL/6J, DBA/ 2J, and FVB/N) were assessed for anxiety-related behaviors in the exploratory anxiety light-dark box and open-field tests. Seven brain regions implicated in anxiety neurocircuitry were dissected from the different strains and assessed using oligonucleotide arrays. Seventeen genes were identified as correlated with anxiety behavior and which varied robustly between the most and least anxious strains, and were verified by RT-PCR. The antioxidant enzymes glycoxylase-1 (Glo1) and glutathione reductase (Gsr) were selected for further investigation. High levels of Glo1 and Gsr enzyme activity was correlated with elevated anxiety in the open field performance of A/J, C57Bl/6J, their interbred F1 progeny and the noted high anxiety strain BALB/cByJ. Furthermore, manipulation of cingulate cortex expression of Glo1 and Gsr using lentiviral overexpression and siRNA knockdown, increased and decreased anxious behaviors, respectively (Hovatta et al. 2005). Together these experiments thoroughly validated a role for Glo1 and Gsr in anxious behaviors and highlight an interesting approach to elucidate the molecular basis of anxiety. However, a proteomic and microarray investigation in another laboratory also identified Glo1 as differentially regulated in anxiety, using mice from an outbred strain (CD1), selectively bred for 15 generations for either high (HAB-M) or low (LAB-M) anxiety behaviors in the elevated plus maze (Kromer et al. 2005). Interestingly, in contrast to the studies of Hovatta et al. (2005), in this study Glo1 was more highly expressed in the low anxiety strain than in the high anxiety strain. Differences in the two studies results may originate from the use of different genetic models, or from the use of different test apparatuses. Given that diametrically opposite conclusions were drawn from both studies on the role of Glo1 in anxiety a considerable degree of caution is required when extrapolating data such as these from preclinical genetic studies to the human situation. Overall, these two studies illustrate that identifying genes and gene products that influence anxiety-related behaviour is the first step to begin unraveling the complexity of their actions.

Gene expression analyses are also applicable to other model species. In a chronic mild stress study with rat frontal cortex, RT-PCR-confirmed downregulation of 6 genes involved in synaptic transmission and second messenger signaling (Itga6, Camk2a, Plcb1, Cart, Gad1, Homer1, and Th) and the upregulation of two genes (Egr2 and Ptgs2) was determined in anhedonic rats (Orsetti et al. 2008). Sabatini et al. (2007) investigated amygdala gene expression changes in young grouphoused macaque monkeys separated as infants from their dams at1 week or 1 month of age, in comparison to normally-reared controls. These two early social stresses produce different types of anxious social behaviors in later life, being selfcomforting and social-comforting behaviors, respectively. GUCY1A3 (guanylate cyclase $1\alpha 3$) which is involved in the signaling cascade of nitric oxide, was the only gene found to be differentially regulated in the two treatment groups. Follow up in situ hybridization studies confirmed this result, and demonstrated that GUCY1A3 was highly expressed in the amygdala, and that its reduced expression in the 1 week deprivation group was positively correlated with social comfort behaviors and negatively correlated with self-comfort behaviors (Sabatini et al. 2007).

5.4 Random Mutagenesis: Radiation and ENU Screens

Since the early 1990s, when Takahashi and colleagues (Vitaterna et al. 1994; and see Takahashi et al. 1994, 2008) used a novel chemical mutagenesis approach to identify a mouse gene relevant to behavior, the Clock gene, which is essential for circadian behavior, there has been an upsurge in such genetic strategies. Forward genetic approaches are underway whereby a mutant line of animals is induced randomly by mutagens such as ethylnitrosonurea, and subsequently these animals' behavior is analyzed (Nolan et al. 2000a, b; Tarantino et al. 2000; Moldin et al. 2001; Ohl and Keck 2003; Keays and Nolan 2003). Positional cloning would then enable the identification of gene targets relevant for the behavioral response.

Clearly, mutagenesis screens for behavioral mutations require careful consideration of background strains for use in mutagenesis and subsequent mapping of the affected gene or genes. The use of inbred mouse strains greatly enhances the utility of this approach (Tarantino et al. 2000). A particular advantage of this approach is that no a priori assumptions are made about the nature of the underlying genes in any biological pathway under investigation (Nolan et al. 2000; Wells and Brown 2000). It is clear that these are large-scale projects and can only work within a multidisciplinary collaborative framework and with a strong bioinformatics support. In this context, the German National Genome Research Network was established in collaboration with the pan-European consortium EUMORPHIA, a mouse phenotyping center with open access to the scientific community, called the "German Mouse Clinic" (www.mouseclinic.de, Gailus-Durner et al. 2005). Across the US there are a number of different consortia developed each with a selective focus (Clark et al. 2004). Another advantage of the ENU approach is that it can also be applied to rats (Smits et al. 2006). Recently, a SERT deficient rat was generated using such a strategy (Homberg et al. 2007), whereby a premature stop codon caused a nonsense-mediated decay of the SERT transcript. Loss of SERT induced anxiety-like behavior in all tests conducted (Olivier et al. 2008), and thus may be an additional important tool to uncover the molecular basis of serotonergic function in anxiety.

5.5 Selective Breeding of Rats and Mice

Selective breeding has also proved to be a useful strategy to unravel the genetic basis of psychiatric disorders, including anxiety disorders. A breeding program begins with the evaluation of variation of a trait of interest in a genetically heterogeneous population, for example, a commercially available outbred strain, or in a heterogeneous strain generated from the crossbreeding of inbred strains. Individuals with responses at either extreme of the response curve are then selectively bred together over multiple generations. Ultimately, new strains are generated that express the trait of interest with, for example, an increased frequency, or extent, of expression in comparison to unselected animals. Heritability characteristics of the trait can be evaluated, and later generations of these new inbred strains can then be examined for underlying neurobiology, and polygenetic or pleiotropic correlates of the trait of interest (Phillips et al. 2002). This approach, therefore, greatly improves the probability of discovering anxiety-related neurobiological correlates (Singewald 2007). Examples of selectively bred mouse lines include those selected for high and low baseline immobility in the tail suspension test (TST) (Vaugeois et al. 1996, 1997; El Yacoubi et al. 2003), senescence accelerated mice (Takeda et al. 1997), the DeFries mice which were selected for 30 generations for high or low activity in the open-field test (DeFries et al. 1978), high and low anxiety mice (Kromer et al. 2005), mice bred for short or long attack latency in a social aggression test (Sluyter et al. 2003), and mice bred for opposing sensitivity to the convulsive effects of the benzodiazepine receptor inverse agonist betacarboline-3-carboxylate (b-CCM) (Do-Rego et al. 2002).

A number of rat-based selective breeding programs have also been initiated based on phenotypes or behavioral characteristics relevant to anxiety (see Singewald 2007 for a review). Examples of rat lines founded using selective breeding for differing aspects of emotionality, including anxiety, are the Maudsley Reactive and Maudsley Nonreactive strains (Blizard and Adams 2002), Roman (Steimer and Driscoll 2003; Steimer and Driscoll 2005), Syracuse rat lines (Brush 2003), Tsukuba (Kitaoka and Fujita 1991), Floripa lines (Ramos et al. 2003), lines with infantile high and low ultrasonic vocalizations (Brunelli 2005), as well as High Anxiety Behavior (HAB) and Low Anxiety Behavior (LAB) rats (Landgraf et al. 2007; Singewald 2007).

Investigators are now employing candidate gene approaches in combination with gene expression profiling and proteomics to identify novel genes, SNPs, and haplotypes that are involved in the manifestation of the anxiety phenotype in these selected lines of rats and mice. It is hoped that the newly identified genes and their products will promote a greater understanding of the mechanisms and circuits that underlie normal and pathological anxiety-related behavior in rodents and ultimately in man (Landgraf et al. 2007).

6 Conclusion

The current status of clinical research indicates that anxiety traits and anxiety disorder in man have a genetic component, and therefore genetic modeling in animals is a logical approach to gain a greater insight into their neurobiology. However, it is also clear that the nature of these genetic contributions are highly complex. Over the past two decades there have been substantial technical advances in the field of molecular genetics. Such tools are well positioned to drive forward efforts to gain a better understanding of the underlying pathophysiology of anxiety and other neuropsychiatric disorders. It is hoped that reverse and forward genetic techniques employed in animal models, coupled with the recent elucidation and the ongoing functionalization of the human genome should provide new insights into the etiology, course, and ultimately treatment strategies for anxiety disorders and other psychiatric illnesses.

One of the most important advances in anxiety research has been the development of genetically manipulated mice, which provide control over the level, site, and timing of expression of specific proteins, be they receptors, transporters, enzymes, or signal transduction molecules. These new tools facilitate the examination of novel targets for disorders where few or no established pharmacological tools exist. These mice additionally enable better testing of the validity of current molecular hypotheses of various psychiatric disorders. Advances in mouse genetics have been accompanied by a remarkable upsurge in the development of models based on the selective breeding of both rats and mice for a specific behavioral trait. These selected lines and the genetically unbiased nature of the approach are poised to serve as powerful substrates for understanding the neurobiological and genetic basis of behavioral processes and by inference, therefore of neuropsychiatric disorders. Likewise, specific manipulations of rearing environments of both genetically manipulated or selectively-bred rodent lines offers great potential for delineating complex gene \times environment interactions, the importance of which has been demonstrated as a fundamental underpin in anxiety-related behavioral traits in both man and laboratory animals.

The success of genetic approaches in basic psychiatric research is critically dependent on the usefulness of behavioral models. Animal behavioral models can only ever be as good as the corresponding measures that are used in clinical research, which requires expansion to include both patients and nonpatients alike. Therefore, increasing research efforts must continue to be directed towards developing and refining specific behavioral tests in both man and experimental animals for such analysis, and for the overall success of the field of anxiety disorder research (Cryan and Holmes 2005; Cryan et al. 2007).

References

- Abbott A (2008) Psychiatric genetics: the brains of the family. Nature 454:154-157
- Abel T, Zukin RS (2008) Epigenetic targets of HDAC inhibition in neurodegenerative and psychiatric disorders. Curr Opin Pharmacol 8:57–64
- Adamec R, Holmes A, Blundell J (2008) Vulnerability to lasting anxiogenic effects of brief exposure to predator stimuli: sex, serotonin and other factors-Relevance to PTSD. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 32:1287–1292
- Alonso J, Lepine JP (2007) Overview of key data from the European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD). J Clin Psychiatry 68(Suppl 2):3–9
- Anisman H, Zacharko RM (1992) Resistance to stress: multiple neurochemical, behavioural and genetic factors. J Psychopharmacol 6:8–10
- Anisman H, Hayley S, Kelly O, Borowski T, Merali Z (2001) Psychogenic, neurogenic, and systemic stressor effects on plasma corticosterone and behavior: mouse strain-dependent outcomes. Behav Neurosci 115:443–454
- Arguello PA, Gogos JA (2006) Modeling madness in mice: one piece at a time. Neuron 52: 179–196
- Baca-Garcia E, Vaquero-Lorenzo C, Diaz-Hernandez M, Rodriguez-Salgado B, Dolengevich-Segal H, Arrojo-Romero M, et al (2007) Association between obsessive-compulsive disorder and a variable number of tandem repeats polymorphism in intron 2 of the serotonin transporter gene. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31(2):416–420
- Bailey JS, Grabowski-Boase L, Steffy BM, Wiltshire T, Churchill GA, Tarantino LM (2008) Identification of QTL for locomotor activation and anxiety using closely-related inbred strains. Genes Brain Behav 7(7):761–769
- Bannon AW, Seda J, Carmouche M, Francis JM, Norman MH, Karbon B, McCaleb ML (2000) Behavioral characterization of neuropeptide Y knockout mice. Brain Res 868:79–87
- Barad M (2005) Fear extinction in rodents: basic insight to clinical promise. Curr Opin Neurobiol 15:710–715
- Bartz JA, Hollander E (2006) Is obsessive-compulsive disorder an anxiety disorder? Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:338–352

- Beck JA, Lloyd S, Hafezparast M, Lennon-Pierce M, Eppig JT, Festing MF, Fisher EM (2000) Genealogies of mouse inbred strains. Nat Genet 24:23–25
- Belknap JK, Noordewier B, Lame M (1989) Genetic dissociation of multiple morphine effects among C57BL/6J, DBA/2J and C3H/HeJ inbred mouse strains. Physiol Behav 46: 69–74
- Belzung C (2001) The genetic basis of the pharmacological effects of anxiolytics: a review based on rodent models. Behav Pharmacol 12:451–460
- Belzung C, Griebel G (2001) Measuring normal and pathological anxiety-like behaviour in mice: a review. Behav Brain Res 125:141–149
- Bengel D, Murphy DL, Andrews AM, Wichems CH, Feltner D, Heils A, Mossner R, Westphal H, Lesch KP (1998) Altered brain serotonin homeostasis and locomotor insensitivity to 3, 4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine ("Ecstasy") in serotonin transporter-deficient mice. Mol Pharmacol 53:649–655
- Bermudez-Rattoni F (2004) Molecular mechanisms of taste-recognition memory. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:209–217
- Berton O, McClung CA, Dileone RJ, Krishnan V, Renthal W, Russo SJ, Graham D, Tsankova NM, Bolanos CA, Rios M, Monteggia LM, Self DW, Nestler EJ (2006) Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress. Science 311:864–868
- Bilkei-Gorzo A, Racz I, Michel K, Zimmer A, Klingmuller D, Zimmer A (2004) Behavioral phenotype of pre-proenkephalin-deficient mice on diverse congenic backgrounds. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 176:343–352
- Billett EA, Richter MA, King N, Heils A, Lesch KP, Kennedy JL (1997) Obsessive compulsive disorder, response to serotonin reuptake inhibitors and the serotonin transporter gene. Mol Psychiatry 2(5):403–406
- Blanchard DC, Griebel G, Blanchard RJ (2003) The mouse defense test battery: pharmacological and behavioral assays for anxiety and panic. Eur J Pharmacol 463:97–116
- Blizard DA, Adams N (2002) The maudsley reactive and nonreactive strains: a new perspective. Behav Genet 32:277–299
- Bogue MA, Grubb SC (2004) The mouse phenome project. Genetica 122:71-74
- Borsini F, Podhorna J, Marazziti D (2002) Do animal models of anxiety predict anxiolytic-like effects of antidepressants? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 163:121–141
- Bouwknecht JA, Paylor R (2008) Pitfalls in the interpretation of genetic and pharmacological effects on anxiety-like behaviour in rodents. Behav Pharmacol 19:385–402
- Bouwknecht AJ, Olivier B, Paylor RE (2007) The stress-induced hyperthermia paradigm as a physiological animal model for anxiety: a review of pharmacological and genetic studies in the mouse. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:41–59
- Bremner JD (2004) Brain imaging in anxiety disorders. Expert Rev Neurother 4:275-284
- Broekkamp CL, Rijk HW, Joly-Gelouin D, Lloyd KL (1986) Major tranquillizers can be distinguished from minor tranquillizers on the basis of effects on marble burying and swim-induced grooming in mice. Eur J Pharmacol 126:223–229
- Brown SM, Hariri AR (2006) Neuroimaging studies of serotonin gene polymorphisms: exploring the interplay of genes, brain, and behavior. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci 6:44–52
- Brunelli SA (2005) Selective breeding for an infant phenotype: rat pup ultrasonic vocalization (USV). Behav Genet 35:53–65
- Brush FR (2003) Selection for differences in avoidance learning: the Syracuse strains differ in anxiety, not learning ability. Behav Genet 33:677–696
- Camarena B, Rinetti G, Cruz C, Hernandez S, de la Fuente JR, Nicolini H (2001) Association study of the serotonin transporter gene polymorphism in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 4(3):269–272
- Canli T, Lesch KP (2007) Long story short: the serotonin transporter in emotion regulation and social cognition. Nat Neurosci 10:1103–1109
- Carola V, Frazzetto G, Gross C (2006) Identifying interactions between genes and early environment in the mouse. Genes Brain Behav 5:189–199

- Carola V, Frazzetto G, Pascucci T, Audero E, Puglisi-Allegra S, Cabib S, Lesch KP, Gross C (2008) Identifying molecular substrates in a mouse model of the serotonin transporter x environment risk factor for anxiety and depression. Biol Psychiatry 63:840–846
- Carroll JC, Boyce-Rustay JM, Millstein R, Yang R, Wiedholz LM, Murphy DL, Holmes A (2007) Effects of mild early life stress on abnormal emotion-related behaviors in 5-HTT knockout mice. Behav Genet 37:214–222
- Caspi A, Sugden K, Moffitt TE, Taylor A, Craig IW, Harrington H, McClay J, Mill J, Martin J, Braithwaite A, Poulton R (2003) Influence of life stress on depression: moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. Science 301:386–389
- Chen ZY, Jing D, Bath KG, Ieraci A, Khan T, Siao CJ, Herrera DG, Toth M, Yang C, McEwen BS, Hempstead BL, Lee FS (2006) Genetic variant BDNF (Val66Met) polymorphism alters anxiety-related behavior. Science 314:140–143
- Clark AT, Goldowitz D, Takahashi JS, Vitaterna MH, Siepka SM, Peters LL, Frankel WN, Carlson GA, Rossant J, Nadeau JH, Justice MJ (2004) Implementing Large-Scale ENU Mutagenesis Screens in North America. Genetica 122:51–64
- Cook MN, Bolivar VJ, McFadyen MP, Flaherty L (2002) Behavioral differences among 129 substrains: implications for knockout and transgenic mice. Behav Neurosci 116:600–611
- Cozzi J, Fraichard A, Thiam K (2008) Use of genetically modified rat models for translational medicine. Drug Discov Today 13:488–494
- Crabbe JC, Gallaher ES, Phillips TJ, Belknap JK (1994) Genetic determinants of sensitivity to ethanol in inbred mice. Behav Neurosci 108:186–195
- Crabbe JC, Gallaher EJ, Cross SJ, Belknap JK (1998) Genetic determinants of sensitivity to diazepam in inbred mice. Behav Neurosci 112:668–677
- Crabbe JC, Metten P, Gallaher EJ, Belknap JK (2002) Genetic determinants of sensitivity to pentobarbital in inbred mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 161:408–416
- Crawley JN (2007) Whats wrong with my mouse? Behavioral phenotyping of transgenic and knockout mice. Wiley, Hoboken, New Jersey
- Crawley JN, Belknap JK, Collins A, Crabbe JC, Frankel W, Henderson N, Hitzemann RJ, Maxson SC, Miner LL, Silva AJ, Wehner JM, Wynshaw-Boris A, Paylor R (1997) Behavioral phenotypes of inbred mouse strains: implications and recommendations for molecular studies. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 132:107–124
- Cryan JF, Holmes A (2005) The ascent of mouse: advances in modelling human depression and anxiety. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:775–790
- Cryan JF, Kaupmann K (2005) Don't worry 'B' happy!: a role for GABA(B) receptors in anxiety and depression. Trends Pharmacol Sci 26:36–43
- Cryan JF, Driscoll P, Waddington JL (2007) Neurogenetics and behaviour: from basic processes to neuropsychiatric disorders. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:1–2
- Damsa C, Kosel M, Moussally J (2009) Current status of brain imaging in anxiety disorders. Curr Opin Psychiatry 22:96–110
- Darnaudery M, Maccari S (2008) Epigenetic programming of the stress response in male and female rats by prenatal restraint stress. Brain Res Rev 57:571–585
- Darwin C (1871) The descent of man. John Murray, Ablemarle Street, London
- Darwin C (1872) The expression of the emotions in man and animals. John Murray, Ablemarle Street, London
- Davis M, Myers KM, Chhatwal J, Ressler KJ (2006) Pharmacological treatments that facilitate extinction of fear: relevance to psychotherapy. NeuroRx 3:82–96
- DeFries JC, Gervais MC, Thomas EA (1978) Response to 30 generations of selection for openfield activity in laboratory mice. Behav Genet 8:3–13
- Delgado MR, Olsson A, Phelps EA (2006) Extending animal models of fear conditioning to humans. Biol Psychol 73:39–48
- Denys D, Van Nieuwerburgh F, Deforce D, Westenberg HG (2006) Association between serotonergic candidate genes and specific phenotypes of obsessive compulsive disorder. J Affect Disord 91(1):39–44

- Do-Rego JC, Suaudeau C, Chapouthier G, Costentin J (2002) Mouse lines differing in sensitivity to beta-CCM differ in tasks used for testing antidepressants. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 72:411–416
- DSM-IV (1994) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. American Psychiatric Press, Washington DC
- Duman RS, Monteggia LM (2006) A neurotrophic model for stress-related mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry 59:1116–1127
- Egan MF, Kojima M, Callicott JH, Goldberg TE, Kolachana BS, Bertolino A, Zaitsev E, Gold B, Goldman D, Dean M, Lu B, Weinberger DR (2003) The BDNF val66met polymorphism affects activity-dependent secretion of BDNF and human memory and hippocampal function. Cell 112:257–269
- El Yacoubi M, Bouali S, Popa D, Naudon L, Leroux-Nicollet I, Hamon M, Costentin J, Adrien J, Vaugeois JM (2003) Behavioral, neurochemical, and electrophysiological characterization of a genetic mouse model of depression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:6227–6232
- Etkin A, Wager TD (2007) Functional neuroimaging of anxiety: a meta-analysis of emotional processing in PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobia. Am J Psychiatry 164:1476–1488
- Fendt M, Fanselow MS (1999) The neuroanatomical and neurochemical basis of conditioned fear. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 23:743–760
- Fendt M, Schmid S, Thakker DR, Jacobson LH, Yamamoto R, Mitsukawa K, Maier R, Natt F, Husken D, Kelly PH, McAllister KH, Hoyer D, van der Putten H, Cryan JF, Flor PJ (2008) mGluR7 facilitates extinction of aversive memories and controls amygdala plasticity. Mol Psychiatry 13:970–979
- Festing MF (2004) The choice of animal model and reduction. Altern Lab Anim 32(Suppl 2):59-64
- Finn CT, Smoller JW (2001) The genetics of panic disorder. Curr Psychiatry Rep 3:131-137
- Finn DA, Rutledge-Gorman MT, Crabbe JC (2003) Genetic animal models of anxiety. Neurogenetics 4:109–135
- Fisch GS (2006) Transgenic and knockout models of psychiatric disorders: introduction, history and assessment. In: Fisch GS, Flint J (eds) Transgenic and knockout models of neuropsychiatric disorders. Humana Press, Totowa, New Jersey, pp 3–23
- Flint J (2003) Analysis of quantitative trait loci that influence animal behavior. J Neurobiol 54: 46–77
- Flint J (2006) Transgenic mouse models and human psychiatric disease. In: Fisch GS, Flint J (eds) Transgenic and knockout models of neuropsychiatric disorders. Humana Press, Totowa, New Jersey, pp 25–43
- Flint J, Mott R (2001) Finding the molecular basis of quantitative traits: successes and pitfalls. Nat Rev Genet 2:437–445
- Flint J, Munafo MR (2007) The endophenotype concept in psychiatric genetics. Psychol Med 37:163–180
- Flint J, Corley R, DeFries JC, Fulker DW, Gray JA, Miller S, Collins AC (1995) A simple genetic basis for a complex psychological trait in laboratory mice. Science 269:1432–1435
- Francis DD, Zaharia MD, Shanks N, Anisman H (1995) Stress-induced disturbances in Morris water-maze performance: interstrain variability. Physiol Behav 58:57–65
- Francis D, Diorio J, Liu D, Meaney MJ (1999) Nongenomic transmission across generations of maternal behavior and stress responses in the rat. Science 286:1155–1158
- Francis DD, Szegda K, Campbell G, Martin WD, Insel TR (2003) Epigenetic sources of behavioral differences in mice. Nat Neurosci 6:445–446
- Gailus-Durner V, Fuchs H, Becker L, Bolle I, Brielmeier M, Calzada-Wack J, Elvert R, Ehrhardt N, Dalke C, Franz TJ, Grundner-Culemann E, Hammelbacher S, Hölter SM, Hölzlwimmer G, Horsch M, Javaheri A, Kalaydjiev SV, Klempt M, Kling E, Kunder S, Lengger C, Lisse T, Mijalski T, Naton B, Pedersen V, Prehn C, Przemeck G, Racz I, Reinhard C, Reitmeir P, Schneider I, Schrewe A, Steinkamp R, Zybill C, Adamski J, Beckers J, Behrendt H, Favor J, Graw J, Heldmaier G, Höfler H, Ivandic B, Katus H, Kirchhof P, Klingenspor M, Klopstock T, Lengeling A, Müller W, Ohl F, Ollert M,

Quintanilla-Martinez L, Schmidt J, Schulz H, Wolf E, Wurst W, Zimmer A, Busch DH, de Angelis MH (2005) Introducing the german mouse clinic: open access platform for standardized phenotyping. Nat Methods 2:403–404

- Geyer MA, Markou A (2000) Animal models of psychiatric disorders in Psychopharmacology 4th Generation of Progress. In: Bloom FE, Kupfer DJ (eds) American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, USA
- Geyer MA, Markou A (2002) The role of preclinical models in the development of psychotropic drugs. In: Davis KL, Charney D, Coyle JT, Nemeroff C (eds) Neuropsychopharmacology: The fifth generation of progress. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 445–455
- Gordon JA, Hen R (2004) Genetic approaches to the study of anxiety. Annu Rev Neurosci 27:193–222
- Gottesman II, Gould TD (2003) The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions. Am J Psychiatry 160:636–645
- Gottesman II, Shields J (1973) Genetic theorizing and schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 122:15-30
- Grados MA, Samuels J, Shugart YY, Willour VL, Wang Y, Cullen B, et al (2007) Rare plus common SERT variants in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Mol Psychiatry 12(5):422–423
- Graeff FG, Parente A, Del-Ben CM, Guimaraes FS (2003) Pharmacology of human experimental anxiety. Braz J Med Biol Res 36:421–432
- Green TA, Nestler EJ (2006) Psychiatric applications of viral vectors. In: Kaplitt MG, During MJ (eds) Gene therapy of the central nervous system: From bench to bedside. Elsevier, San Diego, CA, pp 181–193
- Griebel G, Belzung C, Perrault G, Sanger DJ (2000) Differences in anxiety-related behaviours and in sensitivity to diazepam in inbred and outbred strains of mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 148:164–170
- Grillon C (2008) Models and mechanisms of anxiety: evidence from startle studies. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 199:421–437
- Groenink L, van Bogaert MJ, van der Gugten J, Oosting RS, Olivier B (2003) 5-HT1A receptor and 5-HT1B receptor knockout mice in stress and anxiety paradigms. Behav Pharmacol 14:369–383
- Gross C, Hen R (2004) Genetic and environmental factors interact to influence anxiety. Neurotox Res 6:493–501
- Gross C, Santarelli L, Brunner D, Zhuang X, Hen R (2000) Altered fear circuits in 5-HT(1A) receptor KO mice. Biol Psychiatry 48:1157–1163
- Gross C, Zhuang X, Stark K, Ramboz S, Oosting R, Kirby L, Santarelli L, Beck S, Hen R (2002) Serotonin1A receptor acts during development to establish normal anxiety-like behaviour in the adult. Nature 416:396–400
- Grubb SC, Maddatu TP, Bult CJ, Bogue MA (2008) Mouse phenome database. Nucleic Acids Res (Epub ahead of print)
- Guitton MJ, Dudai Y (2004) Anxiety-like state associates with taste to produce conditioned taste aversion. Biol Psychiatry 56:901–904
- Hamilton SP, Heiman GA, Haghighi F, Mick S, Klein DF, Hodge SE, Weissman MM, Fyer AJ, Knowles JA (1999) Lack of genetic linkage or association between a functional serotonin transporter polymorphism and panic disorder. Psychiatr Genet 9(1):1–6
- Hamilton SP, Slager SL, Helleby L, Heiman GA, Klein DF, Hodge SE, Weissman MM, Fyer AJ, Knowles JA (2001) No association or linkage between polymorphisms in the genes encoding cholecystokinin and the cholecystokinin B receptor and panic disorder. Mol Psychiatry 6:59–65
- Hariri AR, Mattay VS, Tessitore A, Kolachana B, Fera F Goldman D, Egan MF, Weinberger DR (2002) Serotonin transporter genetic variation and the response of the human amygdala. Science 297(5580):400–403
- Harter MC, Conway KP, Merikangas KR (2003) Associations between anxiety disorders and physical illness. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 253:313–320
- Hasler G, Drevets WC, Manji HK, Charney DS (2004) Discovering endophenotypes for major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:1765–1781

- Hasler G, Drevets WC, Gould TD, Gottesman II, Manji HK (2006) Toward constructing an endophenotype strategy for bipolar disorders. Biol Psychiatry 60:93–105
- Hattori E, Ebihara M, Yamada K, Ohba H, Shibuya H, Yoshikawa T (2001) Identification of a compound short tandem repeat stretch in the 5'-upstream region of the cholecystokinin gene, and its association with panic disorder but not with schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 6:465–470
- Hefner K, Whittle N, Juhasz J, Norcross M, Karlsson RM, Saksida LM, Bussey TJ, Singewald N, Holmes A (2008) Impaired fear extinction learning and cortico-amygdala circuit abnormalities in a common genetic mouse strain. J Neurosci 28:8074–8085
- Heldt SA, Stanek L, Chhatwal JP, Ressler KJ (2007) Hippocampus-specific deletion of BDNF in adult mice impairs spatial memory and extinction of aversive memories. Mol Psychiatry 12:656–670
- Henderson ND, Turri MG, DeFries JC, Flint J (2004) QTL analysis of multiple behavioral measures of anxiety in mice. Behav Genet 34:267–293
- Hettema JM, Neale MC, Kendler KS (2001a) A review and meta-analysis of the genetic epidemiology of anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatry 158:1568–1578
- Hettema JM, Prescott CA, Kendler KS (2001b) A population-based twin study of generalized anxiety disorder in men and women. J Nerv Ment Dis 189:413–420
- Holmes A (2001) Targeted gene mutation approaches to the study of anxiety-like behavior in mice. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 25:261–273
- Holmes A, Cryan JF (2006) Modeling human anxiety and depression in mutant mice. In: Fisch GS, Flint J (eds) Transgenic and knockout models of neuropsychiatric disorders. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp 237–263
- Holmes A, Lit Q, Murphy DL, Gold E, Crawley JN (2003a) Abnormal anxiety-related behavior in serotonin transporter null mutant mice: the influence of genetic background. Genes Brain Behav 2:365–380
- Holmes A, Murphy DL, Crawley JN (2003b) Abnormal behavioral phenotypes of serotonin transporter knockout mice: parallels with human anxiety and depression. Biol Psychiatry 54:953–959
- Holmes A, Yang RJ, Lesch KP, Crawley JN, Murphy DL (2003c) Mice lacking the serotonin transporter exhibit 5-HT(1A) receptor-mediated abnormalities in tests for anxiety-like behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:2077–2088
- Holmes A, le Guisquet AM, Vogel E, Millstein RA, Leman S, Belzung C (2005) Early life genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors shaping emotionality in rodents. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29:1335–1346
- Homberg JR, Olivier JD, Smits BM, Mul JD, Mudde J, Verheul M, Nieuwenhuizen OF, Cools AR, Ronken E, Cremers T, Schoffelmeer AN, Ellenbroek BA, Cuppen E (2007) Characterization of the serotonin transporter knockout rat: a selective change in the functioning of the serotonergic system. Neuroscience 146:1662–1676
- Hosing VG, Schirmacher A, Kuhlenbaumer G, Freitag C, Sand P, Schlesiger C, Jacob C, Fritze J, Franke P, Rietschel M, Garritsen H, Nothen MM, Fimmers R, Stogbauer F, Deckert J (2004) Cholecystokinin- and cholecystokinin-B-receptor gene polymorphisms in panic disorder. J Neural Transm Suppl 68:147–156
- Hovatta I, Barlow C (2008) Molecular genetics of anxiety in mice and men. Ann Med 40:92-109
- Hovatta I, Tennant RS, Helton R, Marr RA, Singer O, Redwine JM, Ellison JA, Schadt EE, Verma IM, Lockhart DJ, Barlow C (2005) Glyoxalase 1 and glutathione reductase 1 regulate anxiety in mice. Nature 438:662–666
- Hyman SE, Fenton WS (2003) Medicine. What are the right targets for psychopharmacology? Science 299:350–351
- Jacobson LH, Cryan JF (2005) Differential sensitivity to the motor and hypothermic effects of the GABA B receptor agonist baclofen in various mouse strains. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 179:688–699
- Jacobson LH, Cryan JF (2006) Feeling strained? Influence of genetic background on depressionrelated behavior in mice: a review. Behav Genet 37:171–213

- Jacobson LH, Kelly PH, Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Cryan JF (2006) GABA(B(1)) receptor isoforms differentially mediate the acquisition and extinction of aversive taste memories. J Neurosci 26:8800–8803
- Jacobson LH, Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Cryan JF (2007) Behavioral evaluation of mice deficient in GABA(B(1)) receptor isoforms in tests of unconditioned anxiety. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 190:541–553
- Janson CG, McPhee SW, Leone P, Freese A, During MJ (2001) Viral-based gene transfer to the mammalian CNS for functional genomic studies. Trends Neurosci 24:706–712
- Jiang X, Xu K, Hoberman J, Tian F, Marko AJ, Waheed JF, Harris CR, Marini AM, Enoch MA, Lipsky RH (2005) BDNF variation and mood disorders: a novel functional promoter polymorphism and Val66Met are associated with anxiety but have opposing effects. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:1353–1361
- Jones MW (2002) A comparative review of rodent prefrontal cortex and working memory. Curr Mol Med 2:639–647
- Joyner AL, Sedivy JM (2000) Gene targeting: a practical approach. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York
- Kaffman A, Meaney MJ (2007) Neurodevelopmental sequelae of postnatal maternal care in rodents: clinical and research implications of molecular insights. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 48:224–244
- Keays DA, Nolan PM (2003) *N*-ethyl-*N*-nitrosourea mouse mutants in the dissection of behavioural and psychiatric disorders. Eur J Pharmacol 480:205–217
- Kendler KS (2001) Twin studies of psychiatric illness: an update. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:1005– 1014
- Kendler KS, Walters EE, Neale MC, Kessler RC, Heath AC, Eaves LJ (1995) The structure of the genetic and environmental risk factors for six major psychiatric disorders in women. Phobia, generalized anxiety disorder, panic disorder, bulimia, major depression, and alcoholism. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:374–383
- Kendler KS, Kuhn JW, Vittum J, Prescott CA, Riley B (2005) The interaction of stressful life events and a serotonin transporter polymorphism in the prediction of episodes of major depression: a replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:529–535
- Kennedy JL, Bradwejn J, Koszycki D, King N, Crowe R, Vincent J, Fourie O (1999) Investigation of cholecystokinin system genes in panic disorder. Mol Psychiatry 4:284–285
- Kessler RC (2007) The global burden of anxiety and mood disorders: putting the European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD) findings into perspective. J Clin Psychiatry 68(Suppl 2):10–19
- Kessler RC, Merikangas KR (2004) The National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R): background and aims. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 13:60–68
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005a) Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:593–602
- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005b) Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:617–627
- Kitaoka A, Fujita O (1991) Behavioral comparisons of the Tsukuba emotional strains of rats (Rattus norvegicus) in three types of novel situations. Behav Genet 21:317–325
- Korstanje R, Paigen B (2002) From QTL to gene: the harvest begins. Nat Genet 31:235–236
- Kromer SA, Kessler MS, Milfay D, Birg IN, Bunck M, Czibere L, Panhuysen M, Putz B, Deussing JM, Holsboer F, Landgraf R, Turck CW (2005) Identification of glyoxalase-I as a protein marker in a mouse model of extremes in trait anxiety. J Neurosci 25:4375–4384
- Lam P, Cheng CY, Hong CJ, Tsai SJ (2004) Association study of a brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Val66Met) genetic polymorphism and panic disorder. Neuropsychobiology 49:178–181
- Lam RW, Michalak EE, Swinson RP (2006) Assessment scales in depression and anxiety. Informa Healthcare, Oxon, UK

- Landgraf R, Kessler MS, Bunck M, Murgatroyd C, Spengler D, Zimbelmann M, Nussbaumer M, Czibere L, Turck CW, Singewald N, Rujescu D, Frank E (2007) Candidate genes of anxietyrelated behavior in HAB/LAB rats and mice: focus on vasopressin and glyoxalase-I. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:89–102
- Lang PJ, Davis M, Ohman A (2000) Fear and anxiety: animal models and human cognitive psychophysiology. J Affect Disord 61:137–159
- Lang UE, Bajbouj M, Wernicke C, Rommelspacher H, Danker-Hopfe H, Gallinat J (2004) No association of a functional polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene promoter and anxiety-related personality traits. Neuropsychobiology 49(4):182–184
- Lang UE, Hellweg R, Kalus P, Bajbouj M, Lenzen KP, Sander T, Kunz D, Gallinat J (2005) Association of a functional BDNF polymorphism and anxiety-related personality traits. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 180:95–99
- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J (2005) D-cycloserine facilitates extinction of learned fear: effects on reacquisition and generalized extinction. Biol Psychiatry 57:841–847
- Lee C, Rodgers RJ (1990) Antinociceptive effects of elevated plus-maze exposure: influence of opiate receptor manipulations. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 102:507–513
- Leonardo ED, Hen R (2006) Genetics of affective and anxiety disorders. Annu Rev Psychol 57:117-137
- Lesch KP (2001) Molecular foundation of anxiety disorders. J Neural Transm 108:717-746
- Lesch KP, Bengel D, Heils A, Sabol SZ, Greenberg BD, Petri S, Benjamin J, Muller CR, Hamer DH, Murphy DL (1996) Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. Science 274:1527–1531
- Letwin NE, Kafkafi N, Benjamini Y, Mayo C, Frank BC, Luu T, Lee NH, Elmer GI (2006) Combined application of behavior genetics and microarray analysis to identify regional expression themes and gene-behavior associations. J Neurosci 26:5277–5287
- Lucki I, Dalvi A, Mayorga AJ (2001) Sensitivity to the effects of pharmacologically selective antidepressants in different strains of mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 155:315–322
- Malkani S, Rosen JB (2000) Differential expression of EGR-1 mRNA in the amygdala following diazepam in contextual fear conditioning. Brain Res 860:53
- Mansuy IM, Bujard H (2000) Tetracycline-regulated gene expression in the brain. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10:593–596
- Markou A, Chiamulera C, Geyer MA, Tricklebank M, Steckler T (2008) Removing obstacles in neuroscience drug discovery: the future path for animal models. Neuropsychopharmacology (Epub ahead of print)
- Maron E, Nikopensius T, Koks S, Altmae S, Heinaste E, Vabrit K, Tammekivi V, Hallast P, Koido K, Kurg A, Metspalu A, Vasar E, Vasar V, Shlik J (2005) Association study of 90 candidate gene polymorphisms in panic disorder. Psychiatr Genet 15:17–24
- Mayford M, Bach ME, Huang YY, Wang L, Hawkins RD, Kandel ER (1996) Control of memory formation through regulated expression of a CaMKII transgene. Science 274: 1678–1683
- McKinney WT Jr, Bunney WE Jr (1969) Animal model of depression. I. Review of evidence: implications for research. Arch Gen Psychiatry 21:240–248
- Meira-Lima I, Michelon L, Cordeiro Q, Cho HJ, Vallada H (2005) Allelic association analysis of the functional insertion/deletion polymorphism in the promoter region of the serotonin transporter gene in bipolar affective disorder. J Mol Neurosci 27(2):219–224
- Melke J, Landén M, Baghei F, Rosmond R, Holm G, Björntorp P, Westberg L, Hellstrand M, Eriksson E (2001) Serotonin transporter gene polymorphisms are associated with anxietyrelated personality traits in women. Am J Med Genet 105(5):458–463
- Merikangas KR, Zhang H, Avenevoli S, Acharyya S, Neuenschwander M, Angst J (2003) Longitudinal trajectories of depression and anxiety in a prospective community study: the Zurich Cohort Study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:993–1000
- Michalkiewicz M, Michalkiewicz T (2000) Developing transgenic neuropeptide Y rats. Methods Mol Biol 153:73–89

- Mickley GA, Kenmuir CL, McMullen CA, Yocom AM, Valentine EL, Dengler-Crish CM, Weber B, Wellman JA, Remmers-Roeber DR (2004) Dynamic processing of taste aversion extinction in the brain. Brain Res 1016:79–89
- Miller G (2006) Mental health in developing countries. The unseen: mental illness's global toll. Science 311:458–461
- Moldin SO, Farmer ME, Chin HR, Battey JF Jr (2001) Trans- NIH neuroscience initiatives on mouse phenotyping and mutagenesis. Mamm Genome 12:575–581
- Mombereau C, Kaupmann K, Froestl W, Sansig G, van der Putten H, Cryan JF (2004a) Genetic and pharmacological evidence of a role for GABA(B) receptors in the modulation of anxietyand antidepressant-like behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:1050–1062
- Mombereau C, Kaupmann K, van der Putten H, Cryan JF (2004b) Altered response to benzodiazepine anxiolytics in mice lacking GABA B(1) receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 497:119–120
- Mombereau C, Kaupmann K, Gassmann M, Bettler B, van der Putten H, Cryan JF (2005) Altered anxiety and depression-related behaviour in mice lacking GABAB(2) receptor subunits. Neuroreport 16:307–310
- Mozhui K, Hamre KM, Holmes A, Lu L, Williams RW (2007) Genetic and structural analysis of the basolateral amygdala complex in BXD recombinant inbred mice. Behav Genet 37:223–243
- Muller MB, Zimmermann S, Sillaber I, Hagemeyer TP, Deussing JM, Timpl P, Kormann MS, Droste SK, Kuhn R, Reul JM, Holsboer F, Wurst W (2003) Limbic corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 mediates anxiety-related behavior and hormonal adaptation to stress. Nat Neurosci 6:1100–1107
- Mullins JJ, Peters J, Ganten D (1990) Fulminant hypertension in transgenic rats harbouring the mouse Ren-2 gene. Nature 344:541–544
- Munafo MR, Clark TG, Roberts KH, Johnstone EC (2006) Neuroticism mediates the association of the serotonin transporter gene with lifetime major depression. Neuropsychobiology 53:1–8
- Murphy DL, Lesch KP (2008) Targeting the murine serotonin transporter: insights into human neurobiology. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:85–96
- Nolan PM, Peters J, Strivens M, Rogers D, Hagan J, Spurr N, Gray IC, Vizor L, Brooker D, Whitehill E, Washbourne R, Hough T, Greenaway S, Hewitt M, Liu X, McCormack S, Pickford K, Selley R, Wells C, Tymowska-Lalanne Z, Roby P, Glenister P, Thornton C, Thaung C, Stevenson JA, Arkell R, Mburu P, Hardisty R, Kiernan A, Erven A, Steel KP, Voegeling S, Guenet JL, Nickols C, Sadri R, Nasse M, Isaacs A, Davies K, Browne M, Fisher EM, Martin J, Rastan S, Brown SD, Hunter J (2000) A systematic, genome-wide, phenotypedriven mutagenesis programme for gene function studies in the mouse. Nat Genet 25:440–443
- Nolan PM, Peters J, Vizor L, Strivens M, Washbourne R, Hough T, Wells C, Glenister P, Thornton C, Martin J, Fisher E, Rogers D, Hagan J, Reavill C, Gray I, Wood J, Spurr N, Browne M, Rastan S, Hunter J, Brown SD (2000b) Implementation of a large-scale ENU mutagenesis program: towards increasing the mouse mutant resource. Mamm Genome 11:500–506
- Nordquist RE, Steckler T, Wettstein JG, Mackie C, Spooren W (2008) Metabotropic glutamate receptor modulation, translational methods, and biomarkers: relationships with anxiety. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 199:389–402
- Nutt DJ, Kessler RC, Alonso J, Benbow A, Lecrubier Y, Lepine JP, Mechanic D, Tylee A (2007) Consensus statement on the benefit to the community of ESEMeD (European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders) survey data on depression and anxiety. J Clin Psychiatry 68(Suppl 2):42–48
- Ohl F, Keck ME (2003) Behavioural screening in mutagenised mice–in search for novel animal models of psychiatric disorders. Eur J Pharmacol 480:219–228
- Olivier JD, Van Der Hart MG, Van Swelm RP, Dederen PJ, Homberg JR, Cremers T, Deen PM, Cuppen E, Cools AR, Ellenbroek BA (2008) A study in male and female 5-HT transporter knockout rats: an animal model for anxiety and depression disorders. Neuroscience 152:573–584
- Orsetti M, Di Brisco F, Canonico PL, Genazzani AA, Ghi P (2008) Gene regulation in the frontal cortex of rats exposed to the chronic mild stress paradigm, an animal model of human depression. Eur J Neurosci 27:2156–2164

- Ozaki N, Goldman D, Kaye WH, Plotnicov K, Greenberg BD, Lappalainen J, Rudnick G, Murphy DL (2003) Serotonin transporter missense mutation associated with a complex neuropsychiatric phenotype. Mol Psychiatry 8(11):933–936
- Papaioannou VE, Behringer RR (2005) Mouse phenotypes: A handbook of mutation analysis. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, New York
- Paulus MP, Stein MB (2006) An insular view of anxiety. Biol Psychiatry 60:383-387
- Pezawas L, Meyer-Lindenberg A, Drabant EM, Verchinski BA, Munoz KE, Kolachana BS, Egan MF, Mattay VS, Hariri AR, Weinberger DR (2005) 5-HTTLPR polymorphism impacts human cingulate-amygdala interactions: a genetic susceptibility mechanism for depression. Nat Neurosci 8:828–834
- Phillips TJ, Belknap JK, Hitzemann RJ, Buck KJ, Cunningham CL, Crabbe JC (2002) Harnessing the mouse to unravel the genetics of human disease. Genes Brain Behav 1:14–26
- Ponder CA, Kliethermes CL, Drew MR, Muller J, Das K, Risbrough VB, Crabbe JC, Gilliam TC, Palmer AA (2007) Selection for contextual fear conditioning affects anxiety-like behaviors and gene expression. Genes Brain Behav 6:736–749
- Priebe K, Romeo RD, Francis DD, Sisti HM, Mueller A, McEwen BS, Brake WG (2005) Maternal influences on adult stress and anxiety-like behavior in C57BL/6J and BALB/cJ mice: a crossfostering study. Dev Psychobiol 47:398–407
- Prut L, Belzung C (2003) The open field as a paradigm to measure the effects of drugs on anxietylike behaviors: a review. Eur J Pharmacol 463:3–33
- Ramboz S, Oosting R, Amara DA, Kung HF, Blier P, Mendelsohn M, Mann JJ, Brunner D, Hen R (1998) Serotonin receptor 1A knockout: an animal model of anxiety-related disorder. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:14476–14481
- Ramos A, Correia EC, Izidio GS, Bruske GR (2003) Genetic selection of two new rat lines displaying different levels of anxiety-related behaviors. Behav Genet 33:657–668
- Rauch SL, Shin LM, Phelps EA (2006) Neurocircuitry models of posttraumatic stress disorder and extinction: human neuroimaging research – past, present, and future. Biol Psychiatry 60:376–382
- Rehfeld JF (1992) CCK and anxiety: Introduction, in Multiple Cholecystokinin Receptors in the CNS. In: Dourish CT, Cooper SJ, Iversen SD, Iversen LL(eds) Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 117–120
- Ressler KJ, Rothbaum BO, Tannenbaum L, Anderson P, Graap K, Zimand E, Hodges L, Davis M (2004) Cognitive enhancers as adjuncts to psychotherapy: use of D-cycloserine in phobic individuals to facilitate extinction of fear. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1136–1144
- Rodgers RJ (1997) Animal models of 'anxiety': where next? Behav Pharmacol 8:477–496; discussion 497–504
- Rodgers RJ, Cao BJ, Dalvi A, Holmes A (1997) Animal models of anxiety: an ethological perspective. Braz J Med Biol Res 30:289–304
- Roy-Byrne PP, Davidson KW, Kessler RC, Asmundson GJ, Goodwin RD, Kubzansky L, Lydiard RB, Massie MJ, Katon W, Laden SK, Stein MB (2008) Anxiety disorders and comorbid medical illness. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 30:208–225
- Sabatini MJ, Ebert P, Lewis DA, Levitt P, Cameron JL, Mirnics K (2007) Amygdala gene expression correlates of social behavior in monkeys experiencing maternal separation. J Neurosci 27:3295–3304
- Samochowiec J, Hajduk A, Samochowiec A, Horodnicki J, Stepień G, Grzywacz A, Kucharska-Mazur J (2004) Association studies of MAO-A, COMT, and 5-HTT genes polymorphisms in patients with anxiety disorders of the phobic spectrum. Psychiatry Res 12(1):21–26
- Sanford LD, Fang J, Tang X (2003a) Sleep after differing amounts of conditioned fear training in BALB/cJ mice. Behav Brain Res 147:193–202
- Sanford LD, Yang L, Tang X (2003b) Influence of contextual fear on sleep in mice: a strain comparison. Sleep 26:527–540
- Savonenko AV, Melnikova T, Laird FM, Stewart KA, Price DL, Wong PC (2008) Alteration of BACE1-dependent NRG1/ErbB4 signaling and schizophrenia-like phenotypes in BACE1-null mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:5585–5590

- Schulze TG, Ohlraun S, Czerski PM, Schumacher J, Kassem L, Deschner M, Gross M, Tullius M, Heidmann V, Kovalenko S, Jamra RA, Becker T, Leszczynska-Rodziewicz A, Hauser J, Illig T, Klopp N, Wellek S, Cichon S, Henn FA, McMahon FJ, Maier W, Propping P, Nothen MM, Rietschel M (2005) Genotype-phenotype studies in bipolar disorder showing association between the DAOA/G30 locus and persecutory delusions: a first step toward a molecular genetic classification of psychiatric phenotypes. Am J Psychiatry 162:2101–2108
- Seckl JR (2008) Glucocorticoids, developmental 'programming' and the risk of affective dysfunction. Prog Brain Res 167:17–34
- Segman RH, Cooper-Kazaz R, Macciardi F, Goltser T, Halfon Y, Dobroborski T, Shalev AY (2002) Association between the dopamine transporter gene and posttraumatic stress disorder. Mol Psychiatry 7:903–907
- Sen S, Nesse RM, Stoltenberg SF, Li S, Gleiberman L, Chakravarti A, Weder AB, Burmeister M (2003) A BDNF coding variant is associated with the NEO personality inventory domain neuroticism, a risk factor for depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:397–401
- Sen S, Burmeister M, Ghosh D (2004) Meta-analysis of the association between a serotonin transporter promoter polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) and anxiety-related personality traits. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 127B:85–89
- Shaban H, Humeau Y, Herry C, Cassasus G, Shigemoto R, Ciocchi S, Barbieri S, van der Putten H, Kaupmann K, Bettler B, Luthi A (2006) Generalization of amygdala LTP and conditioned fear in the absence of presynaptic inhibition. Nat Neurosci 9:1028–1035
- Shekhar A, Truitt W, Rainnie D, Sajdyk T (2005) Role of stress, corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF) and amygdala plasticity in chronic anxiety. Stress 8:209–219
- Shepherd JK, Grewal SS, Fletcher A, Bill DJ, Dourish CT (1994) Behavioural and pharmacological characterisation of the elevated "zero-maze" as an animal model of anxiety. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 116:56–64
- Shimizu E, Hashimoto K, Koizumi H, Kobayashi K, Itoh K, Mitsumori M, Ohgake S, Okamura N, Koike K, Matsuzawa D, Zhang L, Kumakiri C, Nakazato M, Komatsu N, Iyo M (2005) No association of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene polymorphisms with panic disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 29:708–712
- Silva AJ, Simpson EM, Takahashi JS, Lipp H-P, Nakanishi S, Wehner JM, Giese KP, Tully T, Abel T, Chapman PF, Fox K, Grant S, Itohara S, Lathe R, Mayford M, McNamara JO, Morris RJ, Picciotto M, Roder J, Shin HS, Slesinger PA, Storm DR, Stryker MP, Tonegawa S, Wang Y, Wolfer DP (1997) Mutant mice and neuroscience: recommendations concerning genetic background. Neuron 19:755–759
- Simiand J, Keane PE, Morre M (1984) The staircase test in mice: a simple and efficient procedure for primary screening of anxiolytic agents. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 84:48–53
- Singer JB, Hill AE, Nadeau JH, Lander ES (2005) Mapping quantitative trait loci for anxiety in chromosome substitution strains of mice. Genetics 169:855–862
- Singewald N (2007) Altered brain activity processing in high-anxiety rodents revealed by challenge paradigms and functional mapping. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:18–40
- Skinner MK, Anway MD, Savenkova MI, Gore AC, Crews D (2008) Transgenerational epigenetic programming of the brain transcriptome and anxiety behavior. PLoS ONE 3:e3745
- Sluyter F, Korte SM, Bohus B, Van Oortmerssen GA (1996) Behavioral stress response of genetically selected aggressive and nonaggressive wild house mice in the shock-probe/defensive burying test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 54:113–116
- Sluyter F, Korte SM, Van Baal GC, De Ruiter AJ, Van Oortmerssen GA (1999) Y chromosomal and sex effects on the behavioral stress response in the defensive burying test in wild house mice. Physiol Behav 67:579–585
- Sluyter F, Arseneault L, Moffitt TE, Veenema AH, de Boer S, Koolhaas JM (2003) Toward an animal model for antisocial behavior: parallels between mice and humans. Behav Genet 33(5):563–574
- Smits BM, Mudde JB, van de Belt J, Verheul M, Olivier J, Homberg J, Guryev V, Cools AR, Ellenbroek BA, Plasterk RH, Cuppen E (2006) Generation of gene knockouts and mutant

models in the laboratory rat by ENU-driven target-selected mutagenesis. Pharmacogenet Genomics 16:159-169

- Smoller JW, Rosenbaum JF, Biederman J, Kennedy J, Dai D, Racette SR, Laird NM, Kagan J, Snidman N, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Tsuang MT, Sklar PB, Slaugenhaupt SA (2003) Association of a genetic marker at the corticotropin-releasing hormone locus with behavioral inhibition. Biol Psychiatry 54:1376–1381
- Smoller JW, Yamaki LH, Fagerness JA, Biederman J, Racette S, Laird NM, Kagan J, Snidman N, Faraone SV, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Tsuang MT, Slaugenhaupt SA, Rosenbaum JF, Sklar PB (2005) The corticotropin-releasing hormone gene and behavioral inhibition in children at risk for panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 57:1485–1492
- Smoller JW, Gardner-Schuster E, Covino J (2008a) The genetic basis of panic and phobic anxiety disorders. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 148:118–126
- Smoller JW, Paulus MP, Fagerness JA, Purcell S, Yamaki LH, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Biederman J, Rosenbaum JF, Gelernter J, Stein MB (2008b) Influence of RGS2 on anxiety-related temperament, personality, and brain function. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:298–308
- Spooren WP, Vassout A, Neijt HC, Kuhn R, Gasparini F, Roux S, Porsolt RD, Gentsch C (2000) Anxiolytic-like effects of the prototypical metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine in rodents. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 295:1267–1275
- Sramek JJ, Zarotsky V, Cutler NR (2002) Generalised anxiety disorder: treatment options. Drugs 62:1635–1648
- St George JA (2003) Gene therapy progress and prospects: adenoviral vectors. Gene Ther 10:1135–1141
- Steimer T, Driscoll P (2003) Divergent stress responses and coping stylesin psychogenetically selected Roman high-(RHA) and low-(RLA) avoidance rats: behavioural, neuroendocrine and developmental aspects. Stress 6:87–100
- Steimer T, Driscoll P (2005) Inter-individual vs line/strain differences in psychogenetically selected Roman high-(RHA) and low-(RLA) avoidance rats: neuroendocrine and behavioural aspects. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29:99–112
- Surtees PG, Wainwright NW, Willis-Owen SA, Sandhu MS, Luben R, Day NE, Flint J (2007) No association between the BDNF Val66Met polymorphism and mood status in a non-clinical community sample of 7389 older adults. J Psychiatr Res 41:404–409
- Takahashi JS, Pinto LH, Vitaterna MH (1994) Forward and reverse genetic approaches to behavior in the mouse. Science 264(5166):1724–1733
- Takahashi JS, Shimomura K, Kumar V (2008) Searching for genes underlying behavior: lessons from circadian rhythms. Science 322(5903):909–912
- Takeda T, Hosokawa M, Higuchi K (1997) Senescence-accelerated mouse (SAM): a novel murine model of senescence. Exp Gerontol 32:105–109
- Tarantino LM, Bucan M (2000) Dissection of behavior and psychiatric disorders using the mouse as a model. Hum Mol Genet 9:953–965
- Tarantino LM, Gould TJ, Druhan JP, Bucan M (2000) Behavior and mutagenesis screens: the importance of baseline analysis of inbred strains. Mamm Genome 11:555–564
- Tecott LH (2003) The genes and brains of mice and men. Am J Psychiatry 160:646-656
- Tenenbaum L, Chtarto A, Lehtonen E, Velu T, Brotchi J, Levivier M (2004) Recombinant AAVmediated gene delivery to the central nervous system. J Gene Med 6(Suppl 1):S212–222
- Thakker DR, Hoyer D, Cryan JF (2006) Interfering with the brain: use of RNA interference for understanding the pathophysiology of psychiatric and neurological disorders. Pharmacol Ther 109:413–438
- Tharmalingam S, King N, De Luca V, Rothe C, Koszycki D, Bradwejn J, Macciardi F, Kennedy JL (2006) Lack of association between the corticotrophin-releasing hormone receptor 2 gene and panic disorder. Psychiatr Genet 16:93–97
- Thorsell A, Michalkiewicz M, Dumont Y, Quirion R, Caberlotto L, Rimondini R, Mathe AA, Heilig M (2000) Behavioral insensitivity to restraint stress, absent fear suppression of behavior and impaired spatial learning in transgenic rats with hippocampal neuropeptide Y overexpression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:12852–12857

- Todorovic C, Jahn O, Tezval H, Hippel C, Spiess J (2005) The role of CRF receptors in anxiety and depression: implications of the novel CRF1 agonist cortagine. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29: 1323–1333
- Tsankova N, Renthal W, Kumar A, Nestler EJ (2007) Epigenetic regulation in psychiatric disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:355–367
- Turri MG, Datta SR, DeFries J, Henderson ND, Flint J (2001a) QTL analysis identifies multiple behavioral dimensions in ethological tests of anxiety in laboratory mice. Curr Biol 11:725–734
- Turri MG, Henderson ND, DeFries JC, Flint J (2001b) Quantitative trait locus mapping in laboratory mice derived from a replicated selection experiment for open-field activity. Genetics 158:1217–1226
- Uher R, McGuffin P (2008) The moderation by the serotonin transporter gene of environmental adversity in the aetiology of mental illness: review and methodological analysis. Mol Psychiatry 13:131–146
- Vaugeois JM, Odievre C, Loisel L, Costentin J (1996) A genetic mouse model of helplessness sensitive to imipramine. Eur J Pharmacol 316:R1–R2
- Vaugeois JM, Passera G, Zuccaro F, Costentin J (1997) Individual differences in response to imipramine in the mouse tail suspension test. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 134:387–391
- Venugopal C, Demos CM, Rao KS, Pappolla MA, Sambamurti K (2008) Beta-secretase: structure, function, and evolution. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 7:278–294
- Vigot R, Barbieri S, Brauner-Osborne H, Turecek R, Shigemoto R, Zhang YP, Lujan R, Jacobson LH, Biermann B, Fritschy JM, Vacher CM, Muller M, Sansig G, Guetg N, Cryan JF, Kaupmann K, Gassmann M, Oertner TG, Bettler B (2006) Differential compartmentalization and distinct functions of GABAB receptor variants. Neuron 50:589–601
- Vinkers CH, van Bogaert MJ, Klanker M, Korte SM, Oosting R, Hanania T, Hopkins SC, Olivier B, Groenink L (2008) Translational aspects of pharmacological research into anxiety disorders: the stress-induced hyperthermia (SIH) paradigm. Eur J Pharmacol 585:407–425
- Vitaterna MH, King DP, Chang AM, Kornhauser JM, Lowrey PL, McDonald JD, Dove WF, Pinto LH, Turek FW, Takahashi JS (1994) Mutagenesis and mapping of a mouse gene, Clock, essential for circadian behavior. Science 264(5159):719–25
- Vogel JR, Beer B, Clody DE (1971) A simple and reliable conflict procedure for testing antianxiety agents. Psychopharmacologia 21:1–7
- Voigt JP, Hortnagl H, Rex A, van Hove L, Bader M, Fink H (2005) Brain angiotensin and anxietyrelated behavior: the transgenic rat TGR(ASrAOGEN)680. Brain Res 1046:145–156
- Vormfelde SV, Hoell I, Tzvetkov M, Jamrozinski K, Sehrt D, Brockmöller J, Leibing E (2006) Anxiety- and novelty seeking-related personality traits and serotonin transporter gene polymorphisms. J Psychiatr Res 40(6):568–576
- Wang Z, Valdes J, Noyes R, Zoega T, Crowe RR (1998) Possible association of a cholecystokinin promotor polymorphism (CCK-36CT) with panic disorder. Am J Med Genet 81:228–234
- Weaver IC, Meaney MJ, Szyf M (2006) Maternal care effects on the hippocampal transcriptome and anxiety-mediated behaviors in the offspring that are reversible in adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:3480–3485
- Wellman CL, Izquierdo A, Garrett JE, Martin KP, Carroll J, Millstein R, Lesch KP, Murphy DL, Holmes A (2007) Impaired stress-coping and fear extinction and abnormal corticolimbic morphology in serotonin transporter knock-out mice. J Neurosci 27:684–691
- Wells C, Brown SD (2000) Genomics meets genetics: towards a mutant map of the mouse. Mamm Genome 11:472–477
- Wendland JR, Kruse MR, Cromer KR, Murphy DL (2007) A large case-control study of common functional SLC6A4 and BDNF variants in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:2543–2551
- Wendland JR, DeGuzman TB, McMahon F, Rudnick G, Detera-Wadleigh SD, Murphy DL (2008) SERT Ileu425Val in autism, Asperger syndrome and obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatr Genet 18(1):31–39

- Willem M, Garratt AN, Novak B, Citron M, Kaufmann S, Rittger A, DeStrooper B, Saftig P, Birchmeier C, Haass C (2006) Control of peripheral nerve myelination by the beta-secretase BACE1. Science 314:664–666
- Wong ML, Licinio J (2001) Research and treatment approaches to depression. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:343–351
- Wong ML, Licinio J (2004) From monoamines to genomic targets: a paradigm shift for drug discovery in depression. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3:136–151
- Yalcin B, Willis-Owen SA, Fullerton J, Meesaq A, Deacon RM, Rawlins JN, Copley RR, Morris AP, Flint J, Mott R (2004) Genetic dissection of a behavioral quantitative trait locus shows that Rgs2 modulates anxiety in mice. Nat Genet 36:1197–1202
- Yasoshima Y, Yamamoto T (2005) Effects of midazolam on the expression of conditioned taste aversion in rats. Brain Res 1043:115–123
- You JS, Hu SY, Chen B, Zhang HG (2005) Serotonin transporter and tryptophan hydroxylase gene polymorphisms in Chinese patients with generalized anxiety disorder. Psychiatr Genet 15(1):7–11

Part IV Translational Science

Behavioral Correlates of Anxiety

Victoria Risbrough

Contents

1	Introduction: Why Do We Need Behavioral Correlates of Anxiety?	
2	Startle Reactivity Paradigms	
	2.1 Startle Reactivity to Aversive Images	
	2.2 Startle Reactivity in Darkness	
	2.3 Fear Potentiated Startle to Conditioned Cues	
	2.4 Conditioned Inhibition and Extinction	
3	Startle Reactivity as a Tool for Predicting Anxious Responses	
	3.1 Do Startle Reflex Measures Predict Clinical Anxiety?	
4	Can Startle Reactivity Be Used as an Endophenotype for Anxiety?	
5	Can the Signal Predict Treatment Efficacy?	
	5.1 Benzodiazepines	
	5.2 Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors	
	5.3 Putative Anxiolytics and Behavioral Treatments	
6	Emotional Bias Tasks	
7	Do Attentional Bias Task Measures Predict Clinical Anxiety?	
8	Do Attentional Bias Tasks Predict Treatment Efficacy?	
9	Behavioral Avoidance	
10	Promising Behavioral Tasks in Development	
11	Final Summary	
Refe	erences	221

Abstract The tripartite model of anxiety includes three response domains: cognitive (most often identified by self report), behavioral, and physiological. Each is suggested to bring a separate element of response characteristics and, in some cases, potentially independent underlying mechanisms to the construct of anxiety. In this chapter, commonly used behavioral correlates of anxiety in human research, including startle reflex, attentional bias, and avoidance tasks, as well as future tasks

V. Risbrough

Department of Psychiatry, University of California, 9500 Gilman Drive, MC0804, La Jolla, San Diego, CA 92093, USA

using virtual reality technology will be discussed. The focus will be in evaluating their translational utility supported by (1) convergent validity with other measures of anxiety traits or anxiety disorders, (2) their use in identifying neural and genetic mechanisms of anxiety, and (3) ability to predict treatment efficacy.

Keywords Anxiety · Fear · Behavior · Review · Startle · Translational

1 Introduction: Why Do We Need Behavioral Correlates of Anxiety?

Lang's tripartite model of anxiety responding suggests that there are three response domains: cognitive (most often identified by self report), behavioral, and physiological (Lang 1968). Each is suggested to measure a separate element of response characteristics and, in some cases, potentially independent underlying mechanisms to the construct of anxiety (Turner and Michelson 1984). So what exactly do behavioral measures bring to the table in furthering our understanding of anxiety? First, behavioral measures of anxious responding aid in interpretation of self report and physiological or biological assessments. For example, they provide a less biased measure of anxiety compared to self report assessment tools, which can be limited by under or over reporting in certain populations (e.g., military populations where stigma may still be attached to reporting symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder). It has also been suggested that self report measures of anxiety have the potential to bias research towards overt cognitive mechanisms of anxiety or towards specific high reporting disorder classes (e.g., Mansell and Clark 1999). Behavioral measures are also generally valence dependent. Biological or physiological measures of arousal such as changes in heart rate, blood pressure, or skin conductance are excellent objective measures of autonomic activation; however, they can lack specificity, with similar patterns of activation being observed under non-"anxietyprovoking" circumstances, such as novelty or reward (Dawson et al. 2000). Similar limitations apply to imaging using fMRI, as neural circuits involved in fear activation are also activated under nonaversive conditions (for review see Wager et al. 2003). These limitations are not always circumvented in behavioral tasks (e.g., reaction time tasks based on affect), with some behavioral tasks conferring better specificity in distinguishing negative and positive valence than others. Second, some behavioral measures can also provide insight into preconscious anxiety processes, such as attentional biases or reflexes. Behavioral assessments of unconscious reflexes or responses may be particularly useful in obtaining an "unbiased" measure of anxiety, as well as provide measures that are amenable to model organisms where verbal assessments or complex tasks are impossible. Finally, behavioral tests using presentation of mild stressors to elicit acute anxiety responses are now being used as preliminary screens for efficacy of novel anxiolytic compounds in healthy control subjects. Many of these behavioral tests have analogous models in rodents and primates, supporting translation of model organism results to efficacy testing in humans. Weaknesses of behavioral measures are that they are not as well validated and standardized across laboratories as physiological measures and rating scales; some require expensive equipment and specific expertise (similar to physiological studies), and in some cases, the window to detect effects of anxiety manipulations (e.g., drugs, stressors) on behavioral measures can be very small. Small behavioral windows are likely more prevalent in studies of normal controls using mild stressors, which may then require more subjects for adequately powered hypothesis testing. Overall, the strength of behavioral assessment tools are that they are relatively objective, are generally stimulus and parametrically controllable, can probe specific constructs of anxiety (e.g., in response to specific stimuli), can be used as screens for pharmacological efficacy, and finally, in some cases, have well validated translational applicability between preclinical and clinical results. Here we will discuss behavioral correlates of anxiety in human research focusing on their use in identifying mechanisms of anxiety and predicting anxiolytic treatment efficacy.

2 Startle Reactivity Paradigms

The startle reflex is an unconscious reflex in response to sudden intense stimuli (visual, acoustic, somatic, and vestibular). The reflex invariably includes an eye blink response, and depending upon the intensity of the stimulus, may also include a contraction of the skeletal musculature with a ducking of the head into the neck towards the shoulders (for a historical review of startle reflex research see Wilkins et al. 1986). This reflex is highly conserved across mammalian species. In humans, startle reactivity is usually measured by the eye blink response as indicated by EMG recordings of the orbicularis oculi muscle, as this element of the response is least variable and most resilient to habituation (for review of EMG technique see Fridlund and Cacioppo 1986). Its function is generally regarded as defensive (discussed later), possibly to facilitate the latency to flee or to shield the head and neck from injury (for review of proposed functions see Yeomans et al. 2002). Although it is an unconscious reflex, the magnitude of the response is modulated by emotional state. Startle magnitude is reliably shown to be inhibited in the presence of rewarding or appetitive stimuli (e.g., erotica or food) while being exaggerated in the presence of aversive stimuli (e.g., violent scenes or threatening stimuli) (Lang et al. 2006). Because startle plasticity can reflect negative and positive emotional valence, it has become a popular tool in anxiety and emotional processing research in both human and animal models (Davis 2006; Grillon 2008).

2.1 Startle Reactivity to Aversive Images

A pioneer in emotional modulation of startle behavior has been Peter Lang's group, focusing on modulation of startle reactivity provoked by emotionally evocative images (Lang et al. 1998). This group has amassed a large database of photographic

image stimuli sets with prior normative affective ratings for affective, dominance, and arousal levels (International Affective Picture System, IAPS, http://csea.phhp. ufl.edu/Media.html). These pictures are used widely in behavioral, physiological, and imaging paradigms. Startle responses to IAPS pictures are reliably reported to be increased while viewing unpleasant pictures (e.g., pictures of insects on food, blood, accidents, violent acts) and these effects are linked to state anxiety (Smith et al. 2005). Startle reactivity is also increased significantly when subjects are shown threatening words (Larsen et al. 2002) or angry faces (Springer et al. 2007). Startle reactivity to aversive images has also been linked to activity of the amygdala and other forebrain regions associated with acute and clinical anxiety responding (Buchanan et al. 2004; Pissiota et al. 2003), supporting the notion that this task is probing anxiety-relevant neural circuits. Surprisingly, the affective modulation of startle does not appear to be linked to trait anxiety (Smith et al. 2005), but instead linked to traits of fearfulness or anger (Cook et al. 1992). A failure to show affective modulation of startle has been linked to psychopathic traits (Lang et al. 1993). Also, affective modulation of startle may be dependent on mood state, as clinically depressed and normal subjects selected for negative mood states show blunted affective modulation of startle (Allen et al. 1999; Grüsser et al. 2007). Care must be taken with the choice of images, as startle potentiation to specific image types (e.g., disgust vs. fear) can be modified by personality traits (Caseras et al. 2006) or individual experiences. One way to circumvent the effects of individual differences in processing and responding to the images is to assess startle reactivity during cued anticipation of images. This task prompts the subject (usually with a simple visual cue, such as a colored circle) that a specific image type (negative or positive) is about to be shown, and it is during this anticipation that startle reactivity is probed. Startle reactivity is increased during anticipation of negative imagery, although similar to image probe tasks, the startle reactivity evoked by anticipation does not appear to be related to trait anxiety (Nitschke et al. 2002).

2.2 Startle Reactivity in Darkness

Humans exhibit increased startle reactivity when tested in complete darkness compared to well-lit conditions (Grillon et al. 1997b). This is a similar phenomenon to light-potentiated startle in rodents,¹ and both are reduced by anxiolytic treatment (Baas et al. 2002; de Jongh et al. 2002). Combat veterans and combat PTSD subjects exhibit increased startle reactivity to darkness compared to civilian controls (Grillon et al. 1998b), indicating these conditions may probe learned arousal or anxietyrelated to combat experience. Panic disorder subjects do not exhibit increased startle reactivity in the dark (Melzig et al. 2007). The drawback of this paradigm thus far

¹As opposed to humans, rodents are nocturnal, and lit conditions tend to be more threatening as they increase the chances of being observed by predators.
has been that the potentiation can be relatively weak and habituate rapidly in normal subjects, limiting its use for examining drug effects (Baas et al. 2002).

2.3 Fear Potentiated Startle to Conditioned Cues

Pavlovian conditioning has been an important tool in behavioral assessments of anxiety (LeDoux 2000), and stronger fear conditioning may be a component of anxiety disorders (Lissek et al. 2005). In animals and humans, a conditioned fear association is made when a conditioned stimulus (CS; e.g., a tone or light) and unconditioned stimulus (US; e.g., a painful shock), are presented in close temporal proximity. Thus, the CS "predicts" the occurrence of the US. After sufficient training, the presentation of the CS alone will evoke a conditioned fear response (CR; e.g., freezing, exaggerated startle response, autonomic activation). In the fear potentiated startle (FPS) model of conditioned fear, a visual or acoustic CS is presented with a noxious stimulus such as a shock or airpuff. After a sufficient number of pairing trials, the presence of the CS will elicit exaggerated startle responses. The degree to which startle is exaggerated is used as an operational measure of the conditioned fear response (Brown 1951; Davis et al. 1993). FPS is a cross-species paradigm (with its use pioneered by the laboratory of Michael Davis), observed reliably in humans, (pioneered predominantly by the laboratory of Christian Grillon; for review see Grillon 2008), rodents (Davis 2008), and primates (Winslow et al. 2007).

In humans, fear potentiated startle magnitude has consistently been associated with state anxiety (for review see Grillon and Baas 2003), as well as correlated to neuroendocrine responses to stress (Grillon et al. 2006c), indicating convergent validity with psychological and biological markers of acute anxiety or fear. As with the effects of affective images on startle (discussed earlier), magnitude of FPS is not predicted by trait anxiety (Grillon et al. 1993), unless the aversive stimulus used is relevant to a specific phobia of the subject (Cornwell et al. 2006). Studies in humans and animals indicate that amygdala activation contributes to acquisition of FPS (Antoniadis et al. 2007; Funayama et al. 2001; Weike et al. 2005; Winslow et al. 2008); hence, this behavior has been used as a correlate of amygdala function across research disciplines.

As opposed to cued fear, conditioned fear to contextual cues is elicited by associations of the aversive event with a diverse range of cues occurring at the same time (i.e., a specific environment), with each discrete cue that makes up the context having weak to little effects when presented alone. In animals, contextual fear requires both the amygdala and hippocampus, while cued fear is hippocampal independent (LeDoux 2000). Recently, more research has focused on contextual fear learning in humans, based on the hypothesis that contextual fear may be a more accurate measure of "anxiety" (sustained defensive responding in response to weak or ambiguous threat cues) than "fear" (short lived defensive responses in the presence of discrete, highly predictive, threat cues) (Baas et al. 2008; Grillon and

Baas 2003; Grillon et al. 2006b; Winslow et al. 2008). Context potentiated startle appears to have convergent validity with increased avoidance behaviors of contexts predicting shock (Grillon et al. 2006a), and may be more sensitive to anxiolytic treatments than FPS (Grillon et al. 2006b). More research is needed to indicate whether context potentiated startle is predictive of trait anxiety (Baas et al. 2008), or abnormal in anxiety disorder patients (Grillon et al. 2008).

There are some critical differences to keep in mind when comparing results of FPS across humans and animals. First, most human studies train and test the subject in one sitting, whereas animal studies usually have at least 24 h between training and testing; thus, molecular mechanisms underlying FPS may be different across these paradigms. Another variation is that human FPS commonly uses only verbal instructions of the CS–US contingency before testing, with few to no presentations of the aversive stimulus (e.g., shock to the wrist or airpuff to the neck). Few studies in humans rely on experience-dependent learning of the CS–US contingency, presenting multiple CS–US pairing trials before testing, which is the only way to assess FPS in animals. Thus, it is important to bear in mind that across animals and humans, as well as across different human FPS protocols, the FPS measure may probe at least some differential neural circuitry, and require different levels of awareness of the contingency from the subject.

2.4 Conditioned Inhibition and Extinction

One theory of the etiology of anxiety is a reduced ability to inhibit fear responding, either by inability to distinguish safety signals from threat signals, or inability to extinguish previously learned fear responses (Nutt and Malizia 2004; Rothbaum and Davis 2003). In the phenomenon of cued inhibition, subjects are trained to associate a cue (CS+) with an aversive US, and also trained that when a different stimulus is presented (CS-), in addition to the CS+, the US will not occur (Grillon and Ameli 2001), hence the CS- inhibits the fear response to the CS+. Conditioned inhibition was found to be reduced in subjects with high harm avoidance, suggesting harm avoidance traits may be associated with inability to inhibit behavioral fear responses (Grillon and Ameli 2001). A recent study has reported that during the compound CS+/CS- presentation, a conditioned response to the CS+ (e.g., increased startle) continues to be present early during the cue presentation, while the effects of the CS- in inhibiting the response appear to occur later in the cue presentation (e.g., reduced startle) (Wendt et al. 2008). This initial potentiation followed by inhibition supports the hypothesis that separate neural systems may mediate responses to the CS- (safety signal) and the CS+ (danger signal). This protocol may have utility in testing whether anxiety disorders are linked to reduced responsivity to safety cues (the CS-), or rather enhanced reactivity to the threatening cues (CS+), as the two constructs may be distinguished temporally. The human version of the conditioned inhibition paradigm does have limitations;

however, as unlike rodents and monkeys, humans typically learn only that the *compound stimulus* CS+/CS- predicts that the US will not occur. The CS- alone does not inhibit fear responses to other CS+ cues that have not been specifically paired with the CS- during acquisition (i.e., humans do not generalize the individual CS- safety features to other threatening cues) (Winslow et al. 2008). As a consequence these paradigms had not been used extensively although a recent adaptation of this paradigm may be promising (e.g. Jovanovic et al. 2009).

Fear extinction is a complex construct made up of a number of distinct processes that inhibit learned fear responses (Myers and Davis 2002). Fear extinction occurs when a CS previously associated with an aversive US is then presented without the US. The subject learns that the CS no longer predicts the presence of the US and fear responses to the CS are extinguished (e.g., FPS is reduced). In both humans and animals, the magnitude of fear extinction is associated with increased prefrontal cortex activity and reduced amygdala activity (Milad and Quirk 2002; Phelps et al. 2004). Clinically, extinction of fear responses elicited by trauma-related or phobiaspecific stimuli is facilitated by exposure-based or cognitive behavioral therapies. Neurochemical substrates of extinction learning in animals has shown predictive validity for human extinction, as the glutamate partial agonist D-cycloserine enhances extinction learning in both rats and in phobia subjects (Norberg et al. 2008; Ressler et al. 2004; Walker and Davis 2002). These findings indicate that glutamatergic transmission in both rodents and humans modulates the extinction of learned fear responses. Extinction paradigms using startle as an operational measure of learned fear responding have been developed (Norrholm et al. 2006; Orr et al. 1997; Vansteenwegen et al. 1998), although drug studies using this paradigm have not yet been published. One study has shown reduced FPS extinction in anxious children compared to nonanxious children (as assessed by clinical interview) (Liberman et al. 2006). PTSD subjects have also been shown to exhibit normal extinction as assessed by startle but retarded extinction as assessed by skin conductance, suggesting that in PTSD physiological measures of arousal may be more resistant to extinction than startle behavior (Orr et al. 2000).

3 Startle Reactivity as a Tool for Predicting Anxious Responses

3.1 Do Startle Reflex Measures Predict Clinical Anxiety?

For an extensive review of startle reactivity changes in anxiety disorders see Grillon and Baas (2003). Here we will briefly touch on the more classical findings and discuss new findings since 2003. Individuals with panic disorder, social phobia, and PTSD have been reported to exhibit increased startle reactivity. Panic disorder subjects have been shown to exhibit increased baseline reactivity and reduced startle habituation and inhibition (Grillon et al. 1994; Ludewig et al. 2005; Ludewig et al. 2002).

The increased baseline startle and inhibition deficits may be partially normalized by medication (note, however, that this was a cross-sectional study, and thus medication effects should be judged cautiously) (Ludewig et al. 2005). Panic disorder subjects do not exhibit significantly greater startle potentiation to aversive words (Larsen et al. 2002) or cued shock compared to controls (Grillon et al. 1994; Grillon et al. 2008), suggesting that responses to specific threats are not altered in this population. A recent study suggests that co-morbid depression may, however, mask observations of increased potentiation in panic disorder subjects (Melzig et al. 2007), as subjects without depression have shown increased fear potentiation. Interestingly, a recent study reported that panic disorder subjects without major depression exhibited greater tactile startle under conditions of unpredictable threat compared to conditions of predictable (cued) threat, suggesting that panic disorder subjects exhibit strongest anxiety behaviors during periods of uncertainty (Grillon et al. 2008).

Increased startle reactivity is also considered a hallmark feature of the arousal domain of PTSD symptoms. Although not observed in all studies (e.g., Orr et al. 1997), a recent meta-analysis indicates that the increased startle reactivity reported by PTSD patients, in particular combat PTSD patients, is generally reproducible in the laboratory (Pole 2006). There is a great deal of inconsistency, however, in whether these increases are in baseline "nonstressed" startle reactivity, or only in response to stressful or anxiety-provoking experimental conditions (for extensive review see Grillon and Baas 2003). Ability to inhibit startle reactivity in the form of prepulse inhibition may also be disrupted in PTSD subjects (Grillon et al. 1998c; Grillon et al. 1996), although these data need to be replicated in larger samples. Three studies have tested whether exaggerated startle reactivity is a vulnerability trait for developing PTSD or manifests only after trauma exposure. In a prospective study of subjects recently exposed to trauma, startle responding was similar in all subjects immediately after trauma; however, those that did not develop PTSD became less reactive over time, while those that went on to develop PTSD continued to be reactive over these repeated sessions (Shalev et al. 2000). Because startle reactivity was similar across subjects immediately after trauma, it was interpreted that startle reactivity increases manifested only after trauma in those that go on to develop PTSD. This explanation does not account for the possibility that subjects developing PTSD had high startle before trauma (high responses due to trait), while those that did not develop PTSD had high startle only in response to trauma (high responses due to state). An additional caveat is that the recording resolution in this study (50 Hz, 1 recording every 20 ms), was not within the usual resolution required (1,000 Hz, 1 recording every 1 ms) for accurate recording of peak EMG responses (peak responses are high frequency and occur usually within a range of 15-20 ms); thus, the conclusions that can be drawn from this study are weakened. A small prospective study of firefighters exposed to trauma found a modest positive correlation between pretrauma startle magnitude and post-trauma PTSD-like symptoms; however, a clear PTSD diagnosis was not found in any of the subjects tested (Guthrie and Bryant 2005). A very recent study examined if startle reactivity to threat predicted development of PTSD in policemen. Pole et al. (2008) found startle reactivity and skin conductance under mild threat conditions (electrodes were placed on subjects but subjects were not given specific cues that shock was imminent) in cadets predicted PTSD symptoms as assessed by the PTSD check list after 1 year of police service (Pole et al., 2008). These data argue that increased fear responsiveness may be a vulnerability trait for PTSD instead of consequence of trauma. Although more studies are required to test if startle is a vulnerability factor for development of PTSD in different trauma populations, these data support further research in understanding genetic and environmental influences that modulate startle and physiological measures as these markers may be related to vulnerability for developing PTSD.

Not surprisingly, in phobic patients, startle reactivity is consistently increased in the presence of phobic-specific stimuli (e.g., social phobia, Cornwell et al. 2006; e.g., spider phobia, Wendt et al. 2008). There is preliminary evidence that this increased startle reactivity to phobic stimuli is reduced after extinction based therapy (De Jong et al. 1993). Hence, startle reactivity to phobic stimuli may be used as an objective marker of treatment efficacy in phobic subjects.

4 Can Startle Reactivity Be Used as an Endophenotype for Anxiety?

There is some preliminary evidence that heightened startle reactivity is linked with "risk" for anxiety disorder development. Children of patients with anxiety and depressive disorders exhibit exaggerated startle (either baseline or only during threat) compared to children with no family history for these disorders, suggesting that startle responsiveness could be a marker of vulnerability for development of clinical anxiety (Grillon et al. 1997a, 1998a; Merikangas et al. 1999) and depression (Grillon et al. 2005b). This latter finding is somewhat surprising because baseline startle appears to be normal, or even reduced, in adults with depression (Kaviani et al. 2004; Perry et al. 2004; Quednow et al. 2006). One untested speculation is that startle reactivity may change with the onset and progression of depression. Personality traits linked to anxiety and startle have include a study of children classified as "fearless" exhibiting significantly reduced startle responses (Goozen et al. 2004). Generally, links between startle and anxiety-related personality traits like behavioral inhibition have been mixed however (Caseras et al. 2006; Fullana et al. 2006; Hawk and Kowmas 2003; Nitschke et al. 2002), although the sample populations (e.g., infants vs. older children and adults), methodologies (e.g., affective modulation of startle using images or painful stimuli), and measures used (e.g., assessment scales) are very diverse, making comparisons across studies difficult. Startle reactivity has shown convergent validity with state but not trait anxiety, which may account for the inconsistency of baseline startle reactivity findings in anxiety disorder subjects, as it is difficult to control for experimental stress across studies. The most compelling findings in clinical anxiety populations to date are startle reactivity abnormalities in panic disorder and PTSD subjects (discussed earlier). Interestingly, these disorders have been suggested to have some similar etiology (Kellner and Yehuda 1999; Risbrough and Stein 2006).

It has been suggested that a simple relationship between a gene and complex trait mechanisms such as anxiety are unlikely to be found given the complexity and overlapping nature of the symptoms of neuropsychiatric disorders. Instead, optimally reduced measures of neuropsychiatric function or "endophenotypes" may be more useful than behavioral "macros" or diagnosis to understand genetic contributions to mental health (Gottesman and Gould 2003). Additionally, many disorderrelevant endophenotypes can be modeled in animals (e.g., startle reactivity) as opposed to complex symptom clusters. The identification of specific genetic contributions to variance in startle reactivity is in its infancy. Based on the data discussed above, as well as the fact that startle reactivity shows strong heritability and low within subject variance (Baker et al. 2008), its use as an anxiety endophenotype to identify potential genetic contributions to anxiety is certainly worth pursuing (Carlson et al. 1997; Radant et al. 2001) in its stress- or anxiety-potentiated form. For example, carriers of the short allele of the serotonin transporter, which has been consistently associated with anxiety and depressive disorders, have recently been reported to exhibit increased startle reactivity compared to carriers with the long allele (Brocke et al. 2006). Similarly, a recent study examined the link between startle reactivity and the well studied Val/Met mutation of the catechol-O-methyltransferase catecholamine degradation enzyme (Tunbridge et al. 2006) that may be associated with trait anxiety (Stein et al. 2005). Subjects homozygous for the Val polymorphism, which imparts less enzyme efficiency and thus less catecholamine signaling, exhibited greater startle potentiation when viewing negative images compared to Met carriers (Montag et al. 2008). There is uncertainty whether this mutation alone confers risk for clinical anxiety, as many large sample studies have failed to find an association (Baekken et al. 2008; Rothe et al. 2006; Wray et al. 2008). Overall, however, it appears that affective modulation of startle may be a useful tool for delineating genetic mechanisms associated with emotional processing and anxiety.

5 Can the Signal Predict Treatment Efficacy?

One of the more important questions is whether or not startle reactivity is a reliable measure to predict anxiolytic efficacy in humans. Startle reactivity reliably probes functions of the neural circuitry found to be abnormal in anxiety disorders (e.g., amygdala hyperactivation) (Grillon 2008); thus, treatments that act on this neural circuitry would be expected to modulate startle functions (Paulus 2008).

5.1 Benzodiazepines

Benzodiazepine treatment effects on fear potentiated startle (cued shock) has been somewhat inconsistent, with some reports showing benzodiazepine treatment efficacy (Bitsios et al. 1999; Graham et al. 2005) while others have only shown reductions in startle overall (Baas et al. 2002; Riba et al. 2001; Scaife et al. 2005). Baas et al. (2002) did find consistent reductions in self reports of state anxiety with diazepam treatment, indicating the doses used were psychoactive. One potential reason for the discrepancy between negative and positive findings is that the experiments where benzodiazepines where effective removed the shock electrodes during the "safe" condition (Bitsios et al. 1999; Graham et al. 2005), while the electrodes remained on even during presentation of cues that were instructed as "safe" (Baas et al. 2002; Riba et al. 2001; Scaife et al. 2005). Thus, it is possible that even during the "safe" condition, when electrodes are on, there is greater anxiety, and hence stronger effects of benzodiazepine treatment on startle across the entire session, masking a specific effect on cued-startle potentiation. A second difference is that in procedures that observed benzodiazepine effects, threat conditions were longer (90 s) and signaled by the placement of electrodes, while experiments with lack of effects used shorter (30 s) visual cues to alert the subject of oncoming shocks. Hence, another possible explanation is that the more cues predicting the possibility of shock are presented (e.g., electrodes plus visual cue), the less effective the treatment is in inhibiting cued startle. Benzodiazepines have been shown to be effective in blocking startle reactivity to contextual cues or to startle reactivity potentiated by darkness, which are more ambiguous threats than discrete fear cues (Baas et al. 2002; Grillon et al. 2006b). The finding that responses to classically conditioned fear cues are not affected by benzodiazepine treatment conflicts with animal studies that show consistent reductions in fear potentiated startle (Baas et al. 2002; Davis 1979; Risbrough et al. 2003; Winslow et al. 2007). Possibly, the ED50 for sedation is higher in animals allowing higher benzodiazepine dosing, or the effects in animals are due to disruption of cognitive processes and not anxiety (i.e., interferes with fear memory recall as opposed to the fear response). Indeed, benzodiazepine treatment inhibits acquisition of cued fear responses (Scaife et al. 2005). However, the more parsimonious explanation may be that there are fundamental differences in how animal and human tests are designed and experienced by the subjects. For example, the procedure for most rodent studies involves removing the shock grid before FPS testing to reduce contextual fear effects on baseline startle, which eliminates one of the primary conditioned cues for the aversive stimulus. Removal of the electrodes does not occur for any of the human studies during the threat condition, so this difference in contextual environment may also account for diazepam efficacy differences across animals and man.

Diazepam has also been shown previously to reduce startle potentiation induced by aversive images (Patrick et al. 1996); however, these effects were not replicated using lower doses (Murphy et al. 2008). Overall, it appears that startle potentiation induced by ambiguous cues (contextual, darkness) or cues associated with relatively weak aversive stimuli (images) is sensitive to benzodiazepine treatment, but specific and discrete cues associated with stronger aversive stimuli (e.g., shock) are not². Because baseline startle reactivity is so sensitive to state anxiety however, the ability to separate "sedative" vs. "anxiolytic" effects of benzodiazepines on this behavior will likely always be difficult, especially in experimental designs in which the subject knows from the outset that they are going to experience an aversive stimulus.

5.2 Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

Acute treatment with citalopram increases baseline startle reactivity (Browning et al. 2007) without affecting startle potentiation induced by negative images, while subchronic citalopram treatment (7 days) reduces startle potentiation induced by negative images (Harmer et al. 2004). Thus the aversive image task appears to be able to dissociate acute vs. chronic effects of serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) treatment. These data fit with reports of increased arousal induced by acute SSRI treatment and the evolution of anxiolytic effects of treatment after chronic dosing. As indicated above, medicated panic disorder subjects exhibit significantly lower startle reactivity compared to unmedicated patients (Ludewig et al. 2005). Whether this normalization is associated with improvements in global functioning is still unclear, requiring longitudinal studies pre- and post-treatment.

5.3 Putative Anxiolytics and Behavioral Treatments

Preliminary data also indicate that the putative anxiolytic LY354740, a structural analog of glutamate that shows specificity at the mGluR2/3 receptor, reduces FPS in both rats and humans (Grillon et al. 2003; Helton et al. 1998). This compound has been shown to have efficacy in reducing anxiety symptoms in generalized anxiety

²How does this fit with the efficacy of benzodiazepines in the clinic? One might expect then that phobias to specific cues, which on its face would be the most similar form of anxiety to the fear potentiated model, are less treatable by benzodiazepines, and indeed, behavioral therapy has been the most effective first line treatment for specific phobias (Argyropoulos and Nutt 1999; Davidson 1997; Verster and Volkerts 2004). There is evidence, however, that benzodiazepines reduce fear and behavioral avoidance in claustrophobia (Tschirch et al. 2007), agoraphobia (Carter et al. 1995), and public speaking (Graeff et al. 2003; Lee 2004). Thus, although benzodiazepines are not first line treatments for most phobias due to interference with extinction processes(Lee 2004), sedation, toxicity and abuse potential, they are effective in short term reduction of phobic symptoms. Benzodiazepines have been shown to reduce self report of fear but not behavioral measures of fear (reduced approach) in animal phobia (Sartory et al. 1990); however, higher doses of benzodiazepines reduce both anxiety and approach behavior (Whitehead et al. 1978). These data suggest that behavioral manifestations of phobias may be more resilient to benzodiazepine treatment than the conscious fear emotions, although this speculation requires testing.

disorder (GAD) in a small clinical trial (Dunayevich et al. 2007), although possible toxic effects have precluded its development further. As indicated above, small studies have also indicated startle reactivity to phobic stimuli is reduced after extinction based therapy (De Jong et al. 1993). In anxiety disorders, there has been little comprehensive research examining the sensitivity of startle abnormalities to pharmacotherapy or behavioral treatments; thus, it is difficult to make an assessment of the predictive validity of this paradigm.

Due to lack of specificity and sedation confounds, baseline startle has been an insufficient measure of anxiety-like responding. There is also to date a lack of consistent convergent validity with other measures of trait anxiety or anxiety vulnerability for either baseline or stress induced increases in startle except in the case of specific phobias and phobia related stressors. On the other hand, startle potentiation has shown sensitivity to specific anxiety disorders, probe related neural substrates (e.g., amygdala activation), and show sensitivity to anxiolytic compounds (with the exception of sedation confounds with benzodiazepines, discussed above). A significant test for the use of startle reactivity as a translational tool in the future will come with its potential to identify new treatments. Although interpretation can be confounded by sedation side effects, ultimately, the search for novel anxiolytic compounds includes reducing sedative profiles. Hence, it is not clear that the confounding sedative effects of benzodiazepines in the FPS paradigm preclude the paradigm's use in identifying novel anxiolytic drugs. Novel approaches in pinpointing stimulus conditions most amenable to treatment (e.g., contextual cues) may also increase the sensitivity of the task. The use of more complex stimuli, such as virtual reality, may support the use of more ethological paradigms and cues (Baas et al. 2004). Clearly, care must be taken in choosing the right paradigm, as conditions with high potentiation may be resistant to attenuation by some drugs (Baas et al. 2002). Future research will also prove whether startle potentiation is a useful endophenotype for understanding genetic contributions to anxiety, as it is a promising translational tool, in particular for bridging the gap between preclinical and clinical research, in identifying anxiety-related substrates (Merikangas and Pine 2004).

6 Emotional Bias Tasks

Another tool for assessing behavioral responses related to anxiety is the assessment of response bias towards threat cues. Cognitive theories of anxiety posit that anxious subjects have increased likelihood or bias towards detecting, processing, and orienting to threat cues in the environment, even if these cues are ambiguous and pose little actual threat (for review see Bishop 2007; Mogg and Bradley 1998). To operationally measure such bias, a number of tasks have been developed, including the emotional Stroop task and the dot probe task (for review see Mathews and MacLeod 2005). The emotional Stroop task was utilized by Mathews and MacLeod (1985), and involves presenting the subject with positive or negative words on a video screen, and asking the subject to indicate the color of the letters making up the word. Increased reaction time to name the word color is interpreted as increased processing of the task-irrelevant emotional content of the word. High anxiety subjects showed increased response times to color-name negative words, and thus may devote more processing resources to negative words or constructs. This task had some confounds in the interpretation of attentional bias, however, as viewing negative words may interfere with performance or distract high anxiety individuals, as opposed to increase in processing time per se (Mogg and Bradley 1999). An adaptation of this task, the dot probe task, shows two words or images on the screen, one in the upper portion and one in the lower portion. The subject is instructed to press a button when the screen stimuli disappear and are replaced by a dot. The dot can occur in either location, with the assumption being that when a subject is oriented to a particular word in a given location, the response time will be faster when the dot appears in that word's location.

7 Do Attentional Bias Task Measures Predict Clinical Anxiety?

The association with measures of increased attentional bias towards negative stimuli and anxiety are thoroughly reviewed elsewhere (Mathews and MacLeod 2005). In brief, high trait anxious subjects have been shown to exhibit greater bias towards negative words (Mathews and MacLeod 1994), as well as threatening faces (Mogg and Bradley 1999). GAD subjects have also been shown to orient more quickly towards threatening faces (Bradley et al. 1999; Mogg et al. 2000). Interestingly, an adaptation of these tasks using masked stimuli appears to best differentiate between anxiety and depression patients, with only anxiety patients continuing to show increased measures of attentional bias to masked negative stimuli (Mogg et al. 1995). The attentional bias towards masked threatening faces is also correlated with amygdala activation in GAD but not normal controls (Monk et al. 2008). These data indicate that preconscious attentional bias may be a unique feature of clinical anxiety, at least in GAD subjects.

8 Do Attentional Bias Tasks Predict Treatment Efficacy?

Recently, Mogg et al. (2004) reported that attentional bias assessed by the dot probe task was significantly reduced in GAD patients treated with paroxetine or citalopram. Most importantly, there was a direct correlation between treatment effects on the cognitive bias task and clinical global assessment of anxiety scale scores. Treatment with a low dose of diazepam specifically increased orienting to happy faces without affecting attentional responses to threatening faces, suggesting that diazepam may switch cognitive bias to more positive stimuli (Murphy et al. 2008). Although preliminary, this is an interesting finding, as it addresses whether an anxiolytic is effective because it inhibits responses to aversive stimuli (e.g., avoidance) or because it facilitates competing responses to appetitive stimuli (e.g., approach). There is also evidence that attentional bias tasks are predictive of cognitive therapy treatment outcome in GAD (Mathews et al. 1995), but not PTSD (Devineni et al. 2004).

Taken together, attentional bias measures appear to have sensitivity towards anxiety specific traits (especially relevant to GAD) and there is compelling preliminary evidence for sensitivity to anxiolytic treatments. Although interpretation of the exact attentional construct being measured in these tasks is under debate (e.g., initial orienting, reduced ability to disengage attention, or increased processing) (Mogg et al. 2008), these tasks have empirical support as behavioral probes for clinical anxiety mechanism and treatments. Future studies of the heritability and genetic contributions to attentional bias responding will be of great value.

9 Behavioral Avoidance

In diagnosing anxiety disorders, phobias in particular, behavioral assessment tests are sometimes used by the clinician. Outside of self report scales of avoidance, commonly employed tests are the behavioral approach test (e.g., presenting the individual with a behavioral choice to approach or avoid a feared object or situation), as well as assessing behavioral responses to specific phobic events (e.g., behaviors such as trembling, truncated speech patterns in social phobics during speech) (Harb et al. 2003). These tests are somewhat limited to disorders with specific "triggers," and thus are not as useful for generalized anxiety disorder or panic disorder (Kaloupek and Levis 1983; Mavissakalian and Hamann 1986), although avoidance behaviors have been suggested to be possible risk factors for panic disorder and agoraphobia (Zvolensky et al. 2006). Although helpful in behavioral therapy techniques (Chorpita and Taylor 2001), these behavioral assessments have not been consistently used for predicting anxiety traits or anxiety treatments.

An interesting paradigm has recently been reported which exploits the use of carbon dioxide presentation as an aversive stimulus (Fannes et al. 2008). CO_2 inhalation induces anxiety-like arousal and symptoms, and can induce panic in some human subjects (Bailey and Nutt 2008). If a cue is associated with the CO_2 presentation subjects exhibit a marked reduction in respiration when the CS+ is presented, and can also extinguish this avoidant behavior after the CS+ is no longer contingent with CO_2 presentation. Other panicogenics may also be useful as stress challenges for behavioral studies and fear conditioning, such as lactate and chole-cystokinin tetrapeptide treatments. Scales of anxiety and panic symptoms are consistently sensitive to these challenges (Keck and Strohle 2005); however, there is little data on their use in humans with behavioral measures of anxiety. Although still preliminary, such paradigms may be useful, as the stimuli and some of the response measures (physiological changes, avoidance responses) may be used across animal and human tests (e.g., neurobiological mechanisms of lactate sensitivity; Johnson et al. 2007).

10 Promising Behavioral Tasks in Development

Tasks developed to assess anxiety and fear behaviors in animals are now being adapted in the clinic to assess the neurobiology of anxiety (e.g., Davis 2006). The advent of sophisticated gaming and virtual reality technology has supported more ethological experimental designs to assess anxiety responses. For example, tasks that assess cognitive ability in animals such as the Morris Water Maze have been used to assess neural substrates activated by similar virtual reality tasks in humans (Astur et al. 2006; Astur et al. 2002). This approach has recently been adapted to assess anxiety responding. When presented with scenarios of proximal or distal threat, human beings report similar patterns of defensive behavior as observed in animals (Blanchard et al. 2001). A recent study in nonanxious controls used a virtual reality version of a predator exposure paradigm previously established for rodents (Mobbs et al. 2007) to assess neural circuitry underlying defensive responses in humans. The study found that when the virtual predator (which could elicit shocks when in contact with the subject's virtual self) was distal from the subject, frontal cortex regions were most activated, but when the "predator" became more and more proximal, greater activation switched to the periaqueductal gray region (PAG) of the brain stem. This neural circuitry parallels animal literature in that the PAG is critical for defensive fight or flight behaviors (Fanselow et al. 1995; McNaughton and Corr 2004). The subjects showed graded levels of avoidance of the predator depending on the number of shocks elicited when in contact with the predator. Hence, this task may be useful in quantifying differing levels of avoidance in high anxiety subjects, and how treatments might affect these behaviors.

A similar adaptation of assessing animal locomotor behavior has been developed in humans, called the Human Behavioral Pattern Monitor (Young et al. 2007). This paradigm uses visual tracking software to assess the spatial location of a human subject in a small "waiting" room filled with furniture and objects, but importantly no chair. The subject's movements during a 15-min session are mapped and a number of measures of locomotion and exploration patterns are quantified. Although this paradigm was developed to delineate locomotor and object exploration abnormalities in manic and schizophrenic subjects, it may also be modified for assessments of avoidance, locomotor, or novelty seeking behavior in other patient groups, including anxiety disorders.

11 Final Summary

Behavioral correlates of anxiety in humans have begun to increase their scope from simply describing behavioral phenomena associated with anxiety, towards identification of neurological and genetic factors related to anxiety responding and predicting anxiolytic treatment. Startle reactivity and attention bias tasks appear to be the most advanced in these areas. Other, less developed tasks, still require more research to determine if they are sensitive to anxiety disorders and anxiolytic treatments. Overall, behavioral tasks have been complementary tools with imaging, self report, and physiological measures, providing valence dependent, unbiased assessment of behavioral responses to anxiety-provoking cues, as well as to control for attention and motivational confounds. Significant limitations to keep in mind are that behavioral assessments often require sophisticated and expensive equipment (although so does physiological measurement), often require more experimental time from the subject, and are rarely adaptable to assess subjects outside of the laboratory. Most importantly, in comparison to self report and to a lesser degree physiological measures, behavioral tasks are not well standardized, with significant divergence in stimuli, task instructions, and analysis across laboratories. Efforts towards standardization must be addressed for these tasks to become exploited to their full potential, both in pharmacotherapy and genetic studies. Finally, the development of new tasks using virtual reality and other novel techniques is truly exciting, and shows great promise for supporting sophisticated and translational behavioral assessments of anxiety in the future.

Acknowledgments Support was provided by the National Institute of Health grant MH074697 and the Veterans Affair's Center of Excellence for Stress and Mental Health.

References

- Allen NB, Trinder J, Brennan C (1999) Affective startle modulation in clinical depression: preliminary findings. Biol Psychiatry 46:542
- Antoniadis EA, Winslow JT, Davis M, Amaral DG (2007) Role of the primate amygdala in fear-potentiated startle: effects of chronic lesions in the rhesus monkey. J Neurosci 27:7386–7396
- Argyropoulos SV, Nutt DJ (1999) The use of benzodiazepines in anxiety and other disorders. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 9:S407
- Astur RS, St Germain SA, Tolin D, Ford J, Russell D, Stevens M (2006) Hippocampus function predicts severity of post-traumatic stress disorder. Cyberpsychol Behav 9:234–240
- Astur RS, Taylor LB, Mamelak AN, Philpott L, Sutherland RJ (2002) Humans with hippocampus damage display severe spatial memory impairments in a virtual Morris water task. Behav Brain Res 132:77
- Baas JM, Grillon C, Bocker KB, Brack AA, Morgan CA III, Kenemans JL, Verbaten MN (2002) Benzodiazepines have no effect on fear-potentiated startle in humans. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 161:233–247
- Baas JM, Nugent M, Lissek S, Pine DS, Grillon C (2004) Fear conditioning in virtual reality contexts: a new tool for the study of anxiety. Biol Psychiatry 55:1056–1060
- Baas JMP, van Ooijen L, Goudriaan A, Kenemans JL (2008) Failure to condition to a cue is associated with sustained contextual fear. Acta Psychologica 127:581
- Baekken P, Skorpen F, Stordal E, Zwart J-A, Hagen K (2008) Depression and anxiety in relation to catechol-O-methyltransferase Val158Met genotype in the general population: the Nord-Trondelag Health Study (HUNT). BMC Psychiatry 8:48
- Bailey JE, Nutt DJ (2008) GABA-A receptors and the response to CO(2) inhalation a translational trans-species model of anxiety? Pharmacol Biochem Behav 90:51–57

- Baker DB, Risbrough VB, Schork NJ (2008) Post-traumatic stress disorder: genetic and environmental risk factors. In: Lukey BJ, Tepe V (eds) Biobehavioral resilience to stress. Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton, FL, pp 177–218
- Bishop SJ (2007) Neurocognitive mechanisms of anxiety: an integrative account. Trends Cogn Sci 11:307
- Bitsios P, Philpott A, Langley RW, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E (1999) Comparison of the effects of diazepam on the fear-potentiated startle reflex and the fear-inhibited light reflex in man. J Psychopharmacol 13:226–234
- Blanchard CD, Hynd AL, Minke KA, Minemoto T, Blanchard RJ (2001) Human defensive behaviors to threat scenarios show parallels to fear- and anxiety-related defense patterns of non-human mammals. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 25:761
- Bradley BP, Mogg K, White J, Groom C, de Bono J (1999) Attentional bias for emotional faces in generalized anxiety disorder. Br J Clin Psychol 38(Pt 3):267–278
- Brocke B, Armbruster D, Muller J, Hensch T, Jacob CP, Lesch KP, Kirschbaum C, Strobel A (2006) Serotonin transporter gene variation impacts innate fear processing: acoustic startle response and emotional startle. Mol Psychiatry 11:1106
- Brown JS, Kalish HI, Farber IE (1951) Conditioned fear as revealed by magnitude of startle response to an auditory stimulus. J Exp Psychol 41:317–328
- Browning M, Reid C, Cowen PJ, Goodwin GM, Harmer CJ (2007) A single dose of citalopram increases fear recognition in healthy subjects. J Psychopharmacol 21:684–690
- Buchanan TW, Tranel D, Adolphs R (2004) Anteromedial temporal lobe damage blocks startle modulation by fear and disgust. Behav Neurosci 118:429–437
- Carlson SR, Katsanis J, Iacono WG, McGue M (1997) Emotional modulation of the startle reflex in twins: preliminary findings. Biol Psychol 46:235–246
- Carter CS, Fawcett J, Hertzman M, Papp LA, Jones W, Patterson WM, Swinson RP, Weise CC, Maddock RJ, Denahan AQ et al (1995) Adinazolam-SR in panic disorder with agoraphobia: relationship of daily dose to efficacy. J Clin Psychiatry 56:202–210
- Caseras FX, Fullana MA, Riba J, Barbanoj MJ, Aluja A, Torrubia R (2006) Influence of individual differences in the Behavioral Inhibition System and stimulus content (fear versus blood-disgust) on affective startle reflex modulation. Biol Psychol 72:251
- Chorpita BF, Taylor AA (2001) Behavioral assessment of anxiety disorders. In: Antony MM, Orsillo SM, Roemer L (eds) Practitioner's guide to empirically based measures of anxiety. Springer, NY, pp 19–23
- Cook EW III, Davis TL, Hawk LW, Spence EL, Gautier CH (1992) Fearfulness and startle potentiation during aversive visual stimuli. Psychophysiology 29:633–645
- Cornwell BR, Johnson L, Berardi L, Grillon C (2006) Anticipation of public speaking in virtual reality reveals a relationship between trait social anxiety and startle reactivity. Biol Psychiatry 59:664–666
- Davidson JR (1997) Use of benzodiazepines in panic disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 58:26-28
- Davis M (1979) Diazepam and flurazepam: effects on conditioned fear as measured with the potentiated startle paradigm. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 62:1–7
- Davis M (2006) Neural systems involved in fear and anxiety measured with fear-potentiated startle. Am Psychol 61:741–756
- Davis M, Antoniadis EA, Amaral DG, Winslow JT (2008) Acoustic startle reflex in rhesus monkeys: a review. Rev Neurosci 19:171–85
- Davis M, Falls WA, Campeau S, Kim M (1993) Fear-potentiated startle: a neural and pharmacological analysis. Behav Brain Res JID – 8004872 58:175–198
- Dawson ME, Schell AM, Filion DL (2000) The electrodermal system. In: Cacioppo JT, Tassinary LG, Berntson GG (eds) Handbook of psychophysiology, 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, NY, pp 200–223
- De Jong PJ, Arntz A, Merchelbach H (1993) The startle probe response as an instrument for evaluating exposure effects in spider phobia. Adv Behav Res Ther 15:301–316

- de Jongh R, Groenink L, van Der Gugten J, Olivier B (2002) The light-enhanced startle paradigm as a putative animal model for anxiety: effects of chlordiazepoxide, flesinoxan and fluvoxamine. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 159:176–180
- Devineni T, Blanchard EB, Hickling EJ, Buckley TC (2004) Effect of psychological treatment on cognitive bias in motor vehicle accident-related posttraumatic stress disorder. J Anxiety Disord 18:211
- Dunayevich E, Erickson J, Levine L, Landbloom R, Schoepp DD, Tollefson GD (2007) Efficacy and tolerability of an mGlu2//3 agonist in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:1603
- Fannes S, Van Diest I, Meulders A, De Peuter S, Vansteenwegen D, Van den Bergh O (2008) To inhale or not to inhale: conditioned avoidance in breathing behavior in an odor–20% CO2 paradigm. Biol Psychol 78:87
- Fanselow MS, DeCola JP, De Oca B, Landeira-Fernandez J (1995) Ventral and dorsolateral regions of the midbrain periaqueductal gray (PAG) control different stages of defensive behavior: dorsolateral PAG lesions enhance the defensive freezing produced by massed and immediate shock. Aggress Behav 21:61–77
- Fridlund AJ, Cacioppo JT (1986) Guidelines for human electromyographic research. Psychophysiology 23:567–589
- Fullana MA, Caseras X, Riba J, Barbanoj M, Torrubia R (2006) Influence of individual differences in Behavioral Inhibition System on the magnitude and time course of the fear-potentiated startle. Int J Psychophysiol 60:323–329
- Funayama ES, Grillon C, Davis M, Phelps EA (2001) A double dissociation in the affective modulation of startle in humans: effects of unilateral temporal lobectomy. J Cogn Neurosci 13:721–729 JID-8910747
- Goozen SHM, Snoek H, Matthys W, Rossum I, Engeland H (2004) Evidence of fearlessness in behaviourally disordered children: a study on startle reflex modulation. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 45:884–892
- Gottesman II, Gould TD (2003) The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions. Am J Psychiatry 160:636–645
- Graeff FG, Parente A, Del-Ben CM, Guimaraes FS (2003) Pharmacology of human experimental anxiety. Braz J Med Biol Res 36:421–432
- Graham SJ, Scaife JC, Langley RW, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E, Xi L, Crumley T, Calder N, Gottesdiener K, Wagner JA (2005) Effects of lorazepam on fear-potentiated startle responses in man. J Psychopharmacol 19:249–258
- Grillon C (2008) Models and mechanisms of anxiety: evidence from startle studies. Psychopharmacology 199:421
- Grillon C, Ameli R (2001) Conditioned inhibition of fear-potentiated startle and skin conductance in humans. Psychophysiology 38:807–815
- Grillon C, Ameli R, Foot M, Davis M (1993) Fear-potentiated startle: relationship to the level of state/trait anxiety in healthy subjects. Biol Psychiatry 33:566–574 JID-0213264
- Grillon C, Ameli R, Goddard A, Woods SW, Davis M (1994) Baseline and fear-potentiated startle in panic disorder patients. Biol Psychiatry 35:431–439 JID-0213264
- Grillon C, Baas J (2003) A review of the modulation of the startle reflex by affective states and its application in psychiatry. Clin Neurophysiol 114:1557–1579
- Grillon C, Baas JMP, Cornwell B, Johnson L (2006a) Context conditioning and behavioral avoidance in a virtual reality environment: effect of predictability. Biol Psychiatry 60:752
- Grillon C, Baas JMP, Pine DS, Lissek S, Lawley M, Ellis V, Levine J (2006b) The benzodiazepine alprazolam dissociates contextual fear from cued fear in humans as assessed by fear-potentiated startle. Biol Psychiatry 60:760
- Grillon C, Cordova J, Levine L, Morgan IIIC (2003) Anxiolytic effects of a novel group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist (LY354740) in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm in humans. Psychopharmacology 168:446

- Grillon C, Dierker L, Merikangas KR (1997a) Startle modulation in children at risk for anxiety disorders and/or alcoholism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 36:925–932
- Grillon C, Dierker L, Merikangas KR (1998a) Fear-potentiated startle in adolescent offspring of parents with anxiety disorders. Biol Psychiatry 44:990–997
- Grillon C, Lissek S, Rabin S, McDowell D, Dvir S, Pine DS (2008) Increased anxiety during anticipation of unpredictable but not predictable aversive stimuli as a psychophysiologic marker of panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 165:898–904 appi.ajp.2007.07101581
- Grillon C, Morgan CA III, Davis M, Southwick SM (1998b) Effect of darkness on acoustic startle in Vietnam veterans with PTSD. Am J Psychiatry 155:812–817
- Grillon C, Morgan CA III, Davis M, Southwick SM (1998c) Effects of experimental context and explicit threat cues on acoustic startle in Vietnam veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 44:1027–1036
- Grillon C, Morgan CA, Southwick SM, Davis M, Charney DS (1996) Baseline startle amplitude and prepulse inhibition in Vietnam veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychiatry Res 64:169–178
- Grillon C, Pellowski M, Merikangas KR, Davis M (1997b) Darkness facilitates the acoustic startle reflex in humans. Biol Psychiatry 42:453–460
- Grillon C, Pine DS, Baas JMP, Lawley M, Ellis V, Charney DS (2006c) Cortisol and DHEA-S are associated with startle potentiation during aversive conditioning in humans. Psychopharmacology 186:434–441
- Grillon C, Warner V, Hille J, Merikangas KR, Bruder GE, Tenke CE, Nomura Y, Leite P, Weissman MM (2005) Families at high and low risk for depression: a three-generation startle study. Biol Psychiatry 57:953
- Grüsser S, Wölfling K, Mörsen C, Kathmann N, Flor H (2007) The influence of current mood on affective startle modulation. Exp Brain Res 177:122
- Guthrie RM, Bryant RA (2005) Auditory startle response in firefighters before and after trauma exposure. Am J Psychiatry 162:283–290
- Harb GC, Eng W, Zaider T, Heimberg RG (2003) Behavioral assessment of public-speaking anxiety using a modified version of the social performance rating scale. Behav Res Ther 41:1373–1380
- Harmer CJ, Shelley NC, Cowen PJ, Goodwin GM (2004) Increased positive versus negative affective perception and memory in healthy volunteers following selective serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibition. Am J Psychiatry 161:1256–1263
- Hawk LW Jr, Kowmas AD (2003) Affective modulation and prepulse inhibition of startle among undergraduates high and low in behavioral inhibition and approach. Psychophysiology 40:131–138
- Helton DR, Tizzano JP, Monn JA, Schoepp DD, Kallman MJ (1998) Anxiolytic and side-effect profile of LY354740: a potent, highly selective, orally active agonist for group II metabotropic glutamate receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 284:651–660
- Johnson PL, Truitt WA, Fitz SD, Lowry CA, Shekhar A (2007) Neural Pathways Underlying Lactate-Induced Panic. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:2093–2107
- Jovanovic T et al (2009) Posttraumatic stress disorder may be associated with impaired fear inhibition: Relation to symptom severity, Psychiatry Research 167(1–2):151–160
- Kaloupek DG, Levis DJ (1983) Issues in the assessment of fear: response concordance and prediction of avoidance behavior. J Psychopathol Behav Assess 5:239
- Kaviani H, Gray JA, Checkley SA, Raven PW, Wilson GD, Kumari V (2004) Affective modulation of the startle response in depression: influence of the severity of depression, anhedonia, and anxiety. J Affect Disord 83:21–31
- Keck ME, Strohle A (2005) Challenge studies in anxiety disorders. Handb Exp Pharmacol 169:449-468
- Kellner M, Yehuda R (1999) Do panic disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder share a common psychoneuroendocrinology? Psychoneuroendocrinology 24:485–504

- Lang PJ (1968) Fear reduction and fear behavior: problems in treating a construct. In: Schlien J (ed) Research in psychotherapy. American Psychiatric Press, Washington, DC, pp 90–103
- Lang PJ, Bradley MM, Cuthbert BN (1998) Emotion and motivation: measuring affective perception. J Clin Neurophysiol 15:397–408
- Lang PJ, Bradley MM, Cuthbert BN, Patrick CJ (1993) Emotion and psychopathology: a startle probe analysis. Prog Exp Pers Psychopathol Res 16:163–199
- Lang PJ, Davis M (2006) Emotion, motivation, and the brain: reflex foundations in animal and human research. In: Anders S, Ende G, Junghofer M, Kissler J, Wildgruber D (eds) Progress in brain research. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 3
- Larsen DK, Norton GR, Walker JR, Stein MB (2002) Analysis of startle responses in patients with panic disorder and social phobia. Cogn Behav Ther 31:156–169
- LeDoux JE (2000) Emotion circuits in the brain. Annu Rev Neurosci 23:155-184
- Lee B (2004) Pharmacotherapy for performance anxiety disorders: occasionally useful but typically contraindicated. J Clin Psychol 60:867–879
- Liberman LC, Lipp OV, Spence SH, March S (2006) Evidence for retarded extinction of aversive learning in anxious children. Behav Res Ther 44:1491–1502
- Lissek S, Powers AS, McClure EB, Phelps EA, Woldehawariat G, Grillon C, Pine DS (2005) Classical fear conditioning in the anxiety disorders: a meta-analysis. Behav Res Ther 43:1391–1424
- Ludewig S, Geyer MA, Ramseier M, Vollenweider FX, Rechsteiner E, Cattapan-Ludewig K (2005) Information-processing deficits and cognitive dysfunction in panic disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci 30:37–43
- Ludewig S, Ludewig K, Geyer MA, Hell D, Vollenweider FX (2002) Prepulse inhibition deficits in patients with panic disorder. Depress Anxiety 15:55–60
- Mansell W, Clark DM (1999) How do I appear to others? Social anxiety and processing of the observable self. Behav Res Ther 37:419–434
- Mathews A, MacLeod C (1985) Selective processing of threat cues in anxiety states. Beh Res Ther 23:563–569
- Mathews A, MacLeod C (1994) Cognitive approaches to emotion and emotional disorders. Annu Rev Psychol 45:25–50
- Mathews A, MacLeod C (2005) Cognitive vulnerability to emotional disorders. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 1:167–195
- Mathews A, Mogg K, Kentish J, Eysenck M (1995) Effect of psychological treatment on cognitive bias in generalized anxiety disorder. Behav Res Ther 33:293
- Mavissakalian M, Hamann MS (1986) Assessment and significance of behavioral avoidance in agoraphobia. J Psychopathol Behav Assess 8:317
- McNaughton N, Corr PJ (2004) A two-dimensional neuropsychology of defense: fear/anxiety and defensive distance. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28:285
- Melzig CA, Weike AI, Zimmermann J, Hamm AO (2007) Startle reflex modulation and autonomic responding during anxious apprehension in panic disorder patients. Psychophysiology 44: 846–854
- Merikangas K, Pine D (2004) Genetic and other vulnerability factors for anxiety and stress disorders. In: Davis KL, Charney DS, Coyle JT, Nemeroff C (eds) Neuropsychopharmacology the fifth generation of progress. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 867–882
- Merikangas KR, Avenevoli S, Dierker L, Grillon C (1999) Vulnerability factors among children at risk for anxiety disorders. Biol Psychiatry 46:1523–1535
- Milad MR, Quirk GJ (2002) Neurons in medial prefrontal cortex signal memory for fear extinction. Nature 420:70–74
- Mobbs D, Petrovic P, Marchant JL, Hassabis D, Weiskopf N, Seymour B, Dolan RJ, Frith CD (2007) When fear is near: threat imminence elicits prefrontal-periaqueductal gray shifts in humans. Science 317:1079–1083
- Mogg K, Baldwin DS, Brodrick P, Bradley BP (2004) Effect of short-term SSRI treatment on cognitive bias in generalised anxiety disorder. Psychopharmacology 176:466

- Mogg K, Bradley BP (1998) A cognitive-motivational analysis of anxiety. Behav Res Ther 36:809–848
- Mogg K, Bradley BP (1999) Some methodological issues in assessing attentional biases for threatening faces in anxiety: a replication study using a modified version of the probe detection task. Behav Res Ther 37:595
- Mogg K, Bradley BP, Williams R (1995) Attentional bias in anxiety and depression: the role of awareness. Br J Clin Psychol 34(Pt 1):17–36
- Mogg K, Holmes A, Garner M, Bradley BP (2008) Effects of threat cues on attentional shifting, disengagement and response slowing in anxious individuals. Behav Res Ther 46:656
- Mogg K, Millar N, Bradley BP (2000) Biases in eye movements to threatening facial expressions in generalized anxiety disorder and depressive disorder. J Abnorm Psychol 109:695–704
- Monk CS, Telzer EH, Mogg K, Bradley BP, Mai X, Louro HMC, Chen G, McClure-Tone EB, Ernst M, Pine DS (2008) Amygdala and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex activation to masked angry faces in children and adolescents with generalized anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:568–576
- Montag C, Buckholtz JW, Hartmann P, Merz M, Burk C, Reuter M (2008) COMT genetic variation affects fear processing: psychophysiological evidence. Behav Neurosci 122:901–999
- Murphy S, Downham C, Cowen P, Harmer C (2008) Direct effects of diazepam on emotional processing in healthy volunteers. Psychopharmacology 199:503
- Myers KM, Davis M (2002) Behavioral and neural analysis of extinction. Neuron 36:567-584
- Nitschke JB, Larson CL, Smoller MJ, Navin SD, Pederson AJ, Ruffalo D, Mackiewicz KL, Gray SM, Victor E, Davidson RJ (2002) Startle potentiation in aversive anticipation: evidence for state but not trait effects. Psychophysiology 39:254–258
- Norberg MM, Krystal JH, Tolin DF (2008) A meta-analysis of D-cycloserine and the facilitation of fear extinction and exposure therapy. Biol Psychiatry 63:1118
- Norrholm SD, Jovanovic T, Vervliet B, Myers KM, Davis M, Rothbaum BO, Duncan EJ (2006) Conditioned fear extinction and reinstatement in a human fear-potentiated startle paradigm. Learn Mem 13:681–685
- Nutt DJ, Malizia AL (2004) Structural and functional brain changes in posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 65(Suppl 1):11–17
- Orr SP, Metzger LJ, Lasko NB, Macklin ML, Peri T, Pitman RK (2000) De novo conditioning in trauma-exposed individuals with and without posttraumatic stress disorder. J Abnorm Psychol 109:290–298
- Orr SP, Solomon Z, Peri T, Pitman RK, Shalev AY (1997) Physiologic responses to loud tones in Israeli veterans of the 1973 Yom Kippur War. Biol Psychiatry 41:319–326
- Patrick CJ, Berthot BD, Moore JD (1996) Diazepam blocks fear-potentiated startle in humans. J Abnorm Psychol 105:89–96
- Paulus MP (2008) The role of neuroimaging for the diagnosis and treatment of anxiety disorders. Depress Anxiety 25:348–356
- Perry W, Minassian A, Feifel D (2004) Prepulse inhibition in patients with non-psychotic major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord 81:179–184
- Phelps EA, Delgado MR, Nearing KI, LeDoux JE (2004) Extinction learning in humans: role of the amygdala and vmPFC. Neuron 43:897–905
- Pissiota A, Frans O, Michelgard A, Appel L, Langstrom B, Flaten MA, Fredrikson M (2003) Amygdala and anterior cingulate cortex activation during affective startle modulation: a PET study of fear. Eur J Neurosci 18:1325–1331
- Pole N (2006) Moderators of PTSD-related psychophysiological effect sizes. Results from a metaanalysis. Ann NY Acad Sci 1071:422–424
- Pole N, Neylan TC, Otte C, Henn-Hasse C, Metzler TJ, Marmar CR (2008) Prospective prediction of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms using fear potentiated auditory startle responses. Biol Psychiatry 65:235–240 Corrected proof doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.07.015

- Quednow BB, Westheide J, Kuhn K-U, Werner P, Maier W, Hawellek B, Wagner M (2006) Normal prepulse inhibition and habituation of acoustic startle response in suicidal depressive patients without psychotic symptoms. J Affect Disord 92:299–303 Corrected proof
- Radant A, Tsuang D, Peskind ER, McFall M, Raskind W (2001) Biological markers and diagnostic accuracy in the genetics of posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychiatry Res 102:203–215
- Ressler KJ, Rothbaum BO, Tannenbaum L, Anderson P, Graap K, Zimand E, Hodges L, Davis M (2004) Cognitive enhancers as adjuncts to psychotherapy: use of D-cycloserine in phobic individuals to facilitate extinction of fear. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1136–1144
- Riba J, Rodríguez-Fornells A, Urbano G, Morte A, Antonijoan R, Barbanoj M (2001) Differential effects of alprazolam on the baseline and fear-potentiated startle reflex in humans: a dose-response study. Psychopharmacology 157:358
- Risbrough VB, Brodkin JD, Geyer MA (2003) GABA-A and 5-HT1A receptor agonists block expression of fear-potentiated startle in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:654–663
- Risbrough VB, Stein MB (2006) Role of corticotropin releasing factor in anxiety disorders: a translational research perspective. Horm Behav 50:550–561
- Rothbaum BO, Davis M (2003) Applying learning principles to the treatment of post-trauma reactions. Ann NY Acad Sci 1008:112–121
- Rothe C, Koszycki D, Bradwejn J, King N, Deluca V, Tharmalingam S, Macciardi F, Deckert J, Kennedy JL (2006) Association of the Val158Met catechol o-methyltransferase genetic polymorphism with panic disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:2237
- Sartory G, MacDonald R, Gray JA (1990) Effects of diazepam on approach, self-reported fear and psychophysiological responses in snake phobics. Behav Res Ther 28:273
- Scaife JC, Langley RW, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E (2005) Diazepam suppresses the acquisition but not the expression of 'fear-potentiation' of the acoustic startle response in man. J Psychopharmacol 19:347–356
- Shalev AY, Peri T, Brandes D, Freedman S, Orr SP, Pitman RK (2000) Auditory startle response in trauma survivors with posttraumatic stress disorder: a prospective study. Am J Psychiatry 157:255–261
- Smith JC, Bradley MM, Lang PJ (2005) State anxiety and affective physiology: effects of sustained exposure to affective pictures. Biol Psychol 69:247
- Springer US, Rosas A, McGetrick J, Bowers D (2007) Differences in startle reactivity during the perception of angry and fearful faces. Emotion 7:516–525
- Stein MB, Fallin MD, Schork NJ, Gelernter J (2005) COMT polymorphisms and anxiety-related personality traits. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:2092–2102
- Tschirch F, Göpfert K, Fröhlich J, Brunner G, Weishaupt D (2007) Low-dose intranasal versus oral midazolam for routine body MRI of claustrophobic patients. Eur Radiol 17:1403
- Tunbridge EM, Harrison PJ, Weinberger DR (2006) Catechol-o-methyltransferase, cognition, and psychosis: Val158Met and beyond. Biol Psychiatry 60:141–151
- Turner SM, Michelson L (1984) Conceptual, methodological, and clinical issues in the assessment of anxiety disorders. J Psychopathol Behav Assess 6:265
- Vansteenwegen D, Crombez G, Baeyens F, Eelen P (1998) Extinction in fear conditioning: effects on startle modulation and evaluative self-reports. Psychophysiology 35:729–736
- Verster JC, Volkerts ER (2004) Clinical pharmacology, clinical efficacy, and behavioral toxicity of alprazolam: a review of the literature. CNS Drug Rev 10:45–76
- Wager TD, Phan KL, Liberzon I, Taylor SF (2003) Valence, gender, and lateralization of functional brain anatomy in emotion: a meta-analysis of findings from neuroimaging. Neuro-Image 19:513
- Walker DL, Davis M (2002) The role of amygdala glutamate receptors in fear learning, fearpotentiated startle, and extinction. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 71:379–392 JID-0367050
- Weike AI, Hamm AO, Schupp HT, Runge U, Schroeder HWS, Kessler C (2005) Fear conditioning following unilateral temporal lobectomy: dissociation of conditioned startle potentiation and autonomic learning. J Neurosci 25:11117–11124

- Wendt J, Lotze M, Weike AI, Hosten N, Hamm AO (2008) Brain activation and defensive response mobilization during sustained exposure to phobia-related and other affective pictures in spider phobia. Psychophysiology 45:205–215
- Whitehead WE, Blackwell B, Robinson A (1978) Effects of diazepam on phobic avoidance behavior and phobic anxiety. Biol Psychiatry 13:59–64
- Wilkins DE, Hallett M, Wess MM (1986) Audiogenic startle reflex of man and its relationship to startle syndromes: a review. Brain 109:561–573
- Winslow JT, Noble PL, Davis M (2007) Modulation of fear-potentiated startle and vocalizations in juvenile rhesus monkeys by morphine, diazepam, and buspirone. Biol Psychiatry 61:389–395
- Winslow JT, Noble PL, Davis M (2008) AX+/BX- discrimination learning in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm in monkeys. Learn Mem 15:63–66
- Wray NR, James MR, Dumenil T, Handoko HY, Lind PA, Montgomery GW, Martin NG (2008) Association study of candidate variants of COMT with neuroticism, anxiety and depression. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 147B:1314–1318
- Yeomans JS, Li L, Scott BW, Frankland PW (2002) Tactile, acoustic and vestibular systems sum to elicit the startle reflex. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 26:1–11
- Young JW, Minassian A, Paulus MP, Geyer MA, Perry W (2007) A reverse-translational approach to bipolar disorder: rodent and human studies in the behavioral pattern monitor. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:882–896
- Zvolensky MJ, Schmidt NB, Bernstein A, Keough ME (2006) Risk-factor research and prevention programs for anxiety disorders: a translational research framework. Behav Res Ther 44:1219

Challenging Anxiety: A Focus on the Specificity of Respiratory Symptoms

M.A. Van Duinen, V. Niccolai, and E.J.L. Griez

Contents

1	Introduction	230
2	Panic-Respiration or Anxiety-Respiration Link?	231
3	Respiratory Variables in PD	233
	3.1 Respiratory Rate	233
	3.2 Partial Pressure of CO ₂	234
	3.3 Tidal Volume and Minute Volume	235
	3.4 Respiratory Variability, Sighing, and Approximate Entropy	236
4	Respiration and Phobias	237
	4.1 Social Phobia	238
	4.2 Blood Injury Phobia	238
	4.3 Other Phobias	239
5	Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder	239
6	Generalized Anxiety Disorder	240
7	Posttraumatic Stress Disorder	241
8	Discussion	242
Ret	erences	246

Abstract Physiological symptoms are characteristic features of anxiety states. Presumably, specific psychophysiological profiles differentiate between anxiety disorders, which would offer potential for diagnostic purposes. Abundant evidence points to a causal relationship between panic disorder and instability of respiratory regulation. However, the specificity of most measures that indicate aberrant functioning of the respiratory system in PD can be questioned. Possibly, the traditional measures of respiratory functioning are too restricted. The underlying respiratory vulnerability in PD seems to constitute a subtle, unstable trait, which calls for more

Psychiatry & Neuropsychology, Maastricht University, The Netherlands

V. Niccolai

M.A. Van Duinen (🖂) and E.J.L. Griez

Institute of Experimental Psychology II, Heinrich-Heine University of Düsseldorf, Germany

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 2 October 2009

sensitive and sophisticated measures of respiratory variability and chaos. To increase the probability of finding parameters with diagnostic specificity, the application of disorder specific challenge paradigms is recommended.

Keywords Anxiety · Respiration · Panic disorder · Psychophysiology

1 Introduction

The presumably, primal response during the active state of anxiety disorders, shows many resemblances with a normal defensive response. Autonomic changes described for the classic stress response include a wide range of physiological systems including the respiratory and cardiovascular systems. It is conceivable that specific anxiety disorders show characteristic psychophysiological profiles. In case the physiological profile of different anxiety disorders could serve as an objective discriminator, this would not only be of scientific interest, but could even offer potential for diagnostic purposes.

The provocation of anxiety symptoms under standardized conditions has proven to contribute to a better understanding of anxiety disorders, both from a behavioral and biological point of view. Especially in social phobia and panic disorder (PD), well-defined paradigms are available that reliably provoke specific core phenomena in affected persons. However, for other anxiety disorders, specific, standardized challenges inducing the relevant affective state are described to a lesser extent.

Generally, we can state that there are two types of anxiety provocation. Exposure to exteroceptive stimuli, that is exposing patients to feared situations or stimuli, or interoceptive exposure in which bodily sensations or disorder-related thoughts are evoked. One way to evoke bodily sensation is by means of chemical stimulation. Over the years, quite some compounds have been claimed to provoke instances of clinical anxiety. However, most of these models have been criticized for their lack of specificity. In general, biochemical manipulations induce merely a state of general anxiety rather than symptoms resembling an affective state relevant to the anxiety disorder under study.

Compared to other anxiety disorders, the induction of specific symptoms by means of chemical stimulation is best described in PD. It might not come as a surprise that PD is particularly suitable for chemical symptom induction. The unexpected attacks with clear bodily sensations are not induced by an external stimulus but rather appear from an internal distortion.

A noteworthy similarity among most of the pharmacological agents that have been proposed as specific panicogenics, is the ability to exert a strong influence on respiration (Calverley et al. 1983; Liebowitz et al. 1984; Charney et al. 1985; Griez et al. 1987; Bradwejn et al. 1990). Moreover, respiratory symptoms represent a category that is present during the core phenomenon of PD – the panic attack.

Consequently, studies focusing on possible dysregulated respiratory patterns in this particular disorder have strongly increased in the past few decades. Evidence from these studies show that PD subjects are particularly sensitive to respiratory challenges. Especially the respiratory subgroup, characterized by prominent respiratory symptoms during panic attacks, seems to be associated with an increased sensitivity to respiratory challenges (Maddock and Carter 1991; Valenca et al. 2002). In addition, this subgroup might present a distinct endophenotype characterized by an earlier onset of the disorder, more frequent spontaneous panic attacks, a higher familial prevalence of PD, more previous depressive episodes, and a different profile with regard to pharmacological responsiveness (Briggs et al. 1993; Nardi et al. 2006).

The abundant attention for respiration within the field of PD cannot be neglected. However, for other anxiety disorders, respiratory symptoms have not been the primary focus. Although sympathetic activity in general has been studied, respiratory symptoms were often neglected. Is it because of the evident presence of respiratory symptoms during panic attacks that respiratory symptoms are principally reported in studies on PD, or could affected respiration also be an endophenotypic trait of other anxiety disorders? In this chapter, we focus on the specificity of respiratory symptoms for PD and we discuss the peculiarity of the relationship between respiratory symptoms and different anxiety disorders.

2 Panic-Respiration or Anxiety-Respiration Link?

Respiratory symptoms, such as hyperventilation, dyspnea, and a feeling of choking or breathlessness are commonly described as prominent symptoms of a panic attack. With regard to other anxiety disorders, only for generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) a respiratory symptom has been explicitly mentioned in the DSM (APA 1994).

Hyperventilation, in particular, is consistently observed during laboratoryinduced panic attacks (Gorman et al. 1986; Papp et al. 1989). Basically, hyperventilation implies breathing in excess of metabolic need, thus lowering arterial pCO_2 and resulting in increased pH. Although a fundamental role for hyperventilation in triggering panic was proposed previously (Ley 1985), it has been demonstrated that hyperventilation is not a causal mechanism in the initiation of panic. It rather constitutes one of the many symptoms that can emerge during an attack (Hornsveld and Garssen 1997).

A second main respiratory symptom in the spectrum of PD is dyspnea, defined as "breathing discomfort consisting of qualitatively distinct sensations that vary in intensity". In an early report of Rapee et al. (1992b), symptom profiles based on DSM-III-R panic symptoms were compared between PD patients and subjects suffering from other anxiety disorders (social phobia, specific phobia, and obsessive-compulsive disorder). Subjects were retrospectively questioned on the occurrence of these specific symptoms during a panic attack or a cued phobic or OCD response.

All panic symptoms were reported to occur during attacks in both groups, with a higher prevalence in the PD group for all items. Seven out of fourteen panic symptoms were reported significantly more often by PD patients among which dyspnea.

Although dyspnea seems to indicate pulmonary obstruction, the occurrence of dyspnea does not seem to be related to structural changes in the cardiopulmonary system. On the contrary, severe structural change is not required for the experience of dyspnea (Dudley et al. 1968). Patients with so-called medically unexplained dyspnea reported more intense dyspnea than patients with organic lung diseases. As a symptom, dyspnea depends for its identification on the subjective judgment of the patient. No objective tests (e.g., blood gas or ventilatory abnormalities) are available to date. However, Han et al. (2004) showed that subjects with medically unexplained dyspnea could be distinguished from subjects with organic dyspnea by using a small set of psychological and physiological measures, including PaO₂ and forced expiratory volume in 1 s. Furthermore, one-third of these patients met the criteria for PD.

In addition to the characteristic occurrence of respiratory symptoms during panic attacks, an increased prevalence of respiratory diseases has been reported in PD patients as compared to both healthy control subjects and patients with other anxiety disorders (Zandbergen et al. 1991). Vice versa, the lifetime prevalence of PD in patients with asthma is higher than expected in comparison with epidemiologic estimates of prevalence in the normal population (Perna et al. 1997; Nascimento et al. 2002; Potoczek 2005). Both severe asthma in the past 4 weeks and severe lifetime asthma were associated with a significantly increased likelihood of PD (Goodwin et al. 2003). It has been reported that up to 40% of PD patients have a childhood history of respiratory diseases, particularly asthma and bronchitis (Verburg et al. 1995b). Furthermore, an increased incidence of PD in patients suffering from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) has been reported (Karajgi et al. 1990). Interestingly, respiratory disorders and PD have been found to run in the same families. A common genetic susceptibility for PD and respiratory disorders has been suggested (Coryell et al. 2001; van Beek et al. 2005).

Unlike other anxiety disorders, the link between respiration and PD is explicitly mentioned in the most fundamental theories on the mechanisms of PD. Ley (1985) stated that unexpected somatic events (dyspnea and palpitations, in particular) are the consequence of a rise in blood alkalosis produced by hyperventilation. According to this theory, the occurrence of hyperventilation is a necessary factor for the occurrence of panic. In the past, a so-called hyperventilation provocation test was used to diagnose chronic hyperventilation. This method lacked both sensitivity and specificity and the diagnosis of hyperventilation syndrome appeared untenable (Hornsveld and Garssen 1996; Hornsveld et al. 1996). A second, quite influential, theory that attempts to explain panic suggests that panic attacks result from the catastrophic misinterpretation of certain internal bodily sensations (Clark 1986). The misinterpreted sensations are mainly those involved in normal anxiety responses (e.g., breathlessness). Clark suggested that the catastrophic misinterpretation of sensations accompanying hyperventilation

plays an important role in panic attacks. A third more biological theory proposed that CO_2 hypersensitivity in PD patients results from the malfunctioning of a "suffocation monitor". Normal shifts in physiological states, more specifically increased pCO₂ or decreased pH, are misinterpreted initiating a false alarm, i.e., panic attack (Klein 1993). In case this last theory would proof to describe the actual underlying mechanism of panic, malfunctioning of a critical system directly related to respiration is confirmed. This would explain most of the respiratory variability in PD and, at the same time, it would imply the specificity for this particular disorder.

3 Respiratory Variables in PD

The abundant literature concerning the link between respiration and PD clearly shows that this topic has stimulated researchers and inspired theories. The hypothesis of impaired respiratory functioning has led to studies investigating a plethora of respiratory parameters, such as respiratory rate (RR), partial pressure of CO_2 (pCO₂), tidal volume (TV), minute volume (MV), and more sophisticated techniques including approximate entropy. We recently reviewed the literature on respiratory parameters in PD (Niccolai et al. 2009). The following is based on the outcomes of this review.

3.1 Respiratory Rate

The easiest indicator of respiratory functioning is probably RR. Studies that investigated RR during baseline and resting conditions have consistently shown similar values in PD patients and controls. The same outcome was reported by one ambulatory monitoring study (Hoehn-Saric et al. 2004) and investigations during sleep onset and sleep (Koenigsberg et al. 1994; Stein et al. 1995). Different RR in PD patients compared to control subjects was found in some studies (Maddock and Carter 1991; Munjack et al. 1993; Wilhelm et al. 2001b), but the methodological design of these studies may well have influenced the outcomes.

With regard to panicogenic challenges, a similar result was found. Most studies measuring RR during the challenge phase did not find a different pattern in PD patients compared to controls. These studies involved either lactate infusion or 5% CO_2 inhalation (Schwartz et al. 1996; Rapee et al. 1992a; Bystritsky et al. 2000) as a respiratory challenge. One study reported increased RR in PD subjects 3–6 min after the start of lactate infusion during sleep (Koenigsberg et al. 1994). However, the difference between groups did not reach significance and, according to the authors, the increase was not impressive or consistent. Papp et al. (1993b) found higher RR in PD subjects compared to controls using the 35% CO_2 inhalation for 30 s.

However, this procedure is hardly comparable with others involving CO_2 inhalation. To our knowledge, this has never been replicated.

It has been proposed that PD patients are insufficiently capable of maintaining homeostasis (Perna et al. 2004). In this regard, it is very interesting to consider recovery from challenges when homeostasis needs to be restored. A few studies investigated RR during recovery from respiratory challenges. Two studies found higher doxapram induced RR in PD subjects than in controls (Lee et al. 1993; Abelson et al. 1996). Rapee et al. (1992a) found similar RR between medicated PD patients and controls following 5.5% CO₂ inhalation.

3.2 Partial Pressure of CO₂

Numerous studies have focused on baseline pCO_2 . Outcomes show two major directions: towards diminished or towards similar pCO_2 levels in PD subjects compared to controls. The evidence for lower pCO_2 in PD patients than in healthy controls is most convincing as evidence comes from studies involving large sample size and focusing on resting conditions (Gorman et al. 1986; Papp et al. 1997; Liebowitz et al. 1985; Wilhelm et al. 2001b; Munjack et al. 1993; Ponto et al. 2002; Gorman et al. 1988; Rapee et al. 1992a; Holt and Andrews 1989). They provide true basal measurements, unbiased by the expectations of a challenge. Among those who did not report a difference in pCO_2 values between groups are studies with notable limitations concerning small sample size (Maddock and Carter 1991; Ponto et al. 2002; Kellner et al. 1998; Koenigsberg et al. 1994; Wilhelm et al. 2001a) or subjects' medication status (Pain et al. 1988; Holt and Andrews 1989; Rapee et al. 1992a). Antipanic medication can modulate respiratory physiology (Papp et al. 1993a; Gorman et al. 1997). Specifically, successful treatment of PD has been shown to normalize pCO_2 by increasing its values (Gorman et al. 1985).

Studies investigating the challenge phase have used either lactate infusion or inhalation of different concentrations of CO_2 . During lactate infusion, PD subjects consistently showed decreased p CO_2 levels (Gorman et al. 1986; Liebowitz et al. 1985; Kellner et al. 1998) or a trend towards lower values (Koenigsberg et al. 1994). Moreover, in these studies nonpanicking patients and controls were compared and lower p CO_2 was reported for the first group.

Studies applying CO₂ inhalation found comparable results. Lower (Papp et al. 1997) or a trend towards lower (Ponto et al. 2002) pCO₂ levels in PD subjects compared to controls have been reported during the continuous inhalation of CO₂ concentrations around 6%. A few studies did not find a group difference, but they showed limitations concerning medication status, sex distribution (Rapee et al. 1992a), and type of challenge (Gorman et al. 1990). A different case is the 35% CO₂ inhalation challenge, in which a single vital capacity breath is taken and hypercapnia is immediate and lasts for about 7–16 s after exhalation (van den Hout and Griez 1985). Studies investigating pCO₂ level during the 35% CO₂ inhalation are limited, which is not surprising since the challenge procedure formally

exists of one inhalation and a breath holding period. Ponto et al. (2002) applied this challenge, followed by 10 s of rebreathing, and found lower pCO_2 levels in PD subjects than in controls.

Few studies have investigated the pCO₂ response during recovery from a challenge. Findings consistently report lower pCO2 in PD patients compared to controls after both doxapram injection and CO₂ challenge. Lee et al. (1993) found lower pCO_2 in PD subjects compared to controls for the last 7 min of a 9-min recovery period from doxapram injection. Abelson et al. (1996) investigated 20 min of recovery from doxapram and reported reduced pCO₂ in PD subjects compared to controls persisting throughout the recovery phase and reaching significance during the last 5 min. After CO_2 inhalation, results consistently showed that lower p CO_2 in PD patients compared to controls was maintained for several minutes (Gorman et al. 1988, 1990; Papp et al. 1997). To our knowledge, only one study has reported similar pCO₂ values in PD subjects and controls during 7 min of recovery from 5.5% CO₂ inhalation (Rapee et al. 1992a). However, one major limitation of this study was that medication was not stopped before the test day, which makes the results less reliable. Moreover, as shown by other studies focusing on recovery phase, it appears that group differences in pCO₂ levels emerge after a period of time. It is possible that measuring challenge effects during recovery for only 7 min prevent finding a group difference in pCO₂.

3.3 Tidal Volume and Minute Volume

Findings from studies investigating TV and MV during baseline, sleep, or resting condition have mainly shown increased values in PD subjects compared to controls (Pain et al. 1988; Gorman et al. 1990; Stein et al. 1995; Abelson et al. 1996; Wilhelm et al. 2001b) or a tendency toward higher values in the PD group (Martinez et al. 1996; Papp et al. 1997). No evidence of lower TV and MV in PD patients compared to controls has been found. Some studies have reported no differences in TV and/or MV in PD subjects relative to healthy subjects (Gorman et al. 1988; Papp et al. 1993b; Yeragani et al. 2002).

The very few studies focusing on TV or MV during a respiratory challenge and/or the recovery period have shown inconsistent results. Normal TV in PD patients during respiratory challenges has been described (Abelson et al. 1996). Different TV reactivity between groups during recovery from 5% CO₂ inhalation has been reported as well (Papp et al. 1997). When subjects switched to room air, TV restored more slowly in patients than in controls. This was interpreted as a physiological response to CO₂ intolerance. Higher MV in PD subjects than in healthy subjects was found during a 30-s lasting 35% CO₂ inhalation (Papp et al. 1993b) and during recovery from doxapram injection (Lee et al. 1993; Abelson et al. 1996).

Overall, it appears that PD patients show a different reaction than controls to respiratory challenges with regard to their TV and MV.

3.4 Respiratory Variability, Sighing, and Approximate Entropy

Several studies found increased respiratory variability in PD subjects compared to controls during both baseline and resting conditions. Respiratory variability provides insight into fluctuations in respiration, which may play a role in susceptibility to panic (Wilhelm et al. 2001a). Abnormal respiratory regulation appears to render PD subjects more susceptible to heightened concentration of CO₂ in inhaled air (Martinez et al. 2001). In fact, PD subjects who panicked after CO₂ inhalation demonstrated the largest baseline respiratory variability in TV and MV. Other studies have confirmed increased baseline TV or MV variability in PD patients compared to controls (Gorman et al. 1988, 2001). Interestingly, Abelson et al. (2001) found that the increased TV irregularity in PD subjects was observed throughout the three phases of the experiment (adaptation, placebo, and postdoxapram phase). This stable respiratory feature may be suggestive of dysregulated neural circuits in the brainstem or midbrain levels in PD patients. Consistent with this, studies investigating sleep reported higher TV or MV variability in PD subjects compared to controls (Stein et al. 1995; Martinez et al. 1996). Presuming that sleep is a state during which anxiety is limited, these results could suggest that increased erratic breathing found in PD patients during baseline represents a physiological endophenotype. Increased respiratory variability in PD patients has also been found during recovery from the 35% CO₂ challenge. In a recent study from our laboratory, nonmedicated patients showed increased variability in both RR and pCO₂ compared to controls and medicated PD subjects (Niccolai et al. 2008).

More frequent and prominent sighs have been suggested to account for larger TV variability in PD patients compared to controls (Stein et al. 1995; Abelson et al. 2001). A higher frequency of sighs in PD subjects has been reported during resting state (Wilhelm et al. 2001a; Yeragani et al. 2002; Caldirola et al. 2004), baseline, and during/after a challenge (Schwartz et al. 1996; Abelson et al. 2001). It has also been found that patients had greater sighs than controls (Wilhelm et al. 2001a). Only one study did not find differences in the number of sighs between groups during sleep (Stein et al. 1995). However, the authors acknowledged that the enormous variability in sigh frequency shown by normal adults during sleep and the small sample size might explain the negative finding. Breath-by-breath variation in TV manifested by sighing is suggestive of a robust and fairly stable marker in PD patients (Abelson et al. 2001). Although the presence of sighs may not fully explain the irregularity in breathing patterns (Caldirola et al. 2004), it could contribute to the identification of respiratory etiopathological pathways in PD.

Apneic episodes also importantly contribute to respiratory variability. These episodes can be described as the absence of respiratory movement for a period of time that may range from 1 to 10 s. The higher number and the longer duration of apnea episodes appeared to distinguish PD patients from normal controls during baseline (Bystritsky and Shapiro 1992). Also, more frequent apnea episodes during

baseline seemed to predict panic attacks during CO_2 inhalation, both in patients and controls. Increased length and number of breathing pauses and increased variability in length of breathing cycle were found during baseline in panicking patients compared to the nonpanickers and normal controls by the same authors in a successive study (Bystritsky et al. 2000). The breathing pauses were found to persist or worsen during CO_2 inhalation. More frequent pauses in PD subjects' breathing relative to controls have also been found during sleep (Stein et al. 1995).

Results from studies applying approximate entropy, a measure of regularity of time series, are in line with the traditional measures of respiratory parameters (standard deviation and coefficient of variation). These findings suggest that PD subjects not only have a greater overall variability, but also a more chaotic pattern of breathing. Specifically, greater entropy in the respiratory function is suggestive of an intrinsic instability in the respiratory homeostasis, which would explain why hypercapnic challenges act as "disrupting factors" in PD patients, leading to panic attacks (Caldirola et al. 2004).

4 **Respiration and Phobias**

Phobias are particularly suitable to be subjected to psychological paradigms. These instances of acute fear are characterized by symptoms that transpire in specific situations. The physiological symptoms of an acute phobic reaction largely resemble the symptoms of a panic attack. In fact, phobic responses are often referred to as panic attacks, even though diagnostically, panic attacks are unexpected, spontaneous attacks, not triggered by a specific stimulus.

In essence, symptoms can be triggered by exposing patients to a phobic stimulus. The drawback of this kind of manipulation is that there is a myriad of possible approaches, resulting in a lack of standardization.

Basically, there are two different approaches – in vivo, and imaginal exposure – each with its own positive and negative aspects. The obvious advantages of imaginal exposure are the relative ease with which it can be conducted and its low costs. There are no special requirements other than a quiet room. However, it is hard to control the actual state of mind of the patient. Concerning in vivo exposure, basically, there are two options. Exposing the subject to the actual feared object or situation, such as a spider in spider phobia, or showing the subject images or movies of the relevant subject. Although the first might evoke the stronger reaction, the procedure has some drawbacks. It is often time consuming, guarantees little control over the environment, and can be costly. A great advantage of movies or pictures, is that it allows to study the responses to visual stimuli in, for example, fMRI paradigms. An alternative that is currently gaining more attention and which can be considered as a third option, is confrontation in a virtual environment.

In the following sections, some striking findings on respiratory symptoms in the different phobias are presented.

4.1 Social Phobia

Some interesting links exist between social phobia and PD (Horwath et al. 1995; Caldirola et al. 1997). From a diagnostic point of view, it can be difficult to distinguish a true unexpected panic attack from a situationally triggered attack in a socially phobic person. Symptomatically, there are many resemblances. The main discriminator are the cognitions of the patient during the attack. Whereas the social phobic will be afraid of the scrutiny and judgment of others, the PD patient will be mainly afraid of dying (suffocation), losing control, or going crazy. Remarkably, there have been some reports that showed increased sensitivity in social phobics for carbon dioxide (Gorman et al. 1990; Papp et al. 1993b; Caldirola et al. 1997). Unfortunately, the specific effect on respiratory symptoms was not addressed. In contrast, Pine et al (2000) subjected children who were diagnosed with social phobia to a 15-min period of 5% carbon dioxide. However, this group consisted of only 10 children.

Public speaking tasks have been validated, in particular the Trier Social Stress Test (Kirschbaum et al. 1993), and activation of the sympathetic nervous system in social phobics during social confrontation has been demonstrated (Gerlach et al. 2003). However, despite the possible link between PD and social phobia and the distinct sympathetic activation during exposure, possible respiratory correlates of this disorder have not been addressed.

4.2 Blood Injury Phobia

Generally, acute anxiety states or, in other words, fear states, are known to be accompanied by sympathetic activation. Blood injury phobia (BIF) presents a bit of a difference in this regard. The vasovagal syncope, or presyncope, that often results from confrontation with the feared stimulus in BIF underlines not only a strong sympathetic response, but it could be related to an abnormal hemodynamic response, possibly not specifically related to the phobia itself (Accurso et al. 2001).

Respiratory symptoms have been addressed in some studies involving persons suffering from BIF. Respiration rate was measured under different circumstances among which were fear related and control movies. Sarlo et al. (2002) did not find a difference in RR between those different conditions. This finding was confirmed by Ritz et al. (2009) who also included a healthy control group. Interestingly, the latter authors included other respiratory parameters in addition to RR in which they did find differences. Specifically, during surgery films, MV and TV were significantly increased in BIF patients. In addition, irregularity of TV showed strong increases and there was a trend towards an increased sigh frequency in the movie condition. Concordantly, reduced pCO_2 levels have been reported by the same group (Ritz et al. 2005, 2009). In conclusion, there seems to be some indication that respiration is affected in BIF, especially during the acute state.

4.3 Other Phobias

The number of possible phobias is more or less endless. Even though the acute phobic response can be accompanied by a strong increase in respiration rate, detailed information on respiratory variables is limited. In a very early study of Prigatano and Johnson (1974), respiration rate and respiration amplitude in 11 spider phobic females was described in response to confrontation with pictures of spiders. No increase in RR was found in spider phobics during picture viewing both compared to a control group and to control slides. There was a trend towards significance with regard to respiration amplitude. Spider phobics showed larger respiratory amplitude in response to spider slides as compared to seaside or surgery slides. Yet, there was no difference in amplitude when phobic subject and controls were compared during the spider condition.

Two other phobias that have been described in literature with regard to respiration are driving and flying phobias. In both studies, respiratory variables were measured during real-life exposure. Wilhelm and Roth (1998) determined several respiratory variables in 14 flight phobics during a 12-min flight. Inspiratory pause showed the best discriminant validity for distinguishing phobics from controls, with phobics demonstrating extended pauses after inspiration of more than 20 s. A group effect was found for duty cycle, an index of inspiratory timing defined as inspiratory time/total breath time. This indicates a more tonic difference between the groups, possibly affected by anticipatory anxiety and differences in recovery. The remaining respiratory variables that were measured, knowing RR, MV, inspiratory flow rate, TV irregularity, did not discriminate between phobics and controls. A second study assessed multiple respiratory variables in 21 females suffering from driving phobia (Alpers et al. 2005). Differences between the control and the phobic group with regard to exposure were found for four different respiratory variables. Phobics showed lower ET pCO₂ during driving, and the effect size for distinguishing groups based on pCO₂ was large. Sigh rate showed a group effect with higher rates in phobics and duty cycle increased from quiet sitting to exposure, which was not the case in the control group. Additionally, respiratory variables related to pCO2 and sighing were determined. Larger variability in TV was present in phobics. Differences in mean RR and TV were not statistically significant.

5 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Studies describing respiratory variables in obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) are rather scarce. Nevertheless, all of the relevant challenge paradigms have been described with the inclusion of respiratory parameters. Patients were studied under three conditions: relaxation, imaginal flooding, and in vivo exposure (Zohar et al. 1989) and during general stress tasks (Hoehn-Saric et al. 1995).

An early study by Zohar et al. (1989) included both RR and pCO₂. In vivo exposure resulted in anxiety ratings and obsessive-compulsive ratings that were

statistically higher than during imaginal exposure, which might lead to the conclusion that imaginal exposure is not as effective in evoking symptoms as real-life exposure. Blood pressure and heart rate were found to be significantly increased in the exposure trials as compared to the relaxation phase, but for both respiratory parameters no such effect was found. Unfortunately, this study included only 10 OCD patients and the variance in respiratory symptoms was rather large. Nevertheless, in contrast to the other physiological symptoms, pCO_2 values were lower during imaginal exposure than during relaxation. Strangely enough, during in vivo exposure, values equaled pCO_2 values obtained from the relaxation phase. Hoehn-Saric et al. (1995) subjected 23 OCD patients to two nonspecific stress tasks: the Divided Attention Task and the Risk Taking task. Physiological measurements included respiratory frequency but no group \times task interaction effect was described for this variable. In this study, a decrease rather than an exaggeration of the physiologic response during psychological stress was described.

6 Generalized Anxiety Disorder

Somewhat more work has been performed on respiratory parameters in GAD. It might not be a coincidence that respiratory variables have received most attention in PD and GAD. In the DSM-II-R, "shortness of breath or smothering sensations" is described as a GAD symptom, whereas in other anxiety disorders other than GAD and PD, distinct descriptions of respiratory symptoms are not explicitly mentioned.

In an early study, Hoehn-Saric et al. (1989) performed a comparable study as described at the OCD section. Twenty female patients suffering from GAD were compared to a matched control group during baseline and during stress tasks. No differences in autonomic activity were reported during baseline. The stress tasks resulted in an increased respiratory frequency in both groups. Although GAD subjects reported increased difficulty in breathing during the tasks, respiratory frequency did not show a significant difference between groups in any of the conditions.

A more extended study (Wilhelm et al. 2001b) measured several respiratory variables during rest, including RR, TV, MV, duty cycle, inspiratory flow rate, ET CO₂, sighs, and apneas. In addition, breath-to-breath variability by Complex Demodulation was assessed as a measure of instability. Fifteen GAD patients were directly compared to PD patients (n = 15) and healthy control subjects (n = 19). Most respiratory variables were increased in PD patients as compared to the control group. GAD patients showed intermediate values, not significantly different from control values on any of the parameters. Duty cycle was significantly increased in GAD patients as compared to PD subjects. Group × time interactions were found for MV and inspiratory flow rate. Remarkably, GAD subjects showed a different response over time. GAD subjects showed a decline, whereas the other two groups slightly increased. The inclusion of variability indices proved valuable. None of the electrodermal or cardiovascular measures showed group effects,

whereas all of the respiratory variables did. This might indicate that respiratory variables are more sensitive indicators of anxiety or that they show better discriminative ability. Both patient groups showed increased variability as compared to controls on RR, TV, MV, and duty cycle. Variability in TV and MV was even larger in PD patients as compared to GAD patients, although the difference in TV disappeared when data was corrected for sighs. Six out of sixteen PD patients panicked during testing, and one GAD patient reported a symptomatic attack. Analyses were reproduced with exclusion of these subjects. As a result, some variables, among which duty cycle, lost significance. Removing these subjects resulted in an increased discriminative ability for pCO₂, for which this parameter became significantly smaller in PD patients as compared to GAD patients as well. In itself, this might seem counterintuitive. One would expect that during a panic attack, hyperventilation is most pronounced, resulting in decreased pCO₂ values. Yet, removing this specific group leaving only 10 PD, results in a significant difference between PD and GAD subjects. This seems to imply that the panicking subjects were responsible for increased variability.

Another direct comparison between PD and GAD patients was performed by Hoehn-Saric et al. (2004). Forty GAD subjects were compared to twenty-six PD patients and twenty-four control subjects during everyday activities. The only direct indication of respiratory functioning was RR. Subjectively, patients reported more difficulty breathing during the 6-h recording than control subjects. In PD subjects, this showed a sixfold increase during times when panic was reported. RR did not differentiate between groups. In addition, no statistically significant effects were found in the analysis of the relationship between RR and difficulty of breathing.

7 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

Only limited information exists on respiratory variables in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). In PTSD, vivid memories or flashbacks can be accompanied by different autonomic symptoms including respiratory symptoms. In addition, increased heart rate and RR following a traumatic event have claimed to be predictors of subsequent PTSD (Bryant et al. 2008). One recent study (Blechert et al. 2007) describes different variables during a 5-min baseline period and during threat of shock in 23 PTSD patients, 26 PD patients, and 32 healthy control subjects. The following respiratory parameters were assessed: RR, TV, MV, duty cycle, sigh frequency, inspiratory flow rate, ET CO₂, and ribcage contribution to TV. Variability of respiratory cycle duration and TV was assessed using complex demodulation (frequency band: 0.004-0.14 Hz). Differences in respiratory variables were only found during baseline. Both patient groups had lower pCO₂ values as compared to control subjects, but this difference reached statistical significance only in the PD group. pCO₂ values in PTSD and PD patients were not statistically different. Additional differences in respiration were reported for sighing and ribcage contribution to TV. PTSD patients, but not PD patients, sighed more than control subjects

during baseline. Furthermore, PTSD patients showed less thoracic and more abdominal breathing than the other groups, indicated by lower ribcage contribution. None of the respiratory variables could discriminate between the diagnostic groups.

Unfortunately, to our knowledge there are no reports on respiratory variables in PTSD in which subjects were subjected to a disorder specific provocation paradigm, such as personalized trauma-related imagery, script-driven imagery method, or just simple exposure to trauma-related cues.

8 Discussion

The obvious abundance of literature on respiratory variables in PD is not remarkable considering the evident links between this physiological system and this specific psychiatric disorder. The frequent occurrence of respiratory symptoms seems relatively specific for PD, although respiratory symptoms have been described in other anxiety disorders as well. This is not surprising in itself, since increased RR is a normal physiological response to fear and anxiety – affective states that are characteristic for any anxiety disorder.

An important role of hyperventilation in PD has been suggested in different theories. Even though it has been shown that hyperventilation is not causally related to the occurrence of panic attacks, hyperventilation might be a phenomenon related to PD. As extensively reviewed by Niccolai et al. (2009), PD patients demonstrate decreased pCO₂ values under normal physiological circumstances and during respiratory challenges. With regard to basal values, different explanations have been suggested. Chronic hyperventilation would obviously explain low pCO₂ levels in PD subjects (Gorman et al. 1986). It has been proposed that chronic hyperventilation serves to maintain low levels of pCO₂ in order to avoid triggering of the CO₂ sensors. According to Klein's suffocation false alarm theory, triggering of these sensors would set off false alarms in these hypersensitive subjects. On the other hand, the great majority of studies do not show increased RR in PD subjects, which would be indicative of hyperventilation. However, chronic hyperventilation can also depend on TV. Increased TV has repeatedly reported in PD patients (Pain et al. 1988; Gorman et al. 1990; Stein et al. 1995; Abelson et al. 1996; Martinez et al. 1996; Papp et al. 1997; Wilhelm et al. 2001b). In other words, this indicates PD patients do not breathe faster, but breathe deeper than unaffected persons. Moreover, using disorder-specific challenges, MV and TV were increased in panicking patients as compared to nonpanicking PD subjects (Gorman et al. 1988). However, this is true for some specific phobias as well (Prigatano and Johnson 1974; Ritz et al. 2009), questioning the specificity of this measure. In contrast to resting conditions, increased RR has been found during panicogenic challenges in PD (Gorman et al. 1988, 2001). To our knowledge, this has not been reported for other anxiety disorders, with the limitation that data on respiratory parameters during disorder-specific challenges is scarce. Before drawing definite conclusions from this, one has to keep in mind that the validity of these indices as diagnostic

tools of chronic hyperventilation is questionable. The ultimate measures of hyperventilation are pCO₂, pH, and bicarbonates (Munjack et al. 1993). These very parameters have been investigated in PD patients by Gorman et al. (1986) using venous blood samples in rest. Mixed chronic and acute respiratory alkalosis was found, both characterized by low pCO₂ values and normal and elevated pH, respectively. In a subsequent study by the same group (Papp et al. 1989), arterial instead of venous pCO₂ was measured. Results were consistent with acute, but not chronic hyperventilation. In concordance, absence of chronic hyperventilation in PD patients was also reported in a more recent study investigating arterial blood gases (Zandbergen et al. 1993).

Clear insight into the issue of chronic hyperventilation may be provided by ambulatory monitoring studies. While experimental respiratory challenges directly influence respiration by provoking alkalosis or acidosis, ambulatory studies measure transcutaneous pCO_2 in a naturalistic setting. Therefore, data from ambulatory studies have greater external validity than those obtained in the laboratory, which, as a stressor-condition, may also influence psychophysiological recordings intrinsically. One study focusing on PD subjects reported no difference in transcutaneous pCO_2 between panic attacks and nonpanic control periods (Garssen et al. 1996). Despite the great value of ambulatory studies, to our knowledge no studies on pCO_2 in PD that included a control group, are available to date, possibly with the exception of one sleep study. During sleep onset, which is likely to be a good reflection of physiological activity at rest, no difference in pCO_2 was found between PD patients and control subjects (Koenigsberg et al. 1994). Even though more research needs to be performed, from the available data we can conclude that there are no clear indications of chronic hyperventilation in PD.

In addition to PD, reduced pCO₂ has been reported in BIF (Ritz et al. 2005) and driving phobia (Alpers et al. 2005) during disorder specific stress. Driving phobia has been associated to PD (Curtis et al. 1989), which could explain overlapping symptom profiles. However, this has been disputed by others (Antony et al. 1997). Lower baseline pCO_2 was found in both PD and in a mixed non-PD anxiety group consisting of mainly OCD patients and social phobics (van den Hout et al. 1992). In addition, Blechert et al. (2007) found decreased baseline pCO₂ values in PTSD patients that were not statistically from values of a group of PD patients. This indicates that decreased pCO₂, indicative of hyperventilation, is not specific for PD. Holt and Andrews (1989) suggested that hyperventilation may be intimately tied to anxious affect. The more anxious patients are, the more likely they are to show reduced pCO₂ levels. Furthermore, an explanation for decreased pCO₂ levels in anxiety disorders in general could be provided by increased levels of anticipatory anxiety. This is especially relevant when baseline values preceding an experimental stress paradigm are considered. Bystritsky et al. (2000) suggested that larger fluctuations in baseline breathing patterns in PD patients compared to controls are likely to reflect anticipatory anxiety. This could also apply to other anxiety disorders. The above seems to suggest that decreased pCO₂ does not constitute a specific trait marker of PD, but might be an indication of the current anxiety level.

In addition to decreased pCO₂ levels, both an increased frequency of sighs and greater sighs has been reported in PD (Schwartz et al. 1996; Abelson et al. 2001; Wilhelm et al. 2001a; Yeragani et al. 2002; Caldirola et al. 2004). It has been suggested that sighing adaptively keeps pCO_2 values below a depressed suffocation alarm threshold (Klein 1993). However, it should be noted that, in one of the studies reporting a higher rate of sighs in PD patients, the sighing pattern did not appear to be stimulated by increased pCO₂ or reduced TV (Wilhelm et al. 2001a). Another possible explanation for the adaptive effect of sighs is that they are efforts to overcome breathlessness (Klein 1993). Abelson et al. (2001) suggested that frequent sighing is a compensatory response in an attempt to reduce the sensation of dyspnea. According to others, it is more specific since sighing would distinguish between patients with chronic anxiety having frequent episodes of dyspnea from patients with various lung diseases (Tobin et al. 1983). However, with regard to the specificity of sighing for PD as compared to other anxiety disorders, some reservations have to be mentioned. A higher frequency of sighs in PD subjects has been reported (Schwartz et al. 1996; Abelson et al. 2001; Wilhelm et al. 2001a; Yeragani et al. 2002; Caldirola et al. 2004). However, increased levels of sighing as compared to control subjects has been reported in BIF (Ritz et al. 2009), driving phobia (Alpers et al. 2005), and PTSD (Blechert et al. 2007) as well, which seemed to be trait dependent and most pronounced for the latter two. In fact, the study in PTSD even showed increased sighing in PTSD as compared to PD subjects during a baseline period. Even though there is only limited data available on sighing in anxiety disorders, this does raise doubt on the specificity of this symptom for PD.

The increased comorbidity with respiratory disorders such as asthma and COPD that is often reported in PD, has also been described in other anxiety disorder but far less pronounced (Brenes 2003; Goodwin et al. 2003; Patten and Williams 2007). The fact that PD and respiratory disorders run in families, points to a shared genetic susceptibility, a trait that has not been reported for other anxiety disorders. This could indicate a specific vulnerability in PD patients related to the respiratory system. As a result, exaggerated fluctuations in biological substrates important for the regulation of respiration may emerge, that do not reach the threshold of conscious awareness. In line with this, increased variability and more chaotic breathing patterns have been described in PD (Wilhelm et al. 2001b; Yeragani et al. 2002; Caldirola et al. 2004). Although increased variability seems to be a promising candidate for a specific marker of panic, it has been reported in other anxiety disorders as well. In GAD, increased variability compared to values in control subjects was reported for RR, TV, MV, and duty cycle during quiet sitting (Wilhelm et al. 2001b). This study included both GAD and PD subjects. Only TV irregularity showed significantly increased values in PD subjects caused by sighing. Another study comparing healthy controls, PTSD and PD subjects during rest and during anticipation of electrical shock describes measures of variability in TV and respiratory cycle duration. No differences between either patient group or controls was described and it was reported that none of the respiratory variables discriminated between diagnostic groups. The only study describing respiratory variability during the active state was performed in driving phobics. A larger
variability in TV was reported in phobics as compared to control subjects during in vivo exposure.

Respiratory output is a physiological signal with complex dynamics that are not easily captured by linear statistics such as mean and standard deviation. A number of studies have, therefore, focused on nonlinear measures of respiration, which are likely to unravel the breath-by-breath complexity of respiratory dynamics. These more sophisticated measures include approximate entropy and other measures of chaos. Some studies have reported greater instability and higher levels of respiratory irregularity and complexity in PD subjects compared to healthy subjects in pCO₂, RR, TV, MV, and/or duty cycle (Wilhelm et al. 2001b; Yeragani et al. 2002; Caldirola et al. 2004).

The suggested inability of PD patients to preserve respiratory homeostasis explains the increased vulnerability of PD patients to specific panicogenic challenges. As stated before, these experimental procedures, in particular CO₂ inhalation, lactate infusion, and cholecystokinin infusion are known to exert a strong influence on respiration (Calverley et al. 1983; Liebowitz et al. 1984; Charney et al. 1985; Griez et al. 1987; Bradwejn et al. 1990). PD patients specifically show a more pronounced response to these challenges than both healthy control subjects and, in many instances, people suffering from other anxiety disorders (Den Boer et al. 1989; Cowley and Arana 1990; Bradwejn et al. 1991; van Megen et al. 1996; Perna et al. 1995; Verburg et al. 1995a). Comparable to other medical conditions, these provocation tests challenge the affected system and magnify subtle aberrations that otherwise may remain undetected. In addition, the fact that PD patients of the respiratory subtype show the most prominent response might point to a relationship between the degree of malfunctioning of the respiratory system and the response to provocation of this system. In fact, even in healthy volunteers the affective response to different dosages of carbon dioxide shows a dose response relationship, which is best predicted by respiratory symptoms (Colasanti et al. 2008).

In conclusion, even though disturbed respiration seems related to PD in many ways, simple, linear, measures of respiration do not discriminate between PD and other anxiety disorders. Since sympathetic activation, including respiratory adaptation, is such a general response to many situations, it should not come as a surprise that other conditions characterized by high anxiety levels show signs of affected respiration as well. Responses to general stress can differ substantially from responses to specific challenges. In PD, respiratory responses to panicogenic challenges have received major attention. Unfortunately, this is not the case for other anxiety disorders. Therefore, it seems too early to draw final conclusions on the specificity of respiratory symptoms with regard to the acute state. A related topic that deserves more attention is recovery. Assuming that PD is characterized by instability of the respiratory system, recovery after strong provocation of this system should be affected. Indeed, investigation of the recovery phase after either doxapram injection or CO₂ inhalation revealed lower pCO₂ and higher RR in PD patients compared to controls (Gorman et al. 1988, 1990; Lee et al. 1993; Abelson et al. 1996; Papp et al. 1997). To our knowledge, there are no reports on respiratory variables during recovery from acute state symptoms in other anxiety disorders.

Moreover, the underlying respiratory vulnerability in PD might not be a stable trait, which calls for more sensitive and sophisticated measures of respiratory variability, such as approximate entropy. Unfortunately, again this has been insufficiently investigated in other anxiety disorders to draw any conclusions.

At this point, there does not seem to be concrete evidence of a specific respiratory marker in PD. In fact, most parameters proved not to be specific. However, there are a few promising candidates left, coming from more sensitive and sophisticated methods that needs to be assessed in other anxiety disorders, preferably during or following disorder specific challenge paradigms.

Acknowledgments The authors wish to thank The Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research. Dr. Van Duinen was granted with a Casimir Grant by this organization which enabled her to perform the current work.

References

- Abelson JL, Nesse RM, Weg JG, Curtis GC (1996) Respiratory psychophysiology and anxiety: cognitive intervention in the doxapram model of panic. Psychosom Med 58:302–313
- Abelson JL, Weg JG, Nesse RM, Curtis GC (2001) Persistent respiratory irregularity in patients with panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 49:588–595
- Accurso V, Winnicki M, Shamsuzzaman AS, Wenzel A, Johnson AK, Somers VK (2001) Predisposition to vasovagal syncope in subjects with blood/injury phobia. Circulation 104:903–907
- Alpers GW, Wilhelm FH, Roth WT (2005) Psychophysiological assessment during exposure in driving phobic patients. J Abnorm Psychol 114:126–139
- Antony MM, Brown TA, Barlow DH (1997) Heterogeneity among specific phobia types in DSM-IV. Behav Res Ther 35:1089–1100
- APA (1994) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC
- Blechert J, Michael T, Grossman P, Lajtman M, Wilhelm FH (2007) Autonomic and respiratory characteristics of posttraumatic stress disorder and panic disorder. Psychosom Med 69:935–943
- Bradwejn J, Koszycki D, Meterissian G (1990) Cholecystokinin-tetrapeptide induces panic attacks in patients with panic disorder. Can J Psychiatry 35:83–85
- Bradwejn J, Koszycki D, Shriqui C (1991) Enhanced sensitivity to cholecystokinin tetrapeptide in panic disorder. Clinical and behavioral findings. Arch Gen Psychiatry 48:603–610
- Brenes GA (2003) Anxiety and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: prevalence, impact, and treatment. Psychosom Med 65:963–970
- Briggs AC, Stretch DD, Brandon S (1993) Subtyping of panic disorder by symptom profile. Br J Psychiatry 163:201–209
- Bryant RA, Creamer M, O'Donnell M, Silove D, McFarlane AC (2008) A multisite study of initial respiration rate and heart rate as predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 69:1694–1701
- Bystritsky A, Shapiro D (1992) Continuous physiological changes and subjective reports in panic patients: a preliminary methodological report. Biol Psychiatry 32:766–777
- Bystritsky A, Craske M, Maidenberg E, Vapnik T, Shapiro D (2000) Autonomic reactivity of panic patients during a CO₂ inhalation procedure. Depress Anxiety 11:15–26
- Caldirola D, Perna G, Arancio C, Bertani A, Bellodi L (1997) The 35% CO₂ challenge test in patients with social phobia. Psychiatry Res 71:41–48

- Caldirola D, Bellodi L, Caumo A, Migliarese G, Perna G (2004) Approximate entropy of respiratory patterns in panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161:79–87
- Calverley PM, Robson RH, Wraith PK, Prescott LF, Flenley DC (1983) The ventilatory effects of doxapram in normal man. Clin Sci (Lond) 65:65–69
- Charney DS, Heninger GR, Jatlow PI (1985) Increased anxiogenic effects of caffeine in panic disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 42:233–243
- Clark DM (1986) A cognitive approach to panic. Behav Res Ther 24:461-470
- Colasanti A, Salamon E, Schruers K, van Diest R, van Duinen M, Griez EJ (2008) Carbon dioxideinduced emotion and respiratory symptoms in healthy volunteers. Neuropsychopharmacology 33(13):3103–3110
- Coryell W, Fyer A, Pine D, Martinez J, Arndt S (2001) Aberrant respiratory sensitivity to CO(2) as a trait of familial panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 49:582–587
- Cowley DS, Arana GW (1990) The diagnostic utility of lactate sensitivity in panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47:277–284
- Curtis GC, Himle JA, Lewis JA, Lee Y (1989) Specific situational phobias: Variant of agoraphobia? In: Uo M (ed) Report to the DSM-IV anxiety disorders work-group. Ann Arbor, MI
- Den Boer JA, Westenberg HG, Klompmakers AA, van Lint LE (1989) Behavioral biochemical and neuroendocrine concomitants of lactate-induced panic anxiety. Biol Psychiatry 26:612–622
- Dudley DL, Martin CJ, Holmes TH (1968) Dyspnea: psychologic and physiologic observations. J Psychosom Res 11:325–339
- Garssen B, Buikhuisen M, van Dyck R (1996) Hyperventilation and panic attacks. Am J Psychiatry 153:513–518
- Gerlach AL, Wilhelm FH, Roth WT (2003) Embarrassment and social phobia: the role of parasympathetic activation. J Anxiety Disord 17:197–210
- Goodwin RD, Jacobi F, Thefeld W (2003) Mental disorders and asthma in the community. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:1125–1130
- Gorman JM, Fyer AJ, Ross DC, Cohen BS, Martinez JM, Liebowitz MR, Klein DF (1985) Normalization of venous pH, pCO₂, and bicarbonate levels after blockade of panic attacks. Psychiatry Res 14:57–65
- Gorman JM, Cohen BS, Liebowitz MR, Fyer AJ, Ross D, Davies SO, Klein DF (1986) Blood gas changes and hypophosphatemia in lactate-induced panic. Arch Gen Psychiatry 43:1067–1071
- Gorman JM, Fyer MR, Goetz R, Askanazi J, Liebowitz MR, Fyer AJ, Kinney J, Klein DF (1988) Ventilatory physiology of patients with panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45:31–39
- Gorman JM, Papp LA, Martinez J, Goetz RR, Hollander E, Liebowitz MR, Jordan F (1990) Highdose carbon dioxide challenge test in anxiety disorder patients. Biol Psychiatry 28:743–757
- Gorman JM, Browne ST, Papp LA, Martinez J, Welkowitz L, Coplan JD, Goetz RR, Kent J, Klein DF (1997) Effect of antipanic treatment on response to carbon dioxide. Biol Psychiatry 42:982–991
- Gorman JM, Kent J, Martinez J, Browne S, Coplan J, Papp LA (2001) Physiological changes during carbon dioxide inhalation in patients with panic disorder, major depression, and premenstrual dysphoric disorder: evidence for a central fear mechanism. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:125–131
- Griez EJ, Lousberg H, van den Hout MA, van der Molen GM (1987) CO₂ vulnerability in panic disorder. Psychiatry Res 20:87–95
- Han JN, Zhu YJ, Li SW, Luo DM, Hu Z, Van Diest I, De Peuter S, Van de Woestijne KP, Van den Bergh O (2004) Medically unexplained dyspnea: psychophysiological characteristics and role of breathing therapy. Chin Med J (Engl) 117:6–13
- Hoehn-Saric R, McLeod DR, Zimmerli WD (1989) Somatic manifestations in women with generalized anxiety disorder. Psychophysiological responses to psychological stress. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:1113–1119
- Hoehn-Saric R, McLeod DR, Hipsley P (1995) Is hyperarousal essential to obsessive-compulsive disorder? Diminished physiologic flexibility, but not hyperarousal, characterizes patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:688–693

- Hoehn-Saric R, McLeod DR, Funderburk F, Kowalski P (2004) Somatic symptoms and physiologic responses in generalized anxiety disorder and panic disorder: an ambulatory monitor study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:913–921
- Holt PE, Andrews G (1989) Hyperventilation and anxiety in panic disorder, social phobia, GAD and normal controls. Behav Res Ther 27:453–460
- Hornsveld H, Garssen B (1996) The low specificity of the hyperventilation provocation test. J Psychosom Res 41:435–449
- Hornsveld H, Garssen B (1997) Hyperventilation syndrome: an elegant but scientifically untenable concept. Neth J Med 50:13–20
- Hornsveld HK, Garssen B, Dop MJ, van Spiegel PI, de Haes JC (1996) Double-blind placebocontrolled study of the hyperventilation provocation test and the validity of the hyperventilation syndrome. Lancet 348:154–158
- Horwath E, Wolk SI, Goldstein RB, Wickramaratne P, Sobin C, Adams P, Lish JD, Weissman MM (1995) Is the comorbidity between social phobia and panic disorder due to familial cotransmission or other factors? Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:574–582
- Karajgi B, Rifkin A, Doddi S, Kolli R (1990) The prevalence of anxiety disorders in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Psychiatry 147:200–201
- Kellner M, Knaudt K, Jahn H, Holsboer F, Wiedemann K (1998) Atrial natriuretic hormone in lactate-induced panic attacks: mode of release and endocrine and pathophysiological consequences. J Psychiatr Res 32:37–48
- Kirschbaum C, Pirke KM, Hellhammer DH (1993) The 'Trier Social Stress Test' a tool for investigating psychobiological stress responses in a laboratory setting. Neuropsychobiology 28:76–81
- Klein DF (1993) False suffocation alarms, spontaneous panics, and related conditions. An integrative hypothesis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50:306–317
- Koenigsberg HW, Pollak CP, Fine J, Kakuma T (1994) Cardiac and respiratory activity in panic disorder: effects of sleep and sleep lactate infusions. Am J Psychiatry 151:1148–1152
- Lee YJ, Curtis GC, Weg JG, Abelson JL, Modell JG, Campbell KM (1993) Panic attacks induced by doxapram. Biol Psychiatry 33:295–297
- Ley R (1985) Agoraphobia, the panic attack and the hyperventilation syndrome. Behav Res Ther $23{:}79{-}81$
- Liebowitz MR, Fyer AJ, Gorman JM, Dillon D, Appleby IL, Levy G, Anderson S, Levitt M, Palij M, Davies SO et al (1984) Lactate provocation of panic attacks. I. Clinical and behavioral findings. Arch Gen Psychiatry 41:764–770
- Liebowitz MR, Gorman JM, Fyer AJ, Levitt M, Dillon D, Levy G, Appleby IL, Anderson S, Palij M, Davies SO, Klein DF (1985) Lactate provocation of panic attacks. II. Biochemical and physiological findings. Arch Gen Psychiatry 42:709–719
- Maddock RJ, Carter CS (1991) Hyperventilation-induced panic attacks in panic disorder with agoraphobia. Biol Psychiatry 29:843–854
- Martinez JM, Papp LA, Coplan JD, Anderson DE, Mueller CM, Klein DF, Gorman JM (1996) Ambulatory monitoring of respiration in anxiety. Anxiety 2:296–302
- Martinez JM, Kent JM, Coplan JD, Browne ST, Papp LA, Sullivan GM, Kleber M, Perepletchikova F, Fyer AJ, Klein DF, Gorman JM (2001) Respiratory variability in panic disorder. Depress Anxiety 14:232–237
- Munjack DJ, Brown RA, McDowell DE (1993) Existence of hyperventilation in panic disorder with and without agoraphobia, GAD, and normals: Implications for the cognitive theory of panic. J Anxiety Disord 7:37–48
- Nardi AE, Valenca AM, Mezzasalma MA, Lopes FL, Nascimento I, Veras AB, Freire RC, de-Melo-Neto VL, Zin WA (2006) 35% Carbon dioxide and breath-holding challenge tests in panic disorder: a comparison with spontaneous panic attacks. Depress Anxiety 23: 236–244
- Nascimento I, Nardi AE, Valenca AM, Lopes FL, Mezzasalma MA, Nascentes R, Zin WA (2002) Psychiatric disorders in asthmatic outpatients. Psychiatry Res 110:73–80

- Niccolai V, van Duinen MA, Griez EJ (2008) Objective and subjective measures in recovery from a 35% carbon dioxide challenge. Can J Psychiatry 53:737–744
- Niccolai V, Van Duinen MA, Griez EJL (2009) Respiratory patterns in panic disorder reviewed: a focus on biological challenge tests. Acta Psychiatr Scand 120(3):167–177
- Pain MC, Biddle N, Tiller JW (1988) Panic disorder, the ventilatory response to carbon dioxide and respiratory variables. Psychosom Med 50:541–548
- Papp LA, Martinez JM, Klein DF, Ross D, Liebowitz MR, Fyer AJ, Hollander E, Gorman JM (1989) Arterial blood gas changes in panic disorder and lactate-induced panic. Psychiatry Res 28:171–180
- Papp LA, Klein DF, Gorman JM (1993a) Carbon dioxide hypersensitivity, hyperventilation, and panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 150:1149–1157
- Papp LA, Klein DF, Martinez J, Schneier F, Cole R, Liebowitz MR, Hollander E, Fyer AJ, Jordan F, Gorman JM (1993b) Diagnostic and substance specificity of carbon-dioxide-induced panic. Am J Psychiatry 150:250–257
- Papp LA, Martinez JM, Klein DF, Coplan JD, Norman RG, Cole R, de Jesus MJ, Ross D, Goetz R, Gorman JM (1997) Respiratory psychophysiology of panic disorder: three respiratory challenges in 98 subjects. Am J Psychiatry 154:1557–1565
- Patten SB, Williams JV (2007) Chronic obstructive lung diseases and prevalence of mood, anxiety, and substance-use disorders in a large population sample. Psychosomatics 48:496–501
- Perna G, Bertani A, Arancio C, Ronchi P, Bellodi L (1995) Laboratory response of patients with panic and obsessive-compulsive disorders to 35% CO₂ challenges. Am J Psychiatry 152:85–89
- Perna G, Bertani A, Politi E, Colombo G, Bellodi L (1997) Asthma and panic attacks. Biol Psychiatry 42:625–630
- Perna G, Caldirola D, Bellodi L (2004) Panic disorder: from respiration to the homeostatic brain. Acta Neuropsychiatr 16:57–67
- Pine DS, Klein RG, Coplan JD, Papp LA, Hoven CW, Martinez J, Kovalenko P, Mandell DJ, Moreau D, Klein DF, Gorman JM (2000) Differential carbon dioxide sensitivity in childhood anxiety disorders and nonill comparison group. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57:960–967
- Ponto LL, Kathol RG, Kettelkamp R, Watkins GL, Richmond JC, Clark J, Hichwa RD (2002) Global cerebral blood flow after CO₂ inhalation in normal subjects and patients with panic disorder determined with [150]water and PET. J Anxiety Disord 16:247–258
- Potoczek A (2005) Difficult asthma, stress and panic disorder. Psychiatr Pol 39:51-66
- Prigatano GP, Johnson HJ (1974) Autonomic nervous system changes associated with a spider phobic reaction. J Abnorm Psychol 83:169–177
- Rapee RM, Brown TA, Antony MM, Barlow DH (1992a) Response to hyperventilation and inhalation of 5.5% carbon dioxide-enriched air across the DSM-III-R anxiety disorders. J Abnorm Psychol 101:538–552
- Rapee RM, Sanderson WC, McCauley PA, Di Nardo PA (1992b) Differences in reported symptom profile between panic disorder and other DSM-III-R anxiety disorders. Behav Res Ther 30:45–52
- Ritz T, Wilhelm FH, Gerlach AL, Kullowatz A, Roth WT (2005) End-tidal pCO₂ in blood phobics during viewing of emotion- and disease-related films. Psychosom Med 67:661–668
- Ritz T, Wilhelm FH, Meuret AE, Gerlach AL, Roth WT (2009) Do blood phobia patients hyperventilate during exposure by breathing faster, deeper, or both? Depress Anxiety 26: E60–67
- Sarlo M, Palomba D, Angrilli A, Stegagno L (2002) Blood phobia and spider phobia: two specific phobias with different autonomic cardiac modulations. Biol Psychol 60:91–108
- Schwartz GE, Goetz RR, Klein DF, Endicott J, Gorman JM (1996) Tidal volume of respiration and "sighing" as indicators of breathing irregularities in panic disorder patients. Anxiety 2:145–148
- Stein MB, Millar TW, Larsen DK, Kryger MH (1995) Irregular breathing during sleep in patients with panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 152:1168–1173

- Tobin MJ, Chadha TS, Jenouri G, Birch SJ, Gazeroglu HB, Sackner MA (1983) Breathing patterns. 2. Diseased subjects. Chest 84:286–294
- Valenca AM, Nardi AE, Nascimento I, Zin WA, Versiani M (2002) Respiratory panic disorder subtype and sensitivity to the carbon dioxide challenge test. Braz J Med Biol Res 35:783–788
- van Beek N, Schruers KR, Griez EJ (2005) Prevalence of respiratory disorders in first-degree relatives of panic disorder patients. J Affect Disord 87:337–340
- van den Hout MA, Griez E (1985) Peripheral panic symptoms occur during changes in alveolar carbon dioxide. Compr Psychiatry 26:381–387
- van den Hout MA, Hoekstra R, Arntz A, Christiaanse M, Ranschaert W, Schouten E (1992) Hyperventilation is not diagnostically specific to panic patients. Psychosom Med 54:182–191
- van Megen HJ, Westenberg HG, Den Boer JA, Kahn RS (1996) The panic-inducing properties of the cholecystokinin tetrapeptide CCK4 in patients with panic disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 6:187–194
- Verburg K, Griez E, Meijer J, Pols H (1995a) Discrimination between panic disorder and generalized anxiety disorder by 35% carbon dioxide challenge. Am J Psychiatry 152:1081– 1083
- Verburg K, Griez E, Meijer J, Pols H (1995b) Respiratory disorders as a possible predisposing factor for panic disorder. J Affect Disord 33:129–134
- Wilhelm FH, Roth WT (1998) Taking the laboratory to the skies: ambulatory assessment of selfreport, autonomic, and respiratory responses in flying phobia. Psychophysiology 35:596–606
- Wilhelm FH, Trabert W, Roth WT (2001a) Characteristics of sighing in panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 49:606–614
- Wilhelm FH, Trabert W, Roth WT (2001b) Physiologic instability in panic disorder and generalized anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 49:596–605
- Yeragani VK, Radhakrishna RK, Tancer M, Uhde T (2002) Nonlinear measures of respiration: respiratory irregularity and increased chaos of respiration in patients with panic disorder. Neuropsychobiology 46:111–120
- Zandbergen J, Bright M, Pols H, Fernandez I, de Loof C, Griez EJ (1991) Higher lifetime prevalence of respiratory diseases in panic disorder? Am J Psychiatry 148:1583–1585
- Zandbergen J, van Aalst V, de Loof C, Pols H, Griez E (1993) No chronic hyperventilation in panic disorder patients. Psychiatry Res 47:1–6
- Zohar J, Insel TR, Berman KF, Foa EB, Hill JL, Weinberger DR (1989) Anxiety and cerebral blood flow during behavioral challenge. Dissociation of central from peripheral and subjective measures. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:505–510

Functional Neuroanatomy of Anxiety: A Neural Circuit Perspective

Amit Etkin

Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Neural Circuitry of Anxiety-Relevant Negative Emotion:		
		Reactivity and Regulation	253	
	1.2	Core Limbic System	253	
	1.3	Medial PFC	256	
	1.4	Explicit and Implicit Emotion Regulation	259	
	1.5	Hippocampus	261	
	1.6	Summary	261	
	1.7	Negative Emotional Processing in Anxiety Disorders:		
		A Meta-Analytic Framework	262	
	1.8	Generalization of Anxiety Beyond Disorder-Related Material:		
		PTSD and Specific Phobia	265	
2	Generalized Anxiety Disorder			
3	Panic Disorder			
4	Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder			
5	Treatment Studies			
6	Conclusion			
Re	ferend	ces	272	

Abstract Anxiety is a commonly experienced subjective state that can have both adaptive and maladaptive properties. Clinical disorders of anxiety are likewise also common, and range widely in their symptomatology and consequences for the individual. Cognitive neuroscience has provided an increasingly sophisticated understanding of the processes underlying normal human emotion, and its disruption or dysregulation in clinical anxiety disorders. In this chapter, I review functional neuroimaging studies of emotion in healthy and anxiety-disordered populations.

A. Etkin

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Stanford University School of Medicine, 401 Quarry Road, Stanford, CA 94305, USA

e-mail: amitetkin@stanford.edu

M.B. Stein and T. Steckler (eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment*, 251 Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 2, DOI 10.1007/7854_2009_5,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 3 September 2009

A limbic-medial prefrontal circuit is emphasized and an information processing model is proposed for the processing of negative emotion. Data on negative emotion processing in a variety of anxiety disorders are presented and integrated within an understanding of the functions of elements within the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit. These data suggest that anxiety disorders may be usefully conceptualized as differentially affecting emotional reactivity and regulatory processes – functions that involve different neurobiological mechanisms. While the neural bases of several anxiety disorders are increasingly better understood, advances have lagged significantly behind in others. Nonetheless, the conceptual framework provided by convergent findings in studies of emotional processing in normative and anxiety-disordered populations promises to yield continued insights and nuances, and will likely provide useful information in the search for etiology and novel treatments.

Keywords Amygdala · Anterior cingulate · Anxiety · Circuit · Dorsomedial prefrontal · Emotion · Emotion regulation · Fear · GAD · Generalized anxiety disorder · Hippocampus · Hypothalamus · Insula · Limbic system · Medial prefrontal · Metaanalysis · Obsessive-compulsive disorder · OCD · Panic disorder · Periaqueductal gray · Posttraumatic stress disorder · PTSD · Social anxiety disorder · Social phobia · Specific phobia · Ventromedial prefrontal

1 Introduction

"Anxiety" describes a wide range of subjective, often unpleasant, sensations that likewise reflect responses to a wide range of inciting events or stimuli. Anxiety can be part of a contextually appropriate and adaptive response, as it alerts an organism to salient events in its environment or internal milieu. Anxiety, however, can also be triggered to an inappropriate degree or at inappropriate times, and when prolonged, severe enough, and disruptive to the individual, is then considered a clinical disorder of anxiety. In this chapter I will review the neural basis of anxiety in healthy and clinical populations, with primary focus on functional neuroimaging studies in humans. The goal of this chapter is not to provide a comprehensive review of all such studies, but rather to provide a coherent understanding of the functional neuroanatomy of anxiety in its various manifestations from a neural circuit perspective, through a selective review of the literature. While there are many ways in which to describe, categorize and compare mental states or psychiatric disorders, I have chosen to focus on a cognitive neuroscience approach, as this literature is sufficiently broad, both in healthy subjects and in those with anxiety disorders, to fuel a substantive discussion. Ultimately, however, the fullest view of anxiety will require simultaneous integration across multiple levels of investigation.

Fear and avoidance of trigger cues are common to many anxiety disorders (APA 1994) and resemble the arousal and avoidance responses shown by normal subjects to conditioned fear cues (Grillon 2002). Thus, a common element of anxiety

disorders may be an abnormally elevated fear response. Furthermore, some anxiety disorders appear to involve a more generalized dysregulation of negative affect, suggesting that a rich explanatory model of anxiety also has to take these factors into consideration. In order to understand the neurobiology of anxiety, we must therefore first elaborate on the neural circuitry underlying the normal response to negative emotional stimuli and the regulation of their effects. This broad field of study has seen a dramatic expansion over the last decade, attributable largely to a proliferation of functional neuroimaging methods, and very usefully informs interpretation of alterations in this circuitry in patients with anxiety disorders.

Moreover, though anxiety can be seen as a shared overriding category for diverse clinical situations, the attractiveness of that concept belies the complexity of clinical presentations and neural bases of anxiety disorders. I will explore both shared and disorder-specific features of anxiety disorders, and through that suggest a different way of understanding the neural basis of anxiety. Finally, I will review emerging knowledge on neurobiological changes associated with, or prognostic of, treatment-related improvement of symptoms in patients with anxiety disorders.

1.1 Neural Circuitry of Anxiety-Relevant Negative Emotion: Reactivity and Regulation

Human and animal studies of the processing of negative emotions, such as fear, have implicated a large number of cortical and subcortical areas, and these have been quantitatively summarized by a number of meta-analytic surveys of the literature (Kober et al. 2008; Phan et al. 2002; Wager et al. 2003). A simplified information-flow conceptual model of some of the regions and their functional interactions is shown in Fig. 1, and the details are given in the sections below. Central to a neural circuit of negative emotion are a set of core limbic structures, which include the amygdala and insula, as well as interconnected structures such as the periaqueductal gray (PAG) and hypothalamus. These regions interact with a number of cortical areas, amongst which are several medial prefrontal subregions. Finally, the processing of emotion modulates other cognitive systems involved in perception, motor planning, and memory.

1.2 Core Limbic System

The amygdala is a complex structure and is composed of multiple subnuclei, each with its own distinct pattern of afferent and efferent projections. Our understanding of the organization of the amygdala is derived largely from animal work investigating the functions of subnuclei within the amygdala, and the distinct brain networks that they take part in. Of particular interest for anxiety are the basolateral complex



Fig. 1 A limbic-medial prefrontal circuit view of negative emotional processing. Relevant structures are separated into three functional groups. A core limbic group includes the amygdala, insula, as well as subcortical areas like the hypothalamus and periaqueductal gray (not depicted on this figure). These regions register emotional stimuli and initiate coordinated species-specific physiological and behavioral responses to them. A second group includes dorsal medial prefrontal structures including the dorsal anterior cingulate (dACC) and dorsomedial prefrontal cortex (dmPFC), and is involved in more extensive evaluation of emotion and may gate its access into conscious awareness. Finally, a third region, which includes the rostral and subgenual anterior cingulate (rACC, sgACC), and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC), is involved in contextually appropriate regulation of emotion and core limbic processing. The processing of an emotional stimulus may lead to modulation of regions important in other cognitive functions (e.g., perception, motor planning, and memory) by core limbic regions. Additionally, lateral prefrontal (LPFC) executive regions may engage medial prefrontal emotion processing circuitry to aid in deliberate regulation of emotion

(BLA, a composite of the functionally related basal, lateral, and accessory basal nuclei) and the central nucleus, which is part of the centromedial amygdala (CMA) (Heimer et al. 1999). The BLA is the primary input site in the amygdala, receiving sensory information from the thalamic nuclei and sensory association cortices (Amaral et al. 1992), and also provides the majority of the thalamic and cortical projections from the amygdala. By contrast, the central nucleus is an output region that projects to the brain stem, hypothalamic and basal forebrain targets (Paxinos 2003), and is located dorsal to the BLA (Mai et al. 1997). In rodents, the basolateral amygdala encodes the threat value of a stimulus, while the central nucleus is essential for the basic species-specific defensive responses associated with fear (Davis and Whalen 2001).

Central to the circuit outlined above are anatomical connectivity findings in rodents and nonhuman primates, which differentiate the largely cortical connectivity pattern of the BLA from the largely subcortical connectivity pattern of the central nucleus or CMA (Amaral et al. 1992; Pitkanen 2000; Price et al. 1987). The anatomical connectivity of human amygdalar nuclei, however, is currently unknown. We recently examined the differential connectivity patterns of these amygdalar subregions in healthy subjects and patients with GAD to investigate the functional brain networks in which the amygdalar subregions (Etkin et al. 2009). Indeed, we found that the two key subregions of the amygdala can be dissociated using conventional human fMRI data, and that their patterns of connectivity closely matches those found in anatomical tract-tracing studies in nonhuman primates.

The human amygdala is activated by negatively valenced emotional stimuli (Phan et al. 2002; Wager et al. 2003). Lesions of the amygdala are associated with an inability to accurately label fearful facial expressions (Adolphs et al. 1994), and an inability to encode fear-based memories (Bechara et al. 1995). Invasive stimulation of the human amygdala with microelectrodes produces subjective reports of fear and anxiety (Lanteaume et al. 2007). Beyond its activation by negative emotional stimuli, the amygdala also responds to anxiety-provoking environmental cues that are themselves neutral in valence. Herry et al. (2007) compared the effects of predictable and unpredictable sequences of neutral tones in mice and humans and found that amygdala activation was increased in both species in response to the unpredictable sequence. Unpredictable tone sequences were also associated with increased anxiety-related behavior in mice and an attentional bias in response to emotional facial expressions in humans.

Activation of the amygdala can even occur in response to emotional stimuli processed outside of awareness, or under very limited attentional resources. We have found, for example, that activation in a region consistent with the basolateral amygdala to unconsciously presented fearful faces can be detected in healthy volunteers in a manner that varies with their baseline anxiety, such that activation is greatest for the most anxious subjects (Etkin et al. 2004). Along with amygdala activation, we found that individual differences in baseline anxiety predicted subjects' performance in a concomitant cognitive task. Others have found a similar relationship between amygdala activity and anxiety when evaluating the emotional content of fearful faces in the context of limited attentional resources (Bishop et al. 2004). The amygdala, therefore, plays an important role in both the subjective and attentional-vigilance aspects of threat processing, and thus abnormalities in this system may be associated with hyperarousal and hypervigilance to threat in anxiety disorders. Moreover, these data also suggest that there may be a conceptual overlap between amygdala activation observed in response to negative emotional stimuli presented outside of awareness, which cannot therefore be extensively consciously evaluated, and amygdala activation by anxiety-producing unpredictable or ambiguous stimuli. This is particularly important, since many anxiety disorders are associated with intolerance of uncertainty or ambiguity (Boelen and Reijntjes 2008;

Grillon et al. 2008; Holaway et al. 2006) and negative interpretations of ambiguous material (Bishop 2007; Eysenck et al. 1991).

The insula, another of the core limbic regions, is heavily interconnected with the amygdala, hypothalamus, and PAG matter (Paxinos 2003). The insula regulates the autonomic nervous system (Oppenheimer et al. 1992), and like the amygdala is activated during the processing of a variety of negative emotions (Phan et al. 2002). Though the insula has received less intense study than the amygdala in the context of negative emotional processing, its important role is suggested by its more frequent association with activation in the amygdala than with activation in other cortical regions, thereby suggesting a high degree of functional similarity to the amygdala (Kober et al. 2008). Studies have found, for example, that the insula plays a particularly important role in the monitoring and interpretation of internal physical sensations. Its activation during a task in which subjects have to attend to their heartbeats, for example, was greater in individuals with greater interoceptive sensitivity and in those with higher levels of anxiety (Critchley et al. 2004). Similar to what has been noted for the amygdala, insular activation is greater in negative facial expression (e.g., disgust) than neutral expressions even in the context of limited attentional resources (Anderson et al. 2003).

The importance of both the amygdala and insula in anxiety-relevant negative emotion processes was investigated in a recent meta-analysis of human fear conditioning experiments (Etkin and Wager 2007). Current influential models of anxiety draw heavily on human and animal work on experimentally induced conditioned fear states, and enough of these studies have now been undertaken to allow for a quantitative meta-analysis of the results. Etkin and Wager examined ten wellcontrolled fear conditioning studies and found that consistent activation was seen, as predicted, in both the amygdala and insula, confirming a role for both of these regions in anxiety-relevant emotional processing. Finally, the PAG and hypothalamus are involved in the regulation of the autonomic nervous system, as well as characteristic species-specific motor response patterns, suggesting an important role for these regions in anxiety as well. Though the PAG and hypothalamus have not been the focus of studies on clinical anxiety, they likely play an important role by virtue of their normal functions in responses to negative emotional stimuli.

1.3 Medial PFC

Consistent cortical activations to emotional stimulation are found throughout the medial wall of the PFC, including the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), as well as in parts of the lateral PFC. In the largest and most recent meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of emotion, Kober et al. (2008) used multivariate clustering methods to discriminate between groups of coactivated regions. This data-driven approach identified two distinct medial prefrontal groups of activation clusters. The first group consisted of the presupplemental motor area in the posterior medial PFC, and was associated with coactivation in several lateral PFC structures. This pattern

of coactivation suggests that this group, labeled by the authors as "cognitive/motor" in function, is likely to reflect attentional or executive processes involved in emotion, but not specific to it. The second group was more anterior and consisted of the dorsal ACC, overlying regions of the dmPFC, and extended into the rostral (pregenual) ACC and portions of the subgenual ACC (together labeled the "medial prefrontal" group). Regions within this group consistently coactivated with the amygdala and PAG, suggesting an important role in emotion. Interestingly, the ventromedial PFC (including the medial orbitofrontal cortex), another region commonly implicated in the processing of emotion, did not appear in this meta-analysis. There may have been various reasons for this, including the frequent loss of signal in this region due to magnetic susceptibility artifacts in functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies, or the limited contexts in which it is activated during emotion processing (e.g., only when certain types of emotion regulation are engaged, see below).

It has, however, become increasingly apparent that the large area of activation in the "medial prefrontal" group, along with the ventromedial PFC, can be functionally divided into meaningful subregions, though the precise roles of these subregions are not fully clear. One influential view, derived from studies of the ACC, holds that the dorsal regions are "cognitive" in function, in part through their connectivity with "cognitive" regions in the lateral PFC involved in cognition and executive functioning. Ventral regions, meanwhile, are argued to be "affective" in nature (Bush et al. 2000), in part through their connectivity with core limbic structures such as the amygdala. The meta-analysis results above, however, argue against this view, as both dorsal and ventral medial prefrontal regions appear to be similarly engaged in emotion processing. Indeed, while cognitive (i.e., nonemotional) processing appears to engage the dorsal more than the ventral regions of the medial PFC and ACC (Ridderinkhof et al. 2004), affective processing appears to be more widespread. Consistent activation is seen in the dorsal ACC, for example, during fear conditioning (Etkin and Wager 2007). An informative alternative view comes from studies of evaluation and regulation of emotion.

Converging work suggests that the dorsal ACC and overlying dorsomedial PFC are involved in appraising and monitoring emotion, and may be important for the conscious subjective experience of emotion. Kalisch et al. (2006a) induced anxiety in healthy volunteers by signaling that they may receive a shock and found that increased anxiety was associated with activation of the dorsomedial PFC. If subjects, however, also simultaneously carried out a challenging working memory test, activation in the dorsomedial PFC diminished, likely reflecting the role of this structure in higher level emotional appraisal, which can be interrupted when attentional load was high enough. Consistent with this, another recent meta-analysis found that dorsomedial PFC activation was more commonly noted in studies in which subjects were induced to experience emotion, rather than just perceiving it (e.g., through judgments about attributes of an image) (Wager et al. 2008).

Etkin et al. (2006) recently developed an emotional analog to the color-word Stroop task to test how individuals respond to and regulate the impact of emotional conflict. They showed subjects images of fearful or happy facial expressions and asked them to identify the affect. Written across the faces were the words "fear" or "happy," which were either of the same affect (congruent) or of a different affect (incongruent) as the facial expression. As in the color-word Stroop task, subjects were to ignore the text but were unable to avoid involuntarily reading the word and extracting its meaning. The emotional meaning of the words thus led to direct conflict with interpretation of the facial affect. As a result, incongruent stimuli interfered with affect identification, and were associated with dorsomedial PFC activation.

During conflict tasks, however, the degree of behavioral interference by an incongruent trial varies in a predictable manner based on previous trial history. It has been found that there is less reaction time interference (i.e., less conflict) for incongruent trials if they are preceded by an incongruent trial than if they are preceded by a congruent trial - a phenomenon termed conflict adaptation (Botvinick et al. 1999; Egner and Hirsch 2005a, b; Gratton et al. 1992; Kerns et al. 2004). These findings suggest that the conflict generated by an immediately prior incongruent trial activates a regulatory mechanism, which leads to improved handling of conflict on the next trial (Botvinick et al. 2001). Incongruent trials can thus be separated depending on whether they are associated with high conflict regulation and consequently less conflict (an incongruent trial preceded by an incongruent trial) or low conflict regulation and thus more conflict (an incongruent trial preceded by a congruent trial). Neural activity in regions responsible for either generating or monitoring conflict should reflect the amount of behavioral conflict, resulting in higher activity for low conflict regulation than for high conflict regulation trials in these regions (i.e., low>high conflict regulation trials). By contrast, for brain regions implicated in conflict resolution, reduced conflict should be associated with increased neural activity (i.e., high>low conflict regulation trials).

Activation in the dorsomedial PFC decreased during high conflict regulation trials, confirming a role for this region in the monitoring and evaluation of negative emotion. Interestingly, a follow-up study, which compared the emotional conflict paradigm above to a matched nonemotional conflict task, found that activation in the nearby dorsal ACC was common to the monitoring or evaluation of both emotional and nonemotional conflict (Egner et al. 2008), suggesting that aspects of dorsomedial PFC function in emotion may be part of a greater role for this region in monitoring ongoing processing demands for the purpose of recruiting context-appropriate control processes. Along these lines, activation of the dorsomedial PFC or dorsal ACC is seen during interpretation of affective ambiguity (Simmons et al. 2006), and is similarly also engaged during interpretation of nonemotional ambiguity.

More ventral portions of the ACC however, show a different pattern of activation from the dorsomedial PFC and dorsal ACC, suggesting that while they may be part of the "medial prefrontal" group in the Kober et al. meta-analysis (Kober et al. 2008), they can be functionally dissociated from the more dorsal structures. Activation of the rostral ACC was associated with regulation of emotional conflict in the task of Etkin et al. 2006, described above. Activation of the rostral ACC was also accompanied by a simultaneous and correlated reduction in amygdala activity. These results are consistent with a recent study of the extinction of conditioned fear responses, in which subjects evaluate and override expectations for aversive stimuli. Fear extinction involved increased activity in the rostral and subgenual ACC, and the ventromedial PFC, along with decreased activity in the amygdala (Phelps et al. 2004). Likewise, rostral ACC activation has also been observed during placebo anxiety reduction, a process in which control over an emotional stimulus (an aversive picture) is recruited to diminish the effect of the emotional stimulus (Petrovic et al. 2005). These data suggest that the ventromedial PFC and rostral/subgenual portions of the ACC may have an important role in the regulation of emotion, which is different from the evaluation and monitoring role of the dorsomedial PFC and dorsal ACC.

Beyond functionally differentiating between core limbic and medial prefrontal subregions, evidence indicates that these regions communicate with each other in a coherent and meaningful way. Emotional evaluation by the dorsomedial PFC and dorsal ACC is mediated through direct projections from core limbic regions (Ghashghaei et al. 2007) and indirectly through limbic-ventromedial prefrontal projections (Stein et al. 2007). Emotion generation or evaluation signals are in turn able to recruit emotional control processes. Emotional conflict-related activation during incongruent trials in the amygdala and dorsomedial PFC, for example, predicted conflict regulation-related activation in the rostral ACC on subsequent trials (Etkin et al. 2006). Activation by ventral ACC and ventromedial PFC regions in turn modulated activity in areas such as the amygdala, which are involved in generating aspects of the emotional response of the individual. This model of emotional reactivity and regulation is consistent as well with studies in the likely rodent homologs of these areas, which suggest that amygdala activity can be dampened by stimulation of the medial PFC due to activation of top-down inhibitory projections from the medial PFC to the amygdala (Quirk et al. 2003). Moreover, lesions of the medial PFC in rodents impair extinction of conditioned fear, leading to persistent fear responses in the absence of an aversive stimulus (Morgan et al. 1993). Drawing on the data presented above, Fig. 1 summarizes the flow of information processed within the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit.

1.4 Explicit and Implicit Emotion Regulation

Where do these data fit into the current understanding of emotion regulation circuitry? Gross (Gross 2002) has proposed a framework for classifying different emotion regulation strategies. One important distinction is between "antecedent-focused" strategies, which aim to alter emotional responses before they begin, and "responsefocused" strategies, which suppress the expression of emotion. Antecedent-focused strategies include willful detachment, distraction, and cognitive reappraisal; response-focused strategies include voluntary suppression of positive or negative emotional reactions. Orthogonal with this framework is the idea that a given emotion regulation strategy may be "deliberate," requiring conscious top-down intentionality, or may be "implicit," engaging top-down regulation of emotional processes without requiring conscious intentionality.

Several recent neuroimaging studies of the neural circuitry associated with deliberate efforts at emotion regulation (Beauregard et al. 2001; Kalisch et al. 2005; Kalisch et al. 2006b; Levesque et al. 2003; Ochsner et al. 2004) found that deliberate emotion regulation involves consistent activation of the dorsolateral PFC, an area associated with top-down cognitive control, regardless of whether an antecedent-focused or a response-focused strategy was being employed. These findings suggest that some of the same regulatory circuitry is involved in the cognitive control of emotion as in nonemotional forms of cognitive control. Consistent with this view, adaptation to nonemotional conflict, even if in the context of task-irrelevant emotional stimuli, involves activation of lateral prefrontal control mechanisms (Egner et al. 2008). This pattern of activation was dissociable from the one described above in which rostral/ventral ACC activation was associated with the regulation of emotional conflict, and dampening of amygdalar reactivity (Egner et al. 2008). Thus, it appears that the role in emotion regulation of the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit described above and depicted in Fig. 1 is different from the role of the dorsolateral PFC in deliberate, instructed forms of emotion regulation.

Insight about the nature of emotion regulation by the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit is suggested by the details of the tasks which trigger it, none of which involved a deliberate instruction to regulate emotion. It is highly unlikely, for example, that subjects in the emotional conflict task of Etkin et al. 2006 were aware of the effect of previous trial emotional incongruence on their response to an emotionally incongruent stimulus on the current trial. Thus, emotion regulation by the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit may represent an implicit and reflexive form of emotion regulation, dissociable both psychologically and neurobiologically from explicit and instructed strategies for emotion regulation. Thus, implicit emotional stimuli, which may operate outside of their awareness, and be independent of an explicit goal of emotion regulation. This view would therefore predict that abnormalities in the circuitry mediating implicit emotional regulation may be demonstrated in psychiatric disorders with prominent emotional dysregulation, but in which no concurrent dorsolateral PFC deficits are observed.

Though the circuit in Fig. 1 describes the limbic-medial PFC circuit as recurrent, or feedback, in nature, it is likely that it is not entirely inhibitory with respect to effects on emotion generating limbic structures. In fact, there may be instances when increasing negative emotion, through positive ventral frontal-limbic interactions, is more contextually appropriate than decreasing it. One such example is a recent study in which subjects played a video game in which they were chased, and if captured would receive a shock to their hand (Mobbs et al. 2007). When the threat was relatively distal, it would seem appropriate to activate and enhance fear or threat responses in order to better shape behavior to avoid the threat. Consistent with this idea, this phase of the chase was associated with coactivation of the ventromedial PFC and basolateral region of the amygdala. Increased confidence of escape was associated with increased ventromedial PFC activation. By contrast,

when threat was near and defensive responses might be hypothesized to take precedence over fear-motivated avoidance responses, activation shifted to the dorsal region of the amygdala, where the central nucleus is located, and the PAG, an important brainstem target of the central nucleus. Likewise, engaging in contextually appropriate negative emotion-relevant behavior (shooting an aggressive assailant or healing a wounded bystander) resulted in greater activity in the ventromedial PFC, amygdala, and insula than matched contextually inappropriate behavior (shooting the bystander or healing the assailant)(King et al. 2006).

1.5 Hippocampus

Though the hippocampus is not commonly considered to be a central region in human emotional processing, apart from the relevance of its mnemonic role in emotional modulation of memory, a growing body of animal work implicates it in anxiety, and is thus worth a brief discussion. Studies in rodents differentiate between the function of the dorsal hippocampus, which is primarily involved with memory and other cognitive functions, and the function of the ventral hippocampus. Unlike the dorsal hippocampus, the ventral hippocampus is heavily interconnected with the amygdala and the hypothalamus (Bannerman et al. 2004). Lesions or inactivation of the ventral hippocampus results in a reduction of endogenous anxiety-like behavior in rodents, an effect that is not seen if similar manipulations are made of the dorsal hippocampus (Bannerman et al. 2004; Kjelstrup et al. 2002). In humans, a nonmnemonic role for the hippocampus in emotional processing has not clearly emerged, nor has its relevance for anxiety disorders been delineated. Thus, unlike limbic and medial prefrontal circuitry, the lack of a significant role for the hippocampus in human anxiety currently stands in contrast to the relative conservation of fear- and anxiety-related circuitries across phylogeny.

1.6 Summary

In the preceding sections I have outlined the neural circuitry central to the processing of negative emotional material in humans, focusing on the specific functions of each region and how information flows within the circuit. The focus on negative emotion and its regulation reflects an assumption that this material is of special relevance to anxiety, and also benefits from the broad wealth of neuroimaging and related studies in this area. As shown in Fig. 1, registration and reactivity to a negative emotional stimulus is carried out in the amygdala and insula, two core limbic structures. These regions can direct and modulate activity in a range of target regions, including the PAG, hypothalamus, hippocampus, and sensory cortex. Further monitoring and evaluation of the negative stimuli is carried out by the dorsal ACC and dorsomedial PFC, which are informed directly by core limbic regions, and indirectly through projections from ventral frontal regions which receive innervation from core limbic regions. Engagement of these dorsal structures leads to a detailed appraisal of the emotional stimulus not possible by the amygdala and insula, and can involve conscious awareness of that emotional appraisal. Information on the stimulus is relayed to regulatory regions in the ventral ACC (rostral and subgenual) and ventromedial PFC, either through direct projections from core limbic regions, or through projections from dorsal ACC and dorsomedial PFC, which likely reflect different aspects of the emotional reaction to a stimulus. These regulatory regions in turn provide feedback onto core limbic areas, resulting in context-appropriate regulation, which may take the form of either inhibition or enhancement of limbic processing.

I have also emphasized that this limbic-medial prefrontal loop appears to result in the regulation of emotion in the absence of a specific goal for emotion regulation and likely outside of subjects' awareness. This model stands in contrast to the prevailing view of deliberate emotion regulation, wherein lateral prefrontal circuitry important in cognitive control in nonemotional contexts is thought to mediate the cognitive control of emotion. Since lateral prefrontal structures have little direct projections to core limbic regions, indications are that cognitive control of emotion by the lateral PFC is achieved by its engagement of medial prefrontal areas within the limbic-medial prefrontal loop described above (Johnstone et al. 2007; Urry et al. 2006). Thus, understanding the differences between implicit and explicit emotion regulation processes may be an important avenue for interpreting neural abnormalities in anxiety disorders and the mechanisms of their treatment.

While informative and helpful in understanding anxiety, the model above remains simplistic, and narrow in its focus. I have neglected other functions of some of these regions, including in reward (amygdala and ventromedial PFC), and in self-related processing (throughout the medial PFC). Basic research in these areas is generally not as well detailed as for negative emotional processing, and few investigations exist in these areas in anxiety disorders. Others have recently emphasized a unifying role for the medial PFC in functions such as reward or self-referential processing, with particular relevance to understanding the neural bases of anxiety disorders (Liberzon and Sripada 2008). Thus, understanding these aspects of anxiety will be a topic for future research.

1.7 Negative Emotional Processing in Anxiety Disorders: A Meta-Analytic Framework

The number of functional neuroimaging studies of negative emotion in clinical anxiety disorders have accumulated at a rapid pace, now reaching a point at which a quantitative meta-analytic review is feasible. Much of the clinical neuroimaging literature, particularly in its earlier periods, was carried out on small groups of subjects, with significant sample heterogeneity between studies and methodologies. This has led to inconsistencies of findings across studies, even for the brain regions,

which are most heavily hypothesized to be important for anxiety. One advantage of a meta-analysis is that it allows for a quantitative summary of the findings by accounting for across-study variability. In addition, robust meta-analytic findings can help define the regions of greatest interest and support specific hypotheses for future studies, such that these studies can approach their questions in the most direct and nuanced manner possible. Etkin and Wager (2007) have recently reported a meta-analysis of negative emotional processing in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), social anxiety disorder (SAD), and specific phobia, and compared these findings to experimentally induced anxiety to discrete cues in healthy individuals through fear conditioning. These disorders were chosen as they were the only anxiety disorders for which a sufficient number of relatively homogeneous publications were available to allow for a reliable meta-analysis. I will review these findings and then highlight other relevant findings in each anxiety disorder, including those that were not part of the meta-analysis.

The studies included for each disorder were a combination of symptomprovocation studies, in which scripts, images, or sounds were used to specifically evoke disorder-specific anxiety symptoms, and studies using generally negative, but not disorder-specific, emotional stimuli. The latter were most often pictures of aversive scenes or emotional facial expressions. Common to all three anxiety disorders was consistent hyperactivation of the amygdala and insula in patients, compared to matched controls (see Fig. 2). A similar pattern of activation was noted during fear conditioning, suggesting that amygdala and insula hyperactivation in patients reflects excessive engagement of fear- or negative emotion-related circuitry. This finding is important because it identifies a core phenotype for at least these three



Fig. 2 Clusters in which significant hyperactivation or hypoactivation was found in patients with PTSD, Social Anxiety Disorder (SAD), and Specific Phobia relative to comparison subjects and in healthy subjects undergoing fear conditioning. Notable is common hyperactivation in the amygdala and insula. Adapted from Etkin et al. (2007)

anxiety disorders and supports an understanding of anxiety derived from animal fear conditioning studies. Moreover, it settles debate in the literature about whether, as hypothesized, amygdalar hyperactivity is a hallmark of at least some common forms of clinical anxiety. Finally, it brings the insula, which had not been a central part of previous neural circuitry conceptualizations of anxiety, into prominence alongside the amygdala.

In addition to the shared findings across disorders, there are also important differences between disorders. Most strikingly, for SAD and specific phobia, only clusters showing greater activity in patients compared to controls were noted. By contrast, for PTSD, there were large regions of both hyper- and hypoactivation in patients. Extensive hypoactivation was found in the dorsal ACC and dorsomedial PFC as well as in ventral portions of the ACC and the ventromedial PFC (see Fig. 3). These hypoactivations were significantly more common in PTSD than in the other two anxiety disorders. There was also a small cluster of hypoactivation in the dorsal part of the amygdala, spatially distinct from the more ventral cluster showing hyperactivity in patients. Interestingly, no differences between anxiety disorder patients and matched controls were found in lateral prefrontal regions involved in cognitive control. The results above also held true when only symptom provocation studies were used in the analysis.

Of the three disorders, PTSD is considered to be more severe, and has more diverse symptomatology. In addition to symptoms of hyperarousal and hypervigilance to trauma-related cues, and avoidance of trauma reminders, all of which may be consistent with a model of anxiety based on inappropriately exuberant fear conditioning, PTSD also presents with a range of symptoms reflecting generalized emotional dysregulation. The latter include emotional numbing, generalization of anxiety reactions to stimuli not closely related with the trauma, intrusive thoughts



Fig. 3 Clusters in which significant hyperactivation or hypoactivation was found in patients with PTSD, SAD, and Specific Phobia relative to comparison subjects and in healthy subjects undergoing fear conditioning. Notable are PTSD-specific hypoactivations in the dorsal and ventral portions of the medial prefrontal cortex. Adapted from Etkin et al. (2007)

and memories, rumination, affective instability (e.g., anger outbursts), anhedonia, and a sense of negative foreboding (APA 1994).

In the light of the previous discussion on emotional processing and implicit regulation by the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit, Etkin and Wager (2007) proposed that the robust hypoactivation in the medial PFC in PTSD reflects a deficit in implicit emotion regulation occurring in the absence of deliberate attempts at emotional control. This neural abnormality would therefore be reflected clinically in symptoms of emotion dysregulation and anxiety generalization. In the framework provided by the information processing model for the limbic-medial prefrontal emotion circuit shown in Fig. 1, patients with PTSD appear to have dysfunction in both the dorsal monitoring/evaluation and the ventral regulation components.

Others have recently proposed that medial PFC deficits in PTSD reflect a core abnormality in extinction of learned fear (Milad et al. 2006; Rauch et al. 2006). It would seem, however, that dysfunction of a more general implicit evaluation and regulation system for negative emotional stimuli by the medial PFC would more readily explain the range of emotion dysregulation symptoms in PTSD, and may subsume within it a deficit in fear extinction. Much work, however, needs to be done in this area before any firm conclusions can be drawn. In particular, theoretical and experimental attention must also be paid to the distinction between dorsal medial frontal regions involved in the monitoring, evaluation, or experiencing of emotion, and ventral regions involved in emotion regulation, as this distinction is growing clearer in the basic science literature.

An important role for the medial PFC in PTSD is supported as well by results from structural imaging studies. A number of these studies have reported decreased gray matter volumes in patients with PTSD in both the dorsal and ventral portions of the ACC or medial PFC (Karl et al. 2006; Kasai et al. 2008; Yamasue et al. 2003). One study examined variation in ACC volume as a function of trauma exposure or a putative genetic vulnerability for PTSD, assessed by comparing identical twin pairs discordant for combat exposure or PTSD, and found that decreased ACC volumes reflected the presence of PTSD symptoms rather than simply exposure to trauma without resulting symptoms or a genetic vulnerability to PTSD (Kasai et al. 2008). Interestingly, studies in rodents suggest that exposure to an uncontrollable stressor, which may reflect some aspects of the effects of traumas on patients with PTSD, resulted in dendritic retraction in a rodent analog of human medial PFC, potentiated fear conditioning, and interfered with fear extinction (Amat et al. 2005; Izquierdo et al. 2006). Thus, medial prefrontal dysfunction may be an important factor maintaining the symptoms of PTSD, and may to some degree have resulted from long-lasting effects of the trauma on basic aspects of medial prefrontal neuronal architecture.

1.8 Generalization of Anxiety Beyond Disorder-Related Material: PTSD and Specific Phobia

As discussed above, functional neuroimaging studies of anxiety have employed both disorder-specific and generally negative stimuli. These experiments afford an opportunity to determine the extent to which specific types of anxiety manifest through abnormal responses to any negatively valenced stimulus, or whether a response is only elicited to disorder-specific stimuli. For example, presentation of faces with different expressions can trigger limbic system activation in healthy subjects, and can thus be used as a probe for emotional processing in disorders where abnormal social signaling is not a central feature (i.e., not SAD, in which face stimuli are disorder-specific symptom triggers). Patients with PTSD displayed the characteristic pattern of medial prefrontal hypoactivity when viewing fearful compared to neutral or happy faces (Shin et al. 2005; Williams et al. 2006), counting emotionally negative compared to neutral words (Shin et al. 2001), recalling anxious or sad autobiographical events using script-guided imagery (Lanius et al. 2003) or viewing pictures of aversive compared to neutral visual scenes (Phan et al. 2006). Viewing fearful expression faces likewise also resulted in amygdalar hyperactivity in PTSD (Shin et al. 2005). Patients with specific phobia, meanwhile, showed similar amygdalar responses to emotional faces as controls (Wright et al. 2003). These data suggest that dysregulation within the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit during the processing of disorder nonspecific negative stimuli may be characteristic of states of generalized emotional dysregulation, such as those seen in PTSD, and does not merely reflect the presence of anxiety per se. Comparable experiments, however, have not yet been reported in other anxiety disorders, and will be important for further testing of this hypothesis.

It is now also clear, based on a number of imaging studies in healthy subjects, that understanding disorder-related alterations in amygdalar functioning requires separate analysis of emotional processing within and outside of awareness. Several recent studies have shown that elevated generalized anxiety (e.g., trait anxiety) in nonpsychiatric populations is associated with exaggerated amygdalar activation, most sensitively detected when emotional stimuli are processed outside of awareness or in the presence of limited attentional resources (Bishop et al. 2004; Etkin et al. 2004). In PTSD, fearful faces can activate the amygdala even when processed outside of awareness (Bryant et al. 2008b; Rauch et al. 2000). While similar manipulations of attention or awareness have not been reported in other anxiety disorders, this type of approach will be useful to probe the level at which vigilance or hypersensitivity to threat is already evident in each anxiety disorder. By extension, this information will also be useful in understanding the interplay between emotional reactivity and regulation processes in shaping symptomatology.

2 Generalized Anxiety Disorder

Despite its prevalence, generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) has not been a focus of neuroimaging studies on anxiety, and thus very little is known about the neural abnormalities associated with it. The data discussed above can establish several hypotheses about the neurobiology of GAD, and a handful of studies have recently emerged which can begin to address these hypotheses. Several recent GAD studies have used fearful expression faces to probe amygdalar activity, and found that consciously presented fearful faces do not result in amygdalar hyperactivation in GAD patients (Blair et al. 2008; Whalen et al. 2007). In fact, in one study, angry faces were even associated with amygdalar hypoactivation in patients (Blair et al. 2008). Of note, in one of these studies, a cohort of subjects with SAD were scanned using the same task and, as expected, showed exaggerated amygdalar responses to fearful faces, providing a positive control (Blair et al. 2008).

While no study has as yet been reported using unconsciously presented threat in adults with GAD, one such study has recently been published in children and adolescents (Monk et al. 2008). In this study, subjects were presented with fearful face stimuli presented only outside of awareness, and thus a direct comparison of conscious to unconscious threat processing was not possible. As predicted, however, patients with pediatric GAD showed exaggerated amygdalar responses to unconsciously processed disorder nonspecific threat (Monk et al. 2008). It will be important in future work to extend this paradigm to adults and to directly compare neural responses to conscious and unconscious threat.

We recently found evidence of the involvement of the amygdala in several ways in adult GAD (Etkin et al. 2009), by analyzing the differential connectivity of the BLA and CMA, as described earlier. This analysis revealed an intra-amygdalar abnormality at the subregional level in GAD, which was accompanied by abnormal amygdalar coupling with several brain networks.

Finally, Etkin et al. 2008 have recently reported preliminary data on GAD using the emotional conflict task described above. They found that patients with GAD failed to regulate emotional conflict, and as a consequence displayed exaggerated responses to conflict. At a neural level, patients failed to activate the ventral ACC and, failed to modulate the dorsomedial PFC. If these results hold up for a larger group, they would suggest that the similar dorsal monitoring/ evaluation and ventral regulation PFC deficits seen in GAD and PTSD reflect a generalized dysfunction in implicit emotion regulation. Indeed, an essential part of the DSM-IV criteria for GAD is difficulty controlling worry (APA 1994), suggesting that dysfunction in general emotion regulation systems may be central to this disorder. There is also considerable controversy regarding the nature of GAD: whether it reflects an extreme temperament or a distinct psychiatric condition, and what its relationship with major depression is, given their high degree of comorbidity. Neuroimaging studies of GAD will be in an important position to address these issues.

3 Panic Disorder

Very little is currently known about the neurobiology of panic disorder, in part because neuroanatomical models of panic disorder have been in flux, and in part due to a lack of sufficient neuroimaging data. Earlier models have emphasized abnormal brainstem responsiveness to carbon dioxide, termed the "false suffocation alarm" (Klein 1993). Subsequent models have employed the fear conditioning paradigm just as other anxiety disorders like PTSD have (Gorman et al. 2000). Spontaneous panic attacks have been hypothesized to arise from overly sensitive fear circuitry that either inappropriately reacts to minor stimuli, or cannot restrain minor anxiety responses, which then develop into severe panic attacks (Gorman et al. 2000). Evidence of this and related hypotheses is largely lacking, though a recent imaging study of a single subject who had a spontaneous panic attack during fMRI scanning reported increased amygdala activity during the attack (Pfleiderer et al. 2007). Previous studies have induced panic attacks through pharmacological means during PET scanning, producing mixed results. These studies are also difficult to interpret in the context of global cerebral vascular perfusion changes during a panic attack, which can confound neural activity-related regional blood flow changes.

More conceptually clear is the phobic avoidance of reminders and possible triggers or exacerbating stimuli for panic attacks, which may be more readily understood within the context of a traditional fear conditioning model, though this too remains largely theoretical. The generalization of fear and anxiety beyond specific stimuli in panic disorder suggests some similarity to PTSD and GAD. A medial prefrontal deficit may therefore account for the persistence of free-floating anxiety and emotional dysregulation in these disorders, which is not seen in SAD or specific phobia – disorders in which medial prefrontal function appears to be largely intact.

4 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Unlike the anxiety disorders discussed above, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) appears to have a distinct neural basis. In fact, many features of OCD differ from those of the other anxiety disorders, suggesting that it may no longer be part of the anxiety disorder category in revisions for DSM-V (Hollander et al. 2008). While amygdala activation has been reported in OCD (van den Heuvel et al. 2005), this appears to be the exception, rather than the rule. More prominently, abnormalities have been identified in cortico-striato-thalamic-cortical circuits that mediate motor planning and learning, as well as habits, but also play a role in a variety of cognitive and affective functions. The striatum receives input from a wide range of cortical regions, and projects to the thalamus, which gates neurotransmission back to the cortex. A particular focus for OCD has been on the lateral orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulate, and caudate nucleus. Abnormalities in the orbitofrontal cortex and ACC have been proposed to relate to obsessions in OCD, while striatal abnormalities have been suggested to lead to stereotyped or ritualistic behavior (Graybiel and Rauch 2000; Menzies et al. 2008; Saxena and Rauch 2000). Early resting metabolism studies demonstrated increased activity in the orbitofrontal cortex and caudate, an effect that has also been observed in symptom provocation studies (Menzies et al. 2008). A recent meta-analysis of performance of patients with OCD on a wide range of fMRI tasks found support for elevated orbitofrontal

and caudate activity in OCD, but also found involvement of several other regions in the ACC, medial and lateral PFC, as well as regions of striatal hypoactivation (Menzies et al. 2008). Neurosurgical interventions for severe OCD also reflect some of the regions consistently identified as abnormally engaged in imaging studies of OCD, with promising results reported for dorsal ACC lesions and deep brain stimulation in the striatum (Aouizerate et al. 2004; Dougherty et al. 2002). Abnormalities in OCD, therefore, do not readily fit into the limbic-medial PFC emotional processing circuit described above, further supporting its differentiation from the other anxiety disorders.

5 Treatment Studies

Compared to depression, relatively few neuroimaging-coupled intervention studies have been reported for each anxiety disorder. Of these, most are difficult to interpret because of an absence of important controls. Nonetheless, there are several suggestive studies that open the way to increasingly better designed and more sophisticated approaches. In one such study, Furmark et al. (2002) examined patients with SAD treated with either citalopram or cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT), measuring brain activity in response to having to give a prepared speech in the scanner while in the presence of others -a potent symptom provocation paradigm (Tillfors et al. 2001). Improvement in symptoms with treatment was accompanied by decreased activity in the amygdala and the medial temporal lobe. No such changes were seen in waiting-list control subjects. Comparing treatment groups with a control group of waiting-list patients who received no treatment allowed the authors to rule out changes related only to subject rescanning or simply to the passage of time. Decreases in the activity of the amygdala were seen in both the CBT and the citalopram groups, supporting an important role for this region in the symptoms of SAD. The two treatment groups, however, differed with respect to neural changes outside the amygdala, though interpretation of these findings is hampered by the very small sample sizes (six subjects per group). Interestingly, the degree to which amygdala activity decreased as a result of therapy predicted patients' reduction in symptoms 1 year later. Along similar lines, though using resting brain metabolic imaging, Baxter et al. (1992) noted normalization of caudate hyperactivity in OCD after treatment with either fluoxetine or CBT (nine subjects per group).

Finally, Straube et al. (2006)examined subjects with spider phobia, and compared the effects of symptom provocation in a group randomized to receive brief, intensive CBT (two 4–5 h sessions) to a wait list control group. At baseline, spider phobics hyperactivated the insula and dorsal ACC in response to video clips of spiders. After treatment, the CBT group no longer showed these abnormalities, but they persisted in the wait list control group. Together, these studies demonstrate that the neural abnormalities associated with symptomatology in anxiety disorders (e.g., amygdala and insula hyperactivation) are corrected after successful clinical interventions. Much, however, remains unclear, including a more thorough understanding of which neural

abnormalities persist after treatment, whether they reflect trait or vulnerability markers, and by what neurobiological mechanisms treatment-related change comes about. It is likely that an understanding of the circuits mediating emotional reactivity and regulation, as outlined above, will be useful in this respect as well. It is interesting in this regard that another study of CBT for spider phobia noted an increase in ventromedial prefrontal activation during symptom provocation after therapy, but not in a wait list control group (Schienle et al. 2007).

Another important aspect of understanding the mechanisms of treatments for anxiety is an appreciation of which subjects are most likely to respond to treatment, whether they respond differentially to various treatments, and why. To this end, two studies have reported results of correlations of pretreatment brain activation during emotional processing with treatment outcome in two anxiety disorders. Whalen et al. (2007) reported that increased rostral ACC and decreased amygdala activation to fearful faces at baseline predicts a better response to venlafaxine. Meanwhile, Bryant et al. (2008a) reported that increased activation in both the rostral ACC and amygdala in response to unconsciously presented fearful faces at baseline was predictive of a favorable response to CBT. While these results are preliminary and have not yet been replicated, they raise several interesting possibilities. First, the same brain region (e.g., amygdala) may differentially predict treatment outcome, depending on either the diagnosis or treatment strategy. Second, a common brain region (e.g., rostral ACC) may be broadly predictive of the likelihood of a patient to respond to any treatment. Indeed, treatment outcome prediction studies in depression have consistently and similarly implicated the rostral ACC, across different treatments and imaging modalities (reviewed in Etkin et al. (2005)). Even more intriguing, these data suggest that individual differences in the aspect of implicit emotion regulation mediated by the medial PFC may be the ultimate predictor of treatment response, across varied treatments and disorders.

6 Conclusion

In this chapter I have outlined a limbic-medial prefrontal neural circuit involved in the reactivity to and regulation of negative emotional stimuli. Figure 1 presents an information flow conceptual model of this circuit in which it is argued that a set of core limbic regions (amygdala, insula, hypothalamus, PAG) perform the initial evaluation of an emotional stimulus, and are critical for generating a coordinated physiological and subjective response to that stimulus indicative of emotional activation. Information about the emotional stimulus is conveyed to ventral prefrontal regions including the rostral ACC and ventromedial PFC, as well as to dorsal prefrontal regions including the dorsal ACC and dorsomedial PFC. The latter structures may get information about the emotional nature of the stimulus either through the direct influence of limbic regions or indirectly through projections from ventral prefrontal structures. Activation of the dorsal ACC and dorsomedial PFC enables more extensive evaluation of the emotional stimulus, and may gate the access of that information into conscious awareness. Recruitment of the rostral ACC and ventromedial PFC either through the direct influence of limbic regions or through information flow from the dorsal ACC or dorsomedial PFC then results in context-appropriate feedback regulation of limbic structures involved in the emotional response. This feedback may take the form of inhibition or activation, depending on the context and goal of the organism with regard to the emotional stimulus.

As described, the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit appears to play an important role in emotion regulation occurring in the absence of deliberate efforts at regulation, thus implying that it underlies certain forms of "implicit" emotion regulation. By contrast, explicit emotion regulation appears to consistently involve activation of lateral prefrontal structures important in nonemotional forms of cognitive control. Deliberate emotion regulation, however, may be achieved through access to the medial PFC by lateral prefrontal structures.

Strikingly, abnormalities in clinical anxiety disorders are frequently and consistently noted within elements of the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit. Across most or all anxiety disorders, with the exception of OCD, which involves alterations outside of the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit, patients have been found to activate the amygdala and/or insula more than controls (see summary in Fig. 4). The apparent overlap between these effects and activation in healthy subjects of the amygdala and insula during the processing of negative emotional stimuli, including during



Fig. 4 Summary of functional alterations within nodes of the limbic-medial prefrontal circuit outlined in Fig. 1 for several anxiety disorders (PTSD, SAD), panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), and specific phobia). While all of these disorders appear to have in common abnormalities in the amygdala or the insula, only those in which anxiety is generalized and emotion is more widely dysregulated (PTSD and GAD), have prominent dysfunction in both medial prefrontal nodes of the circuit

fear learning, suggests that hyperactivation of these structures in anxiety disorder patients is related to symptoms of hyperarousal and hypervigilance – symptoms shared across anxiety disorders.

Disorders in which generalization of anxiety or profound dysregulation of emotion are prominent, however, appear to additionally be associated with hypoactivation in both the dorsal and ventral regions of the medial PFC (see Fig. 4). An understanding of how dorsal medial prefrontal structures evaluate emotional stimuli and recruit emotion regulation mechanisms in the ventral medial PFC is thus essential to better comprehend the neural bases of the generalized symptoms of PTSD and GAD. Moreover, preliminary indications are that the response of anxious individuals to treatment is positively predicted by pretreatment levels of activity in the medial PFC. These extremely preliminary findings suggest that some of the same emotion evaluation and regulation mechanisms that may underlie aspects of emotion dysregulation symptomatology in PTSD, and GAD may also determine the capacity of a patient to benefit from treatment.

The data discussed in this chapter, along with the information flow circuit model proposed, are intended to provide an integrated account of the functional neuroanatomy of normal negative emotional processing and its dysfunction in clinical anxiety disorders. While it is clear that certain domains have been well investigated and the literature now allows for the creation of specific neuroanatomical hypotheses for future experiments, it is also readily apparent that a great deal of work is needed in several of these disorders and in the study of treatment interventions. Importantly, the limbic-medial prefrontal neural circuit perspective outlined in this chapter may allow for exciting future directions in the development of novel therapeutics, identification of genetic or environmental vulnerability factors through the use of an endophenotype approach, improvements in diagnosis and disorder classification, and in the prognostication and tracking of the success of treatment.

References

- Adolphs R, Tranel D, Damasio H, Damasio A (1994) Impaired recognition of emotion in facial expressions following bilateral damage to the human amygdala. Nature 372:669–672
- Amaral DG, Price JL, Pitkanen A, Carmichael ST (1992) Anatomical organization of the primate amygdaloid complex. In: Aggleton JP (ed) The amygdala: neurobiological aspects of emotion, memory and mental dysfunction. Wiley-Liss, New York, USA, pp 1–66
- Amat J, Baratta MV, Paul E, Bland ST, Watkins LR, Maier SF (2005) Medial prefrontal cortex determines how stressor controllability affects behavior and dorsal raphe nucleus. Nat Neurosci 8:365–371
- Anderson AK, Christoff K, Panitz D, De Rosa E, Gabrieli JD (2003) Neural correlates of the automatic processing of threat facial signals. J Neurosci 23:5627–5633
- Aouizerate B, Cuny E, Martin-Guehl C, Guehl D, Amieva H, Benazzouz A, Fabrigoule C, Allard M, Rougier A, Bioulac B, Tignol J, Burbaud P (2004) Deep brain stimulation of the ventral caudate nucleus in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder and major depression. Case report. J Neurosurg 101:682–686

- APA (1994) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 4th edn. American Psychiatric Press, Washington, DC
- Bannerman DM, Rawlins JN, McHugh SB, Deacon RM, Yee BK, Bast T, Zhang WN, Pothuizen HH, Feldon J (2004) Regional dissociations within the hippocampus memory and anxiety. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28:273–283
- Baxter LR Jr, Schwartz JM, Bergman KS, Szuba MP, Guze BH, Mazziotta JC, Alazraki A, Selin CE, Ferng HK, Munford P et al (1992) Caudate glucose metabolic rate changes with both drug and behavior therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49:681–689
- Beauregard M, Levesque J, Bourgouin P (2001) Neural correlates of conscious self-regulation of emotion. J Neurosci 21:RC165
- Bechara A, Tranel D, Damasio H, Adolphs R, Rockland C, Damasio AR (1995) Double dissociation of conditioning and declarative knowledge relative to the amygdala and hippocampus in humans. Science 269:1115–1118
- Bishop SJ (2007) Neurocognitive mechanisms of anxiety: an integrative account. Trends Cogn Sci 11:307–316
- Bishop SJ, Duncan J, Lawrence AD (2004) State anxiety modulation of the amygdala response to unattended threat-related stimuli. J Neurosci 24:10364–10368
- Blair K, Shaywitz J, Smith BW, Rhodes R, Geraci M, Jones M, McCaffrey D, Vythilingam M, Finger E, Mondillo K, Jacobs M, Charney DS, Blair RJ, Drevets WC, Pine DS (2008) Response to emotional expressions in generalized social phobia and generalized anxiety disorder: evidence for separate disorders. Am J Psychiatry 165:1193–1202
- Boelen PA, Reijntjes A (2009) Intolerance of uncertainty and social anxiety. J Anxiety Disord 23:130–135
- Botvinick M, Nystrom LE, Fissell K, Carter CS, Cohen JD (1999) Conflict monitoring versus selection-for-action in anterior cingulate cortex. Nature 402:179–181
- Botvinick MM, Braver TS, Barch DM, Carter CS, Cohen JD (2001) Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. Psychol Rev 108:624–652
- Bryant RA, Felmingham K, Kemp A, Das P, Hughes G, Peduto A, Williams L (2008a) Amygdala and ventral anterior cingulate activation predicts treatment response to cognitive behaviour therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder. Psychol Med 38:555–561
- Bryant RA, Kemp AH, Felmingham KL, Liddell B, Olivieri G, Peduto A, Gordon E, Williams LM (2008b) Enhanced amygdala and medial prefrontal activation during nonconscious processing of fear in posttraumatic stress disorder: an fMRI study. Hum Brain Mapp 29:517–523
- Bush G, Luu P, Posner MI (2000) Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. Trends Cogn Sci 4:215–222
- Critchley HD, Wiens S, Rotshtein P, Ohman A, Dolan RJ (2004) Neural systems supporting interoceptive awareness. Nat Neurosci 7:189–195
- Davis M, Whalen PJ (2001) The amygdala: vigilance and emotion. Mol Psychiatry 6:13-34
- Dougherty DD, Baer L, Cosgrove GR, Cassem EH, Price BH, Nierenberg AA, Jenike MA, Rauch SL (2002) Prospective long-term follow-up of 44 patients who received cingulotomy for treatment-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 159:269–275
- Egner T, Etkin A, Gale S, Hirsch J (2008) Dissociable neural systems resolve conflict from emotional versus nonemotional distracters. Cereb Cortex 18:1475–1484
- Egner T, Hirsch J (2005a) Cognitive control mechanisms resolve conflict through cortical amplification of task-relevant information. Nat Neurosci 8:1784–1790
- Egner T, Hirsch J (2005b) The neural correlates and functional integration of cognitive control in a Stroop task. Neuroimage 24:539–547
- Etkin A, Anguiano JM, Keller KE, Menon V, Schatzberg AF (2008) Alterations in frontolimbic systems for emotion regulation in major depression and generalized anxiety Society of Biological Psychiatry. Washington, DC
- Etkin A, Egner T, Peraza DM, Kandel ER, Hirsch J (2006) Resolving emotional conflict: a role for the rostral anterior cingulate cortex in modulating activity in the amygdala. Neuron 51:871–882

- Etkin A, Keller KE, Schatzberg AF, Menon V, Greicius MD (2009) Disrupted amygdalar subregion functional connectivity and evidence for a compensatory network in generalized anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 66:1361–1372
- Etkin A, Klemenhagen KC, Dudman JT, Rogan MT, Hen R, Kandel ER, Hirsch J (2004) Individual differences in trait anxiety predict the response of the basolateral amygdala to unconsciously processed fearful faces. Neuron 44:1043–1055
- Etkin A, Pittenger C, Polan HJ, Kandel ER (2005) Toward a neurobiology of psychotherapy: basic science and clinical applications. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 17:145–158
- Etkin A, Wager TD (2007) Functional neuroimaging of anxiety: a meta-analysis of emotional processing in PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobia. Am J Psychiatry 164:1476–1488
- Eysenck MW, Mogg K, May J, Richards A, Mathews A (1991) Bias in interpretation of ambiguous sentences related to threat in anxiety. J Abnorm Psychol 100:144–150
- Furmark T, Tillfors M, Marteinsdottir I, Fischer H, Pissiota A, Langstrom B, Fredrikson M (2002) Common changes in cerebral blood flow in patients with social phobia treated with citalopram or cognitive-behavioral therapy. Arch Gen Psychiatry 59:425–433
- Ghashghaei HT, Hilgetag CC, Barbas H (2007) Sequence of information processing for emotions based on the anatomic dialogue between prefrontal cortex and amygdala. Neuroimage 34:905–923
- Gorman JM, Kent JM, Sullivan GM, Coplan JD (2000) Neuroanatomical hypothesis of panic disorder, revised. Am J Psychiatry 157:493–505
- Gratton G, Coles MG, Donchin E (1992) Optimizing the use of information: strategic control of activation of responses. J Exp Psychol Gen 121:480–506
- Graybiel AM, Rauch SL (2000) Toward a neurobiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Neuron 28:343–347
- Grillon C (2002) Startle reactivity and anxiety disorders: aversive conditioning, context, and neurobiology. Biol Psychiatry 52:958–975
- Grillon C, Lissek S, Rabin S, McDowell D, Dvir S, Pine DS (2008) Increased anxiety during anticipation of unpredictable but not predictable aversive stimuli as a psychophysiologic marker of panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 165:898–904
- Gross JJ (2002) Emotion regulation: affective, cognitive, and social consequences. Psychophysiology 39:281–291
- Heimer L, de Olmos JS, Alheid GF, Pearson J, Sakamoto N, Shinoda K, Marksteiner J, Switzer RC (1999) The human basal forebrain Part II. In: Bloom FE, Bjorklund A, Hokfelt T (eds) The primate nervous system. Part III. Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy, vol 15. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 57–226
- Herry C, Bach DR, Esposito F, Di Salle F, Perrig WJ, Scheffler K, Luthi A, Seifritz E (2007) Processing of temporal unpredictability in human and animal amygdala. J Neurosci 27:5958–5966
- Holaway RM, Heimberg RG, Coles ME (2006) A comparison of intolerance of uncertainty in analogue obsessive-compulsive disorder and generalized anxiety disorder. J Anxiety Disord 20:158–174
- Hollander E, Braun A, Simeon D (2008) Should OCD leave the anxiety disorders in DSM-V? The case for obsessive compulsive-related disorders. Depress Anxiety 25:317–329
- Izquierdo A, Wellman CL, Holmes A (2006) Brief uncontrollable stress causes dendritic retraction in infralimbic cortex and resistance to fear extinction in mice. J Neurosci 26:5733–5738
- Johnstone T, van Reekum CM, Urry HL, Kalin NH, Davidson RJ (2007) Failure to regulate: counterproductive recruitment of top-down prefrontal-subcortical circuitry in major depression. J Neurosci 27:8877–8884
- Kalisch R, Wiech K, Critchley HD, Dolan RJ (2006a) Levels of appraisal: a medial prefrontal role in high-level appraisal of emotional material. Neuroimage 30:1458–1466
- Kalisch R, Wiech K, Critchley HD, Seymour B, O'Doherty JP, Oakley DA, Allen P, Dolan RJ (2005) Anxiety reduction through detachment: subjective, physiological, and neural effects. J Cogn Neurosci 17:874–883

- Kalisch R, Wiech K, Herrmann K, Dolan RJ (2006b) Neural correlates of self-distraction from anxiety and a process model of cognitive emotion regulation. J Cogn Neurosci 18:1266–1276
- Karl A, Schaefer M, Malta LS, Dorfel D, Rohleder N, Werner A (2006) A meta-analysis of structural brain abnormalities in PTSD. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 30:1004–1031
- Kasai K, Yamasue H, Gilbertson MW, Shenton ME, Rauch SL, Pitman RK (2008) Evidence for acquired pregenual anterior cingulate gray matter loss from a twin study of combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 63:550–556
- Kerns JG, Cohen JD, MacDonald AW 3rd, Cho RY, Stenger VA, Carter CS (2004) Anterior cingulate conflict monitoring and adjustments in control. Science 303:1023–1026
- King JA, Blair RJ, Mitchell DG, Dolan RJ, Burgess N (2006) Doing the right thing: a common neural circuit for appropriate violent or compassionate behavior. Neuroimage 30:1069–1076
- Kjelstrup KG, Tuvnes FA, Steffenach HA, Murison R, Moser EI, Moser MB (2002) Reduced fear expression after lesions of the ventral hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:10825–10830
- Klein DF (1993) False suffocation alarms, spontaneous panics, and related conditions. An integrative hypothesis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50:306–317
- Kober H, Barrett LF, Joseph J, Bliss-Moreau E, Lindquist K, Wager TD (2008) Functional grouping and cortical-subcortical interactions in emotion: a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. Neuroimage 42:998–1031
- Lanius RA, Williamson PC, Hopper J, Densmore M, Boksman K, Gupta MA, Neufeld RW, Gati JS, Menon RS (2003) Recall of emotional states in posttraumatic stress disorder: an fMRI investigation. Biol Psychiatry 53:204–210
- Lanteaume L, Khalfa S, Regis J, Marquis P, Chauvel P, Bartolomei F (2007) Emotion induction after direct intracerebral stimulations of human amygdala. Cereb Cortex 17:1307–1313
- Levesque J, Eugene F, Joanette Y, Paquette V, Mensour B, Beaudoin G, Leroux JM, Bourgouin P, Beauregard M (2003) Neural circuitry underlying voluntary suppression of sadness. Biol Psychiatry 53:502–510
- Liberzon I, Sripada CS (2008) The functional neuroanatomy of PTSD: a critical review. Prog Brain Res 167:151–169
- Mai JK, Assheuer J, Paxinos G (1997) Atlas of the Human Brain. Academic, New York
- Menzies L, Chamberlain SR, Laird AR, Thelen SM, Sahakian BJ, Bullmore ET (2008) Integrating evidence from neuroimaging and neuropsychological studies of obsessive-compulsive disorder: the orbitofronto-striatal model revisited. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 32:525–549
- Milad MR, Rauch SL, Pitman RK, Quirk GJ (2006) Fear extinction in rats: implications for human brain imaging and anxiety disorders. Biol Psychol 73:61–71
- Mobbs D, Petrovic P, Marchant JL, Hassabis D, Weiskopf N, Seymour B, Dolan RJ, Frith CD (2007) When fear is near: threat imminence elicits prefrontal-periaqueductal gray shifts in humans. Science 317:1079–1083
- Monk CS, Telzer EH, Mogg K, Bradley BP, Mai X, Louro HM, Chen G, McClure-Tone EB, Ernst M, Pine DS (2008) Amygdala and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex activation to masked angry faces in children and adolescents with generalized anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:568–576
- Morgan MA, Romanski LM, LeDoux JE (1993) Extinction of emotional learning: contribution of medial prefrontal cortex. Neurosci Lett 163:109–113
- Ochsner KN, Ray RD, Cooper JC, Robertson ER, Chopra S, Gabrieli JD, Gross JJ (2004) For better or for worse: neural systems supporting the cognitive down- and up-regulation of negative emotion. Neuroimage 23:483–499
- Oppenheimer SM, Gelb A, Girvin JP, Hachinski VC (1992) Cardiovascular effects of human insular cortex stimulation. Neurology 42:1727–1732
- Paxinos G (2003) Human nervous system, 3rd edn. Academic, New York
- Petrovic P, Dietrich T, Fransson P, Andersson J, Carlsson K, Ingvar M (2005) Placebo in emotional processing-induced expectations of anxiety relief activate a generalized modulatory network. Neuron 46:957–969

- Pfleiderer B, Zinkirciran S, Arolt V, Heindel W, Deckert J, Domschke K (2007) fMRI amygdala activation during a spontaneous panic attack in a patient with panic disorder. World J Biol Psychiatry 8:269–272
- Phan KL, Britton JC, Taylor SF, Fig LM, Liberzon I (2006) Corticolimbic blood flow during nontraumatic emotional processing in posttraumatic stress disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:184–192
- Phan KL, Wager T, Taylor SF, Liberzon I (2002) Functional neuroanatomy of emotion: a metaanalysis of emotion activation studies in PET and fMRI. Neuroimage 16:331–348
- Phelps EA, Delgado MR, Nearing KI, LeDoux JE (2004) Extinction learning in humans: role of the amygdala and vmPFC. Neuron 43:897–905
- Pitkanen A (2000) Connectivity of the rat amygdaloid complex. In: Aggleton JP (ed) The amygdala: a functional analysis. Oxford University Press, New York (USA), pp 31–115
- Price JL, Fokje TR, Amaral DG (1987) The limbic region. II: The amygdaloid complex. In: Bjorklund A, Hokfelt T, Swanson LW (eds) Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 279–388
- Quirk GJ, Likhtik E, Pelletier JG, Pare D (2003) Stimulation of medial prefrontal cortex decreases the responsiveness of central amygdala output neurons. J Neurosci 23:8800–8807
- Rauch SL, Shin LM, Phelps EA (2006) Neurocircuitry models of posttraumatic stress disorder and extinction: human neuroimaging research – past, present, and future. Biol Psychiatry 60:376–382
- Rauch SL, Whalen PJ, Shin LM, McInerney SC, Macklin ML, Lasko NB, Orr SP, Pitman RK (2000) Exaggerated amygdala response to masked facial stimuli in posttraumatic stress disorder: a functional MRI study. Biol Psychiatry 47:769–776
- Ridderinkhof KR, Ullsperger M, Crone EA, Nieuwenhuis S (2004) The role of the medial frontal cortex in cognitive control. Science 306:443–447
- Saxena S, Rauch SL (2000) Functional neuroimaging and the neuroanatomy of obsessivecompulsive disorder. Psychiatr Clin North Am 23:563–586
- Schienle A, Schafer A, Hermann A, Rohrmann S, Vaitl D (2007) Symptom provocation and reduction in patients suffering from spider phobia: an fMRI study on exposure therapy. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 257:486–493
- Shin LM, Whalen PJ, Pitman RK, Bush G, Macklin ML, Lasko NB, Orr SP, McInerney SC, Rauch SL (2001) An fMRI study of anterior cingulate function in posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 50:932–942
- Shin LM, Wright CI, Cannistraro PA, Wedig MM, McMullin K, Martis B, Macklin ML, Lasko NB, Cavanagh SR, Krangel TS, Orr SP, Pitman RK, Whalen PJ, Rauch SL (2005) A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of amygdala and medial prefrontal cortex responses to overtly presented fearful faces in posttraumatic stress disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62: 273–281
- Simmons A, Stein MB, Matthews SC, Feinstein JS, Paulus MP (2006) Affective ambiguity for a group recruits ventromedial prefrontal cortex. Neuroimage 29:655–661
- Stein JL, Wiedholz LM, Bassett DS, Weinberger DR, Zink CF, Mattay VS, Meyer-Lindenberg A (2007) A validated network of effective amygdala connectivity. Neuroimage 36:736–745
- Straube T, Glauer M, Dilger S, Mentzel HJ, Miltner WH (2006) Effects of cognitive-behavioral therapy on brain activation in specific phobia. Neuroimage 29:125–135
- Tillfors M, Furmark T, Marteinsdottir I, Fischer H, Pissiota A, Langstrom B, Fredrikson M (2001) Cerebral blood flow in subjects with social phobia during stressful speaking tasks: a PET study. Am J Psychiatry 158:1220–1226
- Urry HL, van Reekum CM, Johnstone T, Kalin NH, Thurow ME, Schaefer HS, Jackson CA, Frye CJ, Greischar LL, Alexander AL, Davidson RJ (2006) Amygdala and ventromedial prefrontal cortex are inversely coupled during regulation of negative affect and predict the diurnal pattern of cortisol secretion among older adults. J Neurosci 26:4415–4425
- van den Heuvel OA, Veltman DJ, Groenewegen HJ, Witter MP, Merkelbach J, Cath DC, van Balkom AJ, van Oppen P, van Dyck R (2005) Disorder-specific neuroanatomical correlates of

attentional bias in obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, and hypochondriasis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:922–933

- Wager TD, Barrett LF, Bliss-Moreau E, Lindquist K, Duncan S, Kober H, Joseph J, Davidson M, Mize J (2008) The Neuroimaging of Emotion. In: Lewis M (ed) Handbook of Emotions. The Guilford Press, New York
- Wager TD, Phan KL, Liberzon I, Taylor SF (2003) Valence, gender, and lateralization of functional brain anatomy in emotion: a meta-analysis of findings from neuroimaging. Neuroimage 19:513–531
- Whalen PJ, Johnstone T, Somerville LH, Nitschke JB, Polis S, Alexander AL, Davidson RJ, Kalin NH (2007) Functional magnetic resonance imaging predictor of treatment response to venlafaxine in generalized anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 63:858–863
- Williams LM, Kemp AH, Felmingham K, Barton M, Olivieri G, Peduto A, Gordon E, Bryant RA (2006) Trauma modulates amygdala and medial prefrontal responses to consciously attended fear. Neuroimage 29:347–357
- Wright CI, Martis B, McMullin K, Shin LM, Rauch SL (2003) Amygdala and insular responses to emotionally valenced human faces in small animal specific phobia. Biol Psychiatry 54:1067–1076
- Yamasue H, Kasai K, Iwanami A, Ohtani T, Yamada H, Abe O, Kuroki N, Fukuda R, Tochigi M, Furukawa S, Sadamatsu M, Sasaki T, Aoki S, Ohtomo K, Asukai N, Kato N (2003) Voxel-based analysis of MRI reveals anterior cingulate gray-matter volume reduction in posttraumatic stress disorder due to terrorism. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:9039–9043

Pharmacological Enhancement of Behavioral Therapy: Focus on Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

Dennis C. Choi, Barbara O. Rothbaum, Maryrose Gerardi, and Kerry J. Ressler

Contents

1	Introduction				
2	Traditional Hypnotherapy and Psychodynamic Treatments				
3	Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy				
	3.1 Exposure Therapy				
	3.2 Virtual Reality Exposure Therapy				
	3.3 Anxiety Management Techniques				
	3.4 Systematic Desensitization				
	3.5 Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing				
4	Traditional Combinations of Psychotherapy with Medication				
	4.1 Panic Disorder				
	4.2 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder				
	4.3 Social Phobia				
	4.4 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder				
5	Novel Approach: Pharmacotherapy Augmentation of Psychotherapeutic Learning	ng 291			
6	Conclusion				
Ret	References				

Abstract Improved efficacy in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and other anxiety disorders is urgently needed. Traditional anxiety treatments of hypnosis and psychodynamic therapy may be of some help, but uncontrolled studies lead to inconclusive results on the efficacy of these treatment techniques. There is a larger literature supporting the efficacy of cognitive-behavioral procedures with PTSD, including prolonged exposure therapy, eye movement desensitization and reprocessing, and anxiety management techniques. The cutting-edge technology of virtual reality-based exposure therapy for PTSD is particularly exciting. To further build on effective psychosocial treatments, current pharmacological augmentation

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Yerkes Research Center, Emory University, 954 Gatewood Dr, Atlanta, GA, 30329, USA

e-mail: kressle@emory.edu

D.C. Choi, B.O. Rothbaum, M. Gerardi, and K.J. Ressler (🖂)

approaches to emotional learning are being combined with psychotherapy. In particular, D-cycloserine, a partial NMDA agonist, has shown to be effective in facilitating the exposure/extinction therapy to improve the efficacy of treating anxiety disorders, and may guide the way for new pharmacological enhancements of behavioral therapy.

Keywords Anxiety · D-cycloserine · Fear · Psychotherapy · PTSD

Abbreviations

AMT	Anxiety management training
CBGT	Cognitive-behavioral group therapy
CBT	Cognitive-behavioral therapy
CS	Conditioned stimulus
DCS	D-cycloserine
EMDR	Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing
ERP	Exposure and ritual prevention
OCD	Obsessive-compulsive disorder
PCT	Present-centered therapy
PE	Prolonged imaginal exposure
PTSD	Posttraumatic stress disorder
SAD	Social anxiety disorder
SD	Systematic desensitization
SIT	Stress inoculation training
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
SUDS	Subjective units of discomfort
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
TF-CBT	Trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy
UCS	Unconditioned stimulus
VRE	Virtual reality exposure

1 Introduction

A large percentage of war veterans who are returning each year from the Middle East are being diagnosed with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and other various symptoms of depression, stress, and anxiety-related disorders. This places an utmost importance on advancing the efficacy of treatments for PTSD and anxiety disorders. Impressive advances in treating PTSD have been made in the past decade. Notably the Institute of Medicine (2008) only confirmed the efficacy for

exposure-based psychotherapy treatment for PTSD, while finding that the current data are inadequate to determine the efficacy of medication treatment or any other intervention for PTSD (Institutes of Medicine 2008). Currently, neuroscience research which underlies the psychotherapy for treating fear-based disorders is rapidly progressing. It is now being translated to the clinic in the form of pharma-cological augmentation of emotional learning. This chapter covers the literature on psychosocial interventions for PTSD and other anxiety-related disorders, beginning with a brief review of traditional therapies. We then examine the larger literature on the efficacy of cognitive-behavioral procedures with PTSD, along with cutting-edge technology of virtual reality-based treatment for PTSD. Finally, we examine the current progress of pharmacological augmentation of emotional learning combined with psychotherapy to improve on the efficacy of treating anxiety disorders.

2 Traditional Hypnotherapy and Psychodynamic Treatments

Hypnosis has been advocated in the treatment of trauma since it was introduced by Freud to attain the abreaction and catharsis he deemed necessary to resolve a psychic conflict (reviewed in Spiegel 1989) and continues to be used to treat trauma survivors. Spiegel noted that hypnosis may be useful in treating PTSD because hypnotic phenomena such as dissociation are common in coping with trauma as it occurs and in its sequelae. Hypnosis may facilitate the recall of traumatic events that were encoded in a dissociative state and are therefore not available to conscious recollection.

A number of case studies have reported that hypnosis was useful in treating posttrauma disturbances following a variety of traumas, but most of these lack methodological rigor and thus cannot allow strong conclusions to be drawn. In the one controlled study (Brom et al. 1989) of 112 trauma victims, results indicated that participants were more improved than those in the waiting list control condition. The results suggest that hypnotherapy, as well as desensitization and psychodynamic therapy, may offer some help for posttrauma suffering. Overall, the Institutes of Medicine (2008) and the Cochrane Database review (Bisson and Andrew 2007) found that hypnosis treatment is inconclusive regarding the efficacy for treating PTSD.

Treatment by dynamic psychotherapy has often been advocated as a final component of crisis intervention (Burgess and Holmstrom 1974; Evans 1978; Fox and Scherl 1972). However, empirical investigations of its efficacy are scarce, and those that do exist are not usually well controlled. In an attempt to account for posttrauma reactions, psychodynamic theorists (e.g., Horowitz 1976) emphasize concepts such as denial, abreaction, catharsis, and stages of recovery from trauma. The target of Horowitz's brief psychodynamic therapy is the resolution of intrapsychic conflict arising from a traumatic experience, rather than specific symptom reduction. Other psychodynamic theorists focus largely on group process (Yalom 1995). In summary, most studies of hypnotherapy and psychodynamic therapy have been lacking in controls and assessments, and technically flawed in description and design of the treatment. Similar to the data with hypnotherapy, the Institutes of Medicine (2008)
and the Cochrane Database review (Bisson and Andrew 2007) found that hypnosis and psychodynamic psychotherapy approaches to PTSD remain understudied, and the efficacy of psychodynamic psychotherapy remains inconclusive. Thus, the information about the efficacy of traditional interventions with PTSD from these studies is quite limited and is open to various interpretations.

3 Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy

Cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) includes a variety of treatment programs, including exposure procedures, cognitive restructuring procedures, anxiety management programs, and their combinations. Reviews of the extant literature on the treatment of PTSD are quite positive regarding CBT (Bisson and Andrew 2007; Bradley et al. 2005; Institutes of Medicine 2008; Rothbaum et al. 2000; Solomon et al. 1992; Van Etten and Taylor 1998). A meta-analysis found the largest treatment effects for cognitive-behavioral techniques and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) medications (Van Etten and Taylor 1998). Combined treatment approaches with medication and CBT together will be discussed below. One form of CBT employed with PTSD sufferers is exposure treatment, which assists patients in confronting their feared memories and situations. The exposure treatment that has been developed by Foa and Rothbaum (1998) typically incorporates imaginal exposure that makes the patient recall the traumatic memories to relive them in their imagination in the therapist's office in order for the trauma to be emotionally processed, or digested, so that it can become less painful over repeated sessions (Foa et al. 1989; Foa and Kozak 1986). Other forms of exposure involve repeatedly confronting realistically safe situations, places, or objects that are reminders of the trauma (called in vivo, or in real life, exposure) until they no longer elicit such strong emotions. Some therapists have patients write repeatedly about the trauma as a form of exposure (Resick and Schnicke 1993).

Another CBT approach, anxiety management training (AMT), involves teaching patients skills to control their anxiety, and has also been helpful with PTSD. Stress inoculation training (SIT), the AMT program that has received the most attention, was developed for victims who remained highly fearful 3 months after being raped (Veronen and Kilpatrick 1983). SIT typically consists of education and training of coping skills. These skills include deep muscle relaxation training, breathing control, role-playing, covert modeling, thought-stopping, and guided self-dialog following SIT. Sufferers of PTSD experience a great deal of anxiety in their lives because they are frequently reminded of the trauma. SIT aims to teach skills to help decrease this anxiety in many different situations.

3.1 Exposure Therapy

Exposure treatment for PTSD was first demonstrated with several case reports on war veterans (Fairbank et al. 1983; Johnson et al. 1982; Keane and Kaloupek 1982),

where both imaginal flooding (repeated presentation of traumatic event to the imagination) (Keane et al. 1989) and flooding in vivo to trauma related events (Johnson et al. 1982) appeared to be efficacious. There are several published reports of successful treatment of PTSD in veterans with exposure therapy. Three controlled studies have examined the utility of prolonged imaginal exposure (PE) for reducing PTSD and related pathology in Vietnam veterans. Treatment was conducted over 6-16 sessions. In one study, all patients received the "standard" PTSD treatment (weekly individual and group therapies) in addition to exposure (Cooper and Clum 1989). In the second study (Keane et al. 1989), PE was compared to a waiting list control group. During each session, patients were initially instructed to relax. The patients subsequently received 45 min of imaginal flooding, followed by relaxation. In the third study, all patients received a group treatment milieu program; one-half received additional PE and the remaining patients received weekly individual traditional psychotherapy (Boudewyns and Hyer 1990; Boudewyns et al. 1990). All three studies found some benefit from the PE compared to the control groups, but the effects were small. In the largest and best controlled study to date of exposure therapy with veterans (Schnurr et al. 2007), 277 female veterans and active duty personnel (n = 7) with PTSD were randomly assigned to receive 10 weekly sessions of present-centered therapy (PCT), which provides supportive intervention addressing current/daily problems in the present manifested with PTSD, or PE therapy. Women who received PE experienced greater reduction in PTSD symptoms, were more likely to no longer meet PTSD criteria and to achieve total remission than those who received PCT. It is also notable that PE was delivered by Veterans Administration therapists, not CBT experts.

Exposure therapy has not been as consistently effective when delivered in a group format in a VA setting. In a large VA cooperative study of male Vietnam veterans (n = 360), trauma-focused group psychotherapy was not significantly more effective than a present-centered comparison group treatment (Schnurr et al. 2003). However, recent uncontrolled pilot trials at the Atlanta VA of exposure therapy delivered in a combination of group and individual sessions have been more effective. An open trial of 102 veterans treated with Group Based Exposure Therapy found clinically significant and lasting reductions in the symptoms of war-related PTSD with large effect sizes on treating clinicians' assessments and moderate to large effect sizes on self-report PTSD scales (Ready et al. 2008). Another pilot study with 37 participants using a hybrid treatment model combining individually recorded audiotapes of three traumatic memories and daily exposure practice nested in a 10-week behavioral group therapy format has been effective in treating OEF/OIF and Persian Gulf combat veterans. There were no significant differences between those with (30%) and without traumatic brain injury (TBI) on pretreatment measures; nor was TBI status a predictor of significantly different treatment response (Crowe et al. 2008).

The first controlled study of the treatment of PTSD in rape victims randomly assigned PTSD rape victims to one of four conditions: SIT, prolonged imaginal exposure (PE), supportive counseling, or waiting list control. All conditions produced improvement on all measures immediately post treatment and at follow-up. SIT

produced significantly more improvement on PTSD symptoms than waiting list victim controls immediately following treatment. At follow-up, PE produced superior outcome on PTSD symptoms. Clients who received PE continued to improve after treatment termination, whereas clients in the SIT and supportive counseling conditions evidenced no change between post treatment and follow-up (Foa et al. 1991).

Another study compared PE, SIT, the combination of SIT and PE, and a waiting list control group (Foa et al. 1999). All three active treatments showed significant improvement in PTSD symptoms and depressive symptoms at posttest, and the waiting list group did not improve. These treatment effects were maintained at 6-month follow-up. Overall, combined SIT and PE treatment was not better than individual treatments. Versions of the PE program have been helpful in preventing the development of chronic PTSD following rape (Foa et al. 1995) and in treating PTSD in abused children (Deblinger et al. 1990).

Additional studies provide support for the efficacy of exposure treatment for PTSD in samples that are heterogeneous with regard to their traumas. Exposure therapy was compared to cognitive therapy in a mixed sample of trauma survivors (Tarrier et al. 1999). Type of trauma included crime (52%), accident (34%), and other (15%). There was a significant improvement on all measures post treatment, which was maintained at follow-up for both treatments, with no significant differences between the two treatments. Richards et al. (1994) treated 14 participants with PTSD with either four sessions of imaginal exposure followed by four sessions of in vivo exposure or in vivo followed by imaginal exposure. Patients in both treatment conditions improved considerably.

Note that the most recent large meta-analytic reviews have concluded that among all the types of psychosocial therapies, the best and largest randomized controlled trials exist for exposure-based models. The recent Cochrane Database review concluded that both individual and group trauma-focused CBT (TF-CBT)/ exposure therapy were effective in the treatment of PTSD (Bisson and Andrew 2007). Additionally, the Institute of Medicine concluded that evidence is sufficient to conclude the efficacy of exposure therapies in the treatment of PTSD (Institutes of Medicine 2008).

3.2 Virtual Reality Exposure Therapy

A new medium for conducting exposure therapy has been introduced recently. Virtual reality exposure (VRE) presents the user with a computer-generated view of a virtual world that changes in a natural way with head motion. During VRE sessions patients wear the head-mounted display with stereo earphones that provide visual and audio cues consistent with being in the virtual environment that is used to reactivate their traumatic cues.

For treatment of PTSD, Vietnam veterans in one investigation were exposed to two virtual environments, a virtual helicopter flying over Vietnam and a clearing surrounded by a jungle, allowing patients to be repeatedly exposed to their most traumatic memories but immersed in Vietnam stimuli. In this open clinical trial, scores on all measures decreased from pre- to post treatment, with significant decreases in all three symptom clusters (Rothbaum et al. 2001). A recent study by Difede and colleagues examined VRE for the treatment of PTSD following the September 11, 2001 attacks on the World Trade Center in New York (Difede et al. 2007). This pilot study examined 13 VRE treatment subjects compared to 8 waitlist control subjects and determined that the VRE group showed a significant decline on CAPS scores compared to the waitlist.

The results from these early studies consistently support the efficacy of imaginal and in vivo exposure for the treatment of PTSD resulting from a variety of traumas. These results are even more impressive given the methodological precision that was applied to many of these studies. Notably, there are now very good VRE environments for the Iraq war, the Vietnam war, the World Trade Center bombings, Terrorist attacks in Israel, and a variety of other nontrauma-based environments. However, despite the fact that almost 100 papers discussing VRE therapy for anxiety-related disorders are now in the literature, many are not optimally designed (Parsons and Rizzo 2007). Additional randomized clinical controlled trials and trials of increased size will likely lead to exciting new uses and validation for virtual reality approaches in the future.

3.3 Anxiety Management Techniques

The efficacy of SIT, (Kilpatrick et al. 1982) developed for rape victims with chronic fear and anxiety, has been supported by several reports (Foa et al. 1991; Resick et al. 1988). In an uncontrolled investigation, a clear treatment effect emerged on rape-related fear, anxiety, phobic anxiety, tension, and depression in female rape victims who showed elevated fear and avoidance to phobic stimuli 3 months post rape (Veronen and Kilpatrick 1983). In a controlled study, the efficacy of six 2-h sessions of three types of group therapy for rape-related fear and anxiety were compared to a naturally occurring waiting list control group, including SIT, assertion training, or supportive psychotherapy plus information (Resick et al. 1988). Results indicated that all three treatments were highly effective in reducing rape-related fears, intrusion, and avoidance symptoms, with no group differences evident. Improvement was maintained at 6-month follow-up on rape-related fear measures, but not on depression, self-esteem, and social fears.

A controlled study compared three different forms of relaxation for 90 Vietnam veterans (Watson et al. 1997). Relaxation, relaxation plus deep breathing exercises, and relaxation plus deep breathing plus biofeedback were equally, but only mildly, effective in leading to improvement. In summary, among anxiety management approaches, SIT has received the most support for PTSD. Other AMTs such as relaxation or cognitive therapy are best viewed as treatment components of a comprehensive treatment package.

3.4 Systematic Desensitization

In systematic desensitization (SD), the patient is taught how to relax, and then presented with reminders of the trauma gradually, working up a hierarchy from the least disturbing to the most disturbing. If they become very anxious or upset, they stop the trauma imagery, relax themselves, and then go back to the material for exposure, until they can encounter all memories or situations without becoming upset. Earlier behavioral treatments for PTSD adopted the SD technique pioneered by Wolpe (1988), however there were methodological problems rendering these studies inconclusive. The successful outcome of SD compared to a no-treatment control group was demonstrated in two studies with war veterans using psychophysiological measures (Bowen and Lambert 1986; Peniston 1986) but the treatment required a large number of sessions over an extended period of time and PTSD was not assessed. Thirteen to 18 sessions of SD with the last two sessions spent in in vivo exposure were used successfully with three automobile accident victims (Muse 1986). Several uncontrolled studies demonstrated that SD was effective with rape victims in reducing fear, anxiety, depression, and social maladjustment (Frank et al. 1988; Frank and Stewart 1983; Turner 1979).

In summary, several studies show some beneficial results of SD with a variety of trauma victims, but the lack of adequate control conditions and/or the absence of PTSD diagnoses limit the conclusions that can be drawn from them. With the empirical finding that relaxation during confrontation with feared material was not necessary, and with evidence for the inferiority of SD to flooding in most anxiety disorders, the use of SD for anxiety disorders including PTSD was largely abandoned for a variety of imaginal and in vivo exposure techniques.

3.5 Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing

Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) (Shapiro 1996) is a form of exposure (desensitization) accompanied by saccadic eye movements. Briefly, the technique involves the patient's imagining a scene from the trauma, focusing on the accompanying cognition and arousal, while the therapist waves two fingers across the client's visual field and instructs the client to track the fingers. The sequence is repeated until anxiety decreases, at which point the patient is instructed to generate a more adaptive thought and to associate it with the scene while moving his/her eyes. After each session patients indicate their subjective units of discomfort (SUDS) level and their degree of belief in a positive cognition.

A number of case studies have reported positive findings with EMDR (review in Lohr et al. 1998). In the first study, (Shapiro 1989) randomly assigned trauma victims to either one session of EMDR or an exposure control condition (EC; EMDR without the eye movements) showed that clients who received EMDR reported lower SUDS ratings after one session of EMDR than did clients in the exposure control condition, but lack of methodological rigor makes this finding

difficult to interpret. Combat veterans were randomly assigned to two 90-min EMDR sessions, an EC, both as an adjunct to standard milieu treatment for veterans with PTSD, or standard milieu treatment alone (Boudewyns et al. 1993). SUDS ratings to traumatic stimuli were lower in the EMDR group and therapists rated more patients as responders in the EMDR versus EC group. However, the three groups did not differ in their lack of response as seen on standardized self-report measures, interviews of PTSD, or on physiological responses.

Jensen and Silver et al. (1995) examined EMDR in veterans with PTSD with mixed results between SUDS measures and PTSD severity measures. Pitman et al. (1996) addressed the role of eye movement comparing EMDR with and without the eye movement component in a random crossover design with 17 male veterans diagnosed with PTSD. The results indicated that both treatments modestly improved symptoms, but there was slightly more improvement in the eyes-fixed condition than from EMDR. A well-controlled randomized study on the efficacy of EMDR by Rothbaum (1997) examined 21 female rape victims assigned to either EMDR or a waiting list control group. Four weekly sessions of EMDR led to improvement on PTSD symptoms and gains were maintained at a 3-month follow-up. In one of the best-controlled studies involving EMDR to date, a course of nine sessions of EMDR was compared to nine sessions of a CBT (Devilly and Spence 1999). The results indicated that CBT was superior to EMDR at post treatment and 1-year follow-up. Another well-controlled study evaluated the relative efficacy of prolonged exposure (PE) and EMDR compared to a no-treatment waitlist control in the treatment of PTSD in adult female rape victims (n = 74). Improvement in PTSD as assessed by blind independent assessors, depression, dissociation, and state anxiety was significantly greater in both PE and EMDR group than the waitlist control group (20 completers per group). PE and EMDR did not differ significantly for a change from baseline to either post treatment or 6-month follow-up measurement for any quantitative scale (Rothbaum et al. 2005), but on a measure of good end-state functioning at 6 months post treatment, participants who had received PE were doing better than participants who had received EMDR.

In summary, several studies report the beneficial effects of EMDR, although other studies report equivocal findings with EMDR not resulting in significant improvements over control conditions or comparison treatments, especially on blind standardized PTSD measures. The recent Cochrane Database review concluded that EMDR was more effective than traditional therapies or no therapy, but not different from CBT and stress management (Bisson and Andrew 2007). The Institute of Medicine, however found that evidence is inadequate to determine efficacy, and that future welldesigned studies are critical (Institutes of Medicine 2008).

4 Traditional Combinations of Psychotherapy with Medication

Although combining treatments with apparently different modes of action, such as SSRI antidepressant therapy with psychotherapy for anxiety would seem straight-forward, numerous large trials and reviews have been disappointing. These studies have

suggested that standard treatment for anxiety or depression with combined chronic pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy provide little benefit over either treatment alone (Barlow et al. 2000; Foa et al. 2002, 2005; Otto et al. 2007). There are a variety of studies examining non-PTSD anxiety disorders treated with combined pharmacology (typically antidepressants) and psychotherapy that will be briefly discussed below.

4.1 Panic Disorder

Three studies evaluated combined approaches for panic disorder. Marks and colleagues compared alprazolam, exposure therapy, and alprazolam plus exposure therapy in the treatment of panic disorder with agoraphobia (Marks et al. 1993). 154 patients were randomized to one of four conditions: exposure +/- alprazolam and relaxation +/- alprazolam. Although exposure conditions produced greater improvement at post treatment, by 5 months follow-up, exposure treatment plus placebo outcome was superior to all other conditions. The second study included 77 patients with a diagnosis of panic disorder with agoraphobia randomized to 16 weeks of either CBT plus buspirone or CBT plus placebo (Cottraux et al. 1995). Results indicated no-treatment differences between groups, suggesting that the main effect in this study was the CBT and not the medication augmentation. The third study examined CBT, imipramine, or the combination in 312 randomly assigned patients (Barlow et al. 2000). CBT plus imipramine was found to be superior to CBT alone during treatment over 9 months. However, 6 months following treatment discontinuation, CBT groups without imipramine evidenced a superior outcome compared with the combined treatment.

Research on combined treatment for panic disorder suggests that the combination of traditionally used antianxiety and antidepressant medication and CBT may interfere with long-term gains. Necessary cognitive changes may be impeded by medication if gains are attributed to medication, or if medication hampers CBT disconfirmation of erroneous beliefs associated with anxiety-related physical responses (Foa et al. 2002).

4.2 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Here we discuss several randomized controlled trials of combined pharmacologic and psychotherapeutic treatment for obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD). Cottraux and colleagues compared exposure and ritual prevention (ERP) plus fluvoxamine, ERP plus placebo, and fluvoxamine alone, in a 24 week treatment of 60 patients (Cottraux et al. 1990). No group differences were detected as measured by the reduction of daily rituals greater than or equal to 30% at either post treatment or follow-up. Hohagen and colleagues compared ERP plus fluvox-amine to ERP plus placebo in the treatment of 58 patients (Hohagen et al. 1998).

Both groups improved significantly from pre- to post treatment, with no significant differences between groups with an advantage in percent responders for the combined treatment. Cognitive therapy, ERP, fluvoxamine plus cognitive therapy, fluvoxamine plus ERP and waitlist were compared in 117 patients (van Balkom et al. 1998). Using the Y-BOCS as the outcome measure, all four active treatments were superior to the waitlist at both midtreatment and post treatment, with no significant differences among active treatments. Recently, a double-blind randomized trial examined a pill placebo versus clomipramine, ERP, and clomipramine plus ERP in the treatment of 122 adult outpatients (Foa et al. 2005). Results as measured by Y-BOCS total score and the Clinical Global Impression indicated that all active treatments were superior to placebo. ERP did not differ from ERP plus clomipramine, and both were superior to clomipramine alone. Overall, the reviewed studies indicate no clear advantage for combined treatment over CBT alone in the treatment of OCD.

4.3 Social Phobia

Blomhoff and colleagues examined sertraline, exposure therapy plus sertraline, exposure therapy plus placebo, and placebo in the treatment of 387 patients (Blomhoff et al. 2001). Response to treatment, based on Clinician Global Impression-Improvement scale self and investigator ratings, indicated that patients in all active treatment groups were significantly more improved than placebo-treated patients at week 12, but at weeks 16 and 24, only the sertraline groups remained significantly superior to placebo. However, no significant differences between the active treatment groups were evidenced. A randomized placebo-controlled trial treating 60 patients diagnosed with generalized social phobia was conducted with cognitive therapy, fluoxetine plus self-exposure, or placebo plus self-exposure (Clark et al. 2003). Significant improvements were evidenced in all three treatment conditions, with cognitive therapy superior to fluoxetine plus self-exposure. Fluoxetine plus self-exposure and placebo plus self-exposure did not differ significantly. Davidson and colleagues performed a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial comparing fluoxetine, comprehensive cognitive-behavioral group therapy (CBGT), placebo, and combined fluoxetine and CBGT in the treatment of 295 outpatients (Davidson et al. 2004). Results indicated that by the final visit, all active treatments were significantly better than placebo but did not differ from each other. The authors conclude that there was no evidence for greater benefit of combined treatment over monotherapy, which seems to be the case for social phobia in general.

4.4 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

There is evidence for the effectiveness of both pharmacologic and psychotherapeutic treatment interventions for PTSD. Rothbaum and colleagues (Rothbaum et al. 2006)

conducted a multicenter investigation of augmentation of sertraline with prolonged exposure in the treatment of PTSD. Eighty-eight male and female outpatients diagnosed with PTSD were treated with open label sertraline (up to 200 mg or the maximum tolerated by week 6) for 10 weeks in phase I, and then were randomly assigned to receive continuation with sertraline alone or to receive augmentation with PE (10 twice weekly sessions of 90-120 min) in phase II. PE included psychoeducation about trauma reactions, breathing exercises, in vivo exposure, prolonged imaginal exposure, and homework which involved listening to a tape of the imaginal exposure recorded in session. Results indicated that five additional weeks of treatment with sertraline alone did not result in further improvement on measures of PTSD severity, depression, and general anxiety. Augmentation with PE did result in further reduction of PTSD severity as measured by the structured interview for PTSD (Davidson et al. 1997), but not in depression as measured by the Beck Depression Inventory (Beck et al. 1961) or general anxiety as measured by the state portion of the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Spielberger et al. 1970). The beneficial effect of PE augmentation was observed among medication partial (weaker) responders. There were no significant differences at the end of treatment between groups on PTSD severity. This study of combined treatment for PTSD indicates some advantage for medication partial responders in adding CBT, but did not compare CBT alone to the combined approach.

A recent study examined the potential benefits of adding sertraline versus placebo to TF-CBT for improving PTSD and related psychological symptoms in children who have experienced sexual abuse (Cohen et al. 2007). Twenty-four 10- to 17-year-old girls and their primary caretakers were randomly assigned to receive TF-CBT + sertraline or TF-CBT + placebo for 12 weeks. Both groups experienced significant improvement in PTSD and other clinical outcomes from pre- to post treatment with no significant group × time differences between groups except in Child Global Assessment Scale ratings, which favored the TF-CBT + sertraline group. These results only minimally suggest a benefit to adding sertraline to TF-CBT. A drawback of adding sertraline was determining whether TF-CBT or sertraline caused clinical improvement for children with comorbid depression.

Another method to combine treatment is to use antidepressants to augment psychotherapy for patients who are refractory to initial treatment. Simon and colleagues prospectively examined the relative efficacy of augmentation of continued prolonged exposure therapy (PE) with paroxetine controlled release (CR) versus placebo for individuals remaining symptomatic despite a course of PE (Simon et al. 2008). Adult outpatients meeting DSM-IV criteria for PTSD underwent eight sessions of individual PE over a 4- to 6-week period. Participants who remained symptomatic were randomly assigned to the addition of paroxetine CR or matched placebo for an additional five sessions of PE. Consistent with prior studies, the 44 phase I completers improved significantly with initial PE. However, they found no additive benefit of augmentation of continued PE with paroxetine CR compared to pill placebo for the 23 randomly assigned patients, with relatively minimal further gains overall in the second phase. These data do not support the addition of an SSRI to continued PE for individuals with PTSD who remain

symptomatic after initial PE, suggesting the need for development of novel treatment approaches for PTSD refractory to PE.

5 Novel Approach: Pharmacotherapy Augmentation of Psychotherapeutic Learning

An alternative approach to both standard chronic pharmacological treatments, which tend to target symptom clusters but not necessarily the root cause of the disorder, is the possibility of enhancing the specific new learning that occurs with psychotherapy. The pathways mediating this learning are on the one hand very complex, but on the other hand, specific learning processes that utilize brain regions such as amygdala and prefrontal cortex that are involved with extinction of fear are well understood. The sections below will discuss evidence that disorders of aversive emotion respond to behavioral therapy and utilize new emotional learning to compete with or inhibit the aversive memories – a process known as extinction – and that this process may be enhanced with specific pharmacotherapy. Together these approaches offer tantalizing future ways in which fear, aversive, and traumatic memories may be modulated to alleviate suffering due to negative memories.

The inhibition of fear acquired by associative learning has been studied in both animals and humans. Following the pairing of an aversive unconditioned stimulus (UCS) to a neutral conditioned stimulus (CS), a conditioned fear response is established. If the neutral CS is then repeatedly presented in the absence of the UCS, a procedure known as extinction training, the result is an inhibition of the conditioned fear response to the neutral CS. From an operational perspective, extinction may thus be defined as "a reduction in the strength or probability of a conditioned fear response as a consequence of repeated presentation of the CS in the absence of the UCS" (Rothbaum and Davis 2003).

A variety of behavioral observations support the hypothesis that extinction is a form of learning and not "unlearning" or the forgetting of a conditioned association (reviewed in Davis et al. 2006; Myers and Davis 2002). Thus, Davis and colleagues tested the hypothesis that enhancing neurotransmission at NMDA receptors would facilitate extinction (Walker et al. 2002). D-cycloserine (DCS) is a partial NMDA agonist, acting at the strychnine-insensitive glycine recognition site of the NMDA receptor complex to enhance NMDA receptor activity (Hood et al. 1989; Monahan et al. 1989). The central findings of this study were that both systemic and amygdala-specific administration of DCS dose-dependently enhanced extinction of previously conditioned fear but did not influence fear in rats that had not received extinction training. The general findings of this study have been replicated by numerous groups with extinction of fear with startle and freezing and with extinction of appetitive cues, such as cocaine-conditioned place preference (Ledgerwood et al. 2003, 2004, 2005; Richardson et al. 2004; Yang et al. 2006; Yang and Lu 2005). Collectively, data from rodent studies suggest that DCS, a drug already

shown to be safe for use in humans for treating tuberculosis, may have potential use in the facilitation of extinction-based therapies for human anxiety disorders.

From a therapeutic standpoint, the behavioral therapies for different anxiety disorders generally involve some form of extinction training (Rothbaum and Davis 2003). This involves graded exposure to the feared object or event in the absence of any likely actual harm. This exposure may be *imaginary* in nature wherein a narrative is read or listened to by the patient or in vivo where the feared stimulus is directly encountered by the patient. Considering the similarity between extinction training in rodents and exposure therapy for anxiety disorders in humans, novel ways to integrate pharmacotherapy with psychotherapy seemed plausible. Historically, there has been hope to combine these two approaches into a treatment more effective than either alone but unfortunately this has not generally been achieved (Foa et al. 2002; Otto 2002). In fact, sometimes combining pharmacotherapy with psychotherapy can make a bad situation worse (Barlow et al. 2000; Marks et al. 1993). However, extinctionbased therapies for anxiety may be an exception to this trend.

To determine whether DCS would also improve extinction of fear in human patients with fear-related disorders, a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in a controlled exposure paradigm was performed (Ressler et al. 2004). Twenty-eight subjects with fear of heights (acrophobia) were treated with two sessions of behavioral exposure therapy using VRE to heights within a virtual glass elevator. Single doses of placebo or DCS were taken prior to each of the two sessions of VRE therapy. Exposure therapy combined with DCS resulted in significantly larger reductions of acrophobia symptoms on all main outcome measures, including fear within the virtual environment, acrophobia symptoms outside of the environment, and acrophobia-related anxiety. Additionally, subjects receiving DCS showed significantly greater decreases in a physiological measure of anxiety during the test exposure. These pilot data provided initial support for the use of acute dosing of DCS as an adjunct to exposure-based psychotherapy to accelerate the associative learning processes that contribute to correcting psychopathology.

However, the underlying brain mechanisms mediating this fear reduction have yet to be completely understood. Recently, Britton and colleagues tested the effects of orally administered DCS on amygdala activity during the processing of repeated facial expressions in a double-blind study (Britton et al. 2007). Fourteen healthy males $(30.0 \pm 8.7 \text{ years of age})$ randomly received DCS or placebo prior to fMRI imaging. All participants viewed four separate runs, consisting of a single block of a repeated facial expression (happy or fearful) bracketed by fixation blocks. Anatomic region-of-interest analyses showed that the placebo group exhibited amygdala activation and response habituation, while the DCS group displayed blunted amygdala responses to emotional faces across the experiment, whereby habituation was not detected. This finding may have relevance for testing treatments of anxiety and depression through functional imaging.

DCS has also been used in a double-blind, placebo controlled trial for the treatment of social phobia or social anxiety disorder (SAD), utilizing exposure therapy as well. In this study, 27 subjects received four exposure therapy sessions combined with DCS or placebo. Those receiving DCS in addition to exposure

therapy reported significantly less social anxiety compared with patients receiving exposure therapy plus placebo. Controlled effect sizes were in the medium to large range (Hofmann et al. 2006a, b; reviewed in Hofmann 2007). Guastella et al. (2008) have recently extended on these findings in another similarly larger designed study of 56 participants who met primary diagnosis for SAD. Subjects administered DCS prior to exposure therapy reported greater improvement on measures of symptom severity, dysfunctional cognitions, and life-impairment from SAD in comparison with placebo-treated participants. Additionally, the results also provide the first preliminary evidence to suggest that DCS moderates the relationship between a reduction in negative appraisals about one's speech performance and improvement in overall SAD symptoms.

DCS has also been used to accelerate obsession-related distress reduction in patients with OCD undergoing extinction-based exposure therapy. DCS given prior to the therapy was found to decrease both the number of exposure sessions required to achieve clinical milestones and the rate of therapy dropout. After four exposure sessions, patients in the DCS group reported significantly greater decreases in obsession-related distress compared to the placebo group (Kushner et al. 2007). Most recently, a separate study of 23 OCD patients also found DCS enhances the efficacy of behavior therapy for OCD versus placebo augmentation of 10 behavior therapy sessions. Relative to the placebo group, the DCS group's OCD symptoms were significantly more improved at midtreatment, and the DCS group's depressive symptoms were significantly more improved at post treatment (Wilhelm et al. 2008).

There are currently two negative findings of DCS use in the augmentation of extinction in humans. However, in both studies, one utilizing exposure therapy for the treatment of spider phobia (Guastella et al. 2007a) and the second utilizing extinction for a conditioned cue in healthy human subjects (Guastella et al. 2007b), the placebo-controlled groups had good recovery as well. This suggests, as has been found in the animal studies, that if a "floor effect" of complete extinction is accomplished, then DCS may not augment extinction any further. Rather it appears that DCS may be most useful in disorders in which either a large number of therapy sessions are normally needed for a response, or in which the nature of the disorder is quite refractory to normal exposure-based therapy approaches.

There are currently several ongoing randomized clinical trials of DCS augmentation of treatment for PTSD. Since these studies have yet to be published, there is a great deal of excitement as to whether these new approaches will lead to advances in psychosocial treatment methodologies. It is hoped that with progress in the neurobiology and neuropharmacology of extinction of fear, that previously undiscovered approaches to pharmacotherapy will significantly enhance treatment for refractory mood and anxiety disorders, including PTSD.

Most recently, Norberg and colleagues (Norberg et al. 2008) performed a metaanalysis providing a quantitative review of DCS, which nicely summarized the role of DCS in augmenting fear extinction and exposure therapy in the preclinical and clinical literature. Data were extracted for DCS studies from 1998 to 2007. The analyzed results indicated that DCS enhances fear extinction/exposure therapy in both animals and anxiety-disordered humans, while some lessening of efficacy occurs over the length of the treatment time. D-cycloserine was more effective when administered a limited number of times and when given immediately before or after extinction training/exposure. The major contribution of DCS to exposure-based therapy might be to increase its speed or efficiency, because the effects of DCS seem to decrease over repeated sessions. Overall, DCS continues to be promising as a pharmacological enhancement of psychotherapy, and may guide translational research towards future potential agents that effectively enhance behavioral therapy.

A recent review examined critical parameters for D-cycloserine enhancement of CBT (Rothbaum 2008). As stated in that review, there are several different strategies for combining pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy and challenges and advantages to each. For the antidepressant medications, if they are added at the start of CBT, there is the problem of time to response and the extant literature does not suggest any advantage to combining these medications with CBT for anxiety disorders. For anxiolytic medications other than the antidepressants, generally the onset of action is much quicker, and they can be combined with psychotherapy from the onset. However, there is some evidence that they may impede CBT, especially exposure therapy. For the more novel medication approaches such as D-cycloserine, the drug is not expected to afford any benefits in and of itself; it is only in combination with the exposure therapy, so they should be on board at the same time. In contrast to the more traditional medications (e.g., antidepressants and anxiolytics) combined with CBT for anxiety, these novel medication approaches do seem to afford some advantages when combined with CBT. The new approaches aim to combine a cognitive enhancer medication that will specifically enhance the efficacy of the emotional learning process that takes place in psychotherapy and hopefully make these new memories more robust, stable, and long-lasting. What is particularly promising about this approach is that it was developed rationally, based on the neuroscience of fear and anxiety and extinction.

6 Conclusion

Overall, the most controlled studies of psychosocial treatments for PTSD have been conducted on cognitive-behavioral treatments. These studies demonstrate that techniques such as prolonged exposure procedures are effective in reducing symptoms of PTSD. SD has largely been abandoned in favor of pure exposure techniques. Relaxation and cognitive therapy are best viewed as treatment components rather than stand-alone treatments. Contrary to clinical intuition, there is no evidence indicating the superiority of programs that combine different cognitive-behavioral techniques. In view of the fact that these interventions are widely employed with trauma victims, it is imperative that their efficacy will be examined in well-controlled studies. Furthermore, the majority of studies combining antide-pressant and other antianxiety medication with behavioral therapies have not been successful or have been mixed at best. New approaches with pharmacotherapy of p-cycloserine, and potentially other medications aimed at specifically enhancing

the emotional learning process that occurs with psychotherapy, may be quite effective and hold promise for improving the treatments of PTSD and other anxiety disorders in the near future.

References

- Barlow DH, Gorman JM, Shear MK, Woods SW (2000) Cognitive-behavioral therapy, imipramine, or their combination for panic disorder: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 283: 2529–2536
- Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J (1961) An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 4:561–571
- Bisson J, Andrew M (2007) Psychological treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev: Issue 3 Art No.: CD003388. DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD003388.pub3
- Blomhoff S, Haug TT, Hellstrom K, Holme I, Humble M, Madsbu HP, Wold JE (2001) Randomised controlled general practice trial of sertraline, exposure therapy and combined treatment in generalised social phobia. Br J Psychiatry 179:23–30
- Boudewyns PA, Hyer L (1990) Physiological response to combat memories and preliminary treatment outcome in Vietnam veterans PTSD patients treated with direct therapeutic exposure. Behav Ther 21:63–87
- Boudewyns PA, Hyer L, Woods MG et al (1990) PTSD among Vietnam veterans: an early look at treatment outcome using direct therapeutic exposure. J Trauma Stress 3:359–368
- Boudewyns PA, Stwertka SA, Hyer LA (1993) Eye movement desensitization for PTSD of combat: a treatment outcome pilot study. Behav Therap 16:29–33
- Bowen GR, Lambert JA (1986) Systematic desensitization therapy with post-traumatic stress disorder cases. In: Figley CR (ed) Trauma and its wake. Brunner/Mazel, New York, pp 280–291
- Bradley R, Greene J, Russ E, Dutra L, Westen D (2005) A multidimensional meta-analysis of psychotherapy for PTSD. Am J Psychiatry 162:214–227
- Britton JC, Gold AL, Feczko EJ, Rauch SL, Williams D, Wright CI (2007) D-cycloserine inhibits amygdala responses during repeated presentations of faces. CNS Spectr 12:600–605
- Brom D, Kleber RJ, Defares PB (1989) Brief psychotherapy for posttraumatic stress disorders. J Consult Clin Psychol 57:607–612
- Burgess AW, Holmstrom LL (1974) Rape trauma syndrome. Am J Psychiatry 131:981-986
- Clark DM, Ehlers A, McManus F, Hackmann A, Fennell M, Campbell H, Flower T, Davenport C, Louis B (2003) Cognitive therapy versus fluoxetine in generalized social phobia: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 71:1058–1067
- Cohen JA, Mannarino AP, Perel JM, Staron V (2007) A pilot randomized controlled trial of combined trauma-focused CBT and sertraline for childhood PTSD symptoms. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 46:811–819
- Cooper NA, Clum GA (1989) Imaginal flooding as a supplementary treatment for PTSD in combat veterans: a controlled study. Behav Ther 3:381–391
- Cottraux J, Mollard E, Bouvard M, Marks I, Sluys M, Nury AM, Douge R, Cialdella P (1990) A controlled study of fluvoxamine and exposure in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 5:17–30
- Cottraux J, Note ID, Cungi C, Legeron P, Heim F, Chneiweiss L, Bernard G, Bouvard M (1995) A controlled study of cognitive behaviour therapy with buspirone or placebo in panic disorder with agoraphobia. Br J Psychiatry 167:635–641
- Crowe CM, Price M, Bradley R (2008) Preliminary findings from an uncontrolled pilot of a novel delivery model for exposure therapy in OEF/OIF and Persian Gulf combat veterans, unpublished

- Davidson JR, Malik MA, Travers J (1997) Structured interview for PTSD (SIP): psychometric validation for DSM-IV criteria. Depress Anxiety 5:127–129
- Davidson JR, Foa EB, Huppert JD, Keefe FJ, Franklin ME, Compton JS, Zhao N, Connor KM, Lynch TR, Gadde KM (2004) Fluoxetine, comprehensive cognitive behavioral therapy, and placebo in generalized social phobia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1005–1013
- Davis M, Ressler K, Rothbaum BO, Richardson R (2006) Effects of D-cycloserine on extinction: translation from preclinical to clinical work. Biol Psychiatry 60:369–375
- Deblinger E, McLeer SV, Henry D (1990) Cognitive behavioral treatment for sexually abused children suffering post-traumatic stress: preliminary findings. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 29:747–752
- Devilly GJ, Spence SH (1999) The relative efficacy and treatment distress of EMDR and a cognitive-behavior trauma treatment protocol in the amelioration of posttraumatic stress disorder. J Anxiety Disord 13:131–157
- Difede J, Cukor J, Jayasinghe N, Patt I, Jedel S, Spielman L, Giosan C, Hoffman HG (2007) Virtual reality exposure therapy for the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder following September 11, 2001. J Clin Psychiatry 68:1639–1647
- Evans HI (1978) Psychotherapy for the rape victim: some treatment models. Hosp Community Psychiatry 29:309–312
- Fairbank JA, Gross RT, Keane TM (1983) Treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Evaluating outcome with a behavioral code. Behav Modif 7:557–568
- Foa EB, Kozak MJ (1986) Emotional processing of fear: exposure to corrective information. Psychol Bull 99:20–35
- Foa EB, Rothbaum BO (1998) Treating the trauma of rape: cognitive-behavioral therapy for PTSD. Guilford, New York
- Foa E, Sketetee G, Rothbaum BO (1989) Behavioral/cognitive conceptualizations of post-traumatic stress disorder. Behav Ther 20:155–176
- Foa EB, Rothbaum BO, Riggs DS, Murdock TB (1991) Treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder in rape victims: a comparison between cognitive-behavioral procedures and counseling. J Consult Clin Psychol 59:715–723
- Foa EB, Hearst-Ikeda D, Perry KJ (1995) Evaluation of a brief cognitive-behavioral program for the prevention of chronic PTSD in recent assault victims. J Consult Clin Psychol 63:948–955
- Foa EB, Dancu CV, Hembree EA, Jaycox LH, Meadows EA, Street GP (1999) A comparison of exposure therapy, stress inoculation training, and their combination for reducing posttraumatic stress disorder in female assault victims. J Consult Clin Psychol 67:194–200
- Foa E, Franklin ME, Moser J (2002) Context in the clinic: how well do cognitive-behavioral therapies and medications work in combination? Biol Psych 52:987–997
- Foa EB, Liebowitz MR, Kozak MJ, Davies S, Campeas R, Franklin ME, Huppert JD, Kjernisted K, Rowan V, Schmidt AB, Simpson HB, Tu X (2005) Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of exposure and ritual prevention, clomipramine, and their combination in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 162:151–161
- Fox S, Scherl D (1972) Crisis intervention with victims of rape. Social Work 17:37-42
- Frank E, Stewart BD (1983) Treating depression in victims of rape. The Clinical Psychologist 8:65–74
- Frank E, Anderson B, Stewart BD et al (1988) Efficacy of cognitive behavior therapy and systematic desensitization in the treatment of rape trauma. Behav Ther 19:403–420
- Guastella AJ, Dadds MR, Lovibond PF, Mitchell P, Richardson R (2007a) A randomized controlled trial of the effect of d-cycloserine on exposure therapy for spider fear. J Psychiatr Res 41:466–471
- Guastella AJ, Lovibond PF, Dadds MR, Mitchell P, Richardson R (2007b) A randomized controlled trial of the effect of d-cycloserine on extinction and fear conditioning in humans. Behav Res Ther 45:663–672

- Guastella AJ, Richardson R, Lovibond PF, Rapee RM, Gaston JE, Mitchell P, Dadds MR (2008) A randomized controlled trial of D-cycloserine enhancement of exposure therapy for social anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 63:544–549
- Hofmann SG (2007) Enhancing exposure-based therapy from a translational research perspective. Behav Res Ther 45:1987–2001
- Hofmann SG, Meuret AE, Smits JA, Simon NM, Pollack MH, Eisenmenger K, Shiekh M, Otto MW (2006a) Augmentation of exposure therapy with D-cycloserine for social anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:298–304
- Hofmann SG, Pollack MH, Otto MW (2006b) Augmentation treatment of psychotherapy for anxiety disorders with D-cycloserine. CNS Drug Rev 12:208–217
- Hohagen F, Winkelmann G, Rasche-Ruchle H, Hand I, Konig A, Munchau N, Hiss H, Geiger-Kabisch C, Kappler C, Schramm P, Rey E, Aldenhoff J, Berger M (1998) Combination of behaviour therapy with fluvoxamine in comparison with behaviour therapy and placebo. Results of a multicentre study. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 35:71–78
- Hood W, Compton R, Monahan J (1989) D-cycloserine: a ligand for the N-methyl-D-aspartate coupled glycine receptor has partial agonist characteristics. Neurosci Lett 98:91–95
- Horowitz MJ (1976) Stress-Response Syndromes. Jason Aronson, New York
- Institutes of Medicine (2008) Treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: an assessment of the evidence. National Academies, Washington, DC
- Jensen JA (1994) An investigation of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMD/R) as a treatment for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms of Vietnam combat veterans. Behavior Therapy 25:2311–2326
- Johnson CH, Gilmore JD, Shenoy RS (1982) Use of a feeding procedure in the treatment of a stress-related anxiety disorder. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 13:235–237
- Keane TM, Kaloupek DG (1982) Imaginal flooding in the treatment of a posttraumatic stress disorder. J Consult Clin Psychol 50:138–140
- Keane TM, Fairbank JA, Caddell JM, Zimering RT (1989) Implosive (flooding) therapy reduces symptoms of PTSD in Vietnam combat veterans. Behav Ther 20:245–260
- Kilpatrick DG, Veronen LJ, Resick PA (1982) Psychological sequelae to rape: assessment and treatment strategies. In: Dolays DM, Meredith RL (eds) Behavioral medicine: assessment and treatment strategies. Plenum, New York, pp 473–497
- Kushner MG, Kim SW, Donahue C, Thuras P, Adson D, Kotlyar M, McCabe J, Peterson J, Foa EB (2007) D-cycloserine augmented exposure therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 62:835–838
- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J (2003) Effects of D-cycloserine on extinction of conditioned freezing. Behav Neurosci 117:341–349
- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J (2004) D-cycloserine and the facilitation of extinction of conditioned fear: consequences for reinstatement. Behav Neurosci 118:505–513
- Ledgerwood L, Richardson R, Cranney J (2005) D-cycloserine facilitates extinction of learned fear: effects on reacquisition and generalized extinction. Biol Psychiatry 57:841–847
- Lohr JM, Tolin DF, Lilienfeld SO (1998) Efficacy of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing: implications for behavior therapy. Behav Ther 29:123–156
- Marks I, Swinson R, Basoglu M, Kuch K, Noshirvani H, O'Sullivan G, Lelliott P, Kirby M, McNamee G, Sengun S et al (1993) Alprazolam and exposure alone and combined in panic disorder with agoraphobia. A controlled study in London and Toronto. Br J Psychiatry 162:776–787
- Monahan JB, Handelmann GE, Hood WF, Cordi AA (1989) D-cycloserine, a positive modulator of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, enhances performance of learning tasks in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 34:649–653
- Muse M (1986) Stress-related, posttraumatic chronic pain syndrome: behavioral treatment approach. Pain 25:389–394
- Myers KM, Davis M (2002) Behavioral and neural analysis of extinction. Neuron 36:567-584

- Norberg MM, Krystal JH, Tolin DF (2008) A meta-analysis of D-cycloserine and the facilitation of fear extinction and exposure therapy. Biol Psychiatry 63:1118–1126
- Otto M (2002) Learning and "unlearning" fears: preparedness, neural pathways, and patients. Biol Psych 52:917–920
- Otto MW, Basden SL, Leyro TM, McHugh RK, Hofmann SG (2007) Clinical perspectives on the combination of D-cycloserine and cognitive-behavioral therapy for the treatment of anxiety disorders. CNS Spectr 12(51–56):59–61
- Parsons TD, Rizzo AA (2008) Affective outcomes of virtual reality exposure therapy for anxiety and specific phobias: a meta-analysis. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 39(3):250–261
- Peniston EG (1986) EMG biofeedback-assisted desensitization treatment for Vietnam combat veteran's post-traumatic stress disorder. Clin Biofeedback Health 9:35–41
- Pitman RK, Orr SP, Altman B, Longpre RE, Poire RE, Macklin ML (1996) Emotional processing during eye movement desensitization and reprocessing therapy of Vietnam veterans with chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. Compr Psychiatry 37:419–429
- Ready DJ, Thomas KR, Worley V, Backscheider AG, Harvey LA, Baltzell D, Rothbaum BO (2008) A field test of group based exposure therapy with 102 veterans with war-related posttraumatic stress disorder. J Trauma Stress 21:150–157
- Resick P, Schnicke MK (1993) Cognitive processing therapy for rape victims: a treatment manual. Sage, Newbury Park, CA
- Resick PA, Jordan CG, Girelli SA et al (1988) A comparative victim study of behavioral group therapy for sexual assault victims. Behav Ther 19:385–401
- Ressler KJ, Rothbaum BO, Tannenbaum L, Anderson P, Graap K, Zimand E, Hodges L, Davis M (2004) Cognitive enhancers as adjuncts to psychotherapy: use of D-cycloserine in phobic individuals to facilitate extinction of fear. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1136–1144
- Richards DA, Lovell K, Marks IM (1994) Post-traumatic stress disorder: evaluation of a behavioral treatment program. J Trauma Stress 7:669–680
- Richardson R, Ledgerwood L, Cranney J (2004) Facilitation of fear extinction by D-cycloserine: theoretical and clinical implications. Learn Mem 11:510–516
- Rothbaum BO (1997) A controlled study of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disordered sexual assault victims. Bull Menninger Clin 61:317–334
- Rothbaum BO (2008) Critical parameters for D-cycloserine enhancement of cognitive-behaviorial therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 165:293–296
- Rothbaum BO, Davis M (2003) Applying learning principles to the treatment of post-trauma reactions. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1008:112–121
- Rothbaum BO, Hodges LF, Ready D, Graap K, Alarcon RD (2001) Virtual reality exposure therapy for Vietnam veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 62:617–622
- Rothbaum BO, Astin MC, Marsteller F (2005) Prolonged Exposure versus Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) for PTSD rape victims. J Trauma Stress 18:607–616
- Rothbaum BO, Cahill SP, Foa EB, Davidson JR, Compton J, Connor KM, Astin MC, Hahn CG (2006) Augmentation of sertraline with prolonged exposure in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. J Trauma Stress 19:625–638
- Schnurr PP, Friedman MJ, Foy DW, Shea MT, Hsieh FY, Lavori PW, Glynn SM, Wattenberg M, Bernardy NC (2003) Randomized trial of trauma-focused group therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder: results from a department of veterans affairs cooperative study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:481–489
- Schnurr PP, Friedman MJ, Engel CC, Foa EB, Shea MT, Chow BK, Resick PA, Thurston V, Orsillo SM, Haug R, Turner C, Bernardy N (2007) Cognitive behavioral therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder in women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 297:820–830
- Shapiro F (1989) Efficacy of the eye movement desensitization procedure in the treatment of traumatic memories. J Trauma Stress 2:199–223

- Shapiro F (1996) Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing: basic protocols, principles, and procedures. Guilford, New York
- Silver SM, Brooks A, Obenchain J (1995) Treatment of Vietnam war veterans with PTSD: a comparison of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing, biofeedback, and relaxation training. J Trauma Stress 8(2):337–342
- Simon NM, Connor KM, Lang AJ, Rauch S, Krulewicz S, LeBeau RT, Davidson JR, Stein MB, Otto MW, Foa EB, Pollack MH (2008) Paroxetine CR augmentation for posttraumatic stress disorder refractory to prolonged exposure therapy. J Clin Psychiatry 69:400–405
- Solomon SD, Gerrity ET, Muff AM (1992) Efficacy of treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder. An empirical review. JAMA 268:633–638
- Spiegel D (1989) Hypnosis in the treatment of victims of sexual abuse. Psychiatr Clin North Am 12:295–305
- Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lechene RE, Press CP (1970) State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Self-Evaluation Questionnaire). Consulting Psychologists Press, Palo Alto, CA
- Tarrier N, Pilgrim H, Sommerfield C, Faragher B, Reynolds M, Graham E, Barrowclough C (1999) A randomized trial of cognitive therapy and imaginal exposure in the treatment of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. J Consult Clin Psychol 67:13–18
- Turner SM (1979) Systematic desensitization of fears and anxiety in rape victims. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Association of the Advancement of Behavior Therapy, San Francisco, CA
- van Balkom AJ, de Haan E, van Oppen P, Spinhoven P, Hoogduin KA, van Dyck R (1998) Cognitive and behavioral therapies alone versus in combination with fluvoxamine in the treatment of obsessive compulsive disorder. J Nerv Ment Dis 186:492–499
- Van Etten ML, Taylor S (1998) Comparative efficacy of treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder: a meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Psychotherapy 5:126–145
- Veronen LJ, Kilpatrick DG (1983) Stress management for rape victims. In: Meichenbaum D, Jaremko ME (eds) Stress reduction and prevention. Plenum, New York
- Walker DL, Ressler KJ, Lu KT, Davis M (2002) Facilitation of conditioned fear extinction by systemic administration or intra-amygdala infusions of D-cycloserine as assessed with fearpotentiated startle in rats. J Neurosci 22:2343–2351
- Watson CG, Tuorila JR, Vickers KS, Gearhart LP, Mendez CM (1997) The efficacies of three relaxation regimens in the treatment of PTSD in Vietnam War veterans. J Clin Psychol 53:917–923
- Wilhelm S, Buhlmann U, Tolin DF, Meunier SA, Pearlson GD, Reese HE, Cannistraro P, Jenike MA, Rauch SL (2008) Augmentation of behavior therapy with D-cycloserine for obsessivecompulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 165:335–341
- Wolpe J (1988) Psychotherapy by reciprocal inhibition. Stanford University Press, Stanford, CA
- Yalom I (1995) The theory and practice of group psychotherapy, 4th edn. Basic, New York
- Yang YL, Lu KT (2005) Facilitation of conditioned fear extinction by d-cycloserine is mediated by mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase cascades and requires de novo protein synthesis in basolateral nucleus of amygdala. Neuroscience 134:247–260
- Yang YL, Chao PK, Ro LS, Wo YY, Lu KT (2006) Glutamate NMDA receptors within the amygdala participate in the modulatory effect of glucocorticoids on extinction of conditioned fear in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 32(5):1042–1051

Part V Preclinical and Clinical Psychopharmacology

Pharmacological Systems

The Pharmacology of Anxiety

C. Durant, D. Christmas, and D. Nutt

Contents

1	Introduction					
	1.1 The GABAergic System and Anxiety		. 305			
	1.2 Early Evidence for the Role of the GABAergic System in Anxiety		. 306			
	1.3	The GABA _A Receptor and Anxiety	. 307			
	1.4	How the BDZ-GABA _A Receptor Site Has Contributed to the Understanding of Anxiety	. 309			
	1.5	Evidence of a GABA Receptor Abnormality in Brain Imaging Studies	. 311			
	1.6	A Glimpse at the Future: How Individual Subunits of the GABA _A				
		Receptor Could Contribute to Anxiety	. 312			
	1.7	Impaired GABAergic Metabolism in Anxiety Disorders: Additional Approaches				
		to Targeting the GABA System	. 313			
2	Serotonin					
3	Noradrenaline					
4	Dopamine					
5	Glutamate					
6	Conclusions					
Ref	References					

Abstract Understanding the neurochemistry of anxiety is of fundamental importance in the development and use of novel anxiolytics. Through measuring peripheral markers of brain biochemistry, direct pharmacological challenges and brain neuroimaging techniques our understanding of this field has increased substantially in the past few decades. We review the four most studied neurotransmitter systems with respect to in anxiety disorders: gamma amino-butyric acid, serotonin, noradrenaline and dopamine. We have focussed upon clinical studies to highlight the

Psychopharmacology Unit, University of Bristol, Dorothy Hodgkin Building, Whitson Street Bristol, BS1 3NY, UK

e-mail:Claire.Durant@bristol.ac.uk

C. Durant (🖂), D. Christmas, and D. Nutt

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 18 September 2009

current techniques used to determine brain neurochemistry in vivo. Future research in this field will greatly benefit from recent advances in neuroimaging techniques and the discovery of novel ligands targeting specific receptors.

Keywords Anxiety disorders \cdot Pharmacology \cdot GABA \cdot Serotonin \cdot Noradrenaline \cdot Dopamine \cdot Glutamate

1 Introduction

Anxiety is an emotion experienced as a part of everyday life and can be viewed as a continuum. At one end of the scale, mild anxiety can improve motivation and productivity; at the other end intense anxiety with the 'fight or flight' response promotes survival in response to danger. However, when occurring at inappropriate times or to an excessive degree, anxiety can become pathological. Anxiety disorders are the most common psychiatric illnesses (Pillay and Stein 2007) with over 10% (3.6 million) of individuals experiencing an anxiety disorder at some point in their life time (Wittchen and Jacobi 2005). These disorders have profoundly disabling consequences, leading to significant suffering and a reduced quality of life (Rapaport et al. 2005). For many of these individuals, leading a normal life is no longer possible, with a high prevalence of divorce and unemployment and a huge socioeconomic cost, estimated at £5 billion per year cross-nationally (WHO 2000). Anxiety disorders are the most chronic of all mental illnesses with the youngest age of onset (15 years; WHO 2000), making them a devastating and often lifelong disorder.

Despite the recognition of pathological anxiety as a serious clinical problem, it was not until the publication of the DSM-III in 1980 that systematic study of 'anxiety disorders' was undertaken. There are now six clinically recognised anxiety disorders listed by the DSM-IV allowing more specific study of different 'anxiety syndromes'. However, at present, understanding of the underlying pathological processes of specific anxiety disorders remains limited.

Understanding of the neural basis of anxiety, specifically the role of different neurotransmitters, is of fundamental importance for the development of novel anxiolytics. However, study of the neurochemical basis of anxiety is difficult, with initial research being driven by the chance discovery of drugs with anxiety reducing properties. As such, focus on gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and the monoamine neurotransmitters, noradrenaline, serotonin and dopamine, has dominated the field, based on evidence that effective anxiolytics interact with these systems. Direct manipulation of these neurotransmitters and their receptors in animal models has resulted in the expression of 'anxiety-like syndromes', through which it has been possible to investigate the underlying circuitry and receptors involved.

Study of the neurochemistry of anxiety in humans is somewhat more complicated, with a number of different approaches developed to explore underlying abnormalities in anxiety disorders. Peripheral measures of neurotransmitters in the blood and urine of patients with anxiety disorders have been unable to demonstrate any dramatic changes, with similar results for measures of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). A different approach has been to use challenge tests in which anxiety is induced experimentally and the consequences, physiological and psychological are investigated. Challenge tests in both healthy volunteers and anxiety patients have been well developed and are now used extensively in research for development of novel anxiolytics. Indeed, the use of agonists and antagonists directed at specific neurotransmitter receptors in challenge paradigms has highlighted important abnormalities in the responses of anxiety patients, which are discussed in more detail below. Advances in brain imaging techniques have also allowed direct study of the neurocircuitry and receptors involved in the living human brain. These are now being combined with challenge tests to assess via more direct means the functional integrity of various systems. Neuroimaging technologies have already highlighted important abnormalities in GABAergic and monoaminegic systems associated with anxiety disorders and represent a powerful tool for the future study of neurochemical aspects of anxiety. This chapter will present an overview of the GABAeric and monoaminergic systems in anxiety disorders, with emphasis on clinical studies, as pre-clinical data will be covered elsewhere.

1.1 The GABAergic System and Anxiety

Much evidence implicates the GABAergic system in human anxiety, though most direct evidence is currently provided by pre-clinical data (see Kalueff and Nutt 1996). However, indirect manipulation and brain imaging of GABA in humans provides a strong case for its involvement in human anxiety disorders.

GABA is the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the mammalian central nervous system. Released at an estimated 20–50% of central synapses, GABAergic neurotransmission plays a crucial role in controlling the excitability of neuronal activity in the brain (Sieghart 1995). The majority of GABAergic neurones are found in the CNS where they are widely distributed, with very few found in the peripheral nervous system. Reflecting their extensive presence in the brain, GABAergic neurones help to set the ongoing level of neuronal activity by opposing ongoing excitatory input (mainly glutamatergic, Nutt 2006).

GABA is synthesised from glutamate by L-glutamic acid decarboxylase, after which GABA is stored in synaptic vesicles. Neuronal activation results in the release of GABA into the synaptic cleft, activating clusters of post-synaptic receptors, resulting in rapid inhibitory 'phasic' neurotransmission. Released GABA can also 'spillover' into the extra-synaptic space, activating a range of extra-synaptic receptors found both pre- and post-synaptically on adjacent neurones so providing a 'tonic' inhibition that controls background levels of neuronal excitation (reviewed by Farrant and Nusser 2005). Uptake transporters located on presynaptic neurones and supporting glial cells terminate GABAergic neurotransmission by removing GABA from the synapse and extra-cellular space (Nutt 2006).

GABA acts through two main types of receptor: the fast-acting ion gated or 'ionotropic' receptors of which two, $GABA_A$ and $GABA_C$, have been identified and the slower acting G-coupled 'metabotropic' $GABA_B$ receptor (Bormann 2000).

The GABA_A receptor is the most prominent type of GABA receptor in the brain. It plays a key role in regulating the excitatory tone of many other types of neurones including dopaminergic, cholinergic and serotonergic (Fritschy et al. 1992; Gao et al. 1995). Abnormalities of GABA_A receptor expression and function have been the focus of intense research in anxiety as the majority of anxiolytics target this receptor complex.

Less is currently known about the GABA_B receptor which is widely expressed in both the periphery (including non-neuronal tissue) and in many brain areas including cortical, thalamic, cerebellar and limbic regions (Billinton et al. 2000). GABA_B receptors exert their action via activation of G-protein linked intracellular messengers. Structurally, the GABA_B receptor is made up of two subunits: B1, responsible for ligand binding and B2, coupled to intracellular signalling proteins. When located in the pre-synaptic neurone GABA_B receptors reduce conductance though voltage sensitive calcium channels, so inhibiting neurotransmitter release. Postsynaptically GABA_B receptors increase potassium influx, leading to hyperpolarisation (see Bettler et al. 2004).

Of interest for anxiety is the finding that $GABA_B$ expression is particularly high in the limbic system, a region linked to the processing of emotional material (Cryan and Kaupmann 2005). However, current understanding of the role of these receptors in human anxiety is poor. Studies administering the specific GABA_B agonist baclofen in attempts to produce anxiolytic effects have shown highly variable results, in both pre-clinical and clinical studies (reviewed in Kalueff and Nutt 1996). More recently, the finding of increased anxiety in GABA_{B(1)} knockout mice over a range of standard anxiotylic tasks has renewed interest in these receptors (Cryan and Kaupmann 2005). The potential of the GABA_B receptor as a target for novel anxiolytics will no doubt be of continued interest as research uncovers a more detailed picture of this receptor in the human brain.

1.2 Early Evidence for the Role of the GABAergic System in Anxiety

The behavioural results of altering GABAergic signalling provides strong support for the role of this system in anxiety. Enhancing the GABAergic signal, e.g., using GABA_A agonists, is anxiolytic as well as anti-convulsant, sedative, amnestic and ataxia-producing. Attenuating GABA function, e.g., with the inverse agonist FG7142, causes arousal, anxiety, restlessness, insomnia and seizures. Ways of enhancing GABAergic transmission for its anxiolytic effects have been sought by humans for centuries, with the use of alcohol providing courage in the face of stressful situations reported throughout history.

Preliminary evidence that reducing GABAergic transmission induces anxiety came from the early use of pentylenetetrazol (PTZ) a convulsant drug used to induce seizures in the treatment of severe psychiatric disorders before the discovery of ECT. During its use dose titration was difficult, in many cases too little was given and no seizure was caused. This, however, produced a severely anxious state, leading to patients feeling 'as if they were going to die', and trying (often successfully) to escape from the clinic. Memory of this anxiety was extremely strong resulting in resistance to return to therapy and it was later shown that PTZ acts as an antagonist GABA_A receptor. Reduced transmission through the GABA_A receptor, therefore, causes some of the main symptoms associated with anxiety disorders, excessive experiencing of anxious emotion, escape behaviour and avoidance of associated situations (Nutt 2001).

A brief look at the early history of anxiolytic drugs also points towards a relationship between the GABAergic system and anxiety. The first class of drug developed specifically to target anxious symptoms was the barbiturates in 1903, which were highly effective and became widely used until the 1950s. Unfortunately, the barbiturates can cause respiratory arrest and have a narrow therapeutic index, which resulted in many accidental deaths. The benzodiazepines (BDZs) were developed as a safer alternative in the 1960s, quickly becoming the most widely prescribed drugs worldwide to treat anxiety. There are now a number of BDZs in clinical use for anxiety, including diazepam, lorazepam, clonazepam and alprazolam (Pillay and Stein 2007). It is now known that both barbiturates and BDZs potentiate GABA receptor function. It is understandable, therefore, that there is considerable interest in the GABA_A receptor and its manipulation in attempts to treat and understand the underlying neurochemistry of human anxiety disorders.

1.3 The GABA_A Receptor and Anxiety

Following the discovery of BDZs, interest focused on determining their mechanism of action. Evidence indicated BDZs caused specific GABA potentiation through binding to a particular site in the CNS, later isolated as a subunit of the GABA_A receptor complex (reviewed by Nutt and Malizia 2001). With the use of electron microscopy it has been possible to visualise the GABA_A receptor (Nayeem et al. 1994) which consists of five protein subunits arranged like a rosette around a central pore permeable to chloride and other anions (Fig. 1). The GABA_A receptor exhibits significant heterogeneity with 19 different subunits identified to date, each coded for by a different gene. These subunits have been grouped into six main families based on sequence homology: $\alpha(1-6)$, $\beta(1-3)$, $\gamma(1-3)$, δ , ε and $\sigma(1-3)$. The generic stoichiometric composition of the GABA_A receptor comprises 2 α , 2 β and 1 γ subunits, with $\alpha 1\beta 2\gamma 2$ representing the most abundant form in the human CNS (Korpi



Fig. 1 (a) Electron micrograph of GABA_A receptor. Reproduced with permission from (Nayeem et al. 1994). (b) GABA_A receptor subunits, indicating the most prevalent form, $\alpha 1\beta 2\gamma 2$ with given 2:2:1 stoichiometery (Nutt 2006). (c) Schematic of the GABA_A receptor channel with agonist and antagonist binding sites highlighted, with permission from (Whiting et al. 1999)

and Sinkkonen 2006). Importantly, different subunit isoforms have been shown to confer specific distributions and receptor properties within the human brain.

Based on rodent immunocytochemistry the GABA_A receptor subunits exhibiting the highest expression levels include the $\alpha 1$, $\beta 1$ –3 and $\gamma 2$ receptor subunits, although these show differences in regional distribution. The $\alpha 1$ and $\gamma 2$ subunits exhibit the widest expression throughout all brain regions; in contrast, the remaining $\alpha 2$ –6 subunits show more restriction to certain brain regions. For example, the $\alpha 2$ subunit is confined mainly to forebrain and cerebellar areas, whereas $\alpha 5$ expression is localised to the hippocampus, hypothalamus and olfactory bulb (Pirker et al. 2000). There is also evidence of co-distribution of certain subunits, e.g., both δ and $\alpha 4$ expression was observed in the hippocampus, thalamus, striatum and outer cortical areas (Pirker et al. 2000).

In addition, subunits also show subcellular localisation. Whereas the $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 6$, $\beta 2/3$ and $\gamma 2$ subunits are mainly found post-synaptically, the δ and $\alpha 5$ subunits are predominantly extra-synaptic in location (Farrant and Nusser 2005). Importantly, GABA_A subunit composition and localisation relates to the role of the receptor. Extra-synaptic receptors, required to respond continuously to lower neurotransmitter levels, contain subunits that confer slower desensitisation rates and higher affinities for GABA, providing 'tonic' inhibition compared with synaptic receptors (Orser 2006).

GABA acts as an agonist at the receptor complex, binding to the receptor at the interface between the α and β subunit; it induces a conformational change that enhances the permeability of the central pore to chloride ions. The resulting influx of anions into the post-synaptic neurone results in a state of hyperpolarisation, reducing neuronal excitability (Nutt 2006). Excessive activity of GABA receptors will result in profound sedation and respiratory depression. In addition to GABA, a number of other substances can directly open the chloride channel at high concentrations, including barbiturates, chloral hydrate and alcohol, explaining their fatality in overdose.

BDZs have a different mechanism of action, binding to a specific site on the GABA_A receptor complex between α and γ subunits (Olsen et al. 2004), reducing the concentration of GABA needed to cause channel opening. This positive 'allosteric' binding augments the response of the receptor to endogenous GABA, therefore, enhancing GABAergic transmission (Nutt and Malizia 2001). This explains why BDZs, which are limited to enhancing the normal inhibitory signal in the brain, are relatively safe in overdose compared to other GABAergic drugs which can act directly on the ionophore itself.

1.4 How the BDZ-GABA_A Receptor Site Has Contributed to the Understanding of Anxiety

Studies of the evolution of the GABA_A subtypes singled out the BDZ site as the most evolutionarily advanced region of the receptor (Nielsen et al. 1978). Indeed, further pharmacological investigation of this site revealed a unique ability not only to reduce anxiety, as already exploited by BDZs (acting as agonists), but also induce anxiety (when acted on by inverse agonists) in humans. This property of the BDZ site has created much interest surrounding the role of this receptor in both the treatment and understanding of anxiety disorders (Fig. 2).

Paradoxically, it was through the search for anxiolytic compounds that the potential of the BDZ to show a bidirectional anxiogenic response came to light. It was thought that the β -carboline compound FG7142, a putative endogenous ligand, might prove a useful anxiolytic due to its affinity for the BDZ receptor. However, during experiments in healthy volunteers it quickly became apparent that the reverse was true; high doses produced severe anxiety and panic in two participants (Dorow et al. 1983). It is now known that FG7142 acts as an 'inverse agonist' at the BDZ site, reducing the effects of GABA and so eliciting an anxiogenic response. Supporting this finding is Ro15-3505 which also acts as an inverse agonist at the BDZ site and has anxiogenic responses (Gentil et al. 1990).

Naturally occurring 'endozepines' thought to activate the BDZ site, have been isolated in the human brain. Increased endozepine-4 levels have been linked to stuporous attacks in patients, in whom flumazenil infusion can increase arousal, supporting the existence of endogenous BDZ ligands and their potential role in CNS diseases (Cortelli et al. 2005). However, the role of endozepines in anxiety

disorders remains poorly understood. Other candidates for endogenous $GABA_A$ ligands are the neurosteroids, such as progesterone metabolites, which act as potent allosteric agonists at sites distinct from the BDZ region on $GABA_A$ receptor. There is growing evidence that locally produced neuroactive steroids may be involved in 'fine tuning' of inhibitory signalling (Longone et al. 2008), and that altered levels may be involved in the pathogenesis of anxiety (Kalueff and Nutt 2007). However, exactly how the vast array of neurosteroids may interact during anxiety disorders is not yet understood. Importantly, with advances in molecular technology beginning to identify specific neuroactive steroid binding pockets on the GABA_A receptor (Longone et al. 2008), it may be possible to design 'steroid based modulators' as fast-acting anxiolytics for the future treatment of anxiety disorders (Kalueff and Nutt 2007).

An alternative hypothesis suggests that an abnormality may lie in the GABA BDZ receptor itself. Such that a shift in the 'set-point' of the BDZ receptor spectrum of function may underlie anxiety in panic patients (Fig. 2). Evidence for this is that in these patients the usually 'silent' antagonist flumazenil behaves like a partial inverse agonist, being anxiogenic like FG1472 mentioned above (Nutt and Lawson 1992). Further clinical observations and findings support the notion of a shifted set point in the inverse agonist direction, which would render typical agonists less effective. Panic disorder patients often require higher doses of BDZs to elicit sufficient anxiolytic response and the physiological responses to BDZs such



Fig. 2 (a) Number of compounds interact with the $GABA_A BDZ$ site to elicit a range of behavioural responses. (b) Evidence suggests that the intrinsic set point of the receptor may change in panic disorder shifting the response of the receptor to these compounds. Agonists, such as diazepam have an attenuated action, antagonists; once neutral are now slightly anxiogenic acting as partial inverse agonists and the action of inverse agonists themselves are enhanced (Adapted from Nutt and Malizia 2001; Sandford et al. 2000)

as saccadic eye movements are reduced in these individuals (Roy-Byrne et al. 1990). Shifts in the BDZ set point could also explain why tolerance can occur over time with chronic BDZ use, and the subsequent difficulties associated with withdrawal (Nutt 2003).

Further flumazenil challenge studies have failed to exhibit anxiogenic effects in patients with anxiety disorders other than panic (Argyropoulos and Nutt 2003), suggesting this 'receptor shift' may be particularly marked or specific to panic disorder and is not an underlying phenomenon of anxiety disorders as a whole (Sandford et al. 2000). It is possible that this shift is observable only in acute episodes of anxiety, such as exhibited by panic patients and that the degree of shift may produce a continuum of anxiety type symptoms contributing to different anxious phenotypes. Although the contribution of a potential BDZ receptor shift to the pathophysiology of anxiety is still unknown, the evidence supporting its existence again implicates abnormalities of the GABAergic system in human anxiety. In addition, the mechanism of a set point shift altering the threshold of the GABA_A receptor complex is an important one, representing further avenues both for treatment evolution and scientific understanding in anxiety disorders.

1.5 Evidence of a GABA Receptor Abnormality in Brain Imaging Studies

Powerful brain scanning techniques such as PET and SPECT have provided further evidence for GABA_A BDZ receptor abnormalities in panic and other anxiety disorders (reviewed by Malizia 2002). With the development of radiolabelled tracers that directly interact with the GABA_A BDZ receptor site, such as carbon labelled flumazenil ([¹¹C] flumazenil, used for PET) and iodine labelled Iomazenil ([¹²³I] Iomazenil, used for SPECT), it has been possible to visualise the binding properties of the BDZ site in specific regions of the living human brain (Fig. 3).

Most imaging studies point towards a reduction in BDZ binding associated with panic disorder (Malizia 2002). With the use of SPECT imaging and [¹²³I] Iomazenil, Schlegel et al. (1994) first reported a decrease in the BDZ-receptor binding in occipital and frontal and temporal cortical regions. A similar pattern of reduced binding in the inferior fronto-temporal, as well as left hippocampal caudate and precuneus areas has been reported by subsequent SPECT studies (Kaschka et al. 1995; Bremner et al. 2000b). Interestingly, in one such study decreased binding in the frontal regions was specifically related to the experience of a panic attack during the scan (Bremner et al. 2000b). Other SPECT studies have provided more contradictory results, with reports of increased binding density in temporal and occipital regions (Bremner et al. 2000b; Kuikka et al. 1995).

A pivotal PET study by Malizia et al. (1998) indicated 20% global decrease of $[^{11}C]$ flumazenil binding, in panic disorder patients, with prominent reductions in the orbito-frontal, anterior insular and anterior temporal cortex, compared to controls.



Fig. 3 (a) Images showing VD (volume of distribution) of $[^{11}C]$ flumazenil binding in panic patients (*right*) compared to healthy volunteers (*left*), showing a global decrease in binding. (b) Benzodiazepine receptor binding in the orbito-frontal cortex shows the maximal separation of binding with no overlap in values between controls and panic patients. Images provided by Dr. A. Malizia (personal communication)

A more recent PET study of panic patients also found a bilateral reduction of [¹¹C] flumazenil binding in the insular cortex especially in patients with comorbid depression (Cameron et al. 2007). Decreased BDZ binding has also been shown in the frontal cortices of Vietnam veterans with PTSD (Bremner et al. 2000a; Geuze et al. 2008) and temporal regions in generalised anxiety disorder (GAD, Tiihonen et al. 1997b).

These studies support the notion that abnormal $GABA_A BDZ$ function is an important feature of human anxiety. Strikingly, areas reported as showing the most prominent decreases in receptor binding are those related to emotional experiencing of anxiety, namely frontal and temporal lobes and the insular cortex. If indeed reduced BDZ binding is indicative of defective GABAergic signalling, this could clearly contribute to the underlying pathophysiology of human anxiety.

It is still unclear, for instance, whether a decrease in BDZ binding represents down regulation of the whole $GABA_A$ receptor complex, or a reduction in a particular part of the BDZ site within the receptor complex. Equally, there could be a change in affinity of the receptor for BDZ ligands or an increase in an endogenous BDZ ligand reducing available BDZ sites for binding.

1.6 A Glimpse at the Future: How Individual Subunits of the GABA_A Receptor Could Contribute to Anxiety

More recently, sophisticated genetic manipulation of the GABA_A receptor has aimed to address some of the intriguing findings presented above. Using cloning techniques and genetically modified animals, it has been possible to start depicting

how individual GABA_{A} subunits alter the intrinsic properties of the receptor complex itself.

Indeed, although six α subunits have been identified, only those receptors containing $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$ and $\alpha 5$ subunits show BDZ sensitivity, with $\alpha 4$ and $\alpha 6$ subtypes having very low BDZ binding affinity. Further analysis revealed that the anxiolytic effects of BDZs appear to be mediated in part via the $\alpha 2$ subunit. Animal models in which the $\alpha 2$ subunit has been mutated or knocked out fail to show an anxiolytic response to diazepam, while the sedative, anti-convulsant and motor impairing effects remain. A similar picture for the γ subunit exists, with the presence of the $\gamma 2$ subunit found to confer BDZ sensitivity. Interestingly, hetero-zygous $\gamma 2$ knock out mice exhibit spontaneous anxiety behaviour, hyperarousal and decreased flumazenil binding in a similar manner to panic patients. In addition, δ KO mice show an enhanced learning and consolidation of contextual fear (Nutt 2006) with insensitivity to anxiolytic neuroactive steroids (Wu et al. 2008), a combination that may have important consequences for the development of anxiety.

Subunit alterations in anxiety disorders may help explain the changes BDZ binding presented above, with clear implications for abnormalities in response to endogenous signalling molecules in the pathophysiology of anxiety. Subunit selective compounds have the potential to elicit anxiolytic effects without the sedative or amnesic qualities of higher dose BDZs and are already in the early stages of development (Rupprecht et al. 2006). One such compound, MK-0343, a GABA_A agonist has been developed as a novel anxiolytic with hopes that its specific activity at the α 2 and α 3 but not α 1 subunits will reduce sedative side effects. In early trials using healthy volunteers, MK-0343 was only slightly less sedative in comparison to the full agonist lorazepam, although reduced effects on memory and postural stability indicate a better tolerability profile for this compound as it moves into clinical trials (de Haas et al. 2008).

1.7 Impaired GABAergic Metabolism in Anxiety Disorders: Additional Approaches to Targeting the GABA System

In addition to GABA receptor abnormalities, there is emerging evidence that impaired GABAergic metabolism may play a role in anxiety disorders. Targeting the range of GABAergic uptake proteins and enzymes to indirectly alter GABAergic levels is already in practise (Pillay and Stein 2007) and could represent an important area for development of novel anxiolytics.

Evidence using a relatively new imaging technique to measure GABA levels in the living human brain suggests impaired GABAergic metabolism in some anxiety disorders. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (pMRS) uses differences in chemical structure to ascertain metabolite concentration based on specific resonance frequencies (Chang et al. 2003). Studies using ¹H-MRS have highlighted a 22% reduction in total occipital cortical GABA concentration in panic disorder

patients compared with controls. Further studies using more advanced MRS techniques indicated that these patients showed a blunted neural response to BDZ (clonazepam) administration compared with controls, and consistently lower GABA levels in occipital regions following chronic BDZ treatment (Goddard et al. 2004). It has been suggested that these abnormalities could represent a 'trait-like disturbance' in GABA metabolism in panic disorder, and that dysfunction of the GAD₆₅ enzyme may be part of this (Goddard et al. 2004).

A more recent ¹H-MRS study in social anxiety disorder patients indicated significantly lower thalamic GABA levels at baseline, which increased in response to levetiracetam (a novel GABAergic enhancing anti-convulsant, Pollack et al. 2008). Collective emerging evidence from pMRS studies clearly implicates GABAergic abnormalities in anxiety disorders, although it is important to remember pMRS represents a relatively new technology.

Indeed, compounds targeting GABAergic metabolism to enhance endogenous GABAergic function represent an important avenue for the treatment of anxiety. Pregabalin, a GABA analogue, has recently been licensed for the treatment of GAD (Feltner et al. 2008). Pregabalin, similar to its predecessor gabapentin, is thought to increase total brain levels of GABA through interaction with a specific calcium channel subunit (Rupprecht et al. 2006). Vigabatrin, developed as anti-epileptic, inhibits GABAergic degradation though inhibition of GABA transaminase (GABA-T), increasing endogenous GABAergic levels (Nemeroff 2003). Although vigabatrin has shown promise for the treatment of PD, investigations have been terminated due to reports of visual field disturbances associated with long-term use. Finally, tiagabine, another anti-convulsant, acts as a selective reuptake inhibitor, blocking the GAT-1 transporter, inhibiting uptake of GABA from the synapse (Nemeroff 2003). Tiagabine has shown promise for the treatment of GAD and PTSD in ongoing clinical trials, and also as a combination therapy with other anxiolytics for treatment resistant anxiety (Pillay and Stein 2007).

2 Serotonin

Serotonergic neurones arise from the median and dorsal raphe nuclei in the brainstem and project throughout the forebrain. Serotonin (5HT) is synthesised from the dietary essential amino acid tryptophan, with tryptophan hydroxylase being the rate limiting enzyme. Following release it is actively removed from the synaptic cleft by serotonin transporters back into the neurone. The degradation product of serotonin is 5-hydroxyindolacetic acid (5-HIAA, Ruddick et al. 2006).

There have been 13 serotonin receptors identified. All of these are g-protein linked except for the 5HT-3 receptor, which is coupled to a sodium ion channel. The 5HT-1A receptor has particularly been linked to anxiety disorders. It is negatively linked to the second messenger cAMP and is both post-synaptic and a pre-synaptic auto-receptor in the dorsal raphe, regulating raphe firing. Serotonin coordinates many functions including: appetite, sleep, neuroendocrine regulation (such as

prolactin release) and impulse control. This diversity of effects may be explained by the extensive distribution of serotonergic neurone projections and multiple receptors.

Serotonin has been implicated in anxiety disorders for a long time. Since it was found that drugs acting upon the serotonergic system were effective treatments for anxiety disorders, interest in this area has increased substantially. However, identifying the precise relationship of the serotonin system to anxiety disorders has been very difficult. There is currently no direct way to measure levels of serotonin or serotonergic neuronal firing in humans. Therefore, clinical observation, indirect measures, challenge tests and more recently functional neuroimaging have been utilised to characterise serotonin functioning in anxiety.

Serotonergic agents are effective in treating anxiety disorders and the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) are now recommended as first line treatments for these, although this therapeutic effect is delayed several weeks (Baldwin and Polkinghorn 2005). The SSRIs are also effective in blocking the anxiogenic effect of various challenge tests in humans including: flumazenil, cholecystokinin tetrapeptide (CCK-4) and 35% carbon dioxide in panic disorder (Bell et al. 2002; Schruers and Griez 2004; Shlik et al. 1997) and social scripts or pramipexole challenge in social anxiety disorder (Argyropoulos et al. 2004; Hood et al. 2006). However, despite this it remains unclear whether the mechanism of action of the SSRIs is to effectively increase or attenuate 5HT transmission. This is exemplified by the contradictory evidence of whether a 5HT deficiency or excess is associated by anxiety disorders as shown in Table 1.

The theory that there is an excess of 5HT in anxiety disorders is supported by studies into the effects of fenfluramine (a 5HT releasing agent) and *m*-chlorophenylpiperazine (mCPP, a 5HT agonist), both of which cause an acute increase in anxiety in both anxiety disorders and healthy controls (Charney et al. 1987; Tancer et al. 1994; Targum 1990). Moreover, intravenous administration of clomipramine, a tricyclic with serotonin reuptake inhibition, is also acutely anxiogenic (George et al. 1995). This is also compatible with the clinical picture seen when SSRIs are taken; some patients with anxiety disorders suffer an acute increase in anxiety, or jitteriness, when these medications are first taken before the delayed therapeutic effect begins (Sinclair et al. in press). The 5HT excess theory postulates that supersensitive post-synaptic 5HT receptors are responsible for anxiety symptoms. An SSRI would increase the 5HT availability acutely and

Serotonin excess theory	Serotonin deficiency theory
Acute SSRI/clomipramine are anxiogenic	ATD – lowering brain 5HT is anxiogenic in anxiety disorders
Acute mCPP (5HT agonist) is anxiogenic	Microdialysis (pre-clinical) experiments – brain 5HT increases with clinical response to SSRIs
Acute fenfluramine (5HT releaser) is anxiogenic	Chronic SSRI is efficacious treatment for all anxiety disorders
Increased central 5HT turnover in PD	
Elevated urinary 5HT-IAA in GAD	

Table 1 Conflicting evidence for both serotonin excess and deficiency theories

thus worsen symptoms in the short term. However, when the post-synaptic receptors become downregulated an anxiolytic effect is seen, albeit delayed. This theory is supported by jugular venous sampling showing a fourfold increase in brain 5HT turnover in panic patients compared with controls. Moreover, this normalises with successful SSRI treatment (Eser et al. 2007). Patients with GAD also have elevated urinary levels of 5-HIAA again suggesting an excess of serotonin in this disorder (Garvey et al. 1995).

However, this theory does not sit well with the acute tryptophan depletion (ATD) challenges in anxiety disorders (Fig. 4). ATD utilises the fact that brain availability of tryptophan (and thus 5HT) can be manipulated by altering the ratio of tryptophan to other large neutral amino acids (LNAAs) in the blood. All LNAAs, including tryptophan, are competitively transported across the blood-brain barrier by transport proteins. The levels of LNAAs can easily be manipulated over hours by dietary means; to deplete brain tryptophan a low tryptophan diet is combined with a bolus of other LNAAs. This reduces the tryptophan to LNAA ratio over 2-4 h, consequently reducing the brain availability of tryptophan by up to 80% (Hood et al. 2005). Tryptophan can either be included or excluded from the amino acid drink to produce double-blind experiments. ATD has been found to reverse the therapeutic effect of SSRIs in panic disorder and social anxiety disorder when patients have been challenged by 35% carbon dioxide (Schruers and Griez 2004), flumazenil (Bell et al. 2002), CCK-4 (Shlik et al. 1997) or social scripts (Argyropoulos et al. 2004). Therefore, this suggests that maintaining a high level of serotonin availability is important to the therapeutic effects of SSRIs. This is supported by animal microdialysis experiments some of which suggest there is no acute increase in synaptic 5HT, but instead a delayed increase which would mirror the delayed therapeutic effect of the SSRIs (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4 Acute tryptophan depletion works by dietary manipulation of the tryptophan vs. large neutral amino-acid ratio. By altering this ratio the brain level of tryptophan, and thus serotonin, can be reduced by up to 80%

This has lead to a competing theory of serotonin deficiency in anxiety disorders. In this theory, SSRIs do indeed increase serotonin levels as part of their therapeutic effect. However, this effect is delayed due to the initial increased stimulation of 5HT-1A autoreceptors – which decrease raphe firing. It is only when the 5HT-1A receptors are downregulated that the raphe firing rate recovers. This, combined with the SSRI blocking the removal of 5HT from the synapses, increases 5HT throughput to produce a therapeutic effect (Blier et al. 1990). It should be noted that the only two trials of ATD in treated obsessive compulsive disorder showed no worsening of symptoms (Rasmusson et al. 1997). This may be because no challenge (such as flumazenil in panic or social scripts in social anxiety) was undertaken during the study, or may reflect a fundamental difference in the disorder.

Deakin and Graeff (Graeff et al. 1996) proposed that different serotonergic pathways could have different effects upon anxiety behaviours (i.e., anxiogenic in one, anxiolytic in another), thus explaining the apparent contradictory information regarding the effect of serotonin in anxiety. In this model, the dorsal raphe pathway to the amygdala and cortex increases conditioned fear (as seen in phobias, etc.) and the pathway from the dorsal raphe to the periaqueductal grey attenuates fight/flight responses (as seen in panic). More recently a specific subset of serotonergic neurones arising in the ventrolateral dorsal raphe nucleus has been found to project to the rostral ventrolateral medulla (where it inhibits stress related sympathetic activation) and the dorsolateral periaqueductal grey (where it inhibits behavioural fight/flight responses; Johnson et al. 2004).

Imaging studies have implicated 5HT-1A receptor abnormalities in anxiety disorders. Reduced 5HT-1A receptor binding has been found in panic disorder (Nash et al. 2008; Neumeister et al. 2004), and also social anxiety disorder (Nash et al. 2008; Lanzenberger et al. 2007). Moreover, in the Nash study a reduction of 5HT-1A receptors was found in the orbito-frontal cortex, dorsal raphe, amygdala and temporal lobes – undoubtedly part of the brain anxiety circuit. This reduction was found to recover in some areas, notably the prefrontal cortex, with successful SSRI treatment, but not in the dorsal raphe. It could be postulated that this continuing deficit may account for the continued high rates of relapse in panic disorder, even after several years of successful remission with SSRIs (Choy et al. 2007). A PET study in healthy controls found the fewer 5HT-1A receptors, the greater anxiety scores (Tauscher et al. 2001). Clinically, the 5HT-1A partial agonist buspirone is effective in the treatment of GAD, but has failed trials in panic disorder (Sheehan et al. 1990). Other 5HT-1A agonists have also failed to prove helpful in panic disorder (van et al. 1996), suggesting that although abnormal levels of this receptor may be seen in panic, targeting this receptor alone is insufficient to alleviate the disorder.

Post-synaptic 5HT-2C receptors are downregulated following successful treatment with SSRIs which may explain the progressive attenuation of the jitteriness syndrome with SSRIs (Millan 2005). 5HT-2C antagonists are effective in alleviating anxiety in animal experiments (Griebel et al. 1997). The mixed melatonin agonist and 5HT-2C antagonist agomelatine is efficacious in treating major depression (Eser et al. 2007), and is currently under investigation in anxiety.

3 Noradrenaline

The catecholamine noradrenaline is produced from hydroxylation of dopamine by dopamine β -hydroxylase. Although it can then be converted to adrenaline (epinephrine) by phenylethanolamine *N*-methyltransferase, the major catecholamine transmitter in the brain is noradrenaline. After release noradrenaline is actively transported back into neurones via specific transporters. In neurones, it is catabolised by monoamine oxidase (MAO) to form 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MHPG). Noradrenaline can also be catabolised in the glial cell by catechol-*O*-methyltransferase (COMT) to form normetanephrine. Most noradrenergic neurones arise in the locus coeruleus in the brainstem and project extensively throughout the forebrain.

There are two main types of adrenoreceptors: α and β receptors. The α come as subtypes, e.g., $\alpha 1$ or $\alpha 2$, each of which have further subtypes. $\alpha 2$ are the most implicated in anxiety disorders. These receptors are both pre-synaptic and postsynaptic. The pre-synaptic $\alpha 2$ receptors act as autoreceptors (Hein et al. 1999), inhibiting further noradrenaline release. They are also present pre-synaptically on serotonergic (Trendelenburg et al. 1994b) and dopaminergic (Trendelenburg et al. 1994a) neurones where they act as inhibitory heteroreceptors. Stimulation of postsynaptic $\alpha 2$ receptors releases growth hormone from the pituitary, an action that has been used as a proxy for the function of the central noradrenaline system in mood and anxiety disorders. al receptors are post-synaptic and are involved in blood pressure regulation and arousal. Peripheral β receptors are well known to mediate the peripheral autonomic effects of anxiety (such as increased heart rate, tremor and sweatiness), but are not thought to directly relate to the conscious experience of anxiety. B receptors also exist in the brain, but it remains unclear as to their function in humans, although a recent experiment with mice has implicated them in cocaine induced anxiety (Schank et al. 2008).

From the clinical symptoms of anxiety (such as tremor, sweatiness, palpitations, etc.) it is clear that the peripheral autonomic nervous system is activated in anxiety. These symptoms can be blocked by β blocking drugs, such as propranolol. However, β blockers do not alleviate the mental symptoms of anxiety (Maes et al. 2002; Munjack et al. 1989). Direct measurement of the human brain sympathetic activity is not possible. Therefore, indirect evidence, such as challenge tests and peripheral markers, have been used to assess whether the brain sympathetic system is also overactive in anxiety, as summarised in Table 2.

Blood noradrenaline samples have been used as a proxy measure of brain sympathetic activity. This is because noradrenaline is not produced (to any large extent) by the adrenal glands (Brown et al. 1981) and blood noradrenaline levels correlate with CSF levels (Ziegler et al. 1977). Therefore, circulating noradrenaline to some extent reflects central activity. Studies have not shown any difference in circulating noradrenaline in anxiety patients under normal conditions (Maes et al. 2002; Munjack et al. 1990). However, in panic disorder increased cardiac noradrenaline spillover is found (Alvarenga et al. 2006). This is associated with increased

Test	Rationale	Result	Interpretation
Blood NA levels	Proxy of brain NA levels	No differences in resting state between anxiety disorders and controls	Need to challenge NA system to detect functional abnormalities
Clonidine – growth hormone (GH) response	Measure of post- synaptic α2 receptors	Blunted GH response in panic (unstimulated GH levels normal in panic)	Subsensitive post-synaptic α2 receptors in panic. Normal GH levels at rest indicate abnormal reactivity of nAdr system
Clonidine – MHPG or blood pressure (BP)	Measure of pre- synaptic α2 receptors	Exaggerated drop in MHPG and BP in panic	Supersensitive pre-synaptic α2 receptors
Yohimbine	Measure of pre- synaptic α2 receptors	Exaggerated MHPG in panic	Supersensitive pre-synaptic α2 receptors
Measure locus coeruleus (LC) firing	Main source of NA neurones/ measure of sympathetic tone	Many classes of anti- depressant attenuate LC firing	Possible common anxiolytic effect of anti-depressants is reducing LC firing

Table 2 Challenge tests of the sympathetic system in anxiety disorders

sympathetic neuronal activity and overall it appears that excess noradrenaline activity in the heart is linked to panic disorder (Lambert et al. 2006).

However, these measures only reflect the resting state and does not give any information about the reactivity (or 'functional integrity') of the sympathetic system. For this to be assessed patients are challenged with a stressor (either pharmacological such as carbon dioxide, or flumazenil – depending upon the mechanisms of interest, or contextual, such as presenting tasks in social anxiety disorder), and then monitored for abnormal reactions.

In challenge tests with drugs that increase brain noradrenaline levels, such as yohimbine, the level of anxiety corresponds to measures of sympathetic activity, i.e., the more anxious the higher the sympathetic drive (Charney et al. 1984). Moreover, illicit drugs which increase noradrenaline levels have long been known to cause anxiety (Louie et al. 1989). The converse of this is also true; lowering the sympathetic drive with drugs such as clonidine or imipramine reduces anxiety in tandem with reductions of sympathetic outflow (Ko et al. 1983). Many classes of drugs which are efficacious in anxiety disorders have been shown to reduce locus coeruleus firing, the main source of noradrenergic neurones. These drugs include SSRIs, tricyclic anti-depressants, MAO inhibitors and selective noradrenergic reuptake inhibitors (Szabo and Blier 2001). It is interesting to note that mirtazapine, an $\alpha 2$ receptor antagonist which increases locus coeruleus firing (Millan et al. 2000), has yet to have robust evidence of efficacy in anxiety disorders despite having a pharmacologic profile which should otherwise prove anxiolytic
(such as 5HT-2C receptor antagonism). It could be postulated that the increase in locus coeruleus firing counteracts any further anxiolytic effects, but this hypothesis has yet to be confirmed.

Most studies of sympathetic functioning have revolved around the α 2 receptors. Post-synaptic α 2 receptor functioning can be assessed by the level of growth hormone response to drugs acting upon α 2 receptors. Clonidine, due to its α 2 partial agonist properties, stimulates the release of growth hormone from the pituitary. This response is blunted in panic disorder, indicating a decreased sensitivity of the post-synaptic α 2 receptors (Nutt 1986). However, 24-h growth hormone release in unstimulated conditions is normal in panic disorder, indicating a deficiency in functional reactivity of the sympathetic system (Abelson et al. 2005). The growth hormone response to clonidine in patients with other anxiety disorders has been less well studied. There is one study showing a decreased response in patients suffering GAD (Abelson et al. 1991). However, the evidence is mixed in both social anxiety disorder (Tancer et al. 1994, 1993) and obsessive compulsive disorder (Habib et al. 2000; Hollander et al. 1991).

Clonidine can also be used to assess the pre-synaptic $\alpha 2$ receptors. As noted above, clonidine decreases the firing rate of the locus coeruleus (Ko et al. 1983). It also reduces the frequency of panic attacks in panic disorder, but unfortunately this effect is not sustained due to the development of tolerance (Uhde et al. 1989). Panic disorder patients also show exaggerated responses to clonidine as measured by a larger decrease in blood levels of MHPG (Charney and Heninger 1986) and hypotension (Nutt 1986). Further assessment of pre-synaptic $\alpha 2$ receptors functioning has been performed with the $\alpha 2$ antagonist Yohimbine; it increases anxiety in healthy controls (Goldberg et al. 1983) and gives a disproportionately large increase in MHPG in panic disorder patients (Charney et al. 1984). The responses to clonidine and yohimbine suggest, in panic disorder at least, that there are supersensitive pre-synaptic $\alpha 2$ receptors to both their agonists and antagonists. This will make control over locus coeruleus firing increasingly brittle and unstable which may pre-dispose to anxiety. This may result in exaggerated responses to minimal triggers and possibly a pre-disposition to panic (Nutt 1989). The reduced sensitivity of post-synaptic $\alpha 2$ receptors seen also fits this model; overstimulation resulting in eventual downregulation and subsequent blunted growth hormone responses. a2 receptors are also found upon blood platelets. The expression of these receptors have also been measured as a proxy for the expression of brain $\alpha 2$ receptors and they have been found to increase after stress in humans (Maes et al. 2002). This again correlates with animal models which show central $\alpha 2$ receptors may be altered by stress (Stanford and Salmon 1989). If confirmed in humans this provides an explanation for the association between life events and the development of panic attacks (Roy-Byrne et al. 1986). The $\alpha 2$ receptors are split into three subtypes, $\alpha 2A$, α 2B and α 2C, which may play different roles in anxiety. However, because at present there are no clinically available subtype selective drugs, the relevance of these subtypes in the clinic remains limited.

4 Dopamine

Dopamine is synthesised from the dietary essential amino acid tyrosine. Tyrosine hydroxylase converts tyrosine to L-Dopa, which in turn is converted to dopamine by dopa decarboxylase. As mentioned before dopamine can then be further metabolised to noradrenaline in noradrenergic neurones. However, it is commonly catabolised into homovanillic acid (HVA) by pathways involving either MAO or COMT. Like noradrenaline and serotonin, dopamine is actively transported back into the neurone by specific transporters following release into the synaptic cleft. The main dopaminergic pathways are the nigrostriatal (involved in motor control), tuberoinfundibular (inhibitory to prolactin release by the pituitary), mesolimbic (associated with reward behaviours) and mesocortical pathways (abnormalities of which are implicated in schizophrenia). Dopamine acts upon five different receptors (D1–D5), which are clustered into two families. The D1-like (D1+D5) family are excitatory and g-protein linked to adenylyl cyclase. The D2-like family (D2, D3+D4) are inhibitory and linked via g-proteins to phosphodiesterase.

A number of clinical observations have linked dopamine to social anxiety disorder. First, social anxiety is commonly seen as an early symptom of Parkinson's disease, which is the archetypal neurological disease of dopamine deficiency (Berrios et al. 1995). Second, chronic stimulant abusers may also be vulnerable to the development of social anxiety disorder; presumably the stimulant abuse has damaged the dopaminergic terminals resulting in a functional deficiency (Williams et al. 2000). Third, treatment with dopamine blocking drugs, such as the neuroleptics, has also produced reports of social phobia as a side effect (Scahill et al. 2003). Fourth, there are also case reports of successful treatment of social anxiety disorder with phenelzine or bupropion which increase dopamine availability (although they both also have actions on other monoamines too; Liebowitz et al. 1992). From this it may be tempting to hypothesise that dopamine deficiency is fundamental to social anxiety. However, this evidence is indirect, or preliminary, and must be interpreted with care.

HVA has been used as a proxy measure of dopamine turnover. In one study, there were no differences between social phobia, panic disorder and normal controls with respect to blood HVA levels. However, a small subgroup of this cohort also had CSF tested for HVA; this showed a significant decrease in CSF HVA in the patients with social anxiety + panic disorders (there was no social anxiety alone group) compared to either panic disorder patients or controls (Johnson et al. 1994).

Imaging studies have produced further evidence of an association between dopamine and social anxiety. A SPECT study has shown reduced striatal dopamine reuptake sites, a result which mirrors that seen in early Parkinson's disease (Tiihonen et al. 1997a). Further imaging studies have also shown reduced D2 receptor binding in social anxiety disorder (Schneier et al. 2000, 2008).

Social anxiety patients challenged with L-Dopa did not differ from controls on either endocrine (prolactin levels) or behavioural (eye-blinking) measures (Tancer et al. 1994). A more recent study challenged social anxiety patients with both a

dopamine agonist (pramipexole) and antagonist (sulpiride) before and after treatment with an SSRI. This study found both the agonist and antagonist increased anxiety in untreated patients, but that treatment with an SSRI reduced the anxiety associated with the dopamine agonist, but not the antagonist (Hood et al. 2006). The authors postulated that the SSRIs effect was via post-synaptic D3 receptor desensitisation.

There is less evidence of dopamine dysfunction in other anxiety disorders. In obsessive compulsive disorder, there is clinical evidence that some patients respond to D2 blockers (Goodman et al. 1992). However, imaging studies have been mixed showing both lower (Denys et al. 2004) and no change (Schneier et al. 2008) in numbers of D2 receptors in obsessive compulsive disorder. In panic disorder, levels of HVA in the CSF are unchanged from controls (Eriksson et al. 1991).

5 Glutamate

Glutamate is the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain which acts upon both metabotropic and ionotropic receptors. It is thought to mediate effects upon memory, learning, performance and anxiety. There are eight metabotropic receptors which can be classified into three groups. The group 1 receptors comprise mGlu1 and mGlu5. This group is excitatory, post-synaptic and is positively coupled to phospholipase C (Shigemoto et al. 1997). Group 2 comprises mGlu2 and mGlu3 receptors. These receptors are located either pre-synaptically (mGlu2) or post-synaptically and on glial cells (mGlu3; Ohishi et al. 1993). This group of receptors are inhibitory and negatively coupled to Adenylate cyclase (Shigemoto et al. 1997). Group 3 receptors (mGlu4, mGlu6, mGlu7, mGlu8) are also inhibitory, are negatively coupled to adenylate cyclase and are pre-synaptic (Cartmell and Schoepp 2000).

The ionotropic receptors effect ion channels, and therefore directly mediate synaptic excitability. They consist of *N*-methyl-*D*-aspartate (NMDA), α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionate (AMPA) and kainite receptors. NMDA receptors comprise two NR1 subunits and two or three NR2 subunits. There are eight different NR1 and four different NR2 subtypes available, thus allowing for significant heterogeneity between different NMDA receptors. When activated, NMDA channels open, allowing an influx of sodium and calcium ions into the cell causing cell depolarisation. The NMDA receptor itself contains several modulatory sites. The inhibitory sites include phencyclidine and magnesium, which in the resting state 'blocks' the ion channel preventing any sodium and calcium influx. The excitatory sites include polyamide, zinc and glycine – a necessary co-agonist for activation. AMPA and kainite receptors are frequently co-localised with NMDA receptors and are synergistic to NMDA mediated transmission. Indeed, AMPA activation may be necessary to depolarise the cell before Ca²⁺ can enter the cell upon NMDA activation (Javitt 2004).

A wealth of pre-clinical evidence has shown anxiolytic effects of blocking NMDA glutamatergic receptors. MK 801 (a non-competitive NMDA antagonist) and AP-7 (competitive NMDA antagonist) both decrease anxiety behaviours in rats (Plaznik et al. 1994). Glycine site antagonists (such as L-701,324) have also been found to be anxiolytic in some animal models (Kotlinska and Liljequist 1998). However, when transferred to human studies, direct antagonists of NMDA receptors tend to cause serious side effects such as sedation, psychosis and memory impairment. (Bergink et al. 2004).

The problem of major side effects with direct NMDA antagonism has caused a shift away from this approach to more subtle ways of decreasing glutamatergic tone as a way of decreasing anxiety. This will hopefully have the effect of minimising the prohibitive side effects of direct NMDA antagonism, whilst retaining the potential for efficacy. From the information above, potential targets for this can be deduced: antagonism of AMPA or kainite receptors and regulation of metabotropic glutamatergic receptors (such as group I mGlu antagonists or group II agonists). To date, most potential compounds (of which many have been identified – especially metabotropic modulators) are still at the pre-clinical stage. Here we will describe only those which have been tested in human subjects.

Fenobam was a drug developed in the 1980s as a non-BDZ anxiolytic. Its development was ceased after it was thought to have a psychostimulant effect. Recently, it has been discovered that fenobam is an mGlu5 receptor antagonist, which has reawakened interest in it. The non-selective group II mGlu agonist LY354740 has shown reduced anxiety in humans during carbon dioxide challenges and fear-potentiated startle tests (Grillon et al. 2003; Schoepp et al. 2003). However, it has not proven efficacious in panic disorder, with poor bioavailability being a potential reason (Bergink and Westenberg 2005). To counter these bioavailability problems a prodrug of LY354740 was developed with improved bioavailability, LY544344. Unfortunately, testing has been halted to the development of seizures in pre-clinical studies (Dunayevich et al. 2008).

6 Conclusions

We have reviewed the abnormalities detected thus far in the major neurotransmitter systems implicated in anxiety disorders (GABA, serotonin, noradrenaline and dopamine). In recent years, there has been an exponential increase in research of and subsequent understanding of the neurochemistry of anxiety. In part, this has been driven by a greater acknowledgement of the degree of morbidity and frequency of these disorders, but is also aided by the acquisition of new tools, such as imaging techniques, which give us the potential to directly assess brain abnormalities in vivo for the first time. However, at this stage, there are more questions than answers; even the mechanism of action of the SSRIs on mood states is under debate (such as the possibility that they alter the neurosteroid levels as their primary action (Uzunova et al. 1998). There are other brain systems implicated in anxiety disorders

we have not reviewed here (metabotropic glutamate receptors, cannabinoids, neuropeptides to name a few), mainly due to a lack of clinical evidence at this time. However, we expect this to change dramatically in the coming years as bioavailable ligands for specific receptors become more readily available. No single approach (pharmacological challenge testing, imaging studies, pre-clinical studies, etc.) will provide a comprehensive guide to brain dysfunction in anxiety disorders. Therefore, it is important to continue to develop and utilise the range of tools we have available to enable more effective diagnosis and treatment of these common and disabling conditions.

References

- Abelson JL, Glitz D, Cameron OG, Lee MA, Bronzo M, Curtis GC (1991) Blunted growth hormone response to clonidine in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 48:157–162
- Abelson JL, Curtis GC, Uhde TW (2005) Twenty-four hour growth hormone secretion in patients with panic disorder. Psychoneuroendocrinology 30:72–79
- Alvarenga ME, Richards JC, Lambert G, Esler MD (2006) Psychophysiological mechanisms in panic disorder: a correlative analysis of noradrenaline spillover, neuronal noradrenaline reuptake, power spectral analysis of heart rate variability, and psychological variables. Psychosom Med 68:8–16
- Argyropoulos SV, Nutt DJ (2003) Neurochemical aspects of anxiety. In: Nutt DJ, Ballenger J (eds) Anxiety disorders. Blackwell, Oxford, pp 183–199 Chapter 11
- Argyropoulos SV, Hood SD, Adrover M, Bell CJ, Rich AS, Nash JR, Rich NC, Witchel HJ, Nutt DJ (2004) Tryptophan depletion reverses the therapeutic effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in social anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 56:503–509
- Baldwin DS, Polkinghorn C (2005) Evidence-based pharmacotherapy of Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 8:293–302
- Bell C, Forshall S, Adrover M, Nash J, Hood S, Argyropoulos S, Rich A, Nutt DJ (2002) Does 5-HT restrain panic? A tryptophan depletion study in panic disorder patients recovered on paroxetine. J Psychopharmacol 16:5–14
- Bergink V, Westenberg HG (2005) Metabotropic glutamate II receptor agonists in panic disorder: a double blind clinical trial with LY354740. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 20:291–293
- Bergink V, van Megen HJ, Westenberg HG (2004) Glutamate and anxiety. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 14:175–183
- Berrios GE, Campbell C, Politynska BE (1995) Autonomic failure, depression and anxiety in Parkinson's disease. Br J Psychiatry 166:789–792
- Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Mosbacher J, Gassmann M (2004) Molecular structure and physiological functions of GABA(B) receptors. Physiol Rev 84:835–867
- Billinton A, Ige AO, Wise A, White JH, Disney GH, Marshall FH, Waldvogel HJ, Faull RL, Emson PC (2000) GABA(B) receptor heterodimer-component localisation in human brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 77:111–124
- Blier P, de Montigny C, Chaput Y (1990) A role for the serotonin system in the mechanism of action of antidepressant treatments: preclinical evidence. J Clin Psychiatry 51(Suppl):14–20 discussion 21:14–20
- Bormann J (2000) The 'ABC' of GABA receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 21:16-19
- Bremner JD, Innis RB, Southwick SM, Staib L, Zoghbi S, Charney DS (2000a) Decreased benzodiazepine receptor binding in prefrontal cortex in combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry 157:1120–1126

- Bremner JD, Innis RB, White T, Fujita M, Silbersweig D, Goddard AW, Staib L, Stern E, Cappiello A, Woods S, Baldwin R, Charney DS (2000b) SPECT [I-123]iomazenil measurement of the benzodiazepine receptor in panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 47:96–106
- Brown MJ, Jenner DA, Allison DJ, Dollery CT (1981) Variations in individual organ release of noradrenaline measured by an improved radioenzymatic technique; limitations of peripheral venous measurements in the assessment of sympathetic nervous activity. Clin Sci (Lond) 61:585–590
- Cameron OG, Huang GC, Nichols T, Koeppe RA, Minoshima S, Rose D, Frey KA (2007) Reduced gamma-aminobutyric acid(A)-benzodiazepine binding sites in insular cortex of individuals with panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64:793–800
- Cartmell J, Schoepp DD (2000) Regulation of neurotransmitter release by metabotropic glutamate receptors. J Neurochem 75:889–907
- Chang L, Cloak CC, Ernst T (2003) Magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies of GABA in neuropsychiatric disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 64(Suppl 3):7–14
- Charney DS, Heninger GR (1986) Abnormal regulation of noradrenergic function in panic disorders. Effects of clonidine in healthy subjects and patients with agoraphobia and panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 43:1042–1054
- Charney DS, Heninger GR, Breier A (1984) Noradrenergic function in panic anxiety. Effects of yohimbine in healthy subjects and patients with agoraphobia and panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 41:751–763
- Charney DS, Woods SW, Goodman WK, Heninger GR (1987) Serotonin function in anxiety. II. Effects of the serotonin agonist MCPP in panic disorder patients and healthy subjects. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 92:14–24
- Choy Y, Peselow ED, Case BG, Pressman MA, Luff JA, Laje G, Paizis M, Ying P, Guardino MT (2007) Three-year medication prophylaxis in panic disorder: to continue or discontinue? A naturalistic study. Compr Psychiatry 48:419–425
- Cortelli P, Avallone R, Baraldi M, Zeneroli ML, Mandrioli J, Corsi L, Riva R, Tinuper P, Lugaresi E, Baruzzi A, Montagna P (2005) Endozepines in recurrent stupor. Sleep Med Rev 9:477–487
- Cryan JF, Kaupmann K (2005) Don't worry 'B' happy!: a role for GABA(B) receptors in anxiety and depression. Trends Pharmacol Sci 26:36–43
- de Haas SL, de Visser SJ, van der Post JP, Schoemaker RC, van Dyck K, Murphy MG, de Smet M, Vessey LK, Ramakrishnan R, Xue L, Cohen AF, van Gerven JM (2008) Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic effects of MK-0343, a GABA(A) alpha2, 3 subtype selective agonist, compared to lorazepam and placebo in healthy male volunteers. J Psychopharmacol 22:24–32
- Denys D, van der Wee N, Janssen J, de Geus F, Westenberg HG (2004) Low level of dopaminergic D2 receptor binding in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 55:1041–1045
- Dorow R, Horowski R, Paschelke G, Amin M (1983) Severe anxiety induced by FG 7142, a betacarboline ligand for benzodiazepine receptors. Lancet 2:98–99
- Dunayevich E, Erickson J, Levine L, Landbloom R, Schoepp DD, Tollefson GD (2008) Efficacy and tolerability of an mGlu2/3 agonist in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:1603–1610
- Eriksson E, Westberg P, Alling C, Thuresson K, Modigh K (1991) Cerebrospinal fluid levels of monoamine metabolites in panic disorder. Psychiatry Res 36:243–251
- Eser D, Baghai TC, Moller HJ (2007) Evidence of agomelatine's antidepressant efficacy: the key points. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 22(Suppl 2):S15–S19
- Farrant M, Nusser Z (2005) Variations on an inhibitory theme: phasic and tonic activation of GABA(A) receptors. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:215–229
- Feltner D, Wittchen HU, Kavoussi R, Brock J, Baldinetti F, Pande AC (2008) Long-term efficacy of pregabalin in generalized anxiety disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 23:18–28
- Fritschy JM, Benke D, Mertens S, Oertel WH, Bachi T, Mohler H (1992) Five subtypes of type A gamma-aminobutyric acid receptors identified in neurons by double and triple immunofluorescence staining with subunit-specific antibodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:6726–6730

- Gao B, Hornung JP, Fritschy JM (1995) Identification of distinct GABAA-receptor subtypes in cholinergic and parvalbumin-positive neurons of the rat and marmoset medial septum-diagonal band complex. Neuroscience 65:101–117
- Garvey MJ, Noyes R Jr, Woodman C, Laukes C (1995) The association of urinary 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid and vanillylmandelic acid in patients with generalized anxiety. Neuropsychobiology 31:6–9
- Gentil V, Tavares S, Gorenstein C, Bello C, Mathias L, Gronich G, Singer J (1990) Acute reversal of flunitrazepam effects by Ro 15–1788 and Ro 15–3505: inverse agonism, tolerance, and rebound. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 100:54–59
- George DT, Nutt DJ, Rawlings RR, Phillips MJ, Eckardt MJ, Potter WZ, Linnoila M (1995) Behavioral and endocrine responses to clomipramine in panic disorder patients with or without alcoholism. Biol Psychiatry 37:112–119
- Geuze E, van Berckel BN, Lammertsma AA, Boellaard R, de Kloet CS, Vermetten E, Westenberg HG (2008) Reduced GABAA benzodiazepine receptor binding in veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. Mol Psychiatry 13:74–83
- Goddard AW, Mason GF, Appel M, Rothman DL, Gueorguieva R, Behar KL, Krystal JH (2004) Impaired GABA neuronal response to acute benzodiazepine administration in panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161:2186–2193
- Goldberg MR, Hollister AS, Robertson D (1983) Influence of yohimbine on blood pressure, autonomic reflexes, and plasma catecholamines in humans. Hypertension 5:772–778
- Goodman WK, McDougle CJ, Price LH (1992) The role of serotonin and dopamine in the pathophysiology of obsessive compulsive disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 7(Suppl 1):35–38
- Graeff FG, Guimaraes FS, De Andrade TG, Deakin JF (1996) Role of 5-HT in stress, anxiety, and depression. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 54:129–141
- Griebel G, Perrault G, Sanger DJ (1997) A comparative study of the effects of selective and nonselective 5-HT2 receptor subtype antagonists in rat and mouse models of anxiety. Neuropharmacology 36:793–802
- Grillon C, Cordova J, Levine LR, Morgan CA III (2003) Anxiolytic effects of a novel group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist (LY354740) in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm in humans. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 168:446–454
- Habib KE, Weld KP, Rice KC, Pushkas J, Champoux M, Listwak S, Webster EL, Atkinson AJ, Schulkin J, Contoreggi C, Chrousos GP, McCann SM, Suomi SJ, Higley JD, Gold PW (2000) Oral administration of a corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor antagonist significantly attenuates behavioral, neuroendocrine, and autonomic responses to stress in primates. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:6079–6084
- Hein L, Altman JD, Kobilka BK (1999) Two functionally distinct alpha2-adrenergic receptors regulate sympathetic neurotransmission. Nature 402:181–184
- Hollander E, DeCaria C, Nitescu A, Cooper T, Stover B, Gully R, Klein DF, Liebowitz MR (1991) Noradrenergic function in obsessive-compulsive disorder: behavioral and neuroendocrine responses to clonidine and comparison to healthy controls. Psychiatry Res 37:161–177
- Hood SD, Bell CJ, Nutt DJ (2005) Acute tryptophan depletion. Part I: rationale and methodology. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 39:558–564
- Hood SD, Potokar JP, Davies SJ, Hince DA, Morris K, Seddon KM, Nutt DJ, Argyropoulos SV (2006) Dopaminergic challenges in social anxiety disorder. Abstract number: S.15.02, Papers of the 19th ECNP Congress, European Neuropsychopharmacology 16 (Suppl 4):S186
- Javitt DC (2004) Glutamate as a therapeutic target in psychiatric disorders. Molecular Psychiatry 9:984–997, 979
- Johnson MR, Lydiard RB, Zealberg JJ, Fossey MD, Ballenger JC (1994) Plasma and CSF HVA levels in panic patients with comorbid social phobia. Biol Psychiatry 36:425–427
- Johnson PL, Lightman SL, Lowry CA (2004) A functional subset of serotonergic neurons in the rat ventrolateral periaqueductal gray implicated in the inhibition of sympathoexcitation and panic. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1018:58–64
- Kalueff A, Nutt DJ (1996) Role of GABA in memory and anxiety. Depress Anxiety 4:100-110

Kalueff AV, Nutt DJ (2007) Role of GABA in anxiety and depression. Depress Anxiety 24:495-517

- Kaschka W, Feistel H, Ebert D (1995) Reduced benzodiazepine receptor binding in panic disorders measured by iomazenil SPECT. J Psychiatr Res 29:427–434
- Ko GN, Elsworth JD, Roth RH, Rifkin BG, Leigh H, Redmond DE Jr (1983) Panic-induced elevation of plasma MHPG levels in phobic-anxious patients. Effects of clonidine and imipramine. Arch Gen Psychiatry 40:425–430
- Korpi ER, Sinkkonen ST (2006) GABA(A) receptor subtypes as targets for neuropsychiatric drug development. Pharmacol Ther 109:12–32
- Kotlinska J, Liljequist S (1998) A characterization of anxiolytic-like actions induced by the novel NMDA/glycine site antagonist, L-701, 324. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 135:175–181
- Kuikka JT, Pitkanen A, Lepola U, Partanen K, Vainio P, Bergstrom KA, Wieler HJ, Kaiser KP, Mittelbach L, Koponen H et al (1995) Abnormal regional benzodiazepine receptor uptake in the prefrontal cortex in patients with panic disorder. Nucl Med Commun 16:273–280
- Lambert E, Hotchkin E, Alvarenga M, Pier C, Richards J, Barton D, Dawood T, Esler M, Lambert G (2006) Single-unit analysis of sympathetic nervous discharges in patients with panic disorder. J Physiol 570:637–643
- Lanzenberger RR, Mitterhauser M, Spindelegger C, Wadsak W, Klein N, Mien LK, Holik A, Attarbaschi T, Mossaheb N, Sacher J, Geiss-Granadia T, Kletter K, Kasper S, Tauscher J (2007) Reduced serotonin-1A receptor binding in social anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 61:1081–1089
- Liebowitz MR, Schneier F, Campeas R, Hollander E, Hatterer J, Fyer A, Gorman J, Papp L, Davies S, Gully R (1992) Phenelzine vs atenolol in social phobia. A placebo-controlled comparison. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49:290–300
- Longone P, Rupprecht R, Manieri GA, Bernardi G, Romeo E, Pasini A (2008) The complex roles of neurosteroids in depression and anxiety disorders. Neurochem Int 52:596–601
- Louie AK, Lannon RA, Ketter TA (1989) Treatment of cocaine-induced panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 146:40–44
- Maes M, Van GA, Delmeire L, Kenis G, Bosmans E, Song C (2002) Platelet alpha 2-adrenoceptor density in humans: relationships to stress-induced anxiety, psychasthenic constitution, gender and stress-induced changes in the inflammatory response system. Psychol Med 32:919–928
- Malizia AL (2002) Receptor binding and drug modulation in anxiety. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 12:567–574
- Malizia AL, Cunningham VJ, Bell CJ, Liddle PF, Jones T, Nutt DJ (1998) Decreased brain GABA (A)-benzodiazepine receptor binding in panic disorder: preliminary results from a quantitative PET study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55:715–720
- Millan MJ (2005) Serotonin 5-HT2C receptors as a target for the treatment of depressive and anxious states: focus on novel therapeutic strategies. Therapie 60:441–460
- Millan MJ, Gobert A, Rivet JM, Adhumeau-Auclair A, Cussac D, Newman-Tancredi A, Dekeyne A, Nicolas JP, Lejeune F (2000) Mirtazapine enhances frontocortical dopaminergic and corticolimbic adrenergic, but not serotonergic, transmission by blockade of alpha2-adrenergic and serotonin2C receptors: a comparison with citalopram. Eur J Neurosci 12:1079–1095
- Munjack DJ, Crocker B, Cabe D, Brown R, Usigli R, Zulueta A, McManus M, McDowell D, Palmer R, Leonard M (1989) Alprazolam, propranolol, and placebo in the treatment of panic disorder and agoraphobia with panic attacks. J Clin Psychopharmacol 9:22–27
- Munjack DJ, Baltazar PL, DeQuattro V, Sobin P, Palmer R, Zulueta A, Crocker B, Usigli R, Buckwalter G, Leonard M (1990) Generalized anxiety disorder: some biochemical aspects. Psychiatry Res 32:35–43
- Nash JR, Sargent PA, Rabiner EA, Hood SD, Argyropoulos SV, Potokar JP, Grasby PM, Nutt DJ (2008) A positron emission tomography study of serotonin 5-HT1A receptor availability in untreated and recovered patients with panic disorder. Br J Psychiatry 193:1–6
- Nayeem N, Green TP, Martin IL, Barnard EA (1994) Quaternary structure of the native GABAA receptor determined by electron microscopic image analysis. J Neurochem 62:815–818
- Nemeroff CB (2003) The role of GABA in the pathophysiology and treatment of anxiety disorders. Psychopharmacol Bull 37:133–146

- Neumeister A, Bain E, Nugent AC, Carson RE, Bonne O, Luckenbaugh DA, Eckelman W, Herscovitch P, Charney DS, Drevets WC (2004) Reduced serotonin type 1A receptor binding in panic disorder. J Neurosci 24:589–591
- Nielsen M, Braestrup C, Squires RF (1978) Evidence for a late evolutionary appearance of brainspecific benzodiazepine receptors: an investigation of 18 vertebrate and 5 invertebrate species. Brain Res 141:342–346
- Nutt DJ (1986) Increased central alpha 2-adrenoceptor sensitivity in panic disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 90:268–269
- Nutt DJ (1989) Altered central alpha 2-adrenoceptor sensitivity in panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:165–169
- Nutt DJ (2001) The pharmacology of human anxiety. In: Griez E, Faravelli C, Nutt DJ, Zohar J (eds) Anxiety disorders. Wiley, Chichester, pp 309–324 Chapter 16
- Nutt DJ (2003) Death and dependence: current controversies over the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. J Psychopharmacol 17:355–364
- Nutt D (2006) GABAA receptors: subtypes, regional distribution, and function. J Clin Sleep Med 2:S7–S11
- Nutt D, Lawson C (1992) Panic attacks. A neurochemical overview of models and mechanisms. Br J Psychiatry 160:165–178
- Nutt DJ, Malizia AL (2001) New insights into the role of the GABA(A)-benzodiazepine receptor in psychiatric disorder. Br J Psychiatry 179:390–396
- Ohishi H, Shigemoto R, Nakanishi S, Mizuno N (1993) Distribution of the mRNA for a metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR3) in the rat brain: an in situ hybridization study. J Comp Neurol 335:252–266
- Olsen RW, Chang CS, Li G, Hanchar HJ, Wallner M (2004) Fishing for allosteric sites on GABA (A) receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 68:1675–1684
- Orser BA (2006) Extrasynaptic GABAA receptors are critical targets for sedative-hypnotic drugs. J Clin Sleep Med 2:S12–S18
- Pillay NS, Stein DJ (2007) Emerging anxiolytics. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs 12:541-554
- Pirker S, Schwarzer C, Wieselthaler A, Sieghart W, Sperk G (2000) GABA(A) receptors: immunocytochemical distribution of 13 subunits in the adult rat brain. Neuroscience 101:815–850
- Plaznik A, Palejko W, Nazar M, Jessa M (1994) Effects of antagonists at the NMDA receptor complex in two models of anxiety. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 4:503–512
- Pollack MH, Jensen JE, Simon NM, Kaufman RE, Renshaw PF (2008) High-field MRS study of GABA, glutamate and glutamine in social anxiety disorder: response to treatment with levetiracetam. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 32:739–743
- Rapaport MH, Clary C, Fayyad R, Endicott J (2005) Quality-of-life impairment in depressive and anxiety disorders. Am J Psychiatry 162:1171–1178
- Rasmusson AM, Anderson GM, Lynch KA, McSwiggan-Hardin M, Scahill LD, Mazure CM, Goodman WK, Price LH, Cohen DJ, Leckman JF (1997) A preliminary study of tryptophan depletion on tics, obsessive-compulsive symptoms, and mood in Tourette's syndrome. Biol Psychiatry 41:117–121
- Roy-Byrne PP, Geraci M, Uhde TW (1986) Life events and the onset of panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 143:1424–1427
- Roy-Byrne PP, Cowley DS, Greenblatt DJ, Shader RI, Hommer D (1990) Reduced benzodiazepine sensitivity in panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47:534–538
- Ruddick JP, Evans AK, Nutt DJ, Lightman SL, Rook GA, Lowry CA (2006) Tryptophan metabolism in the central nervous system: medical implications. Expert Rev Mol Med 8:1–27
- Rupprecht R, Eser D, Zwanzger P, Moller HJ (2006) GABAA receptors as targets for novel anxiolytic drugs. World J Biol Psychiatry 7:231–237
- Sandford JJ, Argyropoulos SV, Nutt DJ (2000) The psychobiology of anxiolytic drugs. Part 1: basic neurobiology. Pharmacol Ther 88:197–212

- Scahill L, Leckman JF, Schultz RT, Katsovich L, Peterson BS (2003) A placebo-controlled trial of risperidone in Tourette syndrome. Neurology 60:1130–1135
- Schank JR, Liles LC, Weinshenker D (2008) Norepinephrine signaling through beta-adrenergic receptors is critical for expression of cocaine-induced anxiety. Biol Psychiatry 63:1007–1012
- Schlegel S, Steinert H, Bockisch A, Hahn K, Schloesser R, Benkert O (1994) Decreased benzodiazepine receptor binding in panic disorder measured by IOMAZENIL-SPECT. A preliminary report. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 244:49–51
- Schneier FR, Liebowitz MR, Abi-Dargham A, Zea-Ponce Y, Lin SH, Laruelle M (2000) Low dopamine D(2) receptor binding potential in social phobia. Am J Psychiatry 157:457–459
- Schneier FR, Martinez D, Abi-Dargham A, Zea-Ponce Y, Simpson HB, Liebowitz MR, Laruelle M (2008) Striatal dopamine D(2) receptor availability in OCD with and without comorbid social anxiety disorder: preliminary findings. Depress Anxiety 25:1–7
- Schoepp DD, Wright RA, Levine LR, Gaydos B, Potter WZ (2003) LY354740, an mGlu2/3 receptor agonist as a novel approach to treat anxiety/stress. Stress 6:189–197
- Schruers K, Griez E (2004) The effects of tianeptine or paroxetine on 35% CO2 provoked panic in panic disorder. J Psychopharmacol 18:553–558
- Sheehan DV, Raj AB, Sheehan KH, Soto S (1990) Is buspirone effective for panic disorder? J Clin Psychopharmacol 10:3–11
- Shigemoto R, Kinoshita A, Wada E, Nomura S, Ohishi H, Takada M, Flor PJ, Neki A, Abe T, Nakanishi S, Mizuno N (1997) Differential presynaptic localization of metabotropic glutamate receptor subtypes in the rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 17:7503–7522
- Shlik J, Aluoja A, Vasar V, Vasar E, Podar T, Bradwejn J (1997) Effects of citalopram treatment on behavioural, cardiovascular and neuroendocrine response to cholecystokinin tetrapeptide challenge in patients with panic disorder. J Psychiatry Neurosci 22:332–340
- Sieghart W (1995) Structure and pharmacology of gamma-aminobutyric acidA receptor subtypes. Pharmacol Rev 47:181–234
- Sinclair LI, Christmas DM, Hood SD, Potokar JP, Robertson A, Isaac A, Srivastava S, Nutt DJ, Davies SJ (2009) Antidepressant-induced jitteriness/anxiety syndrome: systematic review. Br J Psychiatry 194:483–490
- Stanford SC, Salmon P (1989) Neurochemical correlates of behavioural responses to frustrative nonreward in the rat: implications for the role of central noradrenergic neurones in behavioural adaptation to stress. Exp Brain Res 75:133–138
- Szabo ST, Blier P (2001) Response of the norepinephrine system to antidepressant drugs. CNS Spectr 6:679–684
- Tancer ME, Stein MB, Uhde TW (1993) Growth hormone response to intravenous clonidine in social phobia: comparison to patients with panic disorder and healthy volunteers. Biol Psychiatry 34:591–595
- Tancer ME, Mailman RB, Stein MB, Mason GA, Carson SW, Golden RN (1994) Neuroendocrine responsivity to monoaminergic system probes in generalized social phobia. Anxiety 1:216–223
- Targum SD (1990) Differential responses to anxiogenic challenge studies in patients with major depressive disorder and panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 28:21–34
- Tauscher J, Bagby RM, Javanmard M, Christensen BK, Kasper S, Kapur S (2001) Inverse relationship between serotonin 5-HT(1A) receptor binding and anxiety: a [(11)C]WAY-100635 PET investigation in healthy volunteers. Am J Psychiatry 158:1326–1328
- Tiihonen J, Kuikka J, Bergstrom K, Lepola U, Koponen H, Leinonen E (1997a) Dopamine reuptake site densities in patients with social phobia. Am J Psychiatry 154:239–242
- Tiihonen J, Kuikka J, Rasanen P, Lepola U, Koponen H, Liuska A, Lehmusvaara A, Vainio P, Kononen M, Bergstrom K, Yu M, Kinnunen I, Akerman K, Karhu J (1997b) Cerebral benzodiazepine receptor binding and distribution in generalized anxiety disorder: a fractal analysis. Mol Psychiatry 2:463–471
- Trendelenburg AU, Starke K, Limberger N (1994a) Presynaptic alpha 2A-adrenoceptors inhibit the release of endogenous dopamine in rabbit caudate nucleus slices. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 350:473–481

- Trendelenburg AU, Trendelenburg M, Starke K, Limberger N (1994b) Release-inhibiting alpha 2-adrenoceptors at serotonergic axons in rat and rabbit brain cortex: evidence for pharmacological identity with alpha 2-autoreceptors. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 349:25–33
- Uhde TW, Stein MB, Vittone BJ, Siever LJ, Boulenger JP, Klein E, Mellman TA (1989) Behavioral and physiologic effects of short-term and long-term administration of clonidine in panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 46:170–177
- Uzunova V, Sheline Y, Davis JM, Rasmusson A, Uzunov DP, Costa E, Guidotti A (1998) Increase in the cerebrospinal fluid content of neurosteroids in patients with unipolar major depression who are receiving fluoxetine or fluvoxamine. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:3239–3244
- van VI, Westenberg HG, den Boer JA (1996) Effects of the 5-HT1A receptor agonist flesinoxan in panic disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 127:174–180
- Whiting PJ, Bonnert TP, McKernan RM, Farrar S, Le Bourdelles B, Heavens RP, Smith DW, Hewson L, Rigby MR, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Thompson SA, Wafford KA (1999) Molecular and functional diversity of the expanding GABA-A receptor gene family. Ann N Y Acad Sci 868:645–653
- WHO (2000) Cross-national comparisons of the prevalences and correlates of mental disorders. WHO International Consortium in Psychiatric Epidemiology. Bull World Health Organ 78:413–426
- Williams K, Argyropoulos S, Nutt DJ (2000) Amphetamine misuse and social phobia. Am J Psychiatry 157:834–835
- Wittchen HU, Jacobi F (2005) Size and burden of mental disorders in Europe–a critical review and appraisal of 27 studies. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:357–376
- Wu LJ, Kim SS, Zhuo M (2008) Molecular targets of anxiety: from membrane to nucleus. Neurochem Res 33:1925–1932
- Ziegler MG, Lake CR, Wood JH, Brooks BR, Ebert MH (1977) Relationship between norepinephrine in blood and cerebrospinal fluid in the presence of a blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier for norepinephrine. J Neurochem 28:677–679

GABA_A Receptor $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ Subtype-Selective Modulators as Potential Nonsedating Anxiolytics

John R. Atack

Contents

1	Introduction	332
2	Benzodiazepines and the GABA _A Receptor	335
3	Identification of MRK-409 and TPA023	337
4	Identification of TPA023B	337
5	Note on Nomenclature	339
6	Comparison of the In Vitro Properties of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B	340
7	Preclinical Pharmacokinetics of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B	340
8	Receptor Occupancy in Rats	344
9	Preclinical Nonsedating Anxiolytic Profiles of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B	345
10	Additional Preclinical Pharmacology	345
	10.1 Drug Discrimination	347
	10.2 Self Administration	347
	10.3 Physical Dependence	348
11	Clinical Pharmacokinetics of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B	348
12	Tolerability of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B in Man	349
13	[¹¹ C]Flumazenil PET After Oral Dosing of MRK-409, TPA023, and	
	TPA023B in Man	350
14	Comparison of the Pharmacodynamic Responses of MRK-409 and TPA023 in Man .	351
15	Anxiolytic-Like Efficacy of TPA023	352
16	Additional Clinical Data with TPA023	353
17	Summary	354
Refe	erences	355

Abstract Nonselective benzodiazepines exert their pharmacological effects via $GABA_A$ receptors containing either an $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, or $\alpha 5$ subunit. The use of subtype-selective tool compounds along with transgenic mice has formed the conceptual framework for defining the requirements of subtype-selective compounds with potentially novel pharmacological profiles. More specifically, compounds

J.R. Atack

Department of Neuroscience, Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical Research and Development, Building 020, Room 1A6, Turnhoutseweg 30, B-2340, Beerse, Belgium e-mail: JAtack1@its.jnj.com

which allosterically modulate the $\alpha 2$ and/or $\alpha 3$ subtypes but are devoid of, or have much reduced, effects at the $\alpha 1$ subtype are hypothesized to be anxioselective (i.e., anxiolytic but devoid of sedation). Accordingly, three compounds, MRK-409, TPA023 and TPA023B, which selectively potentiated the effects of GABA at the $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ compared to $\alpha 1$ subtypes were progressed into man. All three compounds behaved as nonsedating anxiolytics in preclinical (rodent and primate) species but, surprisingly, MRK-409 produced sedation in man at relatively low levels of occupancy (<10%). This sedation liability of MRK-409 in man was attributed to its weak partial agonist efficacy at the $\alpha 1$ subtype since both TPA023 and TPA023B lacked any $\alpha 1$ efficacy and did not produce overt sedation even at relatively high levels of occupancy (>50%). The anxiolytic efficacy of TPA023 was evaluated in Generalized Anxiety Disorder and although these clinical trials were terminated early due to preclinical toxicity issues, the combined data from these incomplete studies demonstrated an anxiolytic-like effect of TPA023. This compound also showed a trend to increase cognitive performance in a small group of schizophrenic subjects and is currently under further evaluation of its cognition-enhancing effects in schizophrenia as part of the TURNS initiative. In contrast, the fate of the back-up clinical candidate TPA023B has not been publicly disclosed. At the very least, these data indicate that the pharmacological profile of compounds that differentially modulate specific populations of GABA_A receptors is distinct from classical benzodiazepines and should encourage further preclinical and clinical investigation of such compounds, with the caveat that, as exemplified by MRK-409, the preclinical profile might not necessarily translate into man.

Keywords GABAA receptor · Benzodiazepine · Subtype-selective · Anxiolytic · Selective efficacy

1 Introduction

It is now approaching 50 years since benzodiazepines entered clinical practice in the form of chlordiazepoxide (Librium[®]) and shortly thereafter diazepam (Valium[®]; Sternbach 1979). Subsequently, a variety of analogues based upon the same 1,4-benzodiazepine core structure were also introduced (Fig. 1), including the so-called high-potency (high-affinity) benzodiazepines such as lorazepam, clonazepam, and alprazolam (Moroz 2004). Benzodiazepines rapidly gained acceptance based upon their efficacy as anxiolytics and hypnotics as well as their greatly improved safety profile compared to the barbiturates that they superseded (Ator 2005). The popularity of benzodiazepines and their use as lifestyle drugs is exemplified by the Rolling Stones who included on their 1966 album *Aftermath* a track about benzodiazepines titled "Mothers Little Helper" and which described how "She [mother] goes running for the shelter; Of a mother's little helper; And it helps her on her way; Gets her through her busy day."





There is little doubt that the use of benzodiazepines represented a major advance in psychopharmacology, in terms of both safety and efficacy (Gorman 2005). However, these beneficial effects began to be overshadowed by the emergence of reports of physical and psychological dependence, such as those described in Barbara Gordon's 1979 book I'm Dancing As Fast As I Can. Issues associated with dependence and the cessation of benzodiazepine use are detailed on the internet at sites such as www.benzo.org.uk, a location that includes Heather Ashton's Benzodiazepines: How They Work and How to Withdraw. The problem of physical dependence was exacerbated by the large scale overprescribing of benzodiazepines as a result of either inappropriate prescribing to people that did not have a real medical need or a continuation of prescribing for much longer than actually required. In the 1980s, this situation was highlighted in the UK by the popular BBC consumer program That's Life and the backlash against benzodiazepines arguably reached its nadir in the mid to late 1980s with, for example, the introduction in 1989 of regulations imposed by the NewYork State requiring benzodiazepines to be prescribed on the State's triplicate-copy prescription forms (Woods 1998); an unfortunate consequence of which was that benzodiazepines were often replaced by older, less effective, and less safe drugs (Weintraub et al. 1991).

It is now generally accepted that the use of benzodiazepines is associated with a variety of risks (Woods et al. 1992; O'Brien 2005). These include sedation in subjects taking them as anxiolytics, resulting in, for example, reduced performance while driving (O'Hanlon et al. 1982); increased falls and associated hip fractures in the elderly (Cumming and Le Couteur 2003); interaction with ethanol, with flunitrazepam (Rohypnol) being an archetypal date-rape drug (Woods

Fig. 1 (continued) pharmacological activity and a variety of 1,4-benzodiazepinone compounds could be generated by varying the substituent at the R1 position in the A-ring, the R2 and R3 positions in the B-ring and the R4 position in the C-ring. Within this series of 1,4-benzodiazepinones, the prototypic compound is diazepam, which was introduced under the trade name of Librium in 1963 (Sternbach 1979). Diazepam is extensively metabolized in man and a number of these metabolites, including nordazepam (N-desmethyldiazepam), temazepam and oxazepam have been marketed separately. (c) Introduction of an imidazo group into the benzodiazepine core results in structures typified by the clinically used drugs midazolam, loprazolam, and flumazenil, the latter of which is the prototypic benzodiazepine antagonist (Hunkeler, et al. 1981). In addition, bretazenil (Ro 16-6028), which progressed into man but never reached the market (Van Steveninck et al. 1996), Ro 15-4513 (Suzdak et al. 1986, 1988) and L-655,708 (Quirk et al. 1996; Atack et al. 2006a) remain pharmacological tools. (d) Introduction of an extra nitrogen into the imidazobenzodiazepine core results in triazolobenzodiazepines, such as triazolam and alprazolam. (e) Additional compounds that are structurally related to the 1,4-benzodiazepinones include: bromazepam (in which the C-ring phenyl group is replaced by a pyridyl), quazepam (a 1,4-benzodiazepine-2-thione), brotizolam (a thienotriazolodiazepine), medazepam (which lacks a carbonyl substituent on the benzodiazepine core and has diazepam as one of its metabolites, de Silva and Puglisi 1970), and clobazam, which is a 1,5- rather than 1,4-benzodiazepine and possesses two rather than the more usual one carbonyl groups and is reported to have a reduced sedation liability (Wildin et al. 1990). The generic names are shown with representative trade or brand names within parentheses. However, trade names can differ from country to country and a more complete listing is provided elsewhere (http://www.non-benzodiazepines.org.uk/benzodiazepine-names.html)

and Winger 1997); withdrawal upon abrupt cessation (Ashton 2005; Lader et al. 2009), although "tapering" can be used as a mitigation (Shader and Greenblatt 1993); or abuse, which seems preferentially associated with habitual drug abusers (Woods and Winger 1995; Ator 2005). However, all these risks need to be balanced against the clinical efficacy of benzodiazepines, particularly as regards anxiolytic activity (Nutt 2005), and the generally safe clinical profile of such drugs.

Since the multiple clinical effects of benzodiazepines are associated with four distinct populations of the GABA_A receptor (discussed later), it has been hypothesized that by selectively targeting certain subtypes it might be possible to retain the anxiolytic activity seen with the nonselective benzodiazepines (i.e., benzodiazepines which interact equally with all four subtypes) yet avoid the sedation, physical dependence, abuse, and ethanol interaction liabilities (Atack 2003). Accordingly, efforts at pharmaceutical companies such as the Danish company NeuroSearch A/S and Merck Sharp & Dohme (the European subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc.) have focused on developing GABA_A receptor subtype selective compounds that are anxioselective (i.e., nonsedating anxiolytics). The purpose of the present chapter is to review the properties of those compounds emerging from the Merck Sharp & Dohme laboratories and that progressed into man, namely MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B.

2 Benzodiazepines and the GABA_A Receptor

Although benzodiazepines were introduced at the start of the 1960s, it was only in the mid-1970s that their GABA-mediated mechanism of action began to be understood (Costa et al. 1975; Haefely et al. 1975). With the delineation of the effects of GABA within the CNS to GABA_A and GABA_B receptor subtypes (Bowery et al. 1980, 1987), it became apparent that benzodiazepines modulated the effects of GABA_A receptors. Furthermore, based upon their differential affinity for nonbenzodiazepine compounds, such as the triazolopyridazine CL-218872, two subtypes of the GABA_A receptor benzodiazepine recognition site, designated BZ₁ and BZ₂, were identified (Klepner et al. 1979).

The molecular basis for the GABA_A receptor BZ₁ and BZ₂ subtypes was clarified with the elucidation of the subunit composition of GABA_A receptors. Hence, the purification and sequencing of native GABA_A receptors (Sigel and Barnard 1984) triggered the cloning of a family of GABA_A subunit genes which initially comprised just single α and β subunits (Schofield et al. 1987), but was subsequently extended to include a total of 19 mammalian genes (α 1–6, β 1–3, γ 1–3, δ , θ , π , ρ 1–3) with additional subunits (β 4 and γ 4) being found in birds (Simon et al. 2004; Olsen and Sieghart 2008).

GABA_A receptors are members of the Cys-loop super-family of ligand-gated ion channels that also include nicotinic acetylcholine, glycine, and serotonin 5HT3 receptors. The structure of subunits comprising this superfamily is relatively well described, being based upon comparisons with the freshwater snail *Lymnaea*

stagnalis acetylcholine binding protein (Brejc et al. 2001) as well as the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor of *Torpedo marmorata* (Sine and Engel 2006), the collective data from which have permitted homology models of the GABA_A receptor to be generated (Ernst et al. 2005). Hence, each GABA_A subunit consists of a large extracellular hydrophilic N-terminal domain followed by four transmembrane (TM) α -helices and a relatively short intracellular C-terminal domain, with TM2 lining the pore of the ion channel. Native GABA_A receptors are heteropentameric structures and despite the multiple possible permutations of 19 different subunits into a pentameric assembly, only in the region of 20–30 subtypes probably exist in the brain (Olsen and Sieghart 2008), with the majority containing two α , two β , and a single γ , δ or ε subunit (Fig. 2a: Sieghart and Sperk 2002; Sigel et al. 2006).

The benzodiazepine recognition site is formed by a $\gamma 2$ subunit in conjunction with either an $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, or $\alpha 5$ subunit (Fig. 2b; Sieghart 1995). The sequences of the $\alpha 4$ and $\alpha 6$ subunits differs from those of $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, and $\alpha 5$ in that a histidine residue in the latter subunits is replaced by an arginine in $\alpha 4$ and $\alpha 6$ (Wieland et al. 1992). This single amino acid replacement is sufficient to render $\alpha 4\beta\gamma 2$ and $\alpha 6\beta\gamma 2$ receptors diazepam-insensitive, although this binding site is recognized by certain imidazobenzodiazepines, such as Ro 15-4513 (Fig. 2c; Pym et al. 2005).

The α subunit histidine to arginine difference that confers diazepam insensitivity (Wieland et al. 1992) has been used as the basis for generating point-mutated mice in which specific GABA_A receptor populations (i.e., either α 1-, α 2-, α 3-, or α 5-containing receptors) are rendered insensitive to the pharmacological effects of diazepam (Benson et al. 1998). Using this approach Rudolph, Mohler, and colleagues performed a series of elegant studies that have begun to delineate which GABA_A subtypes mediate particular aspects of the pharmacology of diazepam and other benzodiazepine site modulators (Rudolph et al. 1999; Löw et al. 2000; Rudolph and Möhler 2006; Knabl et al. 2008, 2009). This approach has been



Fig. 2 Schematic representations of the structure of GABA_A receptors. (a) The arrangement of subunits in the major subtypes of native GABA_A receptors as viewed from the synapse (Sieghart and Sperk 2002; Sigel et al. 2006; Olsen and Sieghart 2008) with the GABA binding site being formed at the interface of the α and β subunits. (b) The benzodiazepine recognition site is formed at the interface of the α and γ 2 subunits, with the so-called "classical" benzodiazepine site being defined by either an $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, or $\alpha 5$ subunit. (c) Diazepam-insensitive sites, which are recognized by the imidazobenzodiazepine Ro 15-4513, are associated with either an $\alpha 4$ or $\alpha 6$ subunit along with a γ 2 subunit

complemented by the use of subtype-selective GABA_A modulators, such as L-838417 (McKernan et al. 2000), data from which is generally in good agreement with transgenic mouse studies. More specifically, it would appear that the α 1 subtype is associated with sedation, the α 2 and/or α 3 subtypes are the "anxiolytic" subtypes (Rudolph et al. 1999; Löw et al. 2000; Atack et al. 2005; Dias et al. 2005) whereas α 5-containing GABA_A receptors are associated with aspects of cognition (Dawson et al. 2006; Maubach, 2006). Accordingly, it is hypothesized that a compound that preferentially modulates the α 2 and α 3 subtypes but has reduced or, preferably, no activity at the α 1 subtype should have anxiolytic-like activity but a much reduced sedation liability, i.e., it should be anxioselective (Atack 2003).

3 Identification of MRK-409 and TPA023

Based upon the hypothesis that a compound which preferentially activates $\alpha 2$ - and/ or $\alpha 3$ -rather than $\alpha 1$ -containing GABA_A receptors should be anxioselective, initial attempts were directed towards identifying a compound with higher affinity for the $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ versus $\alpha 1$ subtypes. However, such attempts were unsuccessful with the maximum selectivity achieved being 12-fold (Atack 2009a).

The strategy was then switched to identifying a compound that would bind to each of the four GABA_A subtypes but would have higher efficacy for the $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ compared to $\alpha 1$ subtypes. The starting point for this selective-efficacy approach was **1** (Fig. 3), which had a slight (3- to 6-fold) $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ versus $\alpha 1$ binding selectivity. Replacement of the [2.2.2] bicyclic ring system with a pendant phenyl group at the C-7 position resulted in a compound, **2**, which had increased affinity and efficacy relative to **1**, but no difference between the efficacy at the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 3$ subtypes. Replacement of the 2-pyridyl group at the C-6 position with a 1,2,4-triazole in **3** did not affect affinity but did introduce a modest degree of $\alpha 3$ versus $\alpha 1$ efficacy at both subtypes could be lowered appreciably by reducing the hydrophobicity at the C-7 position by replacing the phenyl group with either a cyclobutyl or *t*-butyl moiety and this also increased $\alpha 3$ efficacy selectivity.

The unsubstituted phenyl ring at the C-3 position was a metabolic liability and this could be reduced by fluorination, which in the C-7 cyclobutyl series resulted in MRK-409 and in the C-7 *t*-butyl series produced the prototypic efficacy selective compound L-838417 (McKernan et al. 2000) and its structural analogue TPA023 (Atack et al. 2006b).

4 Identification of TPA023B

NS 2710 is a benzimidazole that was being developed as a novel anxiolytic by NeuroSearch A/S (Mirza et al. 2003). However, this compound caused skin rashes in Phase II studies and development was terminated. By combining features of NS





2710 with L-838417, a series of imidazopyridines (e.g. 4) was described (Fig. 3b; Goodacre et al. 2006) in which the α 3 efficacy was consistently greater than that at the α 1 subtype. Unfortunately, however, the imidazopyridines had generally poor pharmacokinetic properties in rat. The introduction of an addition nitrogen into the imidazopyridine core resulted in an imidazopyrimidine series (e.g. 5) in which the α 3 versus α 1 efficacy-selective structure–activity relationship observed with the imidazopyridines was generally retained (Goodacre et al. 2006; Blackaby et al. 2006). The addition of a further nitrogen gave imidazotriazine compounds (e.g. 6) that had similar affinities but generally lower efficacy relative to their imidazopyrimidine counterparts whilst, importantly, retaining the α 3 versus α 1 efficacy selectivity (Jennings et al. 2006; Russell et al. 2006). Within the imidazotriazine series, TPA023B was selected for progression into man (Van Laere et al. 2008).

5 Note on Nomenclature

The nomenclature for the compounds described in the present manuscript can be confusing and merits further discussion. The prototypic efficacy-selective compound originating from the Merck labs, L-838417, was known simply by its unique, internal Merck identifier (or "L-number"). Unfortunately, this unambiguous convention was revised for subsequent compounds. For example, the prefix "MRK" was added to the last three digits of the L-number to describe MRK-409 but elsewhere this compound has been described as MK-0343 (de Haas et al. 2008). As regards TPA023, the "TP" refers to Terlings Park (the Merck site from where the compound originated), the "A" refers to agonist (to differentiate such compounds

Fig. 3 Summary of the identification of the clinical candidates MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B. (a) MRK-409 and TPA023 are triazolopyridazines originating from 1. Introduction of a phenyl group at the C-7 position gave 2 and then replacement of the 2-pyridyl group with a 2-methyl-1,2,4-triazole at the C-6 position gave 3. Replacement of the C-7 phenyl with a cyclobutyl and fluorination of the C-3 phenyl at the 2 and 6 positions gave MRK-409. Alternatively, replacement of the C-7 phenyl with a t-butyl and fluorination of the C-3 phenyl at the 2 and 5 positions gave the prototypic $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ efficacy-selective partial agonist L-838417 (McKernan et al. 2000). TPA023 differs from L-838417 in that a 2-fluorophenyl replaces the 2,6-diffuorophenyl at the C-3 position and an ethyl replaces the methyl at the 2 position of the 1,2,4-triazole at the C-6 position (Carling et al. 2005). (b) TPA023B was derived from the NeuroSearch compound NS 2710 (Mirza et al. 2003). Hence, the benzimidazole core structure of NS 2710 was changed to an imidazopyridine (e.g., 4) which retained $GABA_A$ receptor affinity but this series had generally poor pharmacokinetic properties in rat. The introduction of an additional nitrogen gave an imidazopyrimidine core (e.g., 5) that resulted in an approximately 10-fold higher binding affinity and good rat, but initially poor dog, pharmacokinetic properties (due to metabolic instability of the methyl group and the central phenyl ring, both of which were addressed separately; Goodacre et al. 2006). The introduction of an additional nitrogen into the core produced an imidazotriazine core, 6, which resulted in only a relatively modest reduction in affinity (Russell et al. 2006). Replacement of the C-3 methyl group with a propan-2-ol and the introduction of a central 4-fluorophenyl ring along with a 2-cyano-6-fluorophenyl group resulted in the identification of TPA023B

from inverse agonists such as α 3IA and α 5IA, Atack et al. 2005; Dawson et al. 2006) and the "023" refers to zero agonism at the α 1 but (partial) agonism at the α 2 and α 3 subtypes. However, this nomenclature has not been consistently employed with TPA023 also being referred to as L-830982 and MK-0777 (Lewis et al. 2008).

Having adopted the "TPA" naming convention meant that subsequent compounds with an efficacy profile similar to TPA023 (i.e., zero efficacy at α 1 but agonism at α 2 and α 3) would also have to share this name and accordingly the backup compound to TPA023 was given the name TPA023B, although elsewhere, this same compound has also been described as L-891190 (Anonymous 2006). Finally, the "A for agonism" rule has not been consistently applied since a compound with zero efficacy at the α 1 and α 2 subtypes but agonism at α 3 was given the name TP003 (Dias et al. 2005).

6 Comparison of the In Vitro Properties of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B

Figure 4 shows a graphical representation of the affinity and relative efficacy of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B at recombinant human GABA_A receptors, with data for the nonselective partial agonist bretazenil also being included for comparative purposes. The upper graphs illustrate how all four compounds have equivalent affinity at each of the four different subtypes. Moreover, the affinities at human recombinant GABA_A receptors of MRK-409 (Ki values ranging from 0.21 to 0.40 nM), TPA023 (0.19–0.41 nM) and TPA023B (0.73–2.0 nM) are comparable to those observed against native, rat brain receptors (respective Ki values of ~0.3, ~0.3, and 0.3–1.0 nM). The fact that there is comparable affinity at the different subtypes suggests that each compound has analogous molecular interactions with $\alpha 1$ -, $\alpha 2$ -, $\alpha 3$ -, and $\alpha 5$ -containing GABA_A receptors. Clearly, however, these interactions presumably produce allosteric changes that translate into differing efficacy at each subtype and although pharmacophore models exist for binding at the benzodiazepine recognition site (Clayton et al. 2007), there are no such models for efficacy.

7 Preclinical Pharmacokinetics of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B

Figure 5 shows the pharmacokinetic profiles of single doses of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B dosed to rats and dogs, with the parameters derived from these data being presented in Table 1. The triazolopyridazines MRK-409 and TPA023 had similar pharmacokinetic properties following i.v. dosing in rats and dogs, with the



Fig. 4 Comparison of the structure and GABA_A receptor subtype affinity and efficacy profiles of bretazenil, MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B. For each compound the upper graph illustrates the affinity, expressed as the pKi (with figures above each bar showing the mean affinity, expressed as nM) whereas the lower graph represents the efficacy (potentiation of a GABA EC20-equivalent current) relative to the nonselective agonist chlordiazepoxide. (Data redrawn from Smith et al. 2001; Atack et al. 2006b, 2009b, c)



Fig. 5 Pharmacokinetics of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B in rat and dog plasma. (a) Kinetics after i.v. dosing to rats and dogs (drug formulated in a 50% polyethylene glycol aqueous vehicle). (b) Kinetics after p.o. dosing in a 0.5% methyl cellulose suspension in rats and dogs. Values shown represent mean \pm S.D. (n = 3/group, except MRK-409 dog p.o., where n = 6)

i.v. dose AUC i.v. (0-∞)			r 100			TDA	
i.v. dose AUC i.v. (0−∞) t _{1/2}		MIKE	C-4 09	TF	-AU23	TLA	J23B
i.v. dose AUC i.v. $(0-\infty)$		Rat	Dog	Rat	Dog	Rat	Dog
AUC i.v. $(0-\infty)$	$(mg kg^{-1})$	1.0	1.0	1.2	1.0	1.0	1.0
t1/2	$(ng.h.mL^{-1})$	690 ± 149	704 ± 85	767 ± 33	1293 ± 167	7013 ± 309	3781 ± 990
ŧ	(h)	$1.2\pm0.1^{ m a}$	$0.6\pm0.0^{ m b}$	1.4 ^c	1.5^{d}	$10.7^{\rm e}$	6.5^{f}
CL	$(mL min^{-1} kg^{-1})$	25 ± 5	24 ± 3	26	13	2.4 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 1.4
$\mathrm{Vd}_{\mathrm{ss}}$	$(L kg^{-1})$	1.1 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.1	1.0	1.4	2.1 ± 0.1	1.9 ± 0.2
n dose	(mo ko ⁻¹)	1.0	1.0	1 ج ا	10	10	1.0
AUC p.o. $(0-\infty)$	$(ne.h mL^{-1})$	204 ± 26	177 ± 81	343 ± 81	714 ± 181	5416 ± 669	843 ± 618
C _{max}	$(ng mL^{-1})$	92 ± 10	94 ± 76	163	208	267 ± 15	88 ± 26
$T_{\rm max}$	(h)	0.5	0.5 - 3	0.5	0.5	9	1.3 ± 0.6
Oral bioavailability		$30\pm7\%$	$25\pm12\%$	36%	54%	$77\pm10\%$	$22\pm17\%$
Results given abov i.v. doses were adn p.o. doses were adr AUC Area under th which maximum c ^{a, b} The half life of ¹ values in rat and dc ^{c. d} The half life of ⁷ values in rat and dc values in rat and dc values in rat and dc values in rat and dc	e are mean \pm SD, $n =$ initistered in solution in ministered as a 0.5% m e curve, t_{i_2} Half-life, C oncentration occurred MRK-409 in rat and do g that were very similt TPA023 in rat and do g that differed by 3-fo g PA023B in rat and do g that differed by 3-fo g (15 and 7 h, respecti	3 except for MR a 50% polyethyl ethyl cellulose su L Clearance rate, gw as estimated 1 ar (0.8 and 0.9 h, ar (0.8 and 1.8 h, dl (0.6 and 1.8 h s was estimated fr y was estimated fr y was estimated fr	K-409 dog p.o., whe lene glycol vehicle at spension at a drug co Vdss volume of disti from the data between respectively) on the data between respectively. on the data between milar to the half-life	tre $n = 6$ trading concentra oncentration of 1 ribution at steady- en 3–8 and 1–4 h, en 3–8 and 2–12 h, t 4–8 and 2–12 h, t 1–24 and 6–30 h, values.	tition of 1 mg mL ⁻¹ mg mL ⁻¹ for rats or 0 -state, C _{max} Maximum respectively. Calculat respectively. Calculati , respectively. Calculati	.2 mg mL ⁻¹ for dogs plasma concentration ion of the mean resid ion of the mean resid ion of the mean resid	1, T _{max} Time at ence time gave ence time gave ence time gave

relatively low volume of distribution of each compound (ranging from 1.0 to 1.4 L kg^{-1}) combining with moderate to high rates of clearance (13–26 mL min⁻¹ kg⁻¹) to produce short half-lives (0.6–1.5 h). In contrast, in both species TPA023B had a slightly higher volume of distribution (1.9–2.1 L kg⁻¹) and reduced clearance (2.4–4.6 mL min⁻¹ kg⁻¹) which resulted in much longer half-lives in rat and dog (10.7 and 6.5 h, respectively). Following oral dosing to rats and dogs, the kinetics of MRK-409 and TPA023 again resembled each other, with both compounds having a rapid absorption phase such that T_{max} was generally reached 0.5 h after dosing. However, the absorption of TPA023B was slower than MRK-409 and TPA023 with T_{max} in rat being achieved only 6 h after oral dosing.

For all three compounds, the i.v. kinetics in rhesus monkey were similar to those seen in rat and dog, but for MRK-409 and TPA023 the oral bioavailability values (10% and 1%, respectively) were lower than rat and dog (data not shown). In contrast, the oral bioavailability of TPA023B in rhesus monkey (29%) was within the range measured in rat and dog data (77% and 22%, respectively).

8 **Receptor Occupancy in Rats**

After oral dosing in rats, the pharmacodynamics (receptor occupancy) of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B reflected the pharmacokinetics. Hence, whereas both TPA023 and MRK-409 showed rapid absorption with their respective $T_{\rm max}$ values for occupancy being 0.5 and 1 h (Atack et al. 2006b, 2009b), maximum occupancy of TPA023B was only achieved after 8 h (Atack et al. 2009b). Moreover, although the dose of TPA023B required to produce 50% occupancy (0.22 and 0.09 mg kg⁻¹ 0.75 and 8 h post dose, respectively) was lower than that of TPA023 (0.42 mg kg⁻¹; Atack et al. 2006b), the plasma concentrations required for 50% occupancy were comparable (19 and 25 ng mL⁻¹; Table 2).

The Occ_{50} values of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B (respective values of 2.2, 0.42, and 0.09 mg kg⁻¹) were not related to the affinity of these compounds since the most potent compound, TPA023B, had the lowest affinity, with Ki values for TPA023B ranging from 0.73 to 2.0 nM compared to Ki values of 0.19–0.41 nM and 0.21–0.40 nM for TPA023 and MRK-409, respectively. However, the potency as measured by the Occ_{50} is presumably related, in part, to the absorption characteristics of these compounds, and consistent with its higher potency, TPA023B

 Table 2 Summary of potency of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B to inhibit rat brain in vivo

 [³H]flumazenil binding

Parameter	MRK-409	TPA023	TPA023B
$\operatorname{Occ}_{50}^{a}$ (mg kg-1 p.o.)	2.2	0.42	0.09
Plasma EC_{50}^{b} (ng mL ⁻¹)	115	25	19

 ${}^{a}\text{Occ}_{50}$ = dose required to produce 50% occupancy. Compounds were dosed as suspensions in 0.5% methyl cellulose vehicle, using a dose volume of 10 mL kg⁻¹

^bPlasma EC_{50} = plasma concentration of drug required to produce 50% occupancy

had higher rat oral bioavailability (77%) compared to either MRK-409 or TPA023 (30% and 36%, respectively).

The EC₅₀ value is independent of dose and primarily reflects the ability of compound to cross the blood–brain barrier and access its target. If these factors are similar across compounds, then the plasma EC₅₀ values should correlate with the affinity of the compounds. However, once again this does not appear to be the case since TPA023 and MRK-409 have essentially identical affinities yet TPA023 is 4–5 times more potent than MRK-409 (respective EC₅₀ values of 25 and 115 ng mL⁻¹; Table 2) whereas TPA023B has the lowest affinity of the three compounds (0.73–2.0 nM) but was the most potent with respect to its plasma EC₅₀ (19 ng mL⁻¹). Taken together these data demonstrate that potency in an in vivo occupancy assay is not solely related to the in vitro affinity of a compound and is consistent with observations in baboon using [¹¹C]flumazenil PET (Brouillet et al. 1991).

9 Preclinical Nonsedating Anxiolytic Profiles of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B

MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B were evaluated in a variety of rodent and primate animal models to assess their anxiolytic- and sedative-like properties. As regards anxiolytic-like effects, all three compounds demonstrated efficacy in the rat elevated plus maze, fear-potentiated startle, and conditioned suppression of drinking assays (Table 3). Similarly, each compound produced dose-dependent anxiolytic-like effects in the squirrel monkey conditioned emotional response, which is analogous to the rat conditioned suppression of drinking. Overall, there was a tendency for MRK-409 to require lower levels of occupancy to produce anxiolysis compared to either TPA023 or TPA023B.

None of the compounds produced overt sedation with performance being unaffected in the mouse rotarod, rat chain-pulling and squirrel monkey lever-pressing assays, even at doses corresponding to levels of occupancy >90%. With respect to ethanol interaction studies, neither TPA023 nor TPA023B produced any appreciable effects as judged using the mouse rotarod assay. On the other hand, MRK-409 did have a marked interaction with ethanol, with the minimum effective dose (3 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) corresponding to 32% occupancy.

10 Additional Preclinical Pharmacology

Since nonselective full agonist benzodiazepines produce physical dependence and have an abuse liability, it is important to assess these aspects in subtype-selective compounds (Ator 2005). In the drug discrimination paradigm, animals are trained to associate the interoceptive cues produced by a training drug with pressing one of

Behavior	Assay	Observation	MR	K-409	TPA	.023	TPA	023B
			Dose (mg kg ⁻¹ p.o.)	Occupancy ^b	Dose (mg kg ⁻¹ p.o.)	Occupancy ^b	Dose (mg kg ⁻¹ p.o.)	Occupancy ^b
Anxiety assays								
Rat	EPM	Anxiolysis	2^{a}	43%	1	70%	1	88%
Rat	CSD	Anxiolysis	c,	63%	1	70%	1	87%
Rat	FPS	Anxiolysis	ю	63%	c,	88%	0.3	61%
Primate	CER	Anxiolysis	0.1	35%	0.3	65%	0.3	80%
Sedation assays								
Mouse	Rotarod	No effect	10	260%	30	>90%	10	%66
Rat	Chain-pulling	No effect	10	93%	30	%66	10	100%
Primate	Lever-pressing	No effect	10	95%	10	%66	10	>98%
Ethanol interaction assay								
Mouse	Rotarod	Potentiation	Э	32%	10 (modest)	83	10 (no	100%
		effects						

dose-response curve for rats or, in the case of squirrel monkey, from the plasma drug concentration measured in a separate squirrel monkey pharmacokinetic study and by extranolation from the rat normal drug normality and by extranolation from the rat normal drug normality. study and by extrapolation from the rat plasma drug concentration-occupancy relationship

EPM Elevated plus maze, CSD Conditioned suppression of drinking, FPS Fear-potentiated startle, CER Conditioned emotional response

two levers (the "drug" lever) which in turn elicits a food reward. Trained animals are next given the test compound and if this "feels" like the training drug, the animal presses the lever associated with the training drug; if the test compound does not "feel" like the training drug, or produces no interoceptive cues, then the "nondrug" lever is pressed.

The principle behind the self-administration procedure is that drugs which are subject to abuse by humans will also be self-administered by rodents and/or nonhuman primates. Finally, physical dependence refers to the fact that following repeated dosing with a compound, discontinuation of the drug produces a with-drawal syndrome which may include seizure activity, increased aggression, and/or reduced food intake (Ator 2005).

10.1 Drug Discrimination

Although TPA023 does not appear to produce positive reinforcement in the baboon self-administration model (discussed later), it does produce interoceptive cues that allow rats to discriminate it from vehicle, with an ED_{50} of 0.42 mg kg⁻¹ i.p. (Kohut and Ator 2008). Interestingly, however, rats could not be trained to discriminate TPA023B (Kohut and Ator 2008), despite that fact that TPA023B has greater intrinsic efficacy at the $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, and $\alpha 5$ subtypes relative to TPA023 (Fig. 4). Nevertheless, TPA023B does apparently produce interoceptive cues which although insufficient to produce discrimination per se, did permit TPA023B to generalize to TPA023 (but not zolpidem or lorazepam; Kohut and Ator 2008). As regards TPA023, it does not generalize to the nonselective full agonist benzodiazepine lorazepam (Ator 2005; but it is not clear if this refers to rats or baboons). Although MRK-409 was not tested, an additional compound, TPA123 (also known as MRK-067), which has an efficacy profile very similar to MRK-409 (Atack 2009a), did demonstrate a partial generalization to lorazepam (Ator 2005). This partial generalization of TPA123 to lorazepam was attributed to its weak α 1 agonism (Ator 2005).

10.2 Self Administration

In rhesus monkeys trained to i.v. self-administer methohexital, L-838417 produced a degree of self-administration, albeit to a much reduced extent compared to either zolpidem, midazolam, or diazepam (Rowlett et al. 2005). Consistent with this the rewarding properties of L-838417 were much reduced relative to zolpidem, midazolam, or diazepam as judged by the much lower break-point for L-838417. In other words, animals were willing to work much harder (i.e., press the lever more often) to obtain an injection of zolpidem, midazolam, or diazepam compared to L-838417. In contrast to L-838417, TPA023 appears to have no rewarding properties in baboons trained on a cocaine baseline since it was not self-administered (Ator 2005), even at a dose (0.32 mg kg⁻¹ i.v.) corresponding to essentially 100% GABA_A receptor occupancy (Ator et al. 2009). In this same model, TPA123 maintained rates of self-injection greater than vehicle, but the peak rates of self-administration were less than those of lorazepam in the same animals (Ator 2005).

10.3 Physical Dependence

In mice, the nonselective partial inverse agonist FG 7142 did not precipitate withdrawal signs (seizure activity) after either 7 days of dosing with TPA023 (Atack et al. 2006b) or 4 days of dosing with L-838417 (Mirza and Nielsen 2006). Similarly, TPA023 did not produce pronounced spontaneous (i.e., not FG-7142-precipitated) withdrawal signs in baboons when intragastric dosing of TPA023 was terminated after a period of 1 month (Ator et al. 2009). Whether the lack of physical dependence seen with L-838417 and TPA023 in preclinical species is the result of a lack of α 1 efficacy, reduced efficacy at the α 2, α 3, and/or α 5 subtypes relative to nonselective full agonist benzodiazepines or is a consequence of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of these compounds is difficult to determine, given the complex interactions between these various factors (Mirza and Nielsen 2006). However, these data suggest that modulation of GABA_A receptors does not per se produce physical dependence.

In summary, it is clear that subtype-selective GABA_A modulators are distinct from the nonselective benzodiazepines. Probably most striking is the fact that in baboons TPA023 was not self-administered nor did it produce a marked withdrawal syndrome (Ator 2005; Ator et al. 2009). It is uncertain if this is as a result of zero efficacy at the α 1 subtype or reduced α 2 and/or α 3 efficacy relative to lorazepam, for example, but at the very least these collective data suggest that TPA023 (and presumably other compounds with a similar efficacy profile) will have a much reduced, if not negligible, abuse liability in man.

11 Clinical Pharmacokinetics of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B

Data showing the human plasma pharmacokinetics following single doses of MRK-409 (1 mg), TPA023 (1.5 mg immediate-release (IR) and extended-release (ER)), and TPA023B (1 mg) are presented in Fig. 6. As in the rat and dog (Fig. 5), both MRK-409 and TPA023-IR were rapidly absorbed, with the $C_{\rm max}$ occurring 1–2 h after dosing. The pharmacokinetic profile of TPA023 could be "flattened" considerably by formulation into an extended-release capsule, which slowed absorption ($T_{\rm max} \sim 6$ h) and, for a dose of 1.5 mg, reduced the $C_{\rm max}$ from approximately 16 down to 6 ng mL⁻¹. As in the rat and dog, TPA023B had a slow



Fig. 6 Plasma concentrations of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B in man following dosing as a tablet. In the case of TPA023, both an immediate-release as well as extended-release formulation was evaluated. Data for MRK-409 and TPA023B are part of Single Ascending Dose (SAD) safety and tolerability studies, whereas data for TPA023 are from a separate cross-over study comparing formulations. Values shown are mean (n = 6 for MRK-409 and TPA023B and n = 16 for TPA023)

absorption ($T_{\text{max}} \sim 4$ h) in man as well as a relatively long half-life (~25–40 h), presumably as a consequence of a low rate of clearance.

12 Tolerability of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B in Man

Table 4 summarizes the tolerability of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B in healthy, normal volunteer studies. For MRK-409, the maximum tolerated dose was 1 mg with marked sedation and somnolence being observed at higher doses (1.5 and 2 mg). This was clearly unexpected given that there were no signs of sedation in preclinical mouse, rat, or primate experiments (Table 3). Moreover, subsequent PET studies (Fig. 7) established that this sedation was observed at relatively low levels of occupancy. As a consequence, it was considered that there would have been no therapeutic window between doses causing sedation and those putatively producing anxiolysis and accordingly development of this compound was halted.

The experiences with MRK-409 demonstrated that, and for whatever reason, the lack of sedation seen in animal models does not necessarily translate into man. It was, therefore, reassuring to observe that TPA023 did not produce the same effects as MRK-409 in man. Hence, the maximum tolerated doses in either the SAD study (2 mg IR) or the MAD study (8 mg ER) occurred at plasma drug concentrations corresponding to occupancy levels well in excess of 50%. The dose-limiting adverse events were dizziness, altered perception, and motor incoordination occurring in the SAD study at a dose of 3 mg or drowsiness and motor incoordination at a dose of 12 mg in the MAD study.

For TPA023B, the maximum tolerated dose was 2 mg with fatigue and drowsiness being observed at a dose of 3 mg. Interestingly, although the maximum tolerated dose of TPA023B corresponded to an estimated occupancy level (67%) comparable to TPA023 in either the SAD or MAD study (66% and 73%, respectively), the dose-limiting adverse events for TPA023B were different from those seen with TPA023 and are presumably related to the greater intrinsic efficacy of TPA023B compared to TPA023 (Fig. 4).

Drug	Formulation ^a	Study ^b	MTD ^c (mg)	C_{\max} (ng mL ⁻¹)	Occupancy	Dose-limiting adverse events
MRK- 409	Tablet, IR	SAD	1	14	$\leq 10\%$	Sedation/somnolence
TPA023	Tablet, IR	SAD	2	18	66% ^d	Dizziness, altered perception, motor incoordination
TPA023	Tablet, ER	MAD	8	25	73% ^d	Drowsiness, motor incoordination
TPA023B	Tablet, IR	SAD	2	12	67% ^e	Fatigue, drowsiness

Table 4 Summary of Safety and Tolerability of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B in healthy,young normal volunteers

^aIR Immediate release, ER Extended (or slow) release

^bSAD Single ascending dose, MAD Multiple ascending dose

^cMTD Maximum tolerated dose

^dCalculated on the basis of a plasma EC_{50} value of 9.3 ng mL⁻¹ and the Hill slope fixed at 1.0 ^eCalculated on the basis of a plasma EC_{50} value of 5.8 ng mL⁻¹ and the Hill slope fixed at 1.0



Fig. 7 Occupancy of human brain GABA_A receptors by MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B and, by comparison, lorazepam. (a) Representative pseudocolour images showing the uptake of [¹¹C] flumazenil into human brain in individual subjects before (baseline) or at various time after oral administration of single doses of either lorazepam (2 mg), MRK-409 (1 mg), TPA023 (2 mg IR), or TPA023B (1.5 mg). (b) Graph showing the % reduction in [¹¹C]flumazenil uptake (i.e., % occupancy) produced by the different drugs. For MRK-409 and lorazepam, the levels of occupancy were below the limits of reliable detection and are therefore shown as $\leq 10\%$. N/D = not determined. Values shown are mean \pm SEM (n = 3 per data point, except MRK-409 where n = 2)

13 [¹¹C]Flumazenil PET After Oral Dosing of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B in Man

The ability of MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B to occupy the benzodiazepine site of human brain GABA_A receptors was assessed using [¹¹C]flumazenil PET. Representative images of the extent to which [¹¹C]flumazenil binding was inhibited

following oral dosing with each drug plus, for comparative purposes, lorazepam, are shown in Fig. 7a. From these images it is clear that lorazepam (2 mg) and MRK-409 (1 mg) both produce very little inhibition of [¹¹C]flumazenil binding (i.e., low occupancy) with the level of occupancy of both drugs being at or below the level of sensitivity of the assay (Fig. 7b) as determined by the test–retest reliability measured in separate studies of ~10%. In contrast, both TPA023 (2 mg IR) and TPA023B (1.5 mg) produced marked inhibition of [¹¹C]flumazenil binding. More specifically, TPA023 gave comparable levels of occupancy (~50%) 2 and 6.5 h after dosing whereas TPA023B gave a level of occupancy (again, ~50%) that was similar – 5 and 24 h after dosing (Fig. 7b).

Blood samples were collected during the PET procedure and plasma drug concentrations determined. Although the low levels of occupancy produced by MRK-409 did not permit the estimation of a plasma EC_{50} , corresponding values of 9.3 ng mL⁻¹ for TPA023 and 5.8 ng mL⁻¹ for TPA023B were calculated (compared to respective values in rat of 25 and 19 ng mL⁻¹ (Table 2) and in baboon of 19 and 10 ng mL⁻¹ (data not shown)).

Due to logistical reasons, the number of time points for the PET studies (which were selected based upon the pharmacokinetics of each compound; Fig. 6) are limited and therefore insufficient to establish whether the time course of occupancy follows the plasma pharmacokinetics (as opposed to sustained occupancy due to a slow off-rate). However, more detailed analysis of the kinetics of rat brain occupancy of α 5IA, a triazolophthalazine structurally related to both MRK-409 and TPA023, has shown that the time course of occupancy does indeed track plasma drug concentrations (Atack et al. 2009a).

14 Comparison of the Pharmacodynamic Responses of MRK-409 and TPA023 in Man

Table 5 shows a summary of the pharmacodynamic effects of MRK-409 and TPA023 in healthy, young male volunteers (de Haas et al. 2007, 2008). In the two separate studies, lorazepam (2 mg) produced similar effects in that it reduced alertness, as measured on a Visual Analogue Scale (VAS), reduced saccadic eye movement peak velocity while increasing the latency and inaccuracy, and increased body sway and impaired cognitive performance in word and picture recognition tests (de Haas et al. 2007, 2008). The effects produced by MRK-409 and TPA023 were not only different from lorazepam but also different from each other. For example, lorazepam markedly increased body sway with eyes open and increased saccadic eye movement inaccuracy, yet neither MRK-409 nor TPA023 affected these parameters. Comparing MRK-409 and TPA023, the highest dose of MRK-409 (0.75 mg) decreased VAS alertness, increased saccadic eye movement latency, increased body sway with eyes closed, and increased the reaction time in the word recognition test, whereas TPA023 did not significantly affect any of these parameters.

	MRF	K-409	Lorazepam	TPA	TPA023	
	0.25 mg	0.75 mg	2 mg	0.5 mg	1.5 mg	2 mg
VAS scales						
Alertness	\leftrightarrow	$\downarrow\downarrow$	$\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	Ļ
Contentedness	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Calmness	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	$\downarrow\downarrow$	\leftrightarrow
Saccadic eye movem	nents					
Peak velocity	\leftrightarrow	$\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$	$\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$	$\downarrow\downarrow$	$\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$	$\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow$
Latency	\leftrightarrow	$\uparrow\uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	<u>†</u> † †
Inaccuracy	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	† †	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	$\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$
Posture						
Body sway						
Eyes open	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	<u>†</u> ††	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	<u>†</u> ††
Eyes closed	11	1	†††	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	$\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$
Cognitive performan	ice					
Word recognition						
Correct answers	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↓	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	Ļ
Reaction time	\leftrightarrow	1	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	1
Picture recognition						
Correct answers	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	Ļ
Reaction time	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	1

 Table 5
 Comparison of the pharmacodynamic effects of MRK-409 and TPA023 with lorazepam in healthy male volunteers

 $\downarrow, \downarrow\downarrow, \downarrow\downarrow\downarrow$ = significantly decreased by p < 0.05, p < 0.01, and p < 0.001, respectively

 \uparrow , $\uparrow\uparrow$, $\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$ = significantly increased by p < 0.05, p < 0.01, and p < 0.001, respectively

Although the peak plasma concentrations of the low and high doses of MRK-409 (~3 and ~9 ng mL⁻¹ following 0.25 and 0.75 mg, respectively) are comparable to the low and high doses of TPA023 (~5 and ~13 ng mL⁻¹ following 0.5 and 1.5 mg, respectively), these plasma concentrations correspond to very different levels of occupancy. Hence, a 1-mg dose of MRK-409 corresponds to a plasma concentration of ~14 ng mL⁻¹ (Table 4), yet produced levels of occupancy that were below the limits of detection (i.e., $\leq 10\%$; Fig. 7). On the other hand, the plasma concentration of TPA023 required to give 50% occupancy in man was 9.3 ng mL⁻¹. Therefore, even at comparatively high levels of occupancy (50% or greater at the 1.5 mg dose) TPA023 did not affect VAS alertness, body sway, or cognitive performance whereas MRK-409 did affect these parameters at relatively low (<10%) levels of occupancy (Fig. 8).

15 Anxiolytic-Like Efficacy of TPA023

TPA023 was being evaluated in three separate Phase II studies (one using flexible doses of 1.5–4.5 mg, the other two using flexible dosing of 3–8 mg) in Generalized Anxiety Disorder, but these were terminated prior to completion due to preclinical toxicity issues. Since these studies ended early there were insufficient data from



Fig. 8 Pharmacokinetic profiles of (**a**) MRK-409 and (**b**) TPA023 following single oral doses of 0.25 and 0.75 mg MRK-409 and 0.5 and 1.5 mg TPA023 IR to healthy, young male volunteers obtained as part of the assessment of the pharmacodynamic effects of these drugs. The dashed lines represent occupancy data extrapolated either from the rat plasma–occupancy relationship (MRK-409; Table 2) or from the human [¹¹C]flumazenil PET data (TPA023; Fig. 7). Values shown are mean \pm SD (n = 12). (Data redrawn from de Haas et al. 2007, 2008)

 Table 6 Comparison of the difference in the change in total HAM-A scores of TPA023 versus placebo treated patients

Week	Group size	Differen	ce between TPA023 and place	cebo
	(placebo/TPA023)	Mean \pm SE	95% confidence intervals	p value
1	60/61	-3.5 ± 1.0^a	-5.5, -1.4	0.001
2	48/43	-2.9 ± 1.4	-5.7, -0.2	0.038
3	45/37	-3.0 ± 1.5	-5.9, -0.1	0.048
4	36/33	-1.1 ± 1.5	-4.1, 1.9	0.47

^aNegative values indicate that the decrease in total HAM-A score was greater in the TPA023 compared to placebo group

any single study to make meaningful within-study comparisons. Nevertheless, by combining the data from these separate studies it was possible to show that compared to placebo TPA023 gave a significantly greater reduction in the HAM-A score relative to baseline (Table 6). Clearly, there are several caveats to consider in making such a post-hoc analysis of separate and incomplete clinical trials, but nevertheless an appropriately conservative interpretation of these data would be that TPA023 demonstrates anxiolytic-like activity.

16 Additional Clinical Data with TPA023

Based upon the involvement of the GABAergic system in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (Lewis et al. 2005) a small, 4-week experimental study was carried out to assess the effects of TPA023 (MK-0777; 3–8 mg twice a day) on cognitive performance in schizophrenia patients. Although this may appear somewhat paradoxical insofar as benzodiazepines are well known to impair cognition (Stewart

2005), changes in the expression of $\alpha 2$ subunit-containing GABA_A receptors on the axon initial segment of pyramidal neurons of subjects with schizophrenia suggest that enhancing the function of this subtype may actually improve cognitive function (Lewis et al. 2005). Despite being underpowered, this study was, nevertheless, able to demonstrate a tendency for TPA023 to improve cognitive performance (Lewis et al. 2008). This same compound is also currently under evaluation as part of the Treatment Units for Research on Neurocognition and Schizophrenia (TURNS) initiative.

17 Summary

MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B demonstrate that it is possible to develop compounds that modulate specific GABA_A receptor populations based upon a selective-efficacy approach. Intuitively, it would seem that the best way to target specific GABA_A receptor populations would be on the basis of selective affinity, i.e., a compound which binds with high affinity to certain subtypes but has much lower or no affinity for others. In the case of a nonsedating anxiolytic, such a compound would ideally have high affinity for the $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ but much lower affinity for the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 5$ subtypes. Unfortunately, however, this does not appear possible due to the commonality in the benzodiazepine recognition sites shared by each of the four subtypes (Atack 2009a). Using a selective-efficacy approach, a compound can bind with equivalent affinity for each of the four GABA_A subtypes, but the levels of intrinsic efficacy differs between subtypes (Atack 2005). This may be relative (i.e., a compound has efficacy at all subtypes but is higher at certain subtypes relative to others) or maybe absolute (efficacy at some subtypes but no efficacy at others).

Compounds with selectivity for the $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ compared to $\alpha 1$ subtypes, whether that be relative selectivity (MRK-409, which still retains a degree of $\alpha 1$ efficacy) or absolute selectivity (L-838417, NS11394, TPA023, and TPA023B, all of which have no intrinsic efficacy at the $\alpha 1$ subtype), behave as nonsedating anxiolytics in preclinical rodent and primate models (McKernan et al. 2000; Rowlett et al. 2005; Atack et al. 2006b; Mirza et al. 2008). Such compounds also have additional preclinical pharmacological characteristics that distinguish them from the classical nonselective benzodiazepines, such a diazepam or lorazepam. For example, they have reduced abuse liability as judged by self-administration (Ator 2005; Ator et al. 2009) or drug discrimination studies (Rowlett et al. 2005; McMahon and France 2006; Kohut and Ator 2008) and have a reduced withdrawal liability (Atack et al. 2009).

MRK-409, TPA023 and TPA023B all progressed into man but the first compound, MRK-409, produced a marked sedation at relatively low levels of occupancy (~10%), which was unexpected given the lack of sedation seen in preclinical species but consistent with previous experiences with the nonselective partial agonist bretazenil which, like MRK-409 showed a clear separation between anxiolysis and sedation in preclinical species but not in man (Van Steveninck et al. 1996). In retrospect, it could be argued that despite having higher $\alpha 3$ versus $\alpha 1$ efficacy (respective relative efficacy values of 0.45 and 0.18), the efficacy profile of MRK-409 is not too dissimilar from that of bretazenil, albeit that MRK-409 has slight lower $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 5$ efficacy (0.18 and 0.18) compared to bretazenil (respective values of 0.30 and 0.46; Fig. 4). Consequently, the sedation observed with MRK-409 is consistent with that seen with bretazenil.

In contrast to MRK-409, neither TPA023 nor TPA023B caused overt sedation in man up to levels of occupancy exceeding 50%, raising the question of which feature of the in vitro efficacy profiles of TPA023 and TPA023B imparts the reduced sedation liability. Relative to MRK-409, the efficacy at the $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, and $\alpha 5$ subtypes is lower for TPA023 but higher for TPA023B, and therefore the common feature of both compounds that is presumably responsible for the reduced sedation liability is the lack of efficacy at the $\alpha 1$ subtype (Fig. 4). Comparing the preclinical behavioral profiles of the three compounds (Table 3), the only appreciable difference between MRK-409, TPA023, and TPA023B is the fact that MRK-409 had a marked ethanol interaction on the rotarod whereas the others did not. Although relating the ethanol interaction of MRK-409 to its sedative properties in man is tenuous to say the least, it would nevertheless be interesting to examine the ethanol-interaction effects of subtype-selective compounds in the mouse beam-walking assay, since this may be more sensitive than the rotarod in detecting motor incoordination (Stanley et al. 2005).

Finally, despite the limitations of the retrospective analysis of incomplete Phase II trials, TPA023 appears to have anxiolytic-like activity in patients with Generalized Anxiety Disorder which, given the caveats, should therefore be viewed as a partial proof of concept. These data, along with the pharmacodynamic studies in healthy normal volunteers, collectively demonstrate that $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ efficacy selective GABA_A modulators have a pharmacological profile distinct from nonselective benzodiazepines such as diazepam or lorazepam and should encourage further investigations of these and other GABA_A subtype-selective modulators, such as $\alpha 5$ selective inverse agonists (Dawson et al. 2006; Ballard et al. 2008; Atack 2009b).

References

Anonymous (2006) NME digest. Drug News Perspect 19:417-425

- Ashton H (2005) The diagnosis and management of benzodiazepine dependence. Curr Opin Psychiatry 18:249–255
- Atack JR (2003) Anxioselective compounds acting at the GABA_A receptor benzodiazepine binding site. Curr Drug Targets – CNS Neurol Disorders 2:213–232
- Atack JR (2005) The benzodiazepine binding site of GABA_A receptors as a target for the development of novel anxiolytics. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 14:601–618
- Atack JR (2009a) GABA_A receptor subtype-selective modulators. I. $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ -selective agonists as non-sedating anxiolytics. Curr Top Med Chem (in press)
- Atack JR (2009b) GABA_A receptor subtype-selective modulators. II. α5-selective inverse agonists for cognition enhancement. Curr Top Med Chem (in press)
- Atack JR, Hutson PH, Collinson N, Marshall G, Bentley G, Moyes C, Cook SM, Collins I, Wafford K, McKernan RM, Dawson GR (2005) Anxiogenic properties of an inverse agonist selective for α3 subunit-containing GABA_A receptors. Br J Pharmacol 144:357–366
- Atack JR, Bayley PJ, Seabrook GR, Wafford KA, McKernan RM, Dawson GR (2006a) L-655, 708 enhances cognition in rats but is not proconvulsant at a dose selective for α5-containing GABA_A receptors. Neuropharmacology 51:1023–1029
- Atack JR, Wafford KA, Tye SJ, Cook SM, Sohal B, Pike A, Sur C, Melillo D, Bristow L, Bromidge F, Ragan I, Kerby J, Street L, Carling R, Castro JL, Whiting P, Dawson GR, McKernan RM (2006b) TPA023 [7-(1,1-dimethylethyl)-6-(2-ethyl-2H–1,2,4-triazol-3ylmethoxy)-3-(2-fluorophenyl)-1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-b]pyridazine], an agonist selective for α 2and α 3-containing GABA_A receptors, is a nonsedating anxiolytic in rodents and primates. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316:410–422
- Atack JR, Eng WS, Gibson RE, Ryan C, Francis B, Sohal B, Dawson GR, Hargreaves RJ, Burns HD (2009a) The plasma-occupancy relationship of the novel GABA_A receptor benzodiazepine site ligand, α5IA, is similar in rats and primates. Br J Pharmacol 157:796–803
- Atack JR, Hallett D, Tye S, Wafford KA, Ryan C, Sanabria-Bohórquez SM, Eng W, Gibson RE, Burns HD, Dawson GR, Carling RW, Street LJ, Pike A, De Lepeleire I, Van Laere K, Bormans G, de Hoon JN, Van Hecken A, McKernan RM, Murphy MG, Hargreaves RJ (2009b) Preclinical and clinical pharmacology of TPA023B, a GABA_A receptor α2/α3 subtypeselective agonist. J Psychopharmacol (in press)
- Atack JR, Wafford KA, Street LJ, Dawson GR, Tye S, McKernan RM, Agrawal NGB, van Laere K, Bormans G, Sanabria-Bohórquez SM, De Lepeleire I, de Hoon JN, Van Hecken A, Burns HD, McKernan RM, Murphy MG, Hargreaves RJ (2009c) MRK-409, a GABA_A receptor subtype-selective agonist, is a non-sedating anxiolytic in preclinical species but causes sedation in man. J Psychopharmacol (in press)
- Ator NA (2005) Contributions of GABA_A receptor subtype selectivity to abuse liability and dependence potential of pharmacological treatments for anxiety and sleep disorders. CNS Spectr 10:31–39
- Ator NA, Atack JR, Hargreaves RJ, Burns HD, Dawson GR (2009) Reducing abuse liability of GABA_A/Benzodiazepine ligands via selective efficacy at α_1 and $\alpha_{2/3}$ subtypes. J Pharmacol Exp Therap (in press)
- Ballard TM, Knoflach F, Prinssen E, Borroni E, Vivian JA, Basile J, Gasser R, Moreau JL, Wettstein JG, Buettelmann B, Knust H, Thomas AW, Trube G, Hernandez MC (2008) RO4938581, a novel cognitive enhancer acting at GABA_A α5 subunit-containing receptors. Psychopharmacology 202:207–223
- Benson JA, Löw K, Keist R, Mohler H, Rudolph U (1998) Pharmacology of recombinant γ -aminobutyric acid_A receptors rendered diazepam-insensitive by point-mutated α -subunits. FEBS Lett 431:400–404
- Blackaby WP, Atack JR, Bromidge F, Castro JL, Goodacre SC, Hallett DJ, Lewis RT, Marshall GR, Pike A, Smith AJ, Street LJ, Tattersall FD, Wafford KA (2006) Imidazo[1,2-a] pyrimidines as functionally selective GABA_A ligands. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 16:1175–1179
- Bowery NG, Hill DR, Hudson AL, Doble A, Middlemiss DN, Shaw J, Turnbull M (1980) Baclofen decreases neurotransmitter release in the mammalian CNS by an action at a novel GABA receptor. Nature 283:92–94
- Bowery NG, Hudson AL, Price GW (1987) GABA_A and GABA_B receptor site distribution in the rat central nervous system. Neuroscience 20:365–383
- Brejc K, van Dijk WJ, Klaassen RV, Schuurmans M, van der Oost J, Smit AB, Sixma TK (2001) Crystal structure of an ACh-binding protein reveals the ligand-binding domain of nicotinic receptors. Nature 411:269–276
- Brouillet E, Chavoix C, Bottlaender M, Khalili-Varasteh M, Hantraye P, Fournier D, Dodd RH, Mazière M (1991) In vivo bidirectional modulatory effect of benzodiazepine receptor ligands

on GABAergic transmission evaluated by positron emission tomography in non-human primates. Brain Res 557:167–176

- Carling RW, Madin A, Guiblin A, Russell MGN, Moore KW, Mitchinson A, Sohal B, Pike A, Cook SM, Ragan CI, McKernan RM, Quirk K, Ferris P, Marshall G, Thompson SA, Wafford KA, Dawson GR, Atack JR, Harrison T, Castro LJ, Street LJ (2005) 7-(1, 1-Dimethylethyl)-6-(2-ethyl-2H–1, 2, 4-triazol-3-ylmethoxy)-3-(2-fluorophenyl)-1, 2, 4-triazolo[4, 3-b]pyridazine: a functionally selective γ-aminobutyric acid_A (GABA_A) α2/α3-subtype selective agonist that exhibits potent anxiolytic activity but is not sedating in animal models. J Med Chem 48:7089–7092
- Clayton T, Chen JL, Ernst M, Richter L, Cromer BA, Morton CJ, Ng H, Kaczorowski CC, Helmstetter FJ, Furtmüller R, Ecker G, Parker MW, Sieghart W, Cook JM (2007) An updated unified pharmacophore model of the benzodiazepine binding site on γ-aminobutyric acid_a receptors: correlation with comparative models. Curr Med Chem 14:2755–2775
- Costa E, Guidotti A, Mao CC (1975) Evidence for involvement of GABA in the action of benzodiazepines: studies on rat cerebellum. Adv Biochem Psychopharmacol 14:113–130
- Cumming RG, Le Couteur DG (2003) Benzodiazepines and risk of hip fractures in older people: a review of the evidence. CNS Drugs 17:825–837
- Dawson GR, Maubach KA, Collinson N, Cobain M, Everitt BJ, MacLeod AM, Choudhury HI, McDonald LM, Pillai G, Rycroft W, Smith AJ, Sternfeld F, Tattersall FD, Wafford KA, Reynolds DS, Seabrook GR, Atack JR (2006) An inverse agonist selective for α5 subunitcontaining GABA_A receptors enhances cognition. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316:1335–1345
- de Haas SL, de Visser SJ, van der Post JP, de Smet M, Schoemaker RC, Rijnbeek B, Cohen AF, Vega JM, Agrawal NGB, Goel TV, Simpson RC, Pearson LK, Li S, Hesney M, Murphy MG, van Gerven JMA (2007) Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic effects of TPA023, a GABA_A α_{2,3} subtype-selective agonist, compared to lorazepam and placebo in healthy volunteers. J Psychopharmacol 21:374–383
- de Haas SL, de Visser SJ, van der Post JP, Schoemaker RC, van Dyck K, Murphy MG, de Smet M, Vessey LK, Ramakrishnan R, Xue L, Cohen AF, van Gerven JMA (2008) Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic effects of MK-0343, a GABA_A α₂₁₃ subtype selective agonist, compared to lorazepam and placebo in healthy male volunteers. J Psychopharmacol 22:24–32
- De Silva JAF, Puglisi CV (1970) Determination of medazepam (nobrium), diazepam (valium) and their major biotransformation products in blood and urine by electron capture gas-liquid chromatography. Anal Chem 42:1725–1736
- Dias R, Sheppard WFA, Fradley RL, Garrett EM, Stanley JL, Tye SJ, Goodacre S, Lincoln RJ, Cook SM, Conley R, Hallett D, Humphries AC, Thompson SA, Wafford KA, Street LJ, Castro JL, Whiting PJ, Rosahl TW, Atack JR, McKernan RM, Dawson GR, Reynolds DS (2005) Evidence for a significant role of α3-containing GABA_A receptors in mediating the anxiolytic effects of benzodiazepines. J Neurosci 25:10682–10688
- Ernst M, Bruckner S, Boresch S, Sieghart W (2005) Comparative models of GABA_A receptor extracellular and transmembrane domains: important insights in pharmacology and function. Mol Pharmacol 68:1291–1300
- Goodacre SC, Street LJ, Hallett DJ, Crawforth JM, Kelly S, Owens AP, Blackaby WP, Lewis RT, Stanley J, Smith AJ, Ferris P, Sohal B, Cook SM, Pike A, Brown N, Wafford KA, Marshall G, Castro JL, Atack JR (2006) Imidazo[1,2-a]pyrimidines as functionally selective and orally bioavailable GABA_A α2/α3 binding site agonists for the treatment of anxiety disorders. J Med Chem 49:35–38
- Gorman JK (2005) Benzodia zepines: taking the good with the bad and the ugly. CNS Spectr $10{:}14{-}15$
- Haefely W, Kulcsar A, Mohler H, Pieri L, Polc P, Schaffner R (1975) Possible involvement of GABA in the central actions of benzodiazepines. Adv Biochem Psychopharmacol 14:131–151
- Hunkeler W, Möhler H, Pieri L, Polc P, Bonetti EP, Cumin R, Schaffner R, Haefely W (1981) Selective antagonists of benzodiazepines. Nature 290:514–516
- Jennings AS, Lewis RT, Russell MGN, Hallett DJ, Street LJ, Castro JL, Atack JR, Cook SM, Lincoln R, Stanley J, Smith AJ, Reynolds DS, Sohal B, Pike A, Marshall GR, Wafford KA,

Sheppard WFA, Tye SJ (2006) Imidazo[1,2-b][1,2,4]triazines as $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ subtype selective GABA_A agonists for the treatment of anxiety. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 16:1477–1480

- Klepner CA, Lippa AS, Benson DI, Sano MC, Beer B (1979) Resolution of two biochemically and pharmacologically distinct benzodiazepine receptors. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 11:457–462
- Knabl J, Witschi R, Hösl K, Reinold H, Zeilhofer UB, Ahmadi S, Brockhaus J, Sergejeva M, Hess A, Brune K, Fritschy J-M, Rudolph U, Möhler H, Zeilhofer HU (2008) Reversal of pathological pain through specific spinal GABA_A receptor subtypes. Nature 451:330–334
- Knabl J, Zeilhofer UB, Crestani F, Rudolph U, Zeilhofer HU (2009) Genuine antihyperalgesia by systemic diazepam revealed by experiments in GABA_A receptor point-mutated mice. Pain 141:233–238
- Kohut SJ, Ator NA (2008) Novel discriminative stimulus effects of TPA023B, subtype-selective γ-aminobutyric-acid_A/benzodiazepine modulator: comparisons with zolpidem, lorazepam, and TPA023. Biochem Pharmacol Behav 90:65–73
- Lader M, Tylee A, Donoghue J (2009) Withdrawing benzodiazepines in primary care. CNS Drugs 23:19–34
- Lewis DA, Hashimoto T, Volk DW (2005) Cortical inhibitory neurons and schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:312–324
- Lewis DA, Cho RY, Carter CS, Eklund K, Forster S, Kelly MA, Montrose D (2008) Subunitselective modulation of GABA type A receptor neurotransmission and cognition in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 165:1585–1593
- Löw K, Crestani F, Keist R, Benke D, Brünig I, Benson JA, Fritschy J-M, Rülicke T, Bluethmann H, Möhler H, Rudolph U (2000) Molecular and neuronal substrate for the selective attenuation of anxiety. Science 290:131–134
- Maubach KA (2006) The GABA_A receptor as a potential target for the treatment of cognitive dysfunction. Drugs Future 31:151–162
- McKernan RM, Rosahl TW, Reynolds DS, Sur C, Wafford KA, Atack JR, Farrar S, Myers J, Cook G, Ferris P, Garrett L, Bristow L, Marshall G, Macaulay A, Brown N, Howell O, Moore KW, Carling RW, Street LJ, Castro JL, Ragan CI, Dawson GR, Whiting PJ (2000) Sedative but not anxiolytic properties of benzodiazepines are mediated by the GABA_A receptor α1 subtype. Nat Neurosci 3:587–592
- McMahon LR, France CP (2006) Differential behavioral effects of low efficacy positive GABA_A modulators in combination with benzodiazepines and a neuroactive steroid in rhesus monkeys. Br J Pharmacol 147:260–268
- Mirza NR, Nielsen EØ (2006) Do subtype-selective γ -aminobutyric acid_A receptor modulators have a reduced propensity to induce physical dependence in mice? J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316:1378–1385
- Mirza NR, Watjen F, Hartz BP, Teuber L, Nielsen EØ, Mathiasen LI, Johansen TH, Jensen LH (2003) NS2710: a novel anxiolytic with a dual mechanism of action. Behav Pharmacol 14:S24
- Moroz G (2004) High-potency benzodiazepines: recent clinical results. J Clin Psychiatry 65 (Suppl 5):13–18
- Mirza NR, Larsen JS, Mathiasen C, Jacobsen TA, Munro G, Erichsen HK, Nielsen AN, Troelsen KB, Nielsen EØ, Ahring PK (2008) NS11394 [3'-[5-(1-hydroxy-1-methyl-ethyl)benzoimidazol-1-yl]-biphenyl-2-carbonitrile], a unique subtype-selective GABAA receptor positive allosteric modulator: in vitro actions, pharmacokinetic properties and in vivo anxiolytic efficacy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 327:954–968
- Nutt DJ (2005) Overview of diagnosis and drug treatments of anxiety disorders. CNS Spectr 10:49-56
- O'Brien CP (2005) Benzodiazepine use, abuse, and dependence. J Clin Psychiatry 66(Suppl 2):28-33
- O'Hanlon JF, Haak TW, Blaauw GJ, Riemersma JBJ (1982) Diazepam impairs lateral position control in highway driving. Science 217:79–81
- Olsen RW, Sieghart W (2008) International Union of Pharmacology. LXX. Subtypes of γ -aminobutyric acid_A receptors: classification on the basis of subunit composition, pharmacology, and function. Update. Pharmacol Rev 60:243–260

- Pym LJ, Cook SM, Rosahl T, McKernan RM, Atack JR (2005) Selective labelling of diazepaminsensitive GABAA receptors in vivo using [³H]Ro 15–4513. Br J Pharmacol 146:817–825
- Quirk K, Blurton P, Fletcher S, Leeson P, Tang F, Mellilo D, Ragan CI, McKernan RM (1996) $[^{3}H]L-655$, 708, a novel ligand selective for the benzodiazepine site of GABA_A receptors which contain the α 5 subunit. Neuropharmacology 35:1331–1335
- Rowlett JK, Platt DM, Lelas S, Atack JR, Dawson GR (2005) Different GABA_A receptor subtypes mediate the anxiolytic, abuse-related, and motor effects of benzodiazepine-like drugs in primates. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:915–920
- Rudolph U, Möhler H (2006) GABA-based therapeutic approaches: GABA_A receptor subtype functions. Curr Opin Pharmacol 6:18–23
- Rudolph U, Crestani F, Benke D, Brünig I, Benson JA, Fritschy J-M, Martin JR, Bluethmann H, Möhler H (1999) Benzodiazepine actions mediated by specific γ-aminobutyric acid_A receptor subtypes. Nature 401:796–800
- Russell MGN, Carling RW, Street LJ, Hallett DJ, Goodacre S, Mezzogori E, Reader M, Cook SM, Bromidge FA, Newman R, Smith AJ, Wafford KA, Marshall GR, Reynolds DS, Dias R, Ferris P, Stanley J, Lincoln R, Tye SJ, Sheppard WFA, Sohal B, Pike A, Dominguez M, Atack JR, Castro JL (2006) Discovery of imidazo[1,2-b][1,2,4]triazines as GABA_A α2/3 subtype selective agonists for the treatment of anxiety. J Med Chem 49:1235–1238
- Schofield PR, Darlison MG, Fujita N, Burt DR, Stephenson FA, Rodriguez H, Rhee LM, Ramachandran J, Reale V, Glencorse TA, Seeburg PH, Barnard EA (1987) Sequence and functional expression of the GABA_A receptor shows a ligand-gated receptor super-family. Nature 328:221–227
- Shader RI, Greenblatt DJ (1993) Use of benzodiazepines in anxiety disorders. N Engl J Med 328:1398–405
- Sieghart W (1995) Structure and pharmacology of γ -aminobutyric acid_A receptor subtypes. Pharmacol Rev 47:181–234
- Sieghart W, Sperk G (2002) Subunit composition, distribution and function of GABA_A receptor subtypes. Curr Top Med Chem 2:795–816
- Sigel E, Barnard EA (1984) A γ-aminobutyric acid/benzodiazepine receptor complex from bovine cerebral cortex. Improved purification with preservation of regulatory sites and their interactions. J Biol Chem 259:7219–7223
- Sigel E, Baur R, Boulineau N, Minier F (2006) Impact of subunit positioning on GABA_A receptor function. Biochem Soc Trans 34:868–871
- Simon J, Wakimoto H, Fujita N, Lalande M, Barnard EA (2004) Analysis of the set of GABA_A receptor genes in the human genome. J Biol Chem 279:41422–41435
- Sine S, Engel A (2006) Recent advances in Cys-loop receptor structure and function. Nature 440:448-455
- Smith AJ, Alder L, Silk J, Adkins C, Fletcher AE, Scales T, Kerby J, Marshall G, Wafford KA, McKernan RM, Atack JR (2001) Effect of α subunit on allosteric modulation of ion channel function in stably expressed human recombinant γ -aminobutyric acid_A receptors determined using ³⁶Cl ion flux. Mol Pharmacol 59:1108–1118
- Stanley JL, Lincoln RJ, Brown TA, McDonald LM, Dawson GR, Reynolds DS (2005) The mouse beam walking assay offers improved sensitivity over the mouse rotarod in determining motor coordination deficits induced by benzodiazepines. J Psychopharmacol 19:221–227
- Sternbach LH (1979) The benzodiazepine story. J Med Chem 22:1-7
- Stewart SA (2005) The effects of benzodiazepines on cognition. J Clin Psychiatry 66(Suppl 2): 9–13
- Suzdak PD, Glowa JR, Crawley JN, Schwartz RD, Skolnick P, Paul SM (1986) A selective imidazobenzodiazepine antagonist of ethanol in the rat. Science 234:1243–1247
- Suzdak PD, Paul SM, Crawley JN (1988) Effects of Ro15–4513 and other benzodiazepine receptor inverse agonists on alcohol-induced intoxication in the rat. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 245:880–886
- Van Laere K, Bormans G, Sanabria-Bohórquez SM, de Groot T, Dupont P, De Lepeleire I, de Hoon J, Mortelmans L, Hargreaves RJ, Atack JR, Burns HD (2008) In vivo characterization

and dynamic receptor occupancy imaging of TPA023B, an $\alpha 2/\alpha 3/\alpha 5$ subtype selective γ -aminobutyric acid-A partial agonist. Biol Psychiatry 64:153–161

- Van Steveninck AL, Gieschke R, Schoemaker RC, Roncari G, Tuk B, Pieters MSM, Breimer DD, Cohen AF (1996) Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic interactions of bretazenil and diazepam with alcohol. Br J Clin Pharmacol 41:565–573
- Weintraub M, Singh S, Byrne L, Maharaj K, Guttmacher L (1991) Consequences of the 1989 New York State triplicate benzodiazepine prescription regulations. J Am Med Assoc 266:2392–2397
- Wieland HA, Lüddens H, Seeburg PH (1992) A single histidine in GABA_A receptors is essential for benzodiazepine agonist binding. J Biol Chem 267:1426–1429
- Wildin JD, Pleuvry BJ, Mawer GE, Onon T, Millington L (1990) Respiratory and sedative effects of clobazam and clonazepam in volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol 29:169–177
- Woods JH (1998) Problems and opportunities in regulation of benzodiazepines. J Clin Pharmacol 38:773–782
- Woods JH, Winger G (1995) Current benzodiazepine issues. Psychopharmacology 118:107-115
- Woods JH, Winger G (1997) Abuse liability of flunitrazepam. J Clin Psychopharmacol 17(Suppl 2):1S-57S
- Woods JH, Katz JL, Winger G (1992) Benzodiazepines: use, abuse and consequences. Pharmacol Rev 44:151–347

Antidepressant Treatment in Anxiety Disorders

Anton Y. Bespalov, Marcel M. van Gaalen, and Gerhard Gross

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Clinical Evidence on Anxiolytic Activity of Antidepressant Drugs			
	2.1	Generalized Anxiety Disorder	363	
	2.2	Panic Disorder	364	
	2.3	Social Anxiety Disorder	365	
	2.4	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder	366	
	2.5	Obsessive–Compulsive Disorder	367	
3	Preclinical Evidence			
	3.1	Is Anxiolytic Activity Predicted by Efficacy in Classical Antidepressant Tests?	368	
	3.2	Efficacy of Antidepressant Drugs in Classical "Anxiolytic" Tests	369	
	3.3	Animal Models of Panic Attacks	371	
	3.4	Animal Models of Social Anxiety	371	
	3.5	Animal Models of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder	372	
	3.6	Animal Models of Obsessive–Compulsive Disorder	373	
	3.7	"Benzodiazepine" Versus "Anxiolytic Activity" Tests	373	
	3.8	Need for New "Anxiolytic" Tests Sensitive to Antidepressant Drug Treatment	374	
4	Mechanisms of Anxiolytic Action of Antidepressant Drugs			
	4.1	Changes in the Neurotransmitter Systems	379	
	4.2	Neuroanatomical Aspects of Antidepressant Drugs' Anxiolytic Action	380	
	4.3	Cognitive Model of Anxiety Disorders: Implications for		
		Novel Drug Development	383	
5	Sum	mary	384	
Refe	References			

Abstract Antidepressant drug treatment is the clinical standard of care for all types of anxiety disorders. Broad efficacy of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors suggests the importance of enhanced serotonergic function of the anxiolytic properties of current antidepressants. However, analysis of the preclinical evidence

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 17 September 2009

A.Y. Bespalov (🖂), M.M. van Gaalen, and G. Gross

Neuroscience Research, GPRD, Abbott, P.O. Box 21 08 05, 67008, Ludwigshafen, Germany e-mail: anton.bespalov@abbott.com

indicates that most conventional "anxiolytic" drug tests are not sensitive to antidepressants. Such dissociation is not surprising because of the traditional approach to validation of preclinical tests that is to a large extent based on establishing face validity as well as sensitivity to benzodiazepine anxiolytics. The present review argues for extending the cognitive model of antidepressant drug action to cover their anxiolytic properties as well. Such an approach is based on ambiguity or uncertainty in a broad sense as the hallmark of human stress that has different expressions ready for experimental modeling. These possibilities include scheduleinduced behaviors that are directly based on intermittent reinforcement, conditioning to ambiguous stimuli, social stress where agonistic confrontations are possible but not predictable or controlled by the subject, and an even larger class of behaviors that are critically dependent on the inhibition of the prepotent responses in exchange for the ambiguous possibility of a later gain in reinforcement. Interestingly, in all these cases, antidepressant drug treatment is clearly effective in preclinical laboratory settings. One of the cognitive functions that appears to be affected by antidepressant drugs is inhibitory control. Inhibition of prepotent responding has beneficial effects in the "uncertainty" stress situations discussed above and therefore it is this cognitive function that may be critical for anxiolytic effects of antidepressants and novel anxiolytic drug development.

Keywords Antidepressant drugs · Anxiety · SSRI · Preclinical models

1 Introduction

In the last four decades of the last century, pharmacological therapy of anxiety disorders had been dominated by benzodiazepines. Due to their efficacy in acute and chronic treatment of a variety of anxiety states, they were classified as anxiolytic drugs, whereas the term "antidepressant drugs" was reserved for monoamine reuptake (e.g., tricyclics) and monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAO-Is). As a consequence, GABAergic function was mainly linked to anxiety, whereas serotonergic and noradrenergic functions were linked to depression – in line with the respective monoamine theory. The development of animal models only responding to either anxiolytic or antidepressant drugs further contributed to this dichotomy. However, there is considerable overlap of symptoms in depression and anxiety disorders and high comorbidity, which is explained by shared genetic risk factors (Hettema 2008).

Benzodiazepines have proven efficacious in generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), panic disorder (PD) and social anxiety disorders (SADs). They are particularly appropriate in short-term treatment situations and thus still belong to the current therapeutic repertoire. However, their inability to treat comorbid depression, their adverse side-effect profile – including sedation, cognitive impairment and especially their liability to induce dependence and abuse – have limited their acceptance (Uhlenhuth et al. 1999a, b).

Early in the 1960s, before DSM-III or later DSM-IV criteria were established, first observations of anxiolytic effects of the prototypical tricyclic antidepressant imipramine and non-selective irreversible MAO-Is, like phenelzine, were published. This was followed later by similar reports on clomipramine. In contrast to benzodiazepines, the onset of anxiolytic action of these antidepressants was delayed as known for their antidepressant effect. While most tricyclic antidepressants inhibit neuronal reuptake of serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) as well as of noradrenaline (norepinephrine, NE), it is noticeable that anxiolytic efficacy was repeatedly demonstrated in controlled clinical studies only for non-selective NE/5-HT antidepressants and for clomipramine with its preference for the serotonin transporter. In contrast, antidepressants preferentially or selectively inhibiting NE uptake, like desipramine, nortriptyline, maprotiline, mianserin, and reboxetine, have not been shown to possess broad anxiolytic properties. This suggested that it is the serotonergic component that probably mediates the delayed anxiolytic response of tricyclic antidepressants and MAO-Is.

Despite the increasing evidence of efficacy in different anxiety disorders and the obvious lack of drug abuse liability, untoward effects like tyramine interaction for MAO-I, the many effects mediated by the autonomic nervous system, and antihistamine effects in tricyclic antidepressants clearly limited broader use in anxiety disorders. This situation changed with the introduction of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), which offered largely improved tolerability and efficacy proven in many controlled clinical studies. SSRIs are now recommended as the first-line medication for GAD, PD, SAD as well as for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and obsessive–compulsive disorder (OCD) in most recent European and US treatment guidelines (e.g., Bandelow et al. 2008).

The present review focuses on clinical and preclinical evidence, which suggests anxiolytic properties of antidepressant drugs and analyzes the mechanisms that are likely to be behind such properties.

2 Clinical Evidence on Anxiolytic Activity of Antidepressant Drugs

2.1 Generalized Anxiety Disorder

Antidepressants of different classes are in clinical use for the treatment of GAD (for review see Bandelow et al. 2008; Fricchione 2004; Hoffman and Mathew 2008). Due to the fact that major depression is the most common comorbid condition in GAD patients, tricyclic antidepressants like imipramine and amitriptyline drugs have long been used in this patient population, although initially it remained unclear to what extent antidepressant or genuine anxiolytic properties were responsible for treatment responses (Kahn et al. 1987).

In patients without major depression, Rickels et al. (1993) found that diazepam showed the most improvement in anxiety ratings during the first 2 weeks of treatment; in contrast, antidepressant drugs achieved comparable (trazodone) or even somewhat better efficacy (imipramine) after 3–8 weeks of treatment. Among completers, the most discernible improvements were seen with imipramine. Imipramine also significantly facilitates benzodiazepine discontinuation in patients with GAD (Rickels et al. 2000). Systematic clinical investigations in controlled and sufficiently powered clinical studies of other tricyclic antidepressants, selective or non-selective NE reuptake inhibitors, and selective or non-selective MAO-I are missing for GAD. The same is true for non-tricyclic agents with different pharmacologic profiles: bupropione (a mixed NE and dopamine reuptake inhibitor), mianserin and mirtazapine (α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists enhancing NE and 5-HT release and blocking 5-HT_{2A} and 5-HT_{2C} receptors), and nefazodone (a 5-HT₂ and histamine H₁ antagonist).

For many SSRIs, efficacy similar to that of imipramine was found in several randomized placebo-controlled studies in GAD (for review see Hoffman and Mathew 2008). For instance, it was shown that SSRIs led to reduction in clinical anxiety ratings after 8 weeks of treatment (Davidson et al. 2004; Rickels et al. 2003) and prevented relapse when treatment continued for 6 months (Allgulander et al. 2005; Stocchi et al. 2003). From existing clinical trials it remains unclear whether the therapeutic effect of paroxetine and escitalopram is a class effect and can be generalized to all other SSRIs. However, from available evidence, SSRIs like sertraline seem to exert a similar therapeutic effect in GAD (Allgulander et al. 2004; Dahl et al. 2005).

Venlafaxine and duloxetine are classified as selective serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs). Due to the serotonergic component of their pharmacological profile it could be expected that their clinical profile would replicate that of SSRIs. Indeed, both medications were equally effective in placebocontrolled studies (e.g., Hartford et al. 2007) and are approved for the treatment of GAD. Like in depression, there is an impression that the onset of efficacy of SNRIs may be faster than that for other antidepressants. However, the extent to which NE reuptake inhibition contributes to the therapeutic effect remains unknown. In vitro, both SNRIs have more than tenfold higher affinity for the human 5-HT transporter compared to the human NE transporter (Bymaster et al. 2001). Blockade of the 5-HT transporter alone would be sufficient to explain anxiolytic effects and there are no clinical studies unequivocally demonstrating superior efficacy of SNRIs in comparison to SSRIs. Like in other anxiety disorders, treatment of GAD with SSRIs or SNRIs should usually be continued for 6–12 months, although objective clinical data are sparse (Fricchione 2004).

2.2 Panic Disorder

Up to 80% of patients with PD have experienced major stress events (Manfro et al. 1996) and 90% have at least one comorbid psychiatric disorder in their lives – often

depressive episodes (Kessler et al. 2005). These facts may explain why all classes of antidepressants have been investigated in patients with this disease. It is currently believed that tricyclic antidepressants and SSRIs are at least equivalent in their efficacy to benzodiazepines (for review see Bandelow et al. 2008; Hoffman and Mathew 2008; Katon 2006).

Among tricyclic antidepressants, imipramine and clomipramine were effective in placebo and comparator-controlled studies, reducing the number of panic attacks and the severity of anxiety. In comparison to benzodiazepines, their effect is delayed for about 4 weeks, with maximal efficacy taking up to 12 weeks. Although it has been suggested that all tricyclics may be similarly effective, both imipramine and clomipramine are potent 5-HT reuptake inhibitors, whereas desipramine, a preferential NE reuptake inhibitor, was not convincingly superior to placebo (Lydiard et al. 1993). Similarly, in a small non-placebo-controlled study, the nontricyclic NE reuptake inhibitor maprotiline failed to reduce the frequency of panic attacks (den Boer and Westenberg 1988).

Non-selective irreversible MAO-I like phenelzine and tranylcypromine with their unfavorable side-effect profile are considered to have therapeutic potential for PD with or without agoraphobia, at least as second-line medication. However, only one phenelzine study showed superiority over placebo and equal efficacy to imipramine in the treatment of "phobic neurosis" (Sheehan et al. 1980). The impression that MAO-Is are more potent antipanic agents than tricyclics has never been proven in clinical studies. The efficacy of moclobemide, a reversible and MAO-A-selective inhibitor has never been unequivocally established in sufficiently large placebo-controlled trials.

SSRIs are by far the most prescribed class of antidepressants in PD. They are significantly more effective than placebo in reducing the number of panic attacks as well as in reducing global anxiety and a significant percentage of treated patients become panic-free (for review see Hoffman et al. 2008). Efficacy has been shown for all clinically used SSRIs (citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, fluoxetine, paroxetine, and sertraline) as well as for the SNRI venlafaxine. Its efficacy in placebo-controlled trials was equivalent to that of paroxetine; it reduced the frequency of attacks and prevented relapse (e.g., Pollack et al. 2007). As for GAD (see above), there is a doubt whether the noradrenergic component contributes significantly to venlafaxine's efficacy and superiority of venlafaxine over SSRIs is not established. For the selective NE reuptake inhibitor reboxetine, there are some hints of efficacy in PD (Versiani et al. 2002), but rigorous data in placebo-controlled sufficiently powered clinical studies are still missing for reboxetine just as for a number of other interesting drugs such as duloxetine, buproprion, nefazodone, and mirtazapine.

2.3 Social Anxiety Disorder

SAD, also known as social phobia, has a high lifetime prevalence of 12%, and comorbid psychiatric diseases, especially major depression, other anxiety disorders

and alcohol abuse are frequent (Kessler et al. 2005; Stein and Stein 2008). Benzodiazepines and beta-adrenoceptor antagonists, such as propranolol, are often used for non-generalized symptoms and in predictive situations, like public speaking, although evidence of efficacy is more limited than in other anxiety diseases (Schneier 2006). SSRIs and SNRIs are now commonly used as first-line pharmacological therapy (Bandelow et al. 2008; Hoffman and Mathew 2008; Schneier 2006; Stein and Stein 2008).

In contrast to GAD and PD, efficacy of tricyclic antidepressants has never been established. A small double-blind study comparing clomipramine with diazepam suggested efficacy of this preferential 5-HT reuptake inhibitor (Allsopp et al. 1984), but this has not been confirmed in a larger trial. An open trial with imipramine did not support its use in social anxiety (Simpson et al. 1998). In contrast, there is evidence from several studies that the irreversible MAO-Is such as phenelzine and tranylcypromine are efficacious in social anxiety (e.g., Stein et al. 2004; Versiani et al. 1988). The reversible MAO-A inhibitor moclobemide has been reported initially to be superior to placebo and comparable to phenelzine – a finding that has not been consistently confirmed in later studies (Stein et al. 2004).

The largest database concerning efficacy of pharmacological treatment of SAD exists for many SSRIs and venlafaxine as an SNRI. Many large studies proved higher response rates of 50-80% for citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, paroxetine, sertraline, and venlafaxine (for review see Hoffman and Mathew 2008; Schneier 2006; Stein and Stein 2008). Most studies investigated efficacy within 12 weeks of treatment, but relapse prevention trials with escitalopram, paroxetine, and sertraline proved their superiority over placebo also in an extended time frame of 24 weeks (e.g., Montgomery et al. 2005). Although several head-to-head comparison studies have been carried out among SSRIs and with venlafaxine, there is little reason to assume clear superiority of one compound over the other within this pharmacologic class (Stein and Stein 2008). The fact that venlafaxine shows comparable efficacy at lower doses, which preferentially inhibit 5-HT reuptake, and at higher doses, which in addition may block NE uptake, suggests that the influence on the serotonergic system is more relevant for efficacy than an effect on the noradrenergic system (Stein et al. 2005). This is in line with the fact that no studies reporting efficacy of preferential or selective NE reuptake inhibitors in SAD have been published.

2.4 Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

Among all anxiety disorders, PTSD is the least studied and is characterized by the smallest effect sizes for currently available antidepressants. Only paroxetine and sertraline are approved for this indication, but Expert Consensus Guidelines on the treatment of PTSD consider switching to nefazodone or venlafaxine, when these medications fail (Foa et al. 1999). The general finding is that paroxetine and sertraline are superior over placebo and patients improve in all three symptom

Anxiety disorder	TCA	MAOI	SSRI	SNRI	NRI
GAD	++		++	++	
Panic attacks	++	+	++	+	+
Social phobia		+	++		
PTSD	+		++		
OCD	++		++		

 Table 1
 Recommended use of antidepressant drugs for the treatment of anxiety disorders (based on Bandelow et al. 2008)

++ first-line treatment; + second-line or supportive treatment

clusters (hyperarousal, re-experiencing, avoidance/numbing) (e.g., Marshall et al. 2001). Among older antidepressants, imipramine and phenelzine were reported to be superior over placebo; therapeutic potential of other drugs such as mirtazapine needs to be confirmed (for review see Hoffman and Mathew 2008).

2.5 Obsessive–Compulsive Disorder

Although OCD is phenotypically different from other anxiety disorders and is primarily characterized by the presence of costly obsessions and compulsions causing marked distress, pharmacological treatment options include clomipramine and various SSRIs (see Schruers et al. 2005 for review). While non-serotonergic agents are not considered as first-line therapy and may not be effective as a stand-alone treatment, dopaminergic and norepinephrinergic drugs often contribute to augmentation strategies in 40–60% of patients with OCD who do not respond to SSRIs.

As summarized in Table 1, anxiety disorders respond to different classes of antidepressant drugs. Most of these drugs have shown superiority over placebo, but there are only few clinical studies that clearly differentiate efficacies of compounds within one class of drugs. A clear dominance of SSRIs has developed over the last 10–15 years. They are indeed effective in all forms of anxiety, but they are not necessarily more efficacious than older antidepressants. Their extensive clinical use is mainly based on their favorable tolerability. It is to be noted that all these antidepressants share similar mode(s) of pharmacodynamic action: direct or indirect influence on serotonergic and/or noradrenergic neurotransmission. The broad efficacy of SSRIs clearly demonstrates that enhanced serotonergic function – but not necessarily enhanced noradrenergic function – is crucial for the anxiolytic properties of current antidepressants. It remains to be established, if new antidepressant principles in development, like agomelatine, a melatonin MT₁ and MT₂ receptor agonist with additional 5-HT_{2C} antagonism¹ (Olié and Kasper 2007), or drugs affecting the hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal gland axis, like antagonists of

¹First clinical reports suggested efficacy in the treatment of GAD but this evidence needs to be further extended by additional studies, with active comparisons as well as over longer periods of time (Stein et al. 2008).

the corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) receptor 1^2 or the vasopressin V1b receptor, will be effective in anxiety disorders.

3 Preclinical Evidence

3.1 Is Anxiolytic Activity Predicted by Efficacy in Classical Antidepressant Tests?

The most used high-throughput screening models employed to detect antidepressantlike activity are the forced swim test and the closely related "dry" version, tail suspension test. These tests are based on the observations of Porsolt et al. (1977) that rats, when forced to swim in a restricted space from which they cannot escape, will eventually cease apparent attempts to escape and become immobile apart from the small movements necessary to keep their heads above the water. Several hypotheses have been suggested to explain why animals stop struggling e.g., behavioral despair, fatigue or saving energy for survival. None of these hypotheses make it easy to relate the immobility response to the clinical symptoms of depression or anxiety disorders, and therefore such tests conducted in standard healthy laboratory animals clearly lack face and construct validity. At the time these tests were developed, knowledge of the anxiolytic effects of antidepressants was still rather limited. Therefore, the tests were labeled as being able to detect antidepressant-like properties of drugs, and this is indeed supported by most antidepressants showing efficacy in these tests. Thus, despite several false positives described (e.g., Nagatani et al. 1987; Wieland and Lucki 1990), these tests are usually said to have certain predictive validity.

The question remains, however, whether efficacy in these tests predicts antidepressant activity, anxiolytic activity, or just (sub)acute effects on release of neurotransmitters such as noradrenaline and/or serotonin. Given that clinical efficacy of antidepressants is seen typically after at least 2–3 weeks of treatment, the latter seems to be the more likely.

Similar to what is said above about the "behavioral despair" tests, other commonly used tests to detect antidepressant-like activity do not seem to provide information on potential anxiolytic activity. First, there are drugs that lack meaningful anxiolytic properties in the clinic but nevertheless are found to be fully efficacious in preclinical studies evaluating antidepressant-like activities. Second, benzodiazepine anxiolytic drugs that are effective in the treatment of anxiety disorders usually produce no appreciable effects in the antidepressant tests.

²First clinical studies indicated lack of clinical efficacy of CRF1 antagonists in the treatment of GAD (Coric et al. 2008; see also Steckler*** 2009). However, it may be too early to interpret this evidence because, even successful drug classes like SSRIs took several clinical trials to firmly establish their clinical usefulness.

Thus, taking all available evidence together, one comes to the conclusion that commonly used antidepressant tests are not suited for detecting anxiolytic drug activity.

3.2 Efficacy of Antidepressant Drugs in Classical "Anxiolytic" Tests

A great variety of preclinical models that allow assessment of anxiolytic drug potential are thought to exist. While they can hardly be grouped based on the potential relevance to clinical anxiety categories (however, see Sects. 3.3–3.5 for comments on animal models of PD, PTSD and social anxiety), they are easily grouped into a small number of categories based on the operating behavioral mechanisms (e.g., Griebel 1995).

3.2.1 Ethological Models: Exploratory Activity

This category includes several very popular and frequently used tests such as elevated plus maze, zero maze, open field, and light-dark box. The members of this category have a common trait in that they represent easy to administer, single-trial short tests that are based on the exploration of a novel territory that consists of non-aversive and aversive parts (e.g., dark versus light compartments in the light-dark box; closed versus open arms in the elevated plus maze, etc.). Overall, no consistent effects of antidepressant drug treatment were found in these tests. For example, in the elevated plus maze – one of the most widely used models to study effects of antidepressants on anxiety-related behavior – the majority of the studies reported no effects of antidepressant on anxiety-related behavior both after acute or chronic application (see Borsini et al. 2002 for review). In fact, some studies even reported anxiogenic-like responses to antidepressant drug administration.

3.2.2 Ethological Models: Social Behavior

This group consists of models based on social contacts and communication such as social interaction, social competition, or ultrasonic calling. Social interaction under bright light conditions is one of the most popular representatives of this category and is reported to reliably detect effects of benzodiazepine anxiolytics; antidepressants of different classes, however, produce mixed effects. One chronic study with paroxetine resulted in anxiolytic-like effects after 3 weeks of treatment (Lightowler et al. 1994), but studies with chronic administration of other antidepressants (including more members of the SSRI class) did not reveal any meaningful effects (e.g., File et al. 1999).

3.2.3 Unconditioned Stress-Induced Responses

A third subcategory consists of models in which stress-induced alteration of behavior or physiological responses are studied. While stress does seem to be a common denominator, this group is clearly very heterogeneous. Most of these stress-based procedures such as stress-induced hypothermia fail to detect anxiolyticlike potential of antidepressant drugs. However, all classes of antidepressants demonstrate efficacy against isolation-induced vocalizations in guinea pig pups (see Borsini et al. 2002 for review). In rat pups though, acute application of drugs that affect the serotonergic system appear to be effective, whereas compounds that affect the noradrenergic system exert opposite or no effects (e.g., Hodgson et al. 2008). One potential drawback of this model is that the blood brain barrier is not fully developed in pups, which makes it less suitable for screening purposes. An alternative model in adult animals is based on the vocalizations induced by mild electroshock. Such vocalizations are sensitive to acute treatment with SSRIs. clomipramine, imipramine, but not desipramine or maprotiline (see Borsini et al. 2002 for review). Similar readout (vocalizations) and sensitivity to antidepressant treatment make isolation distress calls and electroshock-induced vocalizations look similar. However, one should keep in mind that drugs may suppress vocalizations via various mechanisms including non-specific ones (e.g., sedation, analgesia) and the value of these methods in detecting novel anxiolytics is not firmly established.

3.2.4 Conditioned Fear Tests

Conditioned fear tests include models such as fear-potentiated startle but may also be extended to cover shock rod burying, active/passive avoidance, etc. Overall, no single model is found to convincingly detect antidepressant drugs with anxiolyticlike activity. However, certain members of this category do show significant promise in this regard. In the shock-conditioned freezing paradigm, SSRIs have been reported to exert lasting anxiolytic-like effects while NE reuptake inhibition is not expected to share these effects (e.g., Hashimoto et al. 2009; Inoue et al. 2006). Certain modifications of the fear conditioning protocol can make it even more attractive. For example, one may manipulate the contingency between shocks and to-be-conditioned stimuli in such a way that the latter become only partially predictive of shocks and therefore are less effective in eliciting freezing during the test. Tsetsenis et al. (2007) demonstrated that stimulation of 5-HT1A receptors in hippocampus reverses enhanced fear conditioning to such ambiguous stimuli a hallmark of human anxiety - in 5-HT1A knockout mice. Because of the expected up-regulation of 5-HT neurotransmission, repeated administration of antidepressant drugs is expected to have an opposite effect - i.e., reduced conditioned responding to ambiguous cues.

3.2.5 Conflict Tests

In tests such as the Geller-Seifter's or Vogel conflict test, positive reinforcement contingency (food or water) is concurrent with a mild shock delivery schedule representing a punishment contingency. Overall, while classical benzodiazepine anxiolytics are very effective in these tests, antidepressant drugs are generally not active (see Borsini et al. 2002 for review). Lack of efficacy of antidepressants in these tests is quite noteworthy given the above mentioned effects of these agents on shock-induced vocalizations. Thus, it appears that while antidepressant drugs attenuate expression of behaviors directly elicited by the aversive events (i.e., vocalizations), they do not affect the behavioral significance of these events (i.e., as assessed by the response rates on the concurrent positive reinforcement schedule).

3.3 Animal Models of Panic Attacks

There are several approaches to preclinical modeling of panic attacks. The most straightforward approach is based on the views of panic attacks being simply extreme cases of anxiety. For example, a classical elevated plus maze can be modified by making it unstable and to elicit unconditioned flight/escape behaviors in rats. This new quality was associated with the gain of sensitivity to chronic, but not acute, treatment with fluoxetine (Jones et al. 2002). Alternatively, extreme anxiety in mice is readily evoked by exposure to a natural threat (a rat). Defensive and avoidance behaviors displayed by mice under conditions of the so-called mouse defense test battery are attenuated by chronic treatment with antidepressant drugs, illustrating once again the efficacy of these drugs against extreme anxiety states (see Blanchard et al. 2003 for review).

Elevated anxiety levels may also be produced by acute treatment with anxiogenic drugs such as pentylenetetrazole or electrical stimulation of brain areas implicated in the regulation of fear and escape behaviors such as dorsal periaqueductal grey. Due to its robustness and reliability, the latter becomes increasingly popular for modeling panic attacks in preclinical settings. Pharmacological studies indicate that both SSRIs such as citalopram, fluoxetine, or paroxetine, and the benzodiazepines like alprazolam reduce the flight-like escape behaviors produced by electrical stimulation of the dorsal periaqueductal grey in the rat (Hogg et al. 2006). Efficacy of SSRIs does not seem to require subchronic administration that somewhat alleviated the validity arguments for this method.

3.4 Animal Models of Social Anxiety

Reviews of the clinical signs and symptoms of social anxiety tend to suggest that this disorder can hardly be modeled in laboratory animals. Indeed, it seems difficult to imagine animal models of socially determined dysphoric ruminations, one of the distress types found in patients with social phobia. Social nature of this disorder dictates the use of social hierarchy-derived stressors in preclinical models. Several research groups observed that (sub)chronic treatment with antidepressants enhances aggressive behavior of subdominant and subordinant rats and mice, indicative of elevated social position (Malatynska et al. 2005; Mitchell 2005).

An alternative approach relies on identification of the core operating mechanisms that underlie development and expression of social anxiety. For example, anticipatory anxiety, another distress type associated with social phobia, may have mechanisms based on classical conditioning and could therefore be amenable to preclinical modeling. The phobic symptoms associated with social phobia overlap greatly with those of other anxiety disorders (e.g., specific phobias), while patients with social phobia may have characteristics conventionally associated with other anxiety disorders (e.g., enhanced anxiety reactions to high concentrations of CO2, caffeine, or cholecystokinin; Nutt et al. 1998). Collectively, this evidence suggests that preclinical models do not necessarily have to involve social stressors.

Further, conditioned fear has long been acknowledged as an important etiological mechanism in social anxiety and clinical evidence indeed supports enhanced conditionability of aversive socially specific stimuli (Lissek et al. 2008). While the preclinical models for such social fear conditioning are still to be developed (e.g., based on the use of distress-specific ultrasound vocalizations), there are no reasons to believe that drugs that reduce conditioned fear in the conventional paradigms will not affect socially specific conditioned fear. This expectation relies at least in part on the available evidence indicating that clinically effective drugs (SSRIs, MAO inhibitors) attenuate the expression of conditioned fear responses in laboratory animals (see above). On the other hand, there are a number of various investigational drugs that effectively reduce expression of conditioned fear, but clinical data will be needed to establish predictive validity of such approach to identification of novel treatments of social anxiety.

3.5 Animal Models of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

PTSD develops following extreme stressful experiences and therefore animal models are based on exposures to brief sessions of intense physical or social stressors. Generally speaking, animal models that are characterized by long-lasting conditioned fear responses as well as generalized behavioral sensitization to novel stimuli following short-lasting but intense stress have a phenomenology that resembles that of PTSD in humans (see Stam 2007 for review). Animals that were subjected to brief, but intense, electrical foot- or tail-shocks or strong social stressors (predators or aggressive conspecifics) displayed gradually increasing and long-lasting hyper-responsiveness to novel stressful stimuli (e.g., exposure to the novel environment, open or lit spaces, etc.), and reduced response to appetitive stimuli (e.g., preference for sweet solution or appetitive anticipatory behaviors).

PTSD is characterized by hyperarousal, re-experiencing of the traumatic event, withdrawal or avoidance behavior, and emotional numbing; however, not every aspect of PTSD can obviously be modeled in laboratory animals and, therefore, it is rather difficult to correlate effects in the animal models with clinical efficacy. Indeed, preclinical evidence generated using stress-sensitization models suggested that benzodiazepine anxiolytics are as effective if not more effective than SSRIs in reducing behavioral hyper-reactivity induced by shock pre-exposure (van Dijken et al. 1992).

Another serious limitation of the currently available evidence is that there is not much data on efficacy of drug treatment during the early stages of post-traumatic stress (i.e., prophylactic treatment). Therefore, predictive validity of animal models can only be judged on therapeutic properties (i.e., treatment of the fully developed disorder) while preclinical data suggest that prophylactic treatment could be very effective.

3.6 Animal Models of Obsessive–Compulsive Disorder

Spontaneous behaviors resembling clinical symptoms of OCD are hardly seen in laboratory animals (see, however, Garner et al. 2004 for discussion on barbering behavior in mice) and therefore current models of OCD focus on perseverations and compulsive checking, induced either genetically or pharmacologically (e.g., quinpirole-induced checking behavior or reduction in spontaneous alternation in T-maze). There is only a limited degree of validation of these models (see Joel 2006 for review).

Other animal models where significant efforts were invested into pharmacological validation require further evaluation because of the limited experience outside the lab that originally developed the model (e.g., signal attenuation; Joel 2006) or the large number of false positives that attenuate marble burying via mechanisms varying from motor stimulation to sedation (Van Gaalen, Bespalov, Wicke, unpublished results).

3.7 "Benzodiazepine" Versus "Anxiolytic Activity" Tests

Over the last 15–20 years there were several reviews of the published evidence on the effects of antidepressant drugs in classical anxiolytic-like activity tests (e.g., Borsini et al. 2002). The overall evidence, briefly summarized above, is rather disappointing. Of course, a number of factors contributed to the lack of consistency in the study outcomes – e.g., administration routes, dose ranges tested (Soderpalm et al. 1989), species differences (Barrett and Gleeson 1991), gender effects (Rosenzweig-Lipson et al. 2007), environmental effects (Wettstein 1992), etc. However, all these discussions do not hide the main fact – classical anxiolytic

drug tests are not very sensitive to antidepressant drugs clinically effective in the treatment of anxiety disorders.

Indeed, most of these classical tests are pharmacologically validated using benzodiazepine anxiolytics and are therefore "benzodiazepine tests" rather than "anxiolytic drug tests." An elegant illustration of this difference was provided by the study by Thiebot and colleagues (1985) who suggested that at least some of the effects of benzodiazepine drugs in "anxiolytic" tests may be explained by their ability to stimulate impulsive choice. Benzodiazepines are known to reduce tolerance to delay of reward resulting in the enhanced preference for smaller but immediate rewards over delayed larger rewards. Thiebot and colleagues (1985) illustrated how these pro-impulsive properties of benzodiazepines may help understanding their effects in the conventional conflict tests. Similar arguments can be applied to tests where conflicts are less explicit but nevertheless significant (e.g., conflict between exploratory and safety drives in the plus maze and social interaction). Interestingly, antidepressants like SSRIs do not stimulate impulsive choice like benzodiazepines and after chronic administration are actually found to enhance tolerance to delay of reward (Wolff and Leander 2002). Thus, despite clinical anxiolytic potential, antidepressant drugs do not necessarily reproduce the preclinical psychopharmacology of benzodiazepines and it is not well established that effects of benzodiazepines in classical "anxiolytic" tests reflect their therapeutic effects.

3.8 Need for New "Anxiolytic" Tests Sensitive to Antidepressant Drug Treatment

There are a number of novel therapeutic candidates for treatment of anxiety and depression and a greater number of emerging targets for developing such therapies. As the discussion above suggests, one can hardly count on the classical anxiolytic tests when it comes to testing drugs with non-benzodiazepine-like mechanism of action. What are the features that the new tests should have?

First, clinical experience clearly indicates that a preclinical model should be sensitive to treatment with serotonergic antidepressants. Further, clinical efficacy has a rather delayed onset and therefore preclinical models that require subchronic drug administration are potentially of higher value. While there is no animal model that unequivocally meets all the requirements, one should mention again anxiolytic-like effects of SSRIs in the conditioned freezing paradigm as well as in the fourplate and novelty-suppressed feeding tests (see also Borsini et al. 2002 for review). Independent confirmations of these results in a larger number of studies could make these tests a valuable tool in novel anxiolytic drug development.

Second, evidence on clinical efficacy of antidepressants is obtained in patients who have been diagnosed with anxiety disorders. In contrast, most preclinical research is conducted using normal laboratory animals. The following example illustrates the significance of this discrepancy. Mice overproducing CRF exhibit various alterations including increased anxiety-related behaviors and hypothalamuspituitary-adrenocortical activity (Stenzel-Poore et al. 1994). Chronic treatment with citalopram decreased anxiety-related behavior in CRF overproducing animals in conditioned fear test, whereas it had opposite effects in controls (Fig. 1, left panel). Importantly, there was no such genotype dependence when effects of citalopram were studied in relation to 5-HT1A receptor autoreceptor function. 5-HT1A receptors serve both somatodendritic autoreceptor and post-synaptic heteroreceptor function. In mice, 8-OH-DPAT-induced hypothermia has been attributed to activation of somatodendritic 5-HT1A autoreceptors (Bill et al. 1991). Chronic treatment with citalopram or other antidepressants of various classes as well as repeated electroconvulsive shock therapy attenuate 8-OH-DPAT-induced hypothermia (Bill et al. 1991; Goodwin 1989). Chronic treatment of wild type and CRF overexpressing mice with citalopram results in desensitization of 5-HT1A autoreceptors, as indicated by the attenuated hypothermic response to 8-OH-DPAT administration in both wild types and transgenics (Fig. 1, right panel). This demonstrates that chronic treatment with antidepressants can lead to similar cellular changes in neurotransmitter systems under normal and pathological conditions, but that such changes may lead to opposite effects on anxiety-related behavior.

3.8.1 Social Stress

Repeated and/or prolonged exposures to stress have long been argued to present a path towards a disease model that would allow preclinical evaluation of novel antidepressant principles with anxiolytic properties. For example, Keeney and Hogg (1999) investigated the effect of the SSRI citalopram in normal mice and mice that were exposed to repeated social defeat, coupled with the stress of continuously living in proximity to the dominant mice. Mice were repeatedly tested in the dark-light transition box. As expected, control animals initially avoided the illuminated part of the apparatus but, with repeated testing, this avoidance behavior was greatly diminished. Interestingly, no such changes were seen in stressed animals which showed even greater avoidance of the illuminated part. When treated with citalopram, stressed animals spent more time in the illuminated section, but not earlier than after 2 weeks of daily injections.

More recently, a similar stressor was applied by Berton and Nestler (2006). In this study, mice were subjected to daily bouts of social defeat, followed by continuous protected sensory contact with their aggressor for 10 days and were then screened for social behavior by measuring social approach toward an unfamiliar mouse enclosed in a wire mesh. Control mice spent most of their time interacting socially with the unfamiliar mouse, while the defeated mice displayed intense aversive responses and spent less time close to the target mouse. Chronic, but not acute, treatment with fluoxetine or imipramine improved social interaction in the defeated animals. Importantly, this effect was not seen after acute or chronic



Fig. 1 Effects of chronic citalopram treatment in CRF overproducing and wild type mice on conditioned fear and body temperature. *Left panel*, change in the relative time not moving during re-exposure to the light relative to baseline (*dotted line*) 24 h after conditioning is shown. wt: wildtype; tg: transgenic. *P<0.05 (wt citalopram compared to tg citalopram). *Right panel*, body temperature measured under basal conditions (temp 1) and 20 min after treatment with 8-OH DPAT (temp 2). Citalopram attenuated the 8-OH DPAT induced hypothermia (P<0.05). From: Van Gaalen (2001)

treatment with chlordiazepoxide, suggesting that this disease model may be selectively sensitive to anxiolytic effects of antidepressant drugs.

Social stress mechanisms are also key to suggested value of the mouse defense test battery mentioned above. In this test, anxiogenic effects of fluoxetine and imipramine have been reported after acute treatment, while anxiolytic effects were shown after chronic drug application (e.g., Griebel et al. 1995).

3.8.2 Non-Social Stress

In most preclinical studies, stress is associated with exposures to aversive, painful stimulation such as electrical footshocks. In contrast, in humans, exposure to such noxious stimulation is often difficult to reveal and document. Meanwhile, both in animals and humans, stress stimuli have specific characteristics imposed by intermittent reinforcement contingencies. In other words, stressful experiences may be associated with positive or negative reinforcers delivered in a manner, which is not controlled by the subjects. Previous research suggested that compared with the ratio schedules of reinforcement, interval schedule (fixed or variable) might have aversive properties and are less preferred by the subjects (e.g., Nevin et al. 2001). Accordingly, such stressful intermittent schedules of reinforcement generate concurrent, excessive behaviors such as polydipsia (Cook et al. 1983; Falk 1971) and may even lead to adverse physiological consequences including cardiomyopathies typical of stress-related disorders (Rupp et al. 1997).

Antidepressant drugs such as SSRIs attenuate expression of schedule-induced polydipsia and these effects are characterized by remarkable delay of onset (Fig. 2; see also Hogg and Dalvi 2004). In addition to its usual significance (i.e., parallels to clinical effect), delayed onset of action in these studies helps to argue for specific mechanism of action because, when given at high-enough doses, most CNS active drugs attenuate polydipsia (via non-specific sedation or motor inhibition). Therefore, development of data analysis techniques is necessary for drugs that are expected to act faster than modern antidepressants.

3.8.3 Beyond Chronic Stress Procedures

Elevated baseline anxiety levels (i.e., disease states prior to the drug treatment) are described for a number of mouse strains where trait anxiety results from either genetic deletion of a known gene (e.g., genes for 5-HT1A, 5-HT2C receptors or neuropeptide Y) or more complex and most likely randomly introduced alterations in various neurotransmitter circuits that may be more akin to the clinical situation (e.g., BALB/c mice; Belzung and Griebel 2001). It remains to be evaluated whether such animals with trait anxiety will be in classical tests or whether they still require novel tests.



Fig. 2 Effects of repeated fluoxetine treatment on polydipsia induced by intermittent schedule of food delivery (fixed time 60 s) in rats. When water intake stabilized (ca. 3 weeks), rats received daily injection of fluoxetine ($10 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$) or its vehicle prior to the 1-h long sessions (indicated by the *arrow*). Fluoxetine attenuated schedule-induced polydipsia starting after the fourth injection (P < 0.05)

Overall, there are a number of new "anxiolytic" tests emerging that may be sensitive to antidepressant drug treatment and will therefore be very useful in the drug development process. All that has to be done is that these promising results need to be replicated by independent laboratories and evidence on predictive validity has to be extended.

As summarized in Table 2, not too many preclinical models exist where antidepressant drugs produce effects that may be interpreted as predictive of and relevant to their clinical efficacy in the treatment of anxiety disorders. Despite this generally disappointing situation, such analysis seems to suggest that treatment with SSRIs is more often associated with signs of preclinical efficacy than any other type of antidepressants. This may of course be due to the fact that SSRIs have been the most popular antidepressant medications dominating clinical use and this has affected the design and focus of preclinical studies favoring the use of SSRIs. However, this evidence may also be suggesting that, similar to the clinical situation, preclinically SSRIs are superior to other antidepressant drug classes and enhanced serotonergic function is indeed crucial for the anxiolytic properties of current antidepressants. Further, while the methodological portfolio certainly needs further work, available data on preclinical efficacy of SSRIs suggest that useful animal models are available and point at these directions for new model development.

Animal model	TCA	MAOI	SSRI	SNRI & NRI
Ethological models				
Exploratory activity				
Social behavior			±	
Unconditioned non-social stress-induced responses				
Conditioned fear (non-social)			+	
Social stress	+		+	
Social hierarchy	+	+	+	+
Conflict tests				
PAG stimulation	+		+	
Stress sensitization		+	+	

Table 2 Summary of the preclinical efficacy of antidepressant drugs in animal models of anxiolytic activity

+ positive evidence; \pm mixed evidence; empty cell indicates lack of positive evidence

4 Mechanisms of Anxiolytic Action of Antidepressant Drugs

It has been repeatedly discussed that depression and anxiety disorders share a number of overlapping clinical signs and symptoms such as sleep disturbances, restlessness, irritability, difficulty concentrating, loss of control, fatigue, fear distress, etc. Many patients complaining of symptoms of anxiety in fact have depression, which is often overlooked (Fineberg and Drummond 1995). Extremely high degree of comorbidity of depression with anxiety disorders, overlapping symptoms as well as similar time-course of antidepressant drug effects in patients with depression or anxiety point at the most obvious explanation of the anxiolytic properties of antidepressant drugs: mechanisms responsible for anxiolytic effects are similar, if not identical, to those responsible for antidepressant effects of these medications.

4.1 Changes in the Neurotransmitter Systems

Acute administration of antidepressant drugs suppresses the firing rate of 5-HT neurons (Blier 2001). For both reuptake inhibitors and MAO inhibitors, these effects are explained by the density of 5-HT being greatest in the raphe nuclei. This suppression results in increased activation of 5-HT1A autoreceptors on the cell body of 5-HT neurons, which in turn exert a negative feedback action on their firing activity. This increased activation of 5-HT1A autoreceptors and resulting negative feedback occur because the firing rate of 5-HT neurons is generally proportional to 5-HT release throughout the brain. In projection areas, there is also an increase in the synaptic availability of 5-HT due to reuptake inhibition or MAO inhibition, but this enhanced level is limited by the suppression of the firing activity of 5-HT neurons. However, with prolonged treatment, the spontaneous firing of 5-HT1A autoreceptors. This desensitization is also expected to be proportional to receptor stimulation (i.e., local 5-HT levels) and therefore 5-HT1A receptors in the projection areas are affected

less than autoreceptors in somatodendritic fields. Downregulation of the latter leads to an increase in 5-HT neurotransmission and this increase is seen as the main neurochemical substrate of effects of currently used antidepressant drugs. Indirect support of this view is provided by the data indicating rapid relapse of symptoms in SSRI-sensitive depressed patients who undergo a dietary 5-HT depletion paradigm (Delgado et al. 1999). However, one should also note that there is still no convincing clinical evidence that 5-HT1A blockade accelerates onset of action of antidepressants. Thus, 5-HT1A desensitization remains a hypothesis awaiting final validation.

While 5-HT1A desensitization accounts appear to dominate the current way of thinking about antidepressant drug action, it is unclear whether this is the mechanism that is also responsible for these drugs' anxiolytic effects. Sustained administration of antidepressant drugs also enhances 5-HT transmission to NE neurons of the locus coeruleus (Szabo et al. 1999). This enhanced transmission is indicated by a marked suppression of the firing activity of these neurons resulting from an enhanced inhibitory tone exerted by 5-HT. Such inhibitory effect is, however, indirect, and is mediated by increased activation of excitatory 5-HT2A receptors on inhibitory GABAergic interneurons, the latter in turn suppressing the firing of NE neurons (Szabo and Blier 2001). Obviously, this GABAergic activation as well as attenuation of noradrenergic firing could explain at least in part the anxiolytic effects of antidepressant drugs. However, there is not much evidence directly supporting such accounts (e.g., no benzodiazepine-like anxiolytic effects of antidepressants or agents reducing the firing activity of NE neurons such as a 2 agonists). It is likely that there are other neurochemical adaptations triggered by enhanced 5-HT neurotransmission that may contribute to anxiolytic activity (e.g., adaptations in β -adrenoreceptors or glutamate/NMDA receptors).

Enhanced 5-HT levels may also be responsible for clinical efficacy of drugs whose primary receptor targets are outside this neurotransmitter system. For instance, prolonged administration of selective NE reuptake inhibitors is expected to desensitize $\alpha 2$ receptors located on 5-HT terminals (Mongeau et al. 1994). Such indirect effects on 5-HT perhaps explain the weaker anxiolytic profile of NE reuptake inhibitors compared with SSRIs.

Overall, desensitization of auto- and heteroreceptors controlling the release of monoamines such as 5-HT is the most studied neurochemical adaptation induced by antidepressant drugs. It is unlikely to be the only possible mechanism to be exploited by future antidepressant/anxiolytic drugs. However, this knowledge is instrumental because novel target candidates can be searched by following the neuroanatomical organization of 5-HT system.

4.2 Neuroanatomical Aspects of Antidepressant Drugs' Anxiolytic Action

Serotonergic raphe cells project to a number of brain areas that are traditionally implicated in emotional processing and expression of anxiety (e.g., amygdala, hypothalamus) and the most straightforward explanation of anxiolytic properties of antidepressant drugs would be based on inhibitory effects of elevated 5-HT on the function of these brain areas. Such account naturally leads to testing anxiolytic potency of novel drugs with alternative mechanisms of downregulating the activity of "anxiety" centers. For instance, antagonists acting at CRF1 receptors have long been hypothesized to possess anxiolytic activity (Steckler 2009). Indeed, these receptors are known to be essential in coordinating physiological response to stress and a number of studies have demonstrated the ability of CRF1 antagonists to inhibit stress-induced increases in HPA axis activity³ (e.g., as shown by reduced corticosterone levels; Ising et al. 2007). Preclinical studies have also revealed a very appealing anxiolytic-like profile of CRF1 antagonists, which did not alter spontaneous anxiety when tested in traditional "benzodiazepine" tests (e.g., conflict tests) but were very active in tests taxing stress-facilitated anxiety (e.g., elevated plus-maze testing following the swim stress exposure; Chaki et al. 2004). Perhaps even more appealing is that CRF1 antagonists are effective in several other tests, which were claimed to be sensitive to antidepressant drug treatment (e.g., separation-induced vocalizations, mouse defensive test battery, etc.). However, as convincing as this evidence may appear, there is no clinical proof of anxiolytic activity of CRF1 antagonists and the first clinical data are rather disappointing (Coric et al. 2008) suggesting that anxiolytic effects of antidepressant drugs may have mechanisms other than simple suppression of stress-induced responses.

4.2.1 Hippocampus

One of the original members of Papez' circuit, the hippocampus, also receives relatively dense serotonergic innervation and, from a functional point of view, the hippocampus is one of the most interesting targets of anxiolytic drug action. It is well established that the hippocampus is hyperactive in anxiety disorders and there were several theories advanced to associate reduction in hippocampal activity with anxiolysis (e.g., McNaughton et al. 2007). Experimental evidence also speaks strongly in support of hippocampal involvement in anxiolytic drug action. For example, inhibition of hippocampal dentate gyrus granule cells selectively suppressed conditioned responses to ambiguous cues. In contrast, inhibition of neurons in the central nucleus of the amygdala suppressed conditioning experiments (Tsetsenis et al. 2007).

For antidepressant drugs, the hippocampus is an especially important target. Over the recent 5–6 years, several studies have suggested that adult neurogenesis in the hippocampus is causally related to antidepressant drug action (see Drew and Hen 2007 for review). Several antidepressants were shown to stimulate hippocampal neurogenesis upon repeated administration. Ablation of neurogenesis via

³It is of note that subchronic treatment with SSRIs like fluoxetine may attenuate stress-induced behaviors but has little or no effects on stress-induced increases in ACTH and corticosterone levels (Zhang et al. 2000).

irradiation of a brain area containing the hippocampus prevented both neurogenic and behavioral (anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like) effects of antidepressants. Interestingly, non-drug inhibitors of conditioned fear (i.e., learned safety signals) enhance hippocampal neurogenesis as well (Pollak et al. 2008).

At first glance, this evidence appears to come into conflict with the data suggesting that learning (including aversive learning such as fear conditioning) enhances neurogenesis. This paradox is solved by studies demonstrating that learning increases or decreases the number of newly born cells depending on their birth date: For example, Dobrossy and colleagues (2003) divided water maze learning into two phases, an early phase during which performance improves rapidly, and a late phase during which asymptotic levels of performance are reached. The number of newly born cells increased contingently with the late phase and a large proportion of these cells survived for at least 4 weeks. In contrast, late-phase learning decreased the number of newly born cells produced during the early phase. This decline in neurogenesis was positively correlated with performance in the water maze. To understand these results, one may want to recall the difference between "perfect predictors" and ambiguous predicting stimuli mentioned above for fear conditioning studies. It is the ambiguous stimuli that are more relevant to anxiety modeling and are known to depend on hippocampal function. In case of the water maze, one could expect slower acquisition of the task in some individuals to be due to the greater ambiguity of guiding stimuli. Antidepressant drugs would be expected to reduce the impact of the ambiguous guiding stimuli, thereby enhancing hippocampal learning and neurogenesis.

Experimental support for this hypothesis would require additional studies with (sub)chronic treatment regimens of antidepressants given prior to and during the water maze training. Given that the repeated treatment with antidepressants enhances 5-HT neurotransmission and that this may inhibit hippocampal activity, it is very critical to see if anxiolytic effects can be separated from cognition-impairing properties. Such dissociation was shown for scopolamine-like muscarinic receptor antagonists and benzodiazepine anxiolytics, both of which have similar capacity to reduce hippocampal theta activity and cognitive functions. However, although benzodiazepines are anxiolytic, muscarinic receptor antagonists are not.

4.2.2 Prefrontal Cortex

Prefrontal cortex is another brain area that is critically involved in both cognitive processes and antidepressant drug action. For example, anti-OCD effects of antidepressant drugs are thought to result from increased 5-HT neurotransmission in orbitofrontal cortex (Nakao et al. 2005). OCD is often associated with hyperactivity in neuronal cortico-striato-thalamo-cortical loops and this hyperactivity can be dampened by enhanced action of 5-HT in the cortex. There is a growing body of evidence linking frontal cortical functions to other types of anxiety disorders as well. Stress-sensitization studies assessed expression of Fos protein in response to novel stressors several weeks after the repeated shock experience: in

shock-preexposed subjects, there was an elevated number of Fos-positive cells in the medial prefrontal cortex (Bruijnzeel et al. 1999). Prefrontal cortex may have an even more global function in controlling the response to stress. When a stressor is controllable (e.g., escapable), stress-induced activation of serotonergic dorsal raphe nuclei is inhibited by prefrontal cortex, and behavioral consequences of uncontrollable stress are prevented (Amat et al. 2005). It is to be noted that repeated treatment with antidepressant drugs reverses learned helplessness, the most commonly studied behavioral consequence of uncontrollable stress (Sherman et al. 1982).

The prefrontal cortex may also be involved in the mechanisms of attentional bias towards threat-related stimuli and poor inhibition of distractor processing which are characteristic of clinical anxiety (Bishop 2009). Both clinical and preclinical data indicate that prolonged stress exposure induces neuroanatomical changes in the prefrontal cortex and negatively affects performance on prefrontal cortex-dependent attentional flexibility task (Liston et al. 2006, 2009).

The above mentioned involvement of brain areas that are traditionally discussed in the context of cognitive functioning suggests contribution of learning and memory to pathophysiology of stress-related disorders as well as antidepressant drug action. Originally formulated over 40 years ago, the cognitive model of depression focuses on automatic thoughts, cognitive distortions, dysfunctional beliefs, and negative information-processing biases (Beck 2008). Traumatic experiences and the formation of dysfunctional beliefs in early life are viewed as predisposing events while congruent stressors in later life as precipitating factors. Such views can easily be transferred to describe the pathogenesis of anxiety disorders.

Is it possible that different anxiety disorders share neuroanatomical substrates? The answer is "yes and no." On the one hand, there is clearly a growing body of evidence that certain brain areas and connections are more important for some anxiety disorders than for others (e.g., cortico-striato-thalamic loops for OCD). On the other hand, antidepressant drug treatment induces neurochemical adaptations in the 5-HT system that are distributed in time and space in a manner that is not likely to depend on the type of anxiety disorder. It is possible that various anxiety disorders share some core "learning" mechanism with a specific neuroanatomical substrate and this mechanism is sensitive to antidepressant drug treatment.

4.3 Cognitive Model of Anxiety Disorders: Implications for Novel Drug Development

Even a superficial review of animal models sensitive to antidepressant drugs reveals several paradigms with strong cognitive load. For example, a number of antidepressants were shown to be effective in rats trained to press a lever to obtain food under differential reinforcement of low rates of responding schedule (DRL; Sokolowski and Seiden 1999). Under this schedule, rats need to withhold a response for a certain period of time (originally, 72 s but shorter versions are also used).

Antidepressants shift distribution of the inter-response times to the right, enhancing the total number of food reinforcers earned and reducing the overall response rate. These effects are quite characteristic of this drug class because opposite results are typically seen with psychostimulants as well as benzodiazepine anxiolytics. Specific analysis methods were developed for characterizing antidepressant drug action besides the increase in reinforcement rate. Successful performance in the DRL task requires inhibition of prepotent responses. Such inhibitory control is one of the core functions attributed to prefrontal cortex and this makes the DRL task one of the candidates for evaluating cortical cognitive aspects of antidepressant drug effects. This example of DRL indicates that strong face validity may not be necessary for tests predictive of antidepressant/anxiolytic action.

Effects of antidepressants in the DRL task are seen after the first injection. At first glance, acute efficacy speaks against the validity of this task. Indeed delayed onset of action in preclinical tests is mandated by delayed onset of clinical efficacy and is further reinforced by the current way of thinking dominated by 5-HT1A desensitization accounts. However, delayed onset of action may have other mechanisms not directly related to changes in the receptor and/or second messenger systems. For instance, any learning requires time and should the antidepressant drug action involve improved inhibitory control or any other cognitive function, it would take a certain period of time and a number of training sessions for these "cognitive" effects to be translated into improved behavioral performance in "anxiolytic" tests. If this is true, anxiolytic/antidepressant-like activity of novel drugs may not necessarily require sub(chronic) treatment and can be predicted based on the results of acute tests.

5 Summary

Antidepressant drug treatment is the clinical standard of care for all types of anxiety disorders. As discussed above, this stands in a sharp contrast to preclinical practice where most "anxiolytic" drug tests are not sensitive to antidepressants. There are at least two factors contributing to this situation.

First, traditionally "anxiolytic" drug tests have been validated by confirming their sensitivity to benzodiazepine drugs (i.e., establishing predictive validity). This approach is clearly not the most effective because it does not fully establish that classical benzodiazepine-sensitive test really reflect on therapeutic efficacy of these drugs and not their side-effects and because there may be more than one pathophysiological mechanisms via which "anxiolysis" may be produced (i.e., benzodiazepine-sensitive and benzodiazepine-insensitive).

Second, development of "anxiolytic" drug tests was often a victim to face validity requirements. For instance, laboratory rodents do avoid open spaces because for them, engagement in otherwise risky behaviors is biologically not justified. In contrast, human anxiety disorders are clearly maladaptive and reducing anxiety in diseased individuals serves a clear biological role. Another example

concerns the selection of the stress procedures for inducing anxiety states in laboratory animals. It is often assumed that only aversive stimuli that induce visible and markedly pronounced physical suffering are relevant and stressful enough. In contrast, in humans, exposure to such noxious stimulation is often difficult to reveal and document. Rather, what is common for true stress stimuli are specific characteristics imposed by intermittent reinforcement contingencies (i.e., positive or negative reinforcers are delivered in a manner, which is not controlled by the subjects). Uncertainty in a broad sense (including unstructured time) is the hallmark of human stress and may have different expressions ready for experimental modeling. These possibilities include schedule-induced behaviors that are directly based on intermittent reinforcement, conditioning to ambiguous stimuli, social stress where agonistic confrontations are possible but not predictable and not controlled by the subject, and an even larger class of behaviors that are critically dependent on the inhibition of the prepotent responses in exchange for the ambiguous possibility of later gain in reinforcement. As reviewed above, in all of these cases, antidepressant drug treatment is clearly effective.

Face validity of the model further dictates that antidepressant drug have a delayed onset of action. As argued above, the cognitive model of antidepressant drug action may be extended to cover their anxiolytic properties as well. Cognitive effects of antidepressants and any learning induced by this treatment will certainly require time for translation into improved behavioral performance and anxiolysis. One of the cognitive functions that appears to be affected by antidepressant drugs is inhibitory control. Inhibition of prepotent responding has beneficial effects in the "uncertainty" stress situations discussed above and therefore it is this cognitive function that may be critical for anxiolytic effects of antidepressants and novel anxiolytic drug development.

In conclusion, as heterogenous as they may appear, anxiety disorders share certainly more than just the label "anxiety." Their sensitivity to treatment with antidepressants such as SSRIs suggests common pathophysiological mechanisms. When these mechanisms are fully revealed and understood, truly specific anxiolytic drug tests will help identifying novel medications with improved therapeutic properties.

References

- Allgulander C, Dahl AA, Austin C, Morris PL, Sogaard JA, Fayyad R, Kutcher SP, Clary CM (2004) Efficacy of sertraline in a 12-week trial for generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161:1642–1649
- Allgulander C, Florea I, Trap Huusom AK (2005) Prevention of relapse in generalized anxiety disorder by escitalopram treatment. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 9:1–11
- Allsopp LF, Cooper GL, Poole PH (1984) Clomipramine and diazepam in the treatment of agoraphobia and social phobia in general practice. Curr Med Res Opin 9:64–70
- Amat J, Baratta MV, Paul E, Bland ST, Watkins LR, Maier SF (2005) Medial prefrontal cortex determines how stressor controllability affects behavior and dorsal raphe nucleus. Nat Neurosci 8:365–371

- Bandelow B, Zohar J, Hollander E, Kasper S, Möller HJ (2008) World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of anxiety, obsessive-compulsive and post-traumatic stress disorders – first revision. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:248–312
- Barrett JE, Gleeson S (1991) 5-HT1A agonists, 5-HT3 antagonists and benzodiazepines: drug discrimination studies. In: Rodgers RJ, Cooper SJ (eds) 5-HT1A agonists, 5-HT3 antagonists and benzodiazepines, their comparative behavioural pharmacology. Wiley, Chichester, pp 59–105
- Beck AT (2008) The evolution of the cognitive model of depression and its neurobiological correlates. Am J Psychiatry 165:969–977
- Belzung C, Griebel G (2001) Measuring normal and pathological anxiety-like behaviour in mice: a review. Behav Brain Res 125:141–149
- Berton O, Nestler EJ (2006) New approaches to antidepressant drug discovery: beyond monoamines. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:137–151
- Bill DJ, Knight M, Forster EA, Fletcher A (1991) Direct evidence for an important species difference in the mechanism of 8-OH-DPAT-induced hypothermia. Br J Pharmacol 103:1857–1864
- Bishop SJ (2009) Trait anxiety and impoverished prefrontal control of attention. Nat Neurosci 12:92–98
- Blanchard DC, Griebel G, Blanchard RJ (2003) The mouse defense test battery: pharmacological and behavioral assays for anxiety and panic. Eur J Pharmacol 463:97–116
- Blier P (2001) Pharmacology of rapid-onset antidepressant treatment strategies. J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 15):12–17
- Borsini F, Podhorna J, Marazziti D (2002) Do animal models of anxiety predict anxiolytic-like effects of antidepressants? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 163:121–141
- Bruijnzeel AW, Stam R, Compaan JC, Croiset G, Akkermans LM, Olivier B, Wiegant VM (1999) Long-term sensitization of Fos-responsivity in the rat central nervous system after a single stressful experience. Brain Res 819:15–22
- Bymaster FP, Dreshfield-Ahmad LJ, Threlkeld PG, Shaw JL, Thompson L, Nelson DL, Hemrick-Luecke SK, Wong DT (2001) Comparative affinity of duloxetine and venlafaxine for serotonin and norepinephrine transporters in vitro and in vivo, human serotonin receptor subtypes, and other neuronal receptors. Neuropsychopharmacology 25:871–880
- Chaki S, Nakazato A, Kennis L, Nakamura M, Mackie C, Sugiura M, Vinken P, Ashton D, Langlois X, Steckler T (2004) Anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like profile of a new CRF1 receptor antagonist, R278995/CRA0450. Eur J Pharmacol 485:145–158
- Cook P, Wallace M, Singer G (1983) A reinterpretation of schedule-induced behaviors based on a systematic analysis of behavior. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 7:97–104
- Coric V, Goddard A, Oren D, Pultz J, Dockens R, Wu X, Gentile K, Thomas M, D'Souza B, Shekhar A, Stock E (2008) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled and active comparator trial of pexacerfont, a corticotropin releasing factor receptor-1 antagonist, in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. Paper presented at 47th ACNP meeting, Scottsdale, Arizona, 7–11 December, 2008
- Dahl AA, Ravindran A, Allgulander C, Kutcher SP, Austin C, Burt T (2005) Sertraline in generalized anxiety disorder: efficacy in treating the psychic and somatic anxiety factors. Acta Psychiatr Scand 111:429–435
- Davidson JR, Bose A, Korotzer A, Zheng H (2004) Escitalopram in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: double-blind, placebo controlled, flexible-dose study. Depress Anxiety 19:234–240
- Delgado PL, Miller HL, Salomon RM, Licinio J, Krystal JH, Moreno FA, Heninger GR, Charney DS (1999) Tryptophan-depletion challenge in depressed patients treated with desipramine or fluoxetine: implications for the role of serotonin in the mechanism of antidepressant action. Biol Psychiatry 46:212–220

- Den Boer JA, Westenberg HG (1988) Effect of a serotonin and noradrenaline uptake inhibitor in panic disorder; a double-blind comparative study with fluvoxamine and maprotiline. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 3:59–74
- Dobrossy MD, Drapeau E, Aurousseau C, Le Moal M, Piazza PV, Abrous DN (2003) Differential effects of learning on neurogenesis: learning increases or decreases the number of newly born cells depending on their birth date. Mol Psychiatry 8:974–982
- Drew MR, Hen R (2007) Adult hippocampal neurogenesis as target for the treatment of depression. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 6:205–218
- Falk JL (1971) The nature and determinants of adjunctive behavior. Physiol Behav 6:577-588
- File SE, Ouagazzal AM, Gonzalez LE, Overstreet DH (1999) Chronic fluoxetine in tests of anxiety in rat lines selectively bred for differential 5-HT1A receptor function. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 62:695–701
- Fineberg NA, Drummond LM (1995) Anxiety disorders: drug treatment of behavioral cognitive psychotherapy? CNS Drugs 3:448–466
- Foa EB, Davidson JRT, Frances A (1999) The expert consensus guidelines series: treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 60(Suppl 16):1–76
- Fricchione G (2004) Generalized anxiety disorder. N Engl J Med 351:675-682
- Garner JP, Weisker SM, Dufour B, Mench JA (2004) Barbering (fur and whisker trimming) by laboratory mice as a model of human trichotillomania and obsessive-compulsive spectrum disorders. Comp Med 54:216–224
- Goodwin GM (1989) The effects of antidepressant treatments and lithium upon 5-HT1A receptor function. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 13:445–451
- Griebel G (1995) 5-Hydroxytryptamine-interacting drugs in animal models of anxiety disorders: more than 30 years of research. Pharmacol Ther 65:319–395
- Griebel G, Blanchard DC, Agnes RS, Blanchard RJ (1995) Differential modulation of antipredator defensive behavior in Swiss-Webster mice following acute or chronic administration of imipramine and fluoxetine. Psychopharmacology 120:57–66
- Hartford J, Kornstein S, Liebowitz M, Pigott T, Russell J, Detke M, Walker D, Ball S, Dunayevich E, Dinkel J, Erickson J (2007) Duloxetine as an SNRI treatment for generalized anxiety disorder: results from a placebo and active-controlled trial. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 22:167–174
- Hashimoto S, Inoue T, Muraki I, Koyama T (2009) Effects of acute citalopram on the expression of conditioned freezing in naive versus chronic citalopram-treated rats. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 33:113–117
- Hettema JM (2008) What is the genetic relationship between anxiety and depression? Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet 148C:140–147
- Hodgson RA, Guthrie DH, Varty GB (2008) Duration of ultrasonic vocalizations in the isolated rat pup as a behavioral measure: sensitivity to anxiolytic and antidepressant drugs. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 88:341–348
- Hoffman EJ, Mathew SJ (2008) Anxiety disorders: a comprehensive review of pharmacotherapies. Mount Sinai J Med 75:248–262
- Hogg S, Dalvi A (2004) Acceleration of onset of action in schedule-induced polydipsia: combinations of SSRI and 5-HT(1A) and 5-HT(1B) receptor antagonists. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 77:69–75
- Hogg S, Michan L, Jessa M (2006) Prediction of anti-panic properties of escitalopram in the dorsal periaqueductal grey model of panic anxiety. Neuropharmacology 51:141–145
- Inoue T, Nakagawa S, Izumi T, Kitaichi Y, Koyama T (2006) Effect of combined treatment with noradrenaline and serotonin reuptake inhibitors on conditioned freezing. Eur J Pharmacol 540:91–95
- Ising M, Zimmermann US, Künzel HE, Uhr M, Foster AC, Learned-Coughlin SM, Holsboer F, Grigoriadis DE (2007) High-affinity CRF1 receptor antagonist NBI-34041: preclinical and clinical data suggest safety and efficacy in attenuating elevated stress response. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:1941–1949

- Joel D (2006) Current animal models of obsessive compulsive disorder: a critical review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:374–388
- Jones N, King SM, Duxon MS (2002) Further evidence for the predictive validity of the unstable elevated exposed plus-maze, a behavioural model of extreme anxiety in rats: differential effects of fluoxetine and chlordiazepoxide. Behav Pharmacol 13:525–535
- Kahn RJ, McNair DM, Frankenthaler LM (1987) Tricyclic treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. J Affect Disord 13:145–151
- Katon WJ (2006) Panic disorder. N Engl J Med 354:2360–2367
- Keeney AJ, Hogg S (1999) Behavioural consequences of repeated social defeat in the mouse: preliminary evaluation of a potential animal model of depression. Behav Pharmacol 10:753–764
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005) Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:593–602
- Lightowler S, Kennett GA, Williamson IJ, Blackburn TP, Tulloch IF (1994) Anxiolytic-like effect of paroxetine in a rat social interaction test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 49:281–285
- Lissek S, Levenson J, Biggs AL, Johnson LL, Ameli R, Pine DS, Grillon C (2008) Elevated fear conditioning to socially relevant unconditioned stimuli in social anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 165:124–132
- Liston C, McEwen BS, Casey BJ (2009) Psychosocial stress reversibly disrupts prefrontal processing and attentional control. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:912–917
- Liston C, Miller MM, Goldwater DS, Radley JJ, Rocher AB, Hof PR, Morrison JH, McEwen BS (2006) Stress-induced alterations in prefrontal cortical dendritic morphology predict selective impairments in perceptual attentional set-shifting. J Neurosci 26:7870–7874
- Lydiard RB, Morton WA, Emmanuel NP, Zealberg JJ, Laraia MT, Stuart GW, O'Neil PM, Ballenger JC (1993) Preliminary report: placebo-controlled, double-blind study of the clinical and metabolic effects of desipramine in panic disorder. Psychopharmacol Bull 29:183–188
- Malatynska E, Rapp R, Harrawood D, Tunnicliff G (2005) Submissive behavior in mice as a test for antidepressant drug activity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 82:306–313
- Manfro GG, Otto MW, McArdle ET, Worthington JJ III, Rosenbaum JF, Pollack MH (1996) Relationship of antecedent stressful life events to childhood and family history of anxiety and the course of panic disorder. J Affect Disord 41:135–139
- Marshall RD, Beebe KL, Oldham M, Zaninelli R (2001) Efficacy and safety of paroxetine treatment for chronic PTSD: a fixed-dose, placebo- controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 158:1982–1988
- McNaughton N, Kocsis B, Hajos M (2007) Elicited hippocampal theta rhythm: a screen for anxiolytic and procognitive drugs through changes in hippocampal function? Behav Pharmacol 18:329–346
- Mitchell PJ (2005) Antidepressant treatment and rodent aggressive behaviour. Eur J Pharmacol 526:147–162
- Mongeau R, de Montigny C, Blier P (1994) Electrophysiologic evidence for desensitization of alpha 2-adrenoceptors on serotonin terminals following long-term treatment with drugs increasing norepinephrine synaptic concentration. Neuropsychopharmacology 10:41–51
- Montgomery SA, Nil R, Dürr-Pal N, Loft H, Boulenger JP (2005) A 24-week randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of escitalopram for the prevention of generalized social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 66:1270–1278
- Nagatani T, Yamamoto T, Sugihara T, Ueki S (1987) The effect of agonists at the GABAbenzodiazepine receptor complex on the duration of immobility of mice in the forced swimming test. Eur J Pharmacol 142:17–22
- Nakao T, Nakagawa A, Yoshiura T, Nakatani E, Nabeyama M, Yoshizato C, Kudoh A, Tada K, Yoshioka K, Kawamoto M, Togao O, Kanba S (2005) Brain activation of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder during neuropsychological and symptom provocation tasks

before and after symptom improvement: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Biol Psychiatry 57:901–910

- Nevin JA, Grace RC, Holland S, McLean AP (2001) Variable-ratio versus variable-interval schedules: Response rate, resistance to change, and preference. J Exp Anal Behav 76:43–74
- Nutt DJ, Bell CJ, Malizia AL (1998) Brain mechanisms of social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 59(Suppl 17):4–11
- Olié JP, Kasper S (2007) Efficacy of agomelatine, a MT1/MT2 receptor agonist with 5-HT2C antagonistic properties, in major depressive disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 10:661–673
- Pollack MH, Lepola U, Koponen H, Simon NM, Worthington JJ, Emilien G, Tzanis E, Salinas E, Whitaker T, Gao B (2007) A double-blind study of the efficacy of venlafaxine extendedrelease, paroxetine, and placebo in the treatment of panic disorder. Depress Anxiety 24:1–14
- Pollak DD, Monje FJ, Zuckerman L, Denny CA, Drew MR, Kandel ER (2008) An animal model of a behavioral intervention for depression. Neuron 60:149–161
- Porsolt RD, Le Pichon M, Jalfre M (1977) Depression: a new animal model sensitive to antidepressant treatments. Nature 266:730–732
- Rickels K, DeMartinis N, Garcia-Espana F (2000) Imipramine and buspirone in treatment of patients with generalized anxiety disorder for discontinuing long-term benzodiazepine therapy. Am J Psychiatry 157:1973–1979
- Rickels K, Downing R, Schweizer E, Hassman H (1993) Antidepressants for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a placebo controlled comparison of imipramine, trazodone, and diazepam. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50:884–895
- Rickels K, Zaninelli R, McCafferty J, Bellew K, Iyengar M, Sheehan D (2003) Paroxetine treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 160:749–756
- Rosenzweig-Lipson S, Beyer CE, Hughes ZA, Khawaja X, Rajarao SJ, Malberg JE, Rahman Z, Ring RH, Schechter LE (2007) Differentiating antidepressants of the future: efficacy and safety. Pharmacol Ther 113:134–153
- Rupp H, Maisch B, Brilla CG (1997) Schedule-induced psychological stress and molecular structures of cardiomyocytes. Am J Physiol 272:R776–R782
- Schneier FR (2006) Social anxiety disorder. N Engl J Med 355:1029-1036
- Schruers K, Koning K, Luermans J, Haack MJ, Griez E (2005) Obsessive-compulsive disorder: a critical review of therapeutic perspectives. Acta Psychiatr Scand 111:261–271
- Sheehan DV, Ballenger J, Jacobsen G (1980) Treatment of endogenous anxiety with phobic, hysterical, and hypochondriacal symptoms. Arch Gen Psychiatry 37:51–59
- Sherman AD, Sacquitne JL, Petty F (1982) Specificity of the learned helplessness model of depression. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 16:449–454
- Simpson HB, Schneier FR, Campeas RB, Marshall RD, Fallon BA, Davies S, Klein DF, Liebowitz MR (1998) Imipramine in the treatment of social phobia. J Clin Psychopharmacol 18:132–135
- Soderpalm B, Hjorth S, Engel JA (1989) Effects of 5-HT1A receptor agonists and L-5-HTP in Montgomery's conflict test. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 32:259–265
- Sokolowski JD, Seiden LS (1999) The behavioral effects of sertraline, fluoxetine, and paroxetine differ on the differential-reinforcement-of-low-rate 72-second operant schedule in the rat. Psychopharmacology 147:153–161
- Stam R (2007) PTSD and stress sensitisation: A tale of brain and body. Part 2: animal models. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:558–584
- Steckler T (2009) Developing small molecule non-peptidergic drugs for the treatment of anxiety disorders – is the challenge still ahead? Curr Top Behav Neurosci. doi:10.1007/7854_2009_14
- Stein DJ, Ahokas AA, de Bodinat C (2008) Efficacy of agomelatine in generalized anxiety disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 28:561–566
- Stein DJ, Ipser JC, Balkom AJ (2004) Pharmacotherapy for social phobia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4:CD001206

- Stein MB, Pollack MH, Bystritsky A, Kelsey JE, Mangano RM (2005) Efficacy of low and higher dose extended-release venlafaxine in generalized social anxiety disorder: a 6-month randomized controlled trial. Psychopharmacology 177:280–288
- Stein MB, Stein DJ (2008) Social anxiety disorder. Lancet 371:1115-1125
- Stenzel-Poore MP, Heinrichs SC, Rivest S, Koob GF, Vale WW (1994) Overproduction of corticotropin-releasing factor in transgenic mice: a genetic model of anxiogenic behavior. J Neurosci 14:2579–2584
- Stocchi F, Nordera G, Jokinen RH, Lepola UM, Hewett K, Bryson H, Iyengar MK (2003) Efficacy and tolerability of paroxetine for the long-term treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 64:250–258
- Szabo ST, Blier P (2001) Serotonin (1A) receptor ligands act on norepinephrine neuron firing through excitatory amino acid and GABA(A) receptors: a microiontophoretic study in the rat locus coeruleus. Synapse 42:203–212
- Szabo ST, de Montigny C, Blier P (1999) Modulation of noradrenergic neuronal firing by selective serotonin reuptake blockers. Br J Pharmacol 126:568–571
- Thiebot MH, Soubrie P, Simon P (1985) Is delay of reward mediated by shock-avoidance behavior a critical target for anti-punishment effects of diazepam in rats? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 87:473–479
- Tsetsenis T, Ma XH, Lo IL, Beck SG, Gross C (2007) Suppression of conditioning to ambiguous cues by pharmacogenetic inhibition of the dentate gyrus. Nat Neurosci 10:896–902
- Uhlenhuth EH, Balter MB, Ban TA, Yang K (1999a) Trends in recommendations for the pharmacotherapy of anxiety disorders by an international expert panel, 1992–1997. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 9(Suppl 6):393–398
- Uhlenhuth EH, Balter MB, Ban TA, Yang K (1999b) International study of expert judgment on therapeutic use of benzodiazepines and other psychotherapeutic medications: IV. Therapeutic dose dependence and abuse liability of benzodiazepines in the long-term treatment of anxiety disorders. J Clin Psychopharmacol 19(Suppl 2):23–29
- van Dijken HH, Tilders FJH, Olivier B, Mos J (1992) Effect of anxiolytic and antidepressant drugs on long-lasting behavioural deficits resulting from one short stress experience in male rats. Psychopharmacology 109:395–402
- Van Gaalen MM (2001) Long-term alterations in the corticotrophin-releasing hormone system: effects on emotional function and attention. PhD thesis, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich, Germany
- Versiani M, Cassano G, Perugi G, Benedetti A, Mastalli L, Nardi A, Savino M (2002) Reboxetine, a selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor, is an effective and well-tolerated treatment for panic disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 63:31–37
- Versiani M, Mundim FD, Nardi AE, Liebowitz MR (1988) Tranylcypromine in social phobia. J Clin Psychopharmacol 8:279–283
- Wettstein JP (1992) 5-HT3 receptor ligands as potential anxiolytics. In: Hamon M (ed) Central and peripheral 5-HT3 receptors. Academic, London, pp 257–274
- Wieland S, Lucki I (1990) Antidepressant-like activity of 5-HT1A agonists measured with the forced swim test. Psychopharmacology 101:497–504
- Wolff MC, Leander JD (2002) Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors decrease impulsive behavior as measured by an adjusting delay procedure in the pigeon. Neuropsychopharmacology 27:421–429
- Zhang Y, Raap DK, Garcia F, Serres F, Ma Q, Battaglia G, Van de Kar LD (2000) Long-term fluoxetine produces behavioral anxiolytic effects without inhibiting neuroendocrine responses to conditioned stress in rats. Brain Res 855:58–66

Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors: Their Therapeutic Potential in Anxiety

Will Spooren, Anne Lesage, Hilde Lavreysen, Fabrizio Gasparini, and Thomas Steckler

Contents

1	Classes of Glutamate Receptors		
2	Group I mGlu Receptor Expression in the Brain	393	
3	mGlu1 Receptors		
	3.1 Selective Tool Compounds	393	
	3.2 Preclinical Efficacy	394	
4	mGlu5	395	
	4.1 Selective Tool Compounds	395	
5	Efficacy in Anxiety	396	
	5.1 Preclinically	396	
	5.2 Clinically	396	
6	Group II mGlu Receptor Expression in the Brain	397	
	6.1 Selective Tool Compounds	398	
7	Efficacy in Anxiety	398	
	7.1 Preclinically	398	
	7.2 Clinically	399	
8	Group III mGlu Receptors	400	
9	Receptor Expression	400	
10	Group III Selective Ligands		
	10.1 The mGlu4 Receptor		
	10.2 The mGlu6 Receptor		
	10.3 The mGlu7 Receptor		
	10.4 The mGlu8 Receptor		
11	Conclusions	405	
Lite	erature	406	

W. Spooren (🖂)

M.B. Stein and T. Steckler (eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment*, 391 Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 2, DOI 10.1007/7854_2010_36, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 3 March 2010

CNS Disease Biology Area, pRED, Building 74/3W308, Basel CH-4070, Switzerland e-mail: will.spooren@roche.com

A. Lesage, H. Lavreysen, and T. Steckler

CNS-Neurosciences, Pharmaceutical Research and Early Development, Beerse Belgium F. Gasparini

Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research Basel, Neuroscience Discovery, Basel Switzerland
Abstract Psychiatric and neurological disorders are linked to changes in synaptic excitatory processes with a key role for glutamate, that is, the most abundant excitatory amino-acid. Molecular cloning of the metabotropic glutamate (mGlu) receptors has led to the identification of eight mGlu receptors, which, in contrast to ligand-gated ion channels (responsible for fast excitatory transmission), modulate and fine-tune the efficacy of synaptic transmission. mGlu receptors are G protein-coupled and constitute a new group of "drugable" targets for the treatment of various CNS disorders. The recent discovery of small molecules that selectively bind to receptors of Groups I (mGlu1 and mGlu5) and II (mGlu2 and mGlu3) allowed significant advances in our understanding of the roles of these receptors in brain function and dysfunction including anxiety. Although investigation of the role of the Group III (mGlu4, 6, 7, and 8) receptors is less advanced, the generation of genetically manipulated animals and recent advances in the identification of subtype-selective compounds have revealed some first insights into the therapeutic potential of this group of receptors.

Keywords Glutamate · Receptors · Metabotropic · Anxiety · Allosteric · Orthosteric

1 Classes of Glutamate Receptors

Glutamate is the most abundant and principle excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain. Glutamate mediates its effects via a limited number of distinct ionotropic glutamate (iGlu) receptors (i.e. NMDA [*N*-methyl-D-aspartate], AMPA [α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-isoxazole-4-propionic acid], and kainate receptors) and via a number of metabotropic glutamate (mGlu) receptors. Eight mGlu receptors have been cloned to date and they are classified into three clusters based on sequence homology, preferred signal transduction pathway, and pharmacology. The Group I (located primarily post-synaptically) includes mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptors, which are coupled via Gq to phospholipase C. The Group II (located primarily presynaptically) receptors include mGlu2 and mGlu3 receptors, and the Group III receptors (located primarily pre-synaptically) includes mGlu4, 6, 7, and 8 receptors. These receptors are coupled to Gi and inhibit stimulated cAMP formation (Schoepp 2001; Schoepp and Conn 2002).

mGlu receptors are characterized by a large extracellular ligand recognition N-terminal domain and a seven transmembrane-spanning (TM) region containing a number of conserved cysteine residues. The extracellular ligand recognition N-terminal domain has a so-called bi-lobed structure, also called the Venus fly-trap. The Venus fly trap can have an open or closed configuration in the absence or presence of an agonist, respectively. Modeling studies have indicated that the N-terminal extracellular domain of the mGlu receptor has structural similarities with bacterial periplasmic binding proteins. Like the bacterial periplasmic binding

proteins, the two globular lobes are linked by a hinge region that allows different conformational positions (open and closed). Upon binding of the agonist within the crevice that separates the two lobes, the flytrap closes and the agonist is thought to stabilize the closed conformation by making bonds with the residues of both lobes (for review see Spooren et al. (2003), Gasparini and Spooren (2007)).

2 Group I mGlu Receptor Expression in the Brain

mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptors are ubiquitously expressed on postsynaptic excitatory terminals in limbic brain regions that are involved in motivational and emotional processes. These regions include the limbic cortex (the subiculum, entorhinal, cingulate, and piriform cortical regions), the hippocampus, the amygdala, the olfactory tubercle, the periaqueductal grey, and the basal ganglia. mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptors are also expressed in thalamus and spinal cord and in periphery in the skin on nerve endings. Although the expression of mGlu1 and mGlu5 are overlapping to a high degree, the level of expression of mGlu5 is consistently higher in various regions as compared to that of mGlu1, with the exception of the cerebellum (Shigemoto and Mizuno 2000).

3 mGlu1 Receptors

3.1 Selective Tool Compounds

CPCCOEt was the first non-glutamate allosteric antagonist described for the mGlu1 receptor. This compound was useful to investigate the role of the mGlu1 subtype in vitro and the characterization of the allosteric binding site located in the TM domain. However, its limited potency and lack of bioavailability and brain penetration did not allow for a broad use in vivo. A more potent compound BAY36-7620 (Carroll et al. 2001) was subsequently described to interact at the same allosteric binding site and to inhibit the receptor's constitutive activity (Lavreysen et al. 2003). The improved in vivo properties of BAY36-7620 have allowed the detection of an early signal for analgesic and anticonvulsant effects. Further improvement was achieved with the identification of JNJ-16259685 (3,4-dihydro-2*H*-pyrano[2,3] b-quinolin-7-ylcis-4-methoxycyclohexyl ketone; Lavreysen et al. 2004a, b), the first highly potent, selective, and systemically active mGlu1 allosteric antagonist. This compound shows high affinity for the rat mGlu1 receptor (Ki value of 0.34 nM) and high potency to inhibit glutamate-induced increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations at the rat mGlu1 receptor (IC₅₀ value 3.24 nM). JNJ-16259685 has about a 400-fold selectivity for the mGlu1 vs. the mGlu5 receptor as measured in Ca²⁺ mobilization assays. JNJ-16259685 shows good brain penetration; it

occupies mGlu1 receptors in the cerebellum, with an ED₅₀ of 0.04 mg/kg s.c. Several structurally related analogs of JNJ-16259685 have been described, of which JNJ-16567083 (3-ethyl-2-methylquinolin-6-yl *cis*-4-methoxycyclohexyl ketone) has been used most frequently for in vivo studies. Recently, pharmacological properties for the mGlu1 antagonists A-841720 (9-dimethylamino-3-(*N*-hexamethyleneiminyl)-3*H*-5-thia-1,3,6-triazafluoren-4-one), FTIDC (4-[1-(2-fluoropyridine-3-yl)-5-methyl-1*H*-1,2,3-triazol-4-yl]-*N*-isopropyl-*N*-methyl-3,6-dihydropyridine-1(2*H*)-carboxamide), and CFMTI (2-cyclopropyl-5-[1-(2-fluoro-3-pyridinyl)-5-methyl-1*H*-1,2,3-triazol-4-yl]-2,3-dihydro-1*H*-isoindol-1-one) were reported (El-Kouhen et al. 2006; Suzuki et al. 2007a, b). These compounds also have nanomolar activity and excellent selectivity for rat mGlu1 and were shown to be active in vivo. For a more comprehensive overview of the pharmacological properties of these mGlu1 receptor antagonists, we refer to a recent review.

3.2 Preclinical Efficacy

Disturbances in the neurotransmission by GABA and glutamate play a major role in the pathophysiology of anxiety, and accordingly GABA-A channel modulators and inhibitors of the NMDA receptor have shown anxiolytic-like activity in preclinical models and humans (Johnson et al. 2008; Priolo et al. 1991; Bittencourt et al. 2004; Engin and Treit 2008). The modulation of mGlu1 has been considered as an attractive target for the treatment of anxiety for several reasons. First, mGlu1 receptors are expressed in several regions involved in anxiety, for example, hippocampus, hypothalamus, periaqueductal gray, and amygdala (Simonyi et al. 2005; Lavreysen et al. 2004a; Testa et al. 1994; Shigemoto et al. 1992). Second, mGlu1 receptor antagonists are known to inhibit NMDA receptor activity (Heidinger et al. 2002; Salt and Binns 2000) and to increase GABA release (Battaglia et al. 2001; Pellegrini-Giampietro et al. 1999; Cozzi et al. 2002). Hence, it was hypothesized that mGlu1 antagonists may provide anxiolytic-like activity without evoking the side effects observed with direct GABA modulators (physical dependence, tolerance, psychomotor, and cognitive impairment) or NMDA antagonists (psychotomimetic effects and neurotoxicity).

Anxiolytic-like activities of mGlu1 receptor antagonists have been documented in a variety of animal models, for example, the lick suppression test (Steckler et al. 2005; Varty et al. 2005; Lima et al. 2008; Klodzinska et al. 2004; Tatarczynska et al. 2001), the maternal deprivation-induced ultrasonic vocalization test (Satow et al. 2008), the stress-induced hyperthermia model (Satow et al. 2008; Rorick-Kehn et al. 2005), the ethanol withdrawal-induced anxiogenic-like behavior (Kotlinska and Bochenski 2008) and the isolation-induced aggression model (Navarro et al. 2008).

Several studies have also illustrated effects of mGlu1 receptor antagonists on fear memory (Gil-Sanz et al. 2008; Nielsen et al. 1997; Gravius et al. 2005, 2006; Maciejak et al. 2008; Nadlewska et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2007; Simonyi et al. 2007).

The models used are based on aversive stimuli, and a fear response is acquired by associative learning.

However, data derived from mGlu1 receptor knockout (KO) mice have suggested that inhibition of mGlu1 receptor-mediated signaling may induce cognitive impairments in hippocampal-dependent learning and memory processes (Conquet et al. 1994; Aiba et al. 1994). Data on long-term potentiation (LTP) in mGlu1 KO mice, albeit inconsistent, have created further concerns (Silva 2003; Aiba et al. 1994; Hsia et al. 1995; Conquet et al. 1994; Bordi 1996). It is well established that mGlu1 receptors are required for NMDA- and AMPA-mediated LTP in certain synapses (although probably not in all; Anwyl 2009), which may explain their effects on cognitive types of behavior. In line with the above mentioned observations, mGlu1 receptor antagonists have been shown to impair processes involved in fear memory formation. Acquisition, consolidation and extinction of aversive or fear learning were attenuated by mGlu1 receptor antagonists (Gil-Sanz et al. 2008; Nielsen et al. 1997; Gravius et al. 2005, 2006; Maciejak et al. 2008; Nadlewska et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2007; Simonyi et al. 2007). Although these effects could be explained in the context of cognitive impairment and regarded as a side effect, the behavior assessed in these models is also associated with an expectation of potential danger that characterizes anxiety and fear. Clearly both cognitive and anxiety components are present in these models and anxiolytic-like activity of mGlu1 antagonists will affect the behavioral readout.

4 mGlu5

4.1 Selective Tool Compounds

The first subtype-selective mGlu5 receptor antagonists reported were SIB1757 and SIB1893 with IC₅₀ values of 3.7 and 3.5 μ M, respectively, in the inositol phosphate (IP) accumulation assay. Shortly after, 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) was described, a 100-fold more potent antagonist derived from chemical variation of SIB1893 with reasonable PK, oral bioavailable, and in vivo activity. At human and rat mGlu5 receptors MPEP inhibits quisqualate-stimulated IP production with IC₅₀ values of 36 and 17.9 nM, respectively, but has no significant agonist or antagonist activities at cells expressing other mGlu receptors up to 10 μ M. It was shown that MPEP acts as a noncompetitive antagonist that inhibits mGlu5 receptor function and binds in the TM region, without affecting the binding of glutamate to the extracellular region. In cells overexpressing mGlu5 receptors, MPEP also inhibits constitutive activity of the receptor, suggesting that MPEP acts as an inverse agonist (for review please see Gasparini and Spooren (2007), Gasparini et al. (2008), Jaeschke et al. (2008)).

5 Efficacy in Anxiety

5.1 Preclinically

The anxiolytic-like properties of mGlu5 receptor antagonists are well documented and replicated in academic and industrial settings. These antagonists have activities in a wide range of conditioned (Vogel conflict, Geller Seifter, conditioned emotional response, fear potentiated startle, and four plate test) and nonconditioned (elevated plus maze, stress-induced hyperthermia, marble burying, and social exploration) anxiety tests. Aside from benzodiazepine agonists, mGlu5 receptor antagonists are the only class of compounds to have such a robust preclinical efficacy profile. The downstream pathways responsible for this anxiolytic-like effect are not fully elucidated. However, it is established that the anxiolytic-like effects are not mediated through GABAergic systems, but may relate to processes that depend on systems in the amygdala, such as neuropeptide Y, or prefrontal systems involving serotonin and noradrenaline. Importantly, mGlu5 receptors are a critical factor in fear memory formation, and also in conditioned emotional states in adverse conditions, such as (chronic) pain, that is, processes that again are highly dependent on amygdala functions (for review please see Spooren and Gasparini (2004), Gasparini et al. (2008), Jaeschke et al. (2008)).

5.2 Clinically

During a functional high-throughput screening at Hoffmann-La Roche's smallmolecule library for mGlu5 modulators, fenobam was identified as a potent noncompetitive non-MPEP-like allosteric modulator of mGlu5 receptors. Fenobam (McN-3377) was originally developed as a nonbenzodiazepine anxiolytic (by McNeil Laboratories, 1978–1982), with an unknown molecular target (Porter et al. 2005). In preclinical studies, fenobam was reported to be active in rat models of anxiety (conflict tasks including Geller-Seifter and Vogel; Patel et al. 1982), and this activity was not blocked by a benzodiazepine antagonist (Goldberg et al. 1983). In a double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial, fenobam had an efficacy and onset of action comparable with diazepam (HAM-A/HSRC/HAM-D) (Pecknold et al. 1982). Additionally, fenobam has been reported to be active in outpatients with severe anxiety and in a single blind study (Lapierre and Oyewumi 1982). In all three studies, fenobam was reported to have a good safety profile with lack of sedation, muscle relaxation, and no interaction with ethanol, further supporting a mechanism of action that is distinct from GABA-ergic potentiation. However, fenobam has also been reported to be inactive in one phase II outpatient trial where side effects of a psychostimulant nature were reported (Friedman et al. 1980). At the time, fenobam was discontinued from further development as an anxiolytic, with indications that the molecule required further refinement (Friedman et al. 1980; Wu et al. 1995).

Addex Pharmaceuticals studied ADX10059, an MPEP derivative, in a small Phase IIa study in patients with dental anxiety. The study was a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial conducted at specialist centers. It included 50 patients with moderately severe dental anxiety that underwent a routine dental procedure. Anxiety was measured at specific time points before, during, and after the procedure by using a subjective rating scale, called the Visual Analog Scale of anxiety (VAS anxiety). Skin conductance, an objective measure of the physiological response to stress and patient ratings of study medication effectiveness, was also collected. ADX10059 did not reduce acute anticipatory anxiety in this study; however, signs of anxiolytic activity were observed in the trial. Although the differences were not statistically significant, patients in the ADX10059 group had lower increases in skin conductance at all time points from 30 min post dose, suggesting a lower level of stress. In addition, patients rated ADX10059 as more effective, with 56% rating it as "good" or "excellent" compared to 30% of those who received placebo. ADX10059 was generally well tolerated in the study and there were no serious adverse events (Addex press release). In conclusion, to date the clinical data on mGlu5 do not confirm the broad anxiolytic profile seen in animal models and in patients with fenobam. However, given the limited number of patients involved and the acute treatment design, it does not preclude that mGluR5 antagonists have potential in other forms of anxiety.

6 Group II mGlu Receptor Expression in the Brain

Group II mGlu receptors (mGlu2 and 3) are negatively coupled to adenylate cyclase activation and modulation of ion channels (Brauner-Osborne et al. 2007). Like the Group I mGlu receptors, they are widely expressed in limbic brain regions, including the limbic cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, and basal ganglia. Both Group II mGlu receptors are preferentially presynaptically expressed. mGlu2 expression seems to be more restricted to neurons, while mGlu3 receptors are also expressed in glial cells (Janssens and Lesage 2001). Presynaptically, Group II mGlu receptor expression is found at the pre-terminal portion of the axon, that is, outside the active zone of glutamate release. Presynaptic activation, presumably from spillover of glutamate after synaptic release, acts as a negative feedback signal, that is, it leads to the reduction in glutamate release (Shigemoto et al. 1997). Glial mGlu3 receptors may be involved in inflammatory responses and neuroprotection. Anxiety has been suggested to be associated with enhanced glutamatergic transmission in brain areas such as prefrontal cortex and amygdala. Hence, activation of presynaptic Group II mGlu receptors, which is known to reduce glutamate release, may provide anxiolytic effects (Swanson et al. 2005). Interestingly, Group II mGlu receptors also seem an interesting target for the development of new antipsychotic drugs (Patil et al. 2007), although this is beyond the scope of this chapter.

6.1 Selective Tool Compounds

A limited number of potent, mixed mGlu2/3 receptor orthosteric agonists have been reported, such as eglumetad (LY354740), a structurally constrained analogue of glutamate that competes with endogenous glutamate for its binding site (orthosteric site). The anxiolytic-like properties of this compound were tested in both preclinical and clinical studies (see below); however, broad utilization of eglumetad was limited due to its modest oral bioavailability and brain penetration (Rorick-Kehn et al. 2007). A prodrug strategy that led to the identification of Talaglumetad (LY544344), an L-alanylamide prodrug of eglumetad, allowed to significantly improve the biodisponibility compared to eglumatad (Rorick-Kehn et al. 2006). Talaglumetad was tested in phase II in patients with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) (see below), but further development was suspended because of toxicity (convulsions) in preclinical rat studies (Dunayevich et al. 2008).

Using mGlu2 or mGlu3 receptor KO mice, it was shown that the anxiolytic-like activity of eglumetad was absent in either type of knockout (Linden et al. 2005), suggesting that both receptor subtypes would be of relevance. In contrast, there is preclinical evidence from studies with KO mice suggesting that the mGlu2 receptor may be of more relevance for the mediation of psychosis-related behavior than the mGlu3 receptor (Spooren et al. 2000, 2002; Fell et al. 2008; Woolley et al. 2008), while neuroprotective effects of mGlu2/3 receptor agonism is abolished in mGlu3 KO mice (Corti et al. 2007). However, the true therapeutic relevance of mGlu2 vs. mGlu3 receptor activation in the clinic remains elusive due to the lack of subtypeselective, orthosteric Group II mGlu receptor agonists. In fact, the high sequence homology in the orthosteric binding sites of the mGlu2 and mGlu3 receptor made it very unlikely to discover orthosteric agonists that would be selective for one or the other subtype. An alternative strategy, aiming at selectively targeting the mGlu2 receptor, is the targeting of allosteric sites with agents acting as positive modulators (PAMs). These compounds do not activate the mGlu2 receptor at the orthosteric binding site, but bind to an allosteric site located in the TM domain of the receptor, which is different from the glutamate binding site, and facilitate the effects of glutamate at the receptor. Prototypical mGlu2 PAMs are LY487379 (Johnson et al. 2003) and BINA (Galici et al. 2006), also showing anxiolytic-like activity in animals.

7 Efficacy in Anxiety

7.1 Preclinically

There is substantial preclinical evidence supporting a role of Group II mGlu receptors in the modulation of anxiety-related behavior. Eglumetad (LY354740) has anxiolytic-like effects in a number of anxiety tests in rodents, including

fear-potentiated startle (Tizzano et al. 2002; Walker et al. 2002), the elevated plus maze (Ferris et al. 2001; Linden et al. 2004, 2005; Monn et al. 1997; Schlumberger et al. 2009), in a rat model of panic-related behavior (Shekhar and Keim 2000), the Vogel conflict test (Tatarczynska et al. 2001), fear-induced suppression of operant responding (Rorick-Kehn et al. 2006), and stress-induced hyperthermia (Rorick-Kehn et al. 2005; Spooren et al. 2002; see also Spooren et al. 2002, 2003; Swanson et al. 2005; Witkin et al. 2007, for reviews). Some of these behavioral effects seem to be regulated at the level of the amygdala (Walker et al. 2002) and hippocampus (Tatarczynska et al. 2001). Likewise, fear-induced suppression of operant responding was reversed by talaglumetad, and the prodrug seemed to be more efficacious than eglumetad (Rorick-Kehn et al. 2006).

Anxiolytic-like effects were also seen in rats treated with the mGlu2 PAM LY487379 in fear-potentiated startle (Johnson et al. 2003), and with BINA in the elevated plus maze and in stress-induced hyperthermia (Galici et al. 2006), suggesting that at least part of these effects are mediated via stimulation of the mGlu2 receptor. Moreover, these findings indicate that both orthosteric and allosteric modulators of the mGlu2 receptor may hold potential for the treatment of anxiety disorders in man.

Not much is known about the specific role of the mGlu3 receptor in the mediation of anxiety-related behavior. However, the finding that eglumetad lost efficacy in mGlu3 receptor KO mice (Linden et al. 2005) would suggest that this receptor also plays a role in this type of behavior.

7.2 Clinically

The anxiolytic potential of eglumetad (LY354740) was first revealed in healthy volunteers, showing activity in fear-potentiated startle (Grillon et al. 2003). Likewise, evidence for anxiolytic effects was reported in a small study with talaglumetad in healthy volunteers on CCK-4 induced panic and anxiety symptoms, although these effects reached significance only after exclusion of two subjects that did not show decreased CCK-4-induced ACTH release (Kellner et al. 2005). Similarly in a small trial involving panic disorder patients, eglumetad significantly reduced the responses to CO_2 challenge compared to placebo (Levine et al. 2002, Schoepp et al. 2003).

In contrast, eglumetad failed to reduce the number of patients having panic attacks in the final 3 weeks of the treatment or to improve the outcome on Panic Disorder Severity Scale in a small, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial, which was part of a larger, multicenter phase II study (Bergink and Westernberg 2005). In this study, the number of patients analyzed were low, and paroxetine, used as positive control, also failed to demonstrate a positive result, rendering this study inconclusive.

A first human trial on GAD showed significantly greater improvement from baseline in Hamilton Anxiety (HAMA) and Clinical Global Impression Improvement (CGI-I) scores, as well as response and remission rates in eglumetad-treated patients compared with placebo-treated patients (Michelson et al. 2005, Dunayevich et al. 2008). These positive effects were confirmed with talaglumetad, the prodrug of eglumetad, in a smaller but longer GAD trial (8 weeks instead of 5 weeks), which at the highest dose tested demonstrated significant improvement in the HAMA and CGI-I scales over placebo-treated patients. The trial was, however, discontinued in an early stage because of convulsions in preclinical safety studies (Dunayevich et al. 2008).

In all clinical studies, eglumetad and talaglumetad demonstrated a favorable side effect profile compared to the active controls used (lorazepam or paroxetine).

Taken together, the reported clinical evaluations of the mGlu2/3 agonist eglumetad or its prodrug talaglumetad clearly support the hypothesis that activation of the mGlu2/3 receptor is associated with anxiolytic efficacy and confirm the results obtained in preclinical models. However, the identification of the precise therapeutic potential of this mechanism of action will require additional clinical investigations. Given the preclinical safety issues identified with talaglumetad, the recently identified PAMs might constitute a valuable development alternative to maintain mGlu2 activating effects while avoiding the unfavorable properties (low bioavailability, preclinical safety; Johnson et al. 2003, Galici et al. 2006).

8 Group III mGlu Receptors

Similar to the other mGlu receptor groups, Group III mGlu receptors share about 60%–70% protein sequence similarity. For all four Group III receptors several splice variants have been identified, all of which result from alternative splicing at the level of the C-terminus. Activation of mGlu4, 6, 7, and 8 receptors recruit G_i proteins, leading to decreased levels of intracellular cAMP. While the availability of in vitro and in vivo tools for the Groups I and II receptors has facilitated the elucidation of their roles within the CNS, the role of the members of the Group III receptor family is less understood because of the lack of suitable subtype-specific compounds.

Group III mGlu receptors are generally expressed on presynaptic sites in the brain, where their activation can depress both glutamate and GABA release (Schoepp 2001). More studies with subtype-selective agents are awaited to further fine tune their precise role in the modulation of excitatory and inhibitory neuro-transmission.

9 Receptor Expression

mGlu4 receptors are most prominently expressed in the cerebellum, but can also be found in other brain and spinal regions to some degree (Ferraguti and Shigemoto 2006). Mostly, the receptor is found at presynaptic sites, but postsynaptic

localization both in glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons has been reported (Bradley et al. 1999). Interestingly, a mGlu4 receptor variant, exclusively expressed in taste tissues and lacking about half of the N-terminus, has been suggested to be involved in "umami" taste sensation to monosodium glutamate (Chaudhari et al. 2000; Dingledine and Conn 2000).

The mGlu6 receptor has been the least studied Group III receptor in terms of its therapeutic potential for psychiatry, largely since it is mainly expressed in the retina and only low levels have been found in the brain (Nakajima et al. 1993; Shigemoto et al. 1997; Janssens and Lesage 2001). The mGlu7 receptor is highly expressed throughout the forebrain, brainstem, and spinal cord (Bradley et al. 1996; Corti et al. 1998; Kinoshita et al. 1998). The more widespread distribution of the mGlu7 receptor compared to other presynaptic mGlu receptors may indicate a more prominent role in normal regulation of synaptic glutamate and/or a role as "emergency" autoreceptor in case of high (pathophysiological) synaptic glutamate levels. Expression of the mGlu8 receptor is most pronounced in the olfactory bulb, hippocampus, cerebellum, and mammilary body (Duvoisin et al. 1995; Saugstad et al. 1997). The mGlu8 receptor has been located outside the CNS as well (Hoang and Hay 2001; Tong et al. 2002; Tong and Kirchgessner 2003).

10 Group III Selective Ligands

Unraveling the specific functions of individual type III receptors has proven difficult, because of the lack of subtype-selective compounds. As a consequence, preclinical data that support the use of specific mGlu4, 6, 7, or 8 ligands for the treatment of anxiety are still limited. Initial in vivo tests were performed using ligands that are selective over other mGlu receptors but with limited discrimination between the various Group III receptors (Group III selective ligands). The prototypic Group III agonist is L-AP4, a ω-phosphonic acid isostere of glutamate that shows low micromolar potencies at mGlu4, 6, and 8 receptors. Other Group III selective agonists include L-SOP, (R,S)-PPG, L-CCG-I, and ACPT-I (Wu et al. 1998; Wright et al. 2000; De Colle et al. 2000). While systemic administration of these compounds is hampered by their poor blood-brain-barrier penetration, intrahippocampal or intra-amygdala injections have indicated anxiolytic-like behavior by some of these compounds in a number of paradigms such as the Vogel conflict drinking test or the elevated plus maze. Group III selective antagonists include MSOP, CPPG, and MPPG (Han and Hampson 1999; Wright et al. 2000). MSOP and CPPG have also been shown to produce anxiolytic effects in Vogel's conflict drinking test in rats, although this seems to be dependent on the applied route of administration (Chojnacka-Wojcik et al. 1996; Stachowicz et al. 2006). While these initial data provided a first hint that regulation of excitability via Group III mGlu receptors may play a role in diminishing anxious behavior, it remained difficult to determine which individual subtype was responsible for these effects. The contrasting data between Group III agonists and antagonists moreover suggested that this behavior can be influenced by different receptors expressed within different synapses.

10.1 The mGlu4 Receptor

10.1.1 Specific Tool Compounds

Although ACPT-I and (R, S)-PPG are relatively selective for mGlu4 and 8 over the other Group III receptors, there are no reports on specific mGlu4 receptor agonists. (-)-PHCCC is an mGlu4 receptor PAM (EC₅₀ 6 μ M when applied together with L-AP4) with limited selectivity (Maj et al. 2003; Marino et al. 2003; Beqollari and Kammermeier 2008). Novel and more potent mGlu4 receptor-specific PAMs, among which VU015504 (with a potency of about 800 and 700 nM at human and rat mGlu4 receptors, respectively), have recently been identified (Niswender et al. 2008; Engers et al. 2009).

10.1.2 Preclinical Efficacy

In vivo data using (-)-PHCCC and VU015504 indicate that the mGlu4 receptor may be a promising new target for Parkinson's disease (Marino et al. 2003; Battaglia et al. 2006; Niswender et al. 2008). Although (-)-PHCCC seems to act as an anxiolytic in the Vogel test after intra-amygdala or intrahippocampal injection in rats (Stachowicz et al. 2006), in vivo data with specific mGlu4 receptor compounds in models of anxiety are not available to date. Hence, there is so far no clear indication that mGlu4 receptors may be involved in this disease.

10.2 The mGlu6 Receptor

10.2.1 Specific Tool Compounds

(R, S)-homoAMPA is identified as the first and only selective mGlu6 receptor agonist (Brauner-Osborne et al. 1996).

10.2.2 Preclinical Efficacy

When given intrahippocampally, (R,S)-homoAMPA produces anxiolytic-like effects in the conflict drinking test (Palucha et al. 2004). Since activity is observed only at very high doses (250 nmol/rat), and given the predominant expression of the mGlu6 receptor in the retina, the role of the mGlu6 receptor in the mechanisms

responsible for anxiolytic-like effects seems, however, to be minor. Likely, the prime role of this receptor entails visual signal transduction (Masu et al. 1995).

10.3 The mGlu7 Receptor

10.3.1 Specific Tool Compounds

AMN082 is the only mGlu7 receptor-specific agonist found to date. In vitro, in mGlu7 receptor-expressing cells, it inhibits forskolin-induced cAMP accumulation with an EC_{50} of 64 nM (Mitsukawa et al. 2005). Recently, mGlu7 receptor-specific allosteric antagonists have been identified (Suzuki et al. 2007a, b). MMPIP is a relatively potent (26 nM in a Ca²⁺ mobilization assay using rat mGlu7 receptor-expressing cells, and 220 or 610 nM in a cAMP assay on the rat and human mGlu7 receptor, respectively) and selective mGlu7 receptor antagonist and represents a promising tool for elucidating mGlu7 receptor function in vivo.

10.3.2 Preclinical Efficacy

AMN082 (6 mg/kg, p.o.) increases plasma corticosterone and ACTH levels in wildtype but not in mGlu7 KO mice (Mitsukawa et al. 2005). AMN082 is also reported to be active at 5 mg/kg p.o. in stress-induced hyperthermia as well as in a social interaction test in rats¹. Systemic administration of AMN082 (20 mg/kg p.o.) has been shown to facilitate the extinction of aversive memories in fear-potentiated startle and conditioned tasteaversion (Fendt et al. 2008).

While data with AMN082 would suggest the use of mGlu7 receptor agonists for treating anxiety and posttraumatic stress disorders, likely via a decrease in glutamatergic transmission in key brain regions, data gathered with mGlu7 KO mice suggest that inhibition of mGlu7 receptors may be of value, presumably via the control of GABA release. Data from forced swim, tail suspension, light–dark box, stress-induced hyperthermia, elevated plus maze, marble burying, and staircase test indicate that mGlu7 inactivation induces an antidepressant and anxiolytic-like phenotype (Cryan et al. 2003; Callaerts-Vegh et al. 2006). Ablation of the mGlu7 receptor also results in specific changes in key regulators of the HPA axis, in a direction opposite to that found in human depression or following chronic stress (Mitsukawa et al. 2006). To unravel the apparent discrepancies between behavioral effects seen in mGlu7 KO mice and wild-type mice treated with AMN082, it will be crucial to assess the in vivo effects of mGlu7 receptor antagonists. Evaluation

¹Abstract from 5th International Meeting on Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors.

of mGlu7 receptor blockade for the treatment of psychiatric illnesses should, however, also include an assessment of pro-convulsant liability and cognitive dysfunction as it has been shown that mGlu7 receptor gene disruption predisposes to epilepsy (Sansig et al. 2001) and results in deficits in long-term potentiation and working memory (Callaerts-Vegh et al. 2006; Bushell et al. 2002; Holscher et al. 2004, 2005).

10.4 The mGlu8 Receptor

10.4.1 Specific Tool Compounds

Like for all Group III receptors, there is a lack of specific mGlu8 receptor ligands. To date, (S)-3,4-DCPG represents the most selective tool compound for the mGlu8 receptor. It is an orthosteric mGlu8 receptor agonist (potency of \sim 30 nM and \sim 100-to 200-fold selectivity vs. other Group III receptors; Thomas et al. 2001). No specific mGlu8 receptor antagonists or PAMs have been reported.

10.4.2 Preclinical Efficacy

(S)-3,4-DCPG's amino acid-like structure and hence poor permeability through the blood-brain-barrier makes it less suited as in vivo tool compound; thus, data generated with this compound should be interpreted with care. In rats treated with high doses of (S)-3,4-DCPG (100 mg/kg, i.p.), c-fos expression is induced in stressrelated brain regions (Linden et al. 2003). (S)-3,4-DCPG induces an anxiolytic effect in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm in rats after central application (30-300 nmol; Schmid and Fendt 2006) as well as in stress-induced hyperthermia in mice after systemic application (30 and 60 mg/kg, i.p.; Rorick-Kehn et al. 2005). The compound has no effect in the Vogel conflict drinking test in rats after injection into the amygdala/hippocampal CA1 region (up to 10 nmol/rat) (Stachowicz et al. 2005). Data from genetically manipulated animals lacking the mGlu8 receptor strengthen a role of this receptor in anxiety-related disorders. mGlu8 receptor KO mice exhibit increased anxiety-related behavior in an open field (Duvoisin et al. 2005; Robbins et al. 2007) and elevated plus maze paradigm (Duvoisin et al. 2005; Linden et al. 2002). Absence of the mGlu8 receptor also diminishes exploratory behavior in a novel enclosed environment (Duvoisin et al. 2005). Collectively, these data support the hypothesis that increasing mGlu8 receptor activity either by agonists or PAMs may be a promising alternative for treating anxiety disorders. The mechanism of action is not well understood so far; evaluation of the mGlu8 receptor as a disease target using better tool compounds is therefore awaited.

11 Conclusions

In spite of the significant advances achieved in the past two decades on the understanding of brain physiology of stress and fear, the pathological dysfunctions underlying anxiety and the associated disorders remain elusive. As a consequence, the discovery and development of agents acting via mechanisms different from the serotonin transmission pathway has been largely unsuccessful.

Among the different mechanisms of action investigated, the glutamate pathway has been evaluated first using agents acting at the iGlu receptors, but their use was hampered due to their limited therapeutic index. The identification of the mGlu receptor subfamily and the discovery of selective agents acting at the different subtypes significantly enhanced the preclinical and clinical evaluation of the role of glutamate in anxiety.

The most significant advance in the field has been achieved with eglumetad and its prodrug talaglumetad, an agonist of the mGlu2/3 subtypes developed by Eli Lilly. Both agents showed a broad anxiolytic like profile in numerous rodent models for anxiety without the notorious side effects of the established anxiolytic drugs benzodiazepines. Remarkably, the preclinical profile could be confirmed clinically first in healthy subjects (antistress, antifear) and subsequently in generalized anxiety patients with either eglumetad or talaglumetad. Furthermore, the broad therapeutic index identified preclinically was also confirmed in the clinic. Unfortunately, the GAD trial with alaglumetad was stopped due to preclinical safety findings, and no further development has been reported to date. Overall, the activation of the mGlu2/3 receptor has proven to have the potential to be developed into an anxiolytic therapeutic with an improved side effect profile compared to the established therapies. In light of the multiple failures or equivocal results reported with investigative new mechanisms, the positive results with Group II agonists constitute a remarkable success in the process of identifying and validating new therapeutic approaches to anxiety.

For the Group I mGluRs, modulation of the mGluR5 subtype with a variety of selective noncompetitive antagonists showed a broad preclinical efficacy in a number of different animal models for anxiety. Additional support for the mechanism of action came indirectly from the clinical evaluation of fenobam and the anxiolytic effects seen in four out of the five clinical trials reported. As for the eglumetad and talaglumetad, the anxiolytic effects were achieved without the typical side effects of benzodiazepines, such as sedation or muscle relaxation; however, some side effects of psycho stimulant nature were reported and led to the discontinuation of the development of fenobam. The recent negative results reported for the novel agent ADX10059 (Addex Pharmaceuticals) do not allow to confirm the broad anxiolytic profile seen in animal models and in patients with fenobam. However, given the limited number of patients involved and the acute treatment design does not preclude that mGluR5 antagonists have potential in other forms of anxiety, which would require a longer duration of treatment. In contrast to the advances achieved with the mGluR5 antagonists, the mGluR1 antagonists,

which also showed anxiolytic-like effects in animals, were not developed further. The reason might rely on the perceived limited therapeutic window, in particular for cognitive function. The effect of mGlu1 antagonists on cognitive performance are documented especially for fear memory in aversively motivated tasks. In these tests, anxiolytic-like activity of the compounds may have affected the behavioral readout. Reports on working memory in positively reinforced models are inconsistent and do not allow a final conclusions. For the Group III mGlus, the development relies significantly behind the Groups I and II, presumably because of the absence of selective agents with adequate pharmaceutical properties. Therefore, the identification and the validation of potential therapeutic use of Group III mGlus was strongly impaired and relied mainly on mouse mutants and the use of non-optimal tool compounds. The recent progress made in molecular pharmacology and the identification of new agents capable to activate selectively the different subtypes will certainly contribute to further unravel the potential of Group III receptors in anxiety.

Literature

- Aiba A, Chen C, Herrup K, Rosenmund C, Stevens CF, Tonegawa S (1994) Reduced hippocampal long-term potentiation and context-specific deficit in associative learning in mGluR1 mutant mice. Cell 79:365–375
- Anwyl R (2009) Metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term potentiation. Neuropharmacology 56:735–740
- Battaglia G, Bruno V, Pisani A, Centonze D, Vincenza M, Calabresi P, Nicoletti F (2001) Selective blockade of type-1 metabotropic glutamate receptors induces neuroprotection by enhancing gabaergic transmission. Mol Cell Neurosci 17:1071–1083
- Battaglia G, Busceti CL, Molinaro G, Biagioni F, Traficante A, Nicoletti F, Bruno V (2006) Pharmacological activation of mGlu4 metabotropic glutamate receptors reduces nigrostriatal degeneration in mice treated with 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydropyridine. J Neurosci 26:7222–7229
- Beqollari D, Kammermeier PJ (2008) The mGlu(4) receptor allosteric modulator *N*-phenyl-7-(hydroxyimino)cyclopropa[b]chromen-1a-carboxamide acts as a direct agonist at mGlu(6) receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 589:49–52
- Bergink V, Westernberg HGM (2005) Metabotropic glutamate II receptor agonists in panic disorder: a double blind clinical trial with LY354740. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 20:291–293
- Bittencourt AS, Carobrez AP, Zamprogno LP, Tufik S, Schenberg LC (2004) Organization of single components of defensive behaviors within distinct columns of periaqueductal gray matter of the rat: role of *N*-methyl-D-aspartic acid glutamate receptors. Neuroscience 125:74–89
- Bordi F (1996) Reduced long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus of mGlu1 receptor-mutant mice in vivo. Eur J Pharmacol 301:R15–R16
- Bradley SR, Levey AI, Hersch SM, Conn PJ (1996) Immunocytochemical localization of group III metabotropic glutamate receptors in the hippocampus with subtype-specific antibodies. J Neurosci 16:2044–2056
- Bradley SR, Standaert DG, Rhodes KJ, Rees HD, Testa CM, Levey AI, Conn PJ (1999) Immunohistochemical localization of subtype 4a metabotropic glutamate receptors in the rat and mouse basal ganglia. J Comp Neurol 407:33–46

- Brauner-Osborne H, Slok FA, Skjaerbaek N, Ebert B, Sekiyama N, Nakanishi S, Krogsgaard-Larsen P (1996) A new highly selective metabotropic excitatory amino acid agonist: 2-amino-4-(3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazol-4-yl)butyric acid. J Med Chem 39:3188–3194
- Brauner-Osborne H, Wellendorph P, Jensen AA (2007) Structure, pharmacology and therapeutic prospects of family C G-protein coupled receptors. Curr Drug Targets 8:169–184
- Bushell TJ, Sansig G, Collett VJ, van der Putten H, Collingridge GL (2002) Altered short-term synaptic plasticity in mice lacking the metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu7. Scientific World J 2:730–737
- Callaerts-Vegh Z, Beckers T, Ball SM, Baeyens F, Callaerts PF, Cryan JF, Molnar E, D'Hooge R (2006) Concomitant deficits in working memory and fear extinction are functionally dissociated from reduced anxiety in metabotropic glutamate receptor 7-deficient mice. J Neurosci 26:6573–6582
- Carroll FY, Stolle A, Beart PM, Voerste A, Brabet I, Muller F, Joly C, Antonicek H, Bockaert J, Müller T, Pin JP, Prézeau L (2001) BAY36-7620: a potent non-competitive mGlu1 receptor antagonist with inverse agonist activity. Mol Pharmacol 59:965–973
- Chaudhari N, Landin MA, Roper SD (2000) A Metabotropic glutamate receptor variant functions as a taste receptor. Nat Neurosci 3:113–119
- Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Tatarczynska E, Pilc A (1996) Anxiolytic-like effects of metabotropic glutamate antagonist (RS)-alpha-methylserine-O-phosphate in rats. Pol J Pharmacol 48: 507–509
- Conquet F, Bashir ZI, Davies CH, Daniel H, Ferraguti F, Bordi F, Franz-Bacon K, Reggiani A, Matarese V, Condé F, Collingridge GL, Crépel F (1994) Motor deficit and impairment of synaptic plasticity in mice lacking mGluR1. Nature 372:237–243
- Corti C, Restituito S, Rimland JM, Brabet I, Corsi M, Pin JP, Ferraguti F (1998) Cloning and characterization of alternative mRNA forms for the rat metabotropic glutamate receptors mGluR7 and mGluR8. Eur J Neurosci 10:3629–3641
- Corti C, Battaglia G, Molinaro G, Riozzi B, Pittaluga A, Corsi M, Mugnaini M, Nicoletti F, Bruno V (2007) The use of knock-out mice unravels distinct roles for mGlu2 and mGlu3 metabotropic glutamate receptors in mechanisms of neurodegeneration/neuroprotection. J Neurosci 27:8297–8308
- Cozzi A, Meli E, Carlà V, Pellicciari R, Moroni F, Pellegrini-Giampietro DE (2002) Metabotropic glutamate 1 (mGlu1) receptor antagonists enhance GABAergic neurotransmission: a mechanism for the attenuation of post-ischemic injury and epileptiform activity? Neuropharmacology 43:119–130
- Cryan JF, Kelly PH, Neijt HC, Sansig G, Flor PJ, van der Putten H (2003) Antidepressant and anxiolytic-like effects in mice lacking the group III metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR7. Eur J Neurosci 17:2409–2417
- De Colle C, Bessis AS, Bockaert J, Acher F, Pin JP (2000) Pharmacological characterization of the rat metabotropic glutamate receptor type 8a revealed strong similarities and slight differences with the type 4a receptor. Eur J Pharmacol 394:17–26
- Dingledine R, Conn PJ (2000) Peripheral glutamate receptors: molecular biology and role in taste sensation. J Nutr 130(4S Suppl):1039S–1042S
- Dunayevich E, Erickson J, Levine L, Landbloom R, Schoepp DD, Tolleson GD (2008) Efficacy and tolerability of an mGlu2/3 agonist in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:1603–1610
- Duvoisin RM, Zhang C, Ramonell K (1995) A novel metabotropic glutamate receptor expressed in the retina and olfactory bulb. J Neurosci 15:3075–3083
- Duvoisin RM, Zhang C, Pfankuch TF, O'Connor H, Gayet-Primo J, Quraishi S, Raber J (2005) Increased measures of anxiety and weight gain in mice lacking the group III metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR8. Eur J Neurosci 22:425–436
- El-Kouhen O, Lehto SG, Pan JB, Chang R, Baker SJ, Zhong C, Hollingsworth PR, Mikusa JP, Cronin EA, Chu KL, McGaraughty SP, Uchic ME, Miller LN, Rodell NM, Patel M, Bhatia P, Mezler M, Kolasa T, Zheng GZ, Fox GB, Stewart AO, Decker MW, Moreland RB, Brioni JD,

Honore P (2006) Blockade of mGluR1 receptor results in analgesia and disruption of motor and cognitive performances: effects of A-841720, a novel non-competitive mGluR1 receptor antagonist. Br J Pharmacol 149:761–774

- Engers DW, Niswender CM, Weaver CD, Jadhav S, Menon UN, Zamorano R, Conn PJ, Lindsley CW, Hopkins CR (2009) Synthesis and evaluation of a series of heterobiarylamides that are centrally penetrant metabotropic glutamate receptor 4 (mGluR4) positive allosteric modulators (PAMs). J Med Chem 52:4115–4118
- Engin E, Treit D (2008) The effects of intra-cerebral drug infusions on animals' unconditioned fear reactions: a systematic review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 32:1399–1419
- Fell MJ, Svensson KA, Johnson BG, Schoepp DD (2008) Evidence for the role of mGlu2 not mGlu3 receptors in the preclinical antipsychotic pharmacology of the mGlu2/3 receptor agonist LY404039. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 326:209–217
- Fendt M, Schmid S, Thakker DR, Jacobson LH, Yamamoto R, Mitsukawa K, Maier R, Natt F, Husken D, Kelly PH, McAllister KH, Hoyer D, van der Putten H, Cryan JF, Flor PJ (2008) mGluR7 facilitates extinction of aversive memories and controls amygdala plasticity. Mol Psychiatry 13:970–979
- Ferraguti F, Shigemoto R (2006) Metabotropic glutamate receptors. Cell Tissue Res 326:483-504
- Ferris P, Seward E, Dawson GR (2001) Interactions between LY354740, a group II metabotropic agonist and the GABA(A)-benzodiazepine receptor complex in the rat elevated plus-maze. J Psychopharmacol 15:76–82
- Friedman CTH, Davis JL, Ciccone PE, Rubin RT (1980) Phase II double-blind controlled study of a new anxiolytic, fenobam (McN-3377) vs placebo. Curr Ther Res 27:144–151
- Galici R, Jones CK, Hemstapat K, Nong Y, Echemendia NG, Williams LC, de Paulis T, Conn PJ (2006) Biphenyl-indanone A, a positive allosteric modulator of the metabotropic glutamate receptor dubtype 2, has antipsychotic- and anxiolytic-like effects in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 318:173–185
- Gasparini F, Spooren W (2007) Allosteric modulators for mGlu receptors. Curr Neuropharmacol 5 (3):187–194
- Gasparini F, Bilbe G, Gomez-Mancilla B, Spooren W (2008) mGluR5 antagonists: discovery, characterization and drug development. Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel 11(5):655–665
- Gil-Sanz C, Delgado-García JM, Fairén A, Gruart A (2008) Involvement of the mGluR1 receptor in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and associative learning in behaving mice. Cereb Cortex 18:1653–1663
- Goldberg ME, Salama AI, Patel JB, Malick JB (1983) Novel non-benzodiazepine anxiolytics. Neuropharmacology 22(12B):1499–1504
- Gravius A, Pietraszak M, Schäfer D, Schmidt WJ, Danysz W (2005) Effects of mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptor antagonists on negatively reinforced learning. Behav Pharmacol 16:113–121
- Gravius A, Barberi C, Schäfer D, Schmidt WJ, Danysz W (2006) The role of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in acquisition and expression of contextual and auditory fear conditioning in rats a comparison. Neuropharmacology 51:1146–1155
- Grillon C, Cordova J, Levine LR, Morgan CA III (2003) Anxiolytic effects of a novel group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist (LY354740) in the fear-potentiated startle paradigm in humans. Psychopharmacology 168:446–454
- Han G, Hampson DR (1999) Ligand binding to the amino-terminal domain of the mGluR4 subtype of metabotropic glutamate receptor. J Biol Chem 274:10008–10013
- Heidinger V, Manzerra P, Wang ZQ, Strasser U, Yu S-P, Choi DW, Behrens MM (2002) Metabotropic glutamate receptor 1-induced upregulation of NMDA receptor current: mediation through the Pyk2/Src-family kinase pathway in cortical neurons. J Neurosci 22:5452–5461
- Hoang CJ, Hay M (2001) Expression of metabotropic glutamate receptors in nodose ganglia and the nucleus of the solitary tract. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 281:457–462
- Holscher C, Schmid S, Pilz PK, Sansig G, van der Putten H, Plappert CF (2004) Lack of the metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 7 selectively impairs short-term working memory but not long-term memory. Behav Brain Res 154:473–481

- Holscher C, Schmid S, Pilz PK, Sansig G, van der Putten H, Plappert CF (2005) Lack of the metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 7 selectively modulates Theta rhythm and working memory. Learn Mem 12:450–455
- Hsia AY, Salin PA, Castillo PE, Aiba A, Abeliovich A, Tonegawa S, Nicoll RA (1995) Evidence against a role for metabotropic glutamate receptors in mossy fiber LTP: the use of mutant mice and pharmacological antagonists. Neuropharmacology 34:1567–1572
- Jaeschke G, Wettstein J, Nordquist R, Spooren W (2008) mGlu5 receptor antagonists and their therapeutic potential. Expert Opin Ther Patents 18(2):123–142
- Janssens N, Lesage AS (2001) Glutamate receptor subunit expression in primary neuronal and secondary glial cultures. J Neurochem 77(6):1457–1474
- Johnson MP, Baez M, Jagdmann GE Jr, Britton TC, Large TH, Callagaro DO, Tizzano JP, Monn JA, Schoepp DD (2003) Discovery of allosteric potentiators for the metabotropic glutamate 2 receptor: synthesis and subtype selectivity of N-(4-(2-methoxyphenoxy)phenyl)-N-(2, 2, 2-trifluoroethylsulfonyl)pyrid-3ylmethylamine. J Med Chem 46:3189–3192
- Johnson PL, Lowry CA, Truitt W, Shekhar A (2008) Disruption of GABAergic tone in the dorsomedial hypothalamus attenuates responses in a subset of serotonergic neurons in the dorsal raphe nucleus following lactate-induced panic. J Psychopharmacol 22:642–652
- Kellner M, Muhtz C, Stark K, Yassouridis A, Arlt J, Wiedemann K (2005) Effects of a metabotropic glutamate2/3 receptor agonist (LY544344/LY354740) on panic anxiety induced by cholecystokinin tetrapeptide in healthy humans: preliminary results. Psychopharmacology 179:310–315
- Kim J, Lee S, Park H, Song B, Hong I, Geum D, Shin K, Choi S (2007) Blockade of amygdala metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 1 impairs fear extinction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 355:188–193
- Kinoshita A, Shigemoto R, Ohishi H, van der Putten H, Mizuno N (1998) Immunohistochemical localization of metabotropic glutamate receptors, mGluR7a and mGluR7b, in the central nervous system of the adult rat and mouse: a light and electron microscopic study. J Comp Neurol 393:332–352
- Klodzinska A, Tatarczynska E, Stachowicz K, Chojnacka-Wojcik E (2004) The anxiolytic-like activity of aida (1-aminoindan-1, 5-dicarboxylic acid), an mGlu1 receptor antagonist. J Physiol Pharmacol 55:113–126
- Kotlinska J, Bochenski M (2008) The influence of various glutamate receptors antagonists on anxiety-like effect of ethanol withdrawal in a plus-maze test in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 598: 57–63
- Lapierre YD, Oyewumi LK (1982) Fenobam: another Anxiolytic? Curr Ther Res 31:95-101
- Lavreysen H, Janssen C, Bischoff F, Langlois X, Leysen JE, Lesage ASJ (2003) [3H]R214127: a novel high-affinity radioligand for the mGlu1 receptor reveals a common binding site shared by multiple allosteric antagonists. Mol Pharmacol 63:1082–1093
- Lavreysen H, Nóbrega Pereira S, Leysen JE, Langlois X, Lesage ASJ (2004a) Metabotropic glutamate 1 receptor distribution and occupancy in the rat brain: a quantitative autoradiographic study using [3H]R214127. Neuropharmacology 46:609–619
- Lavreysen H, Wouters R, Bischoff F, Nóbrega Pereira S, Langlois X, Blokland S, Somers M, Dillen L, Lesage ASJ (2004b) JNJ16259685, a highly potent, selective ans systemically active mGlu1 receptor antagonist. Neuropharmacology 47:961–972
- Lesage ASJ, Steckler T (2010). Metabotropic glutamate mGlu1 receptor stimulation and blockade: therapeutic opportunities in psychiatric illness. Eur J Pharmacol (in press)
- Levine L, Gaydos B, Sheehan D, Goddard A, Feighner J, Potter WZ, Schoepp D (2002) The mGlu2/3 receptor agonist, LY354740, reduces panic anxiety induced by a CO₂ challenge in patients diagnosed with panic disorders. Neuropharmacology 43:294–295
- Lima VCF, Molchanov ML, Aguiar DC, Campos AC, Silveira Guimaraes F (2008) Modulation of defensive responses and anxiety-like behaviors by group I metabotropic glutamate receptors located in the dorsolateral periaqueductal gray. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 32:178–185

- Linden AM, Johnson BG, Peters SC, Shannon HE, Tian M, Wang Y, Yu JL, Koster A, Baez M, Schoepp DD (2002) Increased anxiety-related behavior in mice deficient for metabotropic glutamate 8 (mGlu8) receptor. Neuropharmacology 43:251–259
- Linden AM, Bergeron M, Baez M, Schoepp DD (2003) Systemic administration of the potent mGlu8 receptor agonist (S)-3, 4-DCPG induces c-Fos in stress-related brain regions in wildtype, but not mGlu8 receptor knockout mice. Neuropharmacology 45:473–483
- Linden AM, Greene SJ, Bergeron M, Schoepp DD (2004) Anxolytic ativity of the mGlu/3 receptor aonist LY354740 on the elevated plus aze is associated with suppression of stress-induced c-Fos in the hippocampus and increases in c-Fos induction in several other stress-sensitive brain regions. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:502–513
- Linden AM, Shannon H, Baez M, Yu J, Koester A, Schoepp DD (2005) Anxiolytic activity of the mGlu2/3 receptor agonist LY354740 on the elevated plus maze test is disrupted in metabotropic glutamate 2 and 3 knockout mice. Psychopharmacology 179:284–291
- Maciejak P, Lehner M, Turzynska D, Szyndler J, Bidzinski A, Taracha E, Sobolewska A, Walkowiak J, Skórzewska A, Wisłowska A, Hamed A, Plaznik A (2008) The opposite role of hippocampal mGluR1 in fear conditioning in kindled and non-kindled rats. Brain Res 1187:184–193
- Maj M, Bruno V, Dragic Z, Yamamoto R, Battaglia G, Inderbitzin W, Stoehr N, Stein T, Gasparini F, Vranesic I (2003) (-)-PHCCC, a positive allosteric modulator of mGluR4: characterization, mechanism of action, and neuroprotection. Neuropharmacology 45:895–906
- Marino MJ, Williams DL Jr, O'Brien JA, Valenti O, McDonald TP, Clements MK, Wang R, DiLella AG, Hess JF, Kinney GG, Conn PJ (2003) Allosteric modulation of group III metabotropic glutamate receptor 4: a potential approach to Parkinson's disease treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:13668–13673
- Masu M, Iwakabe H, Tagawa Y, Miyoshi T, Yamashita M, Fukuda Y, Sasaki H, Hiroi K, Nakamura Y, Shigemoto R (1995) Specific deficit of the ON response in visual transmission by targeted disruption of the mGluR6 gene. Cell 80:757–765
- Michelson D, Levine LR, Dellva MA, Mesters P, Schoepp DD, Dunayevich D, Tollefson GD (2005) Clinical studies with mGluR2/3 agonists: LY354740 compared with placebo in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. Neuropharmacology 49:257
- Mitsukawa K, Yamamoto R, Ofner S, Nozulak J, Pescott O, Lukic S, Stoehr N, Mombereau C, Kuhn R, McAllister KH, van der Putten H, Cryan JF, Flor PJ (2005) A selective metabotropic glutamate receptor 7 agonist: activation of receptor signaling via an allosteric site modulates stress parameters in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:18712–18717
- Mitsukawa K, Mombereau C, Lötscher E, Uzunov DP, van der Putten H, Flor PJ, Cryan JF (2006) Metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 7 ablation causes dysregulation of the HPA axis and increases hippocampal BDNF protein levels: implications for stress-related psychiatric disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:1112–1122
- Monn JA, Valli MJ, Massey SM, Wright RA, Salhoff CR, Johnson BG et al (1997) Design, synthesis, and pharmacological characterization of (+)-2-aminobicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-2, 6dicarboxylic acid (LY354740): a potent, selective, and orally active group 2 metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist possessing anticonvulsant and anxiolytic properties. J Med Chem 40:528–537
- Nadlewska A, Car H, Wisniewska RJ, Wisniewski K (2003) Influence of aida on certain behaviors in rats subjected to experimental hypoxia. Pol J Pharmacol 55:171–180
- Nakajima Y, Iwakabe H, Akazawa C, Nawa H, Shigemoto R, Mizuno N, Nakanishi S (1993) Molecular characterization of a novel retinal metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR6 with a high agonist selectivity for L-2-amino-4-phosphonobutyrate. J Biol Chem 268:11868–11873
- Navarro JF, De Castro V, Martín-López M (2008) JNJ16259685, a selective mGlu1 antagonist, suppresses isolation-induced aggression in male mice. Eur J Pharmacol 586:217–220
- Nielsen KS, Macphail EM, Riedel G (1997) Class I mGlu receptor antagonist 1-aminoindan-1, 5-dicarboxylic acid blocks contextual but not cue conditioning in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 326: 105–108

- Niswender C, Johnson KA, Weaver CD, Jones CK, Xiang Z, Luo Q, Rodriguez AL, Marlo JE, de Paulis T, Thompson AD, Days EL, Nalywajko T, Austin CA, Baxter Williams M, Ayala JE, Williams R, Lindsley CW, Conn PJ (2008) Discovery, characterization, and antiparkinsonian effect of novel positive allosteric modulators of metabotropic glutamate receptor 4. Mol Pharmacol 74:1345–1358
- Palucha A, Tatarczynska E, Branski P, Szewczyk B, Wieronska JM, Klak K, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Nowak G, Pilc A (2004) Group III mGlu receptor agonists produce anxiolytic- and antidepressant-like effects after central administration in rats. Neuropharmacology 46:151–159
- Patel JB, Martin C, Malick JB (1982) Differential antagonism of the anticonflict effects of typical and atypical anxiolytics. Eur J Pharmacol 86(2):295–298
- Patil ST, Zhang L, Martenyi F, Lowe SL, Jackson KA, Andreev BV, Avedisova AS, Bardenstein LM, Gurovich IY, Morozova MA, Mosolov SN, Neznanov NG, Reznik AM, Smulevich AB, Tochilov VA, Johnson BG, Monn JA, Schoepp DD (2007) Activation of mGlu2/3 receptors as a new approach to treat schizophrenia: a randomized phase 2 clinical trial. Nat Med 13:1102–1107
- Pecknold JC, McClure DJ, Appeltauer L, Wrzesinski L, Allan TJ (1982) Treatment of anxiety using fenobam (a nonbenzodiazepine) in a double-blind standard (diazepam) placebo-controlled study. Clin Psychopharmacol 2(2):129–133
- Pellegrini-Giampietro DE, Peruginelli F, Meli E, Cozzi A, Albani-Torregrossa S, Pellicciari R, Moroni F (1999) Protection with metabotropic glutamate 1 receptor antagonists in models of ischemic neuronal death: time-course and mechanisms. Neuropharmacology 38:1607–1619
- Priolo E, Libri V, Lopilato R, David E, Nappi G, Nisticò G (1991) Panic-like attack induced by microinfusion into the locus coeruleus of antagonists and inverse agonists at GABAA-receptors in rodents. Funct Neurol 6:393–403
- Porter RHP, Jaeschke G, Spooren W et al (2005) Fenobam: a clinically validated nonbenzodiazepine anxiolytic is a potent, selective, and noncompetitive mGlu5 receptor antagonist with inverse agonist activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 315:711–721
- Robbins MJ, Starr KR, Honey A, Soffin EM, Rourke C, Jones GA, Kelly FM, Strum J, Melarange RA, Harris AJ, Rocheville M, Rupniak T, Murdock PR, Jones DN, Kew JN, Maycox PR (2007) Evaluation of the mGlu8 receptor as a putative therapeutic target in schizophrenia. Brain Res 1152:215–227
- Rorick-Kehn LM, Hart JC, McKinzie DL (2005) Pharmacological characterization of stressinduced hyperthermia in DBA/2 mice using metabotropic and ionotropic glutamate receptor ligands. Psychopharmacology 183:226–240
- Rorick-Kehn LM, Perkins EJ, Knitowski KM, Hart JC, Johnson BG, Schoepp DD, McKinzie DL (2006) Improved bioavailability of the mGlu2/3 receptor agonist LY354740 using a prodrug strategy: in vivo pharmacology of LY544344. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316:905–913
- Rorick-Kehn LM, Johnson BG, Knitowski KM, Salhoff CR, Witkin JM, Perry KW, Griffey KI, Tizzano JP, Monn JA, McKinzie DL, Schoepp DD (2007) In vivo pharmacological characterization of the structurally novel, potent, selective mGlu2/3 receptor agonist LY404039 in animal models of psychiatric disorders. Psychopharmacology 193:121–136
- Salt TE, Binns KE (2000) Contributions of mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptors to interactions with *N*methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated responses and nociceptive sensory responses of rat thalamic neurons. Neuroscience 100:375–380
- Sansig G, Bushell TJ, Clarke VR, Rozov A, Burnashev N, Portet C, Gasparini F, Schmutz M, Klebs K, Shigemoto R, Flor PJ, Kuhn R, Knoepfel T, Schroeder M, Hampson DR, Collett VJ, Zhang C, Duvoisin RM, Collingridge GL, van der Putten H (2001) Increased seizure susceptibility in mice lacking metabotropic glutamate receptor 7. J Neurosci 21:8734–8745
- Satow A, Maehara S, Ise S, Hikichi H, Fukushima M, Suzuki G, Kimura T, Tanaka T, Ito S, Kawamoto H, Ohta H (2008) Pharmacological effects of the metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 antagonist compared with those of the metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonist and metabotropic glutamate receptor 2/3 agonist in rodents: detailed investigations with a selective allosteric metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 antagonist, FTIDC [4-[1-(2-Fluoropyridine-3-yl)-5-methyl-1H-1,2,3-triazol-4-yl]-Nisopropyl-*N*-methyl-3,6-dihydropyridine-1(2H)-carboxamide]. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 326:577–586

- Saugstad JA, Kinzie JM, Shinohara MM, Segerson TP, Westbrook GL (1997) Cloning and expression of rat metabotropic glutamate receptor 8 reveals a distinct pharmacological profile. Mol Pharmacol 51:119–125
- Schlumberger C, Schafer D, Barberi C, More L, Nagel J, Pietraszek M, Schmidt WJ, Danysz W (2009) Effects of a metabotropic glutamate receptor group II agonist LY354740 in animal models of positive schizophrenia symptoms and cognition. Behav Pharmacol 20:56–66
- Schmid S, Fendt M (2006) Effects of the mGluR8 agonist (S)-3, 4-DCPG in the lateral amygdala on acquisition/expression of fear-potentiated startle, synaptic transmission, and plasticity. Neuropharmacology 50:154–164
- Schoepp DD (2001) Unveiling the functions of presynaptic metabotropic glutamate receptors in the central nervous system. Pharmacol Exp Ther 299(1):12–20
- Schoepp DD, Conn PJ (2002) Metabotropic glutamate receptors. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 74 (1):255–256
- Schoepp DD, Wright RA, Levine LR, Gaydos B, Potter WZ (2003) LY354740, A mGlu2/3 receptor agonist as a novel approach to treat anxiety/stress. Stress 6:189–197
- Shekhar A, Keim SR (2000) LY354740, a potent group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist prevents lactate-induced panic-like response in panic-prone rats. Neuropharmacology 39:1139–1146
- Shigemoto R, Mizuno N (2000) Metabotropic glutamate receptors immunocytochemical and in situ hybridization analysis. In: Ottersen OP, Storm-Mathisen J (eds) Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy. Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, pp 63–98
- Shigemoto R, Nakanishi S, Mizuno N (1992) Distribution of the mRNA for a metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR1) in the central nervous system: an in situ hybridization study in adult and developing rat. J Comp Neurol 322:121–135
- Shigemoto R, Kinoshita A, Wada E, Nomura S, Ohishi H, Takada M, Flor PJ, Neki A, Abe T, Nakanishi S, Mizuno N (1997) Differential presynaptic localization of metabotropic glutamate receptor subtypes in the rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 17:7503–7522
- Silva AJ (2003) Molecular and cellular cognitive studies of the role of synaptic plasticity in memory. J Neurobiol 54:224–237
- Simonyi A, Ngomba RT, Storto M, Catania MV, Miller LA, Youngs B, DiGiorgi-Gerevini V, Nicoletti F, Sun GY (2005) Expression of groups I and II metabotropic glutamate receptors in the rat brain during aging. Brain Res 1043:95–106
- Simonyi A, Serfozo P, Shelat PB, Dopheide MM, Coulibaly AP, Schachtman TR (2007) Differential roles of hippocampal metabotropic glutamate receptors 1 and 5 in inhibitory avoidance learning. Neurobiol Learn Mem 88:305–311
- Spooren W, Gasparini F (2004) mGlu5 receptor antagonists: a novel class of anxiolytics? Drug News Perspect 17(4):251–257
- Spooren W, Ballard T, Gasparini F, Amalric M, Mutel V, Schreiber R (2003) Insight into the function of group I and group II metabotropic glutamate (mGlu) receptors: behavioural characterization and implications for the treatment of CNS disorders. Behav Pharmacol 14:257–277
- Spooren WP, Gasparini F, van der Putten H, Koller M, Nakanishi S, Kuhn R (2000) Lack of effect of LY314582 (a group 2 metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist) on phencyclidine-induced locomotor activity in metabotropic glutamate receptor 2 knockout mice. Eur J Pharmacol 397 (1):R1–R2
- Spooren WP, Schoeffter P, Gasparini F, Kuhn R, Gentsch C (2002) Pharmacological and endocrinological characterisation of stress-induced hyperthermia in singly housed mice using classical and candidate anxiolytics (LY354740, MPEP and NKP608). Eur J Pharmacol 435:161–170
- Stachowicz K, Klak K, Pilc A, Chojnacka-Wojcik E (2005) Lack of the antianxiety-like effect of (S)-3, 4-DCPG, an mGlu8 receptor agonist, after central administration in rats. Pharmacol Rep 57:856–860
- Stachowicz K, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Klak K, Pilc A (2006) Anxiolytic-like effects of group III mGlu receptor ligands in the hippocampus involve GABA_A signaling. Pharmacol Rep 58: 820–826

- Steckler T, Lavreysen H, Oliveira AM, Aerts N, Van Craenendonck H, Prickaerts J, Megens A, Lesage ASJ (2005) Effects of mGlu1 receptor blockade on anxiety-related behaviour in the rat lick suppression test. Psychopharmacology 179:198–206
- Suzuki G, Kimura T, Satow A, Kaneko N, Fukuda J, Hikichi H, Sakai N, Maehara S, Kawagoe-Takaki H, Hata M, Azuma T, Ito S, Kawamoto H, Ohta H (2007a) Pharmacological characterization of a new, orally active and potent allosteric metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 antagonist, 4-[1-(2-Fluoropyridin-3-yl)-5-methyl-1H–1, 2, 3-triazol-4-yl]-N-isopropyl-N-methyl-3, 6-dihydropyridine-1(2H)-carboxamide (FTIDC). J Pharmacol Exp Ther 321:1144–1153
- Suzuki G, Tsukamoto N, Fushiki H, Kawagishi A, Nakamura M, Kurihara H, Mitsuya M, Ohkubo M, Ohta H (2007b) In vitro pharmacological characterization of novel isoxazolopyridone derivatives as allosteric metabotropic glutamate receptor 7 antagonists. J Pharm Exp Ther 323:147–156
- Swanson CJ, Bures M, Johnson MP, Linden AM, Monn JA, Schoepp DD (2005) Metabotropic glutamate receptors as novel targets for anxiety and stress disorders. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4:131–144
- Tatarczynska E, Klodzinska A, Kroczka B, Chojnacka-Wojcik E, Pilc A (2001) The antianxietylike effects of antagonists of group I and agonists of group II and III metabotropic glutamate receptors after intrahippocampal administration. Psychopharmacology 158:94–99
- Testa CM, Standaert DG, Young AB, Penney JB Jr (1994) Metabotropic glutamate receptor mRNA expression in the basal ganglia of the rat. J Neurosci 14:3005–3018
- Tizzano JP, Griffey KI, Schoepp DD (2002) the anxiolytic action of mGlu2/3 receptor agonist, LY354740, in the fear-potentiated startle model in rats is mechanistically distingt from diazepam. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 73:367–374
- Thomas NK, Wright RA, Howson PA, Kingston AE, Schoepp DD, Jane DE (2001) (S)-3, 4-DCPG, a potent and selective mGlu8a receptor agonist, activates metabotropic glutamate receptors on primary afferent terminals in the neonatal rat spinal cord. Neuropharmacology 40:311–318
- Tong Q, Kirchgessner AL (2003) Localization and function of metabotropic glutamate receptor 8 in the enteric nervous system. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 285:G992–G1003
- Tong Q, Ouedraogo R, Kirchgessner AL (2002) Localization and function of group III metabotropic glutamate receptors in rat pancreatic islets. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 282:1324–1333
- Varty GB, Grilli M, Forlani A, Fredduzzi S, Grzelak ME, Guthrie DH, Hodgson RA, Lu SX, Nicolussi E, Pond AJ, Parker EM, Hunter JC, Higgins GA, Reggiani A, Bertorelli R (2005) The antinociceptive and anxiolytic-like effects of the metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) antagonists, MPEP and MTEP, and the mGluR1 antagonist, LY456236, in rodents: a comparison of efficacy and side-effect profiles. Psychopharmacology 179:207–217
- Walker DL, Rattiner LM, Davis M (2002) Group II metabotropic glutamate receptors within the amygdale regulate fear as assessed with potentiated startle in rats. Behav Neurosci 116:1075– 1083
- Witkin JM, Marekm GJ, Johnson BG, Schoepp DD (2007) Metabotropic glutamate receptors in the control of mood disorders. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 6:87–100
- Woolley ML, Pemberton DJ, Bate S, Corti C, Jones DNC (2008) The mGlu2 but not the mGlu3 receptor mediates the actions of the mGluR2/3 agonist, LY379268, in mouse models predictive of antipsychotic activity. Psychopharmacology 196:431–440
- Wright RA, Arnold MB, Wheeler WJ, Ornstein PL, Schoepp DD (2000) Binding of [3H](2 S, 1'S, 2'S)-2-(9-xanthylmethyl)-2-(2'-carboxycyclopropyl) glycine ([3H]LY341495) to cell membranes expressing recombinant human group III metabotropic glutamate receptor subtypes. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 362:546–554
- Wu WN, McKown LA, O'Neill PJ (1995) In vitro and in vivo metabolism of the antianxiolytic agent fenobam in the rat. J Pharm Sci 84(2):185–189
- Wu S, Wright RA, Rockey PK, Burgett SG, Arnold JS, Rosteck PR Jr, Schoepp DD, Belagaje RM (1998) Group III human metabotropic glutamate receptors 4, 7 and 8: molecular cloning, functional expression, and comparison of pharmacological properties in RGT cells. Mol Brain Res 53:88–97

Developing Small Molecule Nonpeptidergic Drugs for the Treatment of Anxiety Disorders: Is the Challenge Still Ahead?

Thomas Steckler

Contents

1	Introduction	
2	Is there Clinical Proof-of-Concept with Compounds	
	Acting at Neuropeptide Systems?	
	2.1 CRF ₁ Antagonists	
	2.2 NK ₁ Antagonists	
	2.3 NK ₃ Antagonists	
	2.4 CCK ₂ Antagonists	
3	Atrial Natriuretic Peptide and Oxytocin	
4	Is Efficacy Enough?	
5	Conclusion	
Ret	ferences	424

Abstract Neuropeptide systems have been considered a major opportunity for the development of novel treatment approaches for anxiety disorders based on preclinical evidence and neurochemical alterations seen in anxiety disorders. This excitement was further facilitated by the fact that drugs acting at these systems, such as CRF1 antagonists, NK1 antagonists, NK3 antagonists or CCK2 antagonists, may have unique properties not seen with drugs affecting more classical mechanisms involved in anxiety. Consequently, there have been major efforts to develop such small-molecule, nonpeptide receptor ligands. A number of these molecules have been tested in the clinic, either in trials where levels of anxiety served as a secondary measure, or in a few studies with patients suffering from anxiety disorders. But unfortunately, and despite all the efforts of the field as a whole, we still lack convincing clinical proof-of-concept for any of the neuropeptide targets remain a promising approach for the development of the next generation drugs to treat anxiety disorders, but that they continue to be high-risk targets for drug development.

T. Steckler

Johnson & Johnson PRD, Turnhoutseweg 30, 2340 Beerse, Belgium e-mail: tsteckle@prdbe.jnj.com

Keywords Corticotropin-releasing factor \cdot CRF1 antagonist \cdot Substance P \cdot Neurokinin \cdot NK1 Antagonist \cdot NK3 Antagonist \cdot Cholecystokinin \cdot CCK2 Antagonist \cdot Atrial natriuretic peptide \cdot ANP \cdot Oxytocin \cdot Clinical trial \cdot Proof-of-concept

1 Introduction

Drugs that target neuropeptide systems – antagonists, full or partial agonists, positive allosteric modulators, or inverse agonists – could represent an alternative approach to treat anxiety disorders. Characteristics that should make neuropeptide systems attractive as drug targets are, first, their generally more discrete neuroanatomical localization when compared to monoamines and GABA and glutamate and, second, their state-dependent effects, i.e., neuropeptides need conditions of relatively high neuronal firing to be released at quantities which activate their receptors, while classical neurotransmitters are released by low neuronal frequency bursts (Hokfelt et al. 2003). Based on the latter, we can assume that antagonists, i.e., compounds that block binding of the endogenous peptide to the receptor recognition site, are more active under conditions of increased peptide release than under basal conditions. In other words, antagonistic drugs could normalize pathological anxiety associated with increased peptide release, while leaving normal physiology in the absence of neuropeptide release relatively unaffected, thus minimizing target-related side effect burden (Steckler 2008).

When it comes to agonists, the latter advantage of antagonists may be lost as they may stimulate the neuropeptide receptor in the absence of the endogenous ligand. Thus, full or partial agonists acting at the orthosteric (i.e., endogenous ligand) binding site of the peptide receptor, will fully or partially mimic the effects of the endogenous peptide. Nevertheless, there are a spectrum of anxiety disorders, presumably with different underlying pathophysiology, and those drugs could be of relevance if there is a decrease in peptide release and consequent peptidergic hypoactivity associated with an anxiety disorder. Likewise, agonists may be of use under conditions where the peptidergic system is not directly involved in the pathophysiology of the anxiety disorder, but where it is known preclinically that activation of the specific neuropeptide receptor will lead to a reduction in anxiety and arousal, thereby providing an indirect treatment approach. However, the ability of those compounds to stimulate the receptor in the absence of the endogenous ligand imposes the inherent risk that the receptor is tonically overstimulated, as well as the potential for the development of receptor desensitization and internalization, and hence tolerance development to the drug after chronic treatment. Compared to full agonists, this risk may be somewhat mitigated with a partial agonist leading to submaximal receptor activation and hence reduced relative efficacy when compared to a full agonist, but still exists.

Numerous selective and nonselective agonists acting at neuropeptide receptors have been described. An example for a partial agonist is the drug diltiazem, an atypical L-type calcium channel blocker used since long to treat cardiac arrhythmias, which has recently been discovered to also be a partial agonist at the ghrelin receptor (Ma et al. 2007). Ghrelin is a 28-amino acid gastrointestinal peptide with orexigenic properties. In the brain, ghrelin binds to the growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHS1A) (Dornonville de la Cour et al. 2001; Kojima et al. 1999; Tschop et al. 2000), where one of its functions, besides regulating food intake, may be to increase anxiety-related behavior (Asakawa et al. 2001; Carlini et al. 2002, 2004; Kanehisa et al. 2006). Interestingly, some anxiolytic efficacy has been reported for diltiazem in panic disorder patients (Balon and Ramesh 1996), although this may be more attributable to the calcium channel blockade than the partial ghrelin agonism (especially as the animal literature would suggest the latter would lead to an increase, not a reduction, in anxiety). In contrast to the full and partial agonists, positive allosteric small-molecule nonpeptidergic modulators (PAMs) bind at a site different from the binding pocket of the endogenous ligand, thereby facilitating the effects of the neuropeptide, but (assuming that there is no endogenous ligand for the allosteric binding site) should have no effect on their own. Those molecules may overcome part of the problems inherent to orthosteric agonism as they again lead to phasic effects only in the presence of the endogenous neuropeptide ligand and not to tonic activation, and hence reduce the risk of overstimulation and tolerance development. Examples for such allosteric drugs acting at neuropeptide systems have been reported, e.g., again for the ghrelin receptor (Holst et al. 2005).

Yet another class of compounds is the inverse agonists. To understand this concept, it must be acknowledged that some receptors can be constitutively active. That means that the receptor signals in the absence of the endogenous ligand, i.e., there is a basal tone of receptor signaling that is further increased by phasic release and binding of the peptide. Inverse agonists will reduce the tonic signaling of the receptor in the absence of the endogenous peptide ligand. Once again using the ghrelin system as an example, it is noteworthy that the ghrelin receptor is constitutively active (Holst et al. 2003) and that inverse ghrelin agonists (albeit peptidergic) have been described (Holst et al. 2006). Such inverse agonists could be particularly useful under conditions where an anxiety disorder is caused by an increase in constitutive firing rate of a neuropeptide receptor. They will also be of benefit if there is increased peptide release associated with an anxiety disorder, but in contrast to the antagonists, may lead to unintended hypoactivity of the system.

Other means to interact with peptidergic systems could be the inhibition of peptide synthesis or breakdown. Zinc metallopeptidases, e.g., are enzymes that rapidly degrade enkephalins in the brain. Consequently, blockade of these peptidases increases extracellular concentrations of enkephalins (Nieto et al. 2005). Enkephalins in turn reduce anxiety-related behavior in animals and, indeed, anxiolytic-like effects were observed in mice following intraperitoneal administration of a zinc metallopeptidase inhibitor (Nieto et al. 2005).

Yet another strategy to modulate neuropeptide systems could be to alter the availability of the neuropeptide at its target by freeing it from its binding protein in cases where such proteins exist. For example, it has been shown that corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) can be displaced from its binding protein by specific CRF

binding protein inhibitors (Behan et al. 1995). In this specific example, of course, one would not expect anxiolytic activity as CRF is well known to increase anxiety-related behavior (e.g., Steckler 2008).

Thus, there are several strategies that would allow one to manipulate neuropeptide systems pharmacologically and to affect anxiety states. As a caveat, however, it must also be recognized that at least some of these peptide systems are centrally and peripherally involved in major homeostatic mechanisms, such as the control of food intake and regulation of pituitary or cardiovascular function. Thus, a close monitoring or safety and tolerability profiles of drugs that target neuropeptides is warranted. Other issues that proved to be a challenge for the development of compounds that act at neuropeptide systems relates to their physicochemical properties. At least for some targets it has proved to be very difficult to synthesize compounds that show good solubility, bioavailability, brain penetrance, and metabolic stability while maintaining high efficacy and selectivity (Steckler 2008). Nevertheless, the pharmaceutical industry has succeeded in developing small molecule, nonpeptidergic compounds acting at various neuropeptide systems with acceptable drug-like characteristics and safety profile that could be of benefit for the treatment of anxiety disorders, examples of which will be discussed below.

2 Is there Clinical Proof-of-Concept with Compounds Acting at Neuropeptide Systems?

No drug acting at neuropeptidergic systems has yet been approved for the treatment of anxiety disorders. However, a number of compounds have been evaluated in clinical trials.

2.1 CRF₁ Antagonists

Possibly, the neuropeptide target that received most attention over the last years is the CRF₁ receptor. Several review articles have summarized the preclinical evidence indicating potent anxiolytic-like properties of small molecule, nonpeptidergic CRF₁ antagonists in animals (e.g., Holmes et al. 2003; Landgraf 2005; Steckler 2005, 2008; Steckler and Dautzenberg 2006; Steckler and Holsboer 1999; Zorrilla and Koob 2004) and the picture that emerges is that these compounds are particularly efficacious in animals that are in states of heightened anxiety induced by pharmacological or emotional stressors. Sites where CRF1 antagonists seem to affect anxiety-related behavior in animals are the amygdala (Bakshi et al. 2002) and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (Sahuque et al. 2006), key brain areas involved in anxiety (Canteras et al. 2009). But despite intense activity in the field for many years, there are only a few published studies investigating the effects of CRF_1 antagonists in man and none has been published on the effects of CRF_1 antagonists in patients suffering from anxiety disorders. Those studies that investigated the effects of CRF_1 antagonists in stress-related psychiatric disorders focused on depression, which is another disorder where CRF_1 antagonists may be of benefit. Part of the reason for a focus on depression rather than anxiety may be a strategic decision of the pharmaceutical industry based on indication sequencing, because depression is generally considered to be commercially a more attractive therapeutic indication.

Studying the effects of CRF₁ antagonism with NBI-34041 in 24 healthy male volunteers, Ising et al. (2007) reported an attenuation of the psychosocial stressinduced activation of the HPA axis. However, NBI-34041 failed to affect the stress-induced increases in emotionality as measured by the State-Trait-Anxiety Inventory (STAI-X1). In contrast, some beneficial effects of CRF₁ antagonism on anxiety was suggested by data from an earlier study in depressed patients. In this open label study in 20 patients, significant reductions in both depression and anxiety scores were reported (Zobel et al. 2000). Of note, this study was primarily designed as a safety, dose-escalation study and did not include a placebo group or an active control. More recently, however, lack of efficacy was reported for the CRF₁ antagonist CP-316,311 in a 6-week randomized, placebo controlled trial in depressed patients, which used the Hamilton Depression scale as a primary endpoint but also included a secondary efficacy analysis on the Hamilton Anxiety Scale (HAM-A) (Binneman et al. 2008). Based on these three clinical studies, evidence for anxiolytic effects of CRF₁ antagonists in man is inconclusive at best, which contrasts the substantial preclinical evidence supporting a role of CRF₁ antagonists as anxiolytic drugs. However, it should also be noted that the entry criteria for anxiety (based on HAM-A) were not high, suggesting that anxiety was moderate, which may not be sufficient to detect potent anxiolytic effects

Therefore, a counter argument would be that no CRF₁ antagonist has been tested in patients with primary diagnosis of anxiety disorder and that these compounds may show efficacy in these patients. Indeed, there is evidence for abnormalities in the CRF system in certain types of anxiety disorders: a relatively consistent finding reported in several studies is an increase in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of CRF and a blunted ACTH response to CRF challenge in post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (see Nemeroff et al. 2006; Steckler 2008, for reviews). A blunted response to CRF challenge has also been reported in panic disorder patients (reviewed in Gold et al. 1988; Holsboer et al. 1987; Steckler et al. 2008) and, more recently, Smoller et al. 2003, 2005) found an association between the CRF gene and behavioral inhibition in children at risk for panic disorder. Likewise, abnormalities of the CRF system have been described in obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) (Fossey et al. 1996). Taken together, this would suggest that drugs normalizing CRF activity, such as CRF₁ antagonists, could be of benefit for the treatment of PTSD and panic disorder, and possibly also in OCD. Until the relevant clinical trials have been performed, the jury is still out.

2.2 NK₁ Antagonists

Another target that received substantial interest in the past is the neurokinin 1 (NK₁) receptor for which the endogenous ligand is substance P. This interest was strongly triggered by a seminal paper published in 1998, where it was shown that the NK₁ antagonist aprepitant (MK-869) had anxiolytic-like properties in a guinea pig pup model measuring separation-induced distress vocalizations comparable to the anxiolytics diazepam (a benzodiazepine) and buspirone (a 5-HT_{1A} agonist) (Kramer et al. 1998). The amygdala has also been suggested to be the site of action where NK1 antagonists elicit anxiolytic-like effects in animals (Rupniak et al. 2003). Aprepitant was as efficacious as the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) paroxetine in improving scores on both the Hamilton Anxiety (HAM-A) and Depression (HAM-D) scales in depressed patients with comorbid anxiety (Kramer et al. 1998). Subsequently, an improvement in HAM-A score was also reported with another NK₁ antagonist, LY-759274, in depressed patients (Kramer et al. 2004). Interestingly, in a human positron emission tomography (PET) study, aprepitant at the dose that was efficacious in depression also blocked more than 90% of the NK₁ receptors and also displaced the NK₁ ligand $[F^{18}]SPA$ in the amygdala (Hargreaves 2002). However, in five subsequent Phase III studies, aprepitant failed to significantly improve HAM-A (and HAM-D) scores in depressed patients. In two of those studies, paroxetine was used as active comparator and showed a significant benefit on HAM-A scores in one (Keller et al. 2006), which casts some doubts on the therapeutic benefit of NK_1 antagonism in the treatment of anxiety symptoms in depressed patients and in the treatment of depression in general. These data also raise more general questions about how predictive preclinical animal models and Phase II data are of efficacy in Phase III studies (Steckler et al. 2008).

As for CRF₁ antagonists, it could be argued, however, that the real value of NK₁ antagonists for the treatment of anxiety disorders would only become apparent once such compounds have been tested in the appropriate patient population. A recent study reported that fear provocation in individuals with specific phobia was associated with a decreased uptake of a NK_1 PET ligand in the amygdala, possibly because of an increase in endogenous substance P release triggered by the fear-provoking stimuli (Michelgard et al. 2007). This hypothesis is corroborated by preclinical findings, showing that stress exposure leads to increased substance P release in the medial nucleus of the amygdala and that direct injections of a NK1 antagonist into the medial nucleus attenuated stressinduced anxiety-related behavior in rats (Ebner et al. 2004). These findings argue in favor of a role for NK₁ antagonists in the treatment of at least some types of anxiety. In fact, the NK1 antagonist GR205171 has been reported to improve social phobia comparable to the SSRI citalopram in patients. In this study, symptom improvement was paralleled by a reduction in regional cerebral blood flow in response to a psychosocial stressor in the rhinal cortex, parahippocampalhippocampal regions, and also in the amygdala (Furmark et al. 2005). These are encouraging results, but experience with NK_1 antagonists in the field of depression should be taken as a note of caution. Certainly, one would like to see confirmation of these findings in patients suffering from social phobia or other phobias in other studies (ideally Phase III trials) before efficacy of NK_1 antagonism in these disorders is taken for granted.

2.3 NK₃ Antagonists

Compared to the NK₁ receptor antagonists, far less information has been released on the potential anxiolytic properties of NK₂ and NK₃ antagonists in man, although these two NK receptor subtypes have also been suggested to play a role in the modulation of anxiety. Only one study reported failure of the NK₃ antagonist osanetant to improve panic symptoms in panic disorder patients challenged with cholecystokinin tetrapeptide (CCK-4), a peptide frequently employed to elicit panic-like symptoms in healthy volunteers and panic disorder patients (Kronenberg et al. 2005).

2.4 CCK₂ Antagonists

Based on challenge studies with CCK-4 or with the cholecystokinin receptor 2 (CCK₂) antagonist pentagastrin (a synthetic analogue of CCK-4), linkage studies, measurements of CSF levels of CCK and preclinical data obtained from animal tests, the CCK system has also been suggested to play an important role in anxiety disorders, in particular in panic disorder (see Steckler et al. 2008, for review). A number of CCK₂ antagonists have been tested in both healthy volunteers and patients suffering from panic disorder or generalized anxiety disorder, but evidence for anxiolytic activity is conflicting. Although initial studies with the CCK₂ antagonist L-366,260 suggested antipanic effects, based on studies in healthy volunteers receiving an intravenous challenge with pentagastrin (Lines et al. 1995), or in panic patients challenged with CCK-4 (Bradwein et al. 1994), those findings were not confirmed by others (Kramer et al. 1995; Sramek et al. 1994–1995). Likewise, lack of efficacy was reported for the CCK₂ antagonist CL-988 in a number of studies in healthy volunteers following CCK-4 or lactate challenge (Bradwejn et al. 1995, Cowley et al. 1996) and in patients with panic disorder (Pande et al. 1999; Van Megen et al. 1997) or generalized anxiety disorder (Adams et al. 1995; Goddard et al. 1999). Part of the issue here may be the fact that these compounds in general show relatively low bioavailability. Unfortunately, and unlike to the situation in the NK1 field, no PET ligand exists that could be used to demonstrate central occupancy of CCK4 receptors in human to come to real conclusions. However, as it stands one has to assume that CCK₂ antagonists are not clinically effective for the treatment of anxiety disorders.

In addition to these small molecule approaches, anxiolytic-like activity has been seen following administration of some peptidergic compounds in man.

3 Atrial Natriuretic Peptide and Oxytocin

Intravenous infusions of panic disorder patients with atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) resulted in anxiolytic effects following challenge with CCK-4 (Strohle et al. 2001; Wiedemann et al. 2001), although it is unclear how this effect was mediated as peripherally administered ANP is not brain penetrant. It has been suggested that the effects of CCK challenge could be peripherally or centrally mediated; e.g., via activation of CCK receptors expressed at vagal nerve endings or vasodilatation of cerebral arteries, both leading to secondary central effects, or in brain areas lacking a tight blood–brain barrier (Cano et al. 2003; Crawley and Corwin 1994; Rinaman et al. 1995; Sanchez-Fernandez et al. 2003). Likewise, ANP could alter measures of anxiety by either peripheral or central effects, thereby counteracting the effects of CCK-4.

Anxiolytic effects were also reported following intranasal administration of oxytocin to healthy volunteers following psychosocial stress (Heinrichs et al. 2003). Moreover, an increase in trust was seen following oxytocin administered via this route (Kosfeld et al. 2005). Intranasal administration has been suggested to result in brain penetration of a number of peptides in humans (Born et al. 2002), although direct proof in man is lacking for oxytocin. In fact, plasma oxytocin levels also increase markedly after intranasal application (Landgraf 1985), raising the possibility that the anxiolytic-like effects of oxytocin might be peripherally mediated. But in support of – primary or secondary – central effects, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies showed that the fear-induced activation of the amygdala (Kirsch et al. 2005) and the amygdala response to emotional faces (Domes et al. 2007) were reduced in volunteers receiving intranasal oxytocin. Clinical trials of intranasal oxytocin treatment in social phobia are underway.

A number of other small-molecule, nonpeptidergic compounds with potential for the treatment of anxiety disorders have been proposed, including vasopressin V_{1b}, neuropeptide Y Y₂, melanocortin MC₄, angiotensin AT₁, galanin GAL₃, bombesin BB₁, melanin-concentrating hormone MCH₁ and orexin OX₁ antagonists, as well as oxytoxin, δ opiate and orphanin FQ OFQ₁ agonists, but those compounds have only been tested preclinically yet. Even more neuropeptide systems have been associated with anxiety-related behavior preclinically for which at present no small molecule, nonpeptidergic compounds with anxiolytic-like properties have been reported (reviewed in Steckler 2008). A detailed discussion of these data would be beyond the scope of this chapter.

4 Is Efficacy Enough?

Summarizing the clinical trial data, one has to conclude that the evidence for neuropeptide-based therapies for anxiety disorders is still very limited, despite major efforts by the pharmaceutical industry for more than 20 years. The only class of small molecule, nonpeptidergic compounds that showed a preliminary clinical proof-of-concept is the NK₁ antagonists, but more studies with positive outcome need to be published before firm conclusions can be drawn. Moreover, requirements are already or can be expected to increase and just showing efficacy may not be sufficient to bring a new anxiolytic to the market in the future. What will be required is the demonstration of superiority! This might be superior efficacy in particular anxiety disorders where efficacy of current medication is limited, e.g., in specific phobias or PTSD. It can be faster onset of action, for e.g., in obsessive compulsive disorder, where benzodiazepines do not work and the onset of efficacy with antidepressant drugs is delayed. It can also be an improved side effect profile, i.e., lack of cognitive impairment, sedation, ataxia, dependency, or withdrawal complications as is the case with the benzodiazepines, or lack of nausea, sexual dysfunction and weight gain, as is seen with the SSRIs (Steckler et al. 2008). However, none of these have so far been convincingly demonstrated in clinical trials with compounds targeting neuropeptide systems in patients suffering from an anxiety disorder. Moreover, given the involvement of many peptide systems in major homeostatic mechanisms, as mentioned above, there is a risk that other, mechanism-based side effect profiles will occur. For example, nephrotoxic and hepatotoxic effects were seen with the CRF₁ antagonist antalarmin in a 90-day toxicity study in rats (Horn et al. 2008). It is unclear whether these findings are structurally related to the molecule or mechanistically to CRF_1 receptor blockade, but from these findings kidneys and liver must be considered target organs for antalarmin toxicity in humans (Horn et al. 2008). Of note, elevated liver transaminases were also reported in 3 out of 20 patients treated with the CRF_1 antagonist R121919 (Zobel et al. 2000), which is structurally relatively close to antalarmin. Moreover, implantation loss of rat fetuses has been reported following treatment of pregnant rats with antalarmin during the early stages of pregnancy, which may be related to the mechanism of action, i.e., CRF1 receptor-mediated (Makrigiannakis et al. 2004). Likewise, adverse effects can be expected with some other neuropeptide targets, such as weight gain with MC_4 receptor antagonists (Kask et al. 1998; Skuladottir et al. 1999), blood pressure lowering effects with AT₁ antagonists, or proconvulsive properties with brain penetrant δ -opioid agonists (Comer et al. 1993; Yajima et al. 2000), to name just a few.

Clearly, this is not meant to devalue the potential of neuropeptidergic targets as novel therapeutic approaches to treat anxiety disorders, because the points mentioned above are not unique to the peptide field, but it points to the fact that one might be faced with new issues when developing novel drugs that act on these targets, some being more obvious than others, and that are not necessarily seen with current anxiolytic medication. The importance of this is the fact that novel anxiolytic drugs would be expected to have a clean side effect profile as possible, making a close evaluation of this profile mandatory.

5 Conclusion

Coming back to the initial question: Is the challenge still ahead when developing small molecule nonpeptidergic drugs for the treatment of anxiety disorders? From a review of the literature the answer is clearly "yes." It is evident that neuropeptide systems represent a major opportunity for the development of novel treatment approaches for anxiety disorders as drugs acting at these systems may have unique properties not seen with other targets. There is a huge literature providing evidence for an important role of neuropeptides in the mediation of anxiety-related behavior, both in animals and man. It is also evident that drugs acting at those targets might overcome some of the problems inherent in today's anxiolytic medication. However, the approach remains a high risk and, unless there is unambiguous proof-of-concept in patients, highly speculative.

References

- Adams JB, Pyke RE, Costa J, Cutler NR, Schweizer E, Wilcox CS, Wisselink PG, Greiner M, Pierce MW, Pande AC (1995) A doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of a CCK-B receptor antagonist, CI-988, in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 15:428–434
- Asakawa A, Inui A, Kaga T, Yuzuriha H, Nagata T, Fujimiya M, Katsuura G, Makino S, Fujino MA, Kasuga M (2001) A role of ghrelin in neuroendocrine and behavioral responses to stress in mice. Neuroendocrinology 74:143–147
- Bakshi VP, Smith-Roe S, Newman SM, Grigoriadis DE, Kalin NH (2002) Reduction of stressinduced behaviour by antagonism of corticotropin-releasing factor 2 (CRF2) receptors in lateral septum or CRF1 receptors in amygdala. J Neurosci 22:2926–2935
- Balon R, Ramesh C (1996) Calcium channel blockers for anxiety disorders? Annals Clin. Psychiatry 8:215–220
- Behan DP, Heinrichs SC, Troncoso JC, Liu XJ, Kawas CH, Ling N, De Souza EB (1995) Displacement of corticotropin releasing factor from its binding protein as a possible treatment for Alzheimer's disease. Nature 378:284–287
- Binneman B, Feltner D, Kolluri S, Shi Y, Qiu R, Stiger T (2008) A 6-week randomized, placebocontrolled trial of CP-316, 311 (a selective CRH1 antagonist) in the treatment of major depression. Am J Psychiatry 165:617–620
- Biro E, Sarnyai Z, Penke B, Szabo G, Telegdy G (1993) Role of endogenous corticotropinreleasing factor in mediation of neuroendocrine and behavioural responses to cholecystokinin octapeptide sulfate ester in rats. Neuroendocrinology 57:340–345
- Born J, Lange T, Kern W, McGregor GP, Bickel U, Fehm HL (2002) Sniffing neuropeptides: a transnasal approach to the human brain. Nature Neurosci 5:514–516
- Bradwejn J, Koszycki D, Couetoux du Tertre A, Van Megen H, Den Boer J, Westenberg H (1994) The panicogenic effects of cholecystokinintetrapeptide are antagonized by L-365, 260, a central cholecystokinin receptor antagonist, in patients with panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:486–493
- Bradwejn J, Koszycki D, Paradis M, Reece P, Hinton J, Sedman A (1995) Effect of CI-988 on cholecystokinin tetrapeptide-induced panic symptoms in healthy volunteers. Biol Psychiatry 38:742–746

- Brawman-Mintzer O, Lydiard RB, Bradwejn J, Villarreal G, Knapp R, Emmanuel N, Ware MR, He Q, Ballenger JC (1997) Effects of the cholecystokinin agonist pentagastrin in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 154:700–702
- Cano V, Caicoya E, Ruiz-Gayo M (2003) Effect of peripheral cholecystokinin receptor agonists on c-Fos expression in brain sites mediating food consumption in rats. Neurosci Lett 343:13–16
- Canteras NS, Resstel LB, Bertoglio LJ, de Padua Carobrez A, Guimaraes FS (2009) Neuroanatomy of anxiety. In: Steckler T, Stein M (eds) Behavioral neurobiology of anxiety and its treatment. Curr Top Behav Neurol Springer, Heidelberg
- Carlini VP, Monzon ME, Varas MM, Cragnolini AB, Schioth HB, Scimonelli TN, De Barioglio SR (2002) Ghrelin increases anxiety-like behavior and memory retention in rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 299:739–743
- Carlini VP, Varas MM, Cragnolini AB, Schioth HB, Scimonelli TN, De Barioglio SR (2004) Differential role of the hippocampus, amygdala, and dorsal raphe nucleus in regulating feeding, memory, and anxiety-like behavioral responses to ghrelin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 313:635–641
- Comer SD, Hoenicke EM, Sable AI, McNutt RW, Chang KJ, Mosberg HI, Woods JH (1993) Convulsive effects of systemic administration of delta opioid agonist BW373U86 in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 267:888–895
- Cowley DS, Adams JB, Pyke RE, Cook J, Zaccharias P, Wingerson D, Roy-Byrne PP (1996) Effect of CI-988, a cholecystokinin-B receptor antagonist, on lactate-induced panic. Biol Psychiatry 40:550–552
- Crawley JN, Corwin RL (1994) Biological actions of cholecystokinin. Peptides 15:731-755
- Domes G, Heinrichs M, Glascher J, Buchel C, Braus DF, Herpertz SC (2007) Oxytocin attenuates amygdala responses to emotional faces regardless of valence. Biol Psychiatry 62:1187–1190
- Dornonville de la Cour C, Bjorkqvist M, Sandvik AK, Bakke I, Zhao CM, Chen D, Hakanson R (2001) A-like cells in the rat stomach contain ghrelin and do not operate under gastrin control. Regul Pept 99:141–150
- Ebner K, Rupniak NM, Saria A, Singewald N (2004) Substance P in the medial amygdala: emotional stress-sensitive release and modulation of anxiety-related behavior in rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:4280–4285
- Fossey MD, Lydiard RB, Ballenger JC, Laraia MT, Bissette G, Nemeroff CB (1996) Cerebrospinal fluid corticotropin-releasing factor concentrations in patients with anxiety disorders and normal comparison subjects. Biol Psychiatry 39:703–707
- Furmark T, Appel L, Michelgard A, Wahlstedt K, Ahs F, Zancan S, Jacobsson E, Flyckt K, Grohp M, Bergstrom M, Pich EM, Nilsson LG, Bani M, Langstrom B, Fredrikson M (2005) Cerebral blood flow changes after treatment of social phobia with the neurokinin-1 antagonist GR205171, citalopram, or placebo. Biol Psychiatry 58:132–142
- Goddard AW, Woods SW, Money R, Pande AC, Charney DS, Goodman WK, Heninger GR, Price LH (1999) Effects of the CCK(B) antagonist CI-988 on responses to mCPP in generalized anxiety disorder. Psychiatry Res 85:225–240
- Gold PW, Pigott TA, Kling MA, Kalogeras K, Chrousos GP (1988) Basic and clinical studies with corticotropin-releasing hormone. Implications for a possible role in panic disorder. Psychiatric Clin North Am 11:327–334
- Hargreaves R (2002) Imaging substance P receptors (NK1) in the living human brain using positron emission tomography. J Clin Psychiatry 63(Suppl 11):18–24
- Heinrichs M, Baumgartner T, Kirschbaum C, Ehlert U (2003) Social support and oxytocin interact to suppress cortisol and subjective responses to psychosocial stress. Biol Psychiatry 54:1389–1398
- Hokfelt T, Bartfai T, Bloom F (2003) Neuropeptides: opportunities for drug discovery. Lancet Neurol 2:463–472
- Holmes A, Heilig M, Rupniak NMJ, Steckler T, Griebel G (2003) Neuropeptide systems as therapeutic targets for depression and anxiety disorders. Trends Pharmacol Sci 24:580–588

- Holsboer F, von Bardeleben U, Buller R, Heuser I, Steiger A (1987) Stimulation response to corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) in patients with depression, alcoholism and panic disorder. Horm Metabol Res Suppl 16:80–88
- Holst B, Cygankiewicz A, Halkjar JT, Ankersen M, Schwartz TW (2003) High constitutive signaling of the ghrelin receptor-identification of a potent inverse agonist. Mol Endocrinol 17:2201–2210
- Holst B, Brandt E, Bach A, Heding A, Schwartz TW (2005) Nonpeptide and peptide growth hormone secretagogues act both as ghrelin receptor agonist and as positive or negative allosteric modulators of ghrelin signaling. Mol Endocrinol 19:2400–2411
- Holst B, Lang M, Brandt E, Bach A, Howard A, Frimurer TM, Beck-Sickinger A, Schwartz TW (2006) Ghrelin receptor inverse agonists: identification of an active peptide core and its interaction epitopes on the receptor. Mol Pharmacol 70:936–946
- Horn TL, Harder JB, Johnson WD, Curry PT, Parchment RE, Morrissey RL, Mellick PW, Calis KA, Gold PW, Rice KC, Contoreggi C, Charney DS, Cizza G, Glaze ER, Tomaszewski JE, McCormick DL (2008) Integration of in vivo and in vitro approaches to characterize the toxicity of Antalarmin, a corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor antagonist. Toxicology 248:8–17
- Ising M, Zimmermann US, Kunzel HE, Uhr M, Foster AC, Learned-Coughlin SM, Holsboer F, Grigoriadis DE (2007) High-affinity CRF1 receptor antagonist NBI-34041: preclinical and clinical data suggest safety and efficacy in attenuating elevated stress response. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:1941–1949
- Kanehisa M, Akiyoshi J, Kitaichi T, Matsushita H, Tanaka E, Kodama K, Hanada H, Isogawa K (2006) Administration of antisense DNA for ghrelin causes an antidepressant and anxiolytic response in rats. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:1403–1407
- Kask A, Rago L, Wikberg JE, Schioth HB (1998) Evidence for involvement of the melanocortin MC4 receptor in the effects of leptin on food intake and body weight. Eur J Pharmacol 360:15–19
- Keller M, Montgomery S, Ball W, Morrison M, Snavely D, Liu G, Hargreaves R, Hietala J, Lines C, Beebe K, Reines S (2006) Lack of efficacy of the substance p (neurokinin1 receptor) antagonist aprepitant in the treatment of major depressive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 59:216–223
- Kirsch P, Esslinger C, Chen Q, Mier D, Lis S, Siddhanti S, Gruppe H, Mattay VS, Gallhofer B, Meyer-Lindenberg A (2005) Oxytocin modulates neural circuitry for social cognition and fear in humans. J Neurosci 25:11489–11493
- Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K (1999) Ghrelin is a growthhormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nature 402:656–660
- Kosfeld M, Heinrichs M, Zak PJ, Fischbacher U, Fehr E (2005) Oxytocin increases trust in humans. Nature 435:673–676
- Kramer MS, Cutler NR, Ballenger JC, Patterson WM, Mendels J, Chenault A, Shrivastava R, Matzura-Wolfe D, Lines C, Reines S (1995) A placebo-controlled trial of L-365, 260, a CCKB antagonist, in panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 37:462–466
- Kramer MS, Cutler N, Feighner J, Shrivastava R, Carman J, Sramek JJ, Reines SA, Liu G, Snavely D, Wyatt-Knowles E, Hale JJ, Mills SG, MacCoss M, Swain CJ, Harrison T, Hill RG, Hefti F, Scolnick EM, Cascieri MA, Chicchi GG, Sadowski S, Williams AR, Hewson L, Smith D, Carlson EJ, Hargreaves RJ, Rupniak NM (1998) Distinct mechanism for antidepressant activity by blockade of central substance P receptors. Science 281:1640–1645
- Kramer MS, Winokur A, Kelsey J, Preskorn SH, Rothschild AJ, Snavely D, Ghosh K, Ball WA, Reines SA, Munjack D, Apter JT, Cunningham L, Kling M, Bari M, Getson A, Lee Y (2004) Demonstration of the efficacy and safety of a novel substance P (NK1) receptor antagonist in major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:385–392
- Kronenberg G, Berger P, Tauber RF, Bandelow B, Henkel V, Heuser I (2005) Randomized, double-blind study of SR142801 (Osanetant). A novel neurokinin-3 (NK3) receptor antagonist in panic disorder with pre- and posttreatment cholecystokinin tetrapeptide (CCK-4) challenges. Pharmacopsychiatry 38:25–29

- Landgraf R (1985) Plasma oxytocin concentrations in man after different routes of administration of synthetic oxytocin. Exp Clin Endocrinol 85:245–248
- Landgraf R (2005) Neuropeptides in anxiety modulation. Handb Exp Pharmacol 169:335-369
- Lines C, Challenor J, Traub M (1995) Cholecystokinin and anxiety in normal volunteers: an investigation of the anxiogenic properties of pentagastrin and reversal by the cholecystokinin receptor subtype B antagonist L-365, 260. Br J Clin Pharmacol 39:235–242
- Ma JN, Schiffer HH, Knapp AE, Wang J, Wong KK, Currier EA, Owens M, Nash NR, Gardell LR, Brann MR, Olsson R, Burstein ES (2007) Identification of the atypical L-type Ca²⁺ channel blocker diltiazem and its metabolites as ghrelin receptor agonists. Mol Pharmacol 72:380–386
- Makrigiannakis A, Zoumakis E, Kalantaridou S, Chrousos G, Gravanis A (2004) Participation of maternal and fetal CRH in early phases of human implantation: the role of antalarmin. Curr Drug Targets Immune Endocr Metabol Disord 4:75–78
- McCann UD, Slate SO, Geraci M, Roscow-Terrill D, Uhde TW (1997) A comparison of the effects of intravenous pentagastrin on patients with social phobia, panic disorder and healthy controls. Neuropsychopharmacology 16:229–237
- Mezey E, Reisine TD, Skirboll L, Beinfeld M, Kiss JZ (1985) Cholecystokinin in the medial parvocellular subdivision of the paraventricular nucleus. Co-existence with corticotropinreleasing hormone. Ann N Y Acad Sci 448:152–156
- Michelgard A, Appel L, Pissiota A, Frans O, Langstrom B, Bergstrom M, Fredrikson M (2007) Symptom provocation in specific phobia affects the substance P neurokinin-1 receptor system. Biol Psychiatry 61:1002–1006
- Nemeroff CB, Bremner JD, Foa EB, Mayberg HS, North CS, Stein MB (2006) Posttraumatic stress disorder: a state-of-the-science review. J Psychiatric Res 40:1–21
- Pande AC, Greiner M, Adams JB, Lydiard RB, Pierce MW (1999) Placebo-controlled trial of the CCK-B antagonist, CI-988, in panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 46:860–862
- Rinaman L, Hoffman GE, Dohanics J, Le WW, Stricker EM, Verbalis JG (1995) Cholecystokinin activates catecholaminergic neurons in the caudal medulla that innervate the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus in rats. J Comp Neurol 360:246–256
- Rupniak NM, Webb JK, Fisher A, Smith D, Boyce S (2003) The substance P (NK1) receptor antagonist L-760735 inhibits fear conditioning in gerbils. Neuropharmacology 44:516–523
- Sahuque LL, Kullberg EF, Mcgeehan AJ, Kinder JR, Hicks MP, Blanton MG, Janak PH, Olive MF (2006) Anxiogenic and aversive effects of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis in the rat: role of CRF receptor subtypes. Psychopharmacology 186:122–132
- Sanchez-Fernandez C, Gonzalez C, Mercer LD, Beart PM, Ruiz-Gayo M, Fernandez-Alfonso MS (2003) Cholecystokinin induces cerebral vasodilatation via presynaptic CCK2 receptors: new implications for the pathophysiology of panic. J Cereb Blood Flow Metabol 23:364–370
- Skuladottir GV, Jonsson L, Skarphedinsson JO, Mutulis F, Muceniece R, Raine A, Mutule I, Helgason J, Prusis P, Wikberg JE, Schioth HB (1999) Long term orexigenic effect of a novel melanocortin 4 receptor selective antagonist. Br J Pharmacol 126:27–34
- Smoller JW, Rosenbaum JF, Biederman J, Kennedy J, Dai D, Racette SR, Laird NM, Kagan J, Snidman N, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Tsuang MT, Sklar PB, Slaugenhaupt SA (2003) Association of a genetic marker at the corticotropin-releasing hormone locus with behavioral inhibition. Biol Psychiatry 54:1376–1381
- Smoller JW, Yamaki LH, Fagerness JA, Biederman J, Racette S, Laird NM, Kagan J, Snidman N, Faraone SV, Hirshfeld-Becker D, Tsuang MT, Slaugenhaupt SA, Rosenbaum JF, Sklar PB (2005) The corticotropin-releasing hormone gene and behavioral inhibition in children at risk for panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 57:1485–1492
- Sramek JJ, Kramer MS, Reines SA, Cutler NR (1994–1995) Pilot study of a CCKB antagonist in patients with panic disorder: preliminary findings. Anxiety 1:141–143
- Steckler T (2005) CRF antagonists as novel treatment strategies for stress-related disorders. In: Steckler T, Kalin NH, Reul JMHM (eds) Handbook of stress and the brain, part 2: integrative and clinical aspects. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 373–407

- Steckler T (2008) Peptide receptor ligands to treat anxiety disorders. In: Blanchard RJ, Blanchard DC, Griebel G, Nutt D (eds) Handbook of anxiety and fear. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 157–221
- Steckler T, Dautzenberg F (2006) Corticotropin-releasing factor antagonists in affective disorders and drug dependence – an update. CNS Neurol Disorders Drug Targets 5:147–165
- Steckler T, Holsboer F (1999) Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor subtypes and emotion. Biol Psychiatry 46:1480–1508
- Steckler T, Stein MB, Holmes A (2008) Developing novel anxiolytics: improving preclinical detection and clinical assessment. In: McArthur R, Borsini F (eds) Animal and translational models for CNS discovery, vol 1. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 117–132
- Strohle A, Kellner M, Holsboer F, Wiedemann K (2001) Anxiolytic activity of atrial natriuretic peptide in patients with panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 158:1514–1516
- Tschop M, Smiley DL, Heiman ML (2000) Ghrelin induces adiposity in rodents. Nature 407:908–991
- Van Megen HJ, Westenberg HG, Den Boer JA, Slaap B, Van Es-Radhakishun F, Pande AC (1997) The cholecystokinin-B receptor antagonist CI-988 failed to affect CCK-4 induced symptoms in panic disorder patients. Psychopharmacology 129:243–248
- Van Vliet IM, Westenberg HG, Slaap BR, Den Boer JA, Ho Pian KL (1997) Anxiogenic effects of pentagastrin in patients with social phobia and healthy controls. Biol Psychiatry 42:76–78
- Wiedemann K, Jahn H, Yassouridis A, Kellner M (2001) Anxiolyticlike effects of atrial natriuretic peptide on cholecystokinin tetrapeptide-induced panic attacks: preliminary findings. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:371–377
- Yajima Y, Narita M, Takahashi-Nakano Y, Misawa M, Nagase H, Mizoguchi H, Tseng LF, Suzuki T (2000) Effects of differential modulation of mu-, delta- and kappa-opioid systems on bicuculline-induced convulsions in the mouse. Brain Res 862:120–126
- Yehuda R, Giller EL, Southwick SM, Lowry MT, Mason JW (1991) Hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal dysfunction in posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 30:1031–1048
- Zobel AW, Nickel T, Kunzel HE, Ackl N, Sonntag A, Ising M, Holsboer F (2000) Effects of the high-affinity corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 antagonist R121919 in major depression: the first 20 patients treated. J Psychiatric Res 34:171–181
- Zorrilla EP, Koob GF (2004) The therapeutic potential of CRF1 antagonists for anxiety. Exp Opin Invest Drugs 13:799–828
Cannabinoids and Anxiety

Fabrício A. Moreira and Carsten T. Wotjak

Contents

1	Introduction	431
2	The Endocannabinoid System of the Brain	433
3	How to Study the Role of the Endocannabinoid System	436
	3.1 Monitoring of Endocannabinoid Signaling	436
	3.2 Attenuation of Endocannabinoid Signaling	437
	3.3 Facilitation of Endocannabinoid Signaling	437
4	Animal Models of Fear and Anxiety	439
5	Role of Cannabinoids and Endocannabinoids in Fear and Anxiety - Animal Studies	441
	5.1 Unconditioned Fear/Anxiety	441
	5.2 Conditioned Fear	443
6	Role of (Endo)Cannabinoids in Fear and Anxiety – Situation in Humans	445
7	The Endocannabinoid System in Fear and Anxiety – Theoretical and Practical	
	Considerations	446
Ref	ferences	. 448

Abstract The term cannabinoids encompasses compounds produced by the plant *Cannabis sativa*, such as Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol, and synthetic counterparts. Their actions occur mainly through activation of cannabinoid type 1 (CB1) receptors. Arachidonoyl ethanolamide (anandamide) and 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG) serve as major endogenous ligands (endocannabinoids) of CB1 receptors. Hence, the cannabinoid receptors, the endocannabinoids, and their metabolizing enzymes comprise the endocannabinoid system.

F.A. Moreira

C.T. Wotjak (🖂)

Department of Pharmacology, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Av. Antônio Carlos 6627, Belo Horizonte, MG 31270-901, Brazil

Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Neural Plasticity/Mouse Behaviour Group, Kraepelinstrasse 2-10, D-80804 Munich, Germany

e-mail: wotjak@mpipsykl.mpg.de

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 17 September 2009

Cannabinoids induce diverse responses on anxiety- and fear-related behaviors. Generally, low doses tend to induce anxiolytic-like effects, whereas high doses often cause the opposite. Inhibition of endocannabinoid degradation seems to circumvent these biphasic effects by enhancing CB1 receptor signaling in a temporarily and spatially restricted manner, thus reducing anxiety-like behaviors. Pharmacological blockade or genetic deletion of CB1 receptors, in turn, primarily exerts anxiogenic-like effects and impairments in extinction of aversive memories. Interestingly, pharmacological blockade of Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid Type-1 (TRPV1) channel, which can be activated by anandamide as well, has diametrically opposite consequences. This book chapter summarizes and conceptualizes our current knowledge about the role of (endo)cannabinoids in fear and anxiety and outlines implications for an exploitation of the endocannabinoid system as a target for new anxiolytic drugs.

Keywords Cannabinoids · Endocannabinoids · Fear · Anxiety · Stress

Abbreviations

2-AG	2-Arachidonoyl glycerol (endocannabinoid; i.e., activates CB1 receptors)
AA-5HT	Arachidonoyl serotonin (synthetic inhibitor of FAAH-mediated endocannabinoid degradation and TRPV1 antagonist)
AEA	Anandamide or arachidonoyl ethanolamide (endocannabinoid
	and endovanilloid; i.e., activates CB1 receptors and TRPV1)
AM251	(Synthetic CB1 receptor antagonist)
AM404	(Synthetic inhibitor of endocannabinoid uptake and FAAH-
	mediated degradation)
CB1	Cannabinoid type 1 receptor
CB2	Cannabinoid type 2 receptor
CBD	Cannabidiol (phytocannabinoid)
CP-55940	(Synthetic CB1 receptor agonist)
Cre/loxP	(Recombinatory system used in conditional mouse mutagenesis)
FAAH	Fatty acid amide hydrolase (major degrading enzyme of AEA)
GABA	Gama-aminobutyric acid (major inhibitory transmitter of the brain)
GPR55	(G-protein-coupled cannabinoid receptor)
HU210	(Synthetic CB1 receptor agonist)
JZL184	(Synthetic inhibitor of MGL-mediated endocannabinoid
	degradation)
MGL	Monoacylglycerol lipase (major degrading enzyme of AEA)
PAG	Periaqueductal grey (matter brain structure orchestrating fear responses)

(cannabinoid receptor)
(Synthetic TRPV1 antagonist)
Rimonabant/acomplia TM (synthetic CB1 receptor antagonist)
(Synthetic CB2 receptor antagonist)
Δ^9 -Tetrahydrocannabinol (phytocannabinoid; major psychoactive
ingredient of Cannabis sativa)
Transient receptor potential vanilloid type-1 channel
(Synthetic inhibitor of endocannabinoid uptake)
(Synthetic inhibitor of FAAH-mediated endocannabinoid degra-
dation)
(Synthetic inhibitor of endocannabinoid uptake)
(Synthetic CB1 receptor agonist)

"Lets us hope that through better understanding of Cannabis chemistry in the brain we may also approach the chemistry of emotions." Mechoulam et al. (1991)

1 Introduction

The plant *Cannabis sativa* has been used for medical and recreational purposes for more than 5000 years. It has been known since these early times that smoking of Cannabis (marijuana) may induce a state of euphoria, relaxation, sense of delight, and increase in sociability. Occasionally, however, it may cause anxiety, panic, delusions or psychotic-like symptoms. The psychoactive ingredient of Cannabis could be identified and characterized only in 1964. Raphael Mechoulam and his coworker (1964) isolated it as a lipid compound, an aromatic terpenoid named Δ^9 tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC; Fig. 1). Today we know that Cannabis extracts contain more than 70 biologically active compounds, including the nonpsychoactive cannabidiol (Fig. 1) and cannabinol.

The identification of these natural cannabinoids, or phytocannabinoids, led to the synthesis of several analogues, termed synthetic cannabinoids, which were able to mimic the effects of Δ^9 -THC with higher potency and which contributed to elucidating the pharmacology of this group of substances. Among the main synthetic cannabinoids are nabilone, CP-55940, and WIN-55212-2 (Fig. 1). In addition, the refinement of animal models allowed a better characterization of their effects. For instance, with the Tetrad test a pharmacological assay was developed in which cannabinoids could be identified by their capacity to induce analgesia, hypothermia, hypolocomotion, and catalepsy. Nonetheless, it took several decades until their mechanisms of action started to be unraveled.

For a long time, Δ^9 -THC and other cannabinoids were thought to exert their biological effects by changing biophysical characteristics of cell membranes. Only at the end of the 1980s a cannabinoid receptor could be identified, followed



Fig. 1 Chemical structures of selected compounds that act on the endocannabinoid/endovanilloid system. Phytocannabinoids (originating from *C. sativa*), endocannabinoids and synthetic ligands activate (blue), inhibit (red) or bypass (black) cannabinoid type 1 (CB1) receptor signaling. Anandamide may activate Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid Type-1 (TRPV1) channels in addition to CB1, thus acting as an endovanilloid and endocannabinoid at the same time (see text for further details)

by the discovery of endogenous ligands, referred to as endocannabinoids. The endocannabinoids along with their receptors and enzymes for synthesis and catabolism constitute the endocannabinoid system. Thus, a clear distinction should be made between the terms cannabinoids (i.e., phytocannabinoids or synthetic analogues) and endocannabinoids synthesized by vertebrates.

Today we know that the endocannabinoid system is involved in a plethora of biological functions ranging from brain development and organogenesis to control of energy expenditure, food intake, pain perception, and inflammation to regulation of cognition, stress responses, and positive as well as negative affects. This chapter will summarize current evidence concerning the effects of cannabinoids and the role of endocannabinoids in fear and anxiety, ending with conceptualizing principles of endocannabinoid action and recommendations for a pharmacological exploitation of the endocannabinoid system for the treatment of human anxiety disorders.

2 The Endocannabinoid System of the Brain

The first cannabinoid receptor was identified in the rodent brain after studies with radioactively labeled synthetic cannabinoids in 1988 (Devane et al. 1988), followed by its cloning (Matsuda et al. 1990). The biochemical characterization unveiled a 7-transmembrane, G-protein-coupled receptor. Later on, another metabotropic receptor was identified. The International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology (IUPHAR) named these receptors Cannabinoid receptor type 1 (CB1) and Cannabinoid receptor type 2 (CB2), respectively (Howlett et al. 2002). Most of the psychoactive actions of Cannabis seem to be mediated via CB1 receptors. Its strong expression within the brain fits well with these neuropharmacological effects. For instance, CB1 receptors are densely expressed throughout the cerebral cortex and the hippocampal formation, possibly explaining why Cannabis smoke induces impairments in learning and memory. Furthermore, CB1 receptor density is also extremely high in the basal ganglia and cerebellum, which may account for the motor impairment induced by marijuana. Furthermore, the expression in amygdala and periaqueductal gray may account for the emotional effects and analgesia. The absence in midbrain regions responsible for the control of breathing rhythms may explain why cannabinoids, contrary to opioids, do not induce respiratory depression (Howlett et al. 2002).

The story of cannabinoids recapitulates the discovery of the mechanisms of opioid action. Morphine was isolated in the nineteenth century and opioid receptors were identified in the 1970s, followed by the characterization of endogenous ligands (endorphins) shortly thereafter. Accordingly, the race for the identification of endogenous binding partners was opened as soon as the first cannabinoid receptor had been discovered. The first endocannabinoid was identified in the porcine brain in 1992. In line with the chemistry of natural and synthetic cannabinoids, this mammalian cannabinoid proved to be also a lipid, the arachidonic acid derivate arachidonoyl ethanolamide (Fig. 1), also termed anandamide (from the Sanskrit word *ananda* for "bliss") (Devane et al. 1992). A second endocannabinoid could be identified as 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG; Fig. 1) shortly thereafter (Mechoulam et al. 1995; Sugiura et al. 1995). Other putative

endocannabinoids are *N*-arachidonoyl dopamine, virodhamine, and noladin ether, all amide or ester analogues of arachidonic acid (Di Marzo et al. 2004; Piomelli 2003).

Endocannabinoids have several characteristics that distinguish them from classical neurotransmitters. According to the traditional view, neurotransmitters are synthesized in presynaptic neurons and stored in vesicles to be released after neural activation and subsequent calcium influx. On the contrary, endocannabinoids are synthesized from membrane lipids in postsynaptic neurons after calcium influx that follows neural activation. Anandamide synthesis primarily depends on the activity of phospholipase D, whereas 2-AG synthesis involves phospholipase C. Also diverging from the classical concept of neurotransmission, endocannabinoids immediately diffuse to the synaptic cleft, instead of being stored in vesicles (Piomelli 2003). Complementing this picture, CB1 receptors are mainly located in presynaptic terminals. Activation of CB1 receptors leads to a decrease in synaptic transmission via a complex set of intracellular signaling cascades. Thus, endocannabinoids act as retrograde messengers, which are synthesized and released on demand following depolarization of the postsynapse to reach presynaptically localized CB1 receptors, where they restrain the release of neurotransmitters (Fig. 2).

Not only the release of endocannabinoids, but also their range of action are tightly controlled in temporal and spatial terms. Endocannabinoids are internalized and hydrolyzed inside neurons. The exact uptake mechanisms responsible for these processes are still unknown. Two – mutually not exclusive – possibilities have been proposed in this context: First, endocannabinoids might cross the cell membrane along a concentration gradient in a passive process not governed by any enzyme or transport protein. Second, a protein transporter might exist, which favors the movement of endocannabinoids through the cell membrane. The later view is supported by experiments showing that the uptake process is saturable, temperature-dependent, and can be inhibited by specific compounds (Piomelli 2003). Nonetheless, an "endocannabinoid transporter" could not be identified and cloned yet.

Once inside neurons, endocannabinoids are catabolized by different enzymes. Anandamide undergoes hydrolysis by the enzyme fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH), an integral membrane protein identified primarily in postsynaptic sites in rodents and primates (Fig. 2). FAAH breaks down anandamide into arachidonic acid and ethanolamine. 2-AG, in contrast, is hydrolyzed mainly by presynaptically localized monoacylglycerol lipase (MGL; Piomelli 2003; Fig. 2).

In the past decade it became evident that endocannabinoid-controlled neuronal activity represents a fundamental principle of the central nervous system with large implications on brain development (Harkany et al. 2007), synaptic plasticity (Chevaleyre et al. 2006), and behavior (Moreira and Lutz 2008). This might be partially explained by the observation that CB1 receptors belong to the most abundantly expressed G-protein-coupled receptors of the brain. Nevertheless, CB1 receptors are not ubiquitously distributed throughout the entire brain, but show different levels of expression depending on the neuronal subtype. For instance, CB1 receptors are densely expressed in cholecystokinin-positive basket



Fig. 2 The endocannabinoid system of the brain. Endocannabinoids (anandamide, AEA, and 2-AG) are synthesized on demand following depolarization of the postsynaptic membrane (1) and/or activation of postsynaptic metabotropic receptors (not shown). They diffuse into the synaptic cleft to bind to presynaptically localized cannabinoid type 1 receptors (CB1) (2). Activation of CB1 receptors leads to an inhibition of transmitter release (3). Endocannabinoid signaling is terminated by cellular uptake processes, which likely involve transporter proteins (4), followed by intracellular hydrolysis of 2-AG by presynaptic monoacylglycerol lipase (MGL) (5) and of AEA by postsynaptic fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) (5). It remains to be shown that the same processes (1–5) apply to all of the different neuronal populations expressing CB1 receptors. Pharmacological compounds indicated in blue promote and those in red inhibit the respective processes (for chemical structures see Fig. 1). Noteworthy, AEA may additionally bind to cytosolic domains of postsynaptically localized Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid Type-1 (TRPV1) channels (6), thereby promoting activation of postsynaptic terminals

neurons that release gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA). The density seems to be lower, though not less functionally significant, in glutamate-releasing neurons. Indeed, pharmacological stimulation of CB1 receptors may inhibit either GABAor glutamate-mediated neural transmission (Marsicano and Lutz 2006).

In summary, the endocannabinoid system comprises the cannabinoid receptors, of which CB1 seems to be the most relevant in the brain, the endogenous ligands (endocannabinoids), such as anandamide and 2-AG, as well as the enzymes for synthesis and catabolism. Interestingly, anandamide seems to bind not only to

CB1, but also to the Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid Type-1 (TRPV1) channel, the receptor for capsaicin, the pungent ingredient of red hot chilli pepper (Fig. 1; Ross 2003). Within the central nervous system, TRPV1 might be expressed in postsynaptic terminals (Fig. 2). Activation of TRPV1 by intracellular binding of anandamide leads to an increase in postsynaptic activity, which is in striking contrast to the consequences of extracellular binding of anandamide to presynaptic CB1 receptors, thus suggesting opposing functions of the two receptor types (Starowicz et al. 2007). Other potential cannabinoid receptors are the GPR55, a G-protein-coupled receptor, and the peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor α (PPAR α), a nuclear receptor (Brown 2007; O'Sullivan, 2007). Finally, an allosteric site has been identified at the CB1 receptor, which remains to be further investigated (Ross 2007).

3 How to Study the Role of the Endocannabinoid System

Experiments with natural or synthetic cannabinoids may provide important insights into their pharmacological characteristics as a prerequisite for their future pharmacological exploitation. However, ubiquitous activation of CB1 receptors by exogenous agonists provide little – if any – information about the role of endogenous binding partners, keeping in mind the highly abundant expression of CB1 receptors and the diversification of the endocannabinoid system in terms of the endocannabinoids (which differ in their synthesis, range/duration of action, and degradation), the neuronal subpopulations affected, and the differential role of CB1 vs. TRPV1. Consequently, the biological functions of the endocannabinoid system in general and its implication in fear and anxiety in particular can only be achieved by monitoring the activity status of the endocannabinoid system and/or by inhibiting, respectively, increasing endocannabinoid signaling.

3.1 Monitoring of Endocannabinoid Signaling

As for many other transmitter systems, indirect conclusions about a potential involvement of the endocannabinoid system in distinct biological functions can be drawn by monitoring changes in its activity status, ranging from alterations in surface expression of CB1 receptors to changes in the activity of anabolic and catabolic enzymes to changes in endocannabinoid levels within the brain. Quantification of endocannabinoid levels turned out to be technically challenging due to the physicochemical characteristics and relatively low concentrations of the endocannabinoids. Other confounding factors are that both anandamide and 2-AG may result from rapid membrane degradation, thus requiring immediate processing of biological specimens, and that 2-AG is an intracellular intermediate product of multiple metabolic processes unrelated to endocannabinoid signaling. To deal with

this problem, recent studies tried to monitor the dynamics of 2-AG (and anandamide) release by means of in vivo microdialysis, thereby focusing on the amount of endocannabinoids, which reach the extracellular space, and thus become biologically active at CB1 receptors.

3.2 Attenuation of Endocannabinoid Signaling

Rimonabant (SR 141716A; Fig. 1; Rinaldi-Carmona et al. 1994) was the first CB1 receptor antagonist synthesized. This drug has provided invaluable insights into the physiology of the endocannabinoid system as well as in the pharmacology of cannabinoids. It blocks the action of cannabinoids in animals and of marijuana in humans and had been approved for the treatment of obesity in humans in Europe. In the meantime, several other CB1 antagonists have been developed, including AM251 (Gatley et al. 1996). In vitro experiments have suggested that both rimonabant and AM251 might act as inverse agonists, rather than silent antagonists have also been developed, such as SR144528 (Pertwee 2008). In addition, there are also antagonists for TRPV1 receptors, such as capsazepine (Fig. 1), 6-iodonordihy-drocapsaicine, iodo-resiniferatoxin, and SB366971 (Di Marzo et al. 2008).

By specific blockade of CB1 receptors (or TRPV1 channels) it is possible to measure cellular, physiological or behavioral consequences of attenuated endocannabinoid signaling. However, a certain lack of specificity of the anatagonists, in particular at higher doses, hampers the unequivocal interpretation of the findings. To circumvent these problems, mutant mice have been generated, which lack expression of CB1 (CB1-KO) or TRPV1 (TRPV1-KO). As expected, CB1-KO does not respond to cannabinoid injection (Fig. 3). Further refinements of mouse genetics led to the development of conditional CB1 receptor knockout mice, whose CB1 receptor is deleted in neuronal subpopulations, such as GABAergic or cortical glutamatergic neurons by means of the Cre/loxP system (Fig. 3). The power of this approach has been recently demonstrated in context with the dissection of the transmitter systems implicated in tetrad effects of Δ^9 -THC (Monory et al. 2007; Fig. 4).

3.3 Facilitation of Endocannabinoid Signaling

Two main strategies have emerged for increasing endocannabinoid signaling at the level of their receptors: First, chemical compounds, such as AM404, VDM11 or UCM707, may interfere with the uptake of the endocannabinoids into pre- and/or postsynaptic terminals, thereby increasing the availability of endocannabinoids at CB1 receptors. However, their exact mechanisms of action still remain to be characterized. Moreover, these compounds lack specificity, as they may also interfere with endocannabinoid degradation and TRPV1 channels (Piomelli 2003).







Tetrad effects of Δ^9 -THC

Fig. 4 Dissection of the neurochemical signature of tetrad effects of D9-THC. In pharmacological studies, the efficiency of cannabinoids is assessed by four criteria, which include reduction in locomotion, decrease in body temperature, increase in analgesia and increase in catalepsy (i.e., tetrad effects). Wild-type mice (white bars) respond to D9-THC (10 mg/kg) in the expected manner, whereas mice with complete absence of CB1 (Total CB1-KO) fail to respond at all, thus indicating the dependency of the tetrad effects on CB1. To further dissect the neurochemical signature of the tetrad effects, a variety of different conditional knockout mice that lack expression of CB1 in projection neurons of the forebrain (CamK-CB1-KO), in all GABAergic neurons of the brain (GABA-CB1-KO), in cortical glutamatergic neurons (Glu-CB1-KO) or in neurons expressing the dopamine D1 receptor (D1-CB1-KO) were treated with D9-THC. The insets depict representative in situ hybridizations of CB1 mRNA in wild-type mice (left half) and conditional mutants (right half). By means of this approach it became evident that distinct neuronal subpopulations are responsible for distinct tetrad effects (e.g., D1 receptor-expressing neurons seem to mediate the effects of D9-THC on catalepsy) (modified from Monory et al. 2007)

Second, a very promising strategy for enhancing endocannabinoid signaling is based on the inhibition of their hydrolysis. Specific inhibitors of FAAH and MGL have been developed, which are able to increase the brain levels of anandamide and 2-AG, respectively. The most prominent inhibitor of FAAH is URB597, which causes a 5-fold increase in the brain levels of anandamide (Kathuria et al. 2003), thus corroborating findings obtained with genetic deletion of FAAH (Cravatt et al. 2001). MGL, in turn, is inhibited, among others, by JZL184, which causes an 8-fold increase in 2-AG tissue content. Contrary to blockade of FAAH, MGL blockade induces tetrad effects in mice (Long et al. 2009).

4 Animal Models of Fear and Anxiety

As described in other chapters of this book in more detail, fear and anxiety responses can be assessed in an unconditioned or a conditioned manner. Animal models of unconditioned fear and anxiety are based on the conflict between two opposing innate motivations: the drive to explore a novel environment (presumably in order to obtain food, shelter, to escape, or to find mating partners) on the one hand and avoidance of potentially dangerous places on the other hand. Behavioral paradigms most widely used in this context are the elevated plus maze (EPM), the light–dark avoidance test and the open field test, all of which measure avoidance of aversive compartments, such as of elevated open spaces (EPM), brightly lit compartments (light-dark avoidance), or the centre of an open field. Other models are the social interaction test (i.e., confrontation with a conspecific in a neutral test environment) and the Vogel conflict test (water consumption with the risk of receiving a mild electric shock; Sousa et al. 2006). Anxiolytic drugs shift the balance between approach and avoidance toward approach responses. The emotional load of the test situations can be modified, for instance, by changing the light conditions.

In the scientific literature, the terms "fear" and "anxiety" are often synonymously used, despite fundamental differences between the two emotional states. In their two-dimensional system of defense that is largely based on the conceptual work of Gray (1982), Blanchard and Blanchard (1988) and Deakin and Graeff (1991), McNaughton and Corr (2004) combined the concepts of defensive approach/avoid-ance and defensive distance, whereby defensive approach refers to anxiety states and defensive avoidance to fear (Fig. 5). Fear typically arises in situations with explicit (i.e., physical) confrontation with a threat, and fear responses (e.g., fight/flight, freezing, tachycardia) are often phasic and of reflexive nature. This might be explained by the fact that major relay stations and integrative centers of fear responses (e.g., periaqueductal gray, PAG) are located in the mid-/hindbrain. The



Fig. 5 The two-dimensional defense system. The two-dimensional defense system predicts that defensive distance to an explicit (fear) or a potential (anxiety) threat determines both fear (defensive avoidance) and anxiety (defensive approach) responses (modified from McNaughton and Corr 2004). A decrease in defensive distance coincides with an increase in negative emotional load. There is accumulating evidence that the endocannabinoid system becomes activated primarily in highly aversive situations with strong emotional load, thus suggesting its particular involvement in the control of fear reactions (see also Fig. 8). Fear and anxiety responses differ in the underlying neuronal circuitries (AMY – amygdala complex, HPC – hippocampus formation, PAG – periaqueductal grey, PFC – prefrontal cortex; the letter size indicates the strength of activation)

more tonic and diffuse anxiety responses, in contrast, crucially depend on the prefrontal cortex, the hippocampus and the amygdala (Fig. 5).

Animal models of conditioned fear are based on Pavlovian conditioning, whereby the animals associate an a priori neutral stimulus (i.e., cued fear conditioning) or environment (i.e., contextual fear conditioning) with a punishment (e.g., air puff or electric foot shock). On subsequent confrontation with that stimulus or environment, animals show a number of characteristic fear responses, including freezing (i.e., immobility) and potentiated startle responses. Interestingly, these fear responses are diminished following repeated exposure to the fear-eliciting stimuli in a process termed fear extinction (Myers and Davis 2007). Since conditioned fear is typically acquired in a single conditioning session, conditioning paradigms are predisposed for dissecting the role of cannabinoids and endocannabinoids in acquisition, consolidation, expression, and extinction of fear responses.

5 Role of Cannabinoids and Endocannabinoids in Fear and Anxiety – Animal Studies

Cannabinoids and drugs that interfere with the endocannabinoid system have been extensively studied in animal models of fear and anxiety. Considering that users self-administer marijuana to achieve a state of relaxation and bliss, one could infer that cannabinoids would induce anxiolytic-like effects in rodents. Yet, their effects remain controversial and a diversity of results has been reported. Actually, cannabis itself may also induce anxiety and panic attacks. Furthermore, its effects may depend on previous experiences and the context of use.

5.1 Unconditioned Fear/Anxiety

5.1.1 Natural and Synthetic Cannabinoids

Several cannabinoids have been investigated in animal models of anxiety-like behavior. Their effects tend to be complex and influenced by diverse factors. However, some common patterns start to emerge: as the main psychoactive ingredient of cannabis, Δ^9 -THC has attracted considerable attention and has been investigated, among others, in the elevated plus maze and the light–dark box. Its effects tend to be biphasic – doses below 1 mg/kg generally induce anxiolytic-like effects, whereas the opposite occurs with higher doses up to 10 mg/kg. Interestingly, Δ^9 -THC causes a strong activation of the hormonal stress responses at similarly high doses (Steiner and Wotjak 2008), thus indicating that it might be perceived as particularly stressful. Several synthetic cannabinoids have been investigated as well, including HU210, WIN-55212-2, and CP-55940, yielding similar results as those seen with Δ^9 -THC. Though complex, their pattern of action actually

mimics the effects of cannabis in humans, which may depend on dose, environmental influences and previous stress experiences (Viveros et al. 2005).

Apart from Δ^9 -THC, the only other phytocannabinoid that has been investigated in such models is cannabidiol (CBD), which also induces anxiolytic-like effects in the elevated plus maze and in the Vogel conflict test (Guimarães et al. 1990; Moreira et al. 2006). The effects of Δ^9 -THC and synthetic cannabinoids are blocked by the CB1 antagonist rimonabant, though the mechanisms of action of CBD remain unknown.

Some potential explanations for the diversity of cannabinoid effects are the interference with diverse neurotransmitter systems and the action in various brain regions. Depending on the dose administered, cannabinoids could inhibit GABA or glutamate activity in the brain, thus modulating neurotransmitters with opposite functions on fear and anxiety. Alternatively, the extensive distribution of CB1 receptors in the brain suggests that cannabinoids could differentially affect negative emotions at the different brain sites of the fear and the anxiety matrix, respectively (cf. Fig. 5; Moreira and Lutz 2008).

5.1.2 Enhancing the Levels of Endocannabinoids

The experiments described above are relevant for clarifying the pharmacology of cannabinoids, though they do not provide information about the role of the endocannabinoid system. Since endocannabinoids are produced on demand followed by rapid uptake and degradation, drugs that inhibit their hydrolysis lead to an activation of CB1 signaling in a temporally and spatially restricted manner. The anandamide-transporter inhibitor AM404, for instance, induces anxiolyticlike effects in the elevated plus maze, an effect blocked by rimonabant (Bortolato et al. 2006). This drug causes an increase in the brain levels of anandamide, but not of other endocannabinoids (Bortolato et al. 2006). However, a more extensively explored strategy is the inhibition of FAAH. The prototypical compound is URB597, which induces anxiolytic-like effects, in parallel with an increase in anandamide, but not 2-AG (Kathuria et al. 2003). Contrary to CB1 agonists, no bell-shaped curves have been reported for drugs that inhibit anandamide transport or hydrolysis. However, prevention of AEA degradation not necessarily exerts anxiolytic-like effects, which seem to critically depend on the test situation (Moreira and Lutz 2008). In addition, it remains to be shown how blocking of 2-AG degradation affects fear and anxiety.

5.1.3 Inactivation of CB1 Receptors

Inhibition of CB1 signaling by pharmacological or genetic means provides the most reasonable approach for studying the involvement of the endocannabinoid system in fear and anxiety. In the majority of studies, systemic treatment with CB1 receptor antagonists induces anxiogenic-like effects (Patel and Hillard

2006), in particular if the animals are tested under highly aversive conditions, such as in brightly lit environments (Haller et al. 2004). The same holds true for CB1 knockouts, which show an increase in anxiety-like behavior only in situations with high emotional load. The mechanisms underlying these anxiogenic-like effects are still unknown. They may involve an imbalance between GABAergic and glutamatergic transmission (Moreira and Lutz 2008). Certainly, behavioral analysis of conditional mutants with cell type-specific deletion of CB1 will help to resolve this issue.

Noteworthy, a shift of anandamide actions from CB1 towards TRPV1 receptors, which exert opposite effects on neurotransmission (Di Marzo et al. 2008), may lead to an opposite behavioral phenotype, in particular since attenuation of TRPV1 signaling has anxiolytic-like consequences (Marsch et al. 2007; Terzian et al. 2009).

5.1.4 Intracerebral Injections

The diversity of the responses obtained after systemic cannabinoid injections might be due to the differential role of CB1 receptors in specific brain regions. Therefore, intracerebral injections may unveil the function of this receptor and help to clarify the effects of cannabinoids (Moreira et al. 2009). For instance, anandamide induces anxiolytic-like effects when injected into the dorsolateral PAG, an effect which is blocked by the CB1 antagonist AM251 and mimicked by the selective CB1 agonist arachidonoyl chloroethylamide (Moreira et al. 2007). Anxiolytic-like effects were also observed after injection of Δ^9 -THC into the ventral hippocampus or the prefrontal cortex (Rubino et al. 2008). Therefore, these structures could be part of the brain circuitry responsible for the anxiolytic-like effects of cannabinoids (Fig. 5).

5.2 Conditioned Fear

In classical or Pavlovian conditioning paradigms, animals learn to associate a priori neutral stimuli or situations with a punishment. Subsequent encounter of these stimuli leads to pronounced fear responses, which are largely reflexive by nature (e.g., potentiated startle or freezing responses). In the absence of the predicted punishment, however, the fear responses decline both during the exposure and between exposures (i.e., within and between-session extinction). Fear extinction can result from habituation-like processes within the fear matrix as well as from relearning processes, during which the animals form a new inhibitory memory (stimulus–no-punishment association) that suppresses the original stimulus–punishment memory trace (Fig. 6). CB1 receptor signaling turned out to play an important role, not in acquisition of fear memories, but in fear extinction, since both



Fig. 6 Principles of fear extinction. In classical conditioning paradigms, animals and humans learn to associate a priori neutral stimuli or situations with a punishment. Re-exposure to those stimuli/situations triggers fear responses, which vanish in the absence of additional punishments. This process is termed fear extinction. It may result from relearning processes ("this stimulus/ situation does not predict a punishment anymore"), which inhibit expression of the original memory trace ("this stimulus/situation predicts a punishment"). In addition, fear response may wane in a nonassociative manner via habituation-like processes (fear relief). Evidence exists that endocannabinoids are primarily involved in fear relief, which, however, might be permissive for relearning processes

genetic and pharmacological inactivation of CB1 were accompanied by sustained, nondecaying fear responses following fear conditioning (Marsicano et al. 2002). Interestingly, endocannabinoids appear to be specifically involved in extinction of aversive memories, since extinction of appetitive memories was intact in CB1-deficient mice (Hölter et al. 2005). Endocannabinoid-controlled fear extinction seems to critically depend on the amygdala, where the endocannabinoid system becomes activated during recall of aversive memories (Marsicano et al. 2002). Furthermore, systemic treatment with inhibitors of endocannabinoid uptake and/or degradation facilitated extinction of conditioned fear in a CB1-dependent manner (Chhatwal et al. 2005). Recent evidence suggests that endocannabinoids primarily affect habituation-like processes, which are thought to underlie acute fear relief rather than relearning processes per se (Kamprath et al. 2006; Fig. 6). In this context, it became evident that the averseness of a stimulus or test situation has to exceed a certain threshold, before the endocannabinoid system becomes activated and exerts its fear alleviating effects, most likely by influencing cortical glutamatergic neurons (Kamprath et al. 2009). Consequently, the endocannabinoid system seems to serve as a protective system which prevents the occurrence of exaggerated fear responses, e.g., by controlling glutamatergic transmission within the fear matrix (Fig. 7).

It is of note that extinction training resembles repeated exposures to homotypic stressors, which are associated with a priming of the endocannabinoid system (in particular of 2-AG signaling) in cortical brain structures that actively mediates long-term habituation of the stress responses during subsequent encounters (Patel and Hillard 2008). It is tempting to assume that similar processes account, at least in part, for endocannabinoid-controlled fear extinction.



Fig. 7 A cellular model of endocannabinoid-controlled fear relief. (**a**) In situations with low negative emotional load, animals show negligible levels of fear. (**b**) In situations with high negative emotional load, in contrast, the fear matrix becomes strongly activated (see Fig. 5). (**c**) As a consequence of the intense activation of interneuronal communication, neurotransmitters [e.g., glutamate (Glu) or acetylcholine (Ach)] may reach extrasynaptically localized metabotropic receptors by synaptic spill-over, thus triggering endocannabinoid [i.e., anadamide (AEA) and 2-AG] synthesis and release. The endocannabinoids, in turn, downregulate transmitter release via presynaptically localized CB1 receptors, thereby mediating fear relief

Similar to unconditioned fear, the role of TRPV1 in fear conditioning appears to be opposite to that of CB1, since TRPV1 knockout mice show reduced levels of conditioned fear (Marsch et al. 2007).

6 Role of (Endo)Cannabinoids in Fear and Anxiety – Situation in Humans

Information concerning the role of endocannabinoids in the modulation of anxiety in humans is still quite limited. Cannabis consumption may induce a diversity of effects, ranging from relaxation and a "high" to anxiety and panic attacks (Hall and Solowij 1998), implying a complex role of CB1 signaling on the modulation of emotional states. Pure Δ^9 -THC injection may not entirely mimic the effects of Cannabis, which has been reported to induce "bliss," though also psychotic states and anxiety (Ranganathan and D'Souza 2006). In addition, CB1 receptors rapidly desensitize following their activation by Δ^9 -THC, which renders it likely that part of the phenotype caused by Δ^9 -THC or Cannabis intoxication relates to attenuated rather than promoted CB1 signaling.

Interestingly, clinical trials investigating the therapeutic potential of the CB1 receptor antagonist rimonabant for the treatment of obesity and cardiovascular disorders, such as the Rimonabant in Obesity (RIO) or the Strategy to Reduce Arteriosclerosis Development Involving Administration of Rimonabant—The Intravascular Ultrasound Study (STRADIVARIUS) studies, revealed the importance of endocannabinoids in the modulation of emotionality in humans, since a significant percentage of patients taking rimonabant reported feelings of anxiety and depression and an increase in suicidal thoughts (Christensen et al. 2007; Nissen et al. 2008). Rimonabant eventually reached the market in Europe as AcompliaTM, only to be withdrawn shortly thereafter due to major concerns about psychiatric side-effects. Because of the same reasons, the Federal Drug Administration failed to approve the prescription of rimonabant in North America. In any case, the rimonabant saga provided evidence that endocannabinoids may tonically modulate mood and anxiety not only in lab animals, but also in humans, thus illustrating the power of translational research.

7 The Endocannabinoid System in Fear and Anxiety – Theoretical and Practical Considerations

The majority of preclinical and clinical studies report a distinctive role of the endocannabinoid system in dampening negative affects associated with fear, anxiety, and stress. However, even in normal healthy subjects, the endocannabinoid system shows a limited range of action with a lower and upper threshold (Fig. 8). The lower threshold depends on the averseness of a test situation, since the negative emotional load of a test situation has to exceed a certain threshold in order to activate endocannabinoid synthesis and release. Because of the close relationship between decrease in defensive distance, lack of controllability, and increase in emotional load (McNaughton and Corr 2004; cf. Fig. 5), this applies in particular to highly aversive situations, which cannot be avoided by the animals. It is conceivable that the spill-over of transmitters out of the synaptic cleft to extra-synaptic metabotropic receptors triggers the activation of endocannabinoid signaling, which in turn downregulates transmitter release from presynaptic butons in the vicinity of the synapse (Fig. 7).

Fear responses may depend on the defensive distance not only in quantitative, but also in qualitative terms. Rats and mice, for instance, switch from arousal and



Fig. 8 The critical range hypothesis of endocannabinoid action. (a) The negative emotional load (cf. Fig. 5) has to exceed a certain threshold before the endocannabinoid system (ECS) becomes activated (cf. Fig. 7). After binding to CB1 receptors, the endocannabinoids delay the further increase in fear responses despite steadily increasing emotional load. However, the capacity of the endocannabinoid system is limited by efficient uptake and degradation processes. In addition, intracellularly accumulated anandamide may bind to postsynaptic TRPV1 channels. Together, these processes unleash fear responses from regulatory constraints of CB1 signaling. Consequently, in organisms with intact CB1 receptors (e.g., wild-type mice, CB1-WT), the critical range of endocannabinoid action serves as a high- and low-pass filter, which ensures moderate fear responses over a broad range of aversive conditions, without precluding exaggerated fear responses to lifethreatening stimuli. This situation may become maladaptive in case of organisms with impaired CB1 signaling (e.g., CB1-deficient mice, CB1-KO), which may show inadequately strong fear responses already to situations of moderate averseness. (b) The same model explains dynamic changes of fear responses to stimuli/situations of a given emotional load, whereby intact CB1 signaling (e.g., in CB1-WT) mediates fear relief, whereas blocked CB1 signaling (e.g., in CB1-KO) leads to sustained fear responses

exploratory behavior (risk assessment) to behavioral immobility (freezing) to fight/ flight in response to an approaching threat (e.g., a cat; Blanchard and Blanchard 1988). The adaptive value of fear reduction may become maladaptive, if the animals continue to show freezing or arousal in response to the approaching predator, when fight or flight responses would be a more adequate strategy for escaping from the dangerous situation. The endocannabinoid system seems to permit such switches in behavioral strategies despite its fear-alleviating effects, because its range of action appears to be limited by an upper threshold. This threshold is defined by highly efficient uptake and degradation processes, which omit the endogenous binding partners of the CB1 receptors. The resulting increase in anandamide in postsynaptic terminals may lead to an activation of TRPV1 receptor channels, which show a 10-times lower affinity for anandamide than CB1 (Pertwee 2008; Ross 2003) and which promote fear responses (Marsch et al. 2007; Terzian et al. 2009). We, therefore, propose that the endocannabinoid system acts as a kind of high- and low-pass filter which ensures moderate fear responses in situations with intermediate to high emotional load without precluding exaggerated fear responses in life-threatening situations (Fig. 8a). At the same time, the endocannabinoid system mediates fear relief via habituation-like processes to enduring

threatening stimuli (Fig. 8b), thus enabling the animals to return to housekeeping functions (e.g., feeding or nursing) and/or to extinguish aversive memories (Fig. 6).

In translational terms, the theoretical considerations arising from animal studies suggest that imbalances in the endocannabinoid system may contribute to human psychiatric disorders, which are associated with exaggerated fear responses, such as phobias and panic disorder, or the perseverance of aversive memories, such as posttraumatic stress disorder. Accordingly, broadening of the range of endocannabinoid action by pharmacological means might represent a novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of these disorders. The use of cannabinoids to increase CB1 receptor signaling appears to be less promising, taking into consideration the variety of side effects (Fig. 4) and the possibility of rapid receptor desensitization. Much more promising would be to inhibit endocannabinoid uptake and degradation. In fact, inhibition of 2-AG and/or anandamide hydrolysis would enhance CB1 signaling in a temporally and spatially restricted manner. A particularly innovative approach would be to combine blockade of anandamide hydrolysis with antagonism of TRPV1, thereby promoting fear-alleviating/anxiolytic effects caused by activation of CB1 and preventing fear-promoting/anxiogenic effects mediated by TRPV1 at the same time. The success of this strategy was recently shown for arachidonoyl serotonin (AA-5HT), which exerted prominent anxiolytic effects (Micale et al. 2009).

Despite the tremendous progress in our knowledge about the physiology and pathology of the endocannabinoid system and potential consequences for health and disease in the recent years, this system still keeps a plethora of secrets waiting to be uncovered. Its pharmacological exploitation, which has started with the first use of Cannabis extracts more than 5000 years ago, has not yet come to an end, but, hopefully, will enter a new avenue away from fundamentalist concerns for the benefit of the patients.

References

- Blanchard DC, Blanchard RJ (1988) Ethoexperimental approaches to the biology of emotion. Annu Rev Psychol 39:43–68
- Bortolato M, Campolongo P, Mangieri RA et al (2006) Anxiolytic-like properties of the anandamide transport inhibitor AM404. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:2652–2659
- Brown AJ (2007) Novel cannabinoid receptors. Br J Pharmacol 152:567-575
- Chevaleyre V, Takahashi KA, Castillo PE (2006) Endocannabinoid-mediated synaptic plasticity in the CNS. Annu Rev Neurosci 29:37–76
- Chhatwal JP, Davis M, Maguschak KA, Ressler KJ et al (2005) Enhancing cannabinoid neurotransmission augments the extinction of conditioned fear. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:516–524
- Christensen R, Kristensen PK, Bartels EM et al (2007) Efficacy and safety of the weight-loss drug rimonabant: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 370:1706–1713
- Cravatt BF, Demarest K, Patricelli MP et al (2001) Supersensitivity to anandamide and enhanced endogenous cannabinoid signaling in mice lacking fatty acid amide hydrolase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:9371–9376

- Deakin JFW, Graeff FG (1991) 5-HT and mechanisms of defence. J Psychopharmacol 5:305-315
- Devane WA, Dysarz FA III, Johnson MR et al (1988) Determination and characterization of a cannabinoid receptor in rat brain. Mol Pharmacol 34:605–613
- Devane WA, Hanus L, Breuer A et al (1992) Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. Science 258:1946–1949
- Di Marzo V, Bifulco M, De Petrocellis L (2004) The endocannabinoid system and its therapeutic exploitation. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3:771–784
- Di Marzo V, Gobbi G, Szallasi A (2008) Brain TRPV1: a depressing TR(i)P down memory lane? Trends Pharmacol Sci 29:594–600
- Gaoni Y, Mechoulam R (1964) Isolation, structure and partial synthesis of an active constituent of hashish. J Am Chem Soc 86:1646
- Gatley SJ, Gifford AN, Volkow ND et al (1996) 3I-labeled AM251: a radioiodinated ligand which binds in vivo to mouse brain cannabinoid CB1 receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 307:331–338
- Gray JA (1982) The Neuropsychology of anxiety: an enquiry into the functions of the septohippocampal system, 1st edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Guimarães FS, Chiaretti TM, Graeff FG, Zuardi AW (1990) Antianxiety effect of cannabidiol in the elevated plus-maze. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 100:558–559
- Hall W, Solowij N (1998) Adverse effects of cannabis. Lancet 352:1611-1616
- Haller J, Varga B, Ledent C et al (2004) Context-dependent effects of CB1 cannabinoid gene disruption on anxiety-like and social behaviour in mice. Eur J Neurosci 19:1906–1912
- Harkany T, Guzmán M, Galve-Roperh I et al (2007) The emerging functions of endocannabinoid signaling during CNS development. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28:83–92
- Hölter SM, Kallnik M, Wurst W et al (2005) Cannabinoid CB1 receptor is dispensable for memory extinction in an appetitively-motivated learning task. Eur J Pharmacol 510:69–74
- Howlett AC, Barth F, Bonner TI et al (2002) International Union of Pharmacology. XXVII. Classification of cannabinoid receptors. Pharmacol Rev 54:161–202
- Kamprath K, Marsicano G, Tang J et al (2006) Cannabinoid CB1 receptor mediates fear extinction via habituation-like processes. J Neurosci 26:6677–6686
- Kamprath K, Plendl W, Marsicano G et al (2009) Endocannabinoids mediate acute fear adaptation via glutamatergic neurons independently of corticotropin-releasing hormone signaling. Genes Brain Behav 8:203–211
- Kathuria S, Gaetani S, Fegley D et al (2003) Modulation of anxiety through blockade of anandamide hydrolysis. Nature Med 9:76–81
- Long JZ, Li W, Booker L et al (2009) Selective blockade of 2-arachidonoylglycerol hydrolysis produces cannabinoid behavioural effects. Nat Chem Biol 5:37–44
- Marsch R, Foeller E, Rammes G et al (2007) Reduced anxiety, conditioned fear, and hippocampal long-term potentiation in transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 receptor-deficient mice. J Neurosci 27:832–839
- Marsicano G, Lutz B (2006) Neuromodulatory functions of the endocannabinoid system. J Endocrinol Invest 29(Suppl 3):27–46
- Marsicano G, Wotjak CT, Azad SC et al (2002) The endogenous cannabinoid system controls extinction of aversive memories. Nature 418:530–534
- Matsuda LA, Lolait SJ, Brownstein MJ et al (1990) Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. Nature 346:561–564
- McNaughton N, Corr PJ (2004) Two-dimensional neuropsychology of defense: fear/anxiety and defensive distance. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 28:285–305
- Mechoulam R, Devane WA, Breuer A, Zahalka J (1991) A random walk through a cannabis field. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 40:461–464
- Mechoulam R, Ben-Shabat S, Hanus L et al (1995) Identification of an endogenous 2-monoglyceride, present in canine gut, that binds to cannabinoid receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 50:83–90

- Micale V, Cristino L, Tamburella A et al (2009) Anxiolytic effects in mice of a dual blocker of fatty acid amide hydrolase and transient receptor potential vanilloid type-1 channels. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:593–606
- Monory K, Blaudzun H, Massa F et al (2007) Genetic dissection of behavioural and autonomic effects of Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol in mice. PLoS Biol 5:e269
- Moreira FA, Lutz B (2008) The endocannabinoid system: emotion, learning and addiction. Addict Biol 13:196–212
- Moreira FA, Aguiar DC, Guimarães FS (2006) Anxiolytic-like effect of cannabidiol in the rat Vogel conflict test. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:1466–1471
- Moreira FA, Aguiar DC, Guimarães FS (2007) Anxiolytic-like effect of cannabinoids injected into the rat dorsolateral periaqueductal gray. Neuropharmacology 52:958–65
- Moreira FA, Aguiar DC, Campos AC et al (2009) Antiaversive effects of cannabinoids: is the periaqueductal gray involved? Neural Plast 2009:625469
- Myers KM, Davis M (2007) Mechanisms of fear extinction. Mol Psychiatry 12:120-150
- Nissen SE, Nicholls SJ, Wolski K et al (2008) Effect of rimonabant on progression of atherosclerosis in patients with abdominal obesity and coronary artery disease: the STRADIVARIUS randomized controlled trial. JAMA 299:1547–1560
- O'Sullivan SE (2007) Cannabinoids go nuclear: evidence for activation of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors. Br J Pharmacol 152:576–582
- Patel S, Hillard CJ (2006) Pharmacological evaluation of cannabinoid receptor ligands in a mouse model of anxiety: further evidence for an anxiolytic role for endogenous cannabinoid signaling. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 318:304–311
- Patel S, Hillard CJ (2008) Adaptations in endocannabinoid signaling in response to repeated homotypic stress: a novel mechanism for stress habituation. Eur J Neurosci 27:2821–2829
- Pertwee RG (2008) Ligands that target cannabinoid receptors in the brain: from THC to anandamide and beyond. Addict Biol 13:147–159
- Piomelli D (2003) The molecular logic of endocannabinoid signalling. Nature Rev Neurosci 4:873–884
- Ranganathan M, D'Souza DC (2006) The acute effects of cannabinoids on memory in humans: a review. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 188:425–444
- Rinaldi-Carmona M, Barth F, Héaulme M et al (1994) SR141716A, a potent and selective antagonist of the brain cannabinoid receptor. FEBS Lett 350:240–244
- Ross RA (2003) Anandamide and vanilloid TRPV1 receptors. Br J Pharmacol 140:790-801
- Ross RA (2007) Allosterism and cannabinoid CB(1) receptors: the shape of things to come. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28:567–572
- Rubino T, Guidali C, Vigano D et al (2008) CB1 receptor stimulation in specific brain areas differently modulate anxiety-related behaviour. Neuropharmacology 54:151–160
- Sousa N, Almeida OF, Wotjak CT (2006) A hitchhiker's guide to behavioral analysis in laboratory rodents. Genes Brain Behav 5(Suppl 2):5–24
- Starowicz K, Nigam S, Di Marzo V (2007) Biochemistry and pharmacology of endovanilloids. Pharmacol Ther 114:13–33
- Steiner MA, Wotjak CT (2008) Role of the endocannabinoid system in regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Prog Brain Res 170:397–432
- Sugiura T, Kondo S, Sukagawa A et al (1995) 2-Arachidonoylglycerol: a possible endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand in brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 215:89–97
- Terzian AL, Aguiar DC, Guimarães FS, Moreira FA (2009) Modulation of anxiety-like behaviour by Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid Type 1 (TRPV1) channels located in the dorsolateral periaqueductal gray. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 19:188–195
- Viveros MP, Marco EM, File SE (2005) Endocannabinoid system and stress and anxiety responses. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 81:331–342

Part V Preclinical and Clinical Psychopharmacology

Pharmacological Therapy

Pharmacological Treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder

David S. Baldwin, Khalil I. Ajel, and Matthew Garner

Contents

1	Clinical Features, Epidemiology and Burden of GAD	454
2	Response Rates to Initial Treatment in GAD	455
3	Prediction of Response to Pharmacological Treatment in GAD	458
4	Optimal Duration of Treatment in GAD	459
5	Management after Nonresponse to Initial Treatment in GAD	460
6	Tolerability of Current Treatments for GAD	462
7	Conclusions	463
Refe	erences	463

Abstract Generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) is common in community and clinical settings. The individual and societal burden associated with GAD is substantial, but many of those who could benefit from treatment are not recognized or treated. Recent evidence-based guidelines for the pharmacological management of patients with GAD have recommended initial treatment with either a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) or a serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor (SNRI), on the basis of their proven efficacy and reasonable tolerability in randomized placebo-controlled trials.

However, there is much room for improvement in both the efficacy and the tolerability of treatment. Response rates to first-line treatment can be disappointing and it is hard to predict reliably which patients will respond well and which will

D.S. Baldwin (\boxtimes)

Clinical Neuroscience Division, School of Medicine, University of Southampton, Southampton, UK; University Department of Mental Health, Royal South Hants Hospital, Brintons Terrace, Southampton, SO14 0YG, UK

e-mail: dsb1@soton.ac.uk

K.I. Ajel

Mood and Anxiety Disorders Service, Hampshire Partnership Trust, Southampton, UK M. Garner

School of Psychology, University of Southampton, Southampton, UK

M.B. Stein and T. Steckler (eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment*, 453 Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 2, DOI 10.1007/7854_2009_2,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 17 September 2009

have only a limited treatment response. Many patients worry about becoming dependent on medication, a substantial proportion experience troublesome adverse effects, and these problems limit the effectiveness of pharmacological treatments in clinical practice.

The relative lack of longitudinal studies of clinical outcomes in GAD, and the small number of placebo-controlled relapse prevention studies lead to uncertainty about the optimal duration of treatment after a satisfactory initial response. There have been few investigations of the further management of patients who have not responded to first-line treatment and there is a pressing need for further augmentation studies in patients who have not responded to an SSRI or SNRI, or to other initial pharmacological approaches.

Future treatment guidelines for GAD will be influenced by emerging data for established and novel pharmacological approaches, and possibly through the more accurate identification of certain patient subgroups who are likely to respond preferentially to particular interventions.

Keywords GAD · Treatment · SSRI · SNRI · Pregabalin

1 Clinical Features, Epidemiology and Burden of GAD

GAD is characterized by excessive and inappropriate worrying that is persistent (lasting some months in ICD-10, and 6 months or longer in DSM-IV) and not restricted to particular circumstances. Patients have physical anxiety symptoms (such as tachycardia and tremor) and key psychological symptoms, including restlessness, fatigue, difficulty concentrating, irritability, and disturbed sleep (Tyrer and Baldwin 2006).

The disorder is common in both community and clinical settings. A recent review of epidemiological studies in Europe suggests a 12-month prevalence of 1.2–1.9%, and a lifetime prevalence of 4.3–5.9%: "comorbidity" with major depression is seen in three out of five cases, and a similar proportion of individuals have other anxiety disorders (Wittchen and Jacobi 2005). The functional impairment associated with GAD is similar in severity to that with major depression (Kessler et al. 1999; Wittchen et al. 2000). Patients with comorbid major depression and GAD have a more severe and prolonged course of illness, and greater impairment of social and occupational function (Judd et al. 1998; Tyrer et al. 2004). The disorder is more common in women than in men, with a mean age of onset that is somewhat later than with other anxiety disorders: it is probably the most common anxiety disorder among the population aged 55–85 years (Beekman et al. 1998).

GAD is one of the most common mental disorders in primary care settings, and is associated with increased use of health services. However, only a minority of patients present with anxiety symptoms, and GAD often goes unrecognized as doctors tend to overlook anxiety unless it is a presenting complaint. Patients with comorbid depression are more likely to be recognized as having a mental health problem, though not necessarily as having GAD (Weiller et al. 1998; Wittchen et al. 2002).

2 Response Rates to Initial Treatment in GAD

The findings of randomized controlled trials show that approximately 40–60% of patients will "respond" to placebo and 60–75% to the SSRIs escitalopram, paroxetine, or sertraline, when using global measures of improvement, usually the Clinical Global Impression of Improvement Scale (CGI-I) (Guy 1976). Similar findings are seen in randomized controlled trials with the SNRIs duloxetine or venlafaxine, and with the novel anxiolytic drug pregabalin (Baldwin and Ajel 2007) (Table 1). There can be a striking reduction in symptom severity on the primary outcome measure, traditionally the Hamilton Rating Scale for Anxiety, HAMA (Hamilton 1959): for example, a decline from baseline in mean HAMA score of over 15 points with the optimal 10 mg/day dosage in a recent randomized controlled trial with escitalopram (Baldwin et al. 2006a). However, many patients remain troubled by significant symptoms at study end point, despite seemingly making a good overall "response" to treatment, according to the CGI-I score.

A systematic review of the findings of randomized controlled trials has established that benzodiazepines are an efficacious and rapid treatment for many patients with GAD, having similar overall efficacy to the psychological treatment cognitive therapy (Gould et al. 1997). However, benzodiazepines have limited efficacy in relieving comorbid depressive symptoms, and unwanted effects include sedation, disturbance of memory, and psychomotor function. These problems limit the overall effectiveness of benzodiazepines, as many patients discontinue treatment before the occurrence of optimal anxiolytic efficacy (Martin et al. 2007). Other potential problems include the development of tolerance, abuse or dependence, and distressing withdrawal symptoms on stopping the drug (Tyrer et al. 1983; Rickels et al. 1988). Because of these difficulties, general guidance is to use benzodiazepines only for short-term treatment (up to 4 weeks) (Baldwin et al. 2005), or in patients who have not responded to at least two previous treatments, and who remain troubled by severe, distressing, and disabling anxiety symptoms (Baldwin and Polkinghorn 2005; Nutt, 2005).

Unlike the situation in major depressive disorder, there is as yet no general consensus on what constitutes symptom remission in GAD (Ballenger et al. 1999). A post hoc analysis of randomized controlled trials with escitalopram (Bandelow et al. 2006) indicates that a HAMA score of 9 or less corresponds to the category of "borderline ill" on the CGI Severity scale (Guy 1976). Using this cut-off score, 56% of patients treated with the optimal dosage of escitalopram had remitted at the end of double-blind treatment (and 47.9% when using a lower HAMA cut-off score, of 7 or less) in the escitalopram study (Baldwin et al. 2006a). The post hoc analysis of data from the extensive clinical trial program for paroxetine using this more

Table 1 Generalized anxiety disord	ler: response rates in d	ouble-blind placebo-controlled s	studies of acute tre	atment with SSRIs, SNRIs	s or pregabalin
Study	Treatment	Dose	Length	Active	Placebo
		(mg/day)	(Weeks)	response (%)	response (%)
SSRI treatment					
Pollack et al. (2001)	Paroxetine	20-50	8	62	56
Rickels et al. (2003)	Paroxetine	20, 40	8	$61.7^*, 68^{***}$	45.6
Rynn et al. (2001) (children)	Sertraline	≤ 50	6	90***	10
Allgulander et al. (2004)	Sertraline	50-150	12	63^{***}	37
Brawman-Mintzer et al. (2006)	Sertraline	50-200	10	59.2^{*}	48.2
Davidson et al. (2004)	Escitalopram	10-20	8	58^{**}	38
Goodman et al. (2005)	Escitalopram	10–20	×	52***	37
Pooled analysis, three studies			:	* 	
Baldwin et al. (2006a)	Escitalopram Paroxetine	5, 10, 20 20	12	70.9, 78.4 , 74.2 66.2	63
SNRI treatment					
Koponen et al. (2007)	Duloxetine	60, 120	6	$63^{***}, 65^{***}$	34
Rynn et al. (2008)	Duloxetine	60-120	10	$40^{a,*}$	32 ^a
Hartford et al. (2007)	Duloxetine	60-120	10	56^{**}	42
	Venlafaxine	75-225	10	60^{***}	
Davidson et al. (1999)	Venlafaxine	75, 150	8	$62^{**}, 49$	39
	Buspirone	30		55*	
Gelenberg et al. (2000)	Venlafaxine	75-225	28	67***	33
Rickels et al. (2000)	Venlafaxine	75, 150, 225	8	NS, NS*	NR
Allgulander et al. (2001)	Venlafaxine	37.5, 75, 225	24	$63^{**}, 73^{***}, 81^{***,b}$	47 ^a
Lenox-Smith et al. (2003)	Venlafaxine	75-225	24	65**	46
Rynn et al. (2007)	Venlafaxine	Flexible dose in	8	69*	48
		children 6–17 years			
Pregabalin treatment					
Pande et al. (2003)	Pregabalin	150, 600	4	NS, 47*	28
Pande et al. (2000)	Pregabalin Lorazepam	150, 600 6	4	No significant different treatment versus pl	ce in efficacy for any acebo

456

Feltner et al. (2003)	Pregabalin	150,600	4	47.8, 49.2	42.4
	Lorazepam	9		56.3	
Rickels et al. (2005)	Pregabalin	300	4	61^{***}	31
	Alprazolam	450		44	
	4	600		51^{**}	
		1.5		45^*	
Montgomery et al. (2006)	Pregabalin	400, 600	9	$56^*, 59_*$	42
•	Venlafaxine	75		61^{**}	
Pohl et al. (2005)	Pregabalin	200, 400, 450	9	$56^{**}, 55^{**}, 59^{**}$	34
Momtgomery et al. (2008) (elderly	Pregabalin	150-600	8	58.4	48.4
patients)		(mean maximal 270)			
Kasper et al. (2009)	Pregabalin	300-600	8	59	46
	Venlafaxine	75-225		44	
p < 0.05; = p < 0.01; = p < 0.001, = advector	intage for active trea	tment over placebo			-

¹response defined as \geq 50% reduction in HAMA score; ⁿestimates from published figure; NR, not reported; NS, not significantly different from placebo

stringent criterion found that only 36% of patients undergoing double-blind treatment with paroxetine had remitted at study end point (Rickels et al. 2006).

Only few randomized controlled trials permit assessment of the relative efficacy of different treatments when compared to placebo. However, a recent analysis of findings from randomized controlled trials found an overall mean effect size of 0.39, with some differences between medication class: pregabalin, 0.50; the antihistamine hydroxyzine, 0.45; SNRI, 0.42; benzodiazepines, 0.38; SSRI, 0.36; and the azapirone anxiolytic buspirone, 0.17 (Hidalgo et al. 2007). The overall effect size in this analysis is somewhat higher than that from a previous meta-analysis (0.33) (Mitte et al. 2005), which possibly reflects differences in publication selection criteria. Estimations such as these represent post hoc analyses of pooled data, derived from randomized controlled trials that differ in design and which were not powered for the demonstration of particular levels of effect size, so care must be taken when comparing relative effect sizes. Nevertheless, there is much scope for further improvement in developing pharmacological treatments with greater efficacy than is seen with currently available medications.

3 Prediction of Response to Pharmacological Treatment in GAD

Unfortunately it is not possible to predict accurately which patients will respond well and which will have only a limited response to treatment. A greater likelihood of response to venlafaxine or the SSRI fluoxetine is associated with a shorter duration of symptoms (Perugi et al. 2002; Simon et al. 2006) and the presence of comorbid dysthymia (to venlafaxine) (Perugi et al. 2002). Other predictors of response include psychiatric comorbidity (Rodriguez et al. 2006), a history of depression or panic disorder (to venlafaxine) (Pollack et al. 2003), and the severity of psychosocial impairment (Rodriguez et al. 2006). A lower likelihood of response to escitalopram treatment is seen with lower baseline symptom severity (Stein et al. 2006), and a history of benzodiazepine use is associated with lower response to treatment with venlafaxine (Pollack et al. 2003). The presence of comorbid depressive symptoms probably does not reduce the overall response to treatment in patients with primary GAD, for the reason that although comorbid depression may delay the response to venlafaxine (Pollack et al. 2003), it does not substantially reduce overall response rates with escitalopram (Stein et al. 2005) or pregabalin (Stein et al. 2008), or affect the degree of reduction in anxiety symptoms with fluoxetine treatment (Olatunji et al. 2008).

Similar difficulties are seen in deciding how long initial treatment in GAD should continue, before it is reasonable to conclude that the chance of responding is too low to justify continuing with the current approach. An early study showed that a greater reduction in HAMA score after 1 week of diazepam treatment predicted a higher likelihood of response at 6 weeks (Downing and Rickels 1985). A limited reduction in symptom severity (i.e., a reduction in total HAMA



Fig. 1 Published placebo-controlled relapse prevention studies in generalized anxiety disorder

score by 25% or less) at 2 weeks of treatment predicts nonresponse to buspirone or lorazepam at 6 weeks (Laakmann et al. 1998); and the degree of response after one or 2 weeks was found to be strongly predictive of response to benzodiazepines or azapirones (or placebo) at 8 weeks (Rynn et al. 2006). Recent analyses show that the onset of efficacy (defined as a reduction in HAMA score of 20% or more) after 2 weeks of treatment is strongly predictive of response at study end point for duloxetine (Pollack et al. 2008) and escitalopram (Baldwin et al. 2009); and suggest that the likelihood of eventual response is low, if an onset of efficacy is not seen after 4 weeks of treatment (Fig. 1).

4 Optimal Duration of Treatment in GAD

Traditionally, GAD is regarded as a chronic disorder that waxes and wanes in severity over many years. In a prospective, naturalistic, longitudinal study, the probability of recovering from the index "episode" was only 58% at the end of 12 years, and over 40% of those who had recovered experienced subsequent recurrence of symptoms (Bruce et al. 2005). However, recent findings from the Zurich Study suggest there is rather more longitudinal fluidity in the diagnosis, than was previously thought (Angst et al. 2009). Continuation of antidepressant treatment beyond initial response substantially reduces the risk of early relapse and later recurrence of depressive symptoms (Geddes et al. 2003), but the value of long-term treatment in GAD is less established, due to the limited number of relapse prevention studies. Recent guide-lines recommend at least 6 months of continuation treatment after initial response (Baldwin et al. 2005, Canadian Psychiatric Association 2006), but emerging data suggest that longer periods of continuation treatment may be advisable.

The value of continuation treatment in mood and anxiety disorders is usually ascertained through double-blind placebo-controlled relapse prevention studies, in



Fig. 2 Placebo-controlled relapse prevention study of quetiapine in GAD

which patients who have responded well to initial open acute treatment are randomized to either continue with active treatment, or switched to placebo. Of the five relapse prevention studies in GAD which have been published, four demonstrate the value of continuing pharmacological treatment, with escitalopram, paroxetine, pregabalin, or duloxetine (Allgulander et al. 2006; Stocchi et al. 2003; Feltner et al. 2008; Davidson et al. 2008). A formal relapse prevention study with venlafaxine did not reveal efficacy, although significantly fewer patients relapsed during venlafaxine treatment in a separate prolonged randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial (Montgomery et al. 2002). An as yet unpublished relapse prevention study with the second generation antipsychotic drug quetiapine suggests it has some efficacy in relapse prevention (Allgulander, 2008) (Fig. 2).

The duration of double-blind treatment in the placebo-controlled relapse prevention study with escitalopram (Allgulander et al. 2006) could last for up to 18 months, so it is reasonable to recommend that treatment should continue for up to 18 months, after an initial response. The United States Federal Drug Administration has recently recommended that the double-blind relapse prevention phase in GAD studies should be preceded by 6 months of unblinded treatment (Food and Drug Administration 2006). Post hoc analyses of previously published randomized controlled trials will be able to establish whether patients with differing durations of response prior to randomization also differ in their relapse rates, and these analyses could strengthen the evidence regarding the duration of long-term treatment in GAD.

5 Management after Nonresponse to Initial Treatment in GAD

There is little consensus on the optimal next stage in patient management after a poor response to first-line treatment. Potential interventions include an increase in dosage, a switch to another evidence-based pharmacological treatment, augmentation with an additional psychotropic drug, and the combination of medication with psychological treatment.

There is no published dosage escalation study in GAD in which patients either continue with the initial low dose or are switched to a subsequent higher dose. The findings of fixed-dose randomized placebo-controlled studies do not provide much evidence to suggest that higher doses may be preferable. By illustration, the relative efficacy of paroxetine when compared to placebo is similar for daily dosages of 20 or 40 mg (Rickels et al. 2003), and the optimal daily dosage of escitalopram is probably 10 mg rather than 20 mg (Baldwin et al. 2006a). Furthermore, fixed-dose studies with venlafaxine have produced inconsistent findings, with evidence both for (Rickels et al. 2000) and against (Allgulander et al. 2001) a dose-response relationship. However, a recent post hoc analysis of pooled data from randomized controlled trials with pregabalin suggests that higher doses (200–450 mg/day) have greater efficacy than lower doses (150 mg/day), when both are compared to placebo (Bech 2007).

Most guidelines recommend an SSRI for first-line pharmacological treatment of GAD, on the balance of efficacy and tolerability, so common secondline drug treatments include an SNRI, buspirone, the tricyclic antidepressant imipramine, pregabalin, or a benzodiazepine. The azapirone anxiolytic drug buspirone is efficacious in GAD, more so when patients have not previously been treated with a benzodiazepine: as such, it is advisable to consider use of buspirone before prescribing a benzodiazepine anxiolytic (Chessick et al. 2006).

Despite reservations about potential adverse effects (such as weight gain and metabolic syndrome) some doctors recommend an antipsychotic drug after nonresponse to SSRI or SNRI treatment, perhaps fearing the development of tolerance or dependence with use of benzodiazepines. The conventional neuroleptic drug trifluoperazine has proven efficacy (Mendels et al. 1986) and more recently the second-generation antipsychotic drug quetiapine has also been found efficacious, in placebo- and comparator-controlled studies (Bandelow et al. 2007a; Meredith et al. 2008). Most probably, the adverse event profile and potential long-term risks of antipsychotics will result in their usually being reserved for patients who have not responded to earlier SSRI treatment, perhaps followed by SNRI treatment. Both risperidone and olanzapine can enhance the efficacy of SSRI treatment (Brawman-Mintzer et al. 2005; Pollack et al. 2006), but currently the evidence for augmentation with quetiapine is only limited (Katzman et al. 2008; Simon et al. 2008). Potential alternative augmentation approaches include the use of pregabalin, which can enhance the effectiveness of SSRI or SNRI antidepressants (Miceli et al. 2009), the novel antidepressant drug agomelatine, which has recently been found efficacious (Stein et al. 2008), and the novel anticonvulsant drug zonisamide (Kinrys et al. 2007). Combining pharmacological and psychological approaches is often advocated in the overall management of patients with anxiety disorders, although in GAD it is uncertain whether combination treatment is superior to psychological or drug treatment given alone (Bandelow et al. 2007a, b).

6 Tolerability of Current Treatments for GAD

The tolerability profile of prescribed medication is an important consideration, particularly when recommending long-term treatment, as is the case in GAD. Adverse effects of SSRIs and SNRIs such as increased nervousness, headache and nausea, and the drowsiness associated with benzodiazepines and pregabalin, usually resolve after a few weeks of treatment, but other side effects become more important factors in the overall acceptability of treatment for patients over subsequent months. The adverse event profile of different SSRIs and SNRI is generally rather similar, although significantly fewer patients drop out due to adverse events in short-term and medium-term randomized controlled trials with escitalopram, than with paroxetine or venlafaxine (Baldwin et al. 2007a). Common concerns during longer-term treatment with SSRIs or SNRIs include the development of sexual dysfunction, weight gain, persistent disturbed sleep, and the potential for experiencing discontinuation symptoms on stopping treatment.

Treatment-emergent sexual dysfunction is probably the most common complication of SSRI treatment in depressed patients (Baldwin 2004), although some aspects of sexual function usually improve, as depressive symptoms resolve (Baldwin et al. 2006b; Baldwin et al. 2008). It is uncertain whether the same applies in the treatment of patients with GAD, in whom the complaint of loss of sexual desire is less common. Weight gain may be less troublesome with SSRIs than with many other psychotropic drugs, but the potential for gaining weight can cause concern in many patients, and there is reasonable evidence that some SSRIs can cause increases in weight of 6–10 kg after 6–12 months of treatment (Ferguson 2001). Finally, SSRIs and related drugs can have only limited benefit, or even deleterious effects, on sleep disturbance, despite beneficial effects on other depressive and anxiety symptoms (Carney et al. 2007; Cervena et al. 2005).

Discontinuation symptoms on stopping treatment are common with many classes of psychotropic drug, including SSRIs and SNRIs, as well as with benzodiazepines (Rickels et al. 1988; Baldwin et al. 2007b). Symptoms are typically mild and only transient, but many patients report severe and distressing symptoms, despite gradual discontinuation through tapering the prescribed dose of medication. Compounds differ in their propensity to cause discontinuation symptoms, but it is hard to predict which patients will be most affected. Recent research suggests that influences of diagnosis, longer duration of treatment, higher dosage, and the abrupt withdrawal of treatment are less established than previously thought (Baldwin et al. 2007b). Slow stepped withdrawal ("tapering") is often advised, in the desire to minimize the appearance of distressing discontinuation symptoms, but the value of this is not established fully and there is a need for withdrawal studies that adopt a randomized double-blind staggered design, in which both patients and doctors are unsure of whether treatment ends slowly or swiftly, or when dosage reduction occurs.

7 Conclusions

There are many psychotropic drugs and psychotherapies available for the treatment of patients with GAD, but despite this, overall clinical outcomes for many patients are often poor. The "ideal" treatment for GAD does not yet exist, as existing treatments have insufficient overall efficacy in short-term and long-term treatment and can have troublesome adverse effects when prescribed for long periods. The particular choice of treatment should be determined by the clinical features of the patient (such as the presence of comorbid depression and a history of a good response to previous treatment), patients' preferences for one approach over another and the availability of services. Doctors should counsel patients that they will not respond immediately, that sometimes symptoms can worsen in the early stage of treatment, and that long-term treatment is often needed to maintain an initial response. However, there is clearly much room for improvement, in the development of more efficacious and more acceptable pharmacological approaches in the management of this common, distressing, typically disabling, and often persistent anxiety disorder.

Acknowledgments This review is based upon a talk given at the 20th ECNP Congress, Vienna, Austria, the abstract for which was published as Baldwin DS, Ajel KI, Garner MJ (2007) Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 17(Suppl 4):S208.

References

- Allgulander C (2008) Presented at 21st ECNP Congress, 31st August 2008, Barcelona, Spain
- Allgulander C, Hackett D, Salinas E (2001) Venlafaxine extended release (ER) in the treatment of generalised anxiety disorder: twenty-four-week placebo-controlled dose-ranging study. Br J Psychiatry 179:15–22
- Allgulander C, Dahl AA, Austin C et al (2004) Efficacy of sertraline in a 12-week trial for generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161: 1642–1649
- Allgulander C, Florea I, Huusom AK (2006) Prevention of relapse in generalized anxiety disorder by escitalopram treatment. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 9:495–505
- Angst J, Gamma A, Baldwin DS et al (2009) The generalized anxiety spectrum: prevalence, onset, course and outcome. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 259: 37–45
- Baldwin DS (2004) Sexual dysfunction associated with antidepressant drugs. Exp Opin Drug Safety 3:457–470
- Baldwin DS, Ajel K (2007) The role of pregabalin in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. Neuropsychiatric Dis Treat 3:185–191
- Baldwin DS, Polkinghorn C (2005) Evidence-based pharmacotherapy of generalized anxiety disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 8:293–302
- Baldwin DS, Anderson IM, Nutt DJ et al (2005) Evidence-based guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders: recommendations from the British association for Psychopharmacology. J Psychopharmacol 19:567–596
- Baldwin DS, Huusom AKT, Maehlum E (2006a) Escitalopram and paroxetine in the treatment of generalised anxiety disorder. Randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Br J Psychiatry 189:264–272

- Baldwin DS, Bridgman K, Buis C (2006b) Resolution of sexual dysfunction during double-blind treatment of major depression with reboxetine or paroxetine. J Psychopharmacol 20:91–96
- Baldwin DS, Reines EH, Guiton C et al (2007a) Escitalopram therapy for major depression and anxiety disorders. Ann Pharmacother 41:1583–1592
- Baldwin DS, Montgomery SA, Nil R et al (2007b) Discontinuation symptoms in depression and anxiety disorders. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 10:73–84
- Baldwin DS, Stein DJ, Dolberg O et al (2009) How long should an initial treatment period be in patients with major depressive disorder, generalised anxiety disorder or social anxiety disorder? An exploration of the randomised controlled trial database. Hum Psychopharmacol 24:269–275
- Baldwin DS, Moreno R, Briley M (2008) Resolution of sexual dysfunction during acute treatment of major depression with milnacipran. Hum Psychopharmacol 23:527–532
- Ballenger JC (1999) Clinical guidelines for establishing remission in patients with depression and anxiety. J Clin Psychiatry 60(suppl 22):29–34
- Bandelow B, Baldwin DS, Dolberg OT et al (2006) What is the threshold for symptomatic response and remission for major depressive disorder, panic disorder, social anxiety disorder, and generalized anxiety disorder? J Clin Psychiatry 67:1428–1434
- Bandelow B, Bobes J, Ahokas A, et al (2007a) Results from a phase III study of once-daily extended release quetiapine fumarate (quetiapine XR) monotherapy in patients with generalised anxiety disorder. Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract 11:314–315 (abstract)
- Bandelow B, Seidler-Brandler U, Becker A et al (2007b) Meta-analysis of randomized controlled comparisons of psychopharmacological and psychological treatments for anxiety disorders. World J Biol Psychiatr 8:175–187
- Bech P (2007) Dose-response relationship of pregabalin in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. A pooled analysis of four placebo-controlled trials. Pharmacopsychiatry 40:163–168
- Beekman AT, Bremmer MA, Deeg DJ et al (1998) Anxiety disorders in later life: a report from the longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 13:717–726
- Brawman-Mintzer O, Knapp RG, Nietert PJ (2005) Adjunctive risperidone in generalized anxiety disorder: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 66:1321–1325
- Brawman-Mintzer O, Knapp RG, Rynn M et al (2006) Sertraline treatment for generalized anxiety disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 67:874–881
- Bruce SE, Yonkers KA, Otto MW et al (2005) Influence of psychiatric comorbidity on recovery and recurrence in generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, and panic disorder: a 12-year prospective study. Am J Psychiatry 162:1179–1187
- Canadian Psychiatric Association (2006) Clinical practice guidelines. Management of anxiety disorders. Can J Psychiatr 51:9S–91S
- Carney CE, Segal ZV, Edinger JD et al (2007) A comparison of rates of residual insomnia symptoms following pharmacotherapy or cognitive-behavioral therapy for major depressive disorder. J Clin Psychiatr 68:254–260
- Cervena K, Matousek M, Prasko J et al (2005) Sleep disturbances in patients treated for panic disorder. Sleep Med 6:149–153
- Chessick CA, Allen MH, Thase M et al (2006) Azapirones for generalized anxiety disorder. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 3:CD006115
- Davidson JR, DuPont RL, Hedges D et al (1999) Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of venlafaxine extended release and buspirone in outpatients with generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 60:528–535
- Davidson JR, Bose A, Korotzer A et al (2004) Escitalopram in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: double-blind, placebo controlled, flexible-dose study. Depress Anxiety 19:234–240
- Davidson JRT, Wittchen H-U, Llorca P-M et al (2008) Duloxetine treatment for relapse prevention in adults with generalized anxiety disorder: a double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 18:673–681
- Downing RW, Rickels K (1985) Early treatment response in anxious outpatients treated with diazepam. Acta Psychiatr Scand 72:522–528

- Feltner D, Crockatt JG, Dubovsky SJ et al (2003) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, fixed-dose, multicenter study of pregabalin in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 23:240–249
- Feltner D, Wittchen HU, Kavoussi R et al (2008) Long-term efficacy of pregabalin in generalized anxiety disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 23:18–28
- Ferguson JM (2001) SSRI antidepressant medications: adverse effects and tolerability. Prim Care J Clin Psychiatry 3:22–27
- Food and Drug Administration [FDA] (2006) New controversial clinical trial design gives better long-term data. FDA Week
- Geddes JR, Carney SM, Davies C et al (2003) Relapse prevention with antidepressant drug treatment in depressive disorders: a systematic review. Lancet 361:653–661
- Gelenberg AJ, Lydiard RB, Rudolph RL et al (2000) Efficacy of venlafaxine extended-release capsules in nondepressed outpatients with generalized anxiety disorder: A 6-month randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 283: 3082–3088
- Goodman WK, Bose A, Wang Q (2005) Treatment of generalized anxiety disorder with escitalopram: pooled results from double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. J Affect Disord 87:161–167
- Gould RA, Otto MW, Pollack MH et al (1997) Cognitive behavioural and pharmacological treatment of generalised anxiety disorder: a preliminary meta-analysis. Behav Ther 28:285–305
- Guy W (1976) The clinical global impression severity and impression scales. In: ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopathology. Rockville, MD. US Dept Health, Education and Welfare, 218–222
- Hamilton M (1959) The assessment of anxiety states by rating. Br J Med Psychol 32:50-55
- Hartford J, Kornstein S, Liebowitz M et al (2007) Duloxetine as an SNRI treatment for generalized anxiety disorder: results from a placebo and active-controlled trial. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 22:167–174
- Hidalgo RB, Tupler LA, Davidson JRT (2007) An effect-size analysis of pharmacologic treatments for generalized anxiety disorder. J Psychopharmacol 21:864–872
- Judd LL, Kessler RC, Paulus MP et al (1998) Comorbidity as a fundamental feature of generalized anxiety disorders: results from the National Comorbidity Survey (NCS). Acta Psychiatr Scand 98(Suppl 393):6–11
- Kasper S, Herman B, Nivoli G et al (2009). Efficacy of pregabalin and venlafaxine-XR in generalized anxiety disorder: results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled 8-week trial. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2009. E-pub ahead of print. DOI: 10.1097/YIC.0b013e32831d7980
- Katzman MA, Vermani M, Jacobs L et al (2008) Quetiapine as an adjunctive pharmacotherapy for the treatment of non-remitting generalized anxiety disorder: a flexible-dose, open-label pilot trial. J Anxiety Disord [Epub ahead of print]
- Kessler RC, DuPont RL, Berglund (1999) Impairment in pure and comorbid generalized anxiety disorder and major depression at 12 months in two national surveys. Am J Psychiatry 156:1915–1923
- Kinrys G, Vasconcelos e Sa D, Nery F (2007) Adjunctive zonisamide for treatment refractory anxiety. Int J Clin Pract 61:1050–1053
- Laakmann G, Schüle C, Lorkowski G et al (1998) Buspirone and lorazepam in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder in outpatients. Psychopharmacol 136:357–366
- Lenox-Smith AJ, Reynolds A (2003) A double-blind, randomised, placebo controlled study of venlafaxine XL in patients with generalised anxiety disorder in primary care. Br J Gen Pract 53:772–777
- Martin JLR, Sainz-Pardo M, Furukawa TA et al (2007) Benzodiazepines in generalized anxiety disorder: heterogeneity of outcomes based on a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. J Psychopharmacol 21:774–782
- Mendels J, Krajewski TF, Huffer V et al (1986) Effective short-term treatment of generalized anxiety disorder with trifluoperazine. J Clin Psychiatry 47:170–174
- Meredith C, Cutler A, Neijber A, She F, Eriksson H (2008) Efficacy and tolerability of extended release quetiapine fumarate monotherapy in the treatment of GAD. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 18(suppl 4):S499–S450
- Miceli JJ, Ramey TS, Weaver JJ et al (2009) Adjunctive pregabalin treatment after partial response in generalized anxiety disorder: results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Presented at the 162nd Annual Meeting of the American Psychiatric Association; May 16–21, 2009; San Francisco, CA
- Mitte K, Noack P, Steil R, Hautzinger M (2005) A meta-analytic review of the efficacy of drug treatment in generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 25:141–150
- Montgomery SA, Sheehan DV, Meoni P et al (2002) Characterization of the longitudinal course of improvement in generalized anxiety disorder during long-term treatment with venlafaxine XR. J Psychiatr Res 36:209–217
- Montgomery SA, Tobias K, Zornberg GL et al (2006) Efficacy and safety of pregabalin in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a 6-week, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison of pregabalin and venlafaxine. J Clin Psychiatry 67:771–782
- Montgomery S, Chatamra K, Pauer L et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of pregabalin in elderly people with generalised anxiety disorder. Br J Psychiatry 193:389–394
- Nutt DJ (2005) Overview of diagnosis and drug treatment of anxiety disorders. CNS Spectrums 10:49–56
- Olatunji BO, Feldman G, Smits JAJ et al (2008) Examination of the decline in symptoms of anxiety and depression in generalized anxiety disorder: impact of anxiety sensitivity on response to pharmacotherapy. Depress Anx 25:167–171
- Pande AC, Crockatt MA, Janney C et al (2000) Pregabalin treatment of GAD. Presented at: American Psychiatric Association 153rd Annual Meeting. May 13–18; Chicago, IL (Abstract NR244). Available at: http://www.psych.org/edu/other_res/lib_archives/archives/meetings/ 2000nra.pdf Accessed February 15, 2006
- Pande AC, Crockatt JG, Feltner DE et al (2003) Pregabalin in generalized anxiety disorder: a placebo-controlled trial. Am J Psychiatry 160:533–540
- Perugi G, Frare F, Toni C et al (2002) Open-label evaluation of venlafaxine sustained release in outpatients with generalized anxiety disorder with comorbid depression or dysthymia: effectiveness, tolerability and predictors of response. Neuropsychobiol 46:145–149
- Pohl RB, Feltner DE, Fieve RR et al (2005) Efficacy of pregabalin in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison of BID versus TID dosing. J Clin Psychopharmacol 25:151–158
- Pollack MH, Zaninelli R, Goddard A et al (2001) Paroxetine in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: results of a placebo-controlled, flexible-dosage trial. J Clin Psychiatry 62:350–357
- Pollack MH, Meoni P, Otto MW et al (2003) Predictors of outcome following venlafaxine extended-release treatment of DSM-IV generalized anxiety disorder: a pooled analysis of short- and long-term studies. J Clin Psychopharmacol 23:250–259
- Pollack MH, Simon NM, Zalta AK et al (2006) Olanzapine augmentation of fluoxetine for refractory generalized anxiety disorder: a placebo controlled study. Biol Psychiatry 59:211–215
- Pollack MH, Kornstein SG, Spann ME, et al (2008) Early improvement during duloxetine treatment of generalized anxiety disorder predicts response and remission at endpoint. J Psychiatr Res [Epub ahead of print]
- Rickels K, Schweizer E, Csanalosi I et al (1988) Long-term treatment of anxiety and risk of withdrawal: prospective study of clorazepate and buspirone. Arch Gen Psychiatr 45:444–450
- Rickels K, Pollack MH, Sheehan DV et al (2000) Efficacy of extended-release venlafaxine in nondepressed outpatients with generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry 157:968–974
- Rickels K, Zaninelli R, McCafferty J et al (2003) Paroxetine treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 160:749–756

- Rickels K, Pollack MH, Feltner DE et al (2005) Pregabalin for treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a 4-week, multicenter, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of pregabalin and alprazolam. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:1022–1030
- Rickels K, Rynn M, Iyengar M et al (2006) Remission of generalized anxiety disorder: a review of the paroxetine clinical trials database. J Clin Psychiatry 67:41–47
- Rodriguez BF, Weisberg RB, Pagano ME et al (2006) Characteristics and predictors of full and partial recovery from generalized anxiety disorder in primary care patients. J Nerv Ment Dis 194:91–97
- Rynn MA, Siqueland L, Rickels K (2001) Placebo-controlled trial of sertraline in the treatment of children with generalized anxiety disorder. Am J Psychiatry158:2008–2014
- Rynn M, Khalid-Khan S, Garcia-Espana F (2006) Early response and 8-week treatment outcome in GAD. Depress Anx 23:461–465
- Rynn MA, Riddle MA, Yeung PP et al (2007) Efficacy and safety of extended-release venlafaxine in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder in children and adolescents: two placebocontrolled trials. Am J Psychiatry 164:290–300
- Rynn M, Russell J, Erickson J et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of duloxetine in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a flexible-dose, progressive-titration, placebo-controlled trial. Depress Anxiety 25:182–189
- Simon NM, Zalta AK, Worthington JJ 3rd et al (2006) Preliminary support for gender differences in response to fluoxetine for generalized anxiety disorder. Depress Anx 23:373–376
- Simon NM, Connor KM, LeBeau RT et al (2008) Quetiapine augmentation of paroxetine CR for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: preliminary findings. Psychopharmacol (Berl) 197:675–681
- Stein DJ, Andersen HF, Goodman WK (2005) Escitalopram for the treatment of GAD: efficacy across different subgroups and outcomes. Ann Clin Psychiatry 17:71–75
- Stein DJ, Baldwin DS, Dolberg OT et al (2006) Which factors predict placebo response in anxiety disorders and major depression? An analysis of placebo-controlled studies of escitalopram. J Clin Psychiatry 67:1741–1746
- Stein DJ, Ahokas A, de Bodinat C (2008b) Efficacy of agomelatine in generalized anxiety disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 28:561–566
- Stein DJ, Baldwin DS, Baldinetti F, Baldinetti F, Mandel F (2008a) Efficacy of pregabalin in depressive symptoms associated with generalized anxiety disorder: a pooled analysis of 6 studies. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 18:422–430
- Stocchi F, Nordera G, Jokinen RH et al (2003) Efficacy and tolerability of paroxetine for the longterm treatment of generalized anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 64:250–258
- Tyrer P, Baldwin DS (2006) Generalised anxiety disorder. Lancet 368:2156-2166
- Tyrer P, Owen R, Dawling S (1983) Gradual withdrawal of diazepam after long-term therapy. Lancet 321:1402–1406
- Tyrer P, Seivewright H, Johnson T (2004) The Nottingham Study of Neurotic Disorder: predictors of 12 year outcome of dysthymic, panic and generalised anxiety disorder. Psychol Med 34:385–394
- Weiller E, Bisserbe JC, Maier W et al (1998) Prevalence and recognition of anxiety syndromes in five European primary care settings. A report from the WHO Study on Psychological Problems in General Health Care. Br J Psychiatr 173(suppl 34):18–23
- Wittchen H-U, Jacobi F (2005) Size and burden of mental disorders in Europe: a critical review and appraisal of 27 studies. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:357–376
- Wittchen H-U, Carter RM, Pfisster H, Montgomery SA et al (2000) Disabilities and quality of life in pure and comorbid generalized anxiety disorder and major depression in a national survey. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 15:319–328
- Wittchen H-U, Kessler RC, Beesdo K et al (2002) Generalized anxiety disorder and depression in primary care: prevalence, recognition, and management. J Clin Psychiatry 63(suppl 8):24–34

Pharmacologic Treatment of Panic Disorder

Murray Stein, Thomas Steckler, Jeffrey D. Lightfoot, Elizabeth Hay, and Andrew W. Goddard

Contents

2 Clinical Assessment Before Treatment	470 471			
	471			
3 Treatment Selection				
3.1 Treatment Implementation	472			
4 Pharmacologic Treatments	473			
5 Mechanisms of Action	474			
6 Serotonergic Agents				
6.1 Efficacy of 5-HT and NE Reuptake Blockers	477			
6.2 Other Agents with 5-HT and NE Mechanisms	478			
6.3 Other Agents	479			
7 Novel Treatment Approaches	479			
7.1 Anxiolytic Drug Development	479			
7.2 New Treatment Strategies	480			
8 Conclusions	481			
References	481			

Abstract Comprehensive management of panic disorder involves a wide array treatments and interventions to reduce symptoms and increase functionality. This chapter provides an overview of the pharmacologic treatment of panic disorder including aspects of assessment, treatment selection and the biologic mechanisms of the illness.

Keywords Anxiety \cdot Benzodiazepine \cdot Panic \cdot Pharmacology \cdot SNRI \cdot SSRI \cdot TCA \cdot Treatment

M. Stein (\boxtimes) , T. Steckler, J.D. Lightfoot, E. Hay, and A.W. Goddard Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN 46202, USA

1 Introduction

The anxiety disorders are among the most common psychiatric syndromes affecting up to about 15% of the population (Robins et al. 1984; Kessler et al. 1994). Panic disorder (PD), one of the most severe anxiety syndromes, is characterized by recurrent unprovoked panic attacks. During these attacks, a variety of physical symptoms may occur accompanied by a sense of doom together with a strong desire to escape (Weissman et al. 1990). This need to escape may lead people to quit jobs, avoid friends and social activities, and can lead to significant withdrawal and isolation (Roy-Byrne et al. 2006). Comprehensive management of PD involves a wide array of treatments and interventions designed to reduce symptoms and increase functionality. This chapter provides an overview of the pharmacologic treatment of PD, including aspects of patient assessment, treatment selection, and a description of the biologic mechanisms of the illness. Each mechanism will be presented with a discussion of selection, efficacy, and implementation of the treatments presented.

2 Clinical Assessment Before Treatment

There are several key steps in the clinical assessment of the anxious patient that precede the formulation of a comprehensive treatment plan. In addition to diagnosis of the specific anxiety disorder affecting the patient, the clinician needs to have a high index of suspicion for co-morbid conditions such as other anxiety disorders, mood disorders, and substance use disorders (Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists 2003). Furthermore, an anxiety disorder due to a medical condition or substance use (e.g., thyrotoxicosis, caffeinism, alcohol withdrawal) and medical conditions that mimic clinical anxiety (e.g., cardiac arrhythmias, seizure disorders, asthma) need to be ruled out. Thus, a thorough work-up should include a full physical examination, urinalysis, urine toxicology, electrolytes, liver functions, thyroid function tests, a full blood count, and an EKG. For patients with atypical presentations, for example, panic attacks with syncope, it is important to refer them for a neurological evaluation. A central principle of pharmacological management of anxiety disorders is the need to guide treatment by focusing on key target symptoms, such as panic attacks, phobic anxiety, or generalized anxiety. The goal of pharmacotherapy then becomes suppression or eventual blockade of the target symptom. Not all features of anxiety syndromes are directly responsive to medical interventions (e.g., agoraphobic symptoms in a PD patient). Therefore, another general rule of medical treatment is to consider the inclusion of cognitivebehavioral therapy (CBT) or other psychotherapies in the overall treatment plan. Determination of the specific features of PD that characterize a given patient's experience is an essential element of assessment and treatment planning; it is also an opportunity to begin the process of building a strong therapeutic alliance with the patient (Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists 2003).

Careful counseling of the anxious patient concerning the short- and long-term risks and benefits of medications is the key to satisfactory compliance as these patients are extremely side-effect sensitive.

3 Treatment Selection

A variety of psychosocial and pharmacologic interventions have proven benefits in treating PD. Treatment selection is guided by a knowledge of the efficacy profile of a given agent and consideration of potential liabilities including side-effect burden, drug-drug interactions, safety in overdose, and other nonclinical factors such as cost and availability (Canadian Psychiatric Association 2006). There are no reliable clinical predictors of treatment responsivity excepting a previous history or family history of such a response. Furthermore, despite the extensive database of neurobiological studies in PD, there are, as yet, no clinically useful biological markers of treatment responsiveness. In patients with uncomplicated PD, as well as in patients with co-morbidity, the SSRIs are now considered the first-line medications (American Psychiatric 2009). Their ease of administration and favorable toxicity/ side-effect profile in comparison with older-generation agents [tricyclic and monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs)] has contributed to this trend. As mentioned earlier, there is now some evidence that SSRIs might have superior antipanic efficacy compared to other standard agents. In addition, the data from some efficacy trials suggest that SSRIs may have an earlier onset of action compared to the older generation 5-HT/NE anxiolytics (Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists 2003). Taken together, these characteristics strongly argue in favor of the selection of an SSRI as the first-line agent in PD. Imipramine and other tricyclics should now be considered the second-line agents for panic. Benzodiazepines are third-line, anticonvulsant the fourth-line, and the classical MAOIs would be considered fifth-line antipanic agents due to their side-effect profile and safety issues. Indeed, there appear to be few contraindications to SSRI treatment for panic. One caveat is the potential for drug-drug interactions due to hepatic P450 enzyme inhibition. For example, paroxetine and fluoxetine, in regular clinical doses, substantially inhibit the P450 IID6 isoenzyme (American Psychiatric 2009). A number of medication classes, including tricyclics, some neuroleptics, β-blockers, codeinebased analgesics, and some antiarrhythmics (e.g., flecainide and encainide), are metabolized by IID6. Fluvoxamine and, to a lesser extent, fluoxetine inhibit the P450 3A3/4 isoenzyme that metabolizes a number of classes of medications including macrolide antibiotics, nonsedating antihistamines, and calcium channel blockers. There has been one case report of EKG changes in a patient receiving both terfenadine and fluoxetine. Thus, careful clinical monitoring of patients receiving an SSRI together with any of these medications is warranted. Citalopram and sertraline appear to cause lesser degrees of P450 enzyme inhibition, and thus may be useful in the management of the panic patient on multiple medications for other psychiatric or medical reasons. Another relative contraindication would be

administration of an SSRI or indeed any antidepressant-like agent to patients with additional diagnoses of bipolar disorder or a psychotic illness. This caution is of some relevance, clinically, since PD appears to be over represented in bipolar populations (Rotondo et al. 2002). Whether SSRIs are less likely to induce hypomania than tricyclics bears further study (Howland 1996). In the bipolar/panic disordered patient, it may be preferable to avoid SSRI use and attempt stabilization of both syndromes with anticonvulsants (e.g., valproate, gabapentin, and lamotrigine), which are now being increasingly used for both syndromes. Another area of concern is the potential for serotonin syndrome (confusion, diaphoresis, agitation, fever, and tachycardia) and movement disorder to occur in SSRI/SNRI treated patients, who are subsequently given the common anti-emetic agent, metoclopramide (Fisher and Davis 2002). This observation, based on a recent report of two cases, may be the result of a pharmacodynamic interaction between SSRIs and metoclopramide. Within the SSRI class there is no available comparative efficacy data that would lead one to select one agent over another. Pharmacokinetic factors are of some importance in selecting an appropriate SSRI in PD. For example, an agent with a long $t_{1/2}$ such as fluoxetine should be considered in patients in whom the tapering phase of treatment may be complicated. Also, there may be subtle differences in side-effect profile that guide treatment selection. For example, paroxetine tends to be more sedating than other SSRIs and may be preferable in patients in whom sleep disturbance is a significant symptom. The SSRIs are generally safe agents for use in special populations such as the elderly, pregnant or lactating women, and children and adolescents (Murphy et al. 2000). There is some concern about growth-delaying effects of SSRIs exposure during the prepubertal and pubertal period (Weintrob et al. 2002). PD disproportionately affects women, and not infrequently declares itself during pregnancy or the post-partum period. Thus, it is clinically useful to know that SSRIs have a low teratogenic potential and, although excreted in breast milk, appear, thus far, to have limited effects on the newborn (Misri et al. 2000). One caveat to SSRI therapy in elderly patients is the slight risk of a syndrome of inappropriate ADH secretion, suggesting the need for electrolyte monitoring in this group.

3.1 Treatment Implementation

Many people with PD do not respond fully to a first-line treatment due to a various factors including an inability to tolerate treatment (American Psychiatric 2009). In general, panic patients are extremely side-effect sensitive, especially to the stimulant properties of agents that modify 5-HT and NE function, and therefore should be commenced on half the usual starting dose used for major depression (Louie et al. 1993). Not uncommonly, co-treatment with a benzodiazepine is necessary to minimize the impact of this side-effect. Recent work endorses the benefit of early regular co-administration of the benzodiazepine, clonazepam, with SSRIs for the rapid stabilization of moderate–severe PD (Goddard et al. 2001; Pollack et al.

2003). Gradual clonazepam tapering after several weeks of co-administration appears to be well-tolerated and limits the development of physiological dependence associated with long-term benzodiazepine use. Guidelines for the duration of SSRI therapy generally depend on the time at which a full response has been obtained. This is usually defined as a remission of both full and limited symptom panic attacks. At this time, a further 6 months of maintenance therapy is considered sufficient (Rosenbaum et al. 1996) before a trial of SSRI taper is indicated. 5-HT/ NE anxiolytics have the advantage of being relatively easy to taper with this population in contrast to benzodiazepine agents. However, abrupt discontinuation should be avoided because of the flu-like syndrome that has been observed to occur in this context (Coupland et al. 1996). Additional controlled clinical research data are still needed to guide the long-term management of PD. Recent work with PD patients on imipramine suggests that they may benefit from an extended maintenance period (up to 2 years; Mavissakalian and Perel 2001). Similarly, continued SSRI therapy (18 months) appeared to prevent clinical relapse. Thus, maintenance pharmacotherapy may be necessary for some patients to protect against relapse. Large, controlled maintenance studies are underway to determine important questions concerning the ideal length of and combination of treatments, and the clinical indications for extended maintenance treatment in a subgroup of patients who might be sensitive to relapse (e.g., patients with multiple previous episodes of panic). Treatment is generally monitored by frequent assessment of clinical status and treatment compliance. Drug plasma levels are generally not needed as a guide to dosing. With respect to impramine treatment, there appears to be a linear relationship between antipanic effects and total imipramine plasma levels (Mavissakalian and Perel 1994). Treatment resistance is a relatively uncommon problem and can usually be addressed by careful diagnostic reassessment and then moving through the top four classes of agents in a step-wise manner (Rosenbaum et al. 1996). However, partial responses are fairly common and can usually be managed by optimization of the existing regimen or co-administration of another therapeutic agent, for example, a benzodiazepine, or another 5-HT/NE anxiolytic (e.g., low-dose desipramine). If response to treatment remains unsatisfactory following an adequate trial; it is appropriate to consider a change (American Psychiatric 2009) either through augmentation with another agent or the addition of another modality (e.g., cognitive behavioral therapy). An individual approach to augmentation is required as there is little work on the benefit of other augmentation strategies in panic (e.g., lithium augmentation) that have been routinely applied in depression, where treatment-resistance is a more prevalent clinical issue.

4 Pharmacologic Treatments

Selection of a specific medication for the treatment of PD will require the consideration of the specifics of a patient's presentation and which medicine best fits in terms of properties of the medication itself (e.g., half-life) and its associated features (e.g., side effects, cost). This is because the classes of medications used [SSRIs, serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), TCAs and benzodiazepines] are comparable in terms of efficacy (Kessler et al. 1994). As such, SSRIs and SNRIs are likely the best choice of initial pharmacotherapy for many patients with PD as they do not carry the significant side effects associated with TCAs and have no liability for abuse as is found with benzodiazepines. SSRIs, SNRIs, and TCAs all provide antidepressant effects, but all have delayed primary antipanic effects. Benzodiazepines, despite their greater propensity for side effects, are still used very frequently because of their rapid onset of action. Studies (Pollack et al. 2003) have suggested benzodiazepines in combination with antidepressants to control symptoms until the antidepressant takes effect followed by tapering of the benzodiazepine. PD patients frequently are hypersensitive to medication side effects, and it is recommended to educate patients about the likely course of both primary and side effects of the medications. It is also recommended that starting doses of SSRIs, SNRIs, and TCAs be approximately half of those given to depressed patients (Louie et al. 1993). This initial dose should be maintained for several days and then gradually increased as tolerated by the patient.

5 Mechanisms of Action

The fear circuit is highly complex, and unsurprisingly, involves several neurochemical systems that modulate and mediate responses. However, from this complexity we can draw out the key role played by the amygdala in the coordination of the components (e.g., cognitive, affective, neuroendocrine, cardiovascular, respiratory, musculoskeletal) of this circuit. Within the context of the cognitive component, it is important as a modulator of fear and anxiety responses and also as a component in the conditioning and extinction of fears. Perhaps this serves as a partial explanation for the status of PD as the most treatment sensitive of the anxiety disorders with 70–80% of patients having satisfactory responses (Rosenbaum et al. 1996). The medications used to treat PD are thought to modify components in this circuit through modification of the neurochemical systems associated with the stress response including serotonin (5-hydroxytrptamine; 5-HT), norepinephrine (NE), γ -aminobutyricacid (GABA), glutamate, and peptides.

The clinical literature concentrating on this area has been mainly derived from the studies of panic patients, and whether these data have more general implications for anxiety disorders remains to be seen. There is evidence that 5-HT mechanisms may have an important role in mediating the antipanic effects of several classes of anxiolytic agents. For example, successful SSRI treatment of PD seems related to the net enhancement of 5-HT function that occurs with the administration of these agents (Blier and Abbott 2001). This outcome appears to be due to the desensitization of somato-dendritic 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors and possibly 5-HT_{1B} terminal autoreceptors that occurs following chronic SSRI administration (Blier 2001). In conclusion, enhancement of 5-HT neurotransmission is a common mechanism of several major classes of anxiolytic and may be a key factor in controlling pathological anxiety.

NE mechanisms may be also responsible for the therapeutic effects of some of the medications reviewed. In animal studies chronic application of both tricyclics and MAOIs has a variety of inhibitory effects on NE function, including reduction in LC firing rates, NE turnover, tyrosine hydroxylase activity, and postsynaptic β receptor number and functioning. These pre- and postsynaptic events are likely to contribute to stabilization of NE system function in syndromes associated with NE dysregulation such as PTSD and PD. In addition, 5-HT/NE interactions have been implicated in the successful treatment of panic symptoms. For example, preclinical work indicates that long-term but not short-term paroxetine administration is associated with decreased LC/NE cell firing (Szabo et al. 2000). Consistent with this finding of reduced NE activity following SSRI administration in the lab is the clinical observation that chronic SSRI treatment of panic results in the attenuation of anxiogenesis from NE system stimulation with the α -2 adrenergic antagonist, yohimbine. Newer therapeutic agents that are likely to have broad anxiolytic effects such as the 5-HT/ NE reuptake blocker, venlafaxine, and the NE reuptake inhibitor, reboxetine, similarly modify LC/NE activity with chronic administration (Szabo and Blier 2001).

GABA neuronal mechanisms have been implicated in the anxiolytic effects of several classes of medications. There is evidence that $GABA_A/NE$ interactions may be an important therapeutic mechanism in PD as benzodiazepine treatment blocks panicogenesis induced by yohimbine. It is conceivable, then, that enhancement of GABA function is a common therapeutic pathway for effective antipanic treatments (Jefferson 2001).

There is some evidence that antipanic treatment effects could be related to effects on heart rate variability in PD. Successful treatment (with either cognitive–behavior therapy or imipramine) is associated with normalization of heart rate variability patterns, and recent preliminary data suggest that SSRI treatment with paroxetine has a similar effect (Tucker et al. 1997). Patients with PD may have decreases in vagal tone, permitting a predominance of sympathetic activation of cardiac function. Reversal of these effects by effective treatment may decrease the tendency towards spontaneous panic.

Finally, antipanic agents may modify the functioning of the CRF/HPA axis to bring about therapeutic effects. Preclinical studies have observed decreased HPA axis function on a number of measures following chronic administration of moclobemide and the tricyclic nortryptiline (Reul et al. 1994), while benzodiazepines also appear to decrease CRF function by directly inhibiting CRF release (Plotsky et al. 1995). However, one clinical study of panic patients did not support the notion that HPA axis down modulation (and by implication reduction in central CRF function) was necessary for the occurrence of long-term clinical improvement (Abelson and Curtis 1996).

6 Serotonergic Agents

Currently, six SSRIs (fluoxetine, sertraline, paroxetine, fluoxamine, citalopram, and escitalopram) are available in the United States (American Psychiatric 2009). Although there is no evidence for differential efficacy between them, differences in

side-effect profile, drug half-life, propensity for interactions with other medications, and the availability of generic formulations may influence choice of initial medication (Fava 2006). These drugs, because of their broad therapeutic spectrum (Haas et al. 2009; Gorman and Kent 1999), have the advantage of affording treatment for other common, co-morbid conditions (usually other anxiety disorders or mood disorders), a significant clinical problem in this population. Within this category of agents, the SSRIs are now preferred because of their favorable sideeffect profile, ease of administration, and safety. Many of these agents acutely inhibit reuptake of brain 5-HT and/or NE. This is especially true of tricyclic agents, the SSRIs, and the SNRI, venlafaxine. The MAOIs and RIMAs (reversible inhibitors of MAO-A) are quite effective for PD.

Some patients with PD experience increased side effects when beginning treatment with an SSRI. Because of this, starting doses are lower than that for other indications. According to the most recent APA treatment guidelines, the recommended daily starting dose for each is as follows: fluoxetine is 10 mg or less, sertraline 25 mg, paroxetine 10 mg (IR) or 12.5 mg (CR) depending on the formulation used, 10 mg of citalopram, and escitalopram at 5–10 mg (American Psychiatric 2009). It is further recommended that this lowered starting dose be maintained for approximately 3–7 days and then gradually increased based on tolerability (Stein 2005) to standard doses as presented in Table 1. Abruptly stopping SSRIs can lead to discontinuation syndrome (Shelton 2006). Tapering treatment over a week or longer can minimize this risk.

SSRIs have few serious side effects, are rarely lethal in overdose, and have few serious effects on cardiovascular function (American Psychiatric 2009). The most common side effects of this class of medications are headaches, irritability, nausea, insomnia, sexual dysfunction, weight gain, increased anxiety, drowsiness, and tremor.

Agent	Normal dosage range	$T_{1/2}$ (h)	FDA anxiety indications	PD ^a
	(mg/day)			
SSRIs				
Fluoxetine	20-80	24-72	OCD, PD	Α
Paroxetine	20-60	21	OCD, PD, GAD, SAD, PTSD	А
Sertraline	50-200	24	OCD, PD, SAD, PTSD	А
Fluvoxamine	50-300	15	OCD	Α
Citalopram	20-60	35		А
Escitalopram	10-20	27-32	OCD, PD, GAD, SAD, PTSD	Α
SNRI				
Venlafaxine	75–225	5-11	Extended release - PD, GAD, SAD	Α
Duloxetine	40-60	12	GAD	С

Table 1 Evidence for efficacy of serotonergic agents

SSRI Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; SNRI Serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor; GAD Generalized anxiety disorder; PD Panic disorder; SAD Social anxiety disorder; OCD Obsessive compulsive disorder; PTST Post traumatic stress disorder; A Established treatment (replicated, large scale RCTs); B Promising treatment approach (e.g., one or more RCTs of moderate size); C Limited evidence (open trials; case series literature); D Very limited evidence (only preclinical evidence, theoretical prediction, or anecdotal reports) ^aLevel of evidence supporting use in anxiety disorders

476

How these side effects are experienced is highly individual, with some being transient and some lasting the duration of treatment.

6.1 Efficacy of 5-HT and NE Reuptake Blockers

Paroxetine was the first SSRI to receive a US FDA indication specifically for PD. Both short-term and long-term (up to 12 months) efficacies have been demonstrated with paroxetine (McHugh et al. 2009). Sertraline has also exhibited both short-(Londborg et al. 1998; Pohl et al. 1998; Pollack et al. 1998) and long-term efficacies for panic, was effective in preventing relapse with chronic administration (Rapaport et al. 2001), and, over a 6-month period, was associated with reduction in the medical services utilization often seen in unstable panic patients (Roy-Byrne et al. 2001). Positive multicenter trial data have also been obtained with fluvoxamine (Asnis et al. 2001), citalopram (Leinonen et al. 2000a), and fluoxetine (Michelson et al. 2001a). Thus far, within the SSRIs class, agents appear to exhibit antipanic effects of similar magnitude (Perna et al. 2001). On the issue of between-class efficacy comparisons, findings from a recent meta-analytic study of clinical trials conducted in over 2,300 panic patients suggested that SSRIs treatment effects could even be more robust than those observed with imipramine or the benzodiazepine and alprazolam (Boyer 1995), although a more recent effect size analysis failed to find significant differences in efficacy between SSRIs and older-generation 5-HT/ NE agents (Otto et al. 2001). The antipanic benefit of the serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor (SNRI), venlafaxine, has been established (Leinonen et al. 2000b; Sheikh et al. 2000; Michelson et al. 2001b). Pharmacologic data indicate that venlafaxine may exhibit dose-dependent reuptake effects, with SRI effects occurring in lower doses and additional NRI effects becoming more apparent at higher dose levels (Asnis et al. 2001).

Of clinical importance are studies that have investigated the role of genetics in the efficacy (or lack thereof) of drug treatments. A large portion of SSRI-treated PD patients do not respond sufficiently. Recent research has shown that the presence of the long allele of the serotonin transporter (5-HTT) gene is associated with favorable response (Tiwari et al. 2009). To date, the most promising strategy in clinical practice appears to include testing of the functional CYP450 gene variants to avoid over or under dosing poor or rapid metabolizers. Pharmacogenetic studies are beginning to refine and individualize drug therapy for PD (Mancama and Kerwin 2003).

6.1.1 Tricyclic Antidepressants

There are multiple controlled clinical trials documenting the short-term efficacy of these agents in panic. The most tested agent in this regard is the tricyclic, imipramine (Jefferson 1997). Imipramine's therapeutic benefit appears to be maintained over the intermediate and longer-term, as evidenced by data from a study of over

1,000 panic patients (Cross-National and Group 1992) and a multi-site US trial (Barlow et al. 2000) in which, for panic patients with mild or no agoraphobia, CBT was at least as effective as imipramine, and both were superior to placebo, over a 9-month treatment interval. Imipramine has distinct advantages in the management of panic symptoms. It has been thoroughly scrutinized by clinical trial methodologies, has predictable clinical effects, and is inexpensive. Its main disadvantages are an appreciable side-effect burden and the potential for lethality when ingested in overdose. The degree of efficacy of imipramine in panic (approximately 60%–70% of patients are responders) has not been clearly exceeded by newer agents. Other tricyclic agents, most notably clomipramine and desipramine, appear to be similarly beneficial for PD (McHugh et al. 2009).

In conclusion, there is a wealth of clinical data documenting reliable treatment effects of both tricyclics and SSRIs for PD. These treatment effects appear to be maintained over the short- and longer-term.

6.2 Other Agents with 5-HT and NE Mechanisms

Older, but no less efficacious for PD, are the nonselective, irreversible MAOIs such as phenelzine. A number of clinical trials have confirmed their efficacy, and some studies have suggested that MAOIs may even have antiphobic properties in addition to their ability to suppress panic attacks (Liebowitz et al. 1990). The newer generation RIMAs, such as moclobemide and brofaromine, are also another viable treatment option for panic patients with several large-scale trials in the world literature, indicating their panicolytic effects (van Vliet et al. 1993; Tiller et al. 1999). The newer selective NE reuptake blocker, reboxetine, in one controlled study was efficacious and well-tolerated by PD patients (Versiani et al. 2002) and may be especially useful for those with resistant symptoms (Dannon et al. 2002). The antipanic benefit of the 5-HT₂ antagonist, nefazodone, and the selective α-2 and 5-HT_{2/3} antagonist, mirtazapine, has not yet been established. However, there are now several positive open-label trials with these agents, suggesting that followup controlled trials could be worthwhile (Berigan et al. 1998; Bystritsky et al. 1999; Carpenter et al. 1999). These agents could be of particular benefit for the panic patient with multiple co-morbidities or those with appreciable sleep disturbance as a part of their clinical presentation.

6.2.1 Benzodiazepines

Benzodiazepeines are generally well-tolerated and highly effective medications for PD. Alprazolam has the largest number of studies supporting its efficacy (Curtis et al. 1993; Tesar et al. 1991; Dager et al. 1992; Schweizer et al. 1993), but the efficacy of clonezapam (Tesar et al. 1991; Moroz and Rosenbaum 1999; Valenca et al. 2003) and other benzodiazepines (e.g., diazepam, lorazepam) (Savoldi et al. 1990; Schweizer et al. 1992; Noyes et al. 1996) is also well-supported. Alprazolam

is efficacious, but because of its short half-life, multiple daily doses are required, which creates both clinical and practical difficulties. Clonezapam has a longer half-life, which requires fewer doses and results in less severe withdrawal symptoms and better compliance (Moroz and Rosenbaum 1999). Because of the reduced complexity of clonezapam, it is frequently the preferred medicine. The risks associated with benzodiazepines include sedation, fatigue, ataxia, slurred speech, memory impairment, and weakness (Schweizer et al. 1992). These side effects should be discussed with patients prior to treatment initiation.

6.3 Other Agents

The use of anticonvulsants in the treatment of PD has limited support. Only one randomized controlled trial of gabepentin (Pande et al. 2000) has provided support for the safety and efficacy of its use in PD. Other open-label trials have suggested utility for valproic acid in PD (Woodman and Noyes 1994) and only case-report level information is available for levetiracetam, tiagabine, and vigabatrin. Further research is needed before any of these treatments can be recommended. The use of first-generation antipsychotics in PD is not recommended. There is no evidence that they are effective and potential side effects outweigh any potential benefit (Canadian Psychiatric Association 2006). There is limited support for the use of olanzapine (Hollifield et al. 2005) and risperidone (Simon et al. 2006) with severe, treatmentresistant PD, but this must be balanced with growing concern about potential side effects (e.g., metabolic syndrome) with these agents. The use of beta-andrenergic blocking agents such as propanolol and atenolol in PD is not supported by the literature (Munjack et al. 1989; Ravaris et al. 1991), but they are occasionally used to help reduce somatic sensations by some clinicians. There is limited evidence for the potential efficacy of pindolol when used as an augmentation for patients with SSRI-resistant PD (Hirschmann et al. 2000), but given the side effect profile of these agents, they are not generally recommended. Buspirone has been investigated and found ineffective as monotherapy for PD (Sheehan et al. 1993) or as an augmentation to enhance the efficacy of CBT (Cottraux et al. 1995).

7 Novel Treatment Approaches

7.1 Anxiolytic Drug Development

Research in this area, while continuing to explore the role of 5-HT receptor subtypes (e.g., 5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{2A}, 5-HT_{2C}, and 5-HT₃) in anxiolysis, has targeted neurotransmitters and modulators beyond the monoamine systems. Neuropeptides implicated in stress and anxiety, such as CCK and CRF, have been the focus of some of these efforts. However, selective CCK_B receptor antagonists, while

initially promising in preclinical models of anxiety, have been disappointing clinical anxiolytics, partly due to their poor bioavailability (Goddard et al. 1998). A recently discovered class of hypothalamic peptide hormones, the orexins (ORX), has been implicated in anxiogenesis in some animal fear models. Preclinical studies (Johnson et al. in press) suggest that ORX neurons are more active during lactate-induced panic in panic-prone rats (with GABA deficits in the dorsomedial hypothalamus), and that ORX 1 antagonists can block lactate panic in these animals. Thus, orexin antagonists appear to be a promising class of anxiolytics, with particular relevance for the treatment of PD. In addition, Neuropeptide S plays an important role in sleep–wake cycles and also seems to have anxiolytic effects as well (Reinscheid 2008), but the mechanism is not known and much more work is needed to elucidate the details of this curious neurotransmitter.

With respect to the GABA system, there has been an extensive drug development effort focusing on benzodiazepine receptor partial agonists such as bretazenil and abecarnil (Pollack et al. 1997). The development of compounds that act similarly to endogenous anxiolytic neurosteroids (e.g., allopregnenolone) is another approach to GABA neuronal modulation that could provide future clinical benefits. Outcomes of clinical trials using GABAergic agents have been equivocal. Recent research has turned to better understanding the role of GABA and found effects on neuroactive steroid concentrations possibly related to changes in corticosterone concentrations (Zwanzger et al. 2009). GABA enhancement with the gabapentin-like agent, pregabalin, which appears to be more bioavailable than its predecessor, may prove useful across anxiety disorders (Rupprecht et al. 2009). More recently, there have been exciting drug development initiatives underway with compounds that downmodulate glutamatergic function. One group of such compounds, the metabotropic glutamate receptor agonists, seems particularly promising as anxiolytic. An example of this class is the selective mGlu2/3 receptor agonist (LY345740), which suppresses fear-potentiated startle and lactate-induced panic (Selak 2001) in animals. Recent testing in clinical populations (panic patients) has revealed that it has the capacity to attenuate CO₂-induced panic symptoms with chronic administration and thus could have clinical utility (Shekhar and Keim 2000). This drug inhibits release of endogenous glutamate via a presynaptic mechanism only when excessive glutamate release occurs, and thus has little impact on basal glutamatergic function. Newer generation compounds based on this prototype, with improved bioavailability and CNS penetration, are ready for clinical testing.

7.2 New Treatment Strategies

Augmentation strategies could be useful in terms of hastening clinical response to standard medications such as the SSRIs. For example, early co-administration of the benzodiazepine clonazepam with SSRIs (Goddard et al. 2001) can facilitate rapid stabilization of acute PD and may be a useful approach for other anxiety disorders. Coadministration of the 5-HT_{1A} antagonist, pindolol, has hastened the

onset of antidepressant effects of the SSRIs in some studies of depressed patients. This strategy, although not successful in one study of social anxiety (Schmitt and Hiemke 1999), bears exploration in other anxiety disorders. There is now preliminary evidence that the β -blocker propranolol could be a useful secondary preventive strategy for civilian trauma (Stein et al. 2001). Atypical neuroleptic agents may be useful adjunctive agents for the more severe anxiety disorders, such as chronic PTSD (Pitman et al. 2002; Stein et al. 2002). Alternatively, other treatment approaches are focusing on the neural mechanisms that may switch off or extinguish fear responses. For instance, in a recent animal study, acute administration of the anti-TB agent D-cycloserine, a partial NMDA/glycine site agonist, facilitated extinction of conditioned fear (Walker et al. 2002). It is conceivable that targeted use of this agent in combination with cognitive–behavior therapy will improve extinction of a variety of phobic disorders (Otto et al. in press).

8 Conclusions

The last three decades have seen substantial progress in the diagnosis and treatment of anxiety disorders. However, the production of an ideal anxiolytic with a rapid onset of therapeutic action minus problems of physiological dependence has remained a somewhat elusive goal. While benzodiazepines and tricyclics remain useful therapeutic agents for a number of anxiety disorders, they have been supplanted as first-line treatments by the newer 5-HT/NE anxiolytics such as the SSRIs, and the SNRI venlafaxine, which offer improved safety, a more favorable side-effect profile, and a broader spectrum of therapeutic action. PD is very responsive to a range of anxiolytic agents, including SSRIs, tricyclics, benzodiazepines, and MAOIs, and some GABAergic anticonvulsants. To date, much has been learned about short-term efficacy of the anxiolytics mentioned earlier. However, given the chronic course of many anxiety disorders, future research needs to answer many questions concerning longer-term aspects of treatment. Knowledge concerning the pathophysiology of PD and treatment mechanisms has developed considerably over the last two decades. There is renewed interest in the neural circuitry that subserves adaptive fear responses and the ways in which disturbances in this circuitry could contribute to the pathophysiology of PD (Krystal et al. 2001). Not surprisingly, drug development research is focusing on novel anxiolytics that target dysfunction at different levels of the fear circuit.

References

 Abelson JL, Curtis GC (1996) Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity in panic disorder: prediction of long-term outcome by pretreatment cortisol levels. Am J Psychiatry 153(1):69–73
American Psychiatric Association (2009) Practice guideline for the treatment of persons with disorder, 2nd edn. American Psychiatric Association, Washington, DC

- Asnis GM, Hameedi FA et al (2001) Fluvoxamine in the treatment of panic disorder: a multicenter, double-blind, placebo-controlled study in outpatients. Psychiatry Res 103(1):1–14
- Barlow DH, Gorman JM et al (2000) Cognitive-behavioral therapy, imipramine, or their combination for panic disorder: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 283(19):2529–2536
- Berigan TR, Casas A et al (1998) Nefazodone and the treatment of panic. J Clin Psychiatry 59 (5):256–257
- Blier P (2001) Pharmacology of rapid-onset antidepressant treatment strategies. J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 15):12–27
- Blier P, Abbott FV (2001) Putatuve mechanisms of action of antidepressant drugs in affective and anxiety disorders and pain. J Psychiatry Neurosci 26:37–43
- Boyer W (1995) Serotonin uptake inhibitors are superior to imipramine and alprazolam in alleviating panic attacks: a meta-analysis. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 10(1):45–49
- Bystritsky A, Rosen R et al (1999) Pilot open-label study of nefazodone in panic disorder. Depress Anxiety 10(3):137–139
- Canadian Psychiatric Association (2006) Clinical practice guidelines: management of anxiety disorders. Can J Psychiatry 51:275–277
- Carpenter LL, Leon Z et al (1999) Clinical experience with mirtazapine in the treatment of panic disorder. Ann Clin Psychiatry 11(2):81–86
- Cottraux J, Note ID et al (1995) A controlled study of congnitive behaviour therapy with buspirone or placebo in panic disorder with agoraphobia. Br J Psychiatry 167:635–641
- Coupland NJ, Bell CJ et al (1996) Serotonin reuptake inhibitor withdrawal. J Clin Psychopharmacol 16(5):356–362
- Cross-National and S. Group (1992) Drug treatment of panic disorder. Comparative efficacy of alprazolam, imipramine, and placebo. Cross-National Collaborative Panic Study, Second Phase Investigators [published erratum appears in Br J Psychiatry 1992 Nov;161:724] [see comments]. Br J Psychiatry 160:191–202; discussion 202–205
- Curtis CG, Massana J et al (1993) Maintenance drug therapy of panic disorder. J Psychiatr Res 27 (Suppl 1):127–142
- Dager SR, Roy-Byrne P et al (1992) Long-term outcome of panic states during double-blind treatment and after withdrawal of aprazolam and placebo. Ann Clin Psychiatry 4:251–258
- Dannon PN, Iancu I et al (2002) The efficacy of reboxetine in the treatment-refractory patients with panic disorder: an open label study. Hum Psychopharmacol 17(7):329–333
- Fava M (2006) Prospective studies of adverse events related to antidepressant discontinuation. J Clin Psychiatry 67(Suppl 4):14–21
- Fisher AA, Davis MW (2002) Serotonin syndrome caused by selective serotonin reuptakeinhibitors-metoclopramide interaction. Ann Pharmacother 36(1):67–71
- Goddard AW, Gorman JM et al (1998) Neurobiology of panic disorder. In: Rosenbaum J, Pollack M (eds) Panic disorder and its treatment. Marcel Dekker, Inc, New York, pp 57–92
- Goddard AW, Brouette T et al (2001) Early coadministration of clonazepam with sertraline for panic disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58(7):681–686
- Gorman JM, Kent JM (1999) SSRIs and SNRIs: broad spectrum of efficacy beyond major depression. J Clin Psychiatry 60(Suppl 4):33–38, discussion 39
- Haas CK, Shekhar A et al (2009) Anxiety Drug Therapy. Encyclopedia of Neuroscience 499-508
- Hirschmann D, Dannon PN et al (2000) Pindolol augmentation in patients with treatment-resistant panic disorder: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Psychopharmacol 20:556–559
- Hollifield M, Thompson PM et al (2005) Potential effectiveness and safety of olanzapine in refractory panic disorder. Depress Anxiety 21:33–40
- Howland RH (1996) Induction of mania with serotonin reuptake inhibitors. J Clin Psychopharmacol 16(6):425–427
- Jefferson JW (1997) Antidepressants in panic disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 58(Suppl 2):20–24, discussion 24–25
- Jefferson JW (2001) Benzodiazepines and anticonvulsants for social phobia (social anxiety disorder). J Clin Psychiatry 62(Suppl 1):50–53

Johnson PL, Truitt W et al (2009) A key role for orexin in panic anxiety. Nat Med 16:111-115

- Kessler RC, McGonagle KA et al (1994) Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:8–19
- Krystal JH, D'Souza DC et al (2001) Current perspectives on the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, depression, and anxiety disorders. Med Clin North Am 85(3):559–577
- Leinonen E, Lepola U et al (2000a) Citalopram controls phobic symptoms in patients with panic disorder: randomized controlled trial. J Psychiatry Neurosci 25(1):25–32
- Leinonen E, Lepola U et al (2000b) Citalopram controls phobic symptoms in patients with panic disorder: randomized controlled trial. J Psychiatry Neurosci 25:24–32
- Liebowitz MR, Hollander E et al (1990) Reversible and irreversible monoamine oxidase inhibitors in other psychiatric disorders. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 360:29–34
- Londborg PD, Wolkow R et al (1998) Sertraline in the treatment of panic disorder. A multi-site, double-blind, placebo-controlled, fixed-dose investigation. Br J Psychiatry 173:54–60
- Louie AK, Lewis TB et al (1993) Use of low-dose fluoxetine in major depression and panic disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 54:435–438
- Mancama D, Kerwin RW (2003) Role of pharmacogenomics in individualizing treatment with SSRI's. CNS Drugs 17(3):143–151
- Mavissakalian MR, Perel JM (1994) Dose-response characterization of the antipanic effects of imipramine. Psychopharmacol Bull 30(2):171–174
- Mavissakalian MR, Perel JM (2001) 2nd year maintenance and discontinuation of imipramine in panic disorder with agoraphobia. Ann Clin Psychiatry 13(2):63–67
- McHugh RK, Smits JAJ et al (2009) Empirically supported treatments for panic disorder. Psychiatr Clin North Am 32:593–610
- Michelson D, Allgulander C et al (2001) Efficacy of usual antidepressant dosing regimens of fluoxetine in panic disorder: randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 179:514–518
- Misri S, Burgmann A et al (2000) Are SSRIs safe for pregnant and breastfeeding women? Can Fam Physician 46(626–628):631–633
- Moroz G, Rosenbaum JF (1999) Efficacy, safety, and gradual discontinuation of clonazepam in panic disorder: a placebo-controlled, multicenter study using optimized dosages. J Clin Psychiatry 60:604–612
- Munjack DJ, Crocker B et al (1989) Alprazolam, propranolol, and placebo in the treatment of panic disorder and agoraphobia with panic attacks. J Clin Psychopharmacol 9:22–27
- Murphy TK, Bengtson MA et al (2000) Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in the treatment of paediatric anxiety disorders: a review. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 15(Suppl 2):S47–S63
- Noyes R, Burrows GD et al (1996) Diazepam versus alprazolam for the treatment of panic disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 57:349–355
- Otto MW, Tuby KS et al (2001) An effect-size analysis of the relative efficacy and tolerability of serotonin selective reuptake inhibitors for panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 158(12):1989–1992
- Otto MW, Tolin DF et al (in press) Efficacy of D-cycloserine for enhancing response to cognitive behavioral therapy for panic disorder. Biol Psychiatry
- Pande AC, Pollack MH et al (2000) Placebo-controlled study of gabapentin treatment of panic disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 20:467–471
- Perna G, Bertani A et al (2001) A comparison of citalopram and paroxetine in the treatment of panic disorder: a randomized, single-blind study. Pharmacopsychiatry 34(3):85–90
- Pitman RK, Sanders KM et al (2002) Pilot study of secondary prevention of posttraumatic stress disorder with propranolol. Biol Psychiatry 51(2):189–192
- Plotsky P, Owens M et al (1995) Neuropeptide alterations in mood disorders. In: Bloom F, Kupfer D (eds) Psychopharmacology: the fourth generation of progress. Raven Press, New York, pp 971–982
- Pohl RB, Wolkow RM et al (1998) Sertraline in the treatment of panic disorder: a double-blind multicenter trial. Am J Psychiatry 155(9):1189–1195

- Pollack MH, Worthington JJ et al (1997) Abecarnil for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a placebo-controlled comparison of two dosage ranges of abecarnil and buspirone. J Clin Psychiatry 58(Suppl 11):19–23
- Pollack MH, Otto MW et al (1998) Sertraline in the treatment of panic disorder: a flexible-dose multicenter trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55(11):1010–1016
- Pollack MH, Simon NM et al (2003) Combined paroxetine and clonazepam treatment strategies compared to paroxetine monotherapy for panic disorder. J Psychopharmacol 17:276–282
- Rapaport MH, Wolkow R et al (2001) Sertraline treatment of panic disorder: results of a long-term study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 104(4):289–298
- Ravaris CL, Friedman MJ et al (1991) A controlled study of alprazolam and propranolol in panicdisordered and agoraphobic outpatients. J Clin Psychopharmacol 11:344–350
- Reinscheid RK (2008) Neuropeptide S: anatomy, pharmacology, genetics and physiological functions. Results Probl Cell Differ 46:145–158
- Reul JM, Labeur MS et al (1994) Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis changes in the rat after long-term treatment with the reversible monoamine oxidase-A inhibitor moclobemide. Neuroendocrinology 60(5):509–519
- Robins LN, Helzer JE et al (1984) Lifetime prevalence of specific psychiatric disorders in three sites. Arch Gen Psychiatry 41:949–958
- Rosenbaum JF, Pollock RA et al (1996) The pharmacotherapy of panic disorder. Bull Menninger Clin 60(Suppl A):A54–A75
- Rotondo A, Mazzanti C et al (2002) Catechol o-methyltransferase, serotonin transporter, and tryptophan hydroxylase gene polymorphisms in bipolar disorder patients with and without comorbid panic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 159(1):23–29
- Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists (2003) Australian and New Zealand clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of panic disorder and agoraphobia. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 37:641–656
- Roy-Byrne PP, Clary CM et al (2001) The effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor treatment of panic disorder on emergency room and laboratory resource utilization. J Clin Psychiatry 62(9):678–682
- Roy-Byrne PP, Craske MG, Stein MB (2006) Panic disorder. Lancet 368:1023-1032
- Rupprecht R, Rammes G et al (2009) Translocator protein (18 kD) as target for anxiolytics without benzodiazepine-like side effects. Science 325:490–493
- Savoldi F, Somenzini G et al (1990) Etizolam versus placebo in the treatment of panic disorder with agoraphobia: a double-blind study. Curr Med Res Opin 12:185–190
- Schmitt U, Hiemke C (1999) Effects of GABA-transporter (GAT) inhibitors on rat behaviour in open-field and elevated plus-maze. Behav Pharmacol 10(2):131–137
- Schweizer E, Clary C et al (1992) The use of low-dose intranasal midazolam to treat panic disorder: a pilot study. J Clin Psychiatry 53:19–22
- Schweizer E, Rickels K et al (1993) Maintenance drug treatment of panic disorder: I. results of a prospective, placebo-controlled comparison of aprazolam and Imipramine. Arch Gen Psychiatry 50:51–60
- Selak I (2001) Pregabalin (Pfizer). Curr Opin Invest Drugs 2(6):828-834
- Sheehan DV, Raj AB et al (1993) The relative efficacy of high-dose buspirone and alprazolam in the treatment of panic disorder: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 88:1–11
- Sheikh JI, Lonborg P et al (2000) The efficacy of sertraline in panic disorder: combined results from two fixed-dose studies. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 15:335–342
- Shekhar A, Keim SR (2000) LY354740, a potent group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist prevents lactate-induced panic-like response in panic-prone rats. Neuropharmacology 39 (7):1139–1146
- Shelton RC (2006) The nature of discontinuation syndrome associated with antidepressant drugs. J Clin Psychiatry 67(Suppl 4):3–7

- Simon NM, Hoge EA et al (2006) An open-label trial of risperidone augmentation for refractory anxiety disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 67:381–385
- Stein MB (2005) Anxiety disorders: somatic treatment. In: Kaplan HI, Sadock BJ (eds) Comprehensive textbook of psychiatry. Lippincott, Williams, & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA
- Stein MB, Sareen J et al (2001) Pindolol potentiation of paroxetine for generalized social phobia: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. Am J Psychiatry 158(10):1725–1727
- Stein MB, Kline NA et al (2002) Adjunctive olanzapine for SSRI-resistant combat-related PTSD: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 159(10):1777–1779
- Szabo ST, Blier P (2001) Effects of chronic antidepressant drug administration and electroconvulsive shock on locus coeruleus electrophysiologic activity. Biol Psychiatry 50(8):644–646
- Szabo ST, de Montigny C et al (2000) Progressive attenuation of the firing activity of locus coeruleus noradrenergic neurons by sustained administration of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 3(1):1–11
- Tesar GE, Rosenbaum JF et al (1991) Double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison of clonazepam and alprazolam for panic disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 52:69–76
- Tiller JW, Bouwer C et al (1999) Moclobemide and fluoxetine for panic disorder. International Panic Disorder Study Group. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 249(Suppl 1):S7–S10
- Tiwari AK, Souza RP et al (2009) Pharmacogenetics of anxiolytic drugs. J Neural Transm 116:667-677
- Tucker P, Adamson P et al (1997) Paroxetine increases heart rate variability in panic disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 17(5):370–376
- Valenca AM, Nardi AE et al (2003) Therapeutic response to benzodiazepine in panic disorder subtypes. Sao Paulo Med J 121:77–80
- van Vliet IM, Westenberg HG et al (1993) MAO inhibitors in panic disorder: clinical effects of treatment with brofaromine. A double blind placebo controlled study. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 112(4):483–489
- Versiani M, Cassano G et al (2002) Reboxetine, a selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor, is an effective and well-tolerated treatment for panic disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 63(1):31–37
- Walker DL, Ressler KJ et al (2002) Facilitation of conditioned fear extinction by systemic administration or intra-amygdala infusions of D-cycloserine as assessed with fear-potentiated startle in rats. J Neurosci 22(6):2343–2351
- Weintrob N, Cohen D et al (2002) Decreased growth during therapy with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 156(7):696–701
- Weissman MM, Markowitz JS et al (1990) Panic disorder and cardiovascular/cerebrovascular problems: results from a community survey [see comments]. Am J Psychiatry 147:1504–1508
- Woodman CL, Noyes R Jr (1994) Panic disorder: treatment with valproate. J Clin Psychiatry 55:134–136
- Zwanzger P, Eser D et al (2009) Changes in CCK-4 induced panic after treatment with the GABAreuptake inhibitor tiagabine are associated with an increase in 3ά, 5ά-tetrahydrodeoxycorticosterone concentrations. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34:1586–1589

Pharmacotherapy of Social Anxiety Disorder

Keith A. Ganasen and Dan J. Stein

Contents

Irreversible Inhibitors of Monoamine Oxidase	
2.1 Phenelzine	488
Reversible Inhibitors of Monoamine Oxidase Type A	
3.1 Moclobemide	489
3.2 Brofaromine	490
Benzodiazepines	490
Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors	490
5.1 Paroxetine	491
5.2 Fluvoxamine	491
5.3 Sertraline	492
5.4 Fluoxetine	493
5.5 Escitalopram	493
Serotonin and Noradrenalin Reuptake Inhibitors	494
6.1 Venlafaxine	494
Other Antidepressants	495
7.1 Nefazodone	495
7.2 Mirtazapine	495
Beta Blockers	495
Anticonvulsants	496
9.1 Gabapentin	496
9.2 Pregabalin	496
9.3 Levetiracetam	496
Atypical Antipsychotics	497
10.1 Olanzapine	
10.2 Quetiapine	
Other Agents	497
11.1 Buspirone	
11.2 d-Cycloserine	
	Irreversible Inhibitors of Monoamine Oxidase

K.A. Ganasen (🖂) and D.J. Stein

Department of Psychiatry and Mental Health, University of Cape Town, J-Block, Groote Schuur Hospital, Anzio Rd, Observatory, 7925, Cape Town, South Africa e-mail: keithganasen@gmail.com; dan.stein@uct.ac.za

12	Treatment Resistance and Augmentation	498
13	Discussion	498
Refe	erences	499

Abstract A range of medications have been shown effective for the treatment of social anxiety disorder. The largest trials to date have been with various selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). Several of these agents have been registered for the treatment of social anxiety disorder with agencies such as the FDA or EMEA, meta-analyses confirm their efficacy and safety, and expert consensus guidelines have often recommended them as a first-line pharmacotherapy of choice. Despite such advances, there are many unanswered questions in the pharmacotherapy of social anxiety disorder, including the optimal pharmacotherapy of patients refractory to first-line intervention, and the optimal sequencing of pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy. Translational research has already had an impact on concepts of treatment, and may ultimately lead to novel interventions.

Keywords Social anxiety disorder · Controlled trials · Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale · Medication · Meta-analysis

1 Introduction

In 1985, a review of social anxiety disorder characterized it as a neglected disorder (Liebowitz et al. 1985). In the past two decades, however, a range of different medications have been studied in the treatment of this condition. These include monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAOIs), benzodiazepines, selective sero-tonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), serotonin, and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), anticonvulsants, and atypical antipsychotics. In this chapter we review this body of work.

2 Irreversible Inhibitors of Monoamine Oxidase

2.1 Phenelzine

The pharmacotherapy of social anxiety disorder was given impetus with the clinical observation that the irreversible MAOI, phenelzine, was effective not only for depression, but also for social anxiety disorder (Kelly 1973). The efficacy of phenelzine in the treatment of social anxiety disorder was subsequently established in a number of placebo-controlled trials and comparative studies (Gelernter et al. 1991; Liebowitz et al. 1992; Tyrer et al. 2003; Versiani et al. 1992). The finding that the MAOIs were more effective than the tricyclic imipramine and the beta-blocker

propanolol in social anxiety disorder suggested that pharmacotherapy could contribute to dissecting the underlying neurobiology of this disorder.

A 12-week controlled study compared cognitive behavioral group therapy (CBGT) to phenelzine. The rates of response were similar at week 12, with the phenelzine group showing better outcome on certain dimensional measures (Gelernter et al. 1991). Responders were then given 6 months of maintenance treatment, and followed up 6 months later. At this point, 50% of the phenelzine group was found to have relapsed compared to 17% of the CBGT group (Liebowitz et al. 1999).

From a clinical perspective there are, however, a number of important drawbacks to the use of MAOIs. MAOI use requires patients to monitor dietary tyramine intake strictly. Numerous drugs interact with MAOIs to increase monoamines to potentially dangerous levels. Nevertheless, MAOIs continue to be regarded by some as a "gold standard" in the treatment of social anxiety disorder, and with careful monitoring they remain an effective treatment option for patients who do not respond to other first-line agents (Aarre 2003).

3 Reversible Inhibitors of Monoamine Oxidase Type A

The reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase A (RIMA) are selective for the A isoenzyme. The pressor responsiveness to tyramine with these drugs is less than with the irreversible inhibitors, and normalizes after cessation within about 3 days for moclobemide and 8 days for brofaromine. Thus, no dietary restrictions are required at conventional doses (Bieck and Antonin 1989).

3.1 Moclobemide

A number of randomized, controlled trials of moclobemide have been undertaken, with somewhat mixed results. For example, an early study of moclobemide, phenelzine, and placebo (Versiani et al. 1992) found that both active treatments were superior to placebo, while moclobemide was better tolerated. On the other hand, findings from subsequent fixed dose studies have been less persuasive, with only some signals of efficacy at higher doses of medication (Katschnig 1997; Noyes et al. 1997).

A 12-week, placebo-controlled study of moclobemide in patients with social anxiety disorder, which also included patients with comorbid anxiety disorders, found that the moclobemide group had a greater response at study end point (Stein et al. 2002a) than the placebo group. Response was determined using the Clinical Global Impression Scale of Improvement (CGI-I). The response in the moclobemide group was maintained for a further 6-month extension phase, and was generally well tolerated.

3.2 Brofaromine

Lott et al. conducted a 12-week, placebo-controlled, flexible dose study of brofaromine in social anxiety disorder (Lott et al. 1997). There was a statistically significant difference in the Liebowitz Social Anxiety Scale (LSAS) scores, in favor of brofaromine, with a greater percentage of responders at end point in the brofaromine group. Brofaromine was generally well tolerated.

Similarly, a 12-week, placebo-controlled, fixed dose study of brofaromine showed a significantly better therapeutic improvement compared to placebo on mean LSAS end point total score (Fahlen et al. 1995). Unfortunately, a commercial decision was made not to continue with the development of this agent.

4 Benzodiazepines

A 10-week, placebo-controlled study of clonazepam showed a significantly superior response rate of 78.3% in the clonazepam group, compared to 20% in the placebo group. The clonazepam group had a 31% lower mean LSAS endpoint score than the placebo group. Side effects of dizziness and unsteadiness were, however, more severe and persistent in the clonazepam treated group (Davidson et al. 1993).

Alprazolam and bromazepam are other benzodiazepines that have been investigated in social anxiety disorder, with data from controlled studies showing a significantly better therapeutic response than placebo (Gelernter et al. 1991; Versiani et al. 1997).

The combined use of clonazepam and paroxetine was investigated in placebocontrolled study (Seedat and Stein 2004). At the end of the 10-week study period, 79% in the group receiving the paroxetine/clonazepam combination had achieved responder status, compared to 43% in the placebo/paroxetine combination group. There was a trend toward significance in favor of the clonazepam/paroxetine combination group.

Clinical guidelines have typically cautioned against the use of benzodiazepines as first-line agents for social anxiety disorder because of their adverse event profile, including difficulties in withdrawal. Nevertheless, given the positive data on these agents, they can potentially be considered in the management of partial responders or nonresponders.

5 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

A number of clinical guidelines have argued that the SSRIs should be considered a first-line medication choice in social anxiety disorder (Baldwin et al. 2005; Ballenger et al. 1998; Bandelow et al. 2008; Swinson et al. 2006) This is a recommendation based on meta-analyses and literature reviews of randomized controlled trials of these agents. These trials indicate that certain SSRIs are effective in the short and long term treatment of social anxiety disorder, and are well tolerated (Blanco et al. 2003; Ipser et al. 2008).

5.1 Paroxetine

A number of short term studies have demonstrated the efficacy of paroxetine in social anxiety disorder. A 12-week, multicenter, study comparing the efficacy of paroxetine to placebo showed that patients receiving paroxetine had a significantly greater improvement on both the LSAS and the CGI-I rating scales (Liebowitz et al. 2002). A similar 12-week study, using a flexible dose design, with the controlled release (CR) formulation of paroxetine, also demonstrated a significantly greater improvement on mean LSAS and CGI-I responder scores in patients receiving paroxetine compared to placebo (Lepola et al. 2004).

The efficacy of paroxetine in relapse prevention was investigated in a multicenter 36-week study comprising of a 12-week single blind placebo-controlled acute treatment phase, followed by a 24-week randomized, double-blind maintenance treatment phase in responders. Significantly fewer patients relapsed in the paroxetine treated group (14%), compared to the placebo treated group (39%) (Stein et al. 2002c). This finding suggests that treatment should be maintained for at least 6 months, and probably longer after an initial response is seen.

An analysis of three placebo-controlled paroxetine trials studied the role of various variables in predicting response to treatment. These included demographic, physiological, clinical, and other trial relevant data such as dose and treatment duration. Results showed that only the duration of treatment was a significant predictor of response. In addition, many patients who were non-responders at week 8, became responders by week 12 (Stein et al. 2002b). This finding suggests a conservative response to determining the duration of an initial trial of medication.

A placebo-controlled trial of paroxetine in children and adolescents showed that the treatment group had a significantly greater response (77.6%) compared to the placebo group (38.3%). Although withdrawals due to adverse events were slightly higher in the paroxetine group (5.5%) compared to placebo (1.3%), paroxetine was generally well tolerated (Wagner et al. 2004).

5.2 Fluvoxamine

Fluvoxamine demonstrated efficacy in the treatment of social anxiety disorder in a small placebo-controlled study (Van Vliet et al. 1994). Patients receiving fluvoxamine showed significantly better scores on the LSAS rating scale than those receiving placebo.

A larger multicenter study of similar design confirmed this finding (Stein et al. 1999). Fluvoxamine demonstrated greater efficacy with a response rate of 42.95% compared to the placebo response rate of 22.7%.

A 10-week placebo-controlled trial was conducted in Japan on patients with social anxiety disorder (Asakura et al. 2007). The primary outcome measure was the mean change in total score of the Japanese version of the Liebowitz social anxiety scale (LSAS-J). The treatment group had a significantly greater response compared to placebo at week 10, and was safe and well tolerated.

Efficacy of the CR formulation of fluvoxamine was demonstrated in a 12-week placebo-controlled study. At end point, the treatment group had a 37% reduction in the total score of the primary outcome measure – the LSAS – compared to a 28% reduction in the placebo group (Westenberg et al. 2004).

The efficacy of long-term treatment with fluvoxamine CR was supported by a 24-week, long-term, extension phase study (Stein et al. 2003). This multicenter, placebo-controlled study included patients with social anxiety disorder who had previously shown at least a minimal improvement in symptoms with fluvoxamine CR at the end of the initial 12-week treatment. The difference in scores on the primary outcome measure – the LSAS – tended toward significance in favor of the fluvoxamine group. Analysis of data from week 12 to week 24 demonstrated similar trends in score changes, but with lower magnitude. Fluvoxamine CR was found to be safe and tolerable

An 8-week study conducted by the Research Unit on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Anxiety Study Group investigated the efficacy of fluvoxamine in a placebo-controlled trial in children with social anxiety disorder (Walkup et al. 2001). Children met DSM-IV diagnostic criteria for social anxiety disorder, separation anxiety disorder, or generalized anxiety disorder and underwent psychotherapy for 3 weeks. Subjects who did not improve were randomly assigned to receive either fluvoxamine or placebo, with both groups receiving ongoing supportive psychotherapy. Analysis of the primary outcome measure, the Pediatric Anxiety Rating Scale, showed that the fluvoxamine group had a significant decrease in mean total score compared to the placebo group. The fluvoxamine group also had a significantly greater response on the CGI-I, and fluvoxamine was generally well tolerated.

5.3 Sertraline

Liebowitz et al. conducted a 12-week, placebo-controlled study to investigate the efficacy of sertraline in social anxiety disorder (Liebowitz et al. 2003). At end point, the treatment group showed a significantly greater improvement in symptoms and responder status, compared to the placebo group. Sertraline was also generally well tolerated.

The efficacy of sertraline in relapse prevention was investigated in patients with social anxiety disorder who had initially responded to 20 weeks of treatment with sertraline (Walker et al. 2000). Response to treatment at the end of 20 weeks was determined by the CGI-I. Patients were then randomly assigned to continue with sertraline or switch to placebo for a further 24 weeks. Intent to treat end point analysis showed a relapse rate of 4% in the sertraline continuation group compared to 36% in the placebo switch group.

Compton et al. conducted an 8-week open label trial of sertraline on children with social anxiety disorder (Compton et al. 2001). Although it was a small sample size, only 36% of participants showed a response on the CG-I.

A recent study using cognitive behavior therapy (CBT), sertraline, and a combination of both, was conducted in children and adolescents. Results showed that 80.7% of participants in the combination group were rated as "much" or "very much" improved on the CGI-I scale, compared to 59.7% in the CBT only group, and 54.9% in the sertraline only group (Walkup et al. 2008)

5.4 Fluoxetine

The first placebo-controlled study on the efficacy of fluoxetine in the treatment of social anxiety disorder was published in 2002 (Kobak et al. 2002). Patients with social anxiety disorder received a fixed dose of fluoxetine or placebo for 8 weeks. Both groups had a significant improvement in symptoms from baseline to endpoint, but there was no significant separation between the two groups at end point.

Davidson et al. conducted a 14-week controlled study to compare the efficacy of fluoxetine, comprehensive CBT, placebo, and combinations thereof (Davidson et al. 2004). Patients were randomized into groups that received fluoxetine only, comprehensive cognitive behavioral therapy only, placebo only, a combination of fluoxetine and comprehensive cognitive behavioral therapy, or a combination of placebo and comprehensive cognitive behavioral therapy. The comprehensive cognitive behavioral therapy. The comprehensive cognitive behavioral therapy of five to six patients, weekly, over the 14 weeks. Efficacy was measured by a change in score of the Brief Social Phobia Scale (BSPS) and the CGI-I responder status from baseline to endpoint. Results of both measures showed that all active treatments were significantly better than with placebo alone. However, the study showed no difference in response between the active treatment groups.

5.5 Escitalopram

A 12-week placebo-controlled study was conducted by Kasper et al. to investigate the efficacy of escitalopram in the treatment of social anxiety disorder (Kasper et al. 2005). It was a large parallel group study involving 41 centers in eight countries.

The treatment group had significantly greater improvement in therapeutic response compared to the placebo group.

A placebo-controlled, fixed-dose study with paroxetine as an active reference showed escitalopram to be significantly more effective than placebo in both the short and long-term treatment of social anxiety disorder (Lader et al. 2004).

The efficacy of escitalopram was also investigated in a 12-week open label trial in children and adolescents with social anxiety disorder (Isolan et al. 2007). The results showed that 65% of patients had responded based on the CGI-I at week 12, and the drug was generally well tolerated.

6 Serotonin and Noradrenalin Reuptake Inhibitors

6.1 Venlafaxine

Liebowitz et al. investigated the efficacy of venlafaxine in social anxiety disorder in a 12-week, placebo-controlled, flexible dose study (Liebowitz et al. 2005b). The primary outcome measure – the LSAS – showed that the venlafaxine group had significantly lower scores from week 6 through to week 12.

Remission rates, defined as a CGI-I score of 1, were significantly greater in the venlafaxine group at week 12 compared to the placebo group. Although the discontinuation rate of 17% was significantly higher among patients receiving venlafaxine than those receiving placebo, this rate was comparable to that seen in trials with the SSRIs.

Allgulander et al. compared venlafaxine extended release formulation (ER), paroxetine and placebo, in a 12-week, flexible-dose study (Allgulander et al. 2004). The primary measure of efficacy was the change in mean total score on the LSAS. Both the venlafaxine and paroxetine groups were more efficacious than placebo. There were no significant differences between the active treatment groups. Response rates at week 12, determined by the CGI-I, were 69% in the venlafaxine group, 66% in the paroxetine group, and 36% in the placebo group. Both active treatments were generally well tolerated.

Liebowitz et al. conducted a similar study on a larger population with social anxiety disorder, (Liebowitz et al. 2005a), in a 12-week, placebo-controlled study with flexible doses of venlafaxine ER, paroxetine, and placebo. Using the LSAS as the primary outcome measure, the comparison from baseline to endpoint showed a significant reduction in mean total scores in the venlafaxine and paroxetine groups compared to the placebo group. Significant reductions in scores were seen in the venlafaxine group from week 1 to week 12, and in the paroxetine group from week 3 to week 12. There were no significant differences between the venlafaxine and paroxetine groups, and venlafaxine was generally well tolerated.

A 6-month placebo-controlled trial investigated the efficacy and differences of low and high fixed doses of venlafaxine ER (Stein et al. 2005). A significant improvement was shown in the venlafaxine treatment groups compared to the placebo group, regardless of dose, as determined by the change in mean total LSAS score from baseline to endpoint. Response rates at end point, determined by the CGI-I, were 33% in the placebo group and 58% in the venlafaxine combined and individual groups, with no significant difference between dosages. Remission rates at endpoint, as defined by an LSAS score of \leq 30 were 16% in the placebo group and 31% in the venlafaxine combined and individual groups with no significant difference between dosages.

7 Other Antidepressants

7.1 Nefazodone

The efficacy of nefazodone was investigated in patients with social anxiety disorder in a 14-week placebo-controlled trial (Van Ameringen et al. 2007). Of the patients receiving nefazodone, 31.4% showed improvement on the primary outcome measures – the LSAS and CG-I – compared to 23.5% of patients receiving placebo. There was no significant difference between the groups.

7.2 Mirtazapine

Muchlbacher et al. conducted a 10-week placebo-controlled study on 66 adult female patients with social anxiety disorder (Muchlbacher et al. 2005). The treatment group had a significantly greater change in mean total LSAS score at endpoint compared to the placebo group. Further studies on mirtazapine are, however, required with more representative groups. Mirtazapine was generally well tolerated but did have more significant side effects such as dry mouth, sedation, drowsiness, and weight gain than the placebo group.

8 Beta Blockers

The cardioselective beta adrenergic blocker, atenolol, did not show significant efficacy over placebo in a controlled study in social anxiety disorder, whereas phenelzine was significantly superior to both placebo and atenolol (Liebowitz et al. 1990, 1992).

There is also surprising little evidence to support the use of beta adrenergic blockers on an as-needed basis in people affected by performance type social anxiety such as public speaking (Hartley et al. 1983; James et al. 1983). Medication taken an hour prior to a performance may, however, be helpful, especially when there are prominent cardiovascular symptoms.

9 Anticonvulsants

9.1 Gabapentin

Gabapentin is a gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) analog (Fink et al. 2002). A 14-week, placebo-controlled, flexible dose study of gabapentin was conducted in patients with social anxiety disorder (Pande et al. 1999). The treatment group had significantly greater improvement in end point LSAS score than the placebo group. Patients over 35 years showed significantly better treatment effect to gabapentin compared to younger patients. Gabapentin was generally well tolerated with dizziness and dry mouth being notably more common than in the placebo group.

9.2 Pregabalin

Pregabalin is a novel GABA analog. Binding of pregabalin to voltage gated calcium channels reduce calcium influx into nerve terminals which possibly mediates its analgesic, anxiolytic, and anticonvulsant properties (Fink et al. 2002).

Pande et al. conducted a 10-week, placebo-controlled trial of pregabalin in social anxiety disorder. The high-dose treatment group (600 mg per day) had significantly greater decrease in total LSAS score compared to placebo at end point (Pande et al. 2004). Pregabalin was generally well tolerated with reported side effects including sexual dysfunction, somnolence, and dizziness.

9.3 Levetiracetam

The novel anticonvulsant levetiracetam demonstrated efficacy over placebo in a small pilot study. Based on CGI-I scores, after 7 weeks of treatment, 22% of the participants receiving levetiracetam were responders compared to 14% in the placebo group (Zhang et al. 2005).

10 Atypical Antipsychotics

10.1 Olanzapine

Olanzapine showed significant efficacy over placebo on the BSPS and the Social Phobia Inventory (SPIN) in an 8-week controlled study. There was, however, no difference between the groups in the end point CGI-I responder status (Barnett et al. 2002).

10.2 Quetiapine

Quetiapine did not demonstrate significant efficacy over placebo in an 8-week controlled study (Vaishnavi et al. 2007).

11 Other Agents

11.1 Buspirone

Although participants demonstrated promising improvement of symptoms in open label treatment (Schneier et al. 1993), statistical efficacy was not demonstrated in two placebo-controlled studies (Clark and Agras 1991; Van Vliet et al. 1997). Buspirone may, however, have a role in augmenting SSRIs in treatment resistant patients (Van Ameringen et al. 1996).

11.2 D-Cycloserine

On the basis of animal research indicating that partial NMDA agonists facilitated fear extinction, a clinical trial of combined exposure therapy and D-cycloserine administration (Davis et al. 2006; Hofmann et al. 2006) was undertaken. D-cycloserine augmentation was significantly more effective than placebo.

In a second placebo-controlled trial, patients receiving combined D-cycloserine and exposure therapy had greater improvement on certain outcome measures than patients receiving exposure therapy and placebo. Areas of improvement were symptom severity, dysfunctional cognition, and life impairment (Guastella et al. 2008). Although this strategy is yet to be recommended in clinical practice, these are important proof-of-principal trials.

12 Treatment Resistance and Augmentation

There are relatively few placebo-controlled studies on patients with treatment resistant social anxiety disorder.

A 12-week monotherapy open label trial of escitalopram was conducted on patients who had failed a previous adequate trial with paroxetine (Pallanti and Quercioli 2006). An adequate trial with paroxetine was defined as patients having received 60 mg per day for more than 12 weeks. At the end of the 12-week trial, 48.3% of patients receiving escitalopram achieved responder status on the CGI-I, and a reduction in LSAS score of greater than 35%, from baseline to endpoint. Thus, in patients who fail to respond to one SSRI, switching to another may be useful.

Open label augmentation trials of SSRIs with buspirone and risperidone in treatment resistant patients have also shown good safety, tolerability, and response, but have not always been replicated in controlled designs (Simon et al. 2006; Van Ameringen et al. 1996).

The only randomized, placebo-controlled, augmentation trial in treatment resistant social anxiety disorder to date investigated the addition of pindolol to paroxetine treatment (Stein et al. 2001). Results showed that pindolol was no more effective than placebo in augmenting the effects of the SSRI.

13 Discussion

Meta-analyses have shown that various medications are notably better than placebo in treating social anxiety disorder. Although effect sizes differ, no significant difference in efficacy has been demonstrated between these agents (Blanco et al. 2003). A recent meta-analysis showed that 55.2% of trial participants responded to medication as determined by the CGI-I, and also confirmed the benefit of longer-term medication use in treatment responders (Ipser et al. 2008). Large relapse prevention trials conducted on escitalopram, paroxetine, and sertraline found that relapse rates were 4–14% with continued pharmacotherapy, and 36–39% with placebo (Montgomery et al. 2005; Stein et al. 2002c; Stein and Stein 2008; Walker et al. 2000).

Clinical guidelines have argued that SSRIs are the first-line medication choice in social anxiety disorder, with RIMAs, SNRIs, MAOIs, and benzodiazepines all reasonable second-line agents (Baldwin et al. 2005; Ballenger et al., 1998; Bandelow et al. 2008; Swinson et al. 2006). Expert consensus has suggested that effective treatment be continued for at least 12 months or longer if the patient has a comorbid condition, a history of relapse, or an early onset of the disorder (Ballenger et al., 1998).

The few studies using a fixed dose design suggest that the dose response curve in social anxiety disorder is relatively flat (Liebowitz et al. 2002; Stein et al. 2005). It is possible that some patients may do better on a dose which is higher than the

"average" therapeutic dose, provided that it is well tolerated (Stein and Stein 2008). However, it has also been observed that more that 25% of patients who did not respond to an 8-week trial of treatment, went on to respond by week 12. Thus, before raising dosage, it may be useful to simply extend the duration of treatment (Stein et al. 2002b).

Controlled studies have generally shown CBT to be more effective than placebo in relieving symptoms of social anxiety disorder (Davidson et al. 2004; Gelernter et al. 1991; Walkup et al. 2008). Results from studies that compared medication to CBT have been equivocal, with few studies showing marked differences in short term outcomes between the treatments (Rodebaugh et al. 2004). CBT may be associated with improved long term outcomes after treatment discontinuation (Gelernter et al. 1991).

SSRIs and CBT have been compared, with neither showing consistent significant efficacy over the other (Davidson et al. 2004; Segool and Carlson 2008). To date, there has been little evidence to support the use of combined CBT and medication (Foa et al. 2002; Prasko et al. 2006) other than D-cycloserine.

Although much has been learned about the pharmacotherapy of social anxiety disorder, many areas require further research. These include studies of special populations (e.g., children and adolescents, patients with comorbid substance use), augmentation trials in treatment resistant patients, studies on the optimal sequencing of medication and psychotherapy, and longer term effectiveness studies in real world settings. Much research on the pharmacotherapy of social anxiety disorder has been driven by serendipitous clinical findings. However, there is a growing literature on the neurobiology of social anxiety disorder, and on the specific effects of treatment on underlying neurocircuitry (Furmark et al. 2002; Warwick et al. 2006). Increasing data are also available on how particular genetic mechanisms may impact not only on neurocircuitry, but also on treatment outcome in social anxiety disorder (Furmark et al. 2004; Stein et al. 2006). Knowledge of the basic neurobiology of anxiety, and increased translation of such findings in clinical settings, will hopefully lead to ongoing therapeutic advances.

References

- Aarre TF (2003) Phenelzine efficacy in refractory social anxiety disorder: a case series. Nord J Psychiatry 57:313–315
- Allgulander C, Mangano R, Zhang J, Dahl AA, Lepola U, Sjodin I, Emilien G (2004) Efficacy of venlafaxine ER in patients with social anxiety disorder: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group comparison with paroxetine. Hum Psychopharmacol 19:387–396
- Asakura S, Tajima O, Koyama T (2007) Fluvoxamine treatment of generalized social anxiety disorder in Japan: a randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Int J Neuropsycho-pharmacol 10:263–274
- Baldwin DS, Anderson IM, Nutt DJ, Bandelow B, Bond A, Davidson JR, den Boer JA, Fineberg NA, Knapp M, Scott J, Wittchen HU, British Association for Psychopharmacology (2005) Evidence-based guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders:

recommendations from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. J Psychopharmacol $19{:}567{-}596$

- Ballenger JC, Davidson JR, Lecrubier Y, Nutt DJ, Bobes J, Beidel DC, Ono Y, Westenberg HG (1998) Consensus statement on social anxiety disorder from the International Consensus Group on Depression and Anxiety. J Clin Psychiatry 59:54–60
- Bandelow B, Zohar J, Hollander E, Kasper S, Moller HJ (2008) World federation of societies of biological psychiatry (WFSBP) guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of anxiety, obsessive-compulsive and post-traumatic stress disorders – first revision. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:248–312
- Barnett SD, Kramer ML, Casat CD, Connor KM, Davidson JR (2002) Efficacy of olanzapine in social anxiety disorder: a pilot study. J Psychopharmacol 16:365–368
- Bieck PR, Antonin KH (1989) Tyramine potentiation during treatment with MAO inhibitors: brofaromine and moclobemide vs irreversible inhibitors. J Neural Transm Suppl 1989:21–31
- Blanco C, Raza MS, Schneier FR, Liebowitz MR (2003) The evidence-based pharmacological treatment of social anxiety disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 6:427–442
- Clark DB, Agras WS (1991) The assessment and treatment of performance anxiety in musicians. Am J Psychiatry 148:598–605
- Compton SN, Grant PJ, Chrisman AK, Gammon PJ, Brown VL, March JS (2001) Sertraline in children and adolescents with social anxiety disorder: an open trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 40:564–571
- Davidson JR, Potts N, Richichi E, Krishnan R, Ford SM, Smith R, Wilson WH (1993) Treatment of social phobia with clonazepam and placebo. J Clin Psychopharmacol 13:423–428
- Davidson JR, Foa EB, Huppert JD, Keefe FJ, Franklin ME, Compton JS, Zhao N, Connor KM, Lynch TR, Gadde KM (2004) Fluoxetine, comprehensive cognitive behavioral therapy, and placebo in generalized social anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1005–1013
- Davis M, Ressler K, Rothbaum BO, Richardson R (2006) Effects of D-cycloserine on extinction: translation from preclinical to clinical work. Biol Psychiatry 60:369–375
- Fahlen T, Nilsson HL, Borg K, Humble M, Pauli U (1995) Social anxiety disorder: the clinical efficacy and tolerability of the monoamine oxidase -A and serotonin uptake inhibitor brofaromine. A double-blind placebo-controlled study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 92:351–358
- Fink K, Dooley DJ, Meder WP, Suman-Chauhan N, Duffy S, Clusmann H, Gothert M (2002) Inhibition of neuronal Ca(2+) influx by gabapentin and pregabalin in the human neocortex. Neuropharmacology 42:229–236
- Foa EB, Franklin ME, Moser J (2002) Context in the clinic: how well do cognitive-behavioral therapies and medications work in combination? Biol Psychiatry 52:987–997
- Furmark T, Tillfors M, Marteinsdottir I, Fischer H, Pissiota A, Langstrom B, Fredrikson M (2002) Common changes in cerebral blood flow in patients with social anxiety disorder treated with citalopram or cognitive-behavioral therapy. Arch Gen Psychiatry 59:425–433
- Furmark T, Tillfors M, Garpenstrand H, Marteinsdottir I, Langstrom B, Oreland L, Fredrikson M (2004) Serotonin transporter polymorphism related to amygdala excitability and symptom severity in patients with social anxiety disorder. Neurosci Lett 362:189–192
- Gelernter CS, Uhde TW, Cimbolic P, Arnkoff DB, Vittone BJ, Tancer ME, Bartko JJ (1991) Cognitive-behavioral and pharmacological treatments of social anxiety disorder. A controlled study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 48:938–945
- Guastella AJ, Richardson R, Lovibond PF, Rapee RM, Gaston JE, Mitchell P, Dadds MR (2008) A randomized controlled trial of D-cycloserine enhancement of exposure therapy for social anxiety disorder. Biol Psychiatry 63:544–549
- Hartley LR, Ungapen S, Davie I, Spencer DJ (1983) The effect of beta adrenergic blocking drugs on speakers' performance and memory. Br J Psychiatry 142:512–517
- Hofmann SG, Meuret AE, Smits JA, Simon NM, Pollack MH, Eisenmenger K, Shiekh M, Otto MW (2006) Augmentation of exposure therapy with D-cycloserine for social anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:298–304

- Ipser JC, Kariuki CM, Stein DJ (2008) Pharmacotherapy for social anxiety disorder: a systematic review. Expert Rev Neurother 8:235–257
- Isolan L, Pheula G, Salum GA Jr, Oswald S, Rohde LA, Manfro GG (2007) An open-label trial of escitalopram in children and adolescents with social anxiety disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 17:751–760
- James IM, Burgoyne W, Savage IT (1983) Effect of pindolol on stress-related disturbances of musical performance: preliminary communication. J R Soc Med 76:194–196
- Kasper S, Stein DJ, Loft H, Nil R (2005) Escitalopram in the treatment of social anxiety disorder: randomised, placebo-controlled, flexible-dosage study. Br J Psychiatry 186:222–226
- Katschnig H (1997) The International Multicenter Clinical Trial Group on Moclobemide in Social Phobia. Moclobemide in social anxiety disorder. A double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical study. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 247:71–80
- Kelly D (1973) Phenelzine in phobic states. Proc R Soc Med 66:949-950
- Kobak KA, Greist JH, Jefferson JW, Katzelnick DJ (2002) Fluoxetine in social anxiety disorder: a double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 22:257–262
- Lader M, Stender K, Burger V, Nil R (2004) Efficacy and tolerability of escitalopram in 12- and 24-week treatment of social anxiety disorder: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, fixed-dose study. Depress Anxiety 19:241–248
- Lepola U, Bergtholdt B, St Lambert J, Davy KL, Ruggiero L (2004) Controlled-release paroxetine in the treatment of patients with social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 65:222–229
- Liebowitz MR, Gorman JM, Fyer AJ, Klein DF (1985) Social anxiety disorder. Review of a neglected anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 42:729–736
- Liebowitz MR, Schneier F, Campeas R, Gorman J, Fyer A, Hollander E, Hatterer J, Papp L (1990) Phenelzine and atenolol in social anxiety disorder. Psychopharmacol Bull 26:123–125
- Liebowitz MR, Schneier F, Campeas R, Hollander E, Hatterer J, Fyer A, Gorman J, Papp L, Davies S, Gully R (1992) Phenelzine vs atenolol in social anxiety disorder. A placebo-controlled comparison. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49:290–300
- Liebowitz MR, Heimberg RG, Schneier FR, Hope DA, Davies S, Holt CS, Goetz D, Juster HR, Lin SH, Bruch MA, Marshall RD, Klein DF (1999) Cognitive-behavioral group therapy versus phenelzine in social anxiety disorder: long-term outcome. Depress Anxiety 10:89–98
- Liebowitz MR, Stein MB, Tancer M, Carpenter D, Oakes R, Pitts CD (2002) A randomized, double-blind, fixed-dose comparison of paroxetine and placebo in the treatment of generalized social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 63:66–74
- Liebowitz MR, DeMartinis NA, Weihs K, Londborg PD, Smith WT, Chung H, Fayyad R, Clary CM (2003) Efficacy of sertraline in severe generalized social anxiety disorder: results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 64:785–792
- Liebowitz MR, Gelenberg AJ, Munjack D (2005a) Venlafaxine extended release vs placebo and paroxetine in social anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:190–198
- Liebowitz MR, Mangano RM, Bradwejn J, Asnis G (2005b) A randomized controlled trial of venlafaxine extended release in generalized social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 66:238–247
- Lott M, Greist JH, Jefferson JW, Kobak KA, Katzelnick DJ, Katz RJ, Schaettle SC (1997) Brofaromine for social anxiety disorder: a multicenter, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 17:255–260
- Montgomery SA, Nil R, Durr-Pal N, Loft H, Boulenger JP (2005) A 24-week randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of escitalopram for the prevention of generalized social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 66:1270–1278
- Muehlbacher M, Nickel MK, Nickel C, Kettler C, Lahmann C, Pedrosa GF, Leiberich PK, Rother N, Bachler E, Fartacek R, Kaplan P, Tritt K, Mitterlehner F, Anvar J, Rother WK, Loew TH, Egger C (2005) Mirtazapine treatment of social anxiety disorder in women: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 25:580–583
- Noyes R Jr, Moroz G, Davidson JR, Liebowitz MR, Davidson A, Siegel J, Bell J, Cain JW, Curlik SM, Kent TA, Lydiard RB, Mallinger AG, Pollack MH, Rapaport M, Rasmussen SA,

Hedges D, Schweizer E, Uhlenhuth EH (1997) Moclobemide in social anxiety disorder: a controlled dose-response trial. J Clin Psychopharmacol 17:247–254

- Pallanti S, Quercioli L (2006) Resistant social anxiety disorder response to Escitalopram. Clin Pract Epidemol Ment Health 2:35
- Pande AC, Davidson JR, Jefferson JW, Janney CA, Katzelnick DJ, Weisler RH, Greist JH, Sutherland SM (1999) Treatment of social anxiety disorder with gabapentin: a placebocontrolled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 19:341–348
- Pande AC, Feltner DE, Jefferson JW, Davidson JR, Pollack M, Stein MB, Lydiard RB, Futterer R, Robinson P, Slomkowski M, DuBoff E, Phelps M, Janney CA, Werth JL (2004) Efficacy of the novel anxiolytic pregabalin in social anxiety disorder: a placebo-controlled, multicenter study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 24:141–149
- Prasko J, Dockery C, Horacek J, Houbova P, Kosova J, Klaschka J, Paskova B, Praskova H, Seifertova D, Zalesky R, Hoschl C (2006) Moclobemide and cognitive behavioral therapy in the treatment of social anxiety disorder. A six-month controlled study and 24 months follow up. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 27:473–481
- Rodebaugh TL, Holaway RM, Heimberg RG (2004) The treatment of social anxiety disorder. Clin Psychol Rev 24:883–908
- Schneier FR, Saoud JB, Campeas R, Fallon BA, Hollander E, Coplan J, Liebowitz MR (1993) Buspirone in social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 13:251–256
- Seedat S, Stein MB (2004) Double-blind, placebo-controlled assessment of combined clonazepam with paroxetine compared with paroxetine monotherapy for generalized social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 65:244–248
- Segool NK, Carlson JS (2008) Efficacy of cognitive-behavioral and pharmacological treatments for children with social anxiety. Depress Anxiety 25:620–631
- Simon NM, Hoge EA, Fischmann D, Worthington JJ, Christian KM, Kinrys G, Pollack MH (2006) An open-label trial of risperidone augmentation for refractory anxiety disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 67:381–385
- Stein MB, Stein DJ (2008) Social anxiety disorder. Lancet 371:1115-1125
- Stein MB, Fyer AJ, Davidson JR, Pollack MH, Wiita B (1999) Fluvoxamine treatment of social phobia (social anxiety disorder): a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 156:756–760
- Stein MB, Sareen J, Hami S, Chao J (2001) Pindolol potentiation of paroxetine for generalized social anxiety disorder: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. Am J Psychiatry 158:1725–1727
- Stein DJ, Cameron A, Amrein R, Montgomery SA (2002a) Moclobemide is effective and well tolerated in the long-term pharmacotherapy of social anxiety disorder with or without comorbid anxiety disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 17:161–170
- Stein DJ, Stein MB, Pitts CD, Kumar R, Hunter B (2002b) Predictors of response to pharmacotherapy in social anxiety disorder: an analysis of 3 placebo-controlled paroxetine trials. J Clin Psychiatry 63:152–155
- Stein DJ, Versiani M, Hair T, Kumar R (2002c) Efficacy of paroxetine for relapse prevention in social anxiety disorder: a 24-week study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 59:1111–1118
- Stein DJ, Westenberg HG, Yang H, Li D, Barbato LM (2003) Fluvoxamine CR in the long-term treatment of social anxiety disorder: the 12- to 24-week extension phase of a multicentre, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 6:317–323
- Stein MB, Pollack MH, Bystritsky A, Kelsey JE, Mangano RM (2005) Efficacy of low and higher dose extended-release venlafaxine in generalized social anxiety disorder: a 6-month randomized controlled trial. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 177:280–288
- Stein MB, Seedat S, Gelernter J (2006) Serotonin transporter gene promoter polymorphism predicts SSRI response in generalized social anxiety disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 187:68–72
- Swinson RP, Antony MM, Bleau PB, Chokka P, Craven M, Fallu A et al (2006) Clinical practice guidelines: management of anxiety disorders. Can J Psychiatry 51(S2):1–92

- Tyrer P, Candy J, Kelly D (2003) Phenelzine in phobic anxiety: a controlled trial. Psychol Med 3:120–124
- Vaishnavi S, Alamy S, Zhang W, Connor KM, Davidson JR (2007) Quetiapine as monotherapy for social anxiety disorder: a placebo-controlled study. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31:1464–1469
- Van Ameringen M, Mancini C, Wilson C (1996) Buspirone augmentation of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) in social anxiety disorder. J Affect Disord 39:115–121
- Van Ameringen M, Mancini C, Oakman J, Walker J, Kjernisted K, Chokka P, Johnston D, Bennett M, Patterson B (2007) Nefazodone in the treatment of generalized social anxiety disorder: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Psychiatry 68:288–295
- Van Vliet IM, den Boer JA, Westenberg HG (1994) Psychopharmacological treatment of social phobia; a double blind placebo controlled study with fluvoxamine. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 115:128–134
- Van Vliet IM, den Boer JA, Westenberg HG, Pian KL (1997) Clinical effects of buspirone in social phobia: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 58:164–168
- Versiani M, Nardi AE, Mundim FD, Alves AB, Liebowitz MR, Amrein R (1992) Pharmacotherapy of social anxiety disorder. A controlled study with moclobemide and phenelzine. Br J Psychiatry 161:353–360
- Versiani M, Nardi AE, Figueira I, Mendlowicz M, Marques C (1997) Double-blind placebo controlled trial with bromazepam in social anxiety disorder. J Bras Psiquiatr 3:167–171
- Wagner KD, Berard R, Stein MB, Wetherhold E, Carpenter DJ, Perera P, Gee M, Davy K, Machin A (2004) A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of paroxetine in children and adolescents with social anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1153–1162
- Walker JR, Van Ameringen MA, Swinson R, Bowen RC, Chokka PR, Goldner E, Johnston DC, Lavallie YJ, Nandy S, Pecknold JC, Hadrava V, Lane RM (2000) Prevention of relapse in generalized social anxiety disorder: results of a 24-week study in responders to 20 weeks of sertraline treatment. J Clin Psychopharmacol 20:636–644
- Walkup JT, Labellarte MJ, Riddle MA et al (2001) Fluvoxamine for the treatment of anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. The Research Unit on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Anxiety Study Group. N Engl J Med 344:1279–1285
- Walkup JT, Albano AM, Piacentini J, Birmaher B, Compton SN, Sherrill JT, Ginsburg GS, Rynn MA, McCracken J, Waslick B, Iyengar S, March JS, Kendall PC (2008) Cognitive behavioral therapy, sertraline, or a combination in childhood anxiety. N Engl J Med 359:2753–2766
- Warwick JM, Carey P, van der Linden G, Prinsloo C, Niehaus D, Seedat S, Dupont P, Stein DJ (2006) A comparison of the effects of citalopram and moclobemide on resting brain perfusion in social anxiety disorder. Metab Brain Dis 21:241–252
- Westenberg HG, Stein DJ, Yang H, Li D, Barbato LM (2004) A double-blind placebo-controlled study of controlled release fluvoxamine for the treatment of generalized social anxiety disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 24:49–55
- Zhang W, Connor KM, Davidson JR (2005) Levetiracetam in social anxiety disorder: a placebo controlled pilot study. J Psychopharmacol 19:551–553
Pharmacotherapy of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

Lakshmi N. Ravindran and Murray B. Stein

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Antidepressants			
	2.1 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs)			
	2.2 Serotonin Norephinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors (SNRIs)			
	2.3 Tricyclic Antidepressants (TCAs)			
	2.4 Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitors			
	2.5 Other Antidepressants			
3	Anticonvulsants			
4	Atypical Antipsychotics			
5	5 Benzodiazepines and Other Hypnotics			
6	Antiadrenergic Agents			
7	Other Agents			
8	Conclusions			
References				

Abstract Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is a prevalent psychiatric disorder that may result in significant social and occupational debilitation unless symptoms are recognized and treated appropriately. Considerable research effort has been devoted over the last 20 years to developing effective pharmacological treatments for this illness. At this time, the bulk of the agents investigated include antidepressants, anticonvulsants, atypical antipsychotics, benzodiazepines, and antiadrenergic agents. Herein, we review the existing evidence base for these different classes of psychotropics in PTSD. Emphasis is placed on discussion of

L.N. Ravindran

M.B. Stein (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry, University of California San Diego, 8939 Villa La Jolla Drive, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA; Department of Psychiatry, VA San Diego Healthcare System, San Diego, CA, USA

Department of Psychiatry, University of California San Diego, 8939 Villa La Jolla Drive, Suite 200, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA

e-mail: mstein@ucsd.edu

M.B. Stein and T. Steckler (eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Anxiety and Its Treatment*, 505 Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences 2, DOI 10.1007/7854_2009_15,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009, published online 17 September 2009

evidence stemming from randomized placebo-controlled clinical trials wherever possible. A brief description of novel agents that have shown initial promise for PTSD treatment is also provided.

Keywords Pharmacotherapy \cdot Post-traumatic stress disorder \cdot PTSD \cdot Treatment \cdot Biological treatment \cdot Medication

List of Abbreviations

BZD	Benzodiazepine
CAPS	Clinician Administered PTSD Scale
DCS	D-Cycloserine
DSM-III	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, Third Edition
FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
GABA	Gamma Aminobutyric Acid
GC	Glucocorticoid
HAM-A	Hamilton Rating Scale for Anxiety
HAM-D	Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression
MAOI	Monoamine oxidase inhibitor (irreversible)
PTSD	Post-traumatic stress disorder
RIMA	Reversible inhibitor of monoamine oxidase type A
RCT	Randomized clinical trial
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
SNRI	Serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor
TCA	Tricyclic antidepressant
VA	Veterans administration

1 Introduction

Descriptions of the adverse psychological consequences in soldiers following battle exposure can be found as far back as ancient Egypt and Greece. Not limited to military populations, accounts of similar symptoms in civilians can be found throughout history in reaction to natural disasters and other traumatic events. However, official recognition by the medical community of the collection of symptoms now known as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) only occurred in 1980 with inclusion of the diagnosis in DSM-III. The current understanding of PTSD consists of direct or indirect exposure to a traumatic event resulting in an intense aversive reaction that is subsequently accompanied by social and

occupational dysfunction, and by a number of symptoms that can be characterized as belonging to one of three symptoms clusters: re-experiencing symptoms, avoidance/numbing behavior, or hyperarousal symptoms. Lifetime exposure to a traumatic event is not uncommon but only a relatively small proportion of those exposed will end up developing PTSD. In the US general population, lifetime prevalence of PTSD has been estimated at 6.8% (Kessler et al. 2005), but rates may be significantly higher in particular populations such as military veterans (Milliken et al. 2007), individuals with a prior history of trauma, or those with comorbid psychiatric disorders (Copeland et al. 2007). Rates may also be particularly elevated in inhabitants of areas where war and trauma exposure are common (de Jong et al. 2001).

PTSD is clearly not a rare or unimportant illness. Yet in spite of the research attention focused on finding effective treatments for it, the quest is not complete. For many years the mainstay of treatment was rest and use of sedative hypnotics – likely for treatment of hyperarousal symptoms, followed by psychotherapeutic intervention (Sargant and Slater 1940) – where even then it was recognized that early intervention was crucial. With the advent of antidepressant medications, and other more selective and better tolerated psychotropics, pharmacological approaches to PTSD treatment have been increasingly common. In this chapter, we review the evidence from randomized clinical trials (RCTs) of available psychotropic agents investigated for PTSD. Psychotherapeutic interventions in PTSD also have a considerable literature base, but discussion of these is beyond the scope of this chapter. Discussion of pharmacotherapy strategies when combined with psychotherapy are discussed elsewhere in this volume.

2 Antidepressants

2.1 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs)

Over the last 20 years, SSRIs have become the treatment of choice for both depressive and anxiety disorders, in large part due to the combination of their efficacy, tolerability, and safety profiles. This holds true for PTSD treatment as well where SSRIs are the first-line agents of choice in multiple treatment guidelines (Foa et al. 2000; Ursano et al. 2004; Bandelow et al. 2008). These drugs, which as a class work to enhance serotonergic neurotransmission by preventing reuptake at the presynaptic 5-HT transporter pump (Stahl 1998), are all commonly used in the clinical treatment of PTSD, although only two, sertraline and paroxetine, have official FDA indications for this purpose.

Fluoxetine was the first of the SSRIs to be investigated for efficacy in PTSD. A sample of subjects (N = 64) with either combat-related or civilian-related PTSD was randomized to receive treatment with fluoxetine (up to 60 mg daily) or placebo for 5 weeks (Van Der Kolk et al. 1994). Significant reduction in overall PTSD

symptoms, as measured by the Clinician Administered PTSD Scale (CAPS) was noted in this double-blind trial, with particular improvements in symptoms of numbing/avoidance and hyperarousal. The authors also made particular note of the fact that the degree of symptomatic improvement was perceptibly greater in the subpopulation with civilian-related PTSD in this sample relative to the subpopulation with combat-related PTSD (40% vs. 15%).

Similar positive RCTs of acute treatment (<12 weeks) with fluoxetine for PTSD were subsequently published (Connor et al. 1999, Martenyi et al. 2002a) and support for the utility of fluoxetine as a relapse prevention agent has also been found. Martenyi et al. (2002b) rerandomized responders of an earlier 12-week placebo controlled trial of fluoxetine to either double-blind continuation treatment or placebo for a further 24 weeks. Continuation treatment with active medication was associated with a significantly longer time to relapse as well as additional improvement in not only PTSD but also in symptoms of comorbid disorders. Conversely, not all PTSD studies of fluoxetine report positive results. In a small sample (N = 12) of male veterans, Hertzberg et al. (2000) failed to detect benefit for fluoxetine following the 12-week trial, which they theorized could be related to factors including nature (civilian-related vs. combat-related), severity, or chronicity of trauma. A more recent three-arm study (Martenyi et al. 2007) compared treatment response after 12 weeks to two fixed doses of fluoxetine (20 and 40 mg) to placebo in a large sample (N = 411) of predominantly female subjects (N = 294) with PTSD. Treatment outcomes were not noticeably different between the three treatments. The authors speculated that the large proportion of females may have been a factor in these results or that, more likely, the doses of fluoxetine investigated in this study were lower than the mean doses used in similar positive trials.

The first SSRI to receive regulatory approval in the US was sertraline following the publication of two multicenter trials (Brady et al. 2000; Davidson et al. 2001a). Both trials were RCTs comparing placebo to flexibly dosed sertraline (50-200 mg daily) over a 12-week period in subjects with moderate to severe PTSD. In the first trial (Brady et al. 2000), active medication resulted in global improvement of posttraumatic symptoms with significant benefits noted for avoidance/numbing symptoms and hyperarousal. This study was also able to demonstrate that benefits of sertraline treatment were not limited to clinical symptoms, but also extended to improvements in quality of life and both social and occupational functioning. Finally, observing that the mean duration of illness in the study population was over 10 years, the authors felt that the clinical improvement with sertraline detected as early as 4 weeks into treatment was particularly noteworthy given the chronicity of illness in the studied population. Similar rates of response were observed in the subsequent study by Davidson et al. (2001a) which also confirmed that the majority of the clinical benefit derived from sertraline occurred in the first 4 weeks of the trial. As these studies used primarily civilian subjects, Zohar et al. (2002) conducted a small 10-week pilot RCT (N = 42) of sertraline in military veterans suffering from PTSD. In contrast to the findings of the earlier studies, improvement in post-traumatic symptoms with sertraline was associated with a numeric but not statistical advantage over placebo, with the range of improvement detected proportionately less than that noted in the prior civilian studies (25-33% vs. 45-50%). The authors wondered if the relatively greater mean baseline severity in this military population might have played a role in the results. Friedman et al. (2007) attempted to explore this issue further in a larger 12-week RCT of subjects seen in a VA medical setting. In this population, of which 71% had combat-related PTSD, no statistical differences in outcome were detected between active drug and placebo, nor could any potential moderators of outcome, such as gender or substance abuse, be definitively identified.

In spite of these mixed results from acute phase trials, studies of continuation treatment are more supportive of sertraline use. Using a sample of patients (N=252) who had previously participated in one of two acute phase RCTs of sertraline for PTSD, Londborg et al. (2001) followed these individuals in an openlabel fashion during a 24-week continuation phase trial. One of the more noteworthy findings of the trial was the observation that 54% of nonresponders during the original 12-week trials subsequently converted to responders, underlining the importance of patience with extended pharmacotherapy treatment to obtain maximum clinical response. The other finding of note in this study was that 92% of the original acute phase responders maintained their recovery during this extension period. Subsequent analyses of investigational measures also showed that 20-25% of the overall improvement in PTSD symptoms during the combined 36 weeks of treatment occurred during the latter 24 weeks as did 31% of the improvement in quality of life (Rapaport et al. 2002). A subsample (N = 96) of the responders from this continuation-phase study was subsequently rerandomized to double-blind maintenance treatment with either sertraline or placebo for a further 28 weeks. In this instance, both relapse (sertraline 5.3% vs. placebo 26.1%) and discontinuation (sertraline 15.8% vs. placebo 45.7%) rates were significantly higher in the placebo group (Davidson et al. 2001b). These studies serve to underscore the importance of extended antidepressant treatment to elicit maximal improvement of symptoms, maintain recovery, and prevent relapse. At present, guidelines for duration of pharmacotherapy treatment recommend continuing medications for 6-12 months in cases of acute PTSD or 12-24 months for chronic PTSD; under certain circumstances, such as persistent residual symptoms or poor psychosocial functioning, an even longer treatment period may be of benefit (Foa et al. 1999; Stein et al. 2003).

Evidence from acute phase RCTs also supports the utility of paroxetine, fixed dose (20 or 40 mg) or flexibly dosed (20–50 mg), for PTSD (Marshall et al. 2001; Tucker et al. 2001). As with sertraline, the beneficial effects of paroxetine were noticeable at week 4 (Tucker et al. 2001) in one trial, and both trials showed evidence of significant improvement in measures of social and occupational function at endpoint. With the majority of previously published trials using primarily Caucasian populations, a more recent RCT by Marshall et al. (2007) was able to demonstrate that the positive effects of paroxetine (up to 60 mg) extended to a sample with a high proportion of ethnic minorities (75%). Further, benefits of the medication were seen not only for core PTSD symptoms but also for dissociative symptoms and interpersonal problems, psychopathology that often accompanies this illness.

The efficacy of other SSRIs has also been investigated, albeit to a lesser extent, for treatment of PTSD. A single double-blind trial of citalopram (20–50 mg) exists in which it is compared to sertraline (50–200 mg) and placebo. While sertraline appeared to demonstrate an advantage over the other arms on avoidance/numbing symptoms (as measured by the CAPS) following the 10 weeks of treatment, no other statistical differences in efficacy could be detected between the three groups. No other placebo-controlled RCTs have been published investigating citalopram, escitalopram, or fluvoxamine. Nevertheless, evidence from a number of open trials supports the use of these three agents in PTSD subpopulations that include military veterans, civilians, and even children and adolescents (Davidson et al. 1998; English et al. 2006; Escalona et al. 2002; Marmar et al. 1996; Robert et al. 2006; Seedat et al. 2002).

The SSRIs currently represent the mainstay of pharmacological intervention in PTSD, primarily because of their extensive evidence base relative to other pharmacological agents which is reflected in the widespread clinical use of these drugs. However, a recent report by the Institute of Medicine, published in 2007, found the evidence base for the use of pharmacotherapy, including the SSRIs was insufficient to confirm their efficacy in PTSD - a conclusion based in part on the modest effect sizes (≈ 0.5) seen in SSRI pharmacotherapy trials. Recommendations by the committee that larger independent trials with these drugs, in a greater variety of clinical settings, and over a greater duration are certainly valid and would no doubt enrich the literature. Nor is there any doubt that the degree of SSRI efficacy is highly variable between individuals and may be dependent on other factors which include chronicity, severity of illness, and comorbidity. Nevertheless, the prevalent use of SSRIs is unlikely to change in the near future, particularly given their relative safety and tolerability. While certain antidepressants within the SSRIs have been investigated more than others, clinicians are inclined to treat their efficacy as equal across the class. As such, choice of a particular agent tends to be based on side-effect profile and prior response. Prospective trials that investigate the use of systematic augmentation, combination, and switching strategies which include both psychotherapeutic and psychopharmacologic options specifically targeting residual symptoms will be a crucial area of future research.

2.2 Serotonin Norephinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors (SNRIs)

There are four SNRIs currently available on the market – venlafaxine XR, duloxetine, milnacipran, and desvenlafaxine. Although trials of duloxetine for PTSD are currently in progress, to date the only published PTSD RCTs involving SNRIs have focused on venlafaxine XR. This drug, whose mechanism is thought to involve differential reuptake of serotonin and norepinephrine at either end of the dosing spectrum, has demonstrated efficacy for both acute-phase and continuation treatment of PTSD, with comparable benefits to SSRIs. In their 12-week trial, Davidson et al. (2006a) compared flexibly dosed venlafaxine XR (37.5–300 mg) to sertraline (25–200 mg) or placebo in subjects with moderate to severe PTSD (N = 538). Remission rates following venlafaxine treatment (mean maximum dose 224.6 mg) were significantly better than placebo (30.2% vs. 19.6%, p < 0.05), with particular efficacy noted for symptoms of avoidance/numbing and hyperarousal. Differentiation in outcomes between venlafaxine XR and placebo were seen as early as week 2 and overall efficacy and tolerability between venlafaxine and sertraline were similar. Davidson et al. (2006b) also subsequently published the results of a 24-week double-blind RCT comparing venlafaxine (37.5-300 mg) to placebo. In this sample (N = 329), venlafaxine was once again superior to placebo with respect to improvement in overall PTSD symptoms and the individual symptom clusters with the exception of hyperarousal symptoms, although there was a trend toward significance (p = 0.06). Changes in measures of resilience, stress vulnerability, and quality of life similarly favored venlafaxine. Although the number of trials is few, the efficacy and tolerability reports from these large RCTs support the notion that venlafaxine represents a reasonable alternative to SSRIs for pharmacologic treatment of PTSD.

2.3 Tricyclic Antidepressants (TCAs)

With the advent of newer, more tolerable antidepressants, TCAs have largely fallen out of favor as first-line pharmacological agents for anxiety disorders. Nevertheless, published RCTs investigating TCAs do exist. Desipramine, a TCA thought to work primarily by inhibiting norepinephrine reuptake into the presynaptic neuron, was investigated in an 8-week double-blind cross-over trial (Reist et al. 1989). During each of the 4-week active treatment period, hospita-lized male veterans with PTSD (N = 18) received either desipramine (50–200 mg) or placebo with an intervening 4-day switchover. In this trial, desipramine was not associated with significant changes in PTSD symptoms. However, it should be noted that no validated observer-rated scale of PTSD was used; rather items from the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAM-D) thought to be relevant to PTSD were selected post-hoc. Similarly, the active treatment period was quite short (only 4 weeks) and it may very well have been insufficient to see a therapeutic effect.

An alternate TCA, amitriptyline, was used in an 8-week RCT of 46 veterans with combat-related PTSD (Davidson et al. 1990). Amitriptyline, a mixed norepinephrine/serotonin reuptake blocker, did demonstrate superiority over placebo on several outcome measures (including both the HAM-D and the Hamilton Rating Scale for Anxiety (HAM-A)), but not the structured interview of PTSD symptoms. Of note, the rates of response in this trial were quite low with 64% of subjects receiving amitriptyline and 72% of those receiving placebo still meeting criteria for PTSD at endpoint. Two other controlled trials investigating TCAs for PTSD have also been reported. These are discussed below in the section below entitled: "Monoamine oxidase inhibitors."

The underwhelming results from the above trials in the context of both the drugdrug interactions and the adverse event/toxicity profiles of the TCAs (which include both anticholinergic and antiadrenergic effects) have largely relegated these drugs to third or fourth line options. Nevertheless, TCAs may still have a place in PTSD treatment in special cases such as comorbid depression or intolerance to other agents.

2.4 Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitors

The mechanism of action of monoamine oxidase inhibitors involves enhancing availability of monoamines via inhibition of the enzyme monoamine oxidase responsible for their breakdown. The conventional monoamine oxidase inhibitors, referred to as MAOIs, work by irreversible inhibition of the enzyme; in contrast, a newer more selective subgroup of MAOIs work via reversible inhibition of monoamine oxidase type A and are thus termed RIMAs. As with TCAs, the use of conventional MAOIs is increasingly rare as a result of both their side-effect profile and the necessity of a low-tyramine diet to decrease risk of hypertensive crises. In one early report, the MAOI phenelzine was used in a double-blind cross-over trial in 13 subjects with PTSD. Outcomes following use of phenelzine (30-75 mg) during the 5-week treatment periods were not significantly different from placebo (Shestatzky et al. 1988). In contrast, two positive RCTs have been reported in which phenelzine was compared to imipramine and placebo. In the first of these 8-week double-blind studies, Frank et al. (1988) found active treatment with phenelzine (15-75 mg) and imipramine (50-300 mg) to both be effective in reducing posttraumatic symptoms in the sample of 34 veterans with PTSD. Kosten et al. (1991) similarly found both medications to be effective in their larger sample of male veterans (N = 60). However, with a 44% symptom improvement in the phenelzinetreated group compared to 25% improvement in the imipramine group, use of an MAOI seemed to be associated with added benefit. In spite of these mixed findings, no larger definitive placebo-controlled trials have since been conducted nor, to our knowledge, have any investigations compared more novel agents (e.g., SSRIs) to MAOIs for this purpose. Results from such trials would be helpful in more clearly delineating a role for MAOIs in current pharmacotherapy strategies for PTSD.

As noted earlier, reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase A (RIMAs) are a more selective subtype of MAOIs. These drugs, which include brofaromine and moclobemide, do not require the same dietary restrictions as the MAOIs and are generally more tolerable. Although RIMAs are not available in the US, they are available in other parts of the world such as Europe and Canada. Studies of brofaromine, a mixed RIMA/serotonin reuptake inhibitor, in PTSD have resulted in inconsistent findings. While Katz et al. (1994) found an advantage for brofaromine over placebo in the treatment of individuals with PTSD of greater than 1 year duration, these findings were not replicated in the subsequent multicenter trial reported by Baker et al. (1995). Moclobemide has not been investigated in any placebo controlled trials, but in an open label comparison to fluoxetine and

tianeptine all three drugs were found to be similarly effective (Onder et al. 2006). Nevertheless, these results have not been replicated in a double-blind trial nor are there any other RCTs of moclobemide for PTSD.

2.5 Other Antidepressants

Nefazodone is an older antidepressant thought to work by a dual mechanism of action: potent postsynaptic antagonism of serotonin 5-HT2A receptors as well as modest inhibition of presynaptic serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake (Davis et al. 1997). A 12-week RCT of nefazodone found it to be superior to placebo for improvement in both PTSD and depressive symptoms (Davis et al. 2004); however, the sample size (N=41) was limited. McRae et al. (2004) published results of a head-to-head comparison with sertraline. In this study, nefazodone (up to 600 mg) and sertraline (up to 200 mg) were both similarly effective treatments for PTSD with comparable tolerability. Once again, however, sample size was small (N=37). Amid concerns of liver toxicity, nefazodone was recently withdrawn from the market in Europe, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand. While it is still available in the US, these concerns have noticeably curtailed its use and may prevent further investigation of this drug in clinical trials.

A small 8-week placebo-controlled trial (N = 30) of bupropion SR, a combined norepinephrine/dopamine reuptake inhibitor, failed to distinguish active medication from placebo on PTSD outcomes (Becker et al. 2007). Similarly, an earlier RCT that investigated bupropion SR as a smoking cessation aid in veterans with chronic PTSD did not find it efficacious on the secondary measure of PTSD improvement (Hertzberg et al. 2001).

Mirtazapine is a newer antidepressant with a novel mechanism of action resulting in increased overall norepinephrine and serotonin neurotransmission. It works presynaptically to inhibit the α_2 heteroreceptors on serotonergic neurons and the α_2 adrenergic autoreceptors. It also works to selectively block serotonergic 5-HT₂ and 5-HT₃ receptors on the postsynaptic neuron, as well as having potent antagonist effects at histaminic H1 receptors which may contribute to its sedative effects. Evidence from open trials (Bahk et al. 2002; Chung et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2005) suggest that mirtazapine may be a useful agent in both short-term and long-term treatment of PTSD, with comparable efficacy to sertraline. Only a single placebocontrolled trial of mirtazapine has been reported in the literature (Davidson et al. 2003). In this 8-week pilot study (N = 29), mirtazapine (up to 45 mg) showed benefit over placebo on a global improvement measure of PTSD, but failed to show any significant advantage on other outcome variables (e.g., Davidson Trauma Scale). Based on the measures, effect sizes for mirtazapine ranged from moderate to strong, but no subsequent placebo-controlled trials have been performed to validate these findings.

3 Anticonvulsants

Kindling, a phenomenon by which repeated subthreshold electrical stimulation progressively acts to produce profound brain changes such that eventually spontaneous events occur with minimal or no stimulation, is one mechanism proposed to explain PTSD symptom development. For instance, the repeated recall of conditioned fear memories that may eventually result in spontaneous flashbacks or intrusive memories is a process that resembles kindling (Post et al. 1997). Based on their putative antikindling effects, the effects of several anticonvulsant agents (as either monotherapy or adjunctive treatment) for PTSD have been reported in the literature; these include divalproex, lamotrigine, tiagabine, topiramate, carbamazepine, levetiracetam, phenytoin, gabapentin, and vigabatrin. Though the case studies and open trials provide some preliminary evidence of support, results from the few controlled trials are more mixed.

The first RCT of an anticonvulsant in PTSD involved lamotrigine, which is thought to work by inhibition of glutamate transmission (Hertzberg et al. 1999). In this 12-week pilot trial (N = 15), lamotrigine (50–500 mg) appeared to be superior to placebo for re-experiencing and avoidance/numbing symptoms, but the small sample size and lack of subsequent replication preclude more definitive conclusions. In another trial, responders (N = 18) following 12 weeks of open-label tiagabine treatment (up to 16 mg) were randomized to an additional 12 weeks of double-blind continuation with either active drug or placebo (Connor et al. 2006). Although there were no differences in rates of relapse between the two groups during this period, a trend towards significance (p = 0.08) was observed for subjects who received ongoing tiagabine to achieve remission. Unfortunately, a subsequent, larger multicenter RCT (N = 232) comparing 12 weeks of double-blind tiagabine (up to 16 mg) to placebo failed to show group differences on any of the primary or secondary efficacy measures (Davidson et al. 2007). Similarly, an 8-week placebocontrolled trial of divalproex monotherapy (1000-3000 mg), specifically for treatment of PTSD hyperarousal symptoms, in military veterans (N = 85) failed to show benefit over placebo for any of the PTSD symptom clusters, nor for any other symptoms of depression and anxiety (Davis et al. 2008a). Topiramate is an anticonvulsant thought to promote GABA-ergic but inhibit glutamatergic transmission. In their 7-week double-blind trial (N = 40), Lindley et al. (2007) compared topiramate augmentation (50-200 mg) to placebo. Although no benefit was noted for this treatment regimen, it should be noted that the dropout rate for topiramate-treated subjects was noticeably higher than for the placebo-treated group (55% vs. 25%), and mainly related to adverse events. Topiramate monotherapy (25-400 mg) was also investigated in a 12-week double-blind RCT (N = 38) of civilians with noncombat related PTSD (Tucker et al. 2007). In this case, topiramate did show benefit over placebo for the re-experiencing cluster of symptoms, but statistical differences between groups was not seen in overall CAPS scores.

Based on the results of above studies, the use of anticonvulsants in PTSD has only very limited support. The evidence, which mainly suggests a role for either topiramate or lamotrigine monotherapy, is based on single trials of each medication, each with an underpowered sample size. As such, treatment recommendations that involve these medications must be interpreted with caution. Nevertheless, a role for anticonvulsant agents in PTSD may exist particularly in specific subpopulations; for instance, lamotrigine in subjects with comorbid PTSD and bipolar disorder or topiramate for individuals with an underlying seizure disorder. Treatment studies that examine anticonvulsant use in these specific clinical populations would be helpful.

4 Atypical Antipsychotics

In clinical practice, atypical antipsychotics, with their dual dopaminergic and serotonergic mechanisms, are frequently used as adjunctive treatment to standard antidepressant treatment for both mood and anxiety disorders. Since up to 40% of individuals with PTSD may experience concurrent psychotic symptoms, the use of an antipsychotic certainly has a rational basis. However, the increased popularity of these medications may also stem from their relatively lower risk of unpleasant side-effects such as tardive dyskinesia and Parkinsonism commonly seen with more traditional antipsychotics. Further, the sedating qualities (thought to be due to histaminic H₁ receptor blockade) seen with a number of atypicals have also been used to target the sleep disturbances common to many psychiatric disorders including PTSD. Interestingly, in spite of their relative common usage, the evidence base for using atypicals in PTSD is still quite limited. Currently, seven atypical antipsychotics have FDA approval in the United States; these include olanzapine, risperidone, quetiapine, ziprasidone, aripiprazole, clozapine, and most recently paliperidone. Of these agents, only case-reports or open trials exist for clozapine, ziprasidone, quetiapine, and aripiprazole in PTSD. The only published RCTs of atypicals in PTSD involve either risperidone or olanzapine.

Five double-blind placebo-controlled trials of adjunctive risperidone (0.5–8 mg) in PTSD have been reported (Bartzokis et al. 2005; Hamner et al. 2003; Monnelly et al. 2003; Reich et al. 2004; Rothbaum et al. 2008). Of these, three (Bartzokis et al. 2005; Monnelly et al. 2003; Reich et al. 2003; Reich et al. 2004) reported improvement in PTSD symptoms within the re-experiencing or hyperarousal clusters but no improvements were seen in the avoidance/numbing cluster. In contrast, Hamner et al. (2003) found in their sample of 40 combat veterans diagnosed with chronic PTSD and associated psychotic symptoms, adjunctive risperidone improved the psychotic but not overall post-traumatic symptoms. In the most recent study (Rothbaum et al. 2008), subjects who did not remit following 8 weeks of open label sertraline were randomized to a further 8 weeks of placebo or risperidone augmentation. At the end of the study, no differences were found between groups on CAPS overall score or individual clusters. However, post-hoc analyses did reveal an advantage for risperidone in terms of improved sleep. Only a single RCT of risperidone monotherapy in PTSD has been published (Padala et al. 2006). In this 12-week study of women (N = 20)

with PTSD stemming from sexual assault or domestic abuse, flexibly dosed risperidone (mean dose of 2.62 mg) was well-tolerated and superior to placebo on the primary outcome measure – score on the 8-item Treatment Outcomes PTSD Scale, but not on secondary outcomes (CAPS, HAM-D, or HAM-A).

The utility of olanzapine as an adjunctive agent has been investigated in a single RCT. Stein et al. (2002) randomized male veterans (N = 19) with combat-related PTSD but minimally responsive to an adequate trial of SSRIs to double-blind augmentation with olanzapine (10-20 mg) or placebo for 8 weeks. Olanzapine was associated with a significantly greater reduction in overall CAPS scores, relative to placebo, as well as greater improvements in sleep and depressive symptoms, although clinician ratings of global improvement did not differ statistically between groups. Of concern, however, was the mean 13 lb weight gain following olanzapine treatment which may be a significant issue impacting compliance and general health. As with risperidone, only a single RCT of olanzapine as monotherapy in PTSD has been reported (Butterfield et al. 2001). In contrast to the results of the risperidone study, the results of this 10-week double-blind placebocontrolled pilot study (N = 15) did not show differences in PTSD outcomes between olanzapine (5-20 mg) and placebo. Once again treatment with olanzapine resulted in significant weight gain (mean weight gain with olanzapine: 11.5 ± 4.4 lb vs. mean weight gain with placebo: 0.9 ± 0.06 lb) highlighting the need to weigh the benefits of olanzapine use against the potential health risks. The mixed results of RCTs involving these two medications in PTSD underscore the need for larger, more definitive clinical trials investigating these agents to justify their increasingly common use in the psychopharmacological management of PTSD.

5 Benzodiazepines and Other Hypnotics

Benzodiazepines (BZDs) have long played an important role in the management of anxiety disorders. Efficacy, rapid onset of action, and tolerability are all key factors in their popularity. However, with growing concerns about possible development of tolerance with long-term use and potential for abuse, and the development of newer, more tolerable antidepressants, the use of BZDs has declined considerably. Currently, BZD use in PTSD is largely directed towards symptomatic management of hyperarousal symptoms such as sleep disturbance. However, despite the long history of BZD use for anxiety, very few RCTs exist investigating their efficacy in PTSD.

In a 12-week cross-over trial (5-week treatment periods) of 10 subjects, alprazolam monotherapy showed some benefit for nonspecific anxiety, but not for specific PTSD symptoms (Braun et al. 1990). Cates et al. (2004) attempted to validate the common practice of providing BZDs for PTSD-related sleep disturbances with their 5-week, randomized, single-blind cross-over trial (2-week treatment periods) of clonazepam (1–2 mg). In their very small sample (N=6),

clonazepam showed modest numerical but no statistical superiority over placebo on any of the sleep-related measures.

Two additional studies have investigated the effects of BZD administration in the acute aftermath of trauma. Gelpin et al. (1996) prospectively compared 13 trauma survivors who received either clonazepam or alprazolam in the days following the trauma (range 2–18 days) to 13 controls matched for symptom severity. At 6-month follow-up, 69% of the BZD-treated group but only 23% of controls had developed PTSD. In their single-blind trial, Mellman et al. (2002) randomized 21 subjects recently admitted to a trauma center to treatment with temazepam (15-30 mg) or placebo for 1 week. At 6-week follow-up, 50% of the temazepamtreated group but only 27% of the placebo-treated group had developed PTSD. Although both studies are limited by small samples, they suggest that early BZD administration following trauma is not helpful in the prevention of PTSD. There is also a commonly held clinical misconception that, because of the high rates of substance abuse among those with PTSD, it is necessary to exclude BZDs from the pharmacological management of these patients despite a lack of evidence to support this belief. It is possible that this faulty idea and the negative results of the studies above have contributed to the lack of recent research investigating BZDs in PTSD. Nevertheless, a review of medications prescribed for PTSD within the VA system revealed that BZDs are among the commonest class of medications used in its management (Mohamed and Rosenheck, 2008). Since BZDs are cost-effective, useful, and commonly prescribed anxiolytics, but have only been investigated in two very small trials, there is evidently an urgent need for larger clinical trials to either validate the earlier results or to re-explore potential utility of BZDs in the prevention or treatment of PTSD.

6 Antiadrenergic Agents

Dysregulation of the noradrenergic system is one of the proposed mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of PTSD. The presence of the hyperarousal symptoms, such as hypervigilance and sleep disturbance, as well as abnormalities in different biological measures of norepinephrine suggested to researchers that a hyperadrenergic state was at play in PTSD. Based on this hypothesis, a number of investigators proposed a role for antiadrenergic medications in its treatment. Prazosin, a centrally acting selective α_1 adrenergic antagonist, is one agent that has received considerable interest lately for its effects on PTSD-related sleep disturbance. A double-blind, 20-week, cross-over trial in combat veterans with PTSD (N = 10) found prazosin (up to 10 mg) significantly more effective than placebo for improving sleep quality and decreasing distressing dreams (Raskind et al. 2003). Further, on the secondary measure of changes in CAPS scores, prazosin was associated with significant improvement across all symptom clusters. Extending these findings to a larger sample of combat veterans (N=40) in an 8-week parallel-group study, prazosin (up to 15 mg) was again associated with improvements in overall sleep quality and frequency of trauma-related nightmares (Raskind et al. 2007). Similarly, positive findings were seen in a 7-week placebo-controlled cross-over trial (3-week treatment periods) of civilians with PTSD (N = 13) (Taylor et al. 2008). Along with improvements in sleep quality and a shift in dream content from nightmares to more "normal" subject matter, prazosin was also associated with a substantial increase in total sleep time (94 min).

Two RCTs of guanfacine, a centrally acting α_2 adrenergic agonist, in PTSD have been reported. In the first, an 8-week, double-blind trial of veterans with PTSD (N = 63) guanfacine failed to demonstrate superiority over placebo on measures of post-traumatic symptoms, sleep, or depression (Neylan et al. 2006). Similarly, negative results were also found in a more recent 8-week RCT (Davis et al. 2008b). Clonidine, commonly used as an antihypertensive agent because of its effects on decreasing sympathetic outflow, has a similar mechanism to guanfacine. Although a single paper reported that a combination of clonidine and imipramine was helpful in the symptomatic improvement of Cambodian refugees suffering from chronic PTSD and major depression (Kinzie and Leung, 1989), no RCTs have been published to confirm this.

Although no RCTs have reported on the use of β -blockers to treat post-traumatic symptoms once they have developed, three controlled studies have examined their utility in the secondary prevention of PTSD following trauma exposure. Based on literature that propranolol appears to impair recall of emotionally arousing material (Cahill et al. 1994), investigators argued that β -blockers administered in the peritraumatic period might inhibit the consolidation and subsequent ability to retrieve and replay traumatic memories. However, findings from these studies are inconsistent. Pitman et al. (2002) randomized 41 patients in the emergency department who had just experienced a traumatic event and had physiological signs of arousal (thought to predict those at risk of PTSD development) to treatment with either placebo or propranolol (160 mg in four divided doses) for 10 days, with the first dose of study medication administered within 6 h of the traumatic event. While no differences were found between groups on CAPS scores at either 1- or 3-month follow-up, the authors contended that propranolol-treated subjects had reduced physiologic responsiveness to trauma-related cues. The results must also be interpreted with caution because of the elevated attrition rate in the propranolol group. Later, Vaiva et al. (2003) prospectively followed 11 emergency department trauma patients who agreed to an open trial of propranolol (40 mg TID) for 7 days followed by a taper period comparing them to a group of 8 similar patients who refused propranolol but agreed to be assessed in follow-up by a psychiatrist blinded to the subject's treatment status. At 2-month follow-up, fewer propranolol-treated subjects met criteria for PTSD (9% vs. 37.5%, p = 0.012).

A more recent double-blind, 3-arm trial randomized 48 physically injured patients admitted to a surgical trauma center to 14 days of propranolol (up to 40 mg TID), gabapentin (up to 400 mg TID), or placebo (Stein et al. 2007), with the first dose of medication administered within 48 h of injury. In contrast to the earlier results, neither of the study drugs was significantly better than placebo in preventing acute stress disorder at 1-month follow-up nor PTSD at 4-month follow-up.

These earlier studies have focused on using β -blockers to inhibit retrieval of fear memories. More recently, Kindt et al. (2009) used a fear-conditioning paradigm to demonstrate that β -adrenergic receptors were also involved in the reconsolidation of fear memory. But more importantly, they showed that following acquisition of a fear response, the administration of propranolol given prior to reactivating the fear memory resulted in rapid elimination of the behavioral response to the fear – in this case, measured by eyeblink startle reflex. Of note, declarative memory remained unaffected. These findings have interesting clinical implications for PTSD. For instance, the use of a β -blocker prior to undergoing prolonged exposure therapy sessions (which is based on recalling aspects of the traumatic memory) may facilitate extinction of behavioral fear responses and accelerate recovery.

7 Other Agents

Even with multiple pharmacological options, rates of response to standard treatments in PTSD are often lower than clinicians would like. When the usual augmentation and combination strategies fail, novel treatments may be of use. Preliminary results from case series and open trials have been published for multiple agents including, among others, memantine (Battista et al. 2007), baclofen (Drake et al. 2003), dehyroepiandosterone (Sageman and Brown 2006), and cypropheptadine (Clark et al. 1999), not to mention other members of the medication classes discussed above. However, two novel agents that have been investigated in a controlled fashion are cortisol and p-cycloserine (DCS).

Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysfunction has been implicated in PTSD. Studies of glucocorticoids (GCs) and memory have found that elevated GC levels, as seen during acute stress, may enhance consolidation of emotional, or traumatic, memories (Roozendaal et al. 2006). One model of PTSD suggests that these memories get retrieved, replayed, and reconsolidated thereby strengthening the traumatic memory - this may potentially contribute to the frequency of intrusive memories and other re-experiencing type symptoms (Pitman 1989). However, elevated GC levels have also been found to impair memory retrieval, particularly for emotionally arousing material (Buchanan et al. 2006). Aerni et al. (2004) suggested that the administration of exogenous GCs (e.g., cortisol) may be useful in impeding the recall of traumatic memories thus allowing newer nontraumatic memories to be encoded and resulting in eventual fear extinction. Three patients were randomized to 1 month of daily cortisol (10 mg) and placebo for 2 months in this randomized, double-blind, cross-over trial. While the results must be very cautiously interpreted, the authors found that cortisol treatment was associated with modest improvement of both re-experiencing and avoidance-numbing type symptoms.

Based on literature supporting a role for glutamatergic dysfunction in PTSD (Nair and Singh 2008), DCS, a partial agonist of the *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)

receptor, has been investigated as a treatment. Results from a 12-week, doubleblind, cross-over trial (4-week treatment periods) of 11 subjects suggest that DCS (50 mg) may be effective for numbing/avoidance symptoms of PTSD, although subjects also demonstrated a degree of improvement during placebo treatment (Heresco-Levy et al. 2002). Both of the agents discussed here would be served by replication with larger samples to clarify their utility for PTSD, particularly given their unique mechanisms of action.

8 Conclusions

Several classes of psychotropic medications have been investigated for efficacy in PTSD. Of the effective medications, the largest evidence base exists for antidepressants and particularly for the SSRIs. In spite of the conclusion of the Institute of Medicine that there was insufficient evidence to support their use in PTSD, most clinicians continue to use these drugs as first line agents. Their general tolerability, benefits across the multiple symptom clusters of PTSD, and efficacy for the comorbid psychiatric disorders that commonly occur with PTSD (e.g., depression) ensure that SSRIs will remain a favored treatment option for now. Although SNRIs represent a viable first line alternative to SSRIs, management strategies beyond this are less clear. Based on the available evidence, reasonable next steps might include augmentation with an atypical antipsychotic, anticonvulsant (e.g., lamotrigine), or even the antiadrenergic agent prazosin. The use of concurrent psychotherapy, such as prolonged exposure, might also be helpful. This lack of clarity regarding optimal treatment strategies in the face of partial or nonresponse to standard first-line medications highlights the need for larger, definitive trials that address these questions. A trial, similar to the Sequenced Treatment Alternatives to Depression ("STAR*D") study (Rush 2007) might be helpful in clarifying guidelines regarding these issues in PTSD.

Future research should also focus on the development of novel pharmacological agents that specifically target PTSD. The medications that are currently in use for PTSD have, in large part, been developed for other disorders before being investigated for post-traumatic symptoms. A better understanding of the underlying pathophysiology and neural circuitry affected in PTSD will be helpful in detecting unique pharmacologic targets or mechanisms which can in turn be used to develop specific compounds of use for this illness. As with other psychiatric disorders, an additional goal of future research should be identifying predictors of response to specific interventions to allow for individualized treatment; hopefully, the fields of genetics and neuroimaging will be useful for this purpose. Regardless of what type of treatment is provided, be it psychotherapeutic or pharmacologic in nature, ensuring effective delivery and compliance will be crucial in achieving the ultimate goal of treatment: remission of symptoms and optimal psychosocial function.

References

- Aerni A, Traber R, Hock C, Roozendaal B, Schelling G, Papassotiropoulos A, Nitsch RM, Schnyder U, de Quervain DJ (2004) Low-dose cortisol for symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161:1488–1490
- Bahk WM, Pae CU, Tsoh J, Chae JH, Jun TY, Chul L, Kim KS (2002) Effects of mirtazapine in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder in Korea: a pilot study. Hum Psychopharmacol 17:341–344
- Baker DG, Diamond BI, Gillette G, Hamner M, Katzelnick D, Keller T, Mellman TA, Pontius E, Rosenthal M, Tucker P (1995) A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, multi-center study of brofaromine in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 122:386–389
- Bandelow B, Zohar J, Hollander E, Kasper S, Moller HJ, Zohar J, Hollander E, Kasper S, Moller HJ, Bandelow B, Allgulander C, Ayuso-Gutierrez J, Baldwin DS, Buenvicius R, Cassano G, Fineberg N, Gabriels L, Hindmarch I, Kaiya H, Klein DF, Lader M, Lecrubier Y, Lepine JP, Liebowitz MR, Lopez-Ibor JJ, Marazziti D, Miguel EC, Oh KS, Preter M, Rupprecht R, Sato M, Starcevic V, Stein DJ, van Ameringen M, Vega J (2008) World Federation of Societies of Biological Psychiatry (WFSBP) guidelines for the pharmacological treatment of anxiety, obsessive-compulsive and post-traumatic stress disorders first revision. World J Biol Psychiatry 9:248–312
- Bartzokis G, Lu PH, Turner J, Mintz J, Saunders CS (2005) Adjunctive risperidone in the treatment of chronic combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 57: 474–479
- Battista MA, Hierholzer R, Khouzam HR, Barlow A, O'Toole S (2007) Pilot trial of memantine in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychiatry 70:167–174
- Becker ME, Hertzberg MA, Moore SD, Dennis MF, Bukenya DS, Beckham JC (2007) A placebocontrolled trial of bupropion SR in the treatment of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 27:193–197
- Brady K, Pearlstein T, Asnis GM, Baker D, Rothbaum B, Sikes CR, Farfel GM (2000) Efficacy and safety of sertraline treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 283:1837–1844
- Braun P, Greenberg D, Dasberg H, Lerer B (1990) Core symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder unimproved by alprazolam treatment. J Clin Psychiatry 51:236–238
- Buchanan TW, Tranel D, Adolphs R (2006) Impaired memory retrieval correlates with individual differences in cortisol response but not autonomic response. Learn Mem 13:382–387
- Butterfield MI, Becker ME, Connor KM, Sutherland S, Churchill LE, Davidson JR (2001) Olanzapine in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder: a pilot study. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 16:197–203
- Cahill L, Prins B, Weber M, McGaugh JL (1994) Beta-adrenergic activation and memory for emotional events. Nature 371:702–704
- Cates ME, Bishop MH, Davis LL, Lowe JS, Woolley TW (2004) Clonazepam for treatment of sleep disturbances associated with combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. Ann Pharmacother 38:1395–1399
- Clark RD, Canive JM, Calais LA, Qualls C, Brugger RD, Vosburgh TB (1999) Cyproheptadine treatment of nightmares associated with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 19:486–487
- Connor KM, Sutherland SM, Tupler LA, Malik ML, Davidson JR (1999) Fluoxetine in posttraumatic stress disorder. Randomised, double-blind study. Br J Psychiatry 175:17–22
- Connor KM, Davidson JR, Weisler RH, Zhang W, Abraham K (2006) Tiagabine for posttraumatic stress disorder: effects of open-label and double-blind discontinuation treatment. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 184:21–25

- Copeland WE, Keeler G, Angold A, Costello EJ (2007) Traumatic events and posttraumatic stress in childhood. Arch Gen Psychiatry 64:577–584
- Chung MY, Min KH, Jun YJ, Kim SS, Kim WC, Jun EM (2004) Efficacy and tolerability of mirtazapine and sertraline in Korean veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder: a randomized open label trial. Hum Psychopharmacol 19:489–94
- Davidson J, Kudler H, Smith R, Mahorney SL, Lipper S, Hammett E, Saunders WB, Cavenar JO Jr (1990) Treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder with amitriptyline and placebo. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47:259–266
- Davidson JR, Weisler RH, Malik M, Tupler LA (1998) Fluvoxamine in civilians with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 18:93–95
- Davidson JR, Rothbaum BO, van der Kolk BA, Sikes CR, Farfel GM (2001a) Multicenter, doubleblind comparison of sertraline and placebo in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58:485–492
- Davidson J, Pearlstein T, Londborg P, Brady KT, Rothbaum B, Bell J, Maddock R, Hegel MT, Farfel G (2001b) Efficacy of sertraline in preventing relapse of posttraumatic stress disorder: results of a 28-week double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 158:1974–1981
- Davidson JR, Weisler RH, Butterfield MI, Casat CD, Connor KM, Barnett S, van Meter S (2003) Mirtazapine vs. placebo in posttraumatic stress disorder: a pilot trial. Biol Psychiatry 53:188–191
- Davidson J, Rothbaum BO, Tucker P, Asnis G, Benattia I, Musgnung JJ (2006a) Venlafaxine extended release in posttraumatic stress disorder: a sertraline- and placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 26:259–267
- Davidson J, Baldwin D, Stein DJ, Kuper E, Benattia I, Ahmed S, Pedersen R, Musgnung J (2006b) Treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder with venlafaxine extended release: a 6-month randomized controlled trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:1158–1165
- Davidson JR, Brady K, Mellman TA, Stein MB, Pollack MH (2007) The efficacy and tolerability of tiagabine in adult patients with post-traumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 27:85–88
- Davis R, Whittington R, Bryson HM (1997) Nefazodone. A review of its pharmacology and clinical efficacy in the management of major depression. Drugs 53:608–636
- Davis LL, Jewell ME, Ambrose S, Farley J, English B, Bartolucci A, Petty F (2004) A placebocontrolled study of nefazodone for the treatment of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder: a preliminary study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 24:291–297
- Davis LL, Davidson JR, Ward LC, Bartolucci A, Bowden CL, Petty F (2008a) Divalproex in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in a veteran population. J Clin Psychopharmacol 28:84–88
- Davis LL, Ward C, Rasmusson A, Newell JM, Frazier E, Southwick SM (2008b) A placebocontrolled trial of guanfacine for the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder in veterans. Psychopharmacol Bull 41:8–18
- de Jong JT, Komproe IH, Van Ommeren M, El Masri M, Araya M, Khaled N, van De PW, Somasundaram D (2001) Lifetime events and posttraumatic stress disorder in 4 postconflict settings. JAMA 286:555–562
- Drake RG, Davis LL, Cates ME, Jewell ME, Ambrose SM, Lowe JS (2003) Baclofen treatment for chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. Ann Pharmacother 37:1177–1181
- English BA, Jewell M, Jewell G, Ambrose S, Davis LL (2006) Treatment of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder in combat veterans with citalopram: an open trial. J Clin Psychopharmacol 26:84–88
- Escalona R, Canive JM, Calais LA, Davidson JR (2002) Fluvoxamine treatment in veterans with combat-related post-traumatic stress disorder. Depress Anxiety 15:29–33
- Foa EB, Davidson JR, Frances A (1999) The expert consensus guidelines series: treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 60(Suppl 16):3–76

- Foa EB, Keane TM, Friedman MJ (2000) Guidelines for treatment of PTSD. J Trauma Stress 13:539–588
- Frank JB, Kosten TR, Giller EL Jr, Dan E (1988) A randomized clinical trial of phenelzine and imipramine for posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry 145:1289–1291
- Friedman MJ, Marmar CR, Baker DG, Sikes CR, Farfel GM (2007) Randomized, double-blind comparison of sertraline and placebo for posttraumatic stress disorder in a Department of Veterans Affairs setting. J Clin Psychiatry 68:711–720
- Gelpin E, Bonne O, Peri T, Brandes D, Shalev AY (1996) Treatment of recent trauma survivors with benzodiazepines: a prospective study. J Clin Psychiatry 57:390–394
- Hamner MB, Faldowski RA, Ulmer HG, Frueh BC, Huber MG, Arana GW (2003) Adjunctive risperidone treatment in post-traumatic stress disorder: a preliminary controlled trial of effects on comorbid psychotic symptoms. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 18:1–8
- Heresco-Levy U, Kremer I, Javitt DC, Goichman R, Reshef A, Blanaru M, Cohen T (2002) Pilot-controlled trial of D-cycloserine for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 5:301–307
- Hertzberg MA, Butterfield MI, Feldman ME, Beckham JC, Sutherland SM, Connor KM, Davidson JR (1999) A preliminary study of lamotrigine for the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 45:1226–1229
- Hertzberg MA, Feldman ME, Beckham JC, Kudler HS, Davidson JR (2000) Lack of efficacy for fluoxetine in PTSD: a placebo controlled trial in combat veterans. Ann Clin Psychiatry 12:101–105
- Hertzberg MA, Moore SD, Feldman ME, Beckham JC (2001) A preliminary study of bupropion sustained-release for smoking cessation in patients with chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 21:94–98
- Katz RJ, Lott MH, Arbus P, Crocq L, Herlobsen P, Lingjaerde O, Lopez G, Loughrey GC, MacFarlane DJ, McIvor R (1994) Pharmacotherapy of post-traumatic stress disorder with a novel psychotropic. Anxiety 1:169–174
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005) Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:593–602
- Kim W, Pae CU, Chae JH, Jun TY, Bahk WM (2005) The effectiveness of mirtazapine in the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder: a 24-week continuation therapy. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 59:743–747
- Kindt M, Soeter M, Vervliet B (2009) Beyond extinction: erasing human fear responses and preventing the return of fear. Nat Neurosci . doi:10.1038/nn.2271
- Kinzie JD, Leung P (1989) Clonidine in Cambodian patients with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Nerv Ment Dis 177:546–550
- Kosten TR, Frank JB, Dan E, McDougle CJ, Giller EL Jr (1991) Pharmacotherapy for posttraumatic stress disorder using phenelzine or imipramine. J Nerv Ment Dis 179:366–370
- Lindley SE, Carlson EB, Hill K (2007) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of augmentation topiramate for chronic combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 27:677–681
- Londborg PD, Hegel MT, Goldstein S, Goldstein D, Himmelhoch JM, Maddock R, Patterson WM, Rausch J, Farfel GM (2001) Sertraline treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: results of 24 weeks of open-label continuation treatment. J Clin Psychiatry 62:325–331
- Marmar CR, Schoenfeld F, Weiss DS, Metzler T, Zatzick D, Wu R, Smiga S, Tecott L, Neylan T (1996) Open trial of fluvoxamine treatment for combat-related posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 57(Suppl 8):66–70
- Marshall RD, Beebe KL, Oldham M, Zaninelli R (2001) Efficacy and safety of paroxetine treatment for chronic PTSD: a fixed-dose, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 158:1982–1988
- Marshall RD, Lewis-Fernandez R, Blanco C, Simpson HB, Lin SH, Vermes D, Garcia W, Schneier F, Neria Y, Sanchez-Lacay A, Liebowitz MR (2007) A controlled trial of paroxetine for

chronic PTSD, dissociation, and interpersonal problems in mostly minority adults. Depress Anxiety 24:77-84

- Martenyi F, Brown EB, Zhang H, Prakash A, Koke SC (2002a) Fluoxetine versus placebo in posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 63:199–206
- Martenyi F, Brown EB, Zhang H, Koke SC, Prakash A (2002b) Fluoxetine v. placebo in prevention of relapse in post-traumatic stress disorder. Br J Psychiatry 181:315–320
- Martenyi F, Brown EB, Caldwell CD (2007) Failed efficacy of fluoxetine in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder: results of a fixed-dose, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychopharmacol 27:166–170
- McRae AL, Brady KT, Mellman TA, Sonne SC, Killeen TK, Timmerman MA, Bayles-Dazet W (2004) Comparison of nefazodone and sertraline for the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Depress Anxiety 19:190–196
- Mellman TA, Bustamante V, David D, Fins AI (2002) Hypnotic medication in the aftermath of trauma. J Clin Psychiatry 63:1183–1184
- Milliken CS, Auchterlonie JL, Hoge CW (2007) Longitudinal assessment of mental health problems among active and reserve component soldiers returning from the Iraq war. JAMA 298:2141–2148
- Mohamed S, Rosenheck RA (2008) Pharmacotherapy of PTSD in the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs: diagnostic- and symptom-guided drug selection. J Clin Psychiatry 69:959–965
- Monnelly EP, Ciraulo DA, Knapp C, Keane T (2003) Low-dose risperidone as adjunctive therapy for irritable aggression in posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 23:193–196
- Nair J, Singh AS (2008) The role of the glutamatergic system in posttraumatic stress disorder. CNS Spectr 13:585–591
- Neylan TC, Lenoci M, Samuelson KW, Metzler TJ, Henn-Haase C, Hierholzer RW, Lindley SE, Otte C, Schoenfeld FB, Yesavage JA, Marmar CR (2006) No improvement of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms with guanfacine treatment. Am J Psychiatry 163:2186–2188
- Onder E, Tural U, Aker T (2006) A comparative study of fluoxetine, moclobemide, and tianeptine in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder following an earthquake. Eur Psychiatry 21:174–179
- Padala PR, Madison J, Monnahan M, Marcil W, Price P, Ramaswamy S, Din AU, Wilson DR, Petty F (2006) Risperidone monotherapy for post-traumatic stress disorder related to sexual assault and domestic abuse in women. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 21:275–280
- Pitman RK (1989) Post-traumatic stress disorder, hormones, and memory. Biol Psychiatry 26:221-3
- Pitman RK, Sanders KM, Zusman RM, Healy AR, Cheema F, Lasko NB, Cahill L, Orr SP (2002) Pilot study of secondary prevention of posttraumatic stress disorder with propranolol. Biol Psychiatry 51:189–192
- Post RM, Weiss SR, Smith M, Li H, McCann U (1997) Kindling versus quenching. Implications for the evolution and treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. Ann N Y Acad Sci 821:285–295
- Rapaport MH, Endicott J, Clary CM (2002) Posttraumatic stress disorder and quality of life: results across 64 weeks of sertraline treatment. J Clin Psychiatry 63:59–65
- Raskind MA, Peskind ER, Kanter ED, Petrie EC, Radant A, Thompson CE, Dobie DJ, Hoff D, Rein RJ, Straits-Troster K, Thomas RG, McFall MM (2003) Reduction of nightmares and other PTSD symptoms in combat veterans by prazosin: a placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 160:371–373
- Raskind MA, Peskind ER, Hoff DJ, Hart KL, Holmes HA, Warren D, Shofer J, O'Connell J, Taylor F, Gross C, Rohde K, McFall ME (2007) A parallel group placebo controlled study of prazosin for trauma nightmares and sleep disturbance in combat veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 61:928–934
- Reich DB, Winternitz S, Hennen J, Watts T, Stanculescu C (2004) A preliminary study of risperidone in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder related to childhood abuse in women. J Clin Psychiatry 65:1601–1606

- Reist C, Kauffmann CD, Haier RJ, Sangdahl C, DeMet EM, Chicz-DeMet A, Nelson JN (1989) A controlled trial of desipramine in 18 men with posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry 146:513–516
- Robert S, Hamner MB, Ulmer HG, Lorberbaum JP, Durkalski VL (2006) Open-label trial of escitalopram in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 67:1522–1526
- Roozendaal B, Okuda S, Van der Zee EA, McGaugh JL (2006) Glucocorticoid enhancement of memory requires arousal-induced noradrenergic activation in the basolateral amygdala. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:6741–6746
- Rothbaum BO, Killeen TK, Davidson JR, Brady KT, Connor KM, Heekin MH (2008) Placebocontrolled trial of risperidone augmentation for selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor-resistant civilian posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 69:520–525
- Rush AJ (2007) STAR*D: what have we learned? Am J Psychiatry 164:201-204
- Sageman S, Brown RP (2006) 3-acetyl-7-oxo-dehydroepiandrosterone for healing treatmentresistant posttraumatic stress disorder in women: 5 case reports. J Clin Psychiatry 67:493–496 Sargant W, Slater E (1940) Acute war neuroses. Lancet 236:1–2
- Seedat S, Stein DJ, Ziervogel C, Middleton T, Kaminer D, Emsley RA, Rossouw W (2002) Comparison of response to a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor in children, adolescents, and adults with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 12:37–46
- Shestatzky M, Greenberg D, Lerer B (1988) A controlled trial of phenelzine in posttraumatic stress disorder. Psychiatry Res 24:149–155
- Stahl SM (1998) Mechanism of action of serotonin selective reuptake inhibitors. Serotonin receptors and pathways mediate therapeutic effects and side effects. J Affect Disord 51:215–235
- Stein DJ, Bandelow B, Hollander E, Nutt DJ, Okasha A, Pollack MH, Swinson RP, Zohar J (2003) WCA Recommendations for the long-term treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder. CNS Spectr 8:31–39
- Stein MB, Kline NA, Matloff JL (2002) Adjunctive olanzapine for SSRI-resistant combat-related PTSD: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Am J Psychiatry 159:1777–1779
- Stein MB, Kerridge C, Dimsdale JE, Hoyt DB (2007) Pharmacotherapy to prevent PTSD: Results from a randomized controlled proof-of-concept trial in physically injured patients. J Trauma Stress 20:923–932
- Taylor FB, Martin P, Thompson C, Williams J, Mellman TA, Gross C, Peskind ER, Raskind MA (2008) Prazosin effects on objective sleep measures and clinical symptoms in civilian trauma posttraumatic stress disorder: a placebo-controlled study. Biol Psychiatry 63:629–632
- Tucker P, Zaninelli R, Yehuda R, Ruggiero L, Dillingham K, Pitts CD (2001) Paroxetine in the treatment of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder: results of a placebo-controlled, flexibledosage trial. J Clin Psychiatry 62:860–868
- Tucker P, Trautman RP, Wyatt DB, Thompson J, Wu SC, Capece JA, Rosenthal NR (2007) Efficacy and safety of topiramate monotherapy in civilian posttraumatic stress disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 68:201–206
- Ursano RJ, Bell C, Eth S, Friedman M, Norwood A, Pfefferbaum B, Pynoos RS, Zatzick DF, Benedek DM (2004) American Psychiatric Association Practice Guideline for the treatment of patients with acute stress disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder. American Psychiatric, Arlington, VA, pp 1–96
- Vaiva G, Ducrocq F, Jezequel K, Averland B, Lestavel P, Brunet A, Marmar CR (2003) Immediate treatment with propranolol decreases posttraumatic stress disorder two months after trauma. Biol Psychiatry 54:947–949
- van der Kolk BA, Dreyfuss D, Michaels M, Shera D, Berkowitz R, Fisler R, Saxe G (1994) Fluoxetine in posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 55:517–522
- Zohar J, Amital D, Miodownik C, Kotler M, Bleich A, Lane RM, Austin C (2002) Double-blind placebo-controlled pilot study of sertraline in military veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 22:190–195

Pharmacological Treatment of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Helen Blair Simpson

Contents

1	Introduction				
2	Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors in the Treatment of OCD				
	2.1	Comparative Efficacy	529		
	2.2	Dose	530		
	2.3	Time to Response			
	2.4	Side Effects	531		
	2.5	Suicidality	532		
	2.6	Duration of Treatment	533		
	2.7	Drug Discontinuation Syndrome	533		
	2.8	The Role of Venlafaxine or Duloxetine in the Treatment of OCD	534		
3	Limitations of Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors in the Treatment of OCD		534		
	3.1	Partial Response to Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors	535		
	3.2	Nonresponders to Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors	536		
4	Nov	el Medications in OCD			
5	Con	clusion			
Ret	References				

Abstract Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) is a disabling neuropsychiatric disorder. Two treatments have been proven efficacious for the symptoms of OCD: pharmacological treatment with serotonin reuptake inhibitors and cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) consisting of exposure and response prevention. This chapter will focus on pharmacological treatments. The only medications which have proved effective for OCD in multisite randomized controlled trials are serotonin reuptake inhibitors, which include clomipramine (a noradrenergic and serotonergic reuptake inhibitor) and the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. General guidelines for the use of these medication will be presented, focusing on key issues that arise in clinical practice such as what dose to use, time to response,

H.B. Simpson

Columbia University and the New York State Psychiatric Institute

management of side effects, and duration of treatment. Because many OCD patients will have either a partial response or no response to these medications, evidencebased strategies for managing both partial responders and nonresponders will be described, including the evidence supporting augmentation with other medications or with CBT, and switching to other medications. Finally, novel strategies which are based on an increased understanding of the brain mechanisms underlying OCD and which are under investigation will be reviewed.

Keywords OCD \cdot Medications \cdot Serotonin reuptake inhibitors \cdot Treatment guidelines \cdot CBT

1 Introduction

Obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) is a neuropsychiatric condition characterized by recurrent, intrusive, and distressing thoughts, images, or impulses (obsessions) and repetitive mental or behavioral acts which the individual feels driven to perform (compulsions) to prevent or reduce distress. OCD typically starts in childhood or adolescence (Kessler et al. 2005), persists throughout a person's life (Skoog and Skoog 1999), and produces substantial impairment in social, family, and work functioning (Huppert et al. 2009). With a lifetime prevalence of up to 2-3% (Kessler et al. 2005; Robins et al. 1984), the World Health Organization has identified OCD as one of the most disabling of all medical and psychiatric conditions in the industrialized world (Murray and Lopez 1996).

Two treatments have proved efficacious for the symptoms of obsessivecompulsive disorder (OCD): pharmacotherapy with serotonin reuptake inhibitors and cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) consisting of exposure and response prevention. This chapter will focus on pharmacotherapy for OCD. The evidence reviewed below for which medications are efficacious for OCD comes from randomized controlled trials, open trials, and case reports; the findings from randomized controlled trials are considered the most robust because patients are randomly assigned to different treatment conditions, and evaluations are done blind to treatment group. At the same time, not all questions of importance have been or can be addressed in this type of trial design. Thus, the clinical guidelines below must rely not only on data from controlled trials, but also from open trials, case reports, and clinical experience.

The only medications proved effective as monotherapy for OCD in multisite randomized controlled trials are serotonin reuptake inhibitors. This led to speculation that OCD is due to abnormalities in the brain serotonin system (Insel et al. 1985). However, despite many attempts to demonstrate serotonin abnormalities in the brains of people with OCD, it remains unclear whether serotonin reuptake inhibitors reduce OCD symptoms by correcting serotonin dysfunction or by enhancing serotonin modulation of brain circuits whose underlying dysfunction is unrelated to serotonin. Thus, serotonin reuptake inhibitors are used in OCD, without a clear sense of their mechanism. Yet they are known to work.

General guidelines for the use of serotonin reuptake inhibitors will be presented first, focusing on key issues that arise in clinical practice.Later, because many OCD patients will have either a partial response or no response to serotonin reuptake inhibitors, evidence-based strategies for managing both partial responders and nonresponders will be described. Finally, novel medication strategies which are based on an increased understanding of the brain mechanisms underlying OCD and which are under investigation will be reviewed.

2 Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors in the Treatment of OCD

Serotonin reuptake inhibitors include clomipramine, a tricyclic antidepressant, and the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (i.e., fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, sertraline, paroxetine, citalopram, and escitalopram). The efficacy of serotonin reuptake inhibitors for OCD has been reviewed elsewhere (Koran et al. 2007). In brief, serotonin reuptake inhibitors lead to improvement in 40–60% of people with OCD, and OCD patients who receive an adequate trial will achieve 20–40% reduction in their OCD symptoms on the average (Greist et al. 1995b; Pigott and Seay 1999). Thus, serotonin reuptake inhibitors typically lead to amelioration rather than elimination of symptoms. Specific issues that arise when using serotonin reuptake inhibitors for OCD are discussed below.

2.1 Comparative Efficacy

Serotonin reuptake inhibitors are not thought to differ from each other in efficacy for OCD, with the possible exception of clomipramine as discussed below. This makes sense if their mechanism of action is due to the blockade of the serotonin transporter since they are all serotonin reuptake inhibitors. On the other hand, there are clinical reports of OCD patients who do not respond to one serotonin reuptake inhibitor but do respond to another.

The one serotonin reuptake inhibitor with some evidence for greater efficacy than the others is clomipramine, a tricyclic antidepressant that is both a serotonin reuptake inhibitor and a norephinephrine reuptake inhibitor. In meta-analyses, clomipramine has been shown repeatedly to lead to greater effects than the other serotonin reuptake inhibitors (Ackerman and Greenland 2002; Eddy et al. 2004; Jenike et al. 1990). On the other hand, the clomipramine studies were done earlier in time than the studies using selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and thus likely included more treatmentnaïve samples. In head-to-head comparisons, clomipramine has not been found to be superior to fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, or paroxetine. However, these studies were not designed to detect small but potential, clinical, meaningful differences between treatments (Freeman et al. 1994; Koran et al. 1996; Lopez-Ibor et al. 1996; Mundo et al. 2000; Pigott et al. 1990; Zohar and Judge 1996). Even if somewhat more effective, clomipramine is not considered a first-line treatment for OCD because of its potential to cause more severe side effects (as described below). In sum, treatment guidelines (Koran et al. 2007) recommend that patients first be started on a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor. If there is no response, they should be switched to another and eventually tried on clomipramine. With regard to the decision concerning which selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor is to be tried first, the clinician should consider prior treatment response, the safety and acceptability of particular side effects for the individual patient (see below), and the potential for drug–drug interactions.

2.2 Dose

Clinical trials that randomize patients to different doses of the same medication (i.e., fixed dose studies) provide data on the effects of dose. In OCD, fixed dose studies of fluoxetine, paroxetine, and citalopram found that higher doses of serotonin reuptake inhibitors produced a somewhat higher response rate and/or greater degree of improvement than lower doses (Hollander et al. 2003; Montgomery et al. 1993, 2001), although one fixed dose sertraline study did not find significant differences between the effects of 50 and 200 mg/day (Greist et al. 1995a). The consensus is that high doses of serotonin reuptake inhibitors are most efficacious in OCD (Greist et al. 1995b). According to Koran et al. (2007), the recommended dose is: fluoxetine 60–80 mg/day; fluvoxamine 200–300 mg/day; paroxetine 60 mg/day, sertraline 200 mg/day. It is advised that patients be started at a low dose for tolerability (e.g., fluoxetine 10 or 20 mg/day) and the dose be increased every week or every other week (as tolerated) to doses at least as high as listed above before deciding that a patient is resistant to any particular serotonin reuptake inhibitor.

When patients do not respond to the doses above, doses even higher have been tried in clinical practice (e.g., fluoxetine or citalopram 120 mg/day, paroxetine 100 mg/day, escitalopram 60 mg/day). To examine the efficacy of this strategy, Ninan et al. (2006) randomized patients who had not responded to 16 weeks of sertraline (titrated from 50 to 200 mg/day) to continued sertraline (200 mg/day) or to increased sertraline (250–400 mg/day). Although the high dose group had significantly greater improvement than the lower dose group, the difference in additional improvement was clinically modest, and both groups were still left with clinically significant symptoms. Thus, increasing selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors to higher than recommended doses may be effective for certain OCD patients, but this is not a highly effective strategy for all.

In sum, guidelines recommend starting a serotonin reuptake inhibitor at a low dose and titrating upwards as tolerated until the recommended doses outlined above are achieved. However, individual patients may respond better at lower or even higher doses than currently recommended. Thus, clinical judgment is required when implementing these recommendations.

2.3 Time to Response

Many of the randomized controlled trials of serotonin reuptake inhibitors for OCD did not show a significant difference between placebo and active medication before 6 weeks. Thus, an adequate trial has been defined as the maximum dose comfort-ably tolerated for a minimum of 6 weeks (Koran et al. 2007), or an 8–12 week trial overall, given usual titration schedules. It is important that the delayed response to treatment is explained to patients so that patients don't prematurely stop their serotonin reuptake inhibitor before it has time to show any effects.

It is not known why high doses of a serotonin reuptake inhibitor for a relatively long period of time are required in OCD. El Mansari and Blier (2006) proposed that serotonin reuptake inhibitors decrease OCD symptoms by increasing synaptic serotonin in the orbito-frontal cortex and that this increase does not occur until the presynaptic autoreceptors that regulates serotonin release are desensitized. Data from their animal studies suggest that desensitization of the autoreceptors in the orbitofrontal cortex requires 8 weeks (unlike the 3 weeks required for other areas of the brain), leading them to propose that this phenomenon explains the delayed time to response in OCD.

2.4 Side Effects

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors are generally well-tolerated. Potential side effects include gastrointestinal problems (e.g., nausea or diarrhea), agitation, sleep disturbances (e.g., insomnia, vivid dreams), increased tendency to sweat, and sexual side effects (e.g., decrease in libido, trouble ejaculating, delayed orgasm). In addition, weight gain or fatigue can occur. In addition, there are clinical reports of specific side effects with certain agents that are presumed due to their unique pharmacological characteristics (e.g., more sedation and constipation due to the mild anticholinergic effects of paroxetine, more anorexia and activation due to the 5HT2C antagonism of fluoxetine (Stahl 2008)). Thus, it is possible for a patient to tolerate one serotonin reuptake inhibitor, but not another.

The first step in managing side effects is to decrease the dose, assuming the therapeutic benefit can be maintained. If this is not possible, specific interventions can be considered. For example, gastrointestinal distress can be minimized by starting on a low dose and titrating upwards slowly. Sexual side effects may be helped by using a one-day "drug holiday" before engaging in sexual activity or adding a counteracting pharmacologic agent (e.g., buproprion or sildenafil). Sweating can be treated with anticholinergic agents like benztropine. Weight gain can be minimized by engaging the patient in a weight maintenance program from the start. Insomnia may respond to switching the time the medication is taken to the morning, introducing sleep hygiene measures, or adding a sedative-hypnotic agent (Koran et al. 2007).

Clomipramine is both a serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor. It also blocks several other receptors, including muscarinic cholinergic receptors, H1 histamine receptors, alpha-1 adrenergic receptors, and sodium channels in the heart and brain. Thus, in addition to the side effects described above, clomipramine can cause anticholinergic effects (e.g., dry mouth, constipation, delayed urination), antihistamine effects (e.g., sedation, weight gain), antiadrenergic effects (e.g., orthostatic hypotension), and cardiac conduction abnormalities or seizures. As a result, a medical evaluation including an electrocardiogram is necessary before starting clomipramine. Because of clomipramine's greater potential for adverse events, guidelines (Koran et al. 2007) recommend trial of one or more selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors before trying clomipramine.

Serotonin reuptake inhibitors can cause serotonin syndrome if combined with other agents that increase serotonergic activity at central and peripheral serotonergic receptors. The symptoms of serotonin syndrome can include cognitive abnormalities (e.g., headache, agitation, mental confusion), autonomic abnormalities (e.g., shivering, sweating, fever, hypertension, tachycardia), and somatic effects (myoclonus, hyperreflexia, tremor). Thus, serotonin reuptake inhibitors are contraindicated with agents like monamine oxidase inhibitors.

Serotonin reuptake inhibitors are metabolized by the liver but differ in the degree to which they alter metabolism through the hepatic cytochrome P450 enzyme system, and thus in their potential for drug–drug interactions (Koran et al. 2007). Escitalopram, citalopram, and sertraline have the fewest known interactions with other drugs. Serotonin reuptake inhibitors also differ in their rate of metabolism and thus the length of time they remain in the body (i.e., their half-life). Fluoxetine has the longest half-life (e.g., 2–4 days for fluoxetine and 7–9 days for its active metabolite norfluoxetine); paroxetine and fluvoxamine have the shortest (<24 h). A long half-life can be advantageous if a patient misses a dose, since drug concentrations only decrease slightly; however, in the event of nonresponse or a drug–drug interaction, a longer washout period would be necessary.

In sum, there are no clear differences in efficacy between the serotonin reuptake inhibitors (with the possible exception of clomipramine), and they share many side effects due to their inhibition of serotonin reuptake. However, they have unique pharmacological properties that presumably explain observed differences in side effects in individual patients; they also differ in their potential for drug–drug interactions and their pharmacokinetics.

2.5 Suicidality

There has been a long-standing concern that antidepressants (including serotonin reuptake inhibitors) might lead to suicidal ideation and behavior (i.e., suicidality). One recent meta-analysis found an association between selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and suicidality in pediatric patients participating in randomized, placebo-controlled trials for major depressive disorder, OCD, and other anxiety

disorders (Hammad et al. 2006). However, other studies have found no association between selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and likelihood of suicide attempts in depressed patients (Gibbons et al. 2007; Simon et al. 2006). While the link between serotonin reuptake inhibitors and suicidality is still under study, it is well-documented that untreated depression increases the likelihood of completed suicide.

In OCD patients without depression, it has not been proven that serotonin reuptake inhibitors lead to suicidal attempts. On the other hand, many OCD patients have comorbid depression. In the National Comorbidity Survey Replication, 40% of people with lifetime OCD were found to have a lifetime diagnosis of major depressive disorder (Ruscio et al. 2008). In people seeking treatment, the rates are estimated to be even higher (Rasmussen and Eisen 1994). Thus, since untreated depression is a risk factor for completed suicide and serotonin reuptake inhibitors may increase suicidal ideation, careful monitoring of suicidal thoughts and behaviors is advised in all OCD patients when starting a serotonin reuptake inhibitor.

2.6 Duration of Treatment

Clinical trials that treat patient with medications for a certain period of time and then randomly assign responders to continue on that medication or to be switched to pill placebo are called double-blind drug discontinuation studies. These studies help determine the risk of relapse if medication is stopped.

There are four double-blind discontinuation studies of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in adults with OCD (Hollander et al. 2003; Koran et al. 2002; Pato et al. 1988; Romano et al. 2001). The studies examined different serotonin reuptake inhibitors, used different designs (e.g., length of follow-up, procedure for placebo substitution), and had different relapse definitions. Not surprisingly, the studies came to different conclusions about the risk of relapse if medication is stopped, with relapse rates (or discontinuation due to insufficient clinical response) after double-blind switch to placebo ranging from a high of 89% within 7 weeks to a low of 24% within 28 weeks. The risk of relapse remains unclear given the limited number of studies and the methodological differences between them. Based on this literature and clinical consensus, practice guidelines (Koran et al. 2007) recommend that an OCD patient who has improved during an adequate trial of a serotonin reuptake inhibitor should stay on that medication for 1–2 years. If a patient wants to discontinue the medication, it is advised that the medication be slowly tapered (e.g., 10–25% every 1–2 months).

2.7 Drug Discontinuation Syndrome

If stopped abruptly, serotonin reuptake inhibitors can lead to a drug discontinuation syndrome. This can include flu-like symptoms (e.g., dizziness, nausea/vomiting, headache, and lethargy) as well as agitation, insomnia, myoclonic jerks, and paresthesias (Tamam and Ozpoyraz 2002; Zajecka et al. 1997). Drugs with a

shorter half-life (e.g., paroxetine) are more likely to cause this than those with a longer half-life and an active metabolite (e.g., fluoxetine). To avoid withdrawal, it is recommended that clinicians taper the medication slowly; substituting a serotonin reuptake inhibitor with a longer half-life is also a strategy used in clinical practice.

2.8 The Role of Venlafaxine or Duloxetine in the Treatment of OCD

Like clomipramine, venlafaxine and duloxetine are both serotonin and norephinephrine reuptake inhibitors. Because they inhibit serotonin reuptake, both are presumed effective for the treatment of OCD. To date, the only published study of duloxetine in OCD is a case series of four patients with OCD who had either partial or no response to a serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SRI); after being switched to duloxetine up to 120 mg/day, three responded to duloxetine (Dell'osso et al. 2008). Larger and controlled studies are needed to confirm this preliminary observation.

Venlafaxine has been studied more extensively, but the findings from different studies conflict. The only randomized controlled trial of venlafaxine in OCD found no significant difference between venlafaxine and placebo (Yaryura-Tobias and Neziroglu 1996). However, the sample was small (n = 30), the maximum dose was 225 mg/day, and the trial was only 8 weeks long. Other randomized controlled trials have compared venlafaxine (or venlafaxine XR) to either paroxetine (Denys et al. 2003) or clomipramine (Albert et al. 2002). These trials were limited by the lack of a placebo group, but each was 12 weeks in length and used higher doses of venlafaxine (e.g., 225–300 mg/day). In both studies, venlafaxine was as efficacious as the serotonin reuptake inhibitor to which it was compared. Finally, in a crossover study of nonresponders (Denys et al. 2004b), when paroxetine nonresponders were switched to venlafaxine, only 3 of 16 (19%) responded, whereas 15 of 27 (56%) venlafaxine nonresponders responded when switched to paroxetine. These findings suggest that paroxetine is more efficacious than venlafaxine in a patient with limited response to the other medication.

In sum, venlafaxine is often tried in clinical practice in OCD patients who have not responded to several selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and cannot tolerate clomipramine. However, the evidence supporting the use of venlafaxine in OCD is not as strong as the evidence for the serotonin reuptake inhibitors, and there is little data supporting the use of duloxetine.

3 Limitations of Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors in the Treatment of OCD

Although serotonin reuptake inhibitors are the only medications proven as monotherapy for OCD, they have important limitations: only up to 65% of people will respond to an adequate trial; the typical response is a 20–40% reduction in symptoms; and patients can relapse if the medication is discontinued. Because many OCD patients will have a clinically meaningful but modest reduction in symptoms (e.g., 25-50% reduction in symptoms) and others will have no response (e.g., <25% reduction in symptoms), clinicians who treat OCD patients will commonly be faced with both problems. Strategies for each are discussed below.

3.1 Partial Response to Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

There are two proven augmentation strategies for patients with partial with partial response to serotonin reuptake inhibitors: the addition of antipsychotics and the addition of CBT consisting of exposure and response prevention. Each strategy is described below.

3.1.1 Antipsychotic Augmentation

Haloperidol, risperidone, quetiapine, and olazapine have all been shown in randomized controlled trials to augment the effects of serotonin reuptake inhibitors (Bystritsky et al. 2004; Denys et al. 2004a; McDougle et al. 2000; McDougle et al. 1994). There are also negative findings from studies of quetiapine (Carey et al. 2005) and olanzapine (Shapira et al. 2004) augmentation, but these may have been due to methodological issues. A systematic review of antipsychotic augmentation (Bloch et al. 2006), which combined nine double-blind, randomized controlled clinical trials involving 278 subjects, concluded that about 1/3 of OCD patients will be helped by antipsychotic augmentation, with strong evidence supporting the efficacy of haloperidol and risperidone.

Given the delayed onset of action of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in OCD, it is recommended that antipsychotic augmentation only be implemented after an OCD patient has failed to respond to a maximal dose of a serotonin reuptake inhibitor for at least 12 weeks (Koran et al. 2007). Low antipsychotic doses appear effective (e.g., <3 mg for risperidone or the equivalent), and the time to response is about 2–4 weeks. Therefore, the antipsychotic should be terminated after 1 month of intervention in those who do not clearly benefit. This minimizes the known risks of antipsychotic exposure, which can include metabolic syndrome, tardive dyskinesia, and neuroleptic malignant syndrome (Marder et al. 2004).

Despite their proven efficacy as an augmentation strategy, questions remain about the use of antipsychotics in OCD, including whether some agents are more effective than others, their long-term efficacy (since the randomized controlled trials have studied short-term effects), and the risk of relapse upon discontinuation. One small retrospective study suggested that 13 of 15 patients had a return of OCD symptoms when their antipsychotic was discontinued (Maina et al. 2003). In addition, the efficacy of newer antipsychotics like aripiprazole remains unclear, although case reports suggest benefit in some patients (Storch et al. 2008).

3.1.2 CBT Augmentation

Two randomized controlled trials have demonstrated the benefit of adding CBT, consisting of exposure and response prevention, to people with partial response to serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Tenneij et al. (2005) compared the effects of continuing medication (paroxetine or venlafaxine) versus adding exposure and response prevention in patients who had mild OCD symptoms on average. Adding exposure and response prevention (18 45-min sessions over 6 months) was superior to medication alone, but the effects were modest. Simpson et al. (2008) recruited patients on an adequate dose for at least 12 weeks of any serotonin reuptake inhibitor who still had clinically significant OCD symptoms. Patients were randomized to CBT, consisting of either exposure and response prevention or stress management therapy (17 90-min sessions over 8 weeks). Patients who received exposure and response therapy had significantly greater decrease in symptoms, and more of them achieved mild to minimal symptoms at the end of treatment (33% vs. 4%). The addition of stress management therapy had minimal effect on OCD symptoms.

Together, these findings support the use of exposure and response prevention in augmenting the effects of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in OCD. The addition of exposure and response prevention is clearly safer than the addition of antipschotics, given the known risks of the latter (Marder et al. 2004). On the other hand, exposure and response prevention is not widely available, it is more time-consuming, and some patients refuse it. Moreover, the long-term efficacy of short-term augmentation has yet to be shown.

3.1.3 Other Augmentation Strategies

Many other medications have been tested to see if they can augment the effects of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in OCD. Several medications found promising in case reports or open trials did not show clear efficacy in small placebo-controlled trials. These include lithium, buspirone, clonazepam, L-triiodothyronine, pindolol, and desipramine (Koran et al. 2007). Other augmentation strategies that appear promising await confirmation in larger randomized controlled trials. These include the addition of clomipramine to a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (Szegedi et al. 1996), the addition of the anticonvulsant topiramate (Van Ameringen et al. 2006), and the addition of morphine sulfate (Koran et al. 2005a). There is increasing interest in agents that modulate the glutamate system, as described in more detail below.

3.2 Nonresponders to Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

If a patient does not respond to one selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, it is recommended that the clinician switch to another and eventually to clomipramine (Koran et al. 2007). Data on the efficacy of switching is extremely limited. The

American Psychiatric Association guidelines suggest that no more than half of patients will benefit from switching, and the effectiveness of this strategy diminishes as the number of failed adequate trials increases.

There is a paucity of data supporting the use of medications other than serotonin reuptake inhibitors as monotherapy for OCD. The data for venlafaxine and duloxetine in OCD are described above. One small double-blind discontinuation study suggested that mirtazapine (an antagonist at presynaptic alpha-2 adrenergic, 5HT2, and 5HT3 receptors) might help some OCD patients (Koran et al. 2005b). An openlabel study suggested that tramadol (an agonist at the u opioid receptor as well as a modulator of noradrenergic and serotonergic systems) might be effective in OCD (Shapira et al. 1997). Other small studies suggested that stimulants (and specifically p-amphetamine) might reduce OCD symptoms (Insel et al. 1983; Joffe and Swinson 1987; Joffe et al. 1991).

Another strategy for nonresponders to serotonin reuptake inhibitors is to augment with antipsychotics, since many of the studies demonstrated the efficacy of antipsychotic augmentation in OCD recruited patients with little or no response to serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Antipsychotics as monotherapy are not thought to be effective for OCD (McDougle et al. 1995; cf.Connor et al. 2005). Adding cognitive behavioral therapy to nonresponders to serotonin reuptake inhibitors has also been found to be an effective strategy in an open trial (Kampman et al. 2002). However, given the efficacy of CBT as monotherapy (Foa et al. 2005), it is not clear if any benefit accrues in maintaining a patient on a serotonin reuptake inhibitor that has led to no improvement in their OCD symptoms, unless the serotonin reuptake inhibitor has helped a comorbid condition like depression.

For the OCD patient who has failed serotonin reuptake inhibitors, CBT, and several augmentation strategies, brain modulation therapies, and even brain surgery are often considered. Current modalities include transcranial magnetic stimulation, deep brain stimulation, gamma knife surgery, and vagus nerve stimulation, with very limited evidence for each of them (Mantovani and Lisanby in press).Given the irreversibility of surgery and the potential complications from deep brain stimulation, these modalities are reserved for highly treatment-refractory patients

4 Novel Medications in OCD

Because of the limitations of serotonin reuptake inhibitors, there has been increasing interest in developing novel medications for OCD. One approach has been to focus on agents that affect other aspects of the serotonin system. For example, based on their proposal that serotonin reuptake inhibitors are therapeutic in OCD because they increase synaptic levels of serotonin (5-HT) and activate postsynaptic 5-HT2 receptors, El Mansari and Blier (2006) have proposed that an antagonist of presynaptic 5-HT1D(B) receptors (to prevent the negative feedback these autoreceptors normally exert on serotonin release) or a selective 5-HT2 agonist (to directly stimulate postsynaptic 5-HT2 receptors) might produce quicker or better effects in OCD.

Another approach has been to investigate agents which modulate the glutamate system due to the confluence of genetic and brain imaging findings implicating glutamatergic abnormalities in OCD (Pittenger et al. 2006). Several agents have shown promise in case reports or open-label studies, including topiramate (an anticonvulsant that inhibits glutamate action, Van Ameringen et al. 2006), *N*-acetylcysteine (an aminoacid derivative that reduces synaptic glutamate, Lafleur et al. 2006), memantine (a noncompetitive N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist, Aboujaoude et al. 2009; Pasquini and Biondi 2006; Poyurovsky et al. 2005), and riluzole (an antiglutamatergic agent that reduces glutamatergic neuro-transmission in several ways, Coric et al. 2005). A randomized placebo-controlled trial of riluzole is underway (Pittenger et al. 2006).

Finally, several agents are being examined whose aim is not to target OCD symptoms but to improve learning from CBT. The best example to date is the use of p-cycloserine to enhance extinction learning, the presumed basis of exposure therapy. p-cycloserine is a partial agonist at the NMDA receptor. Known to facilitate fear extinction in animal models, p-cycloserine has been shown to improve outcome from exposure treatment in people with a fear of heights (Ressler et al. 2004) and in people with social phobia (Hofmann et al. 2006). There are three published studies on the effects of p-cycloserine augmentation of exposure and response prevention therapy in OCD (Kushner et al. 2007; Storch et al. 2007; Wilhelm et al. 2008). In two of these studies, p-cycloserine reduced the time to response (Kushner et al. 2007; Wilhelm et al. 2007; Wilhelm et al. 2007). Other medications that might also facilitate extinction learning and thereby enhance CBT outcome are being investigated (Davis et al. 2006; Ressler and Mayberg 2007).

5 Conclusion

OCD is a severe and disabling illness. The only proven medications as monotherapy for OCD are the serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Although helpful for many patients, some patients do not respond and many who respond achieve only a partial response and are left with clinically meaningful residual symptoms. Proven augmentation strategies include the addition of antipsychotics and CBT consisting of exposure and response prevention. For patients who do not respond to serotonin reuptake inhibitors, CBT, or their combination and who do not respond to antipsychotic augmentation of serotonin reuptake inhibitors, alternative strategies can be tried (as outlined above), but evidence supporting them is limited. Given the limitations of our current pharmacological approaches, there is great need for novel medication strategies for OCD. A better understanding of the brain mechanisms that underlie OCD has begun to lead to novel targets for drug development.

References

- Aboujaoude E, Barry JJ, Gamel N (2009) Memantine augmentation in treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder: an open-label trial. J Clin Psychopharmacol 29:51–55
- Ackerman DL, Greenland S (2002) Multivariate meta-analysis of controlled drug studies for obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 22:309–317
- Albert U, Aguglia E, Maina G, Bogetto F (2002) Venlafaxine versus clomipramine in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder: a preliminary single-blind, 12-week, controlled study. J Clin Psychiatry 63:1004–1009
- Koran LM, Hanna GL, Hollander E, Nestadt G, Simpson HB, American Psychiatric Association (2007) Practice guideline for the treatment of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 164(Suppl):1–56
- Bloch MH, Landeros-Weisenberger A, Kelmendi B, Coric V, Bracken MB, Leckman JF (2006) A systematic review: antipsychotic augmentation with treatment refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Mol Psychiatry 11:622–632
- Bystritsky A, Ackerman DL, Rosen RM, Vapnik T, Gorbis E, Maidment KM, Saxena S (2004) Augmentation of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder using adjunctive olanzapine: a placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Psychiatry 65:565–568
- Carey PD, Vythilingum B, Seedat S, Muller JE, van Ameringen M, Stein DJ (2005) Quetiapine augmentation of SRIs in treatment refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled study [ISRCTN83050762]. BMC Psychiatry 5:5
- Connor KM, Payne VM, Gadde KM, Zhang W, Davidson JR (2005) The use of aripiprazole in obsessive-compulsive disorder: preliminary observations in 8 patients. J Clin Psychiatry 66:49–51
- Coric V, Taskiran S, Pittenger C, Wasylink S, Mathalon DH, Valentine G, Saksa J, Wu YT, Gueorguieva R, Sanacora G, Malison RT, Krystal JH (2005) Riluzole augmentation in treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder: an open-label trial. Biol Psychiatry 58:424–428
- Davis M, Myers KM, Chhatwal J, Ressler KJ (2006) Pharmacological treatments that facilitate extinction of fear: relevance to psychotherapy. NeuroRx 3:82–96
- Dell'osso B, Mundo E, Marazziti D, Altamura AC (2008) Switching from serotonin reuptake inhibitors to duloxetine in patients with resistant obsessive compulsive disorder: a case series. J Psychopharmacol 22:210–213
- Denys D, de Geus F, van Megen HJ, Westenberg HG (2004a) A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of quetiapine addition in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder refractory to serotonin reuptake inhibitors. J Clin Psychiatry 65:1040–1048
- Denys D, van der Wee N, van Megen HJ, Westenberg HG (2003) A double blind comparison of venlafaxine and paroxetine in obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 23:568–575
- Denys D, van Megen HJ, van der Wee N, Westenberg HG (2004b) A double-blind switch study of paroxetine and venlafaxine in obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 65:37–43
- Eddy KT, Dutra L, Bradley R, Westen D (2004) A multidimensional meta-analysis of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Clin Psychol Rev 24:1011–1030
- El Mansari M, Blier P (2006) Mechanisms of action of current and potential pharmacotherapies of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:362–373
- Foa EB, Liebowitz MR, Kozak MJ, Davies S, Campeas R, Franklin ME, Huppert JD, Kjernisted K, Rowan V, Schmidt AB, Simpson HB, Tu X (2005) Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of exposure and ritual prevention, clomipramine, and their combination in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 162:151–161
- Freeman CP, Trimble MR, Deakin JF, Stokes TM, Ashford JJ (1994) Fluvoxamine versus clomipramine in the treatment of obsessive compulsive disorder: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallel group comparison. J Clin Psychiatry 55:301–305

- Gibbons RD, Brown CH, Hur K, Marcus SM, Bhaumik DK, Mann JJ (2007) Relationship between antidepressants and suicide attempts: an analysis of the Veterans Health Administration data sets. Am J Psychiatry 164:1044–1049
- Greist J, Chouinard G, DuBoff E, Halaris A, Kim SW, Koran L, Liebowitz M, Lydiard RB, Rasmussen S, White K et al (1995a) Double-blind parallel comparison of three dosages of sertraline and placebo in outpatients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:289–295
- Greist JH, Jefferson JW, Kobak KA, Katzelnick DJ, Serlin RC (1995b) Efficacy and tolerability of serotonin transport inhibitors in obsessive-compulsive disorder. A meta-analysis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52:53–60
- Hammad TA, Laughren T, Racoosin J (2006) Suicidality in pediatric patients treated with antidepressant drugs. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:332–339
- Hofmann SG, Meuret AE, Smits JA, Simon NM, Pollack MH, Eisenmenger K, Shiekh M, Otto MW (2006) Augmentation of exposure therapy with D-cycloserine for social anxiety disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:298–304
- Hollander E, Allen A, Steiner M, Wheadon DE, Oakes R, Burnham DB (2003) Acute and longterm treatment and prevention of relapse of obsessive-compulsive disorder with paroxetine. J Clin Psychiatry 64:1113–1121
- Huppert JD, Simpson HB, Nissenson KJ, Liebowitz MR, Foa EB (2009) Quality of life and functional impairment in obsessive-compulsive disorder: a comparison of patients with and without comorbidity, patients in remission, and healthy controls. Depress Anxiety 26(1):39–45
- Insel TR, Hamilton JA, Guttmacher LB, Murphy DL (1983) D-amphetamine in obsessivecompulsive disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 80:231–235
- Insel TR, Mueller EA, Alterman I, Linnoila M, Murphy DL (1985) Obsessive-compulsive disorder and serotonin: is there a connection? Biol Psychiatry 20:1174–1188
- Jenike MA, Baer L, Greist JH (1990) Clomipramine versus fluoxetine in obsessive-compulsive disorder: a retrospective comparison of side effects and efficacy. J Clin Psychopharmacol 10:122–124
- Joffe RT, Swinson RP (1987) Methylphenidate in primary obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 7:420–422
- Joffe RT, Swinson RP, Levitt AJ (1991) Acute psychostimulant challenge in primary obsessivecompulsive disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 11:237–241
- Kampman M, Keijsers G, Hoogduin C, Verbraak M (2002) Addition of cognitive-behaviour therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder patients non-responding to fluoxetine. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 106:314–319
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005) Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:593–602
- Koran LM, Aboujaoude E, Bullock KD, Franz B, Gamel N, Elliott M (2005a) Double-blind treatment with oral morphine in treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 66:353–359
- Koran LM, Gamel NN, Choung HW, Smith EH, Aboujaoude EN (2005b) Mirtazapine for obsessive-compulsive disorder: an open trial followed by double-blind discontinuation. J Clin Psychiatry 66:515–520
- Koran LM, Hackett E, Rubin A, Wolkow R, Robinson D (2002) Efficacy of sertraline in the longterm treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 159:88–95
- Koran LM, McElroy SL, Davidson JR, Rasmussen SA, Hollander E, Jenike MA (1996) Fluvoxamine versus clomipramine for obsessive-compulsive disorder: a double-blind comparison. J Clin Psychopharmacol 16:121–129
- Kushner MG, Kim SW, Donahue C, Thuras P, Adson D, Kotlyar M, McCabe J, Peterson J, Foa EB (2007) D-cycloserine augmented exposure therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 62:835–838

- Lafleur DL, Pittenger C, Kelmendi B, Gardner T, Wasylink S, Malison RT, Sanacora G, Krystal JH, Coric V (2006) N-acetylcysteine augmentation in serotonin reuptake inhibitor refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 184:254–256
- Lopez-Ibor JJ Jr, Saiz J, Cottraux J, Note I, Vinas R, Bourgeois M, Hernandez M, Gomez-Perez JC (1996) Double-blind comparison of fluoxetine versus clomipramine in the treatment of obsessive compulsive disorder. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 6:111–118
- Maina G, Albert U, Ziero S, Bogetto F (2003) Antipsychotic augmentation for treatment resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder: what if antipsychotic is discontinued? Int Clin Psychopharma-col 18:23–28
- Mantovani A, Lisanby SH (in press) Brain stimulation in the treatment of anxiety disorders. In: Simpson HB, Neria Y, Lewis-Fernandez R, Schneier F (eds) Understanding anxiety. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Marder SR, Essock SM, Miller AL, Buchanan RW, Casey DE, Davis JM, Kane JM, Lieberman JA, Schooler NR, Covell N, Stroup S, Weissman EM, Wirshing DA, Hall CS, Pogach L, Pi-Sunyer X, Bigger JT Jr, Friedman A, Kleinberg D, Yevich SJ, Davis B, Shon S (2004) Physical health monitoring of patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 161:1334–1349
- McDougle CJ, Barr LC, Goodman WK, Pelton GH, Aronson SC, Anand A, Price LH (1995) Lack of efficacy of clozapine monotherapy in refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 152:1812–1814
- McDougle CJ, Epperson CN, Pelton GH, Wasylink S, Price LH (2000) A double-blind, placebocontrolled study of risperidone addition in serotonin reuptake inhibitor-refractory obsessivecompulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57:794–801
- McDougle CJ, Goodman WK, Leckman JF, Lee NC, Heninger GR, Price LH (1994) Haloperidol addition in fluvoxamine-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. A double-blind, placebocontrolled study in patients with and without tics. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:302–308
- Montgomery SA, Kasper S, Stein DJ, Bang Hedegaard K, Lemming OM (2001) Citalopram 20 mg, 40 mg and 60 mg are all effective and well tolerated compared with placebo in obsessivecompulsive disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 16:75–86
- Montgomery SA, McIntyre A, Osterheider M, Sarteschi P, Zitterl W, Zohar J, Birkett M, Wood AJ (1993) A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of fluoxetine in patients with DSM-III-R obsessive-compulsive disorder. The Lilly European OCD Study Group. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 3:143–152
- Mundo E, Maina G, Uslenghi C (2000) Multicentre, double-blind, comparison of fluvoxamine and clomipramine in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 15:69–76
- Murray C, Lopez A (1996) The global burden of disease: a comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from diseases, injuries, and risk factors in 1990 and projected to 2020. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA
- Ninan PT, Koran LM, Kiev A, Davidson JR, Rasmussen SA, Zajecka JM, Robinson DG, Crits-Christoph P, Mandel FS, Austin C (2006) High-dose sertraline strategy for nonresponders to acute treatment for obsessive-compulsive disorder: a multicenter double-blind trial. J Clin Psychiatry 67:15–22
- Pasquini M, Biondi M (2006) Memantine augmentation for refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 30:1173–1175
- Pato MT, Zohar-Kadouch R, Zohar J, Murphy DL (1988) Return of symptoms after discontinuation of clomipramine in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 145:1521–1525
- Pigott TA, Pato MT, Bernstein SE, Grover GN, Hill JL, Tolliver TJ, Murphy DL (1990) Controlled comparisons of clomipramine and fluoxetine in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Behavioral and biological results. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47:926–932
- Pigott TA, Seay SM (1999) A review of the efficacy of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 60:101–106
- Pittenger C, Krystal JH, Coric V (2006) Glutamate-modulating drugs as novel pharmacotherapeutic agents in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. NeuroRx 3:69–81
- Poyurovsky M, Weizman R, Weizman A, Koran L (2005) Memantine for treatment-resistant OCD. Am J Psychiatry 162:2191–2192
- Rasmussen SA, Eisen JL (1994) The epidemiology and differential diagnosis of obsessive compulsive disorder. J Clin Psychiatry 55(Suppl):5–10; discussion 11–14
- Ressler KJ, Mayberg HS (2007) Targeting abnormal neural circuits in mood and anxiety disorders: from the laboratory to the clinic. Nat Neurosci 10:1116–1124
- Ressler KJ, Rothbaum BO, Tannenbaum L, Anderson P, Graap K, Zimand E, Hodges L, Davis M (2004) Cognitive enhancers as adjuncts to psychotherapy: use of D-cycloserine in phobic individuals to facilitate extinction of fear. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1136–1144
- Robins LN, Helzer JE, Weissman MM, Orvaschel H, Gruenberg E, Burke JD Jr, Regier DA (1984) Lifetime prevalence of specific psychiatric disorders in three sites. Arch Gen Psychiatry 41:949–958
- Romano S, Goodman W, Tamura R, Gonzales J (2001) Long-term treatment of obsessivecompulsive disorder after an acute response: a comparison of fluoxetine versus placebo. J Clin Psychopharmacol 21:46–52
- Ruscio AM, Stein DJ, Chiu WT, Kessler RC (2008) The epidemiology of obsessive-compulsive disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Mol Psychiatry [Epub ahead of print]
- Shapira NA, Keck PE Jr, Goldsmith TD, McConville BJ, Eis M, McElroy SL (1997) Open-label pilot study of tramadol hydrochloride in treatment-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Depress Anxiety 6:170–173
- Shapira NA, Ward HE, Mandoki M, Murphy TK, Yang MC, Blier P, Goodman WK (2004) A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of olanzapine addition in fluoxetine-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 55:553–555
- Simon GE, Savarino J, Operskalski B, Wang PS (2006) Suicide risk during antidepressant treatment. Am J Psychiatry 163:41–47
- Simpson HB, Foa EB, Liebowitz MR, Ledley DR, Huppert JD, Cahill S, Vermes D, Schmidt AB, Hembree E, Franklin M, Campeas R, Hahn CG, Petkova E (2008) A randomized, controlled trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy for augmenting pharmacotherapy in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 165:621–630
- Skoog G, Skoog I (1999) A 40-year follow-up of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 56:121–127
- Stahl SM (2008) Stahl's essential psychopharmacology. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Storch EA, Lehmkuhl H, Geffken GR, Touchton A, Murphy TK (2008) Aripiprazole augmentation of incomplete treatment response in an adolescent male with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Depress Anxiety 25:172–174
- Storch EA, Merlo LJ, Bengtson M, Murphy TK, Lewis MH, Yang MC, Jacob ML, Larson M, Hirsh A, Fernandez M, Geffken GR, Goodman WK (2007) D-cycloserine does not enhance exposure-response prevention therapy in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 22:230–237
- Szegedi A, Wetzel H, Leal M, Hartter S, Hiemke C (1996) Combination treatment with clomipramine and fluvoxamine: drug monitoring, safety, and tolerability data. J Clin Psychiatry 57:257–264
- Tamam L, Ozpoyraz N (2002) Comorbidity of anxiety disorder among patients with Bipolar I disorder in remission. Psychopathology 35:203–209
- Tenneij NH, van Megen HJ, Denys DA, Westenberg HG (2005) Behavior therapy augments response of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder responding to drug treatment. J Clin Psychiatry 66:1169–1175
- Van Ameringen M, Mancini C, Patterson B, Bennett M (2006) Topiramate augmentation in treatment-resistant obsessive-compulsive disorder: a retrospective, open-label case series. Depress Anxiety 23:1–5

- Wilhelm S, Buhlmann U, Tolin DF, Meunier SA, Pearlson GD, Reese HE, Cannistraro P, Jenike MA, Rauch SL (2008) Augmentation of behavior therapy with D-cycloserine for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry 165:335–341; quiz 409
- Yaryura-Tobias JA, Neziroglu FA (1996) Venlafaxine in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 53:653-654
- Zajecka J, Tracy KA, Mitchell S (1997) Discontinuation symptoms after treatment with serotonin reuptake inhibitors: a literature review. J Clin Psychiatry 58:291–297
- Zohar J, Judge R (1996) Paroxetine versus clomipramine in the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. Br J Psychiatry 169:468–474

Index

A

Acoustic startle response, 100 Acute stress disorder (ASD), 12 Acute tryptophan depletion (ATD), 316-317 Adaptation, 98 Adaptative response to stress, 99 Adenosine receptor 2A (A2A), 67, 68, 71 Adrenal glands, 98 Adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH), 98.104 Adult ultrasonic vocalization, 138 ADX10059, 397, 405 Age-of-onset, 22-25, 30 Agoraphobia DSM-III classification, 8-9 DSM-IV classification, 9-10 ICD-10 classification, 9 notion, 10-11 panic, 143 Westphal classification, 7-8 Allostatic load, 110 AM251, 437, 443 AM404, 437, 442 American Psychiatric Association guidelines, 537 γ-Aminobutyric acid (GABA). See GABAergic system a-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionate (AMPA), 322-323 Amitriptyline, 363, 511 AMN082, 403 Amygdala, 80-92, 100-102, 104, 106-110, 171, 180, 185, 209, 211, 218, 253-264, 266-271, 291, 292, 396 Anandamide (AEA), 432-436, 439, 442, 443, 445, 447, 448 Animal models, 121-143, 371-373. See also Genetic animal model

Antalarmin, 423 Anterior cingulate (ACg), 86, 87, 90-92, 268 Anterior hypothalamic nucleus, 81, 83 Anterior pituitary, 100 Antiadrenergic agents, 517-519 Anticonvulsant, 479, 496, 514-515 Antidepressant drugs, 104, 122, 123, 126, 135, 136, 143 animal models, 371-373 anxiolytic activity, 368-371, 374-379 benzodiazepine vs. anxiolytic tests, 373-374 clinical evidence, anxiolytic activity, 363-368 cognitive anxiety disorder model, 383-384 mechanism of action, 379-384 monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAO-Is), 362.363 neuroanatomical aspects, 380-383 neurotransmitter system, 379-380 preclinical evidence, 368-379 PTSD, 507-513 Antikindling effects, 514 Antipredator, 81–84 Antipredatory defensive systems, 82-84 Antipredatory responses, 84 Antipsychotic augmentation, 535 Anxiety, 97-110, 121-143, 429-448 Anxiety disorders, 79, 88, 90-92 agoraphobia, 7-11 animal model (see Animal models) DSV-IV disorder, 162 GAD. 12-14 neurasthenia, 5 neurosis, 4-5 neurotic disorder, 5-7 OCD, 14

PTSD, 11-12 schizophrenia, 4 Anxiety management training (AMT), 282, 285 Anxiety measurement laboratory animals, 166-168 man. 165 Anxiogenic, 101, 122, 129, 131-133, 135, 136, 142 Anxiolytic activity, 83, 84, 92, 101, 103-105 antidepressant efficacy, 368-369 vs. benzodiazepine tests, 373-374 chronic citalopram treatment, 375, 377 chronic stress procedure, 377-379 conditioned fear tests, 370 conflict tests, 371 ethological model, 369 exploratory activity, 369 features, 374-375 hippocampus, 381-382 non-social stress, 377, 378 prefrontal cortex, 382-383 social behavior, 369 social stress, 375, 377 unconditioned stress-induced response, 370 Anxious personality traits, 170 Anxious response, 211–213 Aprepitant, 420 2-Arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG), 433-437, 439, 442, 444, 445, 448 Arachidonoyl serotonin (AA-5HT), 448 Arcuate nucleus, 100 Arginine-vasopressin (AVP), 98 Aripiprazole, 535 Association studies, 66-69, 71 Atenolol, 495 Atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) and oxvtocin, 422 Attentional bias clinical anxiety, 218 treatment efficacy, 218-219 Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), 48 Atypical antipsychotics, 497, 515-516 Autonomic, 99-102, 108

B

Baclofen, 306, 519 Barbiturate, 307, 332 Bed nucleus of stria terminalis (BNST), 81, 89 frontotemporal system, 107 olfactory system, 107

Behavioral avoidance, 219 Behavioral correlates anxious response prediction, 211-213 attentional bias, 218-219 behavioral avoidance, 219 behavioral tasks, development, 220 benzodiazepine, 215-216 emotional bias, 217-218 endophenotype, 213-214 putative anxiolytics, 216-217 serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), 216 startle reactivity paradigms, 207-211 tripartite model, 206 Behavioral inhibition system, 84-86, 92 Behavioral therapy CBT, 282-287 hypnotherapy, 281-282 pharmacotherapy augmentation, psychotherapeutic learning, 291-294 psychodynamic therapy, 281-282 psychotherapy with medication, 287-291 Benzodiazepine (BDZ), 103, 104, 215-216, 478-479 vs. anxiolytic tests, 373-374 anxious symptoms, 307 binding site, 309-311 brain imaging studies, 311-312 GABA_A receptor, 309-311, 335-337 mechanism of action, 307-309 multiple clinical effects, 335 neural response, 314 panic disorder, 310-312 PTSD, 516-517 receptor subunits, 124, 125 risks, 334-335 SAD, 490 safety and efficacy, 334 structure, 332-333 thigmotaxis, 124, 136 Beta adrenergic blockers, 495–496 **Biological** imperatives analogy, 125 homology, 125 isomorphism, 125 Bipolar disorder, 105 Blood injury phobia (BIF), 238 Brain, 98, 100, 101, 103, 104, 108, 110 Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 169, 180 Brainstem, 99, 108 Brief social phobia scale (BSPS), 493, 497 Brofaromine, 489, 490, 512

С

Cannabidiol (phytocannabinoid) (CBD), 431, 442 Cannabinoid type 1 receptor (CB1), 432-437, 439, 442-448 Cannabinoid type 2 receptor (CB2), 433, 437 Catecholamine noradrenaline, 318. See also Noradrenaline Catecholamines, 131 Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT), 67-71, 318, 321 Cerebellum, 100 Cerebral cortex, 100 Childhood, 105 Childhood anxiety disorders, 46-47 Chlordiazepoxide, 332. See also Benzodiazepine Cholecystokinin (CCK), 169 Cholecystokinin receptor 2 (CCK₂) antagonist, 421 Chronic effects, 122 Chronic stress procedure, 377-379 Chronic unpredictable stress, 109 Circuit, 251-272 Circumventricular, 99 Citalopram, 371, 375-376, 510 Clinical anxiety disorder anxious personality traits, 170 attentional bias, 218 CRF, 170-171 endophenotypes, 172-173 etiology, 169-170 familial risk, 168-169 gene-environment interactions, 171–172 5-HTTLPR variants, 171 startle reactivity, 211-213 Clinical global impression scale of improvement (CGI-I), 489, 491-496, 498 Clinical pharmacokinetics, 348-349 Clinical trials, 142 Clinician administered PTSD scale (CAPS), 508 Clomipramine, 363, 529-530, 532, 536 Clonazepam, 314, 472-473, 480, 490, 516-517 Clonidine, 141, 319-320 Cochrane database review, 281, 282 Cognitive-behavioral group therapy (CBGT), 289 Cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT), 493 anxiety management technique, 285 augmentation, 536 EMDR, 286-287

exposure therapy, 282-284 SD, 286 VRE, 284-285 Cognitive functions, 100, 107 Comorbidity, 22, 27-31 ADHD, 48 allergies and atopic disorders, 51 biological mechanisms and pathways, 53 cardiovascular disease, 51-52 eating disorders, 44 gastrointestinal diseases, 50 genetic epidemiology, 48-49 head injury, 51 impulse disorders, 44 migraine, 52 patterns, 46 personality disorders, 44 physical comorbidity, 49-52 psychiatric comorbidity (see Psychiatric disorders comorbidity) respiratory diseases, 50 Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI), 22, 23, 26, 27 Conditioned fear tests, 99, 109, 370 Conditioned taste aversion (CTA), 167-168 Conflict tests, 371 alprazolam, 126, 130, 131, 136 bupropion, 126 Geller, 126, 127 mianserin, 126, 136 pargyline, 126 phenelzine, 126, 132, 136 trazodone, 126 Voge, 126, 127 Consolidation, 100, 107 Conspecific aggression, 135 Constitutive genetic manipulation anxiolytics, 174-175 conditional and inducible mutation, 176 - 177CRF, 175 GABA receptor, 175 5-HT_{1A} receptor, 177 5-HTT mutant, 176 Construct validity, 103, 123, 124 Contextual, 99, 107, 109, 110 Corticosteroid, 98-100, 102, 124, 131 Corticosterone, 99, 104 Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF), 98, 100, 102, 107, 109, 170-171, 175, 368, 374-376, 417-419 Corticotropin-releasing factor 1 (CRF₁) antagonist, 418-419

Corticotropin-releasing factor 1 receptor (CRFR₁), 100 Corticotropin-releasing factor 2 receptor (CRFR₂), 100, 101 Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) receptor antagonists, 137 Cortisol, 99, 102 Cue, 99, 101, 102, 110 Cytogenetics, 66

D

D-cvcloserine (DCS), 291-294, 497, 519-520, 538 Defense system, 92 Defensive burying, 130-133 Deleterious, 100, 105, 106 Depression, 97, 98, 102, 143 Desipramine, 126, 131, 137, 511 Dexamethasone, 102 Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM), 4, 6, 165, 173 agoraphobia, 8-10 GAD, 12-13 OCD, 14 PTSD, 11-12 Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-IV), 133 Diltiazem, 416-417 Divalproex monotherapy, 514 Dopamine, 321-322 Dorsal premammillary hypothalamic nucleus, 81.83 Dorsal premammillary nucleus, 83 Dorsolateral periaqueductal gray, 81 Dorsomedial prefrontal, 254 Driving phobia, 239 Drug-class specific vs. general models, 143 Drug discontinuation syndrome, 533–534 Drug discrimination, 347 Duloxetine, 364, 534, 537

Е

Edinger-Westphal, 100 Electroshock-induced vocalization, 370 Elevated-plus maze test, 100, 369 Emotion, 253, 254, 256–263, 271, 272 Emotional behavior, 98–103, 106–108 Emotional bias, 217–218 Emotional Stroop task, 217–218 Emotion regulation, 254, 257, 259–262, 265, 267, 270–272 Endocannabinoid system, 432-442, 444, 446-448 Endocrine, 99, 110 Endophenotype, 172-173, 213-214 Endozepines, 309-331 Energy mobilization, 99 Entropy, 236-237 Epidemiological catchment area (ECA), 46 Epidemiology, 21-31 Escitalopram, 493-494 Etiology, 98, 103 Exposure and ritual prevention (ERP), 288-289 Exposure therapy, 282-284 Extended amygdala, 102, 106, 108 Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR), 286-287

F

Face validity, 103, 123, 124 Fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH), 434, 435, 439, 442 Fear, 101–103, 105, 106, 109, 252–261, 263–268, 270, 272, 433, 436, 439–448 Fear conditioning, 79–82, 84, 87, 89, 106, 109 Fear extinction, 88–90, 441, 443, 444 Fearful, 110 Fear potentiated startle, 209–210 Flumazenil, 310–313, 350–351 Fluoxetine, 126, 136, 137, 141, 371, 375, 377–378, 493, 507–508 Fluvoxamine, 491–492 Flying phobia, 239 Function, 100, 105, 107–109

G

GABA_A receptor $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ subtype. See also GABAergic system anxiolytic-like efficacy, 352–353 benzodiazepine, 335–337 [¹¹C]flumazenil PET, 350–351 clinical data, 353–354 clinical pharmacokinetics, 348–349 drug discrimination, 347 in vitro properties, 340, 341 MRK-409 and TPA023 identification, 337 nomenclature, 339–340 nonsedating anxiolytic profiles, 345, 346 pharmacodynamic effects, 351–352 physical dependence, 348 preclinical pharmacokinetics, 340, 342–344

receptor occupancy, 344-345 selective-efficacy approach, 354-355 self-administration, 347-348 structure, 332-333 tolerability, 349-350 TPA023B identification, 337-339 GABA_A receptors, 104, 307–309 GABAergic system anxiety, 305-306 BDZ-GABA_A receptor, 309-311 brain imaging studies, 311-312 early evidence, 306-307 GABA_A receptor, 307-309 impaired metabolism, 313-314 subunits, 312-313 Gabapentin, 479, 496 Gene-environment interactions, 68, 72, 171-172. See also Phenotype-to-genotype Gene expression arrays, 183-185 Generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) antidepressant anxiolytic activity, 363-364 antipsychotics, 460, 461 benzodiazepines, 458, 461 controversy, 13-14 DSM-III classification, 12-13 DSM-IV classification, 13 ICD-10 classification, 13 respiration, 240-241 Genetic animal model anxiety measurement, 165-168 basic concepts, 163-164 clinical anxiety disorder (see Clinical anxiety disorder) diagnostic criteria, 165 endophenotype, 172-173 gene-environment interactions, 171-172 gene expression arrays, 183-185 genotype-to-phenotype (see Genotypeto-phenotype) phenotype-to-genotype, 180-183 random mutagenesis, 185-186 selective breeding, 186-187 Genetics, 63-72, 103, 104 Genotype-to-phenotype constitutive genetic manipulation, 174-177 siRNA and viral transfection, 178-180 transgenic rats, 177-178 Gepirone, 133 Ghrelin system, 417 Glucocorticoid (GC), 519 Glucocorticoid receptors (GR), 99 Glutamate, 322–323 Glutamatergic, 107

Group I mGlu receptors mGlu1, 392–395, 405, 406 mGlu5, 392, 393, 395–397, 405 Group II mGlu receptors mGlu 2/3, 392, 397–400, 405 Group III mGlu receptors, mGlu 4, 392, 400–402 mGlu 6, 392, 400–403 mGlu 7, 392, 400, 401, 403, 404 mGlu 8, 392, 401, 402, 404 Guanfacine, 518

H

Habituation, 443, 444, 447 Haloperidol, 535 Hamilton anxiety scale (HAM-A), 419, 420 Hamilton depression scale (HAM-D), 420 High-anxiety related behavior (HAB), 104 Hippocampal formation, 100 Hippocampus, 83-87, 90, 91, 100, 101, 104, 106, 107, 261 Homeostatic mechanisms, 97, 98, 108 Homovanillic acid (HVA), 321-322 Hormones, 110 5-HT_{1A} agonist, 177, 181–182, 370, 375, 379-380, 474, 480 buspirone, 122, 128, 130, 131, 136, 142 fear potentiated, 128-130, 137, 141 startle, 128-130, 137, 141 Hypnosis, 281-282 Hypnotics, 516-517 Hypomania, 472 Hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN), 98-101, 107 Hypothalamus, 253, 254, 256, 261, 270 Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, 89, 98, 100, 102, 104–106, 108

I

Imaging genetics, 70, 71 Imipramine, 363, 364, 366, 367, 377, 473, 477–478 Inbred mouse strains, 180–182 Infralimbic (IL), 86–90 Infralimbic cortex, 87 Innate fear, 89 Insula, 253, 254, 256, 261–264, 269–271 Intermediate phenotypes, 64, 68–70 International Classification of Diseases (ICD), 4, 7 agoraphobia, 9 GAD, 13 OCD, 14 Intra-PAG, 137 Inverse agonist, 416, 417 Irreversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase, 488–489

K

Kairomone, 82

L

L-838417, 337, 339, 347-348 Lamotrigine, 514, 515 Lateral olivary nucleus, 100 Lateral septal nucleus, 81 Lateral septum, 100, 101 L-Dopa, 321 Learning, 100, 101, 106, 110 Levetiracetam, 496 Liebowitz social anxiety scale (LSAS) scores, 490-492, 494-496, 498 Light-enhanced startle, 129 Limbic system, 98, 99, 108, 253-256, 266 Linkage studies, 65-66, 69, 70 Locus coeruleus, 100 LY487379, 398, 399 LY544344, 398 LY354740/Eglumetad, 398, 399

M

Maternal separation stress, 105 Medial amygdala, 81, 82 Medial hypothalamic defensive system, 81, 83-84 Medial prefrontal, 253, 254, 256-262, 264-266, 268, 270-272 Medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), 79, 86-90 Memantine, 538 Memory, 99, 100, 106, 107 Metabotropic glutamate receptor 7 (mGluR7), 179 - 1802-Methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP), 395, 397 Metoclopramide, 472 Mineralocorticoid receptors (MR), 99 Minute volume (MV), 235 Mirtazapine, 319, 478, 495, 513, 537 Moclobemide, 366, 489 Monoamine oxidase (MAO), 318-319

Monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAO-Is), 362-363, 366, 471 irreversible, 488-489 PTSD, 512-513 reversible, 489-490 Mood disorders adults, 40-42 children and adolescents, 47 concomitant comorbidity, 40-41 lifetime comorbidity, 40-42 Mouse defence test battery (MDTB), 166, 167, 377 **MRK-409** ^{[11}C]flumazenil PET, 350–351 clinical pharmacokinetics, 348-349 identification, 337 in vitro properties, 340 nonsedating anxiolytics, 345, 346 pharmacokinetics, 340, 342-344 receptor occupancy, 344-345 tolerability, 349-350 vs. TPA023, 351-352

N

N-acetylcysteine, 538 National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R), 162, 533 mood disorders, 41, 42 substance use disorders, 43, 45 Nefazodone, 478, 495, 513 Neural, 98, 101 Neuroendocrine, 98, 99, 102, 108 Neuroendocrinology, 97-110 Neuroimmune, 98 Neurokinin 1 (NK₁) antagonist, 420-421 Neuropeptide, 100 Neuropeptide-based therapies CCK₂ antagonists, 421 CRF1 antagonists, 418-419 efficacy, 422-423 NK₁ antagonists, 420-421 NK₃ antagonists, 421 Neurosis, 5 N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), 322-323 Nonsedating anxiolytic profiles, 345, 346 Non-social stress, 377, 378 Noradrenaline adrenoreceptors, 318 clonidine, 320 production, 318 a2 receptor, 319-320 sympathetic activity measurement, 318-319 Index

Noradrenergic, 99 Norepinephrine (NE) efficacy, 477–478 mechanism, 475, 478–479 Nucleus accumbens, 108 Nucleus of tractus solitarius, 99, 108

0

Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), 14, 91 animal model, 373 antidepressant anxiolytic activity, 367-368 antiobsessional, 133 clomipramine, 133 combined treatment, 288-289 light-dark, 133 novel medications, 537-538 photophobia, 133 respiration, 239-240 serotonin reuptake inhibitors (see Serotonin reuptake inhibitors) symptoms, 528 Olanzapine, 497, 516, 535 Olfactory bulbs, 100 Olfactory tubercule, 108 Osanetant, 421 Oxytocin, 422

P

Painful, 103 Panic attack, 371, 431, 441, 445, 448 Panic disorder (PD), 91, 92 antidepressant anxiolytic activity, 364-365 anxiolytic drug development, 479-480 chronic hyperventilation, 243 clinical assessment, 470-471 combined treatment, 288 driving phobia, 243 homeostasis, 245 hyperventilation, 242-243 mechanisms of action, 474-475 pharmacologic treatment, 473-474 respiratory disorder, 244-245 respiratory output, 245 respiratory responses, 245-246 serotonergic agents, 475-479 sighs, 244 treatment implementation, 472-473 treatment selection, 471-472 treatment strategies, 480-481 Panic-respiration, 231-233

Paraventricular nucleus of hypothalamus, 81 Paroxetine, 491, 509 Partial pressure of CO₂ (pCO₂), 234-235 Pathophysiological, 98 Pentagastrin, 421 Pentylenetetrazol (PTZ), 307 Peptidergic system, 417 Periaqueductal gray (PAG), 81, 84, 88, 89, 91, 92, 253-257, 261, 270, 433, 440, 443 Persistence, 25-27 Pharmacodynamic effects, 351-352 Pharmacological dissociation, 143 Pharmacological validation false negative, 123 false positives, 122, 123, 128 GABA_A receptor agonists, 122, 123 historical precedent, 123 iproniazid, 123 Pharmacology dopamine, 321-322 GABAergic system (see GABAergic system) glutamate, 322-323 noradrenaline, 318-320 serotonin. 314-317 Pharmacotherapy CBT, 294 exposure therapy with DCS, 292 extinction training, 292 GAD, 454-463 N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), 291 OCD, 293, 528-538 PD, 470-481 PTSD, 293, 506-520 SAD, 292-293, 488-499 unconditioned and conditioned stimulus, 201 Phenelzine, 488-489 Phenotype-to-genotype, 180-183 Phobia, 91, 98, 101, 104, 106 Phytocannabinoids, 431-433, 442 Plus-maze, 122, 133, 135-137, 141, 143 Positive allosteric modulator (PAM), 417 Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), 11-12, 90, 91, 102, 106 animal model, 372-373 antiadrenergic agents, 517-519 anticonvulsants, 514-515 antidepressant anxiolytic activity, 366-367 atypical antipsychotics, 515-516 benzodiazepine and hypnotics, 516-517 CBT (see Cognitive-behavioral therapy) combined treatment, 289-291

DCS. 519-520 exposure-based psychotherapy, 280-281 glucocorticoid (GC), 519 hypnosis treatment, 281-282 mirtazapine, 513 monoamine oxidase inhibitors, 512-513 nefazodone, 513 respiration, 241-242 SNRI, 510-511 SSRI. 507-510 symptoms, 506-507 TCA, 511-512 Prazosin, 518 Preclinical pharmacokinetics, 340, 342-344 Predator, 79, 81-84, 88, 91 Predictive validity, 103 Prefrontal cortex (PFC), 86-91, 100, 107 Pregabalin, 314, 455-458, 460-462, 496 Prelimbic (PL) area, 86 Prenatal stress, 105 Preoptic area, 108 Present-centered therapy (PCT), 283 Prevalence, 22-28 Propranolol, 518-519 Psychiatric, 103, 104 Psychiatric disorders comorbidity adults. 39-46 children and adolescents, 46-48 mood disorders (see Mood disorders) substance use disorders (see Substance use disorders) Psychodynamic treatment, 281-282 Psychopharmacology antidepressant treatment, 362-385 anxiety, 304-324 cannabinoids, 431-448 GABA_A receptor $\alpha 2/\alpha 3$ subtype-selective modulators, 332-355 metabotropic glutamate receptors, 392-406 small molecule nonpeptidergic drugs, 416-424 Putative anxiolytics, 216-217

Q

Quantitative trait loci (QTL), 182–183 Quetiapine, 497, 535

R

Random mutagenesis, 185–186 Rat pups, 137, 138 Reboxetine, 478 Receptor occupancy, 344-345 Respiration anxiety provocation, 230 blood injury phobia, 238 driving and flying phobia, 239 GAD. 240-241 OCD, 239-240 panic-respiration, 231-233 pCO₂, 234-235 PD patients (see Panic disorder (PD)) PTSD, 241-242 respiratory rate (RR), 233-234 respiratory variability, sighing, and approximate entropy, 236-237 social phobia, 238 spider phobics, 239 tidal volume and minute volume, 235 Respiratory rate (RR), 233-234 Respiratory variability, 236-237 Restraint, social defeat, electric shock, 136-137 Reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase A (RIMA), 489. See also Monoamine oxidase inhibitors (MAO-Is) Riluzole, 538 Rimonabant (SR141716A), 437, 442, 446 Risk assessment, 135 Risk factor, 105 Risperidone, 515-516, 535 RNA silencing, 179

S

Selective breeding, 186-187 Selective serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs), 364, 366, 494-495 Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), 126, 127, 129, 131, 132, 134-142, 315-317, 364-367, 374, 378, 455, 456, 458, 461, 462, 471-472, 475-477, 490-494 Self-administration procedure, 347-348 Separation anxiety, 137 Septo-hippocampal system, 81, 83, 84 Serotonergic agent efficacy, 476-477 5-HT and NE (see Norepinephrine (NE); Serotonin (5-HT)) SSRI, 475-476 Serotonin (5-HT), 104 acute tryptophan depletion, 316-317 efficacy, 477-478 excess and deficiency theories, 315-316 function, 314-315

5HT-1A receptor, 317 (see also 5-HT_{1A} agonist) 5HT-2C antagonist, 317 mechanism, 474-475, 478-479 synthesis, 314 Serotoninergic, 104 Serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor (SNRI), 455, 456, 458, 461, 462 Serotonin reuptake inhibitors, 216 comparative efficacy, 529-530 dose, 530 drug discontinuation syndrome, 533-534 nonresponders, 536-537 partial response, 535-536 side effects, 531-532 suicidality, 532-533 time to response, 531 treatment duration, 533 venlafaxine and duloxetine, 534 Sertraline, 492-493, 508-509 Shock-induced ultrasonic vocalizations abdominal compression reaction, 138 Shock-induced vocalization, 371 Shock-probe, 130, 131, 141 Sighs, 236-237 siRNA techniques, 178-180 Small molecule nonpeptidergic drugs agonists, 416-417 antagonists, 416 atrial natriuretic peptide and oxytocin, 422 CRF, 417-418 neuropeptide system (see Neuropeptidebased therapies) peptidergic system, 417 Social anxiety disorder (SAD), 292-293 animal model, 371-372 antidepressant anxiolytic activity, 365-366 atypical antipsychotics, 497 benzodiazepines, 490 beta adrenergic blockers, 495-496 buspirone, 497 clinical signs and symptoms, 371-372 D-cycloserine, 497 gabapentin, 496 irreversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase, 488-489 levetiracetam, 496 mirtazapine, 495 nefazodone, 495 pregabalin, 496 reversible inhibitors of monoamine oxidase, 489-490 SNRI, 494-495

SSRI. 490-494 treatment resistance and augmentation, 498 Social interaction familiarity, 135 social phobia, 134, 143 test, 100 Social phobia. See also Social anxiety disorder (SAD) combined treatment, 289 respiration, 238 Social Phobia Inventory (SPIN), 497 Social stress, 375, 377 Societal costs, 30 Somatic, 99 Species-specific defensive reaction (SSDR), 79 Specific phobia, 263-266, 268, 271 Spider phobics, 239 Spinal cord, 100 Startle reactivity aversive images, 207-208 benzodiazepine, 215-216 clinical anxiety, 211-213 conditioned cues, 209-210 conditioned extinction, 211 conditioned inhibition, 210-211 darkness, 208-209 endophenotype, 213-214 putative anxiolytics, 216-217 SSRI, 216 Stress, 97-110 Stress exposure, 90 Stressful, 98, 99, 103, 106, 110 Stressful events, 110 Stress hormones, 110 ACTH, 131 burrowing vs. burying, 132 chlordiazepoxide, alprazolam, clonazepam, and flunitrazepam, 131 corticosteroids, 131 desipramine, 131 diazepam, 131 digging vs. burying, 132 marble burying, 131 mixed SSRI/5-HT_{1A} agonist, 131 phenelzine, 132 prolactin, 131 unpredictable stress, 131 Stress-induced social avoidance, 135 Stress-induce hyperthermia (SIH) test, 166-167 Stress inoculation training (SIT), 282–285 Stress-potentiated plus-maze, 136, 137

Stress-related disorders, 98
Stria terminalis, 108
Structure, 107, 108, 110
Subjective units of discomfort (SUDS), 286
Substance use disorders

adults, 41–44
children and adolescents, 47–48
concomitant comorbidity, 41–43
lifetime comorbidity, 44–45

Suicidality, 532–533
Supraoptic nucleus, 100
Systematic desensitization (SD), 286

Т

Tetracycline-controlled transactivator (tTA), 177 Tetrad, 431, 437, 439 Δ^9 -Tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC), 431.439 Tiagabine, 314, 514 Tianeptine, 137 Tidal volume (TV), 235 Topiramate, 514-515 Toxoplasma infection, 82 TPA023. See also TPA023B anxiolytic-like efficacy, 352-353 clinical data, 353-354 vs. MRK-409, 351-352 TPA023B [¹¹C]flumazenil PET, 350–351 clinical pharmacokinetics, 348-349 identification, 337-339 in vitro properties, 340 nonsedating anxiolytics, 345, 346 pharmacokinetics, 340, 342–344 receptor occupancy, 344-345 tolerability, 349-350 Tramadol, 537 Transient receptor potential vanilloid type-1 channel (TRPV1), 432, 435-437, 443, 445, 447, 448

Trauma-focused CBT (TF-CBT), 284, 290 Treatment, 453–463 Tricyclic antidepressant (TCA), 477–478, 511–512 amitriptyline, 126, 136 imipramine, 126, 136 Tripartite model, 206 Tyramine, 363

U

UcnII, 100 UcnIII, 100 Ultrasonic vocalizations, 137, 138, 141, 142 Unconditioned, 101, 109 URB597, 439, 442 Urocortin (Ucn), 100

V

Venlafaxine, 364–366, 477, 494–495, 510–511, 534, 537 Ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, 83 Ventromedial prefrontal, 254, 259 Vigabatrin, 314 Viral transfection techniques, 178–180 Virtual reality exposure (VRE) therapy, 284–285 Visceral, 99

W

Water maze test, 178, 382WHO World Mental Health Survey Initiative (WMH), 22, 23, 25, 27, 28

Y

Yohimbine, 319